Surajit Pathak Antara Banerjee *Editors*

Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies



Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies

Surajit Pathak • Antara Banerjee Editors

Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies



Editors Surajit Pathak Faculty of Allied Health Sciences Chettinad Academy of Research and Education Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

Antara Banerjee Faculty of Allied Health Sciences Chettinad Academy of Research and Education Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

ISBN 978-981-15-5119-2 ISBN 978-981-15-5120-8 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020, corrected publication 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

Contents

1	Introduction to Cancer Stem Cells Anisur Rahman Khuda-Bukhsh, Asmita Samadder, and Santu Kumar Saha	1
2	Types of Cancer Stem Cells Gautham Chengizkhan, Bharti Bisht, Sridhar Muthusami, Muralidharan Anbalagan, Ilangovan Ramachandran, and R. Ileng Kumaran	15
3	Isolation and Characterization of Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs) Namasivayam Nalini and Bichandarkoil Jayaram Pratima	51
4	Lung and Prostate Cancer Stem Cells Sudeep Bose, Valentina Sain, Sartaj Khurana, and Rajat Gupta	69
5	A Differential Role of miRNAs in Regulation of Breast Cancer Stem Cells Shreetama Bandyopadhayaya and Chandi C. Mandal	87
6	Skin Stem Cells in Cancer Monica Piccione and Rosa Di Liddo	111
7	Ocular Cancer Stem Cells: Advances in Therapeutic Interventions Upasna Upadhyay, Raaghav Sen, Swathi Kaliki, and Jaganmohan R. Jangamreddy	125
8	Cancer Stem Cells and Tumour Aggressiveness	137
9	Therapeutic Implication of Cancer Stem Cells	155
10	Glioblastoma Stem Cells as a Therapeutic Target Devaraj Ezhilarasan, R. Ileng Kumaran, Ilangovan Ramachandran, Santosh Yadav, and Muralidharan Anbalagan	167

11	Cancer Stem Cells and Therapeutic Angiogenesis	185
12	Cancer Stem Cells as a Seed for Cancer Metastasis L. Lizha Mary, M. Vasantha Kumar, and R. Satish	197
13	Functionality of Intron-Specific Genes and Cancer Stem Cells in the Progression of Colorectal Cancer Janani Gopi, Madhumala Gopinath, Xiao-Feng Sun, Surajit Pathak, and Antara Banerjee	223
14	Technological Advancement in Cancer Stem Cell Research Tanu Sharma and Chandi C. Mandal	241
15	Controversies in Isolation and Characterization of Cancer Stem Cells	257
16	Targeting Therapies for Cancer Stem Cells Manash K. Paul, Vijay R. Marati, Yuvaraj Sambandam, Lurdes Queimado, Gautam Chaudhuri, Ilangovan Ramachandran, and R. Ileng Kumaran	273
17	Targeting Cancer Stem Cells by Nanoenabled Drug DeliveryKoyeli Girigoswami, Pragya Pallavi, and Agnishwar Girigoswami	313
18	Cancer Stem Cells in Patient Survival and Therapies in Cancer Ying Yang, Chao Tian, and Wen-Jian Meng	339
Cor Inte Upa and	rection to: Ocular Cancer Stem Cells: Advances in Therapeutic rventions	C 1

About the Editors



Surajit Pathak is currently working as a Professor at Chettinad Academy of Research and Education, Kelambakkam, Chennai. He has received his Ph.D. in Zoology from the University of Kalyani, West Bengal, India in 2007, and completed his post-doctoral training at the University of Linkoping, Sweden; University of Padova, Italy; and the University of Alabama, USA.

His current research focuses on cancer biology, stem cell biology, regenerative medicine, and microRNA. He has published more than 60 research articles in peerreviewed journals with 1270 citations. He received various research grants including core research grants from SERB (DST), and DST Indo-Italy Bi-lateral research projects.

He is an editorial board member of various respected journals including, Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Disorders—Drug Targets.



Antara Banerjee is currently working as an Associate Professor at Chettinad Academy of Research and Education, Kelambakkam, Chennai. Antara Banerjee completed her PhD in the year 2008 and pursued her post-doctoral research at the University of Padova, Italy till 2012. Later she joined as Senior Research Associate at the University of Linkoping, Sweden till 2015. She has published **over 53** impact peer-reviewed articles in International and National Journals with **Citation index of 660**. Her core expertise is in stem cell biology and regenerative medicine and oncology. She has been awarded **DST SERB, ECR award, Government of India for a period of 2018–2021** for the project on Umbilical cord Derived Mesenchymal stem cells in modulating Colon cancer.



1

Introduction to Cancer Stem Cells

Anisur Rahman Khuda-Bukhsh, Asmita Samadder, and Santu Kumar Saha

Abstract

Cancer is a persistent public health-care issue of modern life that poses a global challenge. It comprises several diseases that basically involve abnormal cell growth and have a potential to invade or metastasize to other distant organ systems, spreading the disease to other part(s) of the body. Development of resistance to conventional therapies and disease recurrence are some common phenomena encountered in almost all types of cancer. Understanding "hallmarks of cancer" and "tumor microenvironment" is therefore important for development of successful therapy for cancer. Numerous drugs have been designed and tested for their anticancer efficacy over decades to find out a complete cure for this lethal disease, but without desirable success so far. The concept and role of "stem cell" therapy in oncology research have drawn considerable interest in recent years. Thus, emphasis has been given on proper identification and characterization of the "cancer stem cells" and "other stem cells" for elucidation of the signaling cascades involved in the process of cancer limitation and progression (and resurgence). In the introductory part of this book, an attempt has been made to provide an overall idea on different aspects of cancer stem cells, optimization of rate and type of cell growth, and their associative cure strategy by adopting a well-defined scientific perspective.

A. R. Khuda-Bukhsh (🖂)

A. Samadder

S. K. Saha Newcastle University Centre for Cancer, Faculty of Medical School, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK

Emeritus Professor of University Grants Commission at University of Kalyani, Kalyani, West Bengal, India

Cytogenetics and Molecular Biology Laboratory, Department of Zoology, University of Kalyani, Kalyani, West Bengal, India

 $^{{\}rm (}{\rm C}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_1

Keywords

Cancer \cdot Stem cell types \cdot Cancer stem cell \cdot Stem cell therapy \cdot Targeted therapy \cdot Therapy resistance

Abbreviations

AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
CSC	Cancer stem cell (CSC)
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
EPC	Endothelial progenitor cell
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorter
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell
HSCT	Hematopoietic stem cell transplant
MET	Mesenchymal-epithelial transition
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
NSC	Neural stem cell
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SSC	Somatic stem cell
TSG	Tumor suppressor gene
HSCTs	Hematopoietic stem cell transplants

1.1 Cancer and Cancer Stem Cells

Cancer is a global public health challenge, and according to the latest GLOBOCAN report in 2018, approximately 18.1 million new cases and 9.6 million deaths were recorded [1]. Epidemiological studies showed smoking, alcohol, irregular and unhygienic food habits, lifestyle, genetic polymorphism, susceptible alleles, oncogene regulation, chromatin remodeling, and environmental and genotoxic stress to be the major causes of developing cancer. The knowledge of cancer has now extended toward understanding of "tumor microenvironment," and over the years, genomic, epigenomic, transcriptomic, and proteomic databases of around 33 cancer types have also been established [2]. Overall findings of the pan-cancer atlas reflect the six "hallmarks of cancer" [3] and role of ~140 driver genes which are classified into 12 major cancer signaling pathways [4]. Hence, this new era of translational cancer research is focused on early diagnosis and targeted cancer treatment. For targeted therapy, the aim is to employ single molecule or pathway inhibitors with or without conventional treatment.

The conventional treatments for cancer are surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and hormone therapy. On the initial stage of chemoradiotherapy treatment, tumor shrinkage commonly takes place, but sooner or later tumor growth is reestablished at the original and/or in new sites [5]. Further, when cancer is diagnosed at its advanced stages, most of the conventional therapies fail, and most patients in due course of

treatment develop chemoradiotherapy resistance with the ultimatum toward death [6]. This alarming situation necessitates the immediate attention for understanding the "hidden mechanism" of disease recurrence for better treatment and management of therapy resistance.

Cancer is a heterogeneous disease phenotypically and genotypically controlled. The heterogeneous nature of this disease is evident even within a single patient. It is evident that the intra- and inter-tumor heterogeneity is due to mutational landscapes in the "driver genes." These driver genes are either tumor suppressor genes (TSGs) or oncogenes. The TSGs are functionally involved in transcription regulation, signal transduction, and angiogenesis. In cancer, the TSGs are inactivated due to genetic and epigenetic alterations. The genetic alterations of TSGs include (1) mutation and (2) deletion [7]. The epigenetic inactivating events are (1) methylation, (2) deregulated imprinting, (3) altered splicing, (4) histone modification, and (5) decreased mRNA stability through miRNA or other processes [3, 4, 7]. Therefore, it can be said that "loss-of-function" mutations in TSG contribute to cancer development. Retinoblastoma is a classic example which occurs due to loss of function of Rb-TSG gene.

An oncogene is capable of transforming normal cells into cancerous one, both for cells growing in cell culture in vitro or in animal models in vivo. Oncogenes are said to be derived from their normal cellular counterparts called proto-oncogenes. A classic example is the Ras gene (a proto-oncogene) that encodes for an intracellular signal transduction. The mutant form called the rasD gene (oncogene) is derived from the original Ras. In this way, the encoded mutant protein thus produced is responsible for uncontrolled cell growth [8]. Cellular transformation of a proto-oncogene into an oncogene occurs due to "gain-of-function" mutation by following any of the mechanisms, namely, (1) point mutation, (2) chromosomal translocation and (3) amplification [8].

According to the "Clonal Evolution Model" of cancer development, the driver gene mutations stimulate cell dedifferentiation and phenotypic regression with loss or gain of function, uncontrolled proliferation, and inability to activate cell death pathways. Whereas the "Alternative Model" of cancer development says, every tumor comprises a rare population of cells termed as cancer stem cells (CSCs) or cancer-initiating cells. The CSC hypothesis also says, within the tumor microenvironment, only a subpopulation of cells with self-renewing and tumorigenic properties are responsible for the generation of cancer cells and their hierarchical organization [9].

The CSCs were first identified in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) by Bonnet and Dick [10]. The population of AML-CSCs (~0.1–1% of the overall tumor population) identified with surface marker CD34 + CD38 was found to develop cancer in mice [10]. The CSCs are identical in nature with normal stem cells in respect of their common self-renewal and differentiation properties [10, 11]. The CSCs were also demonstrated to have the role in developing resistance to conventional cancer therapies and may play a role in developing metastasis [12]. Epigenetic reprogramming mechanism can lead to the metabolic and phenotypic changes to convert non-CSC population into CSC to develop therapy resistance [13]. For tumor invasion, the mechanism of epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) can be a

major factor in which epithelial cells lose their original characteristics and gain mesenchymal properties [14]. The EMT has also been suggested to have the ability to induce intravasation, the process by which cancer cells enter the bloodstream for invading healthy tissue. The reverse program of EMT that is called mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) can promote new tumor formation [15, 16]. Therefore, understanding these molecular events associated with CSC is very important for targeted cancer therapy [17].

CSCs are a small proportion of cells within a tumor that is self-sufficient to trigger tumorigenesis. These cells have the ability of self-renewal and can produce different lines of cancer cells [18]. In support of the molecular events associated with CSC as mentioned above, the loss of E-cadherin with a concomitant rise of N-cadherin, expression of transcription factors like Snail and Twist and signal proteins VEGF and TGF β , and overexpression of Sox2, Oct4, and Nanog are the induction factors to initiate EMT, believed to be a major driving force for metastasis [19]. The stemness pathways like Wnt/ β -catenin, JAK-STAT, Notch, etc., are abnormally regulated contributing to resistance to apoptosis, progression, and propagation of cancer cells. In addition to maintaining the ends of chromosomes by expressing the hTERT gene, their microenvironment composed of blood vessels and stromal cells supports the multiplication of tumor cells [20, 21]. Further, the potentiality to produce free radical scavengers to scavenge the reactive oxygen species (ROS) and combat oxidative stress is of prime importance for the sustenance of cells by avoiding DNA damage.

Cell surface markers like CD34+ and intracellular markers like aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 have shown a light to detect their presence and distinguish them from normal stem cells [22, 23]. Methods such as DNA barcoding for tracing CSCs using FACS provide an attempt to separate CSCs from the heterogeneous population of cells. Detecting circulating CSCs to determine the recurrence in patients suffering from cancer, transplanting the isolated CSCs into the mouse model, and colony formation assay are other ways to characterize their nature [10]. Researchers have also found strategies to knock down the gene encoding TERT proteins that lead to cell cycle arrest and modified T cells called chimeric antigen receptors for detecting CSCs which direct another way of evoking our immune system to fight infections [24]. To end the deep-rooted cause of progression of cancers, nowadays, clinical trials are underway to target the stemness pathways for long-term outcomes.

In this short introductory section, we will endeavor only to focus briefly on an overall idea about CSCs and how these are different from the normal stem cells.

"Stem cell," as the name indicates, may be defined as the cell characterized by the unique ability of self-renewal for an indefinite period of time. These cells are endowed with the capability to form single cell-derived clonal cell population. These cells can also differentiate into several other cell types. The property of self-renewal in the stem cell pools plays pivotal roles in tissue regeneration and homeostasis [25, 26]. Stem cells can further be categorized as "embryonic stem cells" (ESCs) or "somatic stem cells" (SSCs). The SSCs, also called adult stem cells, are multipotent in nature and bear the potentiality to differentiate into any other cell type of particular lineage. These might include neural stem cells (NSCs), hematopoietic

stem cells (HSCs), mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), and many others [27].

Embryonic stem cells (ESCs), just like that of pluripotent cells, can differentiate into many cell types and are thus immensely used as standards for detection of pluripotent cultured cells in vitro with some restriction of usage in scientific studies and clinical trials in human pertaining to ethical considerations [28]. ESCs are now being replaced by *induced pluripotent stem cells* (iPSCs). These iPSCs are reprogrammed adult somatic cells which have enforced expression of pluripotency factors. Embryo destruction is not required for iPSC establishment. iPSCs are like ESCs, except for the fact that they lack immunogenic or ethical limitations, and therefore, they bear the possibility for clinical application more than ESCs [29].

Neural stem cells (NSCs) are a type of stem cells which can self-renew and differentiate into neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, etc., and express Sox2, nestin, and other classic markers and have been deployed to treat brain, breast, prostate, and lung tumors [30–32].

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), known to be derived from bone marrow, are able to differentiate into mesodermal cells, including bone, cartilage, muscle, stroma, adipose tissue, connective tissue, and tendon. MSCs can be isolated easily, and they are known to propagate in vitro and have huge application in cancer therapy.

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) belong to the most primitive of all the blood lineage cells. They are predominantly found in bone marrow and generally known to produce mature blood cells by proliferation and differentiation of lineage-restricted progenitor cells. HSC transplantation has clinical implication over the last four decades.

Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) are primarily concerned with vascular regeneration and thereby have potentiality in cancer therapy by coupling with antitumor drugs or performing transfection or acting with angiogenesis inhibitors [33].

Parthenogenetic stem cells, pluripotent stem cells (PSCs), have now been derived parthenogenetically from activated human oocytes. These cells represent similar characteristics as displayed in the human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) which include the infinite division and in vitro and in vivo modes of differentiation into germ cell lineages [34]. The human parthenogenetic ESCs (pESCs) consisting of homozygous human leukocyte antigen (HLA) are known to strongly increase the degree of matching and significantly increase the histocompatibility among cohorts of cells in human population [35]. The main strategy lies therein is to activate the oocyte artificially without the ample extrusion of second polar body. Further, the events of early recombination in oocyte also results in heterozygous pESC formation.

Now, the question is: how and what properties distinguish the normal stem cells from CSCs? The cellular niche or the surrounding cellular environment helps to maintain the "stemness" property. When a normal stem cell divides to give rise to two daughter cells, a balance is maintained. Among the two daughter cells, one acquires the "self-renewal" property and remains as the stem cell, whereas the other one goes for expansion and differentiation to develop into mature cell. In both cases, the cells prevent to acquire "tumorigenic" property by sustaining a fine balance of "proliferation inhibition" and "proliferation promotion" [36]. The imbalance may be caused due to mutational "hit" that makes a normal cell to acquire the CSC phenotype. Mutation is a random process, and the frequency to generate a normal stem cell into CSC phenotype varies from cell to cell and organ to organ. It can be said that the greater the number of stem cells, the higher the chances of developing CSC phenotype as well as cancer [37]. Further, as said earlier, the cellular niche or the surrounding cellular environment is also associated with developing the CSC phenotype. Cancer is not just a mass of malignant tumor cells but a complex mix of several components which contribute to its development. This includes the immune cells, cancer-associated fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and blood vessels. These nonmalignant components can comprise up to >50% of the primary or metastatic tumor mass which play a major role as "microenvironment" and in acquiring the CSC phenotype [3]. Some important features of CSCs are their expressivity of the stemness genes, their self-renewal property, and their ability to differentiate and proliferate into other non-stem cancer cells and resist traditional mode of cancer treatment. Non-CSCs in the tumor have been reported to proliferate at a faster rate than that of CSCs but have little tumor-initiating potential [38].

1.2 Identification and Characterization of Cancer Stem Cells

CSCs are cancer cell subpopulation having stem-like properties that can be identified by cell surface markers. The CSCs can be isolated following standard practice from tissues of a patient and cell lines derived from different cancer types. Some of the key features of CSCs for identification, isolation, and characterization can be summarized as follows:

- (a) CSC sorting based on biomarkers: CSC subpopulations can be distinctly sorted out from other cancer cells based on their surface markers. Flow cytometric sorting of CSCs is done from the total cancer cell population of a patient's primary tissue as well from cancer cell lines by specific markers, e.g., CD44+, CD133+, Cd117, ALDH1+, Pakt+, Oct4, Sox2, Nanog, ABCG2, ABCC1, Mrp1, Nrf2, BMI 1, etc. The sorted cell populations can be grown in ultralow attachment plates with Matrigel embedded conditions (3D culture condition) for sphere forming assay [39]. In breast cancer of non-responding cases, after neoadjuvant chemotherapy, prevalence of CSCs having CD44+ and CD24-/ low has been reported [40]; further, these cells showed CSC renewal and mesenchymal features [41].
- (b) Tumor growth study in mice: The flow cytometry-based sorted cell populations can be transplanted in immunodeficient mice (tumor xenograft). The CSCs have the tumorigenic potential and develop tumor when transplanted into immunodeficient mice. The CSCs when they form tumors contain both the tumorigenic and non-tumorigenic cells [38]. In head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC), CD44 molecule was first identified as the surface marker of CSC, and

it was also found in only <10% CD44-positive cells with tumorigenic potential but not in the CD44-negative cells [42].

1.3 Cancer Stem Cell Signaling Pathways

Like normal stem cells, CSC follows three major self-renewal pathways, namely, *Hedgehog*, *Wnt*, and *Notch*. Key regulatory genes of these signaling pathways are associated with cancer, and targeting these pathways can be one of the important strategies for cancer therapy [43]. Key regulatory genes of these signaling pathways can be summarized as follows. The *Hedgehog pathway genes* are HHIP, PTCH1, Smo, SuFu, and Gli-1. The Wnt pathway genes are DKK1, Wnt, β-catenin, Axin-2, GSK-3 β , and APC. The Notch pathway genes are Jag1/2, Hey 1, Hes 1, Tace, and presenilin. Increased expression of Gli-1 was observed in HNSCC tumors after developing resistance due to long-term treatment of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) inhibitor [44]. In HNSCC cell line after chemotherapeutic treatment (bortezomib and etoposide), increased frequency of CSC population and overexpression of Wnt signaling proteins DKK1 and AXIN2 were found [45]. Similarly, overexpression of SMO has been recorded in a HNSCC cell line after treatment with cyclopamine [46]. The accumulating data indicates that there is preferential selection of CD44+ CSC populations after treatment with neoadjuvant chemotherapy in HNSCC along with alterations of these self-renewal pathways, particularly Hedgehog and Wnt. Development of chemoresistance in HNSCC might be due to alterations in these CSC pathways. It also seems likely that the prevalence of CD44+ CSCs may be the indicator or biomarker of chemoresistance after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Increased expression of CD44 might be due to overexpression of Gli/β-catenin, the effector protein of Hedgehog/Wnt pathways [47, 48]. High expression of a Notch signaling ligand DLL4 was reported from HNSCC patients undergoing radio-chemotherapy [49]. Agrawal and his research group have identified mutation in Notch1 mutation in HNSCC patients. Their study further revealed in HNSCC types that Notch1 acted as tumor suppressor rather than oncogene [50].

1.4 Role of Stem Cell and CSC in Developing Disease and Therapy Resistance: Therapeutic Implications and Future Directions

Stem cell therapy is generally based on transplantation of living cells into an organism either to repair a tissue/organ or to restore their optimal functioning which might have been lost completely. Human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) are in use for several cell therapy procedures which accounts for 13% of cases reported so far. However, on the contrary, fetal stem cells (fESC) are used only in 2% of cases. Further, record of usage of umbilical cord stem cells is only 10%, and adult stem cells are in use for treating 75% of cases [51]. Cardiovascular and ischemic

diseases, diabetes, diseases related to liver and hematopoietic organs (more than 25,000 cases of Hematopoietic stem cell transplants (HSCTs)/year and counting), orthopedics, etc., are a few types among myriads of other diseases which are being treated with stem cell transplantation globally [52, 53].

The most common stem cells that are modified by multiple mechanisms for potential use in cancer therapies are NSCs and MSCs which may vary from including the therapeutic enzyme/prodrug system or using a nanoparticle or introducing an oncolytic virus delivery on tumor site. Enzyme/prodrug therapy/ suicide gene therapy is one of the promising applications of stem cell against cancer. The NSCs and MSCs can express enzymes which can convert nontoxic prodrugs into cytotoxic products by bioengineering. These modified stem cells, when transplanted into tumor-bearing models, quickly localize to tumor tissues where the exogenous enzyme aided prodrug conversion to cytotoxic molecules ultimately damages the tumor cells [54]. Further, stem cells can overcome the limitations of common cancer therapy and function as in situ drug factories by secreting antitumor agents [55] and through delivery of virus by MSCs toward bio-targets by combining the oncolytic activity with that of the immunoprivileged and tumor-tropic properties of the MSCs [56].

The use of nanoparticles as potent drug delivery systems is now the current trend of treatment of different diseases like diabetes [57–60], cancer [61–65], cardiomyopathy [66, 67], anti-genotoxic [68] and anti-inflammatory [69], based on their bioactive targeted delivery, increased penetration, reduction in drug-dose ratio, sustainable release, faster action, and protection against degradation due to harsh biological environment at administration. However, the efficacy of stem cells as nanoparticle delivery agents has now been a futuristic approach owing to the reduction in unrestricted uptake of different nanoparticles by them, increase in intra-tumor drug distribution, and protecting the drugs from host immunologic reactions [70].

Traditional therapies of cancer cannot eliminate CSCs while they can kill non-stem cancer cells. Chances of relapse of tumors remain usually high when the CSCs which had not been killed during therapeutic processes proliferate and differentiate. Thus, strategies for targeting CSCs may solve several clinical issues of drug resistance and recurrence [71, 72]. Evidences from several studies indicate that the CSCs can develop and maintain different categories of human malignancy which imply great opportunities for assessment of oncologic therapeutic strategies to impart a better life to cancer patients. There exists a minute analysis and comparison between CSC and cells derived from normal tissue. The CSC-targeted therapeutic arsenal often comes across several potential hurdles, like normal stem cell cytotoxicity and acquisition of resistance against the treatment, which need to be addressed to maximize the chances of success [73].

The CSCs have different mechanisms of defense against chemotherapy and radiation. Here, we have highlighted two major mechanisms. CSCs produce antioxidant enzymes to protect against radiation-induced damages. One of the routine treatments of cancer is radiotherapy that produces free radical as a natural byproduct of oxygen metabolism. This oxidative damage causes the damage to DNA to kill cancer cells. In some studies, increase of resistance to radiotherapy has been accompanied with enhanced DNA repair, less damage to DNA, reduced apoptosis, and increase of angiogenesis [74].

The other mechanism of CSC is through detoxification enzymes which play a role in resistance to chemotherapy. Drug detoxification is done in three stages; in the first stage, detoxification is done through cyto p450, which removes OH^- and free radical O_2^{--} species. In the second stage, toxins are conjugated using glutathione, glucuronic acid, or sulfate catalyzed by glutathione S-transferase, uridine disulfate, glucuronosyltransferase, and sulfatase. Finally, drug and toxin are also pumped out of the cell through intermembrane channels [74].

Identification of similarities and dissimilarities between normal stem cells, CSCs, non-tumorigenic cells, and normal differentiated cells based on differences in their immunophenotype shall allow the development of CSC-targeted therapeutic strategies which shall definitely impart a relatively low risk toward normal cellular/tissue level cytotoxicity. Evaluating the efficacy of such targeted molecule treatments shall require the advent of modern approaches to determine the CSC frequency and their degree of viability within tumor mass. However, resistance due to clonal selection and tumor microenvironment such as hypoxia might pay hindrance toward the development of the cure and needs utmost care and precautions.

In view of the tremendous importance of CSCs in the management and control of cancer, subsequent chapters of this book have been assigned to deal elaborately and critically with several important aspects, such as types of CSCs, how CSCs can contribute to the development of different types of cancer, isolation and characterization of CSCs, role of other tumor microenvironmental factors in association with CSCs in cancer development, controversies of acceptance for the CSC hypothesis, new strategies or alternative therapies for targeting CSCs for cancer treatment, and some other emerging issues.

References

- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A (2018) Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 68:394–424
- 2. Hoadley KA, Yau C, Hinoue T, Wolf DM, Lazar AJ, Drill E, Shen R, Taylor AM, Cherniack AD, Thorsson V, Akbani R, Bowlby R, Wong CK, Wiznerowicz M, Sanchez-Vega F, Robertson AG, Schneider BG, Lawrence MS, Noushmehr H, Malta TM, Cancer Genome Atlas Network, Stuart JM, Benz CC, Laird PW (2018) Cell-of-origin patterns dominate the molecular classification of 10,000 tumors from 33 types of cancer. Cell 173:291–304
- 3. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144:646-674
- 4. Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA Jr, Kinzler KW (2013) Cancer genome landscapes. Science 339:1546–1558
- 5. Jones SE (2008) Metastatic breast cancer: the treatment challenge. Clin Breast Cancer 8:224-233
- 6. Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Morales-Vasquez F, Hortobagyi GN (2007) Overview of resistance to systemic therapy in patients with breast cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol 608:1–22

- Daigo Y, Nishiwaki T, Kawasoe T, Tamari M, Tsuchiya E, Nakamura Y (1999) Molecular cloning of a candidate tumor suppressor gene, DLC1, from chromosome 3p21.3. Cancer Res 59:1966–1972
- 8. Lodish H (2004) Molecular cell biology, 5th edn, pp 935-973
- 9. De Francesco EM, Sotgia F, Lisanti MP (2018) Cancer stem cells (CSCs): metabolic strategies for their identification and eradication. Biochem J 475(9):1611–1634
- 10. Bonnet D, Dick JE (1997) Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med 3:730–737
- 11. Ailles LE, Weissman IL (2007) Cancer stem cells in solid tumors. Curr Opin Biotechnol 18:460–466
- 12. Clevers H (2011) The cancer stem cell: premises, promises and challenges. Nat Med 17:313–319
- Brien-ball CO, Biddle A (2017) Reprogramming to developmental plasticity in cancer stem cells. Dev Biol 430(2):266–274
- 14. Banyard J, Bielenberg DR (2016) The role of EMT and MET in cancer dissemination. HHS Publ Access 56:403–413
- 15. Chiang SPH, Cabrera RM, Segall JE (2016) Tumor cell intravasation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 311(1):C1–C14
- 16. Shibue T, Weinberg RA (2017) EMT, CSCs, and drug resistance: the mechanistic link and clinical implications. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 14(10):611–629
- 17. Kuşoğlu A, Avcı CB (2019) Cancer stem cells: a brief review of the current status. Gene 681:80-85
- Ajani JA, Song S, Hochster HS, Steinberg IB (2015) Cancer stem cells: the promise and the potential. Semin Oncol 42:S3–S17
- Kyjacova L, Hubackova S, Krejcikova K, Strauss R, Hanzlikova H, Dzijak R, Imrichova T, Simova J, Reinis M, Bartek J, Hodny Z (2015) Radiotherapy-induced plasticity of prostate cancer mobilizes stem-like non-adherent, Erk signaling- dependent cells. Cell Death Differ 22 (6):898–911
- 20. Kroon P, Berry PA, Stower MJ, Rodrigues G, Mann VM, Simms M, Bhasin D, Chettiar S, Li C, Li PK, Maitland NJ, Collins AT (2013) JAK-STAT blockade inhibits tumor initiation and clonogenic recovery of prostate cancer stem-like cells. Cancer Res 16:5288–5298
- Zhou W, Wang G, Guo S (2013) Regulation of angiogenesis via notch signaling in breast cancer and cancer stem cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1836(2):304–320
- 22. Grosse-Gehling P, Fargeas CA, Dittfeld C, Garbe Y, Alison MR, Corbeil D, Kunz-Schughart LA (2013) CD133 as a biomarker for putative cancer stem cells in solid tumours: limitations, problems and challenges. J Pathol 229(3):355–378
- Miraglia S, Godfrey W, Yin AH, Atkins K, Warnke R, Holden JT, Bray RA, Waller EK, Buck DW (1997) A novel five- transmembrane hematopoietic stem cell antigen: isolation, characterization, and molecular cloning. Blood 90(12):5013–5021
- 24. Pajonk F, Vlashi E (2013) Characterization of the stem cell niche and its importance in radiobiological response. Semin Radiat Oncol 23(4):237–241
- Seita J, Rossi DJ, Weissman IL (2010) Differential DNA damage response in stem and progenitor cells. Cell Stem Cell 7:145–147
- 26. Tran C, Damaser MS (2015) Stem cells as drug delivery methods: application of stem cell secretome for regeneration. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 82(83):1–11
- Liang G, Zhang Y (2013) Embryonic stem cell and induced pluripotent stem cell: an epigenetic perspective. Cell Res 23(1):49–69
- Zhang J, Espinoza LA, Kinders RJ, Lawrence SM, Pfister TD, Zhou M, Veenstra TD, Thorgeirsson SS, Jessup JM (2013) NANOG modulates stemness in human colorectal cancer. Oncogene 32(37):4397–4405
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663–676

- 30. Kanojia D, Balyasnikova IV, Morshed RA, Frank RT, Yu D, Zhang L, Spencer DA, Kim JW, Han Y, Yu D, Ahmed AU, Aboody KS, Lesniak MS (2015) Neural stem cells secreting antiher2 antibody improve survival in a preclinical model of her2 overexpressing breast cancer brain metastases. Stem Cells 33:2985–2994
- 31. Lee HJ, Doo SW, Kim DH, Cha YJ, Kim JH, Song YS, Kim SU (2013) Cytosine deaminaseexpressing human neural stem cells inhibit tumor growth in prostate cancer-bearing mice. Cancer Lett 335:58–65
- 32. Yi BR, Kim SU, Choi KC (2014) Co-treatment with therapeutic neural stem cells expressing carboxyl esterase and CPT-11 inhibit growth of primary and metastatic lung cancers in mice. Oncotarget 5:12835–12848
- Goligorsky MS, Salven P (2013) Concise review: endothelial stem and progenitor cells and their habitats. Stem Cells Transl Med 2:499–504
- 34. Turovets N, Semechkin A, Kuzmichev L, Janus J, Agapova L, Revazova E (2011) Derivation of human parthenogenetic stem cell lines. Methods Mol Biol 767:37–54
- 35. Lin G, Lu G (2008) Human parthenogenetic stem cells. Cell Res 18:S23
- 36. Li L, Neaves WB (2006) Normal stem cells and cancer stem cells: the niche matters. Cancer Res 66(9):4553–4557
- Tomasetti C, Vogelstein B (2015) Cancer etiology: variation in cancer risk among tissues can be explained by the number of stem cell divisions. Science 347(6217):78–81
- Prince ME, Ailles LE (2008) Cancer stem cells in head and neck squamous cell cancer. J Clin Oncol 26:2871–2875
- Peitzsch C, Kurth I, Kunz-Schughart L, Baumann M, Dubrovska A (2013) Discovery of the cancer stem cell related determinants of radio resistance. Radiother Oncol 108(3):378–387
- 40. Li X, Lewis MT, Huang Z, Gutierrez C, Osborne CK, Wu MF, Hilsenbeck SG, Pavlick A, Zhang X, Chamness GC, Wong H, Rosen J, Chang JC (2008) Intrinsic resistance of tumorigenic breast cancer cells to chemotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst 100:672–679
- Creighton CJ, Li X, Landis M (2009) Residual breast cancers after conventional therapy display mesenchymal as well as tumor-initiating features. PNAS 106:13820–13825
- 42. Prince ME, Sivanandan R, Kaczorowski A, Wolf GT, Kaplan MJ, Dalerba P, Weissman IL, Clarke MF, Ailles LE (2007) Identification of a subpopulation of cells with cancer stem cell properties in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104(3):973–978
- Takebe N, Harris PJ, Warren RQ, Ivy SP (2011) Targeting cancer stem cells by inhibiting Wnt, notch, and hedgehog pathways. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 8(2):97–106
- 44. Keysar SB, Le PN, Anderson RT, Morton JJ, Bowles DW, Paylor JJ, Vogler BW, Thorburn J, Fernandez P, Glogowska MJ, Takimoto SM, Sehrt DB, Gan GN, Eagles-Soukup JR, Serracino H, Hirsch FR, Lucia MS, Thorburn A, Song JI, Wang XJ, Jimeno A (2013) Hedgehog signaling alters reliance on EGF receptor signaling and mediates anti-EGFR therapeutic resistance in head and neck cancer. Cancer Res 73(11):3381–3392
- 45. Song J, Chang I, Chen Z, Kang M, Wang CY (2010) Characterization of side populations in HNSCC: highly invasive, chemoresistant and abnormal wnt signaling. PLoS One 5(7):e11456
- 46. Mozet C, Wichmann G, Dietz A (2011) Translational approaches in cancer stem cell research. HNO 59(9):859–865
- 47. Li J, Zhou BP (2011) Activation of b-catenin and Akt pathways by twist are critical for the maintenance of EMT associated cancer stem cell-like characters. BMC Cancer 11:49
- 48. Liu S, Dontu G, Mantle ID, Patel S, Ahn NS, Jackson KW, Suri P, Wicha MS (2006) Hedgehog signaling and Bmi-1 regulate self-renewal of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells. Cancer Res 66(12):6063–6071
- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Tsakmaki V, Danielidis V, Sivridis E (2012) Cancer stem cell phenotype relates to radio-chemotherapy outcome in locally advanced squamous cell head– neck cancer. Br J Cancer 106(5):846–853
- 50. Agrawal N, Frederick MJ, Pickering CR, Bettegowda C, Chang K, Li RJ, Fakhry C, Xie TX, Zhang J, Wang J, Zhang N, El-Naggar AK, Jasser SA, Weinstein JN, Treviño L, Drummond JA, Muzny DM, Wu Y, Wood LD, Hruban RH, Westra WH, Koch WM, Califano JA, Gibbs

RA, Sidransky D, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE, Papadopoulos N, Wheeler DA, Kinzler KW, Myers JN (2011) Exome sequencing of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma reveals inactivating mutations in NOTCH1. Science 333:1154–1157

- 51. Liras A (2010) Future research and therapeutic applications of human stem cells: general, regulatory, and bioethical aspects. J Transl Med 8:131
- Hatzimichael E, Tuthill M (2010) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Stem Cells Cloning 3:105–117
- 53. Razvi ES, Oosta GM (2010) Stem cells for cellular therapy space. Drug Discov Today 11:37-40
- 54. Aboody KS, Brown A, Rainov NG, Bower KA, Liu S, Yang W, Small JE, Herrlinger U, Ourednik V, Black PM, Breakefield XO, Snyder EY (2000) Neural stem cells display extensive tropism for pathology in adult brain: evidence from intracranial gliomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci 97:12846–12851
- Stuckey DW, Shah K (2013) TRAIL on trial: preclinical advances in cancer therapy. Trends Mol Med 19:685–694
- Ong HT, Federspie MJ, Guo CM, Ooi LL, Russell SJ, Peng KW, Hui KM (2013) Systemically delivered measles virus-infected mesenchymal stem cells can evade host immunity to inhibit liver cancer growth. J Hepatol 59:999–1006
- 57. Samadder A, Abraham SK, Khuda-Bukhsh AR (2016) Nanopharmaceutical approach using pelargonidin towards enhancement of efficacy for prevention of alloxan-induced DNA damage in L6 cells via activation of PARP and p53. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 43:27–37
- Samadder A, Tarafdar D, Abraham SK, Ghosh K, Khuda-Bukhsh AR (2017) Nano-Pelargonidin protects hyperglycemic-induced L6 cells against mitochondrial dysfunction. Planta Med 83(5):468–475
- 59. Samadder A, Das J, Das S, De A, Saha SK, Bhattacharyya SS, Khuda-Bukhsh AR (2013b) Poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid loaded nano-insulin has greater potentials of combating arsenic induced hyperglycemia in mice: some novel findings. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 267(1):57–73
- 60. Samadder A, Das S, Das J, Khuda-Bukhsh AR (2013a) Relative efficacies of insulin and poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid encapsulated nano-insulin in modulating certain significant biomarkers in arsenic intoxicated L6 cells. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 109:10–19
- 61. Bhattacharyya SS, Paul S, De A, Das D, Samadder A, Boujedaini N, Khuda-Bukhsh AR (2011) Poly (lactide-co-glycolide) acid nanoencapsulation of a synthetic coumarin: cytotoxicity and bio-distribution in mice, in cancer cell line and interaction with calf thymus DNA as target. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 253(3):270–281
- 62. Das J, Das S, Samadder A, Bhadra K, Khuda-Bukhsh AR (2012) Poly (lactide-co-glycolide) encapsulated extract of Phytolacca decandra demonstrates better intervention against induced lung adenocarcinoma in mice and on A549 cells. Eur J Pharm Sci 47(2):313–324
- 63. Das J, Samadder A, Mondal J, Abraham SK, Khuda-Bukhsh AR (2016) Nano-encapsulated chlorophyllin significantly delays progression of lung cancer both in in vitro and in vivo models through activation of mitochondrial signaling cascades and drug-DNA interaction. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 46:147–157
- 64. Das S, Das J, Samadder A, Bhattacharyya SS, Das D, Khuda-Bukhsh AR (2013b) Biosynthesized silver nanoparticles by ethanolic extracts of Phytolacca decandra, Gelsemium sempervirens, Hydrastis canadensis and Thuja occidentalis induce differential cytotoxicity through G2/M arrest in A375 cells. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 101:325–336
- 65. Das S, Das J, Samadder A, Paul A, Khuda-Bukhsh AR (2013a) Strategic formulation of apigenin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles for intracellular trafficking, DNA targeting and improved therapeutic effects in skin melanoma in vitro. Toxicol Lett 223(2):124–138
- 66. Niu J, Azfer A, Rogers LM, Wang X, Kolattukudy PE (2007) Cardioprotective effects of cerium oxide nanoparticles in a transgenic murine model of cardiomyopathy. Cardiovasc Res 73 (3):549–559
- 67. Tian X, Ni X, Xu H, Zheng L, ZhuGe D, Chen B, Lu C, Yuan J, Zhao Y (2017) Prevention of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy using targeted MaFGF mediated by nanoparticles combined with ultrasound-targeted MB destruction. Int J Nanomedicine 12:7103–7119

- Rubio L, Annangi B, Vila L, Hernández A, Marcos R (2016) Antioxidant and anti-genotoxic properties of cerium oxide nanoparticles in a pulmonary-like cell system. Arch Toxicol 90 (2):269–278
- Agarwal H, Nakara A, Shanmugam VK (2019) Anti-inflammatory mechanism of various metal and metal oxide nanoparticles synthesized using plant extracts: a review. Biomed Pharmacother 109:2561–2572
- 70. Li L, Guan Y, Liu H, Hao N, Liu T, Meng X, Fu C, Li Y, Qu Q, Zhang Y, Ji S, Chen L, Chen D, Tang F (2011) Silica nanorattle-doxorubicin-anchored mesenchymal stem cells for tumor-tropic therapy. ACS Nano 5:7462–7470
- Dawood S, Austin L, Cristofanilli M (2014) Cancer stem cells: implications for cancer therapy. Oncology (Williston Park) 28:1101–1107. 1110
- Xiao J, Mu J, Liu T, Xu H (2017) Dig the root of cancer: targeting cancer stem cells therapy. J Med Discov 2017:D17003
- Diehn M, Cho RW, Clarke MF (2009) Therapeutic implications of the cancer stem cell hypothesis. Semin Radiat Oncol 19(2):78–86
- 74. Phi LTH, Sari IN, Yang YG, Lee SH, Jun N, Kim KS, Lee YK, Kwon HY (2018) Cancer stem cells (CSCs) in drug resistance and their therapeutic implications in cancer treatment. Stem Cells Int 2018:5416923



Types of Cancer Stem Cells

Gautham Chengizkhan, Bharti Bisht, Sridhar Muthusami, Muralidharan Anbalagan, Ilangovan Ramachandran, and R. Ileng Kumaran

Abstract

The discovery of cancer stem cells (CSCs) has revolutionized the field of cancer biology due to the intrinsic role of CSCs in the initiation, progression or relapse of cancers. The identification of different types of CSCs has given a great opportunity to researchers and clinicians, to understand the basic biology of various types

G. Chengizkhan

Department of Endocrinology, Dr. ALM PG Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, University of Madras, Taramani Campus, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

B. Bisht

Lung Cancer Research Program, Division of Thoracic Surgery, David Geffen School of Medicine, UCLA Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of California, Los Angeles, CA, USA

S. Muthusami

Department of Biochemistry, Karpagam Academy of Higher Education, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, India

Karpagam Cancer Research Centre, Karpagam Academy of Higher Education, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, India

M. Anbalagan

Department of Structural and Cellular Biology, Louisiana Cancer Research Center, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

I. Ramachandran

Department of Endocrinology, Dr. ALM PG Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, University of Madras, Taramani Campus, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: ilangovan@unom.ac.in

R. I. Kumaran (🖂) Biology Department, Farmingdale State College, Farmingdale, NY, USA e-mail: ramachi@farmingdale.edu

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_2 of CSCs or cancers, and has also added an extra dimension in the development of innovative approaches or therapeutics to specifically target CSCs. The morbidity and mortality caused by various cancers have started to decline rapidly in the past couple of decades. Furthermore, the life expectancy of cancer patients have increased with the invention of modern state-of-the-art technologies, besides rapid advances in the development and preclinical testing of new drugs that target CSCs. Additionally, more insights into the molecular biology of CSCs was made possible, when unique cell markers, which are specific to a particular type of tumor was deciphered. Importantly, the characterization and evaluation of key signalling pathways in CSCs are critical, as emerging evidence indicate that CSCs play a key role in dissemination during cancer metastasis or relapse. In this chapter, we discuss about CSCs that are specific to ovarian, thyroid, melanoma and pancreatic cancers. We also discuss about the key CSC signalling pathways, as understanding them will advance the therapeutic strategies, or evaluation of efficacy of novel CSC-targeting drugs that could be used in the treatment of cancer patients.

Keywords

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) \cdot Cell surface markers \cdot Drug targets \cdot Ovarian cancer stem cells (OCSCs) \cdot Thyroid cancer stem cells (TCSCs) \cdot Melanoma cancer stem cells (MCSCs) \cdot Pancreatic cancer stem cells (PCSCs) \cdot CSC signalling pathway \cdot Hedgehog (Hh) \cdot Notch \cdot Wingless-type (Wnt)/ β -catenin \cdot Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) \cdot Nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) \cdot Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) \cdot Cluster of differentiation (CD)

2.1 Introduction

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) or tumor-initiating cells (TICs) were brought to the limelight after the identification and characterization of a subpopulation of cells, which possess the properties of stem cells in several types of malignant tumors. The comprehensive studies on CSCs gained momentum after the discovery of stem-like cells that can form heterogenous population of cells in the development and progression of cancer [1]. The cancer stem-like cells were initially identified in acute myeloid leukemia (AML), which attracted the attention of many researchers across the world, and later, it was discovered that CSCs/TICs are responsible for the relapse and metastatic potential of various cancers due to their self-renewing capacity [2].

Available reports suggest that CSCs are involved in the initiation and progression of carcinomas; however, the provenance of CSC is equivocal [1]. Since CSCs are responsible for the most lethal events that lead to more cancer mortality such as metastasis and relapse, it is imperative to find the origin of CSCs [3]. There are various theories that have been postulated by scientists during different time points on the origin of CSCs. The origin and the biology of CSCs require better understanding to develop efficient therapeutics, and therefore, several theories including

cell fusion, horizontal gene transfers, genetic instability, and the influences of cellular microenvironment have been hypothesized [4].

Recent studies on CSCs suggest that oncogenic hit or mutation in the stem cells along with the dysfunction of proto-oncogenes, apoptotic factors, and various genes involved in DNA repair during mitosis may result in the formation of CSCs/TICs [5]. The mutation depends on both extrinsic and intrinsic factors including smoking, alcohol and substance abuse, unhealthy lifestyle, and dysfunctional DNA repair machinery due to the epigenetic alterations in the oncogenes and/or tumor suppressors. Current developments in molecular biology have led to the discovery of unique cell surface markers, which can be used in the identification and characterization of different types of tumors [6]. CSCs possess the characteristics of sustained self-renewal and the ability to differentiate into heterogenous population of cells, which promote initiation, progression, and dissemination of carcinomas. Importantly, the isolation of CSCs using cell surface markers has opened the opportunity to categorize the subtypes of different tumors [7]. In this chapter, we discuss the strategy to identify and isolate the CSCs, their cell surface markers, and key CSC signalling pathways in ovarian, thyroid, melanoma and pancreatic cancers.

Among the several cancers, ovarian cancer contributes to most cancer deaths in women, and the 5-year survival rate of patients with locally advanced and metastatic stages is 26% [8]. Though, both extrinsic and intrinsic factors are involved in the initiation of ovarian carcinogenesis, the loss of heterozygosity (LOH) in the breast cancer type 1 or 2 (*BRCA1* or *BRCA2*) gene, and the dysregulation of different intrinsic signalling mechanisms, namely, Wingless type (Wnt)/ β -catenin, Hedgehog, Notch, and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) pathways, are mostly responsible for the progression of ovarian cancers [9]. The early identification of ovarian CSCs (OCSCs) using a combination of various stem cell markers, namely, cluster of differentiation 133 (CD133), CD117, CD44, CD24 and aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 (ALDH1) or ALDH1 family member A1 (ALDH1A1) could help in the diagnosis or prognosis of cancer, or better treatment outcomes for patients with metastatic ovarian cancers [10, 11].

Thyroid cancer is the most prevalent endocrine cancer that is responsible for high morbidity and mortality among other endocrine-related cancer cases combined. Amid various causative factors, a subpopulation of thyroid CSCs play a pivotal role in the initiation and progression of thyroid malignancy due to the unlimited replication potential of these CSCs [12]. The thyroid CSCs (TCSCs) seize the control of multiple distinctive signalling cascades for their survival and development. In thyroid carcinoma, the thyroid CSCs are used as morphological markers, to define the tissue characteristics of both well-differentiated thyroid tumors like follicular and papillary cancers as well as more aggressive undifferentiated tumors, including anaplastic thyroid tumors. Several biomarkers such as CD13, CD133, epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM), ALDH, and stage-specific embryonic antigen 1 (SSEA-1) are identified and used as diagnostic markers as they account for poor prognosis in metastatic and chemoresistant thyroid tumors. Aberrant activation of the key signalling such as insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1), Hedgehog, Notch, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) and

Wnt/ β -catenin pathways, plays a critical role in the maintenance of thyroid CSCs that promote the initiation and progression of different subtypes of thyroid cancers.

The 5-year survival rate for melanoma is 98% during its localized stages; however, the percentage substantially drops to 64% for regional and 23% for distant metastatic melanoma lesions [13]. Dysregulation of various signalling pathways such as Notch, Hedgehog and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) are involved in the carcinogenesis. These signalling pathways regulate multiple stem cell markers that are used in the identification of melanoma CSCs (MCSCs) such as CD133, and ATP binding cassette (ABC) transporter family members like multidrug resistance 1 (MDR1), ABC subfamily G member 2 (ABCG2) and ABC subfamily B member 5 (ABCB5). CD133 marker is highly expressed during the metastatic dissemination of cancer, whereas ABCG2 and ABCB5 serve as markers of tumor progression [14].

Pancreatic cancer is the fourth common cause of death amongst all the carcinomas. It is an aggressive cancer that is mostly asymptomatic in nature, until the cancer has metastasized to distant sites. The patient survival rate for pancreatic carcinoma is as low as 80%, because most often the cancer is diagnosed only at a very advanced stage in pancreas or metastatic stage in distant organs [15]. Although extensive research on different carcinomas has led to new therapeutics, some improvement in patient survival or treatment outcome, the average survival time of patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer is merely 2-3 months. Recently, the identification of CSC markers such as CD44, CD24 and epithelial-specific antigen (ESA) in pancreatic tumors have led to the identification of pancreatic CSCs (PCSCs) and have increased the chances of early diagnosis. The CD44⁺, CD24⁺ and ESA⁺ cells have multifold tumorigenic potential in pancreatic cancers as they favour the survival of CSCs and promote the progression of tumors [16]. There are multiple signalling pathways, including Wnt/β-catenin, HH, Notch and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/RAC-alpha serine/threonine-protein kinase (AKT)/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), which are hyperactivated in pancreatic cancers, and they enable the CSCs to self-renew and differentiate into different types of tumour cells [17]. In the subsequent sections, we discuss more about these CSCs, their markers in different carcinomas and the signalling mechanisms that drive the tumor progression and metastasis.

2.2 Ovarian Cancer Stem Cells (OCSCs)

2.2.1 Origins and Markers of OCSCs

Ovarian cancer is one of the deadliest cancers amongst gynecological malignancies, and accounts for most cancer deaths in women globally, because of its high rate of relapse after treatments. It is also one of the widely studied cancers. Ovarian cancer study has lead to the discovery that CSCs, which are a small subpopulation of cells in tumour were responsible for the metastasis, drug resistance, cancer relapse and high mortality rates [18]. CSCs are found in most of the primary ovarian tumors and

ovarian cancer cell lines. The study by Stewart et al. [19] reported that freshly isolated cells from the ovarian cancer ascites express high levels of CSC markers, which represent the CSC population in the malignant ovarian ascites.

There are a diverse number of CSC markers that are distinct to ovarian cancers, which are clinically used to predict the nature and the invasiveness of the tumours. The OCSC markers such as CD24, CD44, CD117, CD133 and ALDH1/ALDH1A1 are used to define the identity and classification of the tumor subtypes, which help in the prognosis, and to determine the clinical outcomes of cancer patients, when using more precise treatment strategies to target the CSCs and tumor [20]. CD44⁺ and CD117⁺ cells are isolated from the human ovarian adenocarcinomas, using the cell surface markers CD44 (hyaluronic acid receptor) and stem cell factor receptor (SCFR) also known as CD117 or c-KIT. These subpopulations of cells, i.e., the OCSCs that were isolated from the ovarian adenocarcinomas, upon injection into mice were able to form full blown tumors, due to their tumor-initiating capacity [21].

CD44⁺ and myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MYD88)⁺ cells isolated from the ovarian tumor ascites or the tumor itself, and EpCAM⁺ and CD24⁺ cells from the ovarian cancer cell lines manifest the molecular characteristics of CSCs/ TICs. Interestingly, CD24⁺ cells isolated from the tumor samples of the malignant ovarian cancer patients showed enhanced properties of CSCs, i.e., a higher metastatic and cancer relapse potential due to their self-renewing capacity, which doubles the rate of progression of tumours [22]. Furthermore, these cancer patients showed increased resistance to conventional chemotherapy, which resulted in inefficient drug treatments in these malignancies. Importantly, CD133⁺ and ALDH1⁺ cells are associated with ovarian carcinogenesis, particularly in the development of tumor during the initial stages, and these markers correlate with poor prognosis of cancers in patients and their overall disease-free survival rates [23].

2.2.2 Identification, Isolation and Characterisation of OCSCs

The OCSCs are extremely plastic in nature due to their distinct gene expression pattern and molecular phenotype. The OCSCs possess the characteristics of normal stem cells, but do not follow established pathways or signalling mechanisms [24]. Hence, CSCs can self-renew which promotes carcinogenesis. Additionally, CSCs can also undergo differentiaton to give rise to different cell types in the tumour, resulting in tumour heterogeneity and increased resistance to therapies. Besides, OCSCs have the capacity to survive and resist hypoxia, and proliferate under nutrient starvation (e.g., without glucose) [25]. Researchers have started to better understand about the role of OCSCs in tumor initiation and progression, after their isolation from the ovarian tumours or ascites using multiparametric flow cytometry [26]. The ascitic fluid of patients with ovarian cancer served as a source for the isolation of OCSCs [27]. The mixture of OCSCs and primary ovarian cancer cells in the stem cell medium was separated on a ficoll density gradient by centrifugation [28]. Then, the OCSCs fraction was purified by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) using the cell surface markers CD117, CD133, EpCAM, ROR1,

ALDH, SOX2, octamer-binding transcription factor 4 (Oct4), Nanog, MYC, ABCB1 and ABCG2 [29–31]. Additionally, Lin28 and Oct4 were identified as molecular targets, and then used for the isolation of OCSCs [32]. Dye exclusion assays, cell surface antigen identification, tumour sphere assay and clonogenic assays were used for in vitro characterisations of OCSCs [33].

An in-depth knowledge about CSCs surface markers and their unique ability to express in accordance with the tumor types, have opened up the possibilities of targeting specific-tumours with higher precision. The expertise gained from immuno-phenotyping of normal stem cells in tissues or organs has immensely helped in standardizing the optimal protocols in the isolation and identification of CSCs [34]. The highly plastic and multi-potency of OCSCs provide them the ability for chemoresistance against different mono or combination therapies. OCSCs can evade cellular apoptosis mechanisms, and enter the phase of active proliferation, by activating the pathways responsible for maintaining adult stem cell homeostasis [35].

Under normal physiological conditions in cells, a fine balance is maintained in the expression of oncogenes versus tumour suppressors or signalling by pro-apoptotic versus anti-apoptotic pathways. But, in ovarian CSCs/TICs, the fine balance between pro-apoptotic versus anti-apoptotic signalling is altered, thereby prolonging the survival of tumour cells or leading to relapse or recurrence of cancers. Notably, OCSCs possess an innate ability to undergo dormancy. The quiescent state increases OCSC's chance of survival and helps to maintain their altered genomes, which establishes their metastatic niche to support ovarian tumour growth. Conversely, OCSCs can reverse their self-induced quiescence or dormancy, which accounts for their metastatic secondary tumours or tumour recurrences and increased mortality rates of ovarian cancer patients [36]. Moreover, OCSCs unlimited differentiation potential and aggressive invasiveness sustain the tumour growth in an extremely stressful alien-metastatic-environment, to establish themselves and their secondary tumours by actively proliferating and also releasing chemokines and growth factors, an indicator of their own better survival [37].

2.2.3 Signalling, Self-Renewal, Metastasis and Differentiation in Ovarian Cancer

Various signalling pathways such as Wnt/ β -catenin, HH, Notch, and TGF- β are involved in regulating the self-renewability and maintenance of CSCs/TICs. The inhibition of specific targets in these pathways using specific molecules/inhibitors was shown to be of potential therapeutic value for recurrent malignancies. Dysregulated Notch signalling is highly correlated with poor prognosis of ovarian cancer patients, and in most cases, the Notch signalling molecules are highly expressed in OCSCs. The overexpression of critical Notch signalling molecules, can initiate dysregulation of the pathway and lead to ovarian tumourigenesis. Multiple Notch signalling target genes such as peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma (*PPARG*), cyclin D1 (*CCND1*), and runtrelated transcription factor 1 (*RUNX1*) undergo epigenetic modifications, including DNA methylation in most of the high-grade ovarian serous adenocarcinomas [38]. Unlike the knowledge available on signalling pathways in CSCs from other organs/tisues, the core OCSC's signalling is still unclear [39]. Therefore, in this section we have discussed primarily on signalling pathways in ovarian cancer.

Aberrant activation of the Hedgehog signalling pathway is involved in the development of several cancers, including different grades of ovarian cancers. Hedgehog signalling is highly implicated in the regulation and growth of spheroid forming cells/OCSCs, and in the progression of ovarian tumours [40]. Notably, the inhibition of Hedgehog signalling resulted in the suppression of spheroid-forming capacity in ovarian cancer cells. Interestingly, the molecules of HH signalling pathway were shown to cross-talk with Wnt signalling pathway, and upregulate the key WNT molecules such as WNT2B and WNT5A. The target genes of Hedgehog signalling pathway such as leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein coupled receptor 5 (LGR5), CD44, CD133, and other Wnt genes were reported to facilitate the process of tumor growth and progression [41].

The inflammatory cytokine pathway mediated by Nuclear Factor - κB (NF- κB) signalling, is essential for the survival of OCSCs. The inhibition of NF- κB signalling pathway through the tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) mediated blockage resulted in apoptotic death of CD44⁺ ovarian cancer cells. The activation of TGF- β signalling in OCSCs was shown to induce epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and promotes metastasis [42].

2.2.3.1 Wnt/β-Catenin Signalling Pathway in Ovarian Cancer

Wnt/β-catenin signalling is one of the evolutionarily conserved signalling pathways that regulates the process of embryogenesis, cell proliferation and maintenance of adult stem cell homeostasis [43]. It has wide range of functions, and it is also important for CSCs renewability, as it has to maintain the mesenchymal phenotype in differentiate into various other subset of cells [44]. to The order Wnt/β-catenin canonical pathway has multiple key signalling molecules, and the pathway is activated by binding of Wnt ligand to its receptor for the initiation of the downstream signalling mechanism. The destruction complex in the cytoplasm is comprised of different proteins such as AXIN, adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) and glycogen synthase kinase- 3β (GSK- 3β), which phosphorylates β -catenin, followed by ubiquitin-mediated proteosomal degradation. During the activation of the pathway, the unphosphorylated β -catenin accumulates in cytoplasm, which then enters the nucleus and binds to the T-cell specific transcription factor/lymphoid enhancer binding factor (TCF/LEF) family of transcription factors to induce its target genes expression [45]. Wnt/ β -catenin pathway regulates cancer stemness, invasion and growth, and plays a key role in various cancers [46, 47] including ovarian cancer, as it regulates OCSCs by enhancing their self-renewal capacity and plasticity to differentiate into heterogenous tumor cell types [48]. The Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway involves several proteins that regulate key cellular events, and the expression of most of these proteins are altered during carcinogenesis [49].

The Wnt/ β -catenin signalling is activated when the WNT ligand binds to the Frizzled receptor (FZD) and low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5/6 (LRP5)/LRP6. In most of the malignant ovarian cancer cases, the FZD is overexpressed than in the normal ovary, and the survival rate of cancer patients with FZD-positive tumors was worse [50]. Furthermore, Wnt/ β -catenin pathway can be inhibited by various antagonists such as Wnt inhibitory factor 1 (WIF1), Dickkopf family (DKK) proteins and secreted frizzled-related protein (SFRP). Importantly, SFRP5 directly binds to the WNT ligand or FZD receptor and inhibits its action, but the low expression of SFRP5 is associated with chronic aberrant activation of Wnt/ β -catenin pathway and progression of aggressive ovarian cancers [51].

The cytoplasmic and nuclear accumulation of β -catenin is considered as the hallmark of Wnt pathway activation, and higher levels of β -catenin are often observed in multiple cancers. Likewise, mutations in the β -catenin (*CTNNB1*) gene is frequently observed in endometrioid ovarian cancers, and overexpression of β -catenin in the nucleus showed significant positive correlation with high-grade serous ovarian cancers [52]. APC, AXIN1 and AXIN2 are the key cytoplasmic proteins that encompass the destruction complex and regulate the Wnt pathway upon phosphorylation. Importantly, mutations in *APC*, *AXIN1* and *AXIN2* genes are observed in multiple cases of ovarian endometrioid adenocarcinoma [53].

2.2.3.2 Notch Signalling Pathway in Ovarian Cancer

Notch signalling was initially discovered in Drosophila, and later, it was identified to have roles during embryogenesis and neural development in many species, including mammals [54]. Notch pathway has important function in mammalian cells ranging from cellular proliferation to apoptosis. It is responsible for cell fate determination and differentiation, and is also shown to influence cell division. Notch is a cellsurface transmembrane receptor that transduces its downstream signalling by binding to the ligands such as Delta-like (DLL1, DLL3, DLL4) and Jagged (JAG1, JAG2) on neighboring cells. There are basically four types of Notch receptors that are expressed in humans: NOTCH1, NOTCH2, NOTCH3, and NOTCH4 [55]. The binding of a ligand to its Notch receptor causes a conformational change in the receptor, which induces proteolytic cleavage of the receptor by TNF- α -converting enzyme (TACE) and γ -secretase, followed by release of the Notch intracellular domain (NICD) that leads to the downstream signalling and gene regulation. The Notch signalling regulates several genes of the Hairy/Enhancer of Split (HES) family, and the HES protein is related to YRPW motif-like protein (HEY) family of basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors, such as cyclin D1 and c-MYC that regulate the differentiation and survival of cells.

Recent insights into dysregulation of Notch signalling are highly correlated with many cancers, and genomic alterations in Notch pathway is prevalently seen in ovarian carcinomas [56]. Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies on inhibiting this pathway using small molecules and other blockers like γ -secretase inhibitors (GSIs) have demonstrated significant antitumor effects. Notch pathway plays a wide-range of

role in ovarian cancer progression. The dysregulation of this pathway is linked to poor patient survival, and it promotes metastasis and angiogenesis. Notch pathway influences, C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) also called as stromal cell-derived factor-1 α receptor (SDF1 α), which mediates its signalling to enhance the proliferation and migration of ovarian cancer cells [57]. NOTCH1 and HES1 proteins are overexpressed in most of the ovarian tumours studied. While the overexpression of JAG2, DLL1, Manic Fringe (MFNG) and transducin-like enhancer of split-1 (TSL1) were frequently observed in ovarian adenocarcinomas, the Deltex, Mastermind (MAM), and Radical Fringe (RFNG) were often overexpressed in adenomas [58, 59]. γ -Secretase inhibitors (GSIs) are used to inhibit the Notch signalling pathway, and is therefore, tested in many clinical trials of different cancers, including ovarian cancers (Table 2.1).

2.2.3.3 Hedgehog Signalling Pathway in Ovarian Cancer

Hedgehog signalling pathway contributes to ovarian tumorigenesis along with the Wnt signalling pathway [60]. Aberrant activation of Hedgehog signalling is observed in most of the ovarian carcinomas. In the serous ovarian tumor samples, the Wnt target gene, AXIN2, was significantly expressed along with the overexpression of Hedgehog receptor patched homolog 1/2 (PTCH1/2), ligands such as Indian Hedgehog (IHH), Sonic (SHH) and several transcription factors. These over expression of the various signalling and target components of HH pathway are responsible for the hyperactivation of Hedgehog signalling, which also enhances the apparent cross-talk with the Wnt pathway [60]. Glioma-associated oncogene 1 (GLI1), a transcription factor and patched receptor (PTCH) are the

Signalling pathways/inhibitors		Phase of clinical			
used	Mode of action	trial			
1. Sonic hedgehog					
Cyclopamine	SMO inhibitor	Phase I			
Sonidegib	Inhibits dissemination of metastatic cells	FDA approved			
Vismodegib (GDC-0449)	Inhibits the function of SMO	Phase II			
2. Notch					
LY900009	Inhibits tumor progression	Phase I			
Cediranib maleate	Prevents angiogenesis	Phase I			
3. Wnt					
Ipafricept (OMP-54F28)	Acts as a decoy receptor of Wnt ligands	Phase I			
4. EpCAM					
Catumaxomab	Decreases tumor development and invasion	Phase III			

Table 2.1 Clinical trials using different signalling pathway inhibitors of ovarian cancer

major molecular components of this crucial pathway. Liao et al. [61] reported that overexpression of GL11 and PTCH1/PTCH2 proteins in ovarian cancers correlated with poor patient survival. Smoothened (SMO) is an important receptor that regulates Hedgehog signalling. Notably, the treatment of ovarian cancer cells *in vitro* with SMO inhibitor, cyclopamine, resulted in the suppression of cell growth and invasion, but lead to accelerated apoptosis. The altered regulation of Hedgehog signalling contributed to rapid invasiveness and metastasis. Furthermore, Hedgehog signalling along with Notch signalling facilitated tumor growth via neoangiogenesis and epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), and increased the potential for tumor relapse. Studies on Hedgehog signalling have unraveled the basic understanding of this pathway and its role in cancer progression, leading to the identification of specific therapeutic targets, and the development of several inhibitors targeting the pathway for ovarian cancer treatments [62].

2.2.3.4 Transforming Growth Factor (TGF)- β Signalling Pathway in Ovarian Cancer

Hypersignalling of TGF- β plays an essential role in the dissemination of ovarian cancers. TGF-ß signalling promotes tumor progression via immune evasion, neoangiogenesis and enhanced EMT [63]. TGF- β superfamily has diverse members, and they play an essential role in the normal physiology of the ovaries, and also aid in the development of follicles. It also mediates important communication between different cell types in the ovary such as the oocyte, granulosa and theca cells [63]. The depletion of forkhead box protein O1/3 (FOXO1/3) and phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) in granulosa cells increased the level of activin, and that resulted in the increased phosphorylation and activation of Sma- and MAD (mothers against decapentaplegic) homolog 2/3 (SMAD2/3), resulting in the active proliferation of granulosa cells and formation of tumors in the ovary. Furthermore, conditional SMAD1 and SMAD5 double or SMAD1, SMAD5, and SMAD8 triple knockout mice developed metastatic granulosa cell tumors, substantiating the involvement of BMP-SMAD1/5/8 signalling in the initiation and formation of ovarian cancers [64]. Interestingly, the inhibition of the ligand-receptor binding using TGF-B receptor type I and II (TGFBRI and TGFBRII) dual inhibitors resulted in decrease in the size of tumors, highlighting the importance of this pathway. The TGFβRII and SMAD signalling are regulated by cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), which promotes the invasiveness of ovarian cancer cells through the activation of NF- κ B signalling pathway and other factors such as CD44 and matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP9) [65].

2.2.3.5 Nuclear Factor (NF)-kB Signalling Pathway in Ovarian Cancer

Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF)- κ B, also known as nuclear factor (NF)- κ B, is a transcription factor that has been shown to mediate proinflammatory signalling in many cancers [66, 67]. The activation and dysregulation of key molecules in the NF- κ B signalling are responsible for the promotion of chemoresistance, immune evasion, metastasis in ovarian cancers, and most importantly, the maintenance of OCSCs. It is reported that hypersignalling of

TGF- β and its cross-talk with NF- κ B signalling results in the dissemination and metastasis of ovarian cancers [68]. The role of NF- κ B signalling in anti-apoptotic and pro-angiogenic pathway in many different cancers is well-established, and is also shown to be pivotal in ovarian cancer progression. The inflammatory chemokines or cytokines in the tumor microenvironment (TME) activate the canonical NF- κ B signalling through the V-Rel avian reticuloendotheliosis viral oncogene homolog A (RELA), also called as NF-kB 65-kilodalton (kDa) subunit (p65) protein [69]. Moreover, increased p65 phosphorylation and pro-tumor macrophage type 2 (M2) infiltration drives the activation of the canonical NF- κ B signalling, and thereby induce the advancement of ovarian tumors as observed in the mouse model. Importantly, inhibition of the NF-κB signalling regresses the tumor along with a decrease in the M2 and an increase in the antitumor macrophage type 1 (M1) infiltrations [70]. Importantly notably, the loss of p65 in the xenograft mouse model significantly inhibited spheroid formation, ALDH expression and activity, chemoresistance and tumorigenesis. These studies suggest that canonical NF- κ B signalling can be utilized by the OCSCs for their self-renewal, and therefore, the inhibition of ALDH expression can potentially shutdown NF-KB pathway [71]. Therefore, molecules that are involved in the NF- κ B pathway can serve as therapeutic targets to develop novel and potent inhibitors/regulators to treat or cure therapy-resistant ovarian cancers.

2.2.4 Ovarian Cancer/OCSC-Specific Therapeutics and Outcomes

Most of the available therapies such as chemotherapy and radiotherapy do not target the OCSCs; rather, they target the differentiated cells among the heterogenous population of ovarian cancer cells. Additionally, surgical debulking of the tumor is only possible with the lower-grade ovarian tumors. In the case of metastatic ovarian cancer, surgical debulking is not an option. It is not possible to get a clear margin of the ovarian cancer, just from morphological observation to excise all of the cancer cells, even with advanced precision surgical instruments and debulking procedure. The conventional therapies are designed to target only the differentiated ovarian cancer cells, but not the OCSCs, because of their tumor niche [72]. The OCSCs are tightly encapsulated and well protected within their TME making it arduous to target OCSCs with conventional therapies and eliminate them to treat or cure ovarian cancer. While the tumor shrinks initially upon treatment with chemo- or/and radiotherapy, the OCSCs that are protected in their niche may revert from their quiescence or dormant state after prolonged chemo- or radiotherapy, which ultimately leads to the development of chemoresistance or radioresistance in ovarian cancer [73].

Cancer relapse is the critical issue in any type of cancer treatment, but its significance could depend on various factors. CSCs are responsible for the cancer relapse in most cancers, including ovarian cancer. Although the 5-year survival rate for ovarian cancer is comparatively high, the survival rate declines dramatically in metastatic and relapsed ovarian cancers [74]. The relapsed ovarian cancers are often chemoresistant because of their earlier drug treatment regimes. Therefore, a

comprehensive understanding of the ovarian CSCs/TICs will throw more light in combating ovarian cancer metastasis and relapse. Hence, targeting the ovarian CSCs/TICs will be a better therapeutic strategy (Fig. 2.1) than the conventional therapies, and therefore, could serve as a novel therapeutic option for the treatment of ovarian cancer patients in the future. In Chap. 16 of this book, "Targeting Therapies for Cancer Stem Cells" are discussed in more detail.

2.2.5 Clinical Trials for Ovarian Cancers

At present, there are numerous therapeutic approaches available for the treatment of ovarian cancer. Apart from the conventional treatments such as chemo- and radio-therapy, immunotherapy is also currently being used in the treatment of ovarian cancer. The conventional therapies do not target the CSCs, and hence, metastasis and cancer relapse are still a major issue in ovarian cancer treatment. Therefore, new strategies are being devised to target various signalling pathways that are involved in ovarian carcinogenesis. The signalling pathways are inhibited using knockout/knockdown strategies, aptamers or small molecule inhibitors. The clinical trials conducted using different inhibitors for ovarian cancer are listed in Table 2.1 [75, 76].



Fig. 2.1 Schematic representation of the strategy for potential combined therapies for diagnosis/ prognosis of targeted-treatment of ovarian cancer. Since the discovery of cancer stem cells (CSCs)/ ovarian cancer stem cells (OCSCs) and demonstration of their roles in tumorigenesis by scientists, CSCs/OCSCs are now being isolated, characterized, and used by clinicians in the diagnosis/ prognosis of different types of cancer, including ovarian cancer. Though, OCSCs are already used in the diagnosis/prognosis, targeting the OCSCs in combination with other conventional therapies for ovarian cancer relapse and/or resistance, and thereby increase the survival rate of patients

2.3 Thyroid Cancer Stem Cells (TCSCs)

2.3.1 Origins and Markers of TCSCs

Thyroid cancer is the most prevalent endocrine cancer worldwide, and it is classified based on the histopathological characteristics [77]. According to the World Health Organization (WHO) classification, thyroid cancer is diversified into four subtypes, namely, follicular thyroid carcinoma (FTC), papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC), medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC), and anaplastic thyroid carcinoma (ATC). PTC and FTC are differentiated thyroid cancers (DTC) and are responsible for almost 90–95% of cases among the other subtypes [78]. MTC originates from the parafollicular cells or C cells of the thyroid gland. The prognosis of MTC is comparatively worse than the DTC (PTC and FTC). Moreover, the MTC patients with distant metastases have poor survival. Apart from various environmental carcinogenic factors and contributions from genetics, TCSCs are involved in the active differentiation of heterogenous population of cells due to their mesenchymal properties and facilitate rapid tumor growth and adversity. The role of TCSCs in the progression of thyroid cancer is well documented, and it was shown to be responsible for malignancy, resistance toward various therapies, and cancer relapse [79]. Different theories have been hypothesized, to explain the two different proposed models on the origin of the thyroid CSCs: multistep carcinogenesis model, and fetal cell carcinogenesis model. The theory for the multistep carcinogenesis model postulates that the thyroid cancer cells originate from the thyrocytes, which had undergone epigenetic mutation due to exposure to multiple carcinogenic factors or xenobiotics (Fig. 2.2a). However, the theory for the fetal cell carcinogenesis model states that fetal thyroid cells such as thyroid stem cells, thyroblasts, and prothyrocytes acquire the plasticity and the properties of CSCs due to oncogenic mutations (Fig. 2.2b) [80].

The thyroid CSCs can be identified by their ability to form thyrospheres in an in vitro study and tumors in *in vivo* study. Several biomarkers are used to identify different types of tumor, and they help in better therapeutic treatment [12]. The thyroid CSCs are distinguished from the non-cancer cells based on the different biomarkers such as CD133 (prominin-1), Oct-4, Sox2, Nanog, and ALDH. Further, there are different stemness genes that drive the intrinsic signalling pathways in the maintenance of these thyroid CSCs, which include Notch (HES1, JAG1) and Wnt (MYC, JUN, and FZD5) signalling pathways [81]. Although the identification of these markers has shown a clear outline in the detection of thyroid tumors, these thyroid CSCs acquire their invasive phenotype during the EMT. The thyroid CSCs lose the properties of cellular adhesion and polarity and gain their mesenchymal characteristics that give them the plasticity. The decrease in E-cadherin expression and increased expression of N-cadherin and other markers like Snail, Slug, and zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 1 and 2 (ZEB1, ZEB2) are highly associated with the EMT process [82].



Fig. 2.2 Origin of thyroid cancer stem cells (TCSCs). Different theories have been put forward to explain the two models on the origin of TCSCs, viz., multistep carcinogenesis model and fetal cell carcinogenesis model. (a) Multistep carcinogenesis model—To explaind this model, the theory hypothesizes that the differentiated thyroid follicular cell undergoes epigenetic alteration(s) due to various factors leading to the deregulation and activation of diverse key signalling pathways, which actively promote the progression of normal differentiated thyroid cells to thyroid cancer cells. The initial tumour that is formed can be cancerous or benign like a follicular adenoma. However, aberrant activation of key signalling pathways in the initial tumour can induce it to quickly progress and develop into a differentiated carcinoma including the follicular or papillary thyroid carcinoma (FTC/PTC). Furthermore, these differentiated cancers can undergo genetic mutation(s) and dedifferentiation to develop into an aggressive and undifferentiated form of cancer called anaplastic thyroid carcinoma (ATC). (b) Fetal cell carcinogenesis model—To explain this model, the theory postulates that there are different types of thyroid gland cells, which regulate the normal physiological processes of an adult thyroid gland. During these processes, the adult thyroid gland gives rise to

2.3.2 Identification, Isolation and Characterisation of TCSCs

Different methods are used in the identification and isolation of the thyroid CSCs among other heterogenous population. Shimamura et al. [83] demonstrated that there are no common CSCs in the eight different thyroid cancer cell lines they studied. Despite that fact, there are various other markers such as CD326 (also called EpCAM), 166, 133, 117, 90, 44, 44v, 24, 15 (also called SSEA-1), 13, and ALDH which are identified as potential candidates to characterize thyroid CSCs, and there are diverse techniques that are involved in the isolation and their characterization [84].

FACS is the most common technique employed in the isolation of a distinct cell type from a heterogenous population of cells using the cell surface markers [85]. In addition to that, Hoechst dye efflux is also used to exclude the side population of the cells (differentiated cells) as these cells are capable of excluding the DNA binding dye Hoechst 33342 using the ABCG2 drug transporter. But this technique has its own limitation due to the toxicity of the dye. The sorted and separated cells from the FACS and Hoechst dye efflux are further subjected to in vitro and in vivo studies, and the cells were able to form spheroids in vitro and tumors when injected into the immunocompromised mice [86]. ALDH plays a key role in developing resistance against chemotherapy and increasing the metastatic potential of the thyroid tumors.

There are specific biomarkers that are expressed at various time points during the cancer progression. MDR1, ATP-binding cassette super-family G member 2 (ABCG2), and multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1) are other biomarkers based on which the cells can be isolated and characterized among the therapeutic resistant tumors. Using fine needle aspiration (FNA) biopsy, the tumor cells are analyzed for these biomarkers for the detection of multidrug-resistant tumors [86]. In an *in vitro* study, prolonged culture of HTh74R cell line with low concentrations of anticancer drug, doxorubicin, resulted in the development of resistance in these cells when compared to the parental cell line. Interestingly, the parental cell line showed no significant expression of these multidrug-resistant biomarkers [87]. Among the other markers, CD15, 24, 44, and 133 are widely used in the detection of thyroid CSCs. The CD15/SSEA-1 is used as a marker for the EMT as the SSEA-1⁺ cells are predominantly expressed during this transition. The CD24⁺ and CD44⁺ cells are responsible for spherogenic/tumorigenic potential, and they were significantly expressed in most of the aggressive thyroid cancer cell lines. CD133⁺ cells express high levels of intrinsic stemness genes (Oct-4, Sox2, and Nanog) and drug-resistant genes (ABCG2, MDR1, and MRP), which are responsible for the self-renewability and chemoresistance of thyroid CSCs [88].

Fig. 2.2 (continued) precursors of fetal thyroid stem cells, fetal thyroblasts and prothyrocytes. These three types of cells can undergo spontaneous genetic mutations and develop into three different types of thyroid carcinomas. An oncogenic hit on the fetal thyroid stem cells can progress to ATC, and further mutation in the fetal thyroblasts and prothyrocytes can form papillary and follicular thyroid cancers, respectively

2.3.3 Signalling, Self-Renewal, Metastasis and Differentiation of Thyroid Cancer

Multiple signalling mechanisms such as insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1), Hedgehog, Notch, and Wnt/ β -catenin play a pivotal role in the maintenance of thyroid CSCs, which support the initiation and progression of thyroid carcinomas. These signalling pathways are responsible for the maintenance of normal cellular physiology; however, aberrant activation of these pathways enhances the survival of CSCs and thus the development and progression of tumors [89]. Similar to OCSCs, the core TCSCs signalling pathways are yet to be understood well. Hence, in this section we have discussed mainly on signalling pathways in Thyroid cancer.

2.3.3.1 Insulin-Like Growth Factor (IGF)1 Signalling Pathway in Thyroid Cancer

IGF1 signalling pathway promotes the growth of thyroid cancer due to its mitotic and antiapoptotic properties. IGF1 is an endogenous hormone which is produced by various organs and has predominant role in the metabolism and growth [90]. On the contrary, the elevated levels of IGF1 in the circulation are highly correlated to various kinds of carcinomas including thyroid, breast, and prostate. It is also wellestablished that IGF1 is indeed involved in the formation of differentiated thyroid cancers. The IGF1 ligands and receptors (IGF1R) are overexpressed in the thyroid cancer cells which leads to the hyperactivation of this pathway [91]. In normal condition, the binding of the ligand to the receptor activates the downstream signalling molecules and stimulates the thyrocyte proliferation. Contrarily, the altered regulation of this IGF1 signalling pathway results in the rapid proliferation of thyrocytes, evading the cellular checkpoints during cell division and forming neoplasm in the thyroid gland. Further, the cross-talk between the IGF1R and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) enhances the activation of IGF axis. In fact, the tumor-initiating potential of TSH is countered by other growth factors, but IGF1 stimulates the pro-tumorigenic effect [92]. Furthermore, the PTC spheres showed increase in IGFIR and IGF1/2 expressions, and interestingly, the activation of IGF1 pathway enhanced the size and number of the spheroids [93].

2.3.3.2 Hedgehog Signalling Pathway in Thyroid Cancer

Hedgehog (HH) signalling contributes to the chemoresistance and radioresistance in several cancers, and this signalling is critical in maintaining the thyroid CSCs [94]. Hedgehog signalling pathway renews the thyroid CSCs through the expression of SNAIL protein, and use of HH inhibitors in ATC cell line resulted in increased sensitivity toward the chemotherapy and radiotherapy due to decreased CSC renewal [95]. Furthermore, the Hedgehog signalling is shown to increase the aggressiveness of thyroid cancers by activating different pathways such as AKT and c-MET through cross-talk mechanism [96].
2.3.3.3 Notch and JAK-STAT3 Pathways in Thyroid Cancer

The Notch signalling's crucial target gene, Hes1, a bHLH transcriptional repressor, is significantly expressed in the thyroid and regulates the expression of sodium/ iodide symporter (NIS) [97]. Different levels of Notch signalling genes are expressed in the normal and cancerous thyroid. In thyroid cancer, NOTCH1 expression differs among tumor subtypes. The expression of NOTCH1 was higher in human PTCs (classic and follicular variants, microcarcinomas) when compared with the normal thyroid and peritumoral tissues [98]. However, NOTCH1 expression was decreased in human ATC [99]. Importantly, several components of Notch signalling pathway were upregulated in human PTC as determined by microarray analysis [100]. Furthermore, Yamashita et al. [101] demonstrated an upregulation of NOTCH1 expression in PTC samples derived from human as well as transgenic animals. Interestingly, they showed that treatment of PTC cells with siRNA for NOTCH1 or GSI significantly reduced the cell proliferation and increased the apoptosis.

CD133⁺ ATC cells showed activation of the Janus Kinase (JAK)-STAT3 pathway, which regulates the process of tissue development and homeostasis. Some functions of JAK-STAT3 pathway are mostly similar to that of Notch signalling except for most critical functions like hematopoiesis, immune development, mammary gland development and lactation, adipogenesis, and sexually dimorphic growth. Shiraiwa et al. [102] demonstrated that treatment of ATC cells with cucurbitacin I, a STAT3 inhibitor, suppressed the thyrosphere-forming ability *in vitro* and tumor growth in nude mice, highlighting this pathway as one of the therapeutic targets.

2.3.3.4 Wnt/β-Catenin Signalling Pathway in Thyroid Cancer

The higher expression of β -catenin in the cytoplasm and nucleus is observed in most of the carcinomas including thyroid carcinomas. The mutation and deregulation of the genes such as APC and AXIN1 and the accumulation of β -catenin in cytoplasm and nucleus are seen in well-differentiated PTC and FTC. Higher incidences of thyroid cancer recurrence and metastasis rates are positively correlated with the constitutive activation of this specific pathway as Wnt/ β -catenin pathway supports the survival of thyroid CSCs. Furthermore, continuous activation of the pathway along with the downregulation of E-cadherin has significant positive correlation with increased migration capacity of cancer cells and metastasis in most of the undifferentiated thyroid tumors. Importantly, Wnt/ β -catenin pathway plays a key role in thyroid cancer aggressiveness [103]. For additional information on cancer aggressiveness refer to "Chap. 8: CSCs and Tumour Aggressiveness" in this book.

2.3.4 TCSC-Specific Therapeutics and Outcomes

The identification and the isolation of the TCSCs using diverse biological markers specific to thyroid cancer have led to the discovery of numerous therapeutic targets in order to completely regress the tumor and prevent the tumor relapse [104]. From

the above discussed topics, it is obvious that there are multiple signalling cascades and genes that are altered in the process of carcinogenesis. Various kinds of therapeutic approaches including small molecule inhibitors, blockers, aptamers, and conditional knockout strategies are currently used to shut down different pathways that fuel and drive the TCSCs and thereby target the tumors [105]. The current therapies do not directly target the TCSCs as they are tightly encapsulated in the TME. The critical reason for the tumor relapse after the chemo- and radiotherapy is that these therapies fail to target the CSCs in the course of treatment. The CSCs repopulate the heterogenous population of cells, and regrowth of the tumor at the primary site occurs, which further complicates along with resistance toward these therapies [106].

2.3.5 Clinical Trials for Thyroid Cancers

Thyroid cancer is one of the dreadful cancers which accounts for most death among endocrine cancers. The disease progresses rapidly as it is mostly asymptomatic or it starts to present itself only during the locally advanced or metastatic stage, making it arduous to decide on the treatment regime [107]. Tumor resection is one of the common clinical procedures that is done for the early stages of this carcinoma and followed by the conventional chemo- and radiotherapy. But still the patient survival rate declines as there is high chance of thyroid cancer recurrence and chemoresistance due to the TCSCs. Current insights into the nature of CSCs in the tumor development have opened various channels of research in targeting the TCSCs for complete regression of tumor and to curb the chances of recurrence [108]. As discussed previously, multiple signalling cascades and diverse number of genes are involved in the thyroid cancer initiation and progression. Therefore, targeting those crucial genes will eventually shut down the pathway and could be a strategy to develop therapeutics. There are different types of compounds that are being researched in targeting the pathways, and few of them have given promising results in the thyroid cancer cure. The drugs that are tested in the clinical trials are given in Table 2.2 [109–111].

2.4 Melanoma Cancer Stem Cells (MCSCs)

Melanoma is one of the severe subtypes of skin cancer. The discovery of melanoma cancer stem cells (MCSCs) has helped the researchers to have a greater understanding of the underlying signalling mechanisms that lead to the tumorigenic transformation of normal melanocytes into melanoma (Fig. 2.3). MCSCs or melanomainitiating cells were discovered by Fang group using the sphere-forming assay, in which CD20⁺ cells were isolated from metastatic human melanomas with stem celllike properties [112]. Later, Schatton et al. [113] reported that the MCSC population expresses ABC transporter ABCB5. The prevailing theory suggests that therapeutic targeting of MCSCs could eliminate tumor progression to melanomas

		Type(s) of thyroid		Phase of clinical
Drug		cancer	Role of the drug	trial
1.	Axitinib	MTC, DTC	Inhibits VEGF-R, PGDF-R, and c-Kit	Phase II
2.	Cabozantinib	MTC	Inhibits VEGF-R, c-Kit, RET, and MET	Phase III
3.	Lenvatinib	DTC	Inhibits RET-KIF5B, CCDC6-RET, and NcoA4-RET	Phase III
4.	Motesanib	MTC	Targets VEGF receptors and RET	Phase II
5.	Sorafenib	DTC, ATC	Targets VEGF receptors, RET, and BRAF	Phase III
6.	Imatinib	ATC	Blocks BCR-ABL, PDGF, c-KIT, and RET	Phase II

Table 2.2 Clinical trials using different signalling pathway inhibitors of thyroid cancer

[114]. Specific-targeting of MCSCs in melanomas is challenging because of the low number of MCSCs with specific markers, intratumoral and intertumoral heterogeneity in MCSCs population, immune evasion, and chemoresistance properties of MCSCs. A proper understanding of the molecular biology, signalling mechanisms, and underlying epigenetic regulation will facilitate the specific targeting of MCSCs and therefore the development of effective melanoma-targeting therapeutics [115].

2.4.1 Origins and Markers of MCSCs

Several biomarkers for MCSCs have been reported, but CD271 (neural crest nerve growth factor receptor) is the most significant marker [116]. Other MCSC markers that are prominent in the 3D culture conditions are Nanog, Sox-10 and Oct-3/4 transcription factors, CD20 and CD133 cell surface receptors, and ALDH1. ABCB1, ABCB5, and ABCG2 were also reported to mark MCSCs in a study that used 3D melanospheres and cell lines [117]. Another important marker for MCSCs is the H3K4 demethylase JARID1B. Musashi-1 (Msi-1), Nestin, CD30, and Tenascin-C are biomarkers that are often associated with highly proliferative JARID1B⁺ melanoma cells [118, 119]. PD-1, VEGFR1, and CXCR6 are some additional surface markers involved in self-renewal, immune evasion, and vascular mimicry [120].

2.4.2 Identification, Isolation and Characterisation of MCSCs

MCSCs are an extremely small sub-population of cells in the melanoma, which show self-renewal, tumour initiation and metastasis or drug resistance. Hence, the isolation and characterisation of MCSCs are essential to understand the melanoma's development, metastasis, relapse, drug resistance and therapeutics. The very few number of MCSCs in a melanoma and limited amount of melanoma tissue biopsy materials available have made the isolation and characterisation of MCSCs as an





nhibitor of apoptosis-stimulating protein of p53 (iASPP) expression leading to inhibition of p53-dependent apoptosis and progression of melanoma. Mutations in BRAF (V600E) and NRAS (Q61K) induce miR-146a through MYC, which in turn activates the Notch signalling through the downregulation of NUMB. DLL unctions that favour the melanoma progression. Wnt via JNK/c-Jun pathway can lead to the activation of AP-1 regulated genes promoting melanoma angiogenesis sinds to NOTCH leading to cleavage of NICD by y-secretase. The NICD undergoes nuclear translocation, followed by transcriptional activation of CD133. Then, CD133 via the p38 MAPK pathway specifically regulates the activator protein-1 (AP-1) DNA binding activity leading to the modulation of several cellular and metastasis. mAbs targeted against FZD receptor, DLL4, NOTCH, CD133, CD20, or ABCB5 inhibit MCSCs and MCSC-mediated melanoma progression. Small molecule-based inhibition of specific pathways, including Notch [DAPT, Honokiol, and Andrographolide (Andro)], Hedgehog (cyclopamine), and Wnt signalling (XAV939), abolishes MCSCs. Insulin growth factor receptor 1 (IGF1) interacts with its receptor (IGF1R) and stimulates ERK and p38 phosphorylation eading to hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF1 α) translocation and binding to DNA, which enhance the maintenance of melanoma stem-like characteristics. Fransforming growth factor-β (TGF-β) in conjunction with the SMADs activates the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and subsequently induces the nigration of melanoma cells. Similar EMT and migratory phenotype is also induced by the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-mediated activation of the Pl3K/ AKT signalling pathway in melanoma. Monoclonal antibodies can also be specifically used to target melanoma as shown in the figure. DAPT: tert-butyl(2S)-2-[[2S]-2-[[2-(3,5-difluorophenyl]acety]]amino]]-2-phenylacetate; Andro: 3-[2-[decahydro-6-hydroxy-5-(hydroxymethyl]-5,8a-dimethyl-2-methyene-1-napthalenyl]ethylidene]dihydro-4-hydroxy-2(3H)-furanone; Honokiol: 2-(4-hydroxy-3-prop-2-enylphenyl)-4-prop-2-enylphenol); Cyclopannine: 2(R,3S,3'R,3'aS,6'S,6aS,6bS,7'aR,11aS,11bR)-1,2,3,3'a,4,4'S',6,6',6a,6b,7,7',7'a,8,11,11a,11b-octadecahydro-3',6',10,11b-tetramethyl-spiro[9H-benzo[a] Buorene-9.2 (3'H)-furo[3.2-b]pyridin]-3-ol; XAV939: 2-[4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]-7,8-dihydro-5h-thiopyrano[4,3-D]pyrimidin-4-ol extremely challenging task in melanoma research. Therefore, many different techniques have been tried and employed in the isolation and characterisation of MCSCs [121, 122]. In the direct labelling technique, a cocktail of fluorescent-labelled specific-antibodies was used to bind to various cell surface marker antigens such as ABC transporters, CD20, CD133 (prominin-1), CD271 (NGFR/p75 neurotrophin receptor), JARID1B, etc., and then sorted by FACS to highly enrich for MCSCs. Another method employed was the magnetic bead cell-sorting technique, in combination with a unique subtractive or elimination approach. In this technique, an antibody cocktail was used to bind to haematopoietic cells including red blood cells (RBCs), endothelial cells, etc., and their cellular debris, to remove unwanted contaminants from MCSCs, leading to the enrichment (of pure population) of MCSCs for (use in) downstream applications or analysis [123].

2.4.3 Signalling Pathways Regulating MCSCs

Melanoma is the most aggressive and lethal subcategory among skin cancers, and treatment against it continues to remain elusive. The signalling pathways in MCSCs are being intensely investigated to dissect the molecular mechanisms associated with the tumorigenesis of melanomas. MCSCs share common embryonic stem cell pathways similar to that of normal stem cells in regulating self-renewal and differentiation. TGF- β maintains the plasticity of the MCSCs. TGF- β binds to the type II TGF- β receptor (TGFBR2), which then binds to type I TGF- β receptor (TGFBR1) and forms a heterodimeric complex. The activated TGFBR1 phosphorylates the SMAD proteins that result in cascade of events resulting in the activation of TGF- β -responsive genes (Fig. 2.3). Hedgehog (Hh) pathway plays an essential role in the initiation and progression of melanoma [124], and inhibition of this pathway suppresses the self-renewal of ALDH⁺ MSCS [125]. GL11/2 is implicated in the regulation of transcription of E2F1, which is critical for MCSC cell proliferation and progression to melanomas [126]. MCSCs show enhanced expression of the Wnt receptor and are often associated with increased metastasis [127].

Notch signalling exerts a key role in MCSC proliferation. Kumar et al. [128] showed an increased Notch1 activation and signalling in the CD133+ MCSC population. Inhibition of Notch signalling pathway with inhibitors of γ -secretase and TNF- α -converting enzyme (TACE) led to the downregulation of NICD2 and Hes, which in turn inhibited the proliferation of MCSCs [129, 130]. Notch4 is responsible for the invasion and metastasis of MCSCs [131]. Several signalling cascades including the TGF- β and PI3K/AKT pathways are reported to induce EMT in MCSCs [132]. The summary of all the key molecular signalling pathways that play essential roles in MCSCs and in tumor progression to melanomas is depicted in Fig. 2.3.

2.4.4 MCSC-Specific Therapeutics and Outcomes

Surgical resection, radio- and chemotherapy, and immunotherapy are the currently available treatment options for melanoma. As melanoma could be lethal, there is an urgent need to develop effective MCSC-specific targeting strategies to treat and cure melanoma patients. One strategy that targets MCSCs (expressing CD133, CD20, ABCB5, CD271, and ALDH1 markers), with monoclonal antibodies, showed some success as they significantly reduced melanoma growth. Another therapy that involved combination treatment with bevacizumab and etoposide was able to significantly induce apoptosis and abolished the sphere-forming ability of CD133⁺ MCSCs [133, 134]. Additionally, targeting MCSC-specific signalling pathways (Fig. 2.3) with inhibitors such as DAPT (Notch inhibitor), cyclopamine (Hh signalling inhibitor) and XAV939 (Wnt signalling inhibitor) could serve as alternative strategies to treat melanoma patients [135, 136].

2.4.5 Clinical Trials for Melanomas

The drugs that are in clinical trials for melanomas are (1) XmAb20717 (Phase I), (2) entrectinib (Phase I/II), (3) encorafenib (Phase I/II), (4) binimetinib (Phase I), (5) DCC-2618 (Phase I), (6) LGK974 (Phase I), (7) Nivolumab (Phase II), etc. Although there have been some advancements in the last few years in the FDA-approved therapies (dacarbazine, cobimetinib, pembrolizumab, vemurafenib, tipifarnib, etc.) for melanomas, more effective and further major advancements in immunotherapies to treat melanomas are anticipated in the coming years. The reader can refer to the recent articles on this topic for additional information [137, 138].

2.5 Pancreatic Cancer Stem Cells (PCSCs)

Pancreatic cancer stem cells (PCSCs) were identified by Li group using the xenograft mouse model [16]. Like normal stem cells, the PCSCs display the potential to undergo self-renewal and differentiation. The PCSCs represent only a very small fraction of the tumor (0.2–0.8% of the pancreatic cancer cell population), and were distinguishable from the bulk tumor population based on a unique cell surface marker signature (CD44⁺CD24⁺ESA⁺) [139]. In a parallel study, Hermann group identified CD133⁺ as an additional cell surface marker for PCSCs and also showed that CD133 had 14% overlap with pancreatic cancer cells expressing CD44⁺CD24⁺ESA⁺ [140]. Although PCSCs constitute a small portion of the tumor, they mostly contribute to the invasive and metastatic potentials of pancreatic cancers, and resistance to conventional cancer therapies or cancer relapse after treatment.

2.5.1 Origins and Markers of PCSCs

To evaluate the efficacy of PCSCs in tumor initiation and growth, PCSCs were either flow or magnetically sorted, and then, injected into immunocompromised mice [141]. CD133, CD44 and CD24 are the most widely accepted markers of PCSCs. There are also other markers such as OCT4, sex-determining region Y-box 2 (SOX-2), tyrosine-protein kinase KIT (c-KIT) or CD117, homeobox protein NANOG, ATP binding cassette (ABC) subfamily B member 1 (ABCB1), ABC subfamily G member 2 (ABCG2), CD3, integrin α6β4, claudin-7, epithelial-specific antigen (ESA), Nodal/Activin, doublecortin and CaM kinase-like 1 (DCLK1), nestin, C-X-C motif chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) and leucine-rich repeatcontaining G-protein coupled receptor 5 (LGR5) [142]. Additionally, ALDH1 is reported to mark the stemness of PCSCs, and ALDH⁺ cells are reported to have enhanced tumorigenic potential than ALDH⁻ cells. Furthermore, CD133⁺/CXCR4⁺ PCSCs have been shown to exhibit enhanced invasiveness [143]. Although many different markers of PCSCs have been discovered so far, still there is a lack of one or a group of unique markers to detect all of the PCSCs in a tumor. However, CD24⁺/ CD44⁺/ESA⁺/CD133⁺/CXCR4⁺ and ALDH1^{high} are the most widely accepted markers that are used to enrich the PCSCs population "from the bulk pancreatic cancer".

2.5.2 Identification, Isolation and Characterisation of PCSCs

To characterize PCSCs, they were first isolated from patient tumour tissue samples by incubating with dissociation buffer consisting of type IV collagenase and dispase, and then, the digested mixture containing tumour cells was subjected to centrifugal separation on a ficoll density gradient [144]. Subsequently, PCSCs were enriched from the gradient cell fraction using several PCSC markers (e.g., ABCB1, CD24, CD44, CD133, CXCR4, DCLK1, EpCAM and OCT4) by FACS [145]. The morphology of PCSCs expressing the cell surface markers such as CD44 and CD24 is different from pancreatic cancer and was used for characterisation of PCSCs [146]. In addition to these protein markers, the pancreatic cancer stemness-specific miRNA markers (miR-17-92, miR-335, miR-1181 and miR-1246) were used for additional characterisation of PCSCs [141].

2.5.3 Signalling Pathways Regulating PCSCs

Studies on the signalling pathways and their complex interactions in normal stem cells have provided a framework, to understand the molecular biology of the cellular signalling mechanisms in PCSCs. Some of the well-studied signalling mechanisms that regulate the maintenance of PCSCs population include the Wnt/ β -catenin, Hedgehog, NF- κ B, Notch, and PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathways



Fig. 2.4 Schematic representation shows the stepwise progression of normal cells to pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PanIN) and to pancreatic tumor, and the pathways regulating PCSCs. Left figure: A model showing progression of pancreatic cancer. Stepwise progression of normal epithelial cells to different grades of PanIN. PanIN-1 is the lowest grade, and it can extends to the highest grade PanIN-3 lesion, which is characterized by a loss of cell polarity, extension of cells into the duct lumen and considerable nuclear aberrations. Right figure: Potential signalling pathways that drive PCSCs, and its targetable cell surface markers are depicted in the schematic figure. A list of inhibitors (shown in red) play a specific role in targeting different pathways associated with PCSC signalling and are potential therapeutics

[146]. A list of generally used compounds that inhibit different signalling pathways in PCSCs are depicted in Fig. 2.4.

2.5.3.1 Wnt/β-Catenin Signalling Pathway in PCSCs

Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway plays an important role in the pancreatic tumorigenesis and therapeutic resistance. Wnt signalling pathways can either be β -catenin dependent (i.e., canonical) or β -catenin independent (i.e., noncanonical). Abnormal activation of the canonical Wnt/β-catenin signalling contributes to the pancreatic adenocarcinoma [148]. When WNT ligands are available, they bind to the Wnt-receptor complex. The Wnt-receptor complex is comprised of a seventransmembrane receptor of the Frizzled (FZD) family and a single-pass low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5/6 (LRP5/6). The WNT ligand-receptor complex then interacts with the destruction complex, which contains AXIN, APC and GSK-3 β , leading to the repression of β -catenin activity, while the AXIN-binding molecule Dishevelled (DVL) represses β-catenin phosphorylation (Fig. 2.4). This causes β -catenin accumulation and nuclear translocation, followed by binding to TCF/LEF family of transcription factors, and activation of target genes that can lead to tumorigenesis (Fig. 2.4). However, in the absence of Wnt ligands, β -catenin gets phosphorylated at serine (Ser) and threonine (Thr) amino acid residues

by casein kinase 1 (CK1) and GSK3 β , which form a complex with APC and axin, leading to the destruction of β -catenin [149]. The expressions of Wnt genes are upregulated in pancreatic tumor cells. Hence, more studies are warranted to develop novel Wnt pathway inhibiting molecules that could be used to attenuate the proliferation of PCSCs and target pancreatic cancers.

2.5.3.2 Hedgehog Signalling Pathway in PCSCs

Hedgehog (HH) pathway plays a critical role in the maintenance of human PCSCs. Aberrant activation of Hh signalling is reported in pancreatic cancer [149]. There are three ligands for HH signalling, namely, Indian (I), Desert (D), and Sonic (S) HH. These ligands bind to the receptors called Patched (PTCH1 and 2). Binding of HH to its receptor inhibits the activation of a seven-transmembrane protein named Smooth-ened (SMO), which in turn activates the GLI protein to translocate into the nucleus (Fig. 2.4). Lee et al. [150] reported that the CD44⁺CD4⁺ESA⁺ PCSCs showed a 46-fold increased expression of SHH transcripts compared to the normal pancreatic epithelial cells or the CD44⁻CD24⁻ESA⁻ pancreatic cancer cells. Moreover, inhibition of HH ligands with cyclopamine (Hh antagonist) leads to the inhibition of metastasis (Fig. 2.4). Similarly, treatment with inhibitor IPI-269609 (not indicated in Fig. 2.4) was reported to decrease the metastasis of human pancreatic adenocarcinoma cell lines [151].

2.5.3.3 Notch Signalling Pathway in PCSCs

Notch signalling is a critical determinant in the regulation of cell fate determination via cell-cell interaction, stem cell maintenance and differentiation. Hyperactivation of the notch pathway resulted in enhanced self-renewal of the CSCs in pancreatic adenocarcinoma [152]. Notch signalling is turned-on, when any of the four NOTCH (NOTCH1-4) membrane anchored receptor proteins interact with any of the five canonical transmembrane ligand family members, Delta-like (DLL1, DLL3, DLL4) and Jagged-1 (JAG1, JAG2). The interaction between the NOTCH receptor and the ligand induces conformational changes leading to proteolytic cleavages of NOTCH receptors by TNF- α -converting enzyme (TACE), a member of a disintegrin and metalloprotease domain (ADAM) family of metalloproteases (not shown in Fig. 2.4) and γ -secretase (Fig. 2.4). The cleavage releases the intracellular domain of NOTCH (NICD), followed by nuclear translocation and subsequent activation of the target genes; Hey and Hes heterodimerize with the DNA-binding protein CSL (RBP-Jk) and co-activators. Inhibition of the Notch pathway in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) cells led to a significant decrease in the percentage of PCSCs and the overall tumor formation. A significant challenge in developing an efficient NOTCH inhibitor-based strategy for cancer treatment is to develop a CSC-specific targeted inhibition of NOTCH without perturbing the signalling and physiology of the normal somatic stem cell population [152].

2.5.3.4 PI3K/AKT/mTOR and Other Signalling Pathways in PCSCs

Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/RAC-alpha serine/threonine-protein kinase (AKT)/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signalling pathway (Fig. 2.4) play an important role in PCSC proliferation. CD133^{high} PCSCs showed elevated levels of mTOR signalling; however, the inhibition of mTOR signalling using rapamycin (not shown in Fig. 2.4) inhibited the PCSC proliferation [153].

In addition, to the embryonic signalling networks mentioned above, there are different other signalling pathways involved in autophagy, interleukin 8 (IL8/CXCR1), forkhead box protein M1 (FOXM1) signalling, Nodal/Activin, and the K-RAS/c-Jun-NH2-kinase (JNK) signalling pathways that are reported to be involved in the regulation of PCSCs function. However, future investigations are required to clarify and explore the interactions between these pathways in PCSCs to better understand the significance of complex signalling networks during pancreatic tumorigenesis [154].

2.5.4 PCSC-Specific Therapeutics and Outcomes

Strategies involving targeting PCSCs were shown to involve interruption of critical stem cell survival and functioning pathways [154]. Targeting pancreatic stem cell niche by changing the TME to overcome drug resistance or targeting cell surface markers or disruption of the supportive vascular niche could sensitize CSCs to the effects of conventional cytotoxic radio- or chemotherapy and/or potentiate the effects of other CSC-targeted therapies. Numerous nonclassical drugs or inhibitors or other molecules indicated in Fig. 2.4 have been shown to inhibit the various signalling pathway components or other stemness-related proteins in PCSCs at varying degrees.

2.5.5 Clinical Trials for Pancreatic Cancers

In addition to many chemotherapeutics that are currently used to treat pancreatic cancer, there are several recently developed new drugs, which are being tested for pancreatic cancer treatment. These drugs that are being tested for safety and efficacy will have to undergo different phases of various trials, before it is approved by the U. S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or other similar agencies in different countries, before it is available commercially to health care providers to treat pancreatic cancer patients. Some of the promising drug candidates being tested for pancreatic cancer are (1) Gemcitabine/nab-paclitaxel (Phase II), (2) GVAX pancreas vaccine (with Cyclophosphamide) +/– nivolumab and urelumab (Phase I & II), (3) nal-IRI/5-FU/LV and oxaliplatin (Phase II), (4) Pembrolizumab (Phase II), (5) Niraparib (Phase II), etc. [155, 156]. Furthermore, novel nucleic drugs that could potentially be used as a monotherapy or combination therapy to target pancreatic cancer are also being developed with the help of next generation sequencing technology based genetic screening or diagnosis.

2.6 Conclusions

Cancer is a complex disease in which alteration of genetic, epigenetic or inflammatory factors can contribute to the process of carcinogenesis. Impaired DNA repair mechanisms or suppressed immune system or activation of oncogenes or inactivation of tumour suppressor genes can initiate or promote the growth of cancer. CSCs possess the characteristic of stemness, which provides them the self-renewal capacity and high plasticity. Hence, CSCs exhibit tumour aggressiveness, and after metastasis from the primary tumour, CSCs can initiate tumours at distant secondary sites in organs/tissues and also cause cancer relapse post-treatment. CSCs can differentiate into different types of tumour cells and this contributes to tumour heterogeneity. Furthermore, CSC's role in metastatic dissemination, tumourigenesis and tumour relapse is attributed to the hyperactivation of key signalling pathways such as Hedgehog, Notch, TGF-8 and Wnt/8-catenin, CSCs utilize these signalling pathways for their self-renewal and survival, and hence, these pathways are critical for CSCs. Importantly, these hyperactivated CSC signalling pathways are shown to alter the expression and function of crucial genes, including the oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes, and thus, favour tumourigenesis. The discovery of the CSC markers and more focused research on them over the past two decade has enhanced our understanding about the CSC types. Nonetheless, emerging evidence indicates that CSCs are well nurtured and protected within their TME, making CSCspecific targeted therapy to eliminate CSCs, an arduous task in many different cancer treatments. Hence, improvements in CSC-specific stem cell markers or signalling pathways targeting therapy or other innovative approaches, followed by rigorous experimental and clinical studies are vital for the development of future cancer treatments to improve the life expectancy of the cancer patients or cure cancers.

Acknowledgments We gratefully thank Dr. Yuvaraj Sambandam (Northwestern University, Feinberg School of Medicine, USA) for his critical reading and comments on this book chapter.

Conflict of interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Prager BC, Xie Q, Bao S, Rich JN (2019) Cancer stem cells: the architects of the tumor ecosystem. Cell Stem Cell 24(1):41–53
- 2. Nazio F, Bordi M, Cianfanelli V, Locatelli F, Cecconi F (2019) Autophagy and cancer stem cells: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic applications. Cell Death Differ 26(4):690–702
- Najafi M, Farhood B, Mortezaee K (2019) Cancer stem cells (CSCs) in cancer progression and therapy. J Cell Physiol 234(6):8381–8395
- 4. Lee G, Hall RR III, Ahmed AU (2016) Cancer stem cells: cellular plasticity, niche, and its clinical relevance. J Stem Cell Res Ther 6(10):363
- 5. Batlle E, Clevers H (2017) Cancer stem cells revisited. Nat Med 23(10):1124-1134
- Wang Z, Zöller M (2019) Exosomes, metastases, and the miracle of cancer stem cell markers. Cancer Metastasis Rev 38(1–2):259–295

- Papaccio F, Paino F, Regad T, Papaccio G, Desiderio V, Tirino V (2017) Concise review: cancer cells, cancer stem cells, and mesenchymal stem cells: influence in cancer development. Stem Cells Transl Med 6(12):2115–2125
- Torre LA, Trabert B, DeSantis CE, Miller KD, Samimi G, Runowicz CD, Gaudet MM, Jemal A, Siegel RL (2018) Ovarian cancer statistics, 2018. CA Cancer J Clin 68(4):284–296
- Kechin AA, Boyarskikh UA, Ermolenko NA, Tyulyandina AS, Lazareva DG, Avdalyan AM, Tyulyandin SA, Kushlinskii NE, Filipenko ML (2018) Loss of heterozygosity in BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes in patients with ovarian cancer and probability of its use for clinical classification of variations. Bull Exp Biol Med 165(1):94–100
- Kryczek I, Liu S, Roh M, Vatan L, Szeliga W, Wei S, Banerjee M, Mao Y, Kotarski J, Wicha MS, Liu R (2012) Expression of aldehyde dehydrogenase and CD133 defines ovarian cancer stem cells. Int J Cancer 130(1):29–39
- Chen HZ, Wang LJ, Lu HW, Chen Q, Di N, Lin ZQ (2012) Expression and functional role of ALDH1 in cervical carcinoma cells. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 13:1325–1331
- Guo Z, Hardin H, Lloyd RV (2014) Cancer stem-like cells and thyroid cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 21(5):T285–T300
- Carr S, Smith C, Wernberg J (2020) Epidemiology and risk factors of melanoma. Surg Clin 100(1):1–2
- 14. La Porta C (2009) Cancer stem cells: lessons from melanoma. Stem Cell Rev Rep 5(1):61-65
- Zhang Q, Zeng L, Chen Y, Lian G, Qian C, Chen S, Li J, Huang K (2016) Pancreatic cancer epidemiology, detection, and management. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2016:1
- Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P, Burant CF, Zhang L, Adsay V, Wicha M, Clarke MF, Simeone DM (2007) Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 67(3):1030–1037
- Zhan HX, Xu JW, Wu D, Zhang TP, Hu SY (2015) Pancreatic cancer stem cells: new insight into a stubborn disease. Cancer Lett 357(2):429–437
- Hu L, McArthur C, Jaffe RB (2010) Ovarian cancer stem-like side-population cells are tumourigenic and chemoresistant. Br J Cancer 102(8):1276–1283
- Stewart JM, Shaw PA, Gedye C, Bernardini MQ, Neel BG, Ailles LE (2011) Phenotypic heterogeneity and instability of human ovarian tumor-initiating cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 108 (16):6468–6473
- Curley MD, Therrien VA, Cummings CL, Sergent PA, Koulouris CR, Friel AM, Roberts DJ, Seiden MV, Scadden DT, Rueda BR, Foster R (2009) CD133 expression defines a tumor initiating cell population in primary human ovarian cancer. Stem Cells 27(12):2875–2883
- Zhang S, Balch C, Chan MW, Lai HC, Matei D, Schilder JM, Yan PS, Huang TH, Nephew KP (2008) Identification and characterization of ovarian cancer-initiating cells from primary human tumors. Cancer Res 68(11):4311–4320
- Kwon MJ, Shin YK (2013) Regulation of ovarian cancer stem cells or tumor-initiating cells. Int J Mol Sci 14(4):6624–6648
- 23. Alvero AB, Chen R, Fu HH, Montagna M, Schwartz PE, Rutherford T, Silasi DA, Steffensen KD, Waldstrom M, Visintin I, Mor G (2009) Molecular phenotyping of human ovarian cancer stem cells unravels the mechanisms for repair and chemoresistance. Cell Cycle 8(1):158–166
- Romero I, Bast RC Jr (2012) Minireview: human ovarian cancer: biology, current management, and paths to personalizing therapy. Endocrinology 153(4):1593–1602
- Gao MQ, Choi YP, Kang S, Youn JH, Cho NH (2010) CD24+ cells from hierarchically organized ovarian cancer are enriched in cancer stem cells. Oncogene 29(18):2672–2680
- 26. Shah MM, Landen CN (2014) Ovarian cancer stem cells: are they real and why are they important? Gynecol Oncol 132(2):483–489
- Ho CM, Chang SF, Hsiao CC, Chien TY, Shih DT (2012) Isolation and characterization of stromal progenitor cells from ascites of patients with epithelial ovarian adenocarcinoma. J Biomed Sci 19(1):23
- 28. Yang L, Lai D (2013) Ovarian cancer stem cells enrichment. Methods Mol Biol 1049:337-345
- Szotek PP, Pieretti-Vanmarcke R, Masiakos PT, Dinulescu DM, Connolly D, Foster R, Dombkowski D, Preffer F, Maclaughlin DT, Donahoe PK (2006) Ovarian cancer side

population defines cells with stem cell-like characteristics and Mullerian Inhibiting Substance responsiveness. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103(30):11154-11159

- Kenda Suster N, Virant-Klun I (2019) Presence and role of stem cells in ovarian cancer. World J Stem Cells 11(7):383-397
- Terraneo N, Jacob F, Dubrovska A, Grünberg J (2020) Novel therapeutic strategies for ovarian cancer stem cells. Front Oncol 10:319
- 32. Peng S, Maihle NJ, Huang Y (2010) Pluripotency factors Lin28 and Oct4 identify a sub-population of stem cell-like cells in ovarian cancer. Oncogene 29(14):2153-2159
- 33. Cole JM, Joseph S, Sudhahar CG, Cowden Dahl KD (2014) Enrichment for chemoresistant ovarian cancer stem cells from human cell lines. J Vis Exp (91):51891
- 34. Silva IA, Bai S, McLean K, Yang K, Griffith K, Thomas D, Ginestier C, Johnston C, Kueck A, Reynolds RK, Wicha MS (2011) Aldehyde dehydrogenase in combination with CD133 defines angiogenic ovarian cancer stem cells that portend poor patient survival. Cancer Res 71(11):3991–4001
- 35. Ahmed N, Abubaker K, Findlay J, Quinn M (2010) Epithelial mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cell-like phenotypes facilitate chemoresistance in recurrent ovarian cancer. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 10(3):268–278
- 36. Chen W, Dong J, Haiech J, Kilhoffer MC, Zeniou M (2016) Cancer stem cell quiescence and plasticity as major challenges in cancer therapy. Stem Cells Int 2016:1
- 37. Lupia M, Cavallaro U (2017) Ovarian cancer stem cells: still an elusive entity? Mol Cancer 16 (1):64
- McAuliffe SM, Morgan SL, Wyant GA, Tran LT, Muto KW, Chen YS, Chin KT, Partridge JC, Poole BB, Cheng KH, Daggett J (2012) Targeting notch, a key pathway for ovarian cancer stem cells, sensitizes tumors to platinum therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci 109(43):E2939–E2948
- 39. Zhang T, Xu J, Deng S, Zhou F, Li J, Zhang L, Li L, Wang QE, Li F (2018) Core signaling pathways in ovarian cancer stem cell revealed by integrative analysis of multi-marker genomics data. PLoS One 13(5):e0196351
- 40. Ray A, Meng E, Reed E, Shevde LA, Rocconi RP (2011) Hedgehog signaling pathway regulates the growth of ovarian cancer spheroid forming cells. Int J Oncol 39(4):797–804
- Chen Q, Gao G, Luo S (2013) Hedgehog signaling pathway and ovarian cancer. Chin J Cancer Res 25(3):346
- 42. Cao L, Shao M, Schilder J, Guise T, Mohammad KS, Matei D (2012) Tissue transglutaminase links TGF- β , epithelial to mesenchymal transition and a stem cell phenotype in ovarian cancer. Oncogene 31(20):2521–2534
- Wiese KE, Nusse R, van Amerongen R (2018) Wnt signalling: conquering complexity. Development 145(12):dev165902
- 44. Lan L, Luo Y, Cui D, Shi BY, Deng W, Huo LL, Chen HL, Zhang GY, Deng LL (2013) Epithelial-mesenchymal transition triggers cancer stem cell generation in human thyroid cancer cells. Int J Oncol 43(1):113–120
- 45. Espada J, Calvo MB, Díaz-Prado S, Medina V (2009) Wnt signalling and cancer stem cells. Clin Transl Oncol 11(7):411–427
- 46. Ramachandran I, Thavathiru E, Ramalingam S, Natarajan G, Mills WK, Benbrook DM, Zuna R, Lightfoot S, Reis A, Anant S, Queimado L (2012) Wnt inhibitory factor 1 induces apoptosis and inhibits cervical cancer growth, invasion and angiogenesis in vivo. Oncogene 31 (22):2725–2737
- 47. Ramachandran I, Ganapathy V, Gillies E, Fonseca I, Sureban SM, Houchen CW, Reis A, Queimado L (2014) Wht inhibitory factor 1 suppresses cancer stemness and induces cellular senescence. Cell Death Dis 5(5):e1246
- Nusse R, Clevers H (2017) Wnt/β-catenin signaling, disease, and emerging therapeutic modalities. Cell 169(6):985–999
- Anastas JN, Moon RT (2013) WNT signalling pathways as therapeutic targets in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 13(1):11–26

- Arend RC, Londoño-Joshi AI, Straughn JM Jr, Buchsbaum DJ (2013) The Wnt/β-catenin pathway in ovarian cancer: a review. Gynecol Oncol 131(3):772–779
- 51. Su HY, Lai HC, Lin YW, Liu CY, Chen CK, Chou YC, Lin SP, Lin WC, Lee HY, Yu MH (2010) Epigenetic silencing of SFRP5 is related to malignant phenotype and chemoresistance of ovarian cancer through Wnt signaling pathway. Int J Cancer 127(3):555–567
- Gatcliffe TA, Monk BJ, Planutis K, Holcombe RF (2008) Wnt signaling in ovarian tumorigenesis. Int J Gynecol Cancer 18(5):954–962
- Wu R, Zhai Y, Fearon ER, Cho KR (2001) Diverse mechanisms of β-catenin deregulation in ovarian endometrioid adenocarcinomas. Cancer Res 61(22):8247–8255
- Groeneweg JW, Foster R, Growdon WB, Verheijen RH, Rueda BR (2014) Notch signaling in serous ovarian cancer. J Ovarian Res 7(1):95
- 55. Takebe N, Miele L, Harris PJ, Jeong W, Bando H, Kahn M, Yang SX, Ivy SP (2015) Targeting notch, hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 12(8):445
- Rose SL, Kunnimalaiyaan M, Drenzek J, Seiler N (2010) Notch 1 signaling is active in ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol 117(1):130–133
- 57. Chiaramonte R, Colombo M, Bulfamante G, Falleni M, Tosi D, Garavelli S, De Simone D, Vigolo E, Todoerti K, Neri A, Platonova N (2015) Notch pathway promotes ovarian cancer growth and migration via CXCR4/SDF1α chemokine system. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 66:134–140
- Xie Q, Cheng Z, Chen X, Lobe CG, Liu J (2017) The role of notch signalling in ovarian angiogenesis. J Ovarian Res 10(1):13
- Hopfer O, Zwahlen D, Fey MF, Aebi S (2005) The notch pathway in ovarian carcinomas and adenomas. Br J Cancer 93(6):709–718
- 60. Schmid S, Bieber M, Zhang F, Zhang M, He B, Jablons D, Teng NN (2011) Wnt and hedgehog gene pathway expression in serous ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer 21 (6):975–980
- 61. Liao X, Siu MK, Au CW, Wong ES, Chan HY, Ip PP, Ngan HY, Cheung AN (2009) Aberrant activation of hedgehog signaling pathway in ovarian cancers: effect on prognosis, cell invasion and differentiation. Carcinogenesis 30(1):131–140
- 62. Chang WH, Lai AG (2019) Aberrations in notch-hedgehog signalling reveal cancer stem cells harbouring conserved oncogenic properties associated with hypoxia and immunoevasion. Br J Cancer 16:1–3
- Roane BM, Arend RC, Birrer MJ (2019) Targeting the transforming growth factor-beta pathway in ovarian cancer. Cancer 11(5):668
- 64. Alsina-Sanchís E, Figueras A, Lahiguera A, Gil-Martín M, Pardo B, Piulats JM, Martí L, Ponce J, Matias-Guiu X, Vidal A, Villanueva A (2017) TGFβ controls ovarian cancer cell proliferation. Int J Mol Sci 18(8):1658
- 65. Yeung TL, Leung CS, Wong KK, Samimi G, Thompson MS, Liu J, Zaid TM, Ghosh S, Birrer MJ, Mok SC (2013) TGF-β modulates ovarian cancer invasion by upregulating CAF-derived versican in the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Res 73(16):5016–5028
- 66. Xia Y, Shen S, Verma IM (2014) NF-κB, an active player in human cancers. Cancer Immunol Res 2(9):823–830
- Taniguchi K, Karin M (2018) NF-κB, inflammation, immunity and cancer: coming of age. Nat Rev Immunol 18(5):309–324
- 68. Harrington BS, Annunziata CM (2019) NF-κB signaling in ovarian cancer. Cancer 11(8):1182
- 69. Hernandez L, Hsu SC, Davidson B, Birrer MJ, Kohn EC, Annunziata CM (2010) Activation of NF-κB signaling by inhibitor of NF-κB kinase β increases aggressiveness of ovarian cancer. Cancer Res 70(10):4005–4014
- Alvero AB (2010) Recent insights into the role of NF-kappaB in ovarian carcinogenesis. Genome Med 2(8):56
- House CD, Jordan E, Hernandez L, Ozaki M, James JM, Kim M, Kruhlak MJ, Batchelor E, Elloumi F, Cam MC, Annunziata CM (2017) NFκB promotes ovarian tumorigenesis via

classical pathways that support proliferative cancer cells and alternative pathways that support ALDH+ cancer stem-like cells. Cancer Res 77(24):6927-6940

- Ottevanger PB (2017) Ovarian cancer stem cells more questions than answers. Semin Cancer Biol 44:67–71
- 73. Steffensen KD, Alvero AB, Yang Y, Waldstrøm M, Hui P, Holmberg JC, Silasi DA, Jakobsen A, Rutherford T, Mor G (2011) Prevalence of epithelial ovarian cancer stem cells correlates with recurrence in early-stage ovarian cancer. J Oncol 2011:1
- 74. Rizzo S, Hersey JM, Mellor P, Dai W, Santos-Silva A, Liber D, Luk L, Titley I, Carden CP, Box G, Hudson DL (2011) Ovarian cancer stem cell–like side populations are enriched following chemotherapy and overexpress EZH2. Mol Cancer Ther 10(2):325–335
- 75. Keyvani V, Farshchian M, Esmaeili SA, Yari H, Moghbeli M, Nezhad SR, Abbaszadegan MR (2019) Ovarian cancer stem cells and targeted therapy. J Ovarian Res 12(1):120
- Zong X, Nephew KP (2019) Ovarian cancer stem cells: role in metastasis and opportunity for therapeutic targeting. Cancer 11(7):934
- 77. Kim J, Gosnell JE, Roman SA (2019) Geographic influences in the global rise of thyroid cancer. Nat Rev Endocrinol 15:1–3
- Wang TS, Sosa JA (2018) Thyroid surgery for differentiated thyroid cancer—recent advances and future directions. Nat Rev Endocrinol 14(11):670–683
- Zhang P, Zuo H, Ozaki T, Nakagomi N, Kakudo K (2006) Cancer stem cell hypothesis in thyroid cancer. Pathol Int 56(9):485–489
- 80. Lin RY (2011) Thyroid cancer stem cells. Nat Rev Endocrinol 7(10):609
- Nagayama Y, Shimamura M, Mitsutake N (2016) Cancer stem cells in the thyroid. Front Endocrinol 7:20
- Hardin H, Zhang R, Helein H, Buehler D, Guo Z, Lloyd RV (2017) The evolving concept of cancer stem-like cells in thyroid cancer and other solid tumors. Lab Invest 97(10):1142–1151
- Shimamura M, Nagayama Y, Matsuse M, Yamashita S, Mitsutake N (2014) Analysis of multiple markers for cancer stem-like cells in human thyroid carcinoma cell lines. Endocr J 61 (5):481–490
- Mahmood NA, Tawfeeq AT, Al-Sudani IM, Abd-Alghni ZS (2019) Rationales for the use of cancer stem cells markers in the staging of papillary thyroid carcinoma. J Oncol 2019:1659654
- Vicari L, Colarossi C, Giuffrida D, De Maria R, Memeo L (2016) Cancer stem cells as a potential therapeutic target in thyroid carcinoma. Oncol Lett 12(4):2254–2260
- 86. Jiye YI, Jianting ZH (2011) Multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1/ABCC1) polymorphism: from discovery to clinical application. Zhong Nan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban 36(10):927
- Zheng X, Cui D, Xu S, Brabant G, Derwahl M (2010) Doxorubicin fails to eradicate cancer stem cells derived from anaplastic thyroid carcinoma cells: characterization of resistant cells. Int J Oncol 37(2):307–315
- 88. Carina V, Zito G, Pizzolanti G, Richiusa P, Criscimanna A, Rodolico V, Tomasello L, Pitrone M, Arancio W, Giordano C (2013) Multiple pluripotent stem cell markers in human anaplastic thyroid cancer: the putative upstream role of SOX2. Thyroid 23(7):829–837
- Ma R, Minsky N, Morshed SA, Davies TF (2014) Stemness in human thyroid cancers and derived cell lines: the role of asymmetrically dividing cancer stem cells resistant to chemotherapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 99(3):E400
- Malaguarnera R, Belfiore A (2014) The emerging role of insulin and insulin-like growth factor signaling in cancer stem cells. Front Endocrinol 5:10
- 91. Hardin H, Montemayor-Garcia C, Lloyd RV (2013) Thyroid cancer stem-like cells and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in thyroid cancers. Hum Pathol 44(9):1707–1713
- Arufe MC, Lu M, Lin RY (2009) Differentiation of murine embryonic stem cells to thyrocytes requires insulin and insulin-like growth factor-1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 381 (2):264–270

- Maiorano E, Ciampolillo A, Viale G, Maisonneuve P, Ambrosi A, Triggiani V, Marra E, Perlino E (2000) Insulin-like growth factor 1 expression in thyroid tumors. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 8(2):110–119
- 94. Heiden KB, Williamson AJ, Doscas ME, Ye J, Wang Y, Liu D, Xing M, Prinz RA, Xu X (2014) The sonic hedgehog signaling pathway maintains the cancer stem cell self-renewal of anaplastic thyroid cancer by inducing snail expression. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol 99(11): E2178–E2187
- 95. Dong W, Cui J, Tian X, He L, Wang Z, Zhang P, Zhang H (2014) Aberrant sonic hedgehog signaling pathway and STAT3 activation in papillary thyroid cancer. Int J Clin Exp Med 7 (7):1786
- 96. Williamson AJ, Doscas ME, Ye J, Heiden KB, Xing M, Li Y, Prinz RA, Xu X (2016) The sonic hedgehog signaling pathway stimulates anaplastic thyroid cancer cell motility and invasiveness by activating Akt and c-Met. Oncotarget 7(9):10472
- 97. Venkatesh V, Nataraj R, Thangaraj GS, Karthikeyan M, Gnanasekaran A, Kaginelli SB, Kuppanna G, Kallappa CG, Basalingappa KM (2018) Targeting notch signalling pathway of cancer stem cells. Stem Cell Investig 5:5
- Geers C, Colin IM, Gérard AC (2011) Delta-like 4/notch pathway is differentially regulated in benign and malignant thyroid tissues. Thyroid 21(12):1323–1330
- 99. Ferretti E, Tosi E, Po A, Scipioni A, Morisi R, Espinola MS, Russo D, Durante C, Schlumberger M, Screpanti I, Filetti S, Gulino A (2008) Notch signaling is involved in expression of thyrocyte differentiation markers and is down-regulated in thyroid tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93(10):4080–4087
- 100. Vasko V, Espinosa AV, Scouten W, He H, Auer H, Liyanarachchi S, Larin A, Savchenko V, Francis GL, de la Chapelle A, Saji M, Ringel MD (2007) Gene expression and functional evidence of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in papillary thyroid carcinoma invasion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(8):2803–2808
- 101. Yamashita AS, Geraldo MV, Fuziwara CS, Kulcsar MA, Friguglietti CU, da Costa RB, Baia GS, Kimura ET (2013) Notch pathway is activated by MAPK signaling and influences papillary thyroid cancer proliferation. Transl Oncol 6(2):197
- 102. Shiraiwa K, Matsuse M, Nakazawa Y, Ogi T, Suzuki K, Saenko V, Xu S, Umezawa K, Yamashita S, Tsukamoto K, Mitsutake N (2019) JAK/STAT3 and NF-κB signaling pathways regulate cancer stem-cell properties in anaplastic thyroid cancer cells. Thyroid 29(5):674–682
- 103. Xing M (2013) Molecular pathogenesis and mechanisms of thyroid cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 13 (3):184–199
- 104. Ahn SH, Henderson YC, Williams MD, Lai SY, Clayman GL (2014) Detection of thyroid cancer stem cells in papillary thyroid carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol 99(2):536–544
- 105. Hombach-Klonisch S, Natarajan S, Thanasupawat T, Medapati MR, Pathak A, Ghavami S, Klonisch T (2014) Mechanisms of therapeutic resistance in cancer (stem) cells with emphasis on thyroid cancer cells. Front Endocrinol 5:37
- 106. Chen G, Nicula D, Renko K, Derwahl MI (2015) Synergistic anti-proliferative effect of metformin and sorafenib on growth of anaplastic thyroid cancer cells and their stem cells. Oncol Rep 33(4):1994–2000
- 107. Naoum GE, Morkos M, Kim B, Arafat W (2018) Novel targeted therapies and immunotherapy for advanced thyroid cancers. Mol Cancer 17(1):51
- 108. Perri F, Di Lorenzo G, Scarpati GD, Buonerba C (2011) Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: a comprehensive review of current and future therapeutic options. World J Clin Oncol 2(3):150
- 109. Khatami F, Larijani B, Nikfar S, Hasanzad M, Fendereski K, Tavangar SM (2019) Personalized treatment options for thyroid cancer: current perspectives. Pharmacogenom Pers Med 12:235
- 110. Viola D, Valerio L, Molinaro E, Agate L, Bottici V, Biagini A, Lorusso L, Cappagli V, Pieruzzi L, Giani C, Sabini E (2016) Treatment of advanced thyroid cancer with targeted therapies: ten years of experience. Endocr Relat Cancer 23(4):R185–R205

- 111. Valerio L, Pieruzzi L, Giani C, Agate L, Bottici V, Lorusso L, Cappagli V, Puleo L, Matrone A, Viola D, Romei C (2017) Targeted therapy in thyroid cancer: state of the art. Clin Oncol 29(5):316–324
- 112. Fang D, Nguyen TK, Leishear K, Finko R, Kulp AN, Hotz S, Van Belle PA, Xu X, Elder DE, Herlyn M (2005) A tumorigenic subpopulation with stem cell properties in melanomas. Cancer Res 65(20):9328–9337
- 113. Schatton T, Murphy GF, Frank NY, Yamaura K, Waaga-Gasser AM, Gasser M, Zhan Q, Jordan S, Duncan LM, Weishaupt C, Fuhlbrigge RC, Kupper TS, Sayegh MH, Frank MH (2008) Identification of cells initiating human melanomas. Nature 451(7176):345–349
- 114. Held MA, Curley DP, Dankort D, McMahon M, Muthusamy V, Bosenberg MW (2010) Characterization of melanoma cells capable of propagating tumors from a single cell. Cancer Res 70(1):388–397
- Nguyen N, Couts KL, Luo Y, Fujita M (2015) Understanding melanoma stem cells. Melanoma Manag 2(2):179–188
- 116. Boiko AD, Razorenova OV, van de Rijn M, Swetter SM, Johnson DL, Ly DP, Butler PD, Yang GP, Joshua B, Kaplan MJ, Longaker MT (2010) Human melanoma-initiating cells express neural crest nerve growth factor receptor CD271. Nature 466(7302):133–137
- 117. Parmiani G (2016) Melanoma cancer stem cells: markers and functions. Cancer 8(3):34
- 118. Brinckerhoff CE (2017) Cancer stem cells (CSCs) in melanoma: There's smoke, but is there fire? J Cell Physiol 232(10):2674–2678
- Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP (2015) Adoptive cell transfer as personalized immunotherapy for human cancer. Science 348(6230):62–68
- 120. Kumar D, Gorain M, Kundu G, Kundu GC (2017) Therapeutic implications of cellular and molecular biology of cancer stem cells in melanoma. Mol Cancer 16(1):7
- 121. Escobar SG, Chin MH, Sandberg ML, Xu H (2017) Isolation and characterization of a distinct subpopulation from the WM115 cell line that resembles in vitro properties of melanoma cancer stem cells. SLAS Discov 22(5):484–493
- 122. Tirino V, Desiderio V, Paino F, De Rosa A, Papaccio F, La Noce M, Laino L, De Francesco F, Papaccio G (2013) Cancer stem cells in solid tumors: an overview and new approaches for their isolation and characterization. FASEB J 27(1):13–24
- Slipicevic A, Somasundaram R, Sproesser K, Herlyn M (2014) Isolation of melanoma cell subpopulations using negative selection. Methods Mol Biol 1102:501–512
- 124. Geng L, Cuneo KC, Cooper MK, Wang H, Sekhar K, Fu A, Hallahan DE (2007) Hedgehog signaling in the murine melanoma microenvironment. Angiogenesis 10(4):259–267
- 125. Santini R, Vinci MC, Pandolfi S, Penachioni JY, Montagnani V, Olivito B, Gattai R, Pimpinelli N, Gerlini G, Borgognoni L, Stecca B (2012) Hedgehog-GLI signaling drives self-renewal and tumorigenicity of human melanoma-initiating cells. Stem Cells 30 (9):1808–1818
- 126. Pandolfi S, Montagnani V, Lapucci A, Stecca B (2015) HEDGEHOG/GLI-E2F1 axis modulates iASPP expression and function and regulates melanoma cell growth. Cell Death Differ 22(12):2006–2019
- 127. Reya T, Clevers H (2005) Wnt signalling in stem cells and cancer. Nature 434(7035):843-850
- 128. Kumar D, Kumar S, Gorain M, Tomar D, Patil HS, Radharani NN, Kumar TV, Patil TV, Thulasiram HV, Kundu GC (2016) Notch1-MAPK signaling axis regulates CD133+ cancer stem cell-mediated melanoma growth and angiogenesis. J Investig Dermatol 136 (12):2462–2474
- Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Rand MD, Lake RJ (1999) Notch signaling: cell fate control and signal integration in development. Science 284(5415):770–776
- 130. Kaushik G, Venugopal A, Ramamoorthy P, Standing D, Subramaniam D, Umar S, Jensen RA, Anant S, Mammen JM (2015) Honokiol inhibits melanoma stem cells by targeting notch signaling. Mol Carcinog 54(12):1710–1721

- 131. Lin X, Sun B, Zhu D, Zhao X, Sun R, Zhang Y, Zhang D, Dong X, Gu Q, Li Y, Liu F (2016) Notch4+ cancer stem-like cells promote the metastatic and invasive ability of melanoma. Cancer Sci 107(8):1079–1091
- 132. Schlegel NC, von Planta A, Widmer DS, Dummer R, Christofori G (2015) PI 3K signalling is required for a TGF β-induced epithelial–mesenchymal-like transition (EMT-like) in human melanoma cells. Exp Dermatol 24(1):22–28
- 133. Calvani M, Bianchini F, Taddei ML, Becatti M, Giannoni E, Chiarugi P, Calorini L (2016) Etoposide-Bevacizumab a new strategy against human melanoma cells expressing stem-like traits. Oncotarget 7(32):51138
- 134. Hovinga KE, Shimizu F, Wang R, Panagiotakos G, Van Der Heijden M, Moayedpardazi H, Correia AS, Soulet D, Major T, Menon J, Tabar V (2010) Inhibition of notch signaling in glioblastoma targets cancer stem cells via an endothelial cell intermediate. Stem Cells 28 (6):1019–1029
- 135. Bar EE, Chaudhry A, Lin A, Fan X, Schreck K, Matsui W, Piccirillo S, Vescovi AL, DiMeco F, Olivi A, Eberhart CG (2007) Cyclopamine-mediated hedgehog pathway inhibition depletes stem-like cancer cells in glioblastoma. Stem Cells 25(10):2524–2533
- Curtin JC, Lorenzi MV (2010) Drug discovery approaches to target Wnt signaling in cancer stem cells. Oncotarget 1(7):563
- Wróbel S, Przybyło M, Stępień E (2019) The clinical trial landscape for melanoma therapies. J Clin Med 8(3):368
- 138. Wang YB, Lv G, Xu FH, Ma LL, Yao YM (2020) Comprehensive survey of clinical trials registration for melanoma immunotherapy in the clinicaltrials.gov. Front Pharmacol 10:1539
- 139. Li C, Lee CJ, Simeone DM (2009) Identification of human pancreatic cancer stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 568:161–173
- 140. Hermann PC, Huber SL, Herrler T, Aicher A, Ellwart JW, Guba M, Bruns CJ, Heeschen C (2007) Distinct populations of cancer stem cells determine tumor growth and metastatic activity in human pancreatic cancer. Cell Stem Cell 1(3):313–323
- 141. Ercan G, Karlitepe A, Ozpolat B (2017) Pancreatic cancer stem cells and therapeutic approaches. Anticancer Res 37(6):2761–2775
- 142. Bao Q, Zhao Y, Renner A, Niess H, Seeliger H, Jauch KW, Bruns CJ (2010) Cancer stem cells in pancreatic cancer. Cancer 2(3):1629–1641
- 143. Wang HC, Hou YC, Shan YS (2014) Advances in pancreatic cancer stem cells, tumorassociated macrophages, and their interplay. Cancer Cell Microenviron 1:e304
- 144. Rasheed Z, Wang Q, Matsui W (2010) Isolation of stem cells from human pancreatic cancer xenografts. J Vis Exp (43):2169
- 145. Gzil A, Zarębska I, Bursiewicz W, Antosik P, Grzanka D, Szylberg Ł (2019) Markers of pancreatic cancer stem cells and their clinical and therapeutic implications. Mol Biol Rep 46 (6):6629–6645
- 146. Giovannetti E, van der Borden CL, Frampton AE, Ali A, Firuzi O, Peters GJ (2017) Never let it go: stopping key mechanisms underlying metastasis to fight pancreatic cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 44:43–59
- 147. Subramaniam D, Kaushik G, Dandawate P, Anant S (2018) Targeting cancer stem cells for chemoprevention of pancreatic cancer. Curr Med Chem 25(22):2585–2594
- 148. Honselmann KC, Pross M, Jung CM, Wellner UF, Deichmann S, Keck T, Bausch D (2015) Regulation mechanisms of the hedgehog pathway in pancreatic cancer: a review. J Pancreas 16 (1):25–32
- Lee CJ, Dosch J, Simeone DM (2008) Pancreatic cancer stem cells. J Clin Oncol 26(17):2806– 2812
- 150. Onishi H, Katano M (2014) Hedgehog signaling pathway as a new therapeutic target in pancreatic cancer. World J Gastroenterol: WJG 20(9):2335
- 151. Ponnurangam S, Dandawate PR, Dhar A, Tawfik OW, Parab RR, Mishra PD, Ranadive P, Sharma R, Mahajan G, Umar S, Weir SJ (2016) Quinomycin A targets notch signaling pathway in pancreatic cancer stem cells. Oncotarget 7(3):3217

- 152. Rumman M, Jung KH, Fang Z, Yan HH, Son MK, Kim SJ, Kim J, Park JH, Lim JH, Hong S, Hong SS (2016) HS-173, a novel PI3K inhibitor suppresses EMT and metastasis in pancreatic cancer. Oncotarget 7(47):78029
- 153. Saygin C, Matei D, Majeti R, Reizes O, Lathia JD (2019) Targeting cancer stemness in the clinic: from hype to hope. Cell Stem Cell 24(1):25–40
- 154. Seufferlein T, Ettrich TJ (2019) Treatment of pancreatic cancer-neoadjuvant treatment in resectable pancreatic cancer (PDAC). Transl Gastroenterol Hepatol 4:21
- 155. Pu N, Lou W, Yu J (2019) PD-1 immunotherapy in pancreatic cancer: current status. J Pancreatology 2(1):6-10
- 156. Yamakawa K, Nakano-Narusawa Y, Hashimoto N, Yokohira M, Matsuda Y (2019) Development and clinical trials of nucleic acid medicines for pancreatic cancer treatment. Int J Mol Sci 20(17):4224



Isolation and Characterization of Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs)

Namasivayam Nalini and Bichandarkoil Jayaram Pratima

Abstract

The tumour-initiating cancer stem cells (CSCs) are neoplastic cells which produce self-renewable and heterogeneous population of pluripotent stem cells. The exploration on stationary and coursing CSCs because of protection from regular treatments and powerlessness in complete annihilation of malignant growth is basic for creating novel helpful systems for a progressively successful decrease in the danger of tumour metastasis and disease repeat. This chapter incorporates data about various strategies for discovery and separation, side population, cell markers and establishment of CSC culture, as well as attributes of CSCs, for example, tumorigenicity, and pathways related with self-restoration and the ability of the histological tumour recovery in different malignant growths.

Keywords

Cancer stem cells \cdot Cellular markers \cdot Self-renewal \cdot Side population \cdot Tumorigenicity

3.1 Introduction

Malignant growth of cancer stem cells (CSCs) has been recommended as the primary cause of cancer. The hypothesis of the presence of CSCs in a tumour populace was first proposed by Bonnet et al. In leukaemia, they distinguished a small cloning cell populace with comparative attributes to the immature microorganisms of the circulatory system. CSCs are motile tumour cells with

N. Nalini (🖂) · B. J. Pratima

Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, Faculty of Science Annamalai University, Annamalai Nagar, Tamil Nadu, India

 $^{{\}rm (C)}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_3

moderate cell cycles, have the capacity to self-renew (boundless cell division and upkeep of the undifferentiated cell pool), and have separate tumour prognosis (tumorigenicity). These cells make up a couple of level of the malignant cells inside a tumour, regularly 0.01–1.0% [1]. Breast, colon, ovarian, lung, and head and neck carcinomas and also few other tumours contain CSCs [2]. CSCs are responsible for protecting the body against tumour growth after chemotherapy and also tumour entry into vessels and neighbouring organs. The origin of CSCs stays a disputable issue so far [3]. Three primary speculations have been raised about the starting point of CSCs: the arrangement of typical undifferentiated stem cells, transition of grownup but undeveloped cells into pluripotent malignant cells through an epithelial-tomesenchymal transition [4]. Considering the significant highlights of CSCs, they extraordinarily tranquilize obstruction, have obtrusive and metastatic capacity and tumorigenicity and are self-renewable. CSCs are segregated depending on properties that separate these cells from different cells in tumour mass chiefly from two sources: malignant growth cell lines and tumour tissues. The grown malignant cell lines are widely applied for CSC separation and isolation [5, 6]. As a result of culture adjustment and hereditary modifications occurring through subculturing of the cells, the biological features of primary CSCs are not reflected under hyperoxic conditions [7]. Applying powerful systems for producing such essential cell lines from tumour tissues may provide important methods to advance the investigations [6, 8–18]. With advancement in the available biomarkers, it is easy to target the CSC-associated pathways using this cell line with diverse drugs [9, 19]. Various strategies are utilized to separate these malignant stem cells. Some of them are set up dependent on the utilization of cell surface markers. Isolation and separation of these CSCs utilizing putative surface markers have been a need of research in cancer. Other strategies rely for the most part upon the functional aspects of CSCs [10-14]. This chapter will provide current approaches for isolation and identification of CSCs.

3.2 Features of Malignant Stem Cells

CSCs are vigorous cells which may have procured attributes like their typical tissue. The ABC transporter outflow with increased telomerase and glutathione synthetase is a prominent feature of typical CSCs that is copied to their offspring [20–25] that consider cell endurance and multiplication even after introduction to anticancer therapeutics. For instance, certain gastrointestinal disease cell lines show expanded protection from oxidative pressure by means of communications among CD44 and cell surface cysteine–glutamate trade transporters which bring about expanded combination of diminished glutathione, a key particle included in the balance of responsive oxygen species [15]. The CSCs are involved in metabolic reprogramming and also [16, 26] rapid repair of DNA damage [17, 27], with enhanced ABC transporters involved in drug excretion [28] of chemotherapeutic agents and also other anticancer drugs. Even the small populace of these cells, bypass anticancer treatment and stay undetected even when there is a tumour mass relapse leading to the recoverywhole tumor [29, 30]. Kurtova et al. discovered that

apoptosis was activated in healthy cells via certain chemotherapeutic drugs discharging prostaglandin E2, instigating the dormant keratin 14+ CSCs in bladder for multiplication [31]. Overcoming the hyper-aggressive nature of CSC, found after incomplete therapy, is the need of the hour for development of novel therapeutics.

3.3 Identification of CSCs Through Specific Biomarkers

No specific or sensitive biomarkers have been developed to detect CSCs. Table 3.1 shows the CSCs and their corresponding markers in various cancers.

3.4 Surface Markers for CSC Isolation

The CSCs are characterized by few proteins outflow. Diverse cell surface markers act as important contender for CSCs identification and targeting in various diseases. The articulation designs of these markers and their degree of articulations fluctuate among various tumor mass; in any case, no unmistakable markers have been presented. In malignant growth investigate; the markers of CSC subset such as proteins are most of the time used to construct a profile for separating the CSC populace from the mixed population of cells [51]. These markers generally have a place with the characterization of layer proteins [52]. For recognizing and disconnecting CSCs, choice of proper CSC surface markers is the principal need. At that point, these markers are utilized to detach potential CSCs by fluorescence-initiated cell arranging (FACS) or attractive enacted cell arranging (MACS) procedures [53]. Several surface markers, for example, prominin-1 (otherwise called

Cancer class	Markers	References
Leukaemia/lymphoma	CD34 ⁺ , CD47 ⁺ , CD96 ⁺ , CD25 ⁺ , CCL-1 ⁺ , CD38 ⁻	[5, 32–36]
Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	CD44 ⁺ , BMI1 ⁺ , CD24 ⁺ , CD133 ⁺	[37–39]
Glioblastoma	CD133 ⁺ , CD49f ⁺ , JAM-A, HER2 ⁺ , EGFRvIII ⁺	[40-44]
Lung	CD44 ⁺ , CD133 ⁺	[45, 46]
Breast	CD44 ⁺ CD24 ^{$-/low$} and ALDH1 ⁺ , CD133 ⁺ , CD61 ⁺	[44–52]
Ovarian	CD44 ⁺ , CD117 ⁺	[53]
Pancreas	CD44 ⁺ , CD24, ESA ⁺	[54, 55]
Gastric	CD44 ⁺ , CD133 ⁺ , ABCB1 ⁺ , ABCG2 ⁺	[56, 57]
Colorectal	CD44 ⁺ , CD133 ⁺ , CD166 ⁺ , CD24 ⁺	[58-61]
Prostate	CD44 ⁺ , CD133 ⁺ , ALDH ⁺	[62–64]
Bladder	CD44 ⁺ , CD90 ⁺ , CD49f ⁺	[65–67]
Melanoma	CD20 ⁺ , CD271 ⁺ , ABCB5 ⁺	[68–70]

 Table 3.1 CSCs and their corresponding markers in various cancers

CD133), CD24, CD16, CD13, CD44, CD38, CD34, epithelial-explicit antigen (EpCAM/ESA), CD20, CD176 and CD66c alone or in combination, have been used for sorting CSCs distribution in various malignancies [54]. Huge numbers of the surface receptors applied for CSC arranging have been distinguished observationally which were recognized on ordinary undifferentiated cells (SCs, for example, embryonic stem cells ESCs) and adult stem cells (ASCs) [54]. Additionally, separation of the tumor tissue into a solitary suspension of cells may prompt disability of antigen on the surface and reduced productivity of CSC detachment [55]. Besides, the cells may become unavailable upon protein treatment and in the wake of arranging forms. Cell arranging itself has affirmed to be wrong technique in which 1-3% of tumorigenic cells debasing the non tumorigenic populace [56]. One of the powerful techniques is the way towards creating mono suspension of cells from tumour tissues followed by immunizer based stream cytometric measure. In correlation with different techniques, separation dependent on cell markers is more explicit than the side population (SP) measure and the development of spheroids, be that as it may, there are a few disadvantages including predetermined number of detached cells and conceivable harm of surface markers during test handling utilizing protein lysing compounds. Complex, tedious and costly handling alongside low feasibility of confined cells is an inconveniences of surface marker--subordinate separation of CSCs, which is a limiting factor for utilization of this technique [57-63]. The utilization of CSC markers is famous in the guess of disease. As, most of the inadequately separated tumors have the most noteworthy weight of breast CSCs, in their malignant growth [61]. Additionally, in colon malignant growth, CD133 articulation is a marker of poor visualization which is connected to metastasis of the liver [64-66]. Raised CD133, an antagonistic marker of prognosis in the cancer of pancreas, is related with lymph hub attack [67, 68]. CD133 articulation is related with poor clinical result in ovarian disease [69]. Additionally, CD44 over articulation was connected with poor prognosis in pancreatic cancer patients [71–73].

3.4.1 Magnetic-Activated Surface Antigen-Based Cell Sorting (MACS)

MACS technique permits the enrichment and isolation of stem cells without staining. Cells that are labelled and conjugated to magnetic nanomaterials with antibodies are transmitted upon a section of highly compatible magnetic field. All through this procedure, cells the antigen expressing cells are attracted to the magnetic dots and stay attached to the column, yet the various negative cells for the antigen will fall off the column [74]. Consequently, the cells of interest will be eluted from the column from varied populations of the cells. This method relies on mono parameter separation requiring cell suspension. However MACS is a simple strategy in CSC disengagement with the ability of isolating Small populace of the tumour mass cells [75–77].

3.4.2 Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting (FACS)

FACS is another cell confinement technique which can separate the cells utilizing fluorescent labelled markers focusing on specific surface proteins or intracellular surface markers through immune staining. This strategy permits a cellular sample or particles in suspension to be isolated through a limited fluid stream. As the sample goes through a laser, it takes into account the recognition of granularity, size and fluorescent properties of individual cells/particles [78]. For the most part, FACS partition utilizes fluorochromes straightforwardly conjugated with either essential or optional antibodies with various emanation wavelengths. FACS commonly requires more cells, as a huge division of the sample might be lost. In many cases, the total number of CSCs available for a biopsy test or in the patient blood might be exceedingly low. Therefore, an increasingly effective procedure to advance CSCs from an uncommon example is required. FACS is multiparametric strategy contrasted with MACS. Despite the fact that MACS is less difficult and requires less complicated instrument than FACS, it is mono-parametric and cannot isolate cells by means of numerous markers at the same time [79, 80]. Additionally, the adequacy of CSC disengagement by FACS is respectably satisfactory.

3.5 Functional Assays to Identify CSCs

CSCs have some natural properties, including self-reestablishment, tranquillity, and uneven cell division, slow multiplication phenotype, high ABC transporter articulation, aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 (ALDH1) action, and diminished mitochondrial action in many malignant growths. These useful highlights are utilized to allow productive CSC separation and create recognizable proof methods as depicted in Fig. 3.1.

3.5.1 Spheroid Formation Assay

Screening cancer medication in vitro is usually done via 2D cell culture model which cannot duplicate the 3D microenvironment of the tumour in the human body, for example, cellular interactions and other matrix interactions between cell and the extracellular matrix (ECM), tissue-explicit engineering and various other signs that are fundamental for tissue explicit capacities. These issues have been overcome through copying of tumour tissue properties over 3D tissue cultures. The metabolic spherical culture status has undergone developmental changes in the layers of the culture, namely, inward layer with hypoxia and acidic conditions with necrotic cells, intermediate layer that included quiet cells, and outer layer with high multiplication cells due to excess supply of oxygen and other nutrients [81]. It is demonstrated that generation and testimony of matrix proteins are higher in spheroid coculturing of malignant growth cells with various kinds of cells in tumour expanded cell-to-cell



Fig. 3.1 Functional assays to identify CSCs

association through cell-cell connection and development factors [69, 70]. These attributes make spheroid development test perhaps the best contender for assessment of cutting edge anticancer medications in decades ago. Four principal circular malignant growth models dependent on culture techniques have been created: tumour spheroids with multiple cells, tumour circles, tissue-determined tumour circles and organotypic multicellular spheroid models. Multicellular spheroids are characterized as the whole of mono diseased cellular spheroids or coculturing of malignant cells with other cell types, which is referred to as multitypic spheroids or embedded cells developed in frameworks in a 3D culture. Circle size contingent upon cell type and circle age techniques can be fluctuated between under 100 µm and 3 mm in width with an enhanced size of $200-500 \,\mu\text{m}$ in distance across. Single cell suspension culture is used for creating spheroids within the sight of fetal bovine serum (FBS) and with no external matrix protein [84]. At present, a few multicellular tumor spheroid (MCTS) strategies are accessible for creation of spheroid, including hanging drop, spinner cups, fluid overlay and cellulose-based microparticles. In spheroid tumour examination, the tumour tissue sample to be tested is separated to mono cell suspension through compound or mechanical power. From the mono cell suspension the platelets are removed for further processing. After this, the

suspension of cells is cultured in media without serum which is enhanced by including epidermal growth factor (EGF) for development of thecells and basic fibroblast growth factor (b-FGF) in less amount. All these conditions are essential for the growth of cells as clonal round groups [48, 49, 85]. Despite the fact that tumour sphere science is not notable, it has been indicated that tumorsphere model does not completely imitate in vivo tumour structure and microenvironment. Age of organotypic multi-cell spheroids rather than tissue-determined tumour circles (TDTSs) does not have disassociation step. Tumour tissue in the wake of cutting into pieces with 0.3–0.8 mm width is refined in tissue culture cups covered with 0.75% agar in moulded media enhanced with 10% FBS and superfluous amino acids. It has been indicated that after cryopreservation of glioma spheroids, their histological attributes stayed steady and just minor genotypic and phenotypic changes were seen subsequent to defrosting. Recognizable proof of stem and ancestor cells from strong tumour presents remarkable difficulties to getting a functional single cell suspension. Since immature microorganisms are regularly rather uncommon populace of a strong tumour, it is basic to upgrade every confinement venture to augment result [71–75].

3.5.2 Clonogenic Assay

Colony formation assay is a quantitative strategy in vitro to assess the selfrestoration limit of a cell in a colony of at least 50 cells through clonal development [76]. This assay is a strategy for recognizable proof of CSCs which is broadly used to assess adherent cells in a two-dimensional culture [77]. To assess clonogenic capacity, the colonies derived from CSCs are plated as single cell in a soft agar which is incubated for 21 days and are stained with crystal violet or nitro-blue tetrazolium (NTB). The total number of colonies obtained is isolated and determined with colonies got from the non-CSC portion. The colonies derived from CSCs have a larger size than the colonies derived from the non-CSCs. Many technical changes can affect clonogenic assay, namely, the autoclaved medium must contain diluted cells when the temperature is cool enough not to kill cells, yet at the same time warm adequate to be filled wells; appropriate dilution is hazardous to affirm that every colony results from a solitary cell; additionally, the toxicity of agar to the cells must be considered or it may impact the result. In spite of the fact that the component by which CSCs explicitly structure clonal circles is commonly obscure, the investigation is made on a serum-free suspension for estimating the self-renewal populace of tumour cells [78–81].

3.5.3 Tumorigenicity

Tumorigenicity is the most effective and popular gold standard method for identification of therapeutically responsive CSCs in biology [75–77]. Limiting dilution assay (LDA) is the best tumorigenicity strategy that is ordinarily utilized for assessment of dynamic CSC recurrence [82, 86]. In this test, the valuable extreme limiting dilution analysis (ELDA) programming is utilized; it is conceivable to register subpopulations with 0–100% reactions [83]. In any case, the aftereffects of this strategy are influenced by the cellular quantity, the cell carrier, the site and time of incubation and implantation [86]. High-throughput screening cannot be utilized in this technique [87–90]. In rats, it is hard to examine the microenvironment impacts on the CSC work since the vasculature is the controller of human CSC development [83, 86, 87].

3.5.4 Lipophilic Dye Retaining Method

PKH26 and PKH6 are lipophilic fluorescent cell membrane connecting dyes which after cell division separate similar daughter cells. Holding a fact that a moderate cell division can proficiently hold the dye, there is an instantaneous dilution in the dye from the membrane of rapidly dividing cells. The dye retaining labelling technique via PKH26 has been utilized to distinguish CSCs. These labels remain to the CSCs because of their longer asymmetric divisional period to form daughter cells. The osteosarcoma and breast cancer CSCs are segregated utilizing this procedure [91, 92]. Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) labelling depends on a similar label maintenance approach. When contrasted with differentiated cells, CSCs hold more BrdU than the dividing cells [93]. Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) dye has also been utilized to follow the cell division recurrence in few solid tumours. Current examinations have discovered that CFSE labelling can be utilized for recognizing and confining moderate dividing cells from glioblastomas [93–99]. The cerebral tumour pathology can be successfully studied through these dyes because of their retention property [96–98].

3.5.5 Activity of Aldehyde Dehydrogenases (ALDHs)

These isoenzymes of cytosolic origin are engaged in oxidation of intracellular aldehyde [100]. ALDH isoforms in human have 19 different types. ALDH1 catalyses the conversion of retinol to retinoic acid during malignant transformation, and it also affects the proliferation and differentiation of these malignant stem cells [101–103]. ALDH1 enzyme additionally actuates Wnt/ β -catenin movement through activation of Akt signalling pathway. CD44 expression is related with ALDH1 which, on the other hand, protects normal cells from chemotherapy due to overexpression of ALDH1. From the outset of cells, the immature stem cells can be separated using ALDH1 for regenerative medicine with potential applications. The proteins from CSCs act as reliable markers in various solid tumours due to the movement of cytosolic ALDH1. Cell populace with high ALDH1 levels can be distinguished by ALDEFLUOR assay or utilizing FACS examination [104]. Investigation of the ALDH1-positive cells utilizing these two strategies showed expanded spherical arrangement ability, self-reestablishment properties, tumorigenicity and

high expression of stemness qualities contrasted with negative ALDH1 cells [105]. The reaction product of ALDEFLUOR assay collects in undifferentiated cells that are associated with ALDH movement [106–109]. The response allows viable cells to incorporate changing of ALDH substrate, BAAA (BODIPY-aminoacetaldehyde), into the fluorescent product BAA (BODIPY-amino acetic acid derivation). Significant levels of ALDH1 inside the cells become splendidly fluorescent and recognized by flow cytometry [110]. The ALDH1 specific substrate is reacted upon by ALDEFLUOR forming an immune reaction specific for the recognition of CSCs. The ALDEFLUOR test discovers epithelial tumour CSCs [111–113]. The other impediment utilizing this assay is that the osteosarcoma ALDH1-positive cells are enriched in the sphere formation with an obtrusive population of cells under investigation [93, 103]. Poor prognosis of various tumours is associated with increased expression of ALDH1 [83].

3.5.6 Side Population Assay

The response incorporates changing of a substrate into fluorescent product which is held in viable cells. Brightly fluorescent high ALDH-containing cells are distinguished by flow cytometry or improved by cell arranging for more purification [110]. The substrate for ALDH1 reaction is provided by ALDEFLUOR reagent to which an ALDH1 specific antibody can be utilized to recognize CSCs in clinical examples [111]. ALDH1 may not be an appropriate CSC marker for all tumour types, for example, liver and pancreas [112, 113]. The other impediment utilizing this measure has been exhibited in bone cancer ALDH1-positive cells enhanced in the circle framing division and related with a progressively intrusive populace [32-34]. The absence of a tumour-explicit phenotype has made trouble in the recognition of CSCs [84, 93]. SP segregation is a promising strategy for recognizing undifferentiated cells and various malignant growths. Mouse bone marrow cells for side population assay were measured using FACS. This strategy distinguishes CSCs by efflux of organic DNA binding dyes such as Hoechst 33342 and Rh123. This is achieved by ABC transporters and multidrug resistance (MDR) mechanism situated inside the cell. Cells inside this population were designated "SPs" due to their area in the flow cytometry peak plot. The outflow of ABC multidrug efflux transporters in stem cells is raised as a vital defensive component against cytotoxic substances. Fundamental individuals from this family are ABCB1 (Multidrug Resistance-1, MDR1), ABCC1, ABCF2, ABCB2, ABCC7, ABCG2 and ABCA5, which are upregulated in various tumours. The SP cells have some striking highlights that contrast them from other cell populace. They can initiate tumour formation at a high recurrence with the capacity to experience deviated division to build detachment amount in both SP part and non-SP portion. These cells have clonogenic limit, tumorigenicity, multipotency and chemoresistance [14]. Recognizable proof and confinement of stem cells through SP assay have superior goals than ordinary immunostaining measure with antibodies against ABC transporters that gives the exact discovery of uncommon SP portions (<0.5% of the absolute cell populace)

inside heterogeneous examples. In addition, utilitarian portrayal of the cells in vitro and in vivo utilizing different DNA-restricting dyes is troublesome; however, the SP test being performed on practical cells gives simpler and dependable strategy to describe the cell populace [103].

3.5.6.1 Hoechst 33342 Dye

The stem cell isolation relies on the Hoechst SP assay strategy. The fluorescent Hoechst dye binds to AT-rich areas of the nucleic acids particularly to the minor groove of DNA. The cell plasma membrane can also be accessed via Hoechst staining of the living cells [73]. Upon excitation, Hoechst at 405 nm transmits a blue signal that is gathered with a 450/40 nm band and passes through filter with excitation as red fluorescence at 610/20 nm filter. The SP can be characterized as the number of cellular population with negative for both Hoechst blue and red [59]. As indicated by an examination of STA-ET-1 cell line of Ewing sarcoma, there is a relationship between the grouping of Hoechst colour and also the distinguishing ability to disconnect the undifferentiated cells [48].

3.5.6.2 Rhodamine 123 (Rh123)

Rh123 is a mitochondrial dye which is utilized in SP measure that stains activated cells with higher resolution than the other cells. The force of fluorescence of Rh123 shows the activation state as well as the multidrug efflux pump activity related with the mass of mitochondria. Expanding efflux of Rh123 prompts the lesser dye accumulation inside cells [93]. Lesser cytotoxicity and excitation at 488 nm is effective for practical use of Rh123. A double colour efflux procedure utilizing Hoechst 33342 and Rh123 might be appropriate to separate cells with the high action of hematopoietic undifferentiated cell. Point mutation carrying cells at the R482 position are more resistant to chemotherapeutics with elevated Rh123 efflux which limits their utilization by these cells [103].

3.5.6.3 Other Fluorescent Dyes

SP examination can also be done with other fluorescence colours, for example, dye cycle violet (DCV), a cell-porous and DNA-binding dye which is excited by a violet laser at a wavelength of 395–410 nm. Contrasted with the violet laser which is accessible on most flow cytometry instruments, UV lasers are not accessible. Accordingly, this dye alternates other organic dyes like Hoechst used in SP assay [80–84]. Indoline colour ZMB793 is another dye with fluorescent nature, which is energized at 488 nm and emitted at wavelengths of 600 nm and longer. The limiting factor is that this dye cannot be utilized in certain higher instruments apart from flow cytometer [100–104].

3.5.7 Identification of CSCs Through Centrifugation

Gradient centrifugation using density as a factor is a strategy of partition for different types of cells and confinement of physical properties dependent on CSCs. This strategy utilizes distinctive density gradient media which will influence the viability based detachment of cells [112]. For an hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) model, at the end of centrifugation depending on the thickness of the cells, four portions with assorted properties and levels of biomarker articulation were obtained utilizing percoll consistent gradient centrifugation. Among the acquired portions the presence of malignant stem cells was confirmed, the part which has higher nuclear to cytoplasm proportion and furthermore high expression levels of SC markers. There are comparable outcomes for the segregation of stem cells utilizing this strategy. For instance, progenitor bone marrow cells from are more confined to percoll gradient using this strategy [75–79].

3.6 Controversies of Cancer Stem Cells

As depicted above, developing proof has been collected to support the CSC model. In many cases, there is still debate with respect to CSCs. It is as yet vague how CSCs are created. It has been hypothesized that typical undifferentiated cells in different tissues are malignantly changed by various factors, for example, hereditary and epigenetic transformations [49, 53]. It isn't comprehended whether tumour movement driving hereditary occasions aggregates just in CSCs. Although most strong tumours show broad genomic instability, there is no data with respect to genomic soundness in CSCs. An ongoing report recommends transformation among CSCs and non-CSCs [73]. These authors showed the likelihood that the dedifferentiation of malignant cells brings about the generation of CSCs. This versatility may represent the present irregularities observed in the CSC model.

Another irregularity generally seen is that CSCs are constantly uncommon; this view depends on the first information on acute myeloid leukemia (AML) stem cells [106]. Nonetheless, the mice microenvironment of mice is inappropriate for human malignant cells growth causing tumour relapse, limiting the life expectancy to 2 years. A few examinations have announced intends to conquer the underlying issue of xeno-transplantation. In the HCC mouse model, CD133 + CD45– subpopulation caused cancer in naked mice strain [67]. Different animal model has to be developed for further examination and elucidation of malignant stem cells.

3.7 Concluding Remarks

These stem cells are evident in cancer biology for causing tumour genesis. CSC chosen through chemical screening methods from established cell lines is useful for performing and analyzing in vitro experiments. Since the mechanisms of action of CSCs on patients remain unexplored, future studies are required to investigate them through clinical specimens. Although the contributions of CSCs to cancer development remain unclear, the conventional chemotherapies are not able to eliminate CSCs. Targeting CSCs may pave a new way in drug development for treating metastasis and recurrence.

References

- Abbaszadegan MR, Bagheri V, Razavi MS, Momtazi AA, Sahebkar A, Gholamin M (2017) Isolation, identification, and characterization of cancer stem cells: a review. J Cell Physiol 232 (8):2008–2018
- Akbarzadeh M, Movassaghpour AA, Ghanbari H, Kheirandish M, Fathi Maroufi N, Rahbarghazi R, Samadi N (2017) The potential therapeutic effect of melatonin on human ovarian cancer by inhibition of invasion and migration of cancer stem cells. Sci Rep 7 (1):17062
- 3. Akbarzadeh M, Rahbarghazi R, Nabat E, Movassaghpour AA, Shanehbandi D, Maragheh BFA, Matluobi D, Barazvan B, Kazemi M, Samadi N, Nouri M (2017) The impact of different extracellular matrices on melatonin effect in proliferation and stemness properties of ovarian cancer cells. Biomed Pharmacother 87:288–295
- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF (2003) Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(7):3983–3988
- Almanaa TN, Geusz ME, Jamasbi RJ (2013) A new method for identifying stem-like cells in esophageal cancer cell lines. J Cancer 4(7):536–548
- Ferrero E, Malavasi F (1999) The metamorphosis of a molecule: from soluble enzyme to the leukocyte receptor CD38. J Leuk Biol 65(2):151–161; Friedrich J, Ebner R, Kunz-Schughart LA (2007) Experimental anti-tumor therapy in 3-D: spheroids—old hat or new challenge? Int J Radiat Biol 83(11–12):849–871
- Ames E, Canter RJ, Grossenbacher SK, Mac S, Chen M, Smith RC, Murphy WJ (2015) NK cells preferentially target tumor cells with a cancer stem cell phenotype. J Immunol 195:1500447–1504019
- Balzano F, Cruciani S, Basoli V, Santaniello S, Facchin F, Ventura C, Maioli M (2018) MiR200 and MiR302: two big families influencing stem cell behavior. Molecules 23(2):282
- 9. Batlle E, Clevers H (2017) Cancer stem cells revisited. Nat Med 23(10):1124-1134
- Bourguignon LYW, Wong G, Earle C, Chen L (2012) Hyaluronan- CD44v3 interaction with Oct4/Sox2/Nanog promotes miR-302 expression leading to self-renewal, clonal formation and cisplatin resistance in cancer stem cells from head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. J Biol Chem M111:308528–332824
- Bowen MA, Patel DD, Li X, Modrell B, Malacko AR, Wang W-C, Francke U (1995) Cloning, mapping, and characterization of activated leukocyte-cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM), a CD6 ligand. J Exp Med 181(6):2213–2220
- Brown HK, Tellez-Gabriel M, Heymann D (2017) Cancer stem cells in osteosarcoma. Cancer Lett 386:189–195
- Duxbury MS, Ito H, Zinner MJ, Ashley SW, Whang EE (2003) CEACAM6 gene silencing impairs anoikis resistance and suppresses metastasis of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Surg Res 114(2):241
- 14. Fan Z, Xue W, Dou M, Li L, Lu J, Ma B, Zhao J (2018) Bushenshugan formula attenuates the development of lung cancer by inhibiting epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Cell Physiol Biochem 47(5):1977–1988
- 15. Friedrich J, Seidel C, Ebner R, Kunz-Schughart LA (2009) Spheroid-based drug screen: considerations and practical approach. Nat Protoc 4(3):309–324
- Gemei M, Mirabelli P, Di Noto R, Corbo C, Iaccarino A, Zamboli A, Salvatore F (2013) CD66c is a novel marker for colorectal cancer stem cell isolation, and its silencing halts tumor growth in vivo. Cancer 119(4):729–738
- 17. Gilbert CA, Ross AH (2009) Cancer stem cells: cell culture, markers, and targets for new therapies. J Cell Biochem 108(5):1031–1038
- Golebiewska A, Brons NHC, Bjerkvig R, Niclou SP (2011) Critical appraisal of the side population assay in stem cell and cancer stem cell research. Cell Stem Cell 8(2):136–147
- 19. Guo W, Lasky JL, Wu H (2006) Cancer stem cells. Pediatr Res 59(S4):59R-64R

- Haji-Karim M, Carisson J (1978) Proliferation and viability in cellular spheroids of human origin. Cancer Res 38(5):1457–1464
- Haraguchi N, Ishii H, Mimori K, Tanaka F, Ohkuma M, Kim HM, Akita H, Takiuchi D, Hatano H, Nagano H, Barnard GF, Doki Y, Mori M (2010) CD13 is a therapeutic target in human liver cancer stem cells. J Clin Invest 120(9):3326–3339
- 22. He J, Liu Y, Zhu T, Zhu J, DiMeco F, Vescovi AL, Heth JA, Muraszko KM, Fan X, Lubman DM (2012) CD90 is identified as a candidate marker for cancer stem cells in primary high-grade gliomas using tissue microarrays. Mol Cell Proteomics 11(6):M111.010744
- 23. Hirschhaeuser F, Menne H, Dittfeld C, West J, Mueller-Klieser W, Kunz-Schughart LA (2010) Multicellular tumor spheroids: an under-estimated tool is catching up again. J Biotechnol 148(1):3–15; Horst D, Kriegl L, Engel J, Kirchner T, Jung A (2009) Prognostic significance of the cancer stem cell markers CD133, CD44, and CD166 in colorectal cancer. Cancer Investig 27(8):844–850
- 24. Hu P, Zhang W, Xin H, Deng G (2016) Single cell isolation and analysis. Front Cell Dev Biol 4:116
- Hu Y, Smyth GK (2009) ELDA: extreme limiting dilution analysis for comparing depleted and enriched populations in stem cell and other assays. J Immunol Methods 347(1–2):70–78
- Gangavarpu KJ, Huss WJ (2011) Isolation and applications of prostate side population cells based on dye cycle violet efflux. Curr Protoc Toxicol 47(1):22.22.21–22.22.14
- 27. Huang T-H, Hsu H-M, Huang CYF (2018) Abstract LB-051: an Astragalus-based Chinese herbal medicine extraction inhibits cancer stem cell growth and sensitizes of drug-resistant human non-small cell lung cancer cells for targeted therapy. AACR 78:LB-051
- Ishiguro T, Ohata H, Sato A, Yamawaki K, Enomoto T, Okamoto K (2017) Tumor-derived spheroids: relevance to cancer stem cells and clinical applications. Cancer Sci 108(3):283–289
- 29. Islam F, Qiao B, Smith RA, Gopalan V, Lam AK-Y (2015) Cancer stem cell: fundamental experimental pathological concepts and updates. Exp Mol Pathol 98(2):184–191
- 30. Jaggupilli A, Elkord E (2012) Significance of CD44 and CD24 as cancer stem cell markers: an enduring ambiguity. Clin Dev Immunol 2012:708036
- Jeon Y-K, Kim S-H, Choi S-H, Kim K-H, Yoo B-C, Ku J-L, Park J-G (2010) Promoter hypermethylation and loss of CD133 gene expression in colorectal cancers. World J Gastroenterol 16(25):3153
- Keysar SB, Jimeno A (2010) More than markers: biological significance of cancer stem celldefining molecules. Mol Cancer Ther 9:2450–2457
- Klonisch T, Wiechec E, Hombach-Klonisch S, Ande SR, Wesselborg S, Schulze-Osthoff K, Los M (2008) Cancer stem cell markers in common cancers–therapeutic implications. Trends Mol Med 14(10):450–460
- 34. Kohara H, Watanabe K, Shintou T, Nomoto T, Okano M, Shirai T, Miyazaki T, Tabata Y (2013) The use of fluorescent indoline dyes for side population analysis. Biomaterials 34 (4):1024–1032
- 35. Kosovsky M (2012) Cancer stem cell research. Bioscience 3:1-8
- 36. Kreso A, O'Brien CA (2008) Colon cancer stem cells. Curr Protoc Stem Cell Biol 7 (1):3.1.1–3.1.12
- 37. Kristiansen G, Pilarsky C, Wissmann C, Stephan C, Weissbach L, Loy V, Loening S, Dietel M, Rosenthal A (2003) ALCAM/CD166 is up-regulated in low- grade prostate cancer and progressively lost in high-grade lesions. Prostate 54(1):34–43
- 38. Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Caceres-Cortes J, Minden M, Paterson B, Caligiuri MA, Dick JE (1994) A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature 367(6464):645–648
- Lawrenson K, Grun B, Gayther SA (2012) Heterotypic three- dimensional in vitro modeling of stromal-epithelial interactions during ovarian cancer initiation and progression. J Vis Exp 66: e4206

- Lee TKW, Castilho A, Cheung VCH, Tang KH, Ma S, Ng IOL (2011) CD24+ liver tumorinitiating cells drive self-renewal and tumor initiation through STAT3-mediated NANOG regulation. Cell Stem Cell 9(1):50–63
- Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P, Burant CF, Zhang L, Adsay V, Simeone DM (2007) Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 67(3):1030–1037
- 42. Liang S, Furuhashi M, Nakane R, Nakazawa S, Goudarzi H, Hamada J, Iizasa H (2013) Isolation and characterization of human breast cancer cells with SOX2 promoter activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 437(2):205–211
- Lianidou ES, Markou A (2011) Circulating tumor cells in breast cancer: detection systems, molecular characterization, and future challenges. Clin Chem 57(9):1242–1255
- 44. Lin WM, Karsten U, Goletz S, Cheng RC, Cao Y (2011) Expression of CD176 (Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen) on lung, breast and liver cancer-initiating cells. Int J Exp Pathol 92 (2):97–105
- 45. Longati P, Jia X, Eimer J, Wagman A, Witt M-R, Rehnmark S, Verbeke C, Toftgård R, Löhr M, Heuchel RL (2013) 3D pancreatic carcinoma spheroids induce a matrix-rich, chemoresistant phenotype offering a better model for drug testing. BMC Cancer 13(1):95
- Lovitt C, Shelper T, Avery V (2014) Advanced cell culture techniques for cancer drug discovery. Biology 3(2):345–367
- 47. Jiang F, Qiu Q, Khanna A, Todd NW, Deepak J, Xing L, Wang H, Liu Z, Su Y, Stass SA, Katz RL (2009) Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 is a tumor stem cell-associated marker in lung cancer. Mol Cancer Res 7(3):330–338
- 48. Kemper K, Sprick MR, de Bree M, Scopelliti A, Vermeulen L, Hoek M, Stassi G (2010) The AC133 epitope, but not the CD133 protein, is lost upon cancer stem cell differentiation. Cancer Res 70:719–729
- Kern SE, Shibata D (2007) The fuzzy math of solid tumor stem cells: a perspective. Cancer Res 67(19):8985–8988
- Ma S, Chan KW, Hu L, Lee TKW, Wo JYH, Ng IOL, Zheng BJ, Guan XY (2007) Identification and characterization of tumorigenic liver cancer stem/progenitor cells. Gastroenterology 132(7):2542–2556
- 51. Maeda S, Shinchi H, Kurahara H, Mataki Y, Maemura K, Sato M, Takao S (2008) CD133 expression is correlated with lymph node metastasis and vascular endothelial growth factor-C expression in pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer 98(8):1389–1397
- 52. Masters JR, Foley CL, Bisson I, Ahmed A (2003) Cancer stem cells. BJU Int 92(7):661-662
- 53. Mather JP (2012) In vitro models. Stem Cells 30(2):95-99
- 54. Mauri FA, Pinato DJ, Trivedi P, Sharma R, Shiner RJ (2012) Isogeneic comparison of primary and metastatic lung cancer identifies CX3CR1 as a molecular determinant of site-specific metastatic diffusion. Oncol Rep 28(2):647–653
- 55. Mayer B, Klement G, Kaneko M, Man S, Jothy S, Rak J, Kerbel RS (2001) Multicellular gastric cancer spheroids recapitulate growth pattern and differentiation phenotype of human gastric carcinomas. Gastroenterology 121(4):839–852
- Mehta G, Hsiao AY, Ingram M, Luker GD, Takayama S (2012) Opportunities and challenges for use of tumor spheroids as models to test drug delivery and efficacy. J Control Release 164 (2):192–204
- Miltenyi S, Müller W, Weichel W, Radbruch A (1990) High gradient magnetic cell separation with MACS. Cytometry 11(2):231–238
- 58. Mima K, Okabe H, Ishimoto T, Hayashi H, Nakagawa S, Kuroki H, Baba H (2012) CD44s regulates the TGF-β-mediated mesenchymal phenotype and is associated with poor prognosis in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Res 72:3414–3423. 0299.2012
- Moghbeli M, Moghbeli F, Forghanifard MM, Abbaszadegan MR (2014) Cancer stem cell detection and isolation. Med Oncol 31(9):69
- Most C (1992) Molecular features of CD34: a hemopoietic progenitor cell-associated molecule. Leukemia 6(1):31–36

- 61. Munshi A, Hobbs M, Meyn RE (2005) Clonogenic cell survival assay. Chemosensitivity 110:21-28
- 62. Nastaly P, Filipska M, Morrissey C, Eltze E, Semjonow A, Brandt B, Pantel K, Bednarz-Knoll N (2018) ALDH1-positive intratumoral stromal cells indicate epithelial differentiation and good prognosis in prostate cancer. Transl Res 203:49–56
- Nerada Z, Hegyi Z, Szepesi Á, Tóth S, Hegedüs C, Várady G, Telbisz Á (2016) Application of fluorescent dye substrates for functional characterization of ABC multidrug transporters at a single cell level. Cytometry 89(9):826–834
- Nguyen LV, Vanner R, Dirks P, Eaves CJ (2012) Cancer stem cells: an evolving concept. Nat Rev Cancer 12(2):133–143
- 65. Niess H, Camaj P, Renner A, Ischenko I, Zhao Y, Krebs S, Bruns CJ (2015) Side population cells of pancreatic cancer show characteristics of cancer stem cells responsible for resistance and metastasis. Target Oncol 10(2):215–227
- 66. Ning N, Pan Q, Zheng F, Teitz-Tennenbaum S, Egenti M, Yet J, Li M, Ginestier C, Wicha MS, Moyer JS, Prince ME, Xu Y, Zhang XL, Huang S, Chang AE, Li Q (2012) Cancer stem cell vaccination confers significant antitumor immunity. Cancer Res 72(7):1853–1864
- O'Brien CA, Kreso A, Jamieson CH (2010) Cancer stem cells and self-renewal. Clin Cancer Res 16:3113–3120
- 68. O'Conor CJ, Chen T, González I, Cao D, Peng Y (2018) Cancer stem cells in triple-negative breast cancer: a potential target and prognostic marker. Biomark Med 12:813–820
- 69. Orecchioni S, Bertolini F (2016) Characterization of cancer stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 1464:49–62
- 70. Panaccione A, Zhang Y, Ryan M, Moskaluk CA, Anderson KS, Yarbrough WG, Ivanov SV (2017) MYB fusions and CD markers as tools for authentication and purification of cancer stem cells from salivary adenoid cystic carcinoma. Stem Cell Res 21:160–166
- 71. Pece S, Tosoni D, Confalonieri S, Mazzarol G, Vecchi M, Ronzoni S, Bernard L, Viale G, Pelicci PG, Di Fiore PP (2010) Biological and molecular heterogeneity of breast cancers correlates with their cancer stem cell content. Cell 140(1):62–73
- Pietra G, Manzini C, Vitale M, Balsamo M, Ognio E, Boitano M, Queirolo P, Moretta L, Mingari MC (2009) Natural killer cells kill human melanoma cells with characteristics of cancer stem cells. Int Immunol 21(7):793–801
- Rahimi K, Fuchtbauer AC, Fathi F, Mowla SJ, Fuchtbauer E-M (2019) Isolation of cancer stem cells by selection for miR-302 expressing cells. PeerJ 7:e6635
- 74. Rege TA, Hagood JS (2006) Thy-1, a versatile modulator of signaling affecting cellular adhesion, proliferation, survival, and cytokine/growth factor responses. Biochim Biophys Acta 1763(10):991–999
- 75. Reim F, Dombrowski Y, Ritter C, Buttmann M, Hausler S, Ossadnik M, Krockenberger M, Beier D, Beier CP, Dietl J, Becker JC, Hönig A, Wischhusen J (2009) Immunoselection of breast and ovarian cancer cells with trastuzumab and natural killer cells: selective escape of CD44high/CD24low/HER2low breast cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 69:8058–8066
- 76. Resnicoff M, Medrano EE, Podhajcer OL, Bravo AI, Bover L, Mordoh J (1987) Subpopulations of MCF7 cells separated by Percoll gradient centrifugation: a model to analyze the heterogeneity of human breast cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84(20):7295–7299
- 77. Rezaie P, Khoei S, Khoee S, Shirvalilou S, Mahdavi SR (2018) Evaluation of combined effect of hyperthermia and ionizing radiation on cytotoxic damages induced by IUdR-loaded PCL--PEG-coated magnetic nanoparticles in spheroid culture of U87MG glioblastoma cell line. Int J Radiat Biol 94:1–36
- 78. Ricardo S, Vieira AF, Gerhard R, Leitao D, Pinto R, Cameselle-Teijeiro JF, Milanezi F, Schmitt F, Paredes J (2011) Breast cancer stem cell markers CD44, CD24 and ALDH1: expression distribution within intrinsic molecular subtype. J Clin Pathol 64(11):937–946
- 79. Rosca AM, Burlacu A (2010) Isolation of a mouse bone marrow population enriched in stem and progenitor cells by centrifugation on a Percoll gradient. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 55 (4):199–208

- Santini MT, Rainaldi G (1999) Three-dimensional spheroid model in tumor biology. Pathobiology 67(3):148–157
- 81. Sarry J-E, Murphy K, Perry R, Sanchez PV, Secreto A, Keefer C, Swider CR, Strzelecki AC, Cavelier C, Récher C, Mansat-De Mas V, Delabesse E, Danet-Desnoyers G, Carroll M (2011) Human acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells are rare and heterogeneous when assayed in NOD/SCID/IL2Rγc-deficient mice. J Clin Invest 121(1):384–395
- Schatton T, Murphy GF, Frank NY, Yamaura K, Waaga-Gasser AM, Gasser M, Frank MH (2008) Identification of cells initiating human melanomas. Nature 451(7176):345–349
- Scheel C, Weinberg RA (2012) Cancer stem cells and epithelial-mesenchymal transition. In: Concepts and molecular links. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 396–403
- Pastrana E, Silva-Vargas V, Doetsch F (2011) Eyes wide open: a critical review of sphereformation as an assay for stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 8(5):486–498
- 85. Kalisky T, Quake SR (2011) Single-cell genomics. Nat Methods 8(4):311–314; Katt ME, Placone AL, Wong AD, Xu ZS, Searson PC (2016) In vitro tumor models: advantages, disadvantages, variables, and selecting the right platform. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 4:12
- Schmidt P, Kopecky C, Hombach A, Zigrino P, Mauch C, Abken H (2011) Eradication of melanomas by targeted elimination of a minor subset of tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(6):2474–2479
- Shackleton M, Vaillant F, Simpson KJ, Stingl J, Smyth GK, Asselin-Labat M-L, Wu L, Lindeman GJ, Visvader JE (2006) Generation of a functional mammary gland from a single stem cell. Nature 439(7072):84–88
- Shaheen S, Ahmed M, Lorenzi F, Nateri AS (2016) Spheroid- formation (colonosphere) assay for in vitro assessment and expansion of stem cells in colon cancer. Stem Cell Rev Rep 12 (4):492–499
- Stein AM, Bottino D, Modur V, Branford S, Kaeda J, Goldman JM, Hochhaus A (2011) BCR-ABL transcript dynamics support the hypothesis that leukemic stem cells are reduced during imatinib treatment. Clin Cancer Res 17:6812–6821
- 90. Strickland LA, Ross J, Williams S, Ross S, Romero M, Spencer S, Erickson R, Sutcliffe J, Verbeke C, Polakis P, van Bruggen N, Koeppen H (2009) Preclinical evaluation of carcinoembryonic cell adhesion molecule (CEACAM) 6 as potential therapy target for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Pathol 218(3):380–390
- Sun Q, Lesperance J, Wettersten H, Luterstein E, DeRose YS, Welm A, Desgrosellier JS (2018) Proapoptotic PUMA targets stem-like breast cancer cells to suppress metastasis. J Clin Invest 128(1):531–544
- Greve B, Kelsch R, Spaniol K, Eich HT, Götte M (2012) Flow cytometry in cancer stem cell analysis and separation. Cytometry A 81(4):284–293
- 93. Suvà M-L, Riggi N, Stehle J-C, Baumer K, Tercier S, Joseph J-M, Stamenkovic I (2009) Identification of cancer stem cells in Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Res 69(5):1776–1781
- 94. Sundlisaeter E, Wang J, Sakariassen PO, Marie M, Mathisen JR, Karlsen BO, Prestegarden L, Skaftnesmo KO, Bjerkvig R, Enger PØ (2006) Primary glioma spheroids maintain tumourogenicity and essential phenotypic traits after cryopreservation. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 32(4):419–427
- 95. Takaishi S, Okumura T, Tu S, Wang SSW, Shibata W, Vigneshwaran R, Wang TC (2009) Identification of gastric cancer stem cells using the cell surface marker CD44. Stem Cells 27 (5):1006–1020
- 96. Terry J, Nielsen T (2010) Expression of CD133 in synovial sarcoma. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 18(2):159–165; Tirino V, Camerlingo R, Franco R, Malanga D, La Rocca A, Viglietto G, Rocco G, Pirozzi G (2009) The role of CD133 in the identification and characterisation of tumour-initiating cells in non-small-cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 36(3):446–453
- 97. Tirino V, Desiderio V, Paino F, De Rosa A, Papaccio F, Fazioli F, Papaccio G (2011) Human primary bone sarcomas contain CD133+ cancer stem cells displaying high tumorigenicity in vivo. FASEB J 25(6):2022–2030
- 98. Tirino V, Desiderio V, Paino F, De Rosa A, Papaccio F, La Noce M, Papaccio G (2013) Cancer stem cells in solid tumors: an overview and new approaches for their isolation and characterization. FASEB J 27(1):13–24
- 99. Tseng H-C, Arasteh A, Paranjpe A, Teruel A, Yang W, Behel A, Jewett A (2010) Increased lysis of stem cells but not their differentiated cells by natural killer cells; de-differentiation or reprogramming activates NK cells. PLoS One 5(7):e11590
- 100. Valent P, Bonnet D, De Maria R, Lapidot T, Copland M, Melo JV, Chomienne C, Ishikawa F, Schuringa JJ, Stassi G, Huntly B, Herrmann H, Soulier J, Roesch A, Schuurhuis GJ, Wöhrer S, Arock M, Zuber J, Cerny-Reiterer S, Johnsen HE, Andreeff M, Eaves C (2012) Cancer stem cell definitions and terminology: the devil is in the details. Nat Rev Cancer 12(11):767–775
- 101. Venkataraman G, Sasisekharan V, Herr AB, Ornitz DM, Waksman G, Cooney CL, Sasisekharan R (1996) Preferential self- association of basic fibroblast growth factor is stabilized by heparin during receptor dimerization and activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(2):845–850
- 102. Walter D, Satheesha S, Albrecht P, Bornhauser BC, D'Alessandro V, Oesch SM, Rehrauer H, Leuschner I, Koscielniak E, Gengler C, Moch H, Bernasconi M, Niggli FK, Schäfer BW, CWS Study Group (2011) CD133 positive embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma stem-like cell population is enriched in rhabdospheres. PLoS One 6(5):e19506
- 103. Wang P, Gao Q, Suo Z, Munthe E, Solberg S, Ma L, Wang M, Westerdaal NA, Kvalheim G, Gaudernack G (2013) Identification and characterization of cells with cancer stem cell properties in human primary lung cancer cell lines. PLoS One 8(3):e57020
- 104. Weiswald L-B, Bellet D, Dangles-Marie V (2015) Spherical cancer models in tumor biology. Neoplasia 17(1):1–15
- 105. Wen L, Chen XZ, Yang K, Chen ZX, Zhang B, Chen JP, Zhou ZG, Mo XM, Hu JK (2013) Prognostic value of cancer stem cell marker CD133 expression in gastric cancer: a systematic review. PLoS One 8(3):e59154
- 106. Wolpert F, Roth P, Lamszus K, Tabatabai G, Weller M, Eisele G (2012) HLA-E contributes to an immune-inhibitory phenotype of glioblastoma stem-like cells. J Neuroimmunol 250 (1-2):27–34
- 107. Yang ZF, Ho DW, Ng MN, Lau CK, Yu WC, Ngai P, Fan ST (2008) Significance of CD90+ cancer stem cells in human liver cancer. Cancer Cell 13(2):153–166
- 108. Yang ZF, Ngai P, Ho DW, Yu WC, Ng MNP, Lau CK, Fan ST (2008) Identification of local and circulating cancer stem cells in human liver cancer. Hepatology 47(3):919–928
- 109. Yeon SE, No DY, Lee SH, Nam SW, Oh IH, Lee J, Kuh HJ (2013) Application of concave microwells to pancreatic tumor spheroids enabling anticancer drug evaluation in a clinically relevant drug resistance model. PLoS One 8(9):e73345
- 110. Yu M, Bardia A, Aceto N, Bersani F, Madden MW, Donaldson MC, Haber DA (2014) Ex vivo culture of circulating breast tumor cells for individualized testing of drug susceptibility. Science 345(6193):216–220
- 111. Zhang C, Li C, He F, Cai Y, Yang H (2011) Identification of CD44+ CD24+ gastric cancer stem cells. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 137(11):1679–1686
- 112. Zhang J, Guo X, Chang DY, Rosen DG, Mercado Uribe I, Liu J (2012) CD133 expression associated with poor prognosis in ovarian cancer. Mod Pathol 25(3):456–464
- 113. Zhao JS, Li WJ, Ge D, Zhang PJ, Li JJ, Lu CL, Xie D (2011) Tumor initiating cells in esophageal squamous cell carcinomas express high levels of CD44. PLoS One 6(6):e21419



4

Lung and Prostate Cancer Stem Cells

Sudeep Bose, Valentina Sain, Sartaj Khurana, and Rajat Gupta

Abstract

The most prominent cause of deaths due to cancer is lung cancer that typically includes the failure of treatment, reoccurrence of cancer, and dispersion that is only possible due to the existence of cancer stem cells (CSCs). The current development in translational and molecular investigation on lung cancer postulates the unique data and detailed comprehension of lung cancer biology and various treatment approaches. Targeting lung CSCs with detailed focus on specific markers of lung CSCs may give a conception to eliminate lung cancer without reoccurrence and may finally improve long-lasting clinical outcome. Prostate cancer (PCa) is the most prevalent type of cancer and the major cause of mortality in males around the globe. It is a heterogenous condition attributed to instability of genome and mechanisms related to epigenetics resulting in cellular differentiation. The previous decade has seen evidences that have clearly revealed the critical role of PCa stem cells (PCSCs) in PCa. Metastasis, till date, remains a big challenge in the treatment of these cancer types due to limited survival advantage of the second-generation drugs as observed in sufferers. Molecular mechanisms reveal that mutations in tumor suppressors together with oncogenic activation are capable of inducing a major mechanism termed as partial epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), which provides plasticity to cancer stem cells (CSCs) and eventually contributes to metastasis. Thus, a clearer

S. Bose (🖂) · S. Khurana

Amity Institute of Biotechnology, Amity University Uttar Pradesh, Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India

Amity Institute of Molecular Medicine and Stem Cell Research, Amity University Uttar Pradesh, Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India e-mail: sbosel@amity.edu

V. Sain · R. Gupta Amity Institute of Biotechnology, Amity University Uttar Pradesh, Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer*

Therapies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_4

understanding of fundamental stem cell mechanisms pointing toward the various signaling pathways that regulate the fate of cell during development is crucial to improve stem cell-based regenerative medicine and anticancer strategies for both PCa and lung cancer.

In this chapter, we encapsulate our present understanding of normal stem/ progenitor cells of prostate and lung cancer that highlight the recent progress that has been made on CSCs and discuss the properties and hallmarks of biology of prostate and lung CSCs and their involvement in resistance to therapy, tumor progression, and metastases.

Keywords

Prostate cancer \cdot Lung cancer \cdot Cancer stem cells \cdot Metastasis \cdot Cancer stem cell markers \cdot Signaling pathways \cdot EMT \cdot Drug resistance

4.1 Introduction

Cancer is one of the leading causes of mortality worldwide. The most lifethreatening among all cancer types is lung cancer, which is responsible for 20% of cancer-related deaths globally with unfavorable diagnosis mostly due to late stage disease presentation. This cancer is now contemplated as a pandemic which is accountable for highest mortality rate among all the types of cancers, i.e., one in four cancer deaths with major social and financial consequences [1]. This cancer has been categorized into two groups based on its pathological features: (a) small cell lung cancer (SCLC) found in 20% of all types of lung cancers and (b) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) found in about 80% of lung cancers [1]. NSCLC is found to be very lethal which is again categorized into large cell carcinoma, adenocarcinoma, and squamous cell carcinoma that revealed the 5-year survival rate of about 17.8% only, and high incidence of new cases is diagnosed annually with low survival rate [2]. Today, it is a well-known fact that the continuous buildup of multiple alteration in genes of normal cells leads to malignant phenotypes, and also various theories have been anticipated to elucidate the origin of cancer. Cancer stem cells (CSC) are considered as a seed of cancer that exhibit high tumorigenic potential, expression of specific markers and genes, resistance to chemotherapy, and high migration and invasion characteristics and also share some specific characteristics of normal stem cells like differentiation capability (asymmetric cell division) and self-renewal and utilization of common signaling pathways. Based on aforesaid descriptions of the CSC population, CSCs becomes a leading reason of disease reversion and sows the barriers in all the present-day used curative approaches involving surgery and chemo-, radio-, and targeted therapy for lung cancer management.

Another major type of cancer is prostate cancer (PCa) which has been consistent in holding the banner for the most prevalent cancer identified in males and also the second important malignancy of cancer-associated morbidity in the United States and Europe [3]. The prostate gland comprises three essential types of cells: luminal (secretory), basal, and neuroendocrine cells with each type identifiable by a characteristic expression of markers. Moreover, there is a tiny group of intermediary cells that express both basal and luminal cell markers [4]. These cell types possess diverse characteristics. Most of the luminal epithelial cells have been shown to manifest the androgen receptor (AR), secrete prostate-specific antigen (PSA) along with prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP), and need AR signaling for sustenance. Basal epithelial cells are AR negative and therefore not subtle to castration [5]. In the luminal epithelial layer, there are neuroendocrine cells which are rare cells and are distributed in prostatic glands constituting less than 1% of prostatic epithelium.

High-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (HGPIN) develops PCa that progresses to locally invasive carcinoma and then to metastatic cancer [6]. Early-stage PCa cells are primarily composed of differentiated glandular structures positive for androgen receptor (AR) and prostate-specific antigen (PSA); however, undifferentiated or poorly differentiated cells are largely negative for PSA and AR expression. Also, a distinct cell subpopulation, i.e., PSA+ AR+, PSA+ AR-, PSA- AR+, and PSA- AR-, has been found to be well documented [7].

4.1.1 Features of Cancer Stem Cells

Characterization and identification of human CSCs are based on numerous characteristics: capability to (a) differentiate, (b) self-renew, and (c) form secondary or tertiary tumors when these CSCs are transferred to immunodeficient rodent [8]. Figure 4.1 represents the different properties of cancer stem cells. Like normal cells, tumors are made up of diverse populations that are dissimilar in relation to phenotypic and morphological profiles that also include differentiation and proliferation capabilities [9]. Inside the tumor, the development of every cell differs



Fig. 4.1 Cancer stem cells (CSCs) properties. CSCs (red) can dedifferentiate and selfrenew within tumours to form CSCs pool again and non-tumorigenic cancer cells (blue) have restricted proliferative ability. With the tumour growth, CSCs can either have reduced benign growth or dispersed malignancies and are chemotherapy resistant that leads to cancer relapse



Fig. 4.2 The figure depicts developmental differences between luminal cells and cancer stem cells. Tissue stem cells undergo regular differentiation into luminal cells. Stem cells are transformed into cancer stem cells for further self-renewal to evade various tumor suppressor pathways. Mutations in various genes leads to irregular characteristics. The cells thereafter undergo de-differentiation and enter a state of rapid division

independently; for example, some cells are categorized into the cycling or non-cycling tumor cells, and some cells may be in dormant state [10]. Therefore, the targeting of specific CSCs becomes a challenging task due to the diversity of tumor heterogeneity that urges to look for exclusive lung markers that can recognize the CSC population only in lung cancers.

Lung cancer is the most complicated type of cancer due to the production of different histological and genotypic tumors within the same tissue by lung CSCs which needs to be explored further. The proposed origin of CSCs of lung cancer includes several places like from airway stem cells, basal/mucous secretary bronchial progenitor cells, neuroendocrine progenitor cells, and bronchiole alveolar progenitor cells, which consequently resulted into the formation of region-specific lung cancers or cancer subtypes having specific CSCs [11].

Similarly, PCa displays heterogeneity similar to other types of cancer. Out of the different cell types, a little cell population is critical in progression and PCa formation, and therefore, it results in the development of the heterogeneous PCa cell mass. This distinctive population of cell is defined as PCa stem cells (PCSCs). Normal stem cells that are found in the basal layer of prostate gland give rise to prostate cancer stem cells as shown in Fig. 4.2. In the usual condition, the second population of cells is generated by the stem cells which then differentiate into mature secretory cells [12]. In previous literature, it has been suggested that during the

process of carcinogenesis, the normal stem cells go through mutations to form metastasis—initiating cancer stem cells and highly tumorigenic cells [13]. However, out of the number of basal subtype cells found in the prostate, determining which basal subtype cell contains the chief stem cell niche in the prostate of an adult is still elusive. A study by Goldstein et al. [14] reported that a certain panel of specific markers functionally discriminate between the two diverse subpopulations of basal cells. The elevated levels of Trop2 were expressed only in basal cells, and they possessed stem cell type features in the human and murine prostate. The expression of CD133 (also known as Prominin-1) is the characteristic of stem-cell populations in the adult human prostate [15]. Similarly, Wang et al. identified a small subset of luminal cells that survive castration (thus called CARNs for castration-resistant Nkx3.1-expressing cells), which possess self-renewal properties in vivo and redevelop a prostate in renal grafts [16].

In the current scenario, the debate is: which subpopulation of the cells represents the real PCa cell of origin? Approximately 95% of histopathology data reveals that untreated primary PCa (i.e., adenocarcinoma) is confined to luminal AR and PSA expressing cells predominantly and basal-like cells are rare [4]. So normal prostate luminal cells may serve as a driving force for oncogenic transformation for PCa. Shen's group demonstrated that PTEN-deleted prostate cells in a mouse model give rise to high-quality PIN and carcinoma after castration [16]. Pooled together, these studies indicate that prostate luminal cells are the cells of origin for PCa. Interestingly, a current study showed that fibroblast cells associated with cancer expressing integrin $\alpha 2\beta 1$ derived from prostate basal cells of human regenerate tumor grafts [17]. All these evidences suggest that both human and mouse prostate basal cells can also serve as cells of origin for PCa. Figure 4.2 depicts the generation of prostate cancer stem cells.

4.1.2 Origin and Biology of CSC

Many theories have been suggested to elucidate the origin and exact function of CSCs in cancer including horizontal gene transfer, cell fusion, cell microenvironment and mutations, autoreactive T-cells, etc. [18].

4.1.2.1 Cell Fusion Theory

Cell fusion theory describes that the CSCs are formed by the fusion between tumor cell and bone marrow-derived cells (BMDC). These BMDCs arise from tissue distress with chronic inflammation. These consequential hybrid cells generate cells which are radiotherapy resistant and with upgraded cell repair mechanisms. This concept was supported by outcomes of an animal model study in vivo [19].

4.1.2.2 Horizontal Gene Transfer (HGT) Theory

HGT theory revolves around the fact that DNA outside the cell is capable of flowing in the eukaryotes until it finds its appropriate recipient cell. CSCs can add more genetic alterations that powered up the cancer through environmental carcinogens, inheritance, errors in DNA replication, and resistance through HGT [20].

4.1.2.3 Cell Microenvironment

Cell microenvironment comprises the extracellular matrix (ECM), neighboring cells, hormones, and varied forces due to the movement of the host that affect the cell environments and performance directly or indirectly [21]. The control on microenvironment of stem cells plays an important role in keeping the agility of the cell. Any faults in this control could be responsible for dedifferentiation of stem cells, thus causing cancer. According to some reports, inflammatory microenvironments help in developing precancerous lesion growth and tumorigenesis. Microenvironments of tumor hold such factors that can indirectly assist the tumor heterogeneity and chemotherapy resistance [22].

4.1.2.4 Autoreactive T-Cells

Autoreactive T-Cells may develop CSCs if these T-cells manage to evade the weak immune system of host [23]. This concept gives us new insights in cancer treatment where we should concentrate on augmenting the immune system instead of diminishing it.

4.2 Cancer Stem Cells in Lung Cancer

The role of CSC in lung biology is still less studied; some of the CSC markers related with resistance to anticancer therapies have been studied, which include CD133, aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 (ALDH1), CD44, CD117, CD87, and side population (Hoechst negative). The variability of CSC phenotype and relapse of markers on cell surface due to intertumoral heterogeneity and plasticity becomes a great obstacle in identification of novel lung CSC markers.

4.2.1 Different Methods of Identification of CSCs

The isolation and identification of CSCs can be done by using functional experiment like side population (SP) assay and by CSC surface marker expression.

4.2.2 Side Population (SP) Assay

In SP analysis, the cells are distinguished on the basis of cellular differential potential to outpour a DNA-binding dye (fluorescent Hoechst) through the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters [24]. The SP cells taken from cell lines of lung cancer exhibit boosted invasive ability compared to the non-SP cells, are more tumorigenic, show high expression of ABCG2 and other ABC transporters, are

resistant to multiple chemotherapeutic drugs, and present the self-renewal feature with the capability to produce floating spheres with high proliferative potential [25].

4.2.3 Surface Marker Expression

Only limited lung CSC markers have been authenticated till now, although extensive studies have reported identification of numerous CSCs that vary from other cells in the tumor. Most CSCs exhibit various markers at the same time, and using only one marker to define particular CSC is not promising as seen in Table 4.1.

4.2.3.1 CD133

CD133 is a glycoprotein of cell surface and is made up of two large glycosylated extracellular loops and five transmembrane domains. It is considered an important stem cell marker of nervous system and the hematopoietic system. CD133+ cells showed better capability of drug resistance, tumor initiation, and self-renewal. In other study by Chen et al., it was established that in CD133+ cells derived from lung cancer, expression of Oct-4 maintained the cancer stem-like features. Oct-4 manifestations are generally seen in pluripotent and totipotent stem cells of pre-gastrulation embryos. It signifies that Oct-4 shows a critical role in keeping cancer stem-like and chemo, radioresistant features in CD133+ cells derived from lung cancer [26].

4.2.3.2 CD90

GPI-anchored glycoprotein CD90 (Thy-1) expression is primarily seen in leukocytes and also in the cell-matrix and cell-cell connections. In one experimental study by Yan et al., CD90 was used as a marker for probing the lung CSCs and established sturdier proliferation and self-renewal capabilities and high level of expression in cell lines [27].

Markers	Tumour
CD133 (prominin-1)	Lung, colon and brain
CD133+ ESA	Lung
CD44 (membrane-bound glycoprotein)	Lung
Aldehyde dehydrogenases	Lung, liver, leukemia, breast, pancreas and colon cancers
CD90	Lung
CD87(uPAR)	Lung
Side population	Lung
CD166+ EpCAM+ and CD166+ CD44+	Lung

Table 4.1 List of markers used for identification of CSC in various tumour

4.2.3.3 CD44

CD44 is another membrane-bound glycoprotein and is a CSC marker initially suggested for colorectal cancer that plays imperative roles in cell adhesion, modulation of cell-matrix interaction and cell migration and shows association with various signaling pathways that explain its involvement in cancer initiation and enhancement [28, 29]. Furthermore, it has been stated that CD44 augments cancer cell invasiveness and multidrug resistance. It is also found that CD44+ functions like a tumor initiator marker in cells of lung cancer when examined both in vivo and in vitro [30].

4.2.3.4 CD166

CD166 is a CSC marker for lung cancer in addition to other solid tumor in which this marker is extensively studied, but CD166 expression and its role in lung cancer are not much studied. One comprehensive study by Zhang et al. showed the function of CD166 as a marker in lung CSCs and its potential for the determination of CSCs in NSCLC [31]. CD166 shows high self-renewal potential and high in vivo tumor-initiating capability as compared to CD44+ and CD133+ isolated from the same cells. Therefore, the marker CD166 is contemplated as the sturdiest CSC marker in determination of lung cancer.

4.3 What Is Stem Cell Niche?

Several studies suggest the presence of microenvironments that are capable of supporting CSCs known as the CSC niche. This tumor niche generates the signals that are responsible for survival, self-renewal, ability to invade tissues, and the metastasis of CSCs. Interestingly, attenuated total reflection-Fourier transform infrared (ATR-FTIR) spectroscopy analysis by Günnur Güler et al. demonstrated that the lipid composition and dynamics of prostate CSCs are different as compared to other cell types such as differences in their major cellular macromolecules, including protein content and abundance of nucleic acids (DNA/RNA), altered nucleic acid conformation, and carbohydrate composition [32]. Collins et al. [33] identified prostate CSCs derived from primary human PCa such as CD44^{+/} $\alpha_2\beta_1^{hi}$ CD133+. Reports also suggest that PCSCs that originated from primary human PCa express the cancer resistance protein ABCG2 of breast. PCSCs have also been spotted in cell lines of PCa with the help of cell surface markers from epithelial cells of immortalized human prostate and xenograft tumors and demonstrated upregulations in stemness genes, including OCT3/4, BMI1, and β -catenin.

A recent study by Mateo et al. [34] found out that the invasiveness of a cancer stem cell is determined by a subpopulation of non-CSC resulting in a significant increase in tumorigenicity and metastasis of cancer stem cells. Thus, the subpopulations of cancer cell can start networking with other normal cells which are existing in the environment of tumor and assisting with them for benefits.

4.3.1 Signal Transduction Guided Lung Cancer Stem Cell Activity

Hedgehog pathway (HH), Notch pathway, and Wnt pathway that control differentiation and proliferation during the process of embryogenesis are also related with the CSC self-renewal.

4.3.1.1 Hedgehog (HH) Pathway

The Hedgehog (HH) signaling pathway helps in controlling homeostasis, morphogenesis, and repair of stem cells in the human body. In one study, it was found that this pathway was triggered in both small cell lung cancer and non-small cell lung cancer [2]. HH pathway can intensify the chemo-resistance, thus triggering chemotherapy breakdowns in lung cancers. HH pathway with continuous accumulation of mutations gives way in progression and activation of tumorigenic path and CSC ultimately commanding the development of cancer [35]. The three ligands that take part in HH pathway are Sonic Hedgehog (SHH), Indian Hedgehog (IHH), and Desert Hedgehog (DHH) that have numerous temporal and spatial manifestation levels along with their role as mitogens and stimulate differentiation and cell division [36]. The key ligand receptor in this pathway is the Patched receptor that is expressed around nearby origin place of the HH signals and represses the action of other transmembrane protein known as Smoothened (Smo) when HH signals are not present there [37]. On interaction with any of the three ligands to the Patched receptor, accumulation of Smo occurs that stimulates the GLI family transcriptional factors which will then go inside the nucleus and finally trigger the HH target genes as represented in Fig. 4.3.

4.3.1.2 Wnt Signaling Pathway

The pathway of Wnt signaling is very complicated in mammalian cells in which the ligands of Wnt bind to a receptor complex on a cell surface triggering the Dishevelled family protein (Dsh) phosphorylation. This, in turn, stimulates GSK-3 or glycogen synthase kinase 3 and CK1 or casein kinase 1, which helps in deprivation and buildup of β -catenin molecules in the cytoplasm from where a certain amount of β -catenin is capable of moving inside the nucleus and starts interacting with the transcription factor/lymphoid enhancer-binding factor 1 (TCF/LEF) family transcription factors to stimulate the expression of specific gene. It is demonstrated in some earlier reports that Wnt1 and Wnt2 are overexpressed in the primary tumors and NSCLC cell lines [38].

4.3.1.3 Notch Signaling Pathway

An evolutionarily conserved Notch signaling pathway plays distinct roles in normal tissue development and homeostasis. This pathway includes four receptors (Notch1–4) and five ligands, JAG1, JAG2, DLL1, DLL3, and DLL4 in humans. Several evidences suggested the Notch pathway is linked to cancer in some way which includes that triggering mutations in Notch1 can cause T-cell leukemia and various factors involved in this pathway are related to the advancement and metastasis of solid tumors [39].



Fig. 4.3 Hedgehog (Hh) signalling pathway. (a) Without ligand, patch receptor inhibits SMO accumulation and allows the phosphorylation of GLI2 and GLI3 by PKA, CK1 and GSK3 β that generates the binding site for E3 ubiquitin ligase β -TrCP and finally generates the repressor form (GLI_{3/2}^R) which go inside the nucleus and starts inhibiting the transcription of HH target genes and (b) With ligand, patch receptor relives the SMO repression and allows the accumulation of GLIFL (full length form) and activation of signalling cascade and GLIA (active form) inside the nucleus induce transcription of HH target genes

4.3.2 Signal Transduction Guided PCSC Activity

Evidences of signal transduction pathways involved in regulation of PCSC activity are emerging. For example, Nanog which is a homeodomain transcription factor is vital for PCSC activity and tumorigenicity. Related studies reveal that miR-34a negatively regulates CD44+ and tumorigenic and metastatic PCSCs [40]. PCSC stemness might also be controlled by the NF- κ B and PTEN/PI3K/AKT pathways [41]. Thus, these regulators of PCSCs reported earlier may all become remedial targets or tools for the treatment of PCa, especially in the perspective of castrateresistant prostate cancer (CRPC).

4.3.2.1 Metabolic Reprogramming of PCSC

Emerging evidence on PCa reveals that metabolic reprogramming in PCa stem cells is one of the hallmarks of PCa progression. In prostate tumors, cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) are responsible for inducing reprogramming of common metabolism in stroma and tumor cells. This all comprises a shift in metabolism of CAFs toward glycolysis with accelerated manifestation of glucose transporter GLUT1 along with added secretion and production of lactic acid. In turn, CAF-generated lactate is involved in stimulating biogenesis in mitochondria and aerobic metabolism in PCa cells, also known as the reverse Warburg effect, and is related with a decline in expression levels of GLUT1 transporter and stimulation of lactate upload [42]. Various evidences propose that CAFs induce EMT and stemness in PCa through the upregulation of inflammation gene signature in PCSCs, and chronic inflammation plays a key role in the development of aggressive PCa [43].

4.3.2.2 Hallmarks of PCSC Metabolism

Reprogramming of cellular energy metabolism is vital for tumor initiation, progression, and resistance to therapy. Compared to healthy epithelial cells, PCa cells have a high level of citrate oxidation followed by oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), controlled by AR signaling [44, 45]. In order to meet high energetic demands, rapidly proliferating tumor cells also follow Warburg effect. Moreover, mutations in mitochondrial DNA and tumor suppressor genes like PTEN and TP53 result in a metabolic shift from OXPHOS to aerobic glycolysis [46]. This metabolic reprogramming and maintenance of embryonic stem cells and PCSCs require enhanced MYC expression [47]. Recent findings shed light on the fact that targeting MYC has been seen to inhibit PCSC maintenance and tumorigenicity [48]. Figure 4.4 represents the hallmarks of PCSC metabolism.



Fig. 4.4 Detailed description of how reprogramming of cellular energy metabolism play crucial role in tumor initiation and progression. Citrate oxidation and AR signaling regulates oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria. Tumor cells exhibit Warburg effect to, promote cell proliferation. Moreover, mutations in mitochondrial DNA and tumor suppressor genes like PTEN and TP53 causes metabolic shift, further enhancing tumor progression. MYC over-expression promotes glucose transporter GLUT1, promoting production of Lactate and also controls Glutamine metabolism produces malate, and converts to pyruvate and further to lactate

4.3.2.3 PCSC and Tumor Microenvironment

Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a phenomenon of interchanging from the characteristics of epithelial cell to mesenchymal phenotype which is more migratory that is related with thrashing of the epithelial markers (e.g., E-cadherin) and addition of mesenchymal signatures (e.g., vimentin, fibronectin, N-cadherin). EMT is a crucial process for embryogenesis and wound healing; it is newly documented as one of the drivers of metastases and tumor progression [49]. Increasing evidences corroborate that EMT plays a crucial role in the PCSC regulation, metastatic ability, and therapy resistance of PCa cells [50].

4.3.2.4 Prostate Cancer Bone Metastasis

Most of the sufferers of advanced PCa develop bone metastases. The development of bone metastases occurs when the bone microenvironment releases a wide range of cytokines and growth factors that bind to the prostate tumor cell receptors and are responsible for regulating their growth and survival [51]. In turn, bone PCa cells can generate pro-osteolytic factors like IL-1, IL-6, parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP), and PSA that activate the osteoclast formation and stimulate bone matrix resorption [52]. Metastasis is held accountable for more than 90% of cancer-associated mortality and continues to be a great deal in cancer research. Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) and chemokine receptor (CXCR4) directs PCa metastasis to the bone. In hTERT-immortalized human prostate CD133+ epithelial cells, cells displayed stemness accompanied by the increase in expression of CXCR4.

Recent pieces of evidence pooled together demonstrate the CSC's role in general and specifically PCSCs as "seeds" of metastasis, in part via the SDF-1/CXCR4 axis. Interestingly, elevated levels of SDF-1 are observed in bone marrow, liver, lung, and lymph nodes which are the common organs of metastasis.

4.3.2.5 Role of PCSCs in Castrate-Resistant Prostate Cancer (CRPC)

CRPC represents one of the major clinical challenges, but the underlying mechanism of its origin remains elusive. PCSCs may throw some light on CRPC development. The emergence of CRPC mainly involves AR and AR signaling and increased AR-independent and survival pathways [53]. PCa stem cells are resistant to radio-therapy, chemotherapy, and hormonotherapy. Therefore, the cancer reoccurrence may be due to killing of preferential and more differentiated cells while leaving the undifferentiated cancer stem cells. Various mechanisms responsible for the CRPC development have been explained; many of them are centered on the regulation of AR signaling. Thus, directing toward the dysregulation of AR signaling in PCa cells has been among the chief interests in PCa research.

The main reason behind cell survival post androgen deprivation therapy but eventually leading to tumor relapse is elusive as well as intriguing. Tumor relapse along with metastatic potential has been associated with epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) phenotype. Furthermore, EMT phenotype is associated with application of androgen deprivation therapy [54].

The discovery of a more effective and promising therapy for advanced PCa capable of targeting CSCs is the need of the hour. Interestingly, metformin, a

common orally administered drug used in the treatment of type 2 diabetes, has been established to possess anticancer effects as well. Metformin acts by reducing the production of ATP in the mitochondria by oxidative phosphorylation, which is the major source of in CSC energy Liu et al. [48].

4.4 Challenges and Perspectives

The CSC idea has been drawing a lot of interest, and CSCs have been examined in different tumor systems, including PCa and lung cancer. One of the strategies in increasing the cancer therapeutics is to overcome the lung CSCs as it is related to poor diagnosis. The CSC heterogeneity has now become a great challenge in recognizing conspicuous CSC subpopulation in lung as it comprises complex structure with various morphologies that function differently and are responsible in balancing the fluid in lung, in facilitating gas exchange, in detoxifying foreign materials, and stimulation of inflammatory responses due to damage [55]. Furthermore, we cannot always rely on available surface markers to identify CSCs because some markers may not be precise in affecting the CSC, and this is revealed in one study in which single marker of CD133+ and CD133- displayed similar CSC features like self-renewal, differentiation, colony formation, and invasion. In addition, heterogeneity of the cells and involvement of various genomic pathways also cause a challenge in targeting lung CSCs. Therefore, our present exploration is in struggling phase in sighting selective approach to constrain the CSCs and their characteristics because CSCs share a comparable feature with the normal stem cells, where targeting the CSCs might also influence the normal stem cells that can be noxious to human health.

Similarly, a thorough understanding of the functional and phenotypic properties along with the PCSC molecular regulators would help us to better apprehend the mechanisms and etiology responsible for the development of PCa. Majority of the evidences of PCSCs that have been reported so far are a result of studies on xenograft models, long-term cultured cell lines, or murine PCa models. For instance, in various well-characterized xenograft models, specific PCa cell subpopulations have been stated that are augmented in the activity of PCSC including PSA-/lo, CD44 + $\alpha 2\beta 1$ +, and CD44+ cells. Till now, less reports are available on whether different patient's tumors may have distinct PCSCs and whether the human primary PCa also ports tumorigenic SC-like cancer cells. In PCa treatment, CRPC signifies one of the major challenging stages. Current studies have provided evidences that some subpopulations of PCSC may express low levels of AR and intrinsically be resistant to castration, although PCSCs that are castration resistant have not yet been revealed in samples of primary human PCa. The expansion of such cells may promote development of CRPC that is quite feasible. Consequently, these PCa cells that are castration resistant may signify potential cellular targets for development of novel drug. To detect castration-resistant PCSCs in patient tumors at different clinical stages, there is a need for scientific research with improved tumor-reconstitution

protocols and model systems, and the accomplishment of which will aid the future therapeutic development and benefit the patients with PCa.

4.5 Conclusions

Due to chemodrug resistance and relapse of cancer, it becomes very complicated to treat lung cancer with an ease. Therefore, it is a crucial requisite to know the basics of CSC development and maintenance so that appropriate step can be taken against cancer progression, tumorigenicity, and chemotherapeutic resistance before it would be too late. Consequently, CSCs are now becoming an important clinical target in cancer therapeutics in modern time. Although, it is not an easy assignment to target CSCs and get rid of any type of cancers forever. We have to bear in mind the fact that every type of tumor involves distinct types of stem cell which is controlled by various molecular based pathways, and it is much more complicated in case of lung cancer due to the existence of differences in the manifestations of the markers in the lung cancer subtypes. Therefore, this chapter focusses on understanding the origin, CSC properties, markers of lung CSC, role of signaling pathways, and the novel therapeuticapproaches which all conclude that a detailed knowledge of basics in cancer biology and gene expression of these stem cells is needed with respect to targeted therapy in combination with conventional therapy, ultimately boost the efficacy.

Similarly, recent pieces of evidence support a better understanding of the role of PCa stem cells in tumorigenesis. Although the stem cell therapy has unraveled mysteries of cancer cell heterogeneity within tumor mass, a thorough knowledge of the properties and characteristics of PCa cells is warranted to provide new insights into the origin of PCa. However, there still is an urgent requirement for the identification of exclusive markers for cancer stem cell in order to distinguish the normal stem cells from the cancer stem cells. But the most crucial requirement in the forthcoming years would be the development of novel and efficient stem cell-directed drugs and reduction of the threat of relapse.

References

- 1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A (2016) Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin 66(1):7-30
- 2. Zakaria N, Satar NA, Halim A, Hanis N, Ngalim SH, Yusoff NM, Lin J, Yahaya BH (2017) Targeting lung cancer stem cells: research and clinical impacts. Front Oncol 7:80
- 3. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A (2015) Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin 65(1):5–29
- Shen MM, Abate-Shen C (2010) Molecular genetics of prostate cancer: new prospects for old challenges. Genes Dev 24(18):1967–2000
- 5. Isaacs JT, Coffey DS (1989) Etiology and disease process of benign prostatic hyperplasia. Prostate Suppl 2:33–50
- 6. Ross JS (2007) The androgen receptor in prostate cancer: therapy target in search of an integrated diagnostic test. Adv Anat Pathol 14(5):353–357
- 7. Qin J, Liu X, Laffin B, Chen X, Choy G, Jeter CR, Calhoun-Davis T, Li H, Palapattu GS, Pang S, Lin K, Huang J, Ivanov I, Li W, Suraneni MV, Tang DG (2012) The PSA(-/lo)

prostate cancer cell population harbors self-renewing long-term tumor-propagating cells that resist castration. Cell Stem Cell 10(5):556–569

- Koren E, Fuchs Y (2016) The bad seed: Cancer stem cells in tumor development and resistance. Drug Resist Updat 28:1–12
- 9. Heppner GH, Miller BE (1983) Tumor heterogeneity: biological implications and therapeutic consequences. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2(1):5–23
- Dethlefsen L (1980) The growth dynamics of murine mammary tumor cells in situ. In: Cell biology of breast cancer. Academic, New York, pp 145–160
- Giangreco A, Groot KR, Janes SM (2007) Lung cancer and lung stem cells: strange bedfellows? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 175(6):547–553
- Lee DK, Liu Y, Liao L, Wang F, Xu J (2014) The prostate basal cell (BC) heterogeneity and the p63-positive BC differentiation spectrum in mice. Int J Biol Sci 10(9):1007–1017
- Baccelli I, Trumpp A (2012) The evolving concept of cancer and metastasis stem cells. J Cell Biol 198(3):281–293
- Goldstein AS, Lawson DA, Cheng D, Sun W, Garraway IP, Witte ON (2008) Trop2 identifies a subpopulation of murine and human prostate basal cells with stem cell characteristics. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(52):20882–20887
- 15. Trerotola M, Rathore S, Goel HL, Li J, Alberti S, Piantelli M, Adams D, Jiang Z, Languino LR (2010) CD133, Trop-2 and alpha2beta1 integrin surface receptors as markers of putative human prostate cancer stem cells. Am J Transl Res 2(2):135–144
- Wang X, Kruithof-de Julio M, Economides KD, Walker D, Yu H, Halili MV, Hu YP, Price SM, Abate-Shen C, Shen MM (2009) A luminal epithelial stem cell that is a cell of origin for prostate cancer. Nature 461(7263):495–500
- Taylor RA, Toivanen R, Frydenberg M, Pedersen J, Harewood L, Australian Prostate Cancer Bioresource, Collins AT, Maitland NJ, Risbridger GP (2012) Human epithelial basal cells are cells of origin of prostate cancer, independent of CD133 status. Stem Cells 30(6):1087–1096
- 18. Bu Y, Cao D (2012) The origin of cancer stem cells. Front Biosci (Schol Ed) 4:819-830
- Dittmar T, Nagler C, Niggemann B, Zanker K (2013) The dark side of stem cells: triggering cancer progression by cell fusion. Curr Mol Med 13(5):735–750
- Tomasetti C, Li L, Vogelstein B (2017) Stem cell divisions, somatic mutations, cancer etiology, and cancer prevention. Science 355(6331):1330–1334
- Barthes J, Özçelik H, Hindié M, Ndreu-Halili A, Hasan A, Vrana NE (2014) Cell microenvironment engineering and monitoring for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: the recent advances. Biomed Res Int 2014:921905
- Prasetyanti PR, Medema JP (2017) Intra-tumor heterogeneity from a cancer stem cell perspective. Mol Cancer 16(1):41
- Grandics P (2006) The cancer stem cell: evidence for its origin as an injured autoreactive T cell. Mol Cancer 5(1):6
- 24. Golebiewska A, Brons NH, Bjerkvig R, Niclou SP (2011) Critical appraisal of the side population assay in stem cell and cancer stem cell research. Cell Stem Cell 8(2):136–147
- 25. Ho MM, Ng AV, Lam S, Hung JY (2007) Side population in human lung cancer cell lines and tumors is enriched with stem-like cancer cells. Cancer Res 67(10):4827–4833
- Chen Y-C, Hsu H-S, Chen Y-W, Tsai T-H, How C-K, Wang C-Y, Hung S-C, Chang Y-L, Tsai M-L, Lee Y-Y (2008) Oct-4 expression maintained cancer stem-like properties in lung cancerderived CD133-positive cells. PLoS One 3(7):e2637
- Yan X, Luo H, Zhou X, Zhu B, Wang Y, Bian X (2013) Identification of CD90 as a marker for lung cancer stem cells in A549 and H446 cell lines. Oncol Rep 30(6):2733–2740
- Schlagenhauff B, Stroebel W, Ellwanger U, Meier F, Zimmermann C, Breuninger H, Rassner G, Garbe C (1997) Metastatic melanoma of unknown primary origin shows prognostic similarities to regional metastatic melanoma: recommendations for initial staging examinations. Cancer 80(1):60–65

- 29. Zeilstra J, Joosten SP, Dokter M, Verwiel E, Spaargaren M, Pals ST (2008) Deletion of the WNT target and cancer stem cell marker CD44 in Apc (Min/+) mice attenuates intestinal tumorigenesis. Cancer Res 68(10):3655–3661
- 30. Leung EL-H, Fiscus RR, Tung JW, Tin VP-C, Cheng LC, Sihoe AD-L, Fink LM, Ma Y, Wong MP (2010) Non-small cell lung cancer cells expressing CD44 are enriched for stem cell-like properties. PLoS One 5(11):e14062
- 31. Zhang WC, Shyh-Chang N, Yang H, Rai A, Umashankar S, Ma S, Soh BS, Sun LL, Tai BC, Nga ME (2012) Glycine decarboxylase activity drives non-small cell lung cancer tumorinitiating cells and tumorigenesis. Cell 148(1–2):259–272
- 32. Guler G, Guven U, Oktem G (2019) Characterization of CD133(+)/CD44(+) human prostate cancer stem cells with ATR-FTIR spectroscopy. Analyst 144(6):2138–2149
- Collins AT, Berry PA, Hyde C, Stower MJ, Maitland NJ (2005) Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. Cancer research 65(23):10946–10951
- 34. Mateo F, Meca-Cortes O, Celia-Terrassa T, Fernandez Y, Abasolo I, Sanchez-Cid L, Bermudo R, Sagasta A, Rodriguez-Carunchio L, Pons M, Canovas V, Marin-Aguilera M, Mengual L, Alcaraz A, Schwartz S Jr, Mellado B, Aguilera KY, Brekken R, Fernandez PL, Paciucci R, Thomson TM (2014) SPARC mediates metastatic cooperation between CSC and non-CSC prostate cancer cell subpopulations. Mol Cancer 13:237
- 35. Abe Y, Tanaka N (2016) The hedgehog signaling networks in lung cancer: the mechanisms and roles in tumor progression and implications for cancer therapy. Biomed Res Int 2016:7969286
- 36. Ng JM, Curran T (2011) The Hedgehog's tale: developing strategies for targeting cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 11(7):493–501
- Quijada L, Callejo A, Torroja C, Guerrero I (2007) The patched receptor: switching on/off the Hedgehog signaling pathway. In: Hedgehog-Gli signalling human diseases. Landes Bioscience, Austin, TX, p 23
- He B, Barg RN, You L, Xu Z, Reguart N, Mikami I, Batra S, Rosell R, Jablons DM (2005) Wnt signaling in stem cells and non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 7(1):54–60
- Alketbi A, Attoub S (2015) Notch signaling in cancer: rationale and strategies for targeting. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 15(5):364–374
- 40. Liu C, Kelnar K, Liu B, Chen X, Calhoun-Davis T, Li H, Patrawala L, Yan H, Jeter C, Honorio S, Wiggins JF, Bader AG, Fagin R, Brown D, Tang DG (2011) The microRNA miR-34a inhibits prostate cancer stem cells and metastasis by directly repressing CD44. Nat Med 17(2):211–215
- 41. Rajasekhar VK, Studer L, Gerald W, Socci ND, Scher HI (2011) Tumour-initiating stem-like cells in human prostate cancer exhibit increased NF-kappaB signalling. Nat Commun 2:162
- 42. Martinez-Outschoorn UE, Balliet RM, Rivadeneira DB, Chiavarina B, Pavlides S, Wang C, Whitaker-Menezes D, Daumer KM, Lin Z, Witkiewicz AK, Flomenberg N, Howell A, Pestell RG, Knudsen ES, Sotgia F, Lisanti MP (2010) Oxidative stress in cancer associated fibroblasts drives tumor-stroma co-evolution: a new paradigm for understanding tumor metabolism, the field effect and genomic instability in cancer cells. Cell Cycle 9(16):3256–3276
- 43. Birnie R, Bryce SD, Roome C, Dussupt V, Droop A, Lang SH, Berry PA, Hyde CF, Lewis JL, Stower MJ, Maitland NJ, Collins AT (2008) Gene expression profiling of human prostate cancer stem cells reveals a pro-inflammatory phenotype and the importance of extracellular matrix interactions. Genome Biol 9(5):R83
- 44. Pertega-Gomes N, Felisbino S, Massie CE, Vizcaino JR, Coelho R, Sandi C, Simoes-Sousa S, Jurmeister S, Ramos-Montoya A, Asim M, Tran M, Oliveira E, Lobo da Cunha A, Maximo V, Baltazar F, Neal DE, Fryer LG (2015) A glycolytic phenotype is associated with prostate cancer progression and aggressiveness: a role for monocarboxylate transporters as metabolic targets for therapy. J Pathol 236(4):517–530
- 45. Tennakoon JB, Shi Y, Han JJ, Tsouko E, White MA, Burns AR, Zhang A, Xia X, Ilkayeva OR, Xin L, Ittmann MM, Rick FG, Schally AV, Frigo DE (2014) Androgens regulate prostate cancer cell growth via an AMPK-PGC-1alpha-mediated metabolic switch. Oncogene 33 (45):5251–5261

- 46. Hopkins JF, Sabelnykova VY, Weischenfeldt J, Simon R, Aguiar JA, Alkallas R, Heisler LE, Zhang J, Watson JD, Chua MLK, Fraser M, Favero F, Lawerenz C, Plass C, Sauter G, McPherson JD, van der Kwast T, Korbel J, Schlomm T, Bristow RG, Boutros PC (2017) Mitochondrial mutations drive prostate cancer aggression. Nat Commun 8(1):656
- Wong DJ, Liu H, Ridky TW, Cassarino D, Segal E, Chang HY (2008) Module map of stem cell genes guides creation of epithelial cancer stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2(4):333–344
- 48. Liu R, Liu C, Zhang D, Liu B, Chen X, Rycaj K, Jeter C, Calhoun-Davis T, Li Y, Yang T, Wang J, Tang DG (2016) miR-199a-3p targets stemness-related and mitogenic signaling pathways to suppress the expansion and tumorigenic capabilities of prostate cancer stem cells. Oncotarget 7(35):56628–56642
- 49. Nieto MA, Huang RY, Jackson RA, Thiery JP (2016) Emt: 2016. Cell 166(1):21-45
- 50. Montanari M, Rossetti S, Cavaliere C, D'Aniello C, Malzone MG, Vanacore D, Di Franco R, La Mantia E, Iovane G, Piscitelli R, Muscariello R, Berretta M, Perdona S, Muto P, Botti G, Bianchi AAM, Veneziani BM, Facchini G (2017) Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in prostate cancer: an overview. Oncotarget 8(21):35376–35389
- Vela I, Gregory L, Gardiner EM, Clements JA, Nicol DL (2007) Bone and prostate cancer cell interactions in metastatic prostate cancer. BJU Int 99(4):735–742
- Logothetis CJ, Lin SH (2005) Osteoblasts in prostate cancer metastasis to bone. Nat Rev Cancer 5(1):21–28
- Debes JD, Tindall DJ (2004) Mechanisms of androgen-refractory prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 351(15):1488–1490
- 54. Sun Y, Wang BE, Leong KG, Yue P, Li L, Jhunjhunwala S, Chen D, Seo K, Modrusan Z, Gao WQ, Settleman J, Johnson L (2012) Androgen deprivation causes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in the prostate: implications for androgen-deprivation therapy. Cancer Res 72 (2):527–536
- Mercer BA, Lemaître V, Powell CA, D'Armiento J (2006) The epithelial cell in lung health and emphysema pathogenesis. Curr Resp Med Rev 2(2):101–142



A Differential Role of miRNAs in Regulation of Breast Cancer Stem Cells

Shreetama Bandyopadhayaya and Chandi C. Mandal

Abstract

Breast cancer is one of the most frequently occurring cancers in women worldwide. Enormous evidences emphasized that tumorigenesis is steered by a subpopulation of tumor cells known as cancer stem cells (CSCs). These CSCs play a pivotal role in cancer cell growth and metastasis. They show resistance to therapies and are also responsible for tumor recurrence. Substantial studies revealed a crucial role of microRNAs (miRNAs) in modulation of tumorigenic potential. This chapter emphasizes mainly on those miRNAs which modulate the stemness property of breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs). miRNAs are a class small non-coding single-stranded RNAs (~20-24 nucleotides) which usually bind to 3'UTR of target mRNAs. This binding eventually inhibits protein synthesis by repressing translation and/or decaying the target mRNAs. This chapter elaborately discusses the various miRNAs (e.g., miR-200c, miR-34c, miR-214, miR-21, etc.) which not only act as either oncomirs or tumor suppressors but also regulate stemness property along with epithelial-mesenchymal transition, invasion, and metastasis. This study also enlightens the involvement of various crucial signalling pathways (e.g., Notch, Wnt, and PI3K-Akt) in miRNAmediated regulation of BCSCs. Thus, expression profile of a specific miRNA or a set of specific miRNAs could be used as a diagnosis and/or prognosis marker for breast cancer. Moreover, targeting these specific miRNAs (e.g., miR-200c, miR-34c, miR-21, etc.) either by antagomir or mimic miRNA seems to be a promising therapeutic strategy for breast cancer treatment.

Keywords

miRNA · Breast cancer · Breast cancer stem cells · Stemness · Therapeutics

S. Bandyopadhayaya \cdot C. C. Mandal (\boxtimes)

Department of Biochemistry, Central University of Rajasthan, Ajmer, Rajasthan, India

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_5

5.1 Introduction

Tumors are heterogeneous in nature, and they exhibit stem cell-like properties. The ability of self-renewal is a hallmark of stem cells. The stem cells divide asymmetrically, and thus, out of two of the daughter stem cells, only one becomes capable of differentiation. There are numerous factors which govern these complex mechanisms including various transcription factors, epigenetic alterations, and other associated hormones. Stem cells are broadly classified into two types: the embryonic stem cells (ESCs), which are present in the early onset of development, and the somatic or adult stem cells, which persist all throughout. The ESCs are pluripotent in nature, thereby enabling the cells to differentiate into all three germ layers. On the other hand, the somatic stem cells are multipotent in nature and have the capability to divide into specific cell types, originating from specific tissue or organ [1]. There is a concept that initiation of cancer occurs due to a certain type of stem cells called cancer stem cells (CSCs). CSCs are malignant in nature, and they are highly resistant to drugs, thereby facilitating the tumor progression and metastasis [2]. Recent advances highlight that stem cells possess distinct miRNA profiles. These miRNAs have a major role in the reprogramming of cells, maintenance of pluripotency, and self-renewal and in many more aspects contributing to the regulation of stem cells. The miRNA profiles vary largely when considered in CSCs as compared to the normal non-tumorigenic stem cells. Some miRNAs are upregulated, while some are downregulated in the normal stem cells. This chapter throws light into the role of the miRNAs in affecting the human breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs). It focuses on the dysregulation of the miRNAs in human BCSCs and how it targets the genes disrupting different signalling pathways associated with it. Thus, the expression levels of certain miRNAs seem to be used as a potential biomarker for cancer prognosis and diagnosis. This book chapter not only summarizes the stem cell markers of breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs) but also highlights those miRNAs which can modulate the stemness property.

5.2 Breast Cancer Stem Cells and Their Biomarkers

Identification of CSCs is a very important and basic requirement to study the characteristics of CSCs and also a difficult task to distinguish it from the rest of the heterogenous tumor population. The CSC population constitutes a very limited proportion of the total tumor cell population, and hence, it becomes very challenging to mark them specifically. Therefore, keeping in mind about the fundamental characteristics of the CSCs, scientists have developed various in vitro and in vivo assays to recognize the CSCs. In order to identify the BCSCs, there are various techniques which include the aldehyde dehydrogenase assay, specific cell surface markers, side population dye exclusion, and culture of tumorsphere and label-retention assays like PKH staining. For the recognition of BCSCs in vivo, serial transplantation assays are useful to assess the differentiation and self-renewal capacity. It is reported that when the dye exclusion assay is performed, some populations

Table 5.1 Different markers of breast cancer stem cells	Stem cell markers	References
	CD44	[7, 18–24]
	CD24	[7, 18–24]
	ALDH1	[7, 18–22, 24]
	CD133/Prominin1	[20, 23–25]
	ITGA6	[19]
	CD49f	[20, 21, 23, 24]
	CD90	[20]
	SOX2	[21]
	CD29	[23]
	CD34	[23]
	CD61	[24]
	PROCR	[26, 27]
	ESA	[26]

CD cluster of differentiation, *ALDH* aldehyde dehydrogenase, *PROCR* protein C receptor, *ESA* epithelial specific antigen





of cells have the capability to efflux dyes like Rhodamine or Hoechst because these populations of cells feature high expression of the ATP-binding cassette transporter proteins like ABCG2/BCRP1. Now, this dye exclusion activity exhibited by a small population of stem cells (also known as the side population, SP fraction) can be quantified with the help of flow cytometry [3]. These SP populations were then studied in detail and were found out to have stem cell-like property, predicted to be present in different human breast cancer types [4–6]. There are several cell surface markers which are present in the BCSCs, and they can be easily identified by flow cytometry. The most common among the different cell surface markers elaborated in Table 5.1 and Fig. 5.1 are CD24 and CD44 [7]. These cell surface antigens seem to be used extensively to identify and/or isolate the BCSCs from the tumorigenic

population [7]. A study conducted in 2010 reported that other than the CD24-/ CD44+ and CD24+/CD44+ cell population, another population of tumor cells consisting of CD44+ CD49f hi CD133 hi showed high level of tumorigenicity and stemness property in vivo [8]. Other cell surface markers like CD29 and CD49f together with CD24 or EpCAM show more specificity in identifying the mammary stem cells [9, 10]. The aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) activity is another reliable way to detect the BCSCs from the bulk tumor population. ALDH is an enzyme involved in the intracellular oxidation of aldehydes playing a crucial role in the differentiation of stem cells following the retinoic acid metabolism pathway [11]. Aldefluor assay measures the ALDH activity for various types of cancer, breast cancer being one of its eminent types [12]. Tumorsphere assays are another way of detecting the BCSCs setting up gold standards. This assay is performed by plating the cells in either petri dishes or flasks in serum-free media consisting of B27, insulin, hydrocortisone, epidermal growth factor (EGF), and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) under low attachment criteria. Those cells only grow in the media which have the potential to self-renew and hence form tumorspheres and therefore can be identified as the BCSCs [13]. Another well-established procedure to determine the BCSCs is the cell membrane label-retaining assay [14]. A PKH fluorescent dye is used in this assay which binds to the lipid bilayer of the cell membranes, and it is determined that the stem cells have the potential to retain this PKH dye which is further detected by flow cytometry [15, 16]. The PKH26 dye stains both the normal and malignant mammary epithelial cells, but later in the mammosphere culture, the PKH26_{high} cell populations when sorted determine the stem cell-like properties [14, 17].

5.3 Biogenesis of miRNAs

MicroRNAs are described as a class of conserved non-coding regulatory RNAs of 20-24 nucleotides which are expressed in both animals and plants and are known to regulate various biological processes [28]. miRNAs recruit the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) to its appropriately related target sites and regulate the mRNA stability and production of proteins. Mainly the miRNAs play a role in the posttranscriptional gene expression and its regulation. The regulation of these mRNA by a well-organized process where the miRNAs recognize the target sites of the mRNA which are located on the 3' untranslated region (3'UTR) and base pairing occurs between 2 and 8 bps of the miRNA, called the seed sequence and the cognate mRNA sequence [29, 30]. The change in the expression of miRNAs also contributes to the rise of various human diseases, one of the crucial diseases being cancer [1]. miRNAs initially exist as primary transcripts (pri-miRNAs) that are long and are produced in the nucleus by either of the RNA polymerases, which are RNA polymerases II and III. A hairpin structure of the pri-miRNA is formed in most mammalian miRNAs. This hairpin structure is later identified by the RNase III processing complex formed by Drosha which is an RNase III enzyme and the other being an important factor of Drosha, Dgr8, finally giving rise to the formation of pre-miRNA hairpin inside the nucleus [31]. For this whole molecular event to be carried out, specific proteins regulate every specific miRNA such as p53, SMAD, hnRNPA1, and Lin28 [29]. The pre-miRNA hairpin is transported to the cytoplasm by a nuclear RNA-export factor, exportin 5 (Exp5) which is further cleaved by Dicer, another RNase III enzyme producing a short double-stranded duplex of 22–24 nucleotides [32]. A RISC complex is then formed along with the Argonaute proteins. The RISC complex charged with specific miRNA targets the appropriate mRNA by the miRNA-seed sequences and inhibits translation and mRNA degradation [29].

5.3.1 miRNA and Stem Cells

Recent findings have thrown light on the fact that miRNA plays a role in the regulation of stem cell functions, and this had led to the identification of different stem cell-specific miRNAs [33]. Depending on the functions of the miRNA on translation inhibition, miRNAs have been noted to play a significant role in regulating the fate of stem cells and various other functions associated with it. Distinct pattern of expression of miRNA is seen in embryonic stem cells (ESCs). It is reported that around 60,000 copies/cell or more miRNAs are expressed in the ESCs [1]. Out of these, the most abundantly expressed miRNAs in ESCs are miR-290-295, miR-302, miR-17-92, miR-106b-25, and miR-106a-363 which cover almost 70% of the total miRNAs expressed in the ESCs [1]. Lin-4 and let-7, the key regulators that are responsible for the proper maintenance of the developmental lineage, are known to be the founder of the miRNA family and are the first source of evidence depicting the essential role of miRNAs in the developmental processes [29]. The fact that miRNAs play a role in the stem cell regulation was first found out when a knockout experiment was performed where Dicer and DGCR8, the two most crucial genes responsible for the mature miRNA generation, were knocked out, as the ablated Dicer^{-/-} or Dgcr8^{-/-} ESCs showed abnormal differentiation of stem cells [2, 29, 34]. It was noted that the $Dgcr8^{-/-}$ ESCs did not differentiate into the germ layers when experimented on mouse models and remained arrested in the G1 phase with a downregulation of the differentiation and proliferation markers. Another evidence that proves the involvement of miRNA in stem cell regulation is the expression level of the self-renewal genes that include SOX2, OCT4, and NANOG which generally have low expression during the differentiation but in Dgcr8^{-/-} ESCs are found to be highly expressed [2]. The genes OCT4, SOX2, cMYC, and KLF4 are the four major transcription factors, also known as Yamanaka factors, facilitating reprogramming and also are primarily responsible for the production of iPSCs (induced pluripotent stem cells) [35]. miRNA is noted to play a role in both self-renewal and differentiation which eventually leads to the identification of cell fate; for example, in self-renewing human ESCs, there is a low expression of miR-145, but its expression increases during the differentiation process [29]. Stem cell reprogramming is governed by the miRNAs. It mainly is associated with the regulation of the reprogramming efficiency of the iPSCs. The miR-290 and miR-302 family incites the reprogramming of the iPSCs by its overexpression. Even the human orthologs of the miR-290 and miR-302 family referred to as miR-372 are also reported to increase the reprogramming efficiency of stem cells [34]. miRNAs are potent enough to reprogram the somatic cells into iPSCs directly, for instance, the cluster of miR-302 reprograms the human skin cancer cells into a pluripotent cell [34].

5.3.2 miRNA and Cancer Stem Cells

A subgroup of cancer cells that possess the potential of self-renewal, promote the growth of cancer cells, and help in metastasis and the recurrence of tumor, thereby making the cancer cells resistant against drugs, are known as cancer stem cells (CSCs). The microRNAs are known to be dysregulated in many human cancers, and recent advances suggest that the miRNAs have gained a potency of stem cell-like properties and are also showing a wide association in the reprogramming and regulation of CSCs during tumorigenesis. Studies suggest the well-known fact that the cancer cells are known to express miRNAs, and it has been reported that if cancer cells are cultured under hypoxic condition, they express an elevated level of ESC with more miRNAs than it does in normal conditions [36]. This gives further insight to the researchers to keep a check on the miRNAs and use them as a therapeutic tool to target the CSCs, thereby leading to the reduction of tumorigenesis. miRNAs not only act as oncogenes which promote rapid cell proliferation but also are responsible for controlling growth acting as tumor suppressors [37]. For example, miR-21 acts as a tumor promoter, whereas miR-200c blocked cell proliferation, and miR-214 showed a dual role in tumorigenesis [38]. Some statistical evidences and miRNA profiling have suggested that there are many miRNAs which are present in the nearby chromosomal breakpoints, some genomic regions associated with cancer, and some fragile sites where mutations/deletions can occur. Therefore, miRNAs are believed to be very closely associated with an important role in the generation of CSCs [39]. The miRNAs that are playing a role in the process of differentiation can perform their role in two ways. First, it can subdue the state of self-renewal directly, or it can suppress the pluripotency markers like Nanog, POU5f1, commonly known as Oct4, and Klf4 which are responsible for the maintenance of pluripotency of the ESCs. Second, it can stabilize the cell fate of the differentiated cells by aiming at the transcripts regulated by the transcription factors of pluripotency which include Nanog, Oct4, Tcf3, and Sox2 [39]. A miRNA associated with tumorigenesis, miR-17-92 polycistron, regulates the expression of c-Myc and speeds up the tumorigenic process in different types of cancer such as prostate, stomach, colon, lung, pancreatic, and breast cancer. Some clusters of miRNAs such as miR-290, miR-302/ 367, and miR-371 alter the cell cycle in the human ESCs and thereby inhibit the transition from the state of self-renewal to the differentiated state. The miR-302 family reprograms the human skin carcinoma cells into the pluripotent ESC-like state [36, 39]. In hepatocellular carcinoma, miR-371-373 cluster is found to be upregulated, while in breast cancer, the miR-371-373 and the C19MC clusters are reported to target CD44 and become very aggressive promoting the tumor metastasis and invasion [36]. The tumor growth of human pancreatic cancer cells with the CSC biomarkers CD44+ and CD133+ was reported to be suppressed when the miR-34 was restored; the tumor growth was inhibited both in vitro and in vivo. These pancreatic CSCs lack the expression of miR-34 normally, and therefore, the expression of Bcl-2 and Notch, the genes targeting the p53 tumor suppressor, becomes high as it is reported that miR-34 regulates the Bcl-2 and Notch target genes and further activates caspase-3 and brings on apoptosis [36, 37, 39].

The miR-130b is found to be elevated in the liver cancer stem cells that are CD133+, while the overexpression of miR-130b enhances the tumorigenic potential and heightens the resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs [36]. The tumor suppressive role of miRNA was evidenced when the E2F3 level was reduced on the artificial elevation of miR-34 in neuroblastoma inhibiting the cell proliferation, depicting a tumor suppressive role of miR-34 [37]. Studies conducted in 2013 suggested that there are 43 miRNAs whose differential expression targets different genes like p53, Notch, ErbB1, TGF- β , and Wnt which are involved in different crucial signalling pathways of the stem cells, thereby regulating cell death, cell proliferation, and development and functioning of cancer and stem cells, especially in glioblastoma [39].

The ESC-enriched miRNA plays a significant role in the CSC functioning, but it also shows an inhibitory effect on CSCs by suppressing the pluripotency. The members of the let-7 family possess a tumor suppressor role; it targets K-Ras and c-Myc and represses their expression in different CSCs such as breast, lung, head, neck, and liver. Let-7 regulates the breast CSCs, when it is overexpressed; it reduces the stemness property of the CSCs and upregulates their chemosensitivity and decreases the proliferation, tumor formation, and metastatic potential [36]. The miR-200 family plays an important role in the induction of iPSCs and is found to be downregulated in CSCs isolated from ovaries, lung, head and neck, pancreas, breast, and liver cancer stem cells. miR-200 majorly activates the MET (mesenchymal to epithelial transition) by targeting the mesenchymal markers, thereby downregulating the expression of EMT (epithelial to mesenchymal transition) markers [36]. Recent advances have pointed that there are similar properties shared between the CSCs and the cells undergoing EMT [40]. Notch1 inhibits miR-200b and miR-200c and enhances the induction of EMT with the constant expression of the CSC markers in the case of pancreatic cancer cells. Considering breast cancer and ovarian cancer, miR-200 family also restrains migration, metastasis, and invasiveness in these cancer types as well [36].

5.3.3 miRNAs and Breast Cancer Stem Cells

Among all the types of cancer, breast cancer is reported to be the most prevalent cancer to be diagnosed, and it is one of the leading causes of cancer death worldwide. The human breast tumors are heterogeneous in nature; hence, they possess different histological patterns and can be classified broadly into various types and subtypes based on their different gene expression profiles, and this heterogeneity of the breast

tumors can be explained well in the cancer stem cell models [41]. The existence of stem cell-like property in human solid tumors is difficult to find; however, the breast cancer stem cells are the cancer stem cells which were found first from the solid human tumors [42]. Breast cancer stem cells possess certain characteristics which include differentiation, self-renewal capacity, capability to metastasize and show tumorigenic potential, and resistance to chemotherapies [43]. Al-Hajj et al. in 2003 were the first to specifically describe the breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs) [41]. Isolation of the cancerous subset of the human breast tumors led to the identification of certain cell surface markers: CD44+, CD24, and ESA (epithelial specific antigen) [41, 43, 44]. This was the first strong evidence evicting the fact that there is an existence of the CSCs in breast cancer, and it proposed that only a small proportion of the breast cancer cells possessing a CD44+, CD24, and ESA expression are capable of generating new tumors [43, 44]. Another cell surface marker known as aldehvde dehvdrogenase 1(ALDH1) was later found out in 2007 by Ginestier et al. which is later claimed to be a characteristic for breast CSCs along with the other above-mentioned crucial cell surface markers [43, 45]. Other than these prominent breast cancer stem cell markers, there are many other markers associated in the identification of the BCSCs, and they are listed in Table 5.1. Few researchers established a cell culture system in vitro where they cultured the non-adherent human mammary epithelial cells and they discovered that under these conditions, the cells which possessed the stem cell-like properties were only capable to survive. These cells which survived proliferate to form mammospheres, which are defined as the multicellular structures that possess both cells having properties of stem cells and progenitor cells [41]. Later, researchers claimed that some markers which are used to identify the breast cancer-initiating cells in vitro do not complement with the in vivo system [46, 47].

Hence, in order to determine the specific markers of BCSCs, it was found that miRNAs play a role in breast cancer progression by changing their stemness property, further leading to tumor formation, differentiation, metastasis, self-renewal, and resistance to chemotherapy, and they can be targeted to treat breast cancer. Since cancer cells are heterogeneously found in a tumor and the miRNA expression in the tumorigenic population is also differential between the cancer stem cells (CSCs) and the non-tumorigenic cancer cells, the CSCs are found in minor proportion in the human breast cancer population. When the breast CSCs were isolated from the breast cancer patients surgically, there were different types of miRNAs which got identified. The major families of miRNAs involved in human breast cancer with their prominent roles in BCSC regulated are listed in Table 5.2. The most critically occurring miRNAs, some of which are upregulated while some are downregulated in breast cancers, are described below.

5.3.3.1 Let-7 Family

The expression of miRNAs in BCSCs was identified in 2007, and the expression profiles of the miRNAs were compared between the differentiated BCSCs and the self-renewing BCSCs that were obtained from the breast cancer samples derived from the primary breast tumors. The researchers injected the breast cancer cell line

		Target gene(s)/	Signalling		
S. no.	miRNAs	transcription factors	pathways	Role	References
1.	miR-200	ZEB1 and ZEB2	Notch	Inhibits the BCSC growth and tumor progression	[71–74]
2.	miR- 200c/ 141	ZEB1, BMI1	Wnt/β-catenin	Inhibits the BCSC phenotype	[74–77]
3.	miR-140	SOX9, ALDH1	Targets the phenotypic markers of BCSCs	Reduces BCSC formation	[78]
4.	miR-34a	p53, Notch1, ALDH1, CD44	Notch and the phenotypic markers of BCSCs	Suppresses BCSC formation	[79–82]
5.	miR-205	Ligand jagged1, Hairy and enhancer of split-1, Notch1, Notch2, CD44, ALDH1	Notch and the phenotypic markers of BCSCs	Inhibits the BCSC phenotypes and stemness	[83–85]
6.	miR-7	STAT3, SETDB1	STAT	Decreases BCSC formation	[86]
7.	miR-29	KLF4, SPIN1	Wnt/β-catenin	Inhibits the reprogramming and maintenance of BCSCs	[87, 88]
8.	miR-34c	Notch 4	Notch	Inhibits BCSC formation	[89]
9.	miR-93	STAT3, JNK1, HMGA2, SOX4, EZH1	STAT	Depletion of BCSCs	[90]
10.	miR-99a	Rapamycin (mTOR), HIF1	PI3K/AKT	Reduces the self- renewal capacity of BCSCs	[91]
11.	Let-7	E2F2, c-Myc, KRAS	Targets directly	Inhibits proliferation of BCSCs	[92]
12.	miR-33b	SALL4, Twist1, HMGA2	Not specifically known	Inhibits stemness of BCSCs	[93]
13.	miR-16	Wip1	DNA damage signalling	Inhibits proliferation and differentiation of BCSCs	[94]
14.	miR-600	SCD1	Wnt/β-catenin	Inhibits stemness of BCSC	[95]

 Table 5.2
 miRNAs involved in BCSC formation, self-renewal, and differentiation

(continued)

S no	miRNAs	Target gene(s)/	Signalling	Role	Pafarancas
15.	miR-128	BMI1, ABCC5, SNAIL, CSF1, KLF4, LIN28A, NANOG	TGF-β, STAT, PI3K/ AKT	Inhibits the clonogenicity and tumorigenicity of BCSCs	[63, 96]
16.	miR-181	ATM	TGF-β	Increases the BCSC phenotype	[97]
17.	miR-183	SNAI2, SMAD4, β-catenin, and BMI1	Wnt/β-catenin	Activates EMT and the self- renewal in BCSCs	[61, 98, 99]
18.	miR-142	APC	Wnt/β-catenin	Promotes BCSC proliferation	[100]
19.	miR-495	E-cadherin, REDD1, JAM-A	TGF-β	Promotes invasion and metastasis to maintain BCSC properties	[101–103]
20.	miR-214	Ezh2, p53, TFAP2, PTEN, BIM, and β-catenin	Wnt/β-catenin	Enhances cell differentiation, stemness, apoptosis, and invasion of BCSCs	[38, 55]
21.	miR-221	Ataxin-1	Targets the phenotypic markers of BCSCs	Stimulates the stemness of BCSCs	[104]
22.	miR- 125a	LIFR	Нірро	Targets the phenotypic markers of BCSCs	[105]
23.	miR- 146a	KLF8, NUMB, CD44, and ALDH1	Notch	Increases BCSC traits	[106]
24.	miR-21	HIF1-α	AKT, ERK1/ 2, TGF-β	Induces BCSCs	[107]
25.	miR- 221/222	ZEB1	PI3K/AKT	Causes BCSC formation	[59, 108]
26.	miR- 106b-25	SMAD7	TGF-β	Promotes tumor initiation	[109]

Table 5.2 (continued)

ZEB Zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 1, $TGF-\beta$ transforming growth factor- β , SOX sex-determining region Y-box, ALDH1 aldehyde dehydrogenase 1, STAT signal transducer and activator of transcription, SETDB1 SET domain bifurcated 1, KLF Krüppel-like factor, LIFR leukemia inhibitory factor receptor, JNK Janus kinase 1, HMGA2 high mobility group AT-hook 2, EZH1 Enhancer of zeste 1 polycomb repressive complex 2 subunit, SALL4 Sal-like protein 4, TWIST1 Twist-related protein 1, REDD1 DNA damage-inducible transcript 4 protein, WIP1 wild-type p53-induced phosphatase 1, BMI1 B cell-specific Moloney murine leukemia virus integration site 1, SCD Stearoyl-CoA desaturase, ATM Ataxia telangiectasia mutated, ABCC5 ATP-binding cassette subfamily C member 5

SKBR3 possessing BCSCs into NOD/SCID mice and treated them with chemotherapeutic agents. When they isolated the tumor cells from the mice, they found that the tumors contained a high level of CD44+/CD24 and the cells had a mammosphere forming capability as well [48]. With the study of the miRNAs, they found that the miRNA let-7 is to be the most promising miRNA, since it was downregulated in the tumor-initiating population of cells compared to the cells having a self-renewing capacity. Let-7 that acts as a tumor suppressor targeting the oncogene RAS was first identified in *C. elegans*, which involved in the regulation of the larval stage to adult stage of C. elegans [42]. An increased expression of let-7 is noted in the cells differentiating to non-tumorigenic cancer cells. The tumor suppressive potential of let-7 is well identified, as when it was introduced lentivirally, it resulted in diminished mammosphere formation, less proliferation, and less stem cell differentiation. and it also reduced the tumorigenic and metastatic potential of NOD/SCID mice in vivo [41]. So, let-7 being a tumor suppressor has been reported to be downregulated in many cancers, and its restoration helps in inhibiting cancer, thereby establishing it as a potential molecular marker and a therapeutic target for BCSC. Lin-28 protein, a member of the let-7 family, blocks the generation of let-7, thereby increasing the chances of tumorigenicity in breast cancer cells. This Lin-28 targets the let-7 via STAT3 signal transducer and activator of transcription factor 3 pathway, and let-7 further targets HMGA2 which enhances the expression of mesenchymal markers, thereby causing EMT. Therefore, it can be concluded that this let-7 miRNA is involved in the regulation of self-renewal and differentiation of breast cancer cells [41].

5.3.3.2 miR-200 Family

miRNAs also occur in the genome in the form of clusters and then are later transcribed into multi-cistronic primary transcript. The genes of miRNA occur in the form of clusters as well, usually having two to three miRNA genes in a cluster, but there are larger clusters of genes also present in some, for example, clusters of miR-17-92 and miR-106a-363 consisting of six members [42]. miR-17-92 cluster was the first polycistronic miRNA cluster which was reported to play a role in tumorigenesis [49]. The most extensively studied miRNA cluster in the human genome is miR-200. miR-200 family is the most conserved family of miRNAs of the animal kingdom [50]. There are five members in the family of miR-200: miR-200a, miR-200b, miR-200c, miR-141, and miR-429 [41, 42]. Based on the different gene clusters, the family of miRNAs can be subdivided into different locations on two different chromosomes: miR-200b/miR-200a/miR-429 is located on chromosome 1 in human and on chromosome 4 in mouse, while on chromosome 12 in human and chromosome 6 in mouse lies the miR-200c/miR-141 gene cluster [41, 42]. It is reported that the miR-200 family has a close association in the maintenance and regulation of BCSCs. When a comparison was made between the tumorigenic and non-tumorigenic population of human breast cancer cells, it was found that out of the different miRNA expression levels, the miRNA clusters that remained downregulated were miRNA-200c-141, miR-200b-200a-429, and miR-183-96-182, thereby suggesting their role in the self-renewal and differentiation of cancer stem cells. In fact, miR-200c was also reported to suppress the clonogenicity of BCSCs in vitro and inhibited the formation of mammary ducts and tumorigenic potential of BCSCs, suggesting that the downregulation of miR-200c has a role in cancer stem cell regulation [41]. The expression of miR-200 which is depicted in mammospheres is reported to be regulated epigenetically, and it is predicted that when miR-200 is re-expressed in those stem cells which have downregulated expression of miR-200, it led to the introduction of non-stem cell-like phenotype and the cells also became capable of performing mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition (MET) [51].

miR-214

miR-214 is evinced to have an important role in proliferation, stemness, metastasis, invasion, and apoptosis. miR-214, present in the human chromosome 1, is reported to be either upregulated or downregulated in human tumors [38, 42]. However, in human breast CSCs, miR-214 is found to be upregulated, especially in the luminal A and triple-negative types. The ablation of miR-214 in mice though is found fertile and viable but hampers proper cardiac function and leads to cardiac failure [42]. miR-214 has a varying role in different types of cancer, for example, in ovary cancer, it enhances the CSC property by targeting the Nanog expression [52] while in hepatocellular carcinoma, it represses the stem cell-like properties [53]. In breast cancer, it was documented that a low level of miR-214 increases the expression of oncogenic EZH2, which is a component responsible for the catalysis of PRC2, a causative of breast cancer malignancy [54]. MiR-214 downregulates p53 and causes and increases the invasion in breast cancer [55].

miR-221-222 Cluster

The cluster of miR-221-222 comprises miR-221 and miR-222 and is found on chromosome Xp11 in human [56]. The seed sequence of miR-221 and miR-222 is the same, and they behave as both oncogenes and tumor suppressors in different human tumors, for example, as oncogenes in human epithelial tumors and as tumor suppressor in erythroleukemia. The miR-221-222 cluster is found to be upregulated in many cancer types like human breast CSCs and pancreas and glioblastoma cells [42, 57, 58]. miR-221-222 inhibits PTEN and helps in the formation of BCSCs [59]. So, this suggests that miR-221-222 has a significant role in regulating stemness, cell cycle progression, migration, and apoptosis.

5.3.3.3 miR-30 Family

In the mammospheres, alongside the let-7 family, it is detected that the miR-30 family is downregulated in the tumor-initiating human BCSCs. In the miR-30 family, miR-30e particularly plays an important role. It is shown that the downregulation of miR-30e leads to the enhancement of the self-renewal capacity not only in breast cancer but also in lung cancer. Other studies conducted on breast cancer suggest a significant role of miR-30 in both adhered and non-adherent mammospheres. miR-30a plays an effective role in the regulation of the growth of non-attachment mammospheres [60]. It is noted that the overexpression of miR-30a

led to the reduction of the mammosphere formation ability while when inhibited, it increased the number of mammospheres. These evidences from literatures suggest that miR-30 family plays an important role in cell proliferation and apoptosis of BCSCs [41].

miR-142

The expression of miR-142 is detected largely in the hematopoietic lineages playing a crucial role in hematopoiesis; however, it is found to be expressed highly in human BCSCs and not detectable in normal stem cell population. The miR-142 follows the canonical Wnt signalling pathway targeting the APC, and it leads to the further activation of miR-150 which is also simultaneously upregulated in human breast CSCs [42].

miR-16

Another family of miRNA responsible for the maintenance of the proliferation, differentiation, and stemness potential of mammary CSCs is the miR-16 family. A low level of miR-16 is detected in human breast cancer as depicted by the number of mammospheres formed. miR-16 is regulated by the Wip1 (wild-type p53-induced phosphatase 1) oncogene, thereby leading to the increase of the Wip1 protein in the mammospheres. Overexpression of miR-16 leads to the repression of cell proliferation in MCF-7 human breast cancer cell line [41].

miR-183

The miR-183 cluster of miRNAs is reported to be upregulated incessantly in different types of cancer, though mainly it plays a role in the maturation of sensory organs [61]. However, literature reports that there is a downregulation of miR-183 cluster in human BCSCs which suggests that this downregulation is responsible to maintain the stem cell property of cancer cells [42]. This miR-183 cluster consists of miRNA-183,-96,-182 bearing a homology in their sequence and is mainly located on chromosome 7 in human and on chromosome 6 in mouse [62]. The suppression of miR-183 cluster in the human BCSCs drives the EMT activation and self-renewal property targeting the Wnt signalling [42].

miR-34c

miR-34c is basically a tumor suppressor, and it is reported to have a reduced expression in human breast cancer cell lines such as MCF-7 and SK-third which are enriched for BCSCs. Hypermethylation occurs in the promoter sites of BCSCs which leads to the downregulation of miR-34c, thereby leading to the increment of EMT and stemness property of the breast cancer cells. In fact, when this miR-34c is expressed in the BCSCs ectopically, it leads to the inhibition of EMT and stemness property, and also the mammosphere formation was also reduced. Migration was also reported to be hindered, which further strengthened the idea that miR-34c can be a positive target for BCSCs [41].

miR-181

The level of miR-181 in different breast cancer cell lines such as MDA361, MCF-7, and BT474 was found to be high in the mammospheres of tumor origin rather than those which are non-tumorigenic in origin. miR-181 targets the TGF- β and plays a crucial role in the regulation of BCSC and helps in the formation of mammospheres [41].

miR-128

In BCSCs, both isolated from breast cancer patients and the breast cancer cell lines like SK-third and MCF-7, the level of miR-128 is reported to be reduced, and this reduction of miR-128 increases the expression of its target genes, Bmi-1 and ABCC5 (ATP-binding cassette subfamily C member 5) [41]. In fact, it is noted that when miR-128 is expressed ectopically, it leads to the decrease in the Bmi-1 and ABCC5 levels in BCSCs, thereby depicting the therapeutic potential of miRNA. There are many literatures in support of this fact that forced or ectopic expression of miR-128 leads to the reduction of tumor growth and induces apoptosis in vivo and decreases the mammosphere size in in vitro cell culture model, respectively [41, 63].

miR-495

The upregulation and/or downregulation of different miRNAs are involved in the BCSC regulation, it was reported that miR-495 is upregulated, thereby predicting a significant role of its involvement in BCSC regulation. To predict its role, literatures suggest that the overexpression of miR-495 led to the enhanced colony formation in vitro and also reduced the tumor forming potential in vivo in human BCSCs. The upregulation of miR-495 targets those genes which downregulates the genes involved in EMT like E-cadherin and REDD1 (short for regulated in development and DNA damage responses) and maintains the stemness property in breast cancer [41].

5.4 Signalling Pathways Involved in miRNA-Mediated Regulation of BCSCs

Till now, the crucial role of various miRNAs associated with BCSCs was discussed where in some cases, the miRNAs enhanced the tumorigenic potential while in some cases, they acted as a tumor suppressor. Now, the target genes and their signalling pathways which are regulated by various miRNAs which are discussed below.

5.4.1 Notch Signalling Pathway

The Notch signalling pathway plays a significant role in self-renewal and apoptosis of BCSCs. It is well involved in the cell fate regulation in the development of mammary gland and shows a strong association with tumor initiation and proliferation. The Notch receptors bind to different Notch ligands like the Delta-like

1 (DLL1), Delta-like 3 (DLL3), and Delta-like 4 (DLL4), Jagged1 (JAG1), and Jagged2 (JAG2) and activate the Notch signalling. After the activation, the intracellular domain of Notch localizes in the nucleus of the cell, thereby activating its target gene expression which includes the cell cycle progression genes like cyclin D1 and p21 [64]. It is reported that if the Notch pathway is inhibited, it reduces the number of BCSCs significantly and also the metastasis of breast cancer to brain [65]. Literatures report that miR-34a helps in the downregulation of the Notch1 receptor and inhibits the stemness property in breast cancer as noticed in MCF-7 cells. miR-200 inhibits the Notch signalling by means of targeting the Notch ligands like JAG1 and other important co-activators, MamI2 and MamI3 [42, 65]. miR-9 and miR-34c expression when induced leads to the suppression of the Notch signalling, and it helps in the reduction of the metastatic potential of the triplenegative breast cancer cells (TNBC) [66]. Upregulation of miR-146a in human BCSC is also associated with the suppression of the Notch signalling, thereby proving the fact that Notch signalling is one of the most essential signalling pathways involved in the regulation of human BCSC [42].

5.4.2 WNT Signalling Pathway

Wnt signalling (canonical and noncanonical) plays a crucial regulatory role in the cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, adhesion, and the renewal of stem cells [67]. The development of the mammary glands is governed by the Wnt signalling pathway, and simultaneously, it also plays a role in the regulation of the differentiation of stem cells. It also plays a role in stabilization of the quantity of the BCSCs [68]. There are several miRNAs which are involved in targeting the Wnt signalling pathway and disrupt its signalling by targeting APC such as miRNAs like miR-125, miR-135, miR-129, miR-27, miR-663, miR-142, let-7, miR-155, and miR-106b. When TNBC is taken into consideration, it is reported that miR-29b expression is correlated negatively to the BCSC potential and it inhibits the proliferation, stemness, and invasion of the TNBC cells by downregulating the Wnt signalling pathway [42]. The miR-29 targets Dikkopf-1 (Dkk1), secreted frizzled-related protein 2 (sFRP2), and Kremen2, which are the negative regulators of Wnt signalling [65]. Let-7, another important family of miRNAs, has a downregulated expression in the BCSCs and targets the Ras oncogene and MYC proto-oncogene, thereby having a feedback effect on LIN28 gene expression, which is known to be the downstream effector gene in the Wnt pathway, hence affecting the self-renewal process [65]. The human breast CSC also expresses miR-142, and it targets APC and it activates the canonical Wnt signalling pathway [42]. Another miRNA, miR-150, though specifically expressed in the mature lymphocytes [69], is also identified to be expressed highly in the breast CSCs. The upregulation of miR-142 is linked with the higher expression of miR-150 as the Wnt signalling is activated by the upregulation of miR-142 which results in the miR-150 expression [42]. The differentiation of BCSCs is enhanced by another family of miRNA, miR-600, involving the modification of Wnt pathway proteins, further inhibiting the Wnt signalling [70]. miR-146

has been predicted to be one of the promising diagnostic markers of human breast CSCs following the Wnt pathway which is stabilized by miR-146a by the help of Snail and β -catenin [42]. miR-200 family which is downregulated in the human BCSCs also functions as the suppressor of the Wnt signalling pathway by targeting β -catenin [42].

5.4.3 PI3K/AKT Signalling Pathway

miR-221/222 as mentioned earlier is one of the miRNAs responsible for the increase of BCSCs. It suppresses the PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog) protein and thereby inhibits the phosphorylation of AKT and thus enhances the cell stemness. miR-99a and miR-30a are also responsible for targeting the PTEN-PI3K/AKT signalling pathway in BCSCs [65]. Another miRNA, miR-595, promoted the breast cancer progression following the PI3K/AKT signalling pathway [43]. So, these miRNAs can be believed to be the potential target of the PTEN-PI3K/AKT signalling pathway involved in the human BCSCs (Fig. 5.2).



Fig. 5.2 Various miRNAs and their signalling pathways involved in the regulation of breast cancer stem cell (BCSC) markers

5.5 miRNAs as Cancer Therapeutics

As discussed previously in this chapter, that the miRNAs are a potential therapeutic target in treating cancer, it is noted that there are numerous small RNA-based drugs which have undergone clinical trials, one of which is fomivirsen. Fomivirsen, an example of an RNA-based FDA-approved drug, was used to treat cytomegalovirus retinitis [110]. Similarly, MRX34, a drug designed to mimic the tumor suppressor miRNA, miR-34, was discovered [111]. Mimic miR which stimulates the miR and/or the antagomir is a new measure of immense potential to fight cancer. There are certain chemically available molecules, for example, 2'-O-methoxyethyl oligonucleotides, peptide nucleic acids, and locked nucleic acids, which protect the in vivo action of the mimic miR [111]. In vivo delivery of the miRNAs seems to be a difficult task, and therefore, liposomes and synthetic polymers such as nanoparticles made up of biodegradable polymers of chitosan and polylactate-coglycolate came into use [112]. Another method of miR delivery is the use of dendrimers, which are very toxic delivery vehicles having positive charge, thus enabling cell lysis and disability [38]. Exosome-mediated delivery of miRNA has been evidenced to be more effective than the other methods of delivery. miRNA let-7a is successfully delivered to breast cancer expressing EGFR via exosomes with GE11 peptide or EGF [113]. Exosomal delivery of miRNA lessens the chances of immunogenic responses in patients and is highly efficient. Though there is progress in the field of miRNA therapeutics, still there is an enormous scope for improvement. For better prognosis of breast cancer, the CSC-targeting therapy needs to be more polished, and it should be seen that these drugs are particularly targeting the BCSCs rather than the normal stem cells. This budding miRNA therapeutics approach to treat cancer will lead to immense positive effect in eradicating cancer progression and metastasis in the near future.

5.6 miRNA Resistance to Chemotherapy

The study of miRNAs and their strong association with the CSCs discussed so far thus throws light into the fact that they can be a potential therapeutic target helpful to diagnose cancer. Targeting the miRNAs can help put an end to the CSC self-renewal capacity and anti-apoptosis, thereby essentially improving the resistance against tumorigenesis. The major obstacle in the treatment of breast cancer is its resistance to chemotherapy, and the main responsible factor is the BCSCs. miRNAs play a crucial role in the regulation of the BCSCs; therefore, they generate chemoresistance against breast cancer. For example, the downregulation of BMI1 in breast cancer cells leads to the reduction of the CD44+/CD24- cells in the BCSC population by means of miR-200c. This induces apoptosis and also increases the sensitivity of breast cancer cells to 5-fluorouracil [114]. The proliferation of BCSCs is suppressed by the chemosensitivity to paclitaxel (PTX), an anticancer chemotherapeutic drug with the overexpression of miR-34a, targeting the Notch pathway [43]. MiR-125b which induces the activation of the Akt signalling enhances the sensitivity toward

letrozole and facilitates the letrozole resistance. Chemotherapeutic resistance toward doxorubicin which leads to enhanced cell viability and anti-apoptosis is governed by the downregulation of miR-128 [43, 65]. Similarly, the overexpression of miR-16 creates resistance to doxorubicin in MCF-7 cells [43, 65]. The BCSCs exhibit a high expression of ALDH1, and based on this idea, when a cohort of breast cancer samples were treated with paclitaxel and epirubicin-based chemotherapy sequentially, it was found out that those expressing high ALDH1 expression showed low response pathologically and resistance to chemotherapy [115]. The BCSCs are believed to be the essential drivers of breast cancer progression and invasion, while the miRNAs are the critical regulators of BCSCs. Out of the variety of miRNAs, some behave as onco-miRNAs such as miR-146a, miR-125, miR-526b, miR-106b-25, miR-888, and miR-22, while some as tumor suppressive miRNAs (anti-onco-miRNAs) such as miR-99a, miR-200, miR-34, miR-140, miR-16, miR-7, and miR-93. Those miRNAs behaving as oncogenes can be inhibited, while those behaving as tumor suppressors can be enhanced to inhibit breast cancer [43].

5.7 Future Direction

At present, scientists have paid their attention to miRNAs for their use as diagnosis and prognosis markers for cancer. Targeting CSCs is still a huge challenging task to the cancer researchers. Thus, the researchers are now inclined to focus on those miRNAs which especially regulate the function of CSCs. It is more important to identify those miRNAs that are dysregulated in CSCs and also play a vital role in cancer metastasis, therapy resistance, and tumor recurrence. For example, miRNAs like miR-200c, miR-34c, miR-214, and miR-21 regulate the stemness property, metastasis, and therapy resistance. Some miRNAs like miR-214 show dual nature in tumorigenesis depending on tissue types. Similarly, miR-200c prevents EMT of cancer cells; however, the role of this miRNA in cell proliferation is also context dependent. Thus, we should identify a set of miRNAs. The change of a set of miRNAs profile will definitely give a better prediction for diagnosis and/or prognosis of the diseases.

Based on this miRNA profile and their functional activity, a set of specific miRNAs can be targeted together by antagomir and/or mimic miRNA for enhancing the anticancer potential. In addition, specific drug which targets the key signalling of CSCs may be combined with antagomir/mimic miRNA to improve further treatment efficacy.

References

1. Mens MM, Ghanbari M (2018) Cell cycle regulation of stem cells by microRNAs. Stem Cell Rev Rep 14(3):309–322
- Asadzadeh Z et al (2019) microRNAs in cancer stem cells: biology, pathways, and therapeutic opportunities. J Cell Physiol 234(7):10002–10017
- 3. Bunting KD (2002) ABC transporters as phenotypic markers and functional regulators of stem cells. Stem Cells 20(1):11–20
- 4. Hirschmann-Jax C et al (2004) A distinct "side population" of cells with high drug efflux capacity in human tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101(39):14228–14233
- 5. Britton K et al (2012) Breast cancer, side population cells and ABCG2 expression. Cancer Lett 323(1):97–105
- Nakanishi T et al (2010) Side-population cells in luminal-type breast cancer have tumourinitiating cell properties, and are regulated by HER2 expression and signalling. Br J Cancer 102(5):815
- Al-Hajj M et al (2003) Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 100(7):3983–3988
- Meyer MJ et al (2010) CD44posCD49fhiCD133/2hi defines xenograft-initiating cells in estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer. Cancer Res 70(11):4624–4633
- 9. Stingl J et al (2006) Purification and unique properties of mammary epithelial stem cells. Nature 439(7079):993
- 10. Sleeman KE et al (2005) CD24 staining of mouse mammary gland cells defines luminal epithelial, myoepithelial/basal and non-epithelial cells. Breast Cancer Res 8(1):R7
- Storms RW et al (1999) Isolation of primitive human hematopoietic progenitors on the basis of aldehyde dehydrogenase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci 96(16):9118–9123
- Luo M et al (2015) Breast cancer stem cells: current advances and clinical implications. In: Mammary Stem Cells. Springer, Berlin, pp 1–49
- 13. Dontu G et al (2003) In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. Genes Dev 17(10):1253–1270
- Cicalese A et al (2009) The tumor suppressor p53 regulates polarity of self-renewing divisions in mammary stem cells. Cell 138(6):1083–1095
- Kusumbe AP, Bapat SA (2009) Cancer stem cells and aneuploid populations within developing tumors are the major determinants of tumor dormancy. Cancer Res 69(24):9245–9253
- D'Angelo R, Wicha M (2010) Stem cells in normal development and cancer. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 95:113–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385071-3.00006-X. [PubMed] [Cross Ref]
- 17. Pece S et al (2010) Biological and molecular heterogeneity of breast cancers correlates with their cancer stem cell content. Cell 140(1):62–73
- Ricardo S et al (2011) Breast cancer stem cell markers CD44, CD24 and ALDH1: expression distribution within intrinsic molecular subtype. J Clin Pathol 64(11):937–946
- 19. Ali HR et al (2011) Cancer stem cell markers in breast cancer: pathological, clinical and prognostic significance. Breast Cancer Res 13(6):R118
- 20. Crabtree JS, Miele L (2018) Breast cancer stem cells. Biomedicine 6(3):77
- Liu Y et al (2014) Lack of correlation of stem cell markers in breast cancer stem cells. Br J Cancer 110(8):2063
- 22. Seo AN et al (2016) Expression of breast cancer stem cell markers as predictors of prognosis and response to trastuzumab in HER2-positive breast cancer. Br J Cancer 114(10):1109
- 23. Martin TA, Jiang WG (2014) Evaluation of the expression of stem cell markers in human breast cancer reveals a correlation with clinical progression and metastatic disease in ductal carcinoma. Oncol Rep 31(1):262–272
- Sin WC, Lim CL (2017) Breast cancer stem cells—from origins to targeted therapy. Stem Cell Investig 4:96
- 25. Brugnoli F et al (2019) CD133 in breast cancer cells: more than a stem cell marker. J Oncol 2019:1
- 26. Hwang-Verslues WW et al (2009) Multiple lineages of human breast cancer stem/progenitor cells identified by profiling with stem cell markers. PLoS One 4(12):e8377

- Wang D et al (2019) Protein C receptor is a therapeutic stem cell target in a distinct group of breast cancers. Cell Res 29(10):832–845
- Bartel DP (2004) MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 116 (2):281–297
- 29. Yi R, Fuchs E (2011) MicroRNAs and their roles in mammalian stem cells. J Cell Sci 124 (11):1775–1783
- 30. Lewis BP, Burge CB, Bartel DP (2005) Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. Cell 120(1):15–20
- Han J et al (2004) The Drosha-DGCR8 complex in primary microRNA processing. Genes Dev 18(24):3016–3027
- 32. Yi R et al (2003) Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of pre-microRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. Genes Dev 17(24):3011–3016
- Gangaraju VK, Lin H (2009) MicroRNAs: key regulators of stem cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10(2):116
- 34. Li N et al (2017) microRNAs: important regulators of stem cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):110
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126(4):663–676
- Mathieu J, Ruohola-Baker H (2013) Regulation of stem cell populations by microRNAs. In: Transcriptional and translational regulation of stem cells. Springer, Berlin, pp 329–351
- 37. Zimmerman AL, Wu S (2011) MicroRNAs, cancer and cancer stem cells. Cancer Lett 300 (1):10–19
- Sharma T, Hamilton R, Mandal CC (2015) miR-214: a potential biomarker and therapeutic for different cancers. Future Oncol 11(2):349–363
- Garg M (2015) Emerging role of microRNAs in cancer stem cells: implications in cancer therapy. World J Stem Cells 7(8):1078
- 40. Floor S et al (2011) Cancer cells in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and tumorpropagating-cancer stem cells: distinct, overlapping or same populations. Oncogene 30 (46):4609
- Schwarzenbacher D, Balic M, Pichler M (2013) The role of microRNAs in breast cancer stem cells. Int J Mol Sci 14(7):14712–14723
- 42. Shimono Y et al (2016) MicroRNA regulation of human breast cancer stem cells. J Clin Med 5 (1):2
- 43. Fan X et al (2017) MicroRNAs, a subpopulation of regulators, are involved in breast cancer progression through regulating breast cancer stem cells. Oncol Lett 14(5):5069–5076
- 44. Al-Hajj M et al (2003) Erratum: prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells (proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America (April 1, 2003) 7: 100 (3983-3988)). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(11):6890
- 45. Ginestier C et al (2007) ALDH1 is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome. Cell Stem Cell 1(5):555–567
- 46. Lehmann C et al (2012) Established breast cancer stem cell markers do not correlate with in vivo tumorigenicity of tumor-initiating cells. Int J Oncol 41(6):1932–1942
- 47. Huang S-D et al (2013) Tumor cells positive and negative for the common cancer stem cell markers are capable of initiating tumor growth and generating both progenies. PLoS One 8(1): e54579
- 48. Yu F et al (2007) let-7 regulates self renewal and tumorigenicity of breast cancer cells. Cell 131(6):1109–1123
- 49. Mogilyansky E, Rigoutsos I (2013) The miR-17/92 cluster: a comprehensive update on its genomics, genetics, functions and increasingly important and numerous roles in health and disease. Cell Death Differ 20(12):1603
- 50. Wheeler BM et al (2009) The deep evolution of metazoan microRNAs. Evol Dev 11(1):50–68
- 51. Lim Y-Y et al (2013) Epigenetic modulation of the miR-200 family is associated with transition to a breast cancer stem-cell-like state. J Cell Sci 126(10):2256–2266

- Xu C-X et al (2012) MicroRNA miR-214 regulates ovarian cancer cell stemness by targeting p53/Nanog. J Biol Chem 287(42):34970–34978
- 53. Xia H, Ooi LLP, Hui KM (2012) MiR-214 targets β-catenin pathway to suppress invasion, stem-like traits and recurrence of human hepatocellular carcinoma. PLoS One 7(9):e44206
- 54. Derfoul A et al (2011) Decreased microRNA-214 levels in breast cancer cells coincides with increased cell proliferation, invasion and accumulation of the Polycomb Ezh2 methyltransferase. Carcinogenesis 32(11):1607–1614
- 55. Wang F et al (2015) microRNA-214 enhances the invasion ability of breast cancer cells by targeting p53. Int J Mol Med 35(5):1395–1402
- Chistiakov DA et al (2015) Human miR-221/222 in physiological and atherosclerotic vascular remodeling. Biomed Res Int 2015:1
- 57. Zhao Y et al (2015) Antisense inhibition of microRNA-21 and microRNA-221 in tumorinitiating stem-like cells modulates tumorigenesis, metastasis, and chemotherapy resistance in pancreatic cancer. Target Oncol 10(4):535–548
- 58. Aldaz B et al (2013) Involvement of miRNAs in the differentiation of human glioblastoma multiforme stem-like cells. PLoS One 8(10):e77098
- 59. Song J et al (2017) Potential value of miR-221/222 as diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic biomarkers for diseases. Front Immunol 8:56–56
- 60. Ouzounova M et al (2013) MicroRNA miR-30 family regulates non-attachment growth of breast cancer cells. BMC Genomics 14:139
- 61. Dambal S et al (2015) The microRNA-183 cluster: the family that plays together stays together. Nucl Acids Res 43(15):7173–7188
- 62. Saini HK, Enright AJ, Griffiths-Jones S (2008) Annotation of mammalian primary microRNAs. BMC Genomics 9(1):564
- Zhu Y et al (2011) Reduced miR-128 in breast tumor–initiating cells induces chemotherapeutic resistance via Bmi-1 and ABCC5. Clin Cancer Res 17(22):7105–7115
- 64. Borggrefe T, Oswald F (2009) The Notch signaling pathway: transcriptional regulation at Notch target genes. Cell Mol Life Sci 66(10):1631–1646
- 65. Zhang Y, Xu B, Zhang X-p (2018) Effects of miRNAs on functions of breast cancer stem cells and treatment of breast cancer. Onco Targets Ther 11:4263
- Mohammadi-Yeganeh S, Mansouri A, Paryan M (2015) Targeting of miR9/NOTCH1 interaction reduces metastatic behavior in triple-negative breast cancer. Chem Biol Drug Des 86 (5):1185–1191
- 67. Anastas JN, Moon RT (2013) WNT signalling pathways as therapeutic targets in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 13(1):11
- Harrison H et al (2010) Breast cancer stem cells: something out of notching? Cancer Res 70 (22):8973–8976
- 69. Zhou B et al (2007) miR-150, a microRNA expressed in mature B and T cells, blocks early B cell development when expressed prematurely. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104(17):7080–7085
- 70. Bodal VK et al (2017) Association between microrna 146a and microrna 196a2 genes polymorphism and breast cancer risk in north Indian women. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 18 (9):2345
- 71. Korpal M et al (2008) The miR-200 family inhibits epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer cell migration by direct targeting of E-cadherin transcriptional repressors ZEB1 and ZEB2. J Biol Chem 283(22):14910–14914
- 72. Gregory PA et al (2008) The miR-200 family and miR-205 regulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition by targeting ZEB1 and SIP1. Nat Cell Biol 10(5):593
- 73. Park S-M et al (2008) The miR-200 family determines the epithelial phenotype of cancer cells by targeting the E-cadherin repressors ZEB1 and ZEB2. Genes Dev 22(7):894–907
- 74. Kumar S, Nag A, Mandal CC (2015) A comprehensive review on miR-200c, a promising cancer biomarker with therapeutic potential. Curr Drug Targets 16(12):1381–1403
- 75. Liu B et al (2018) miR-200c/141 regulates breast cancer stem cell heterogeneity via targeting HIPK1/β-Catenin axis. Theranostics 8(21):5801

- 76. Shimono Y et al (2009) Downregulation of miRNA-200c links breast cancer stem cells with normal stem cells. Cell 138(3):592–603
- Dimri M, Kang M, Dimri GP (2016) A miR-200c/141-BMI1 autoregulatory loop regulates oncogenic activity of BMI1 in cancer cells. Oncotarget 7(24):36220
- Li Q et al (2014) Downregulation of miR-140 promotes cancer stem cell formation in basallike early stage breast cancer. Oncogene 33(20):2589
- Nagalingam A et al (2016) Indolo-pyrido-isoquinolin based alkaloid inhibits epithelialmesenchymal transition and stemness via activation of p53-miR34a axis. AACR, Philadelphia
- Ma W et al (2015) Dysregulation of the miR-34a-SIRT1 axis inhibits breast cancer stemness. Oncotarget 6(12):10432
- Kang L et al (2015) Micro RNA-34a suppresses the breast cancer stem cell-like characteristics by downregulating Notch1 pathway. Cancer Sci 106(6):700–708
- 82. Zhang H et al (2016) The influence of miR-34a expression on stemness and cytotoxic susceptibility of breast cancer stem cells. Cancer Biol Ther 17(6):614–624
- Mayoral-Varo V et al (2017) miR205 inhibits stem cell renewal in SUM159PT breast cancer cells. PLoS One 12(11):e0188637
- 84. Lu J et al (2013) Endothelial cells promote the colorectal cancer stem cell phenotype through a soluble form of Jagged-1. Cancer Cell 23(2):171–185
- Chao C-H et al (2014) MicroRNA-205 signaling regulates mammary stem cell fate and tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest 124(7):3093–3106
- 86. Zhang H et al (2014) MiR-7, inhibited indirectly by lincRNA HOTAIR, directly inhibits SETDB1 and reverses the EMT of breast cancer stem cells by downregulating the STAT3 pathway. Stem Cells 32(11):2858–2868
- Liu Y et al (2011) MicroRNAs modulate the Wnt signaling pathway through targeting its inhibitors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 408(2):259–264
- Kapinas K et al (2010) miR-29 modulates Wnt signaling in human osteoblasts through a positive feedback loop. J Biol Chem 285(33):25221–25231
- Yu F et al (2012) MicroRNA 34c gene down-regulation via DNA methylation promotes selfrenewal and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast tumor-initiating cells. J Biol Chem 287(1):465–473
- 90. Liu S et al (2012) MicroRNA93 regulates proliferation and differentiation of normal and malignant breast stem cells. PLoS Genet 8(6):e1002751
- Yang Z et al (2014) miR-99a directly targets the mTOR signalling pathway in breast cancer side population cells. Cell Prolif 47(6):587–595
- 92. Sun X et al (2012) Role of let-7 in maintaining characteristics of breast cancer stem cells. Chin J Cell Mol Immunol 28(8):789–792
- 93. Lin Y et al (2015) MicroRNA-33b inhibits breast cancer metastasis by targeting HMGA2, SALL4 and Twist1. Sci Rep 5:9995
- Zhang X et al (2010) Oncogenic Wip1 phosphatase is inhibited by miR-16 in the DNA damage signaling pathway. Cancer Res 70(18):7176–7186
- 95. El Helou R et al (2017) miR-600 acts as a bimodal switch that regulates breast cancer stem cell fate through WNT signaling. Cell Rep 18(9):2256–2268
- 96. Qian P et al (2012) Loss of SNAIL regulated miR-128-2 on chromosome 3p22. 3 targets multiple stem cell factors to promote transformation of mammary epithelial cells. Cancer Res 72(22):6036–6050
- 97. Wang Y et al (2011) Transforming growth factor-β regulates the sphere-initiating stem celllike feature in breast cancer through miRNA-181 and ATM. Oncogene 30(12):1470
- Wellner U et al (2009) The EMT-activator ZEB1 promotes tumorigenicity by repressing stemness-inhibiting microRNAs. Nat Cell Biol 11(12):1487
- 99. Leung WK et al (2015) Wnt/β-catenin activates MiR-183/96/182 expression in hepatocellular carcinoma that promotes cell invasion. Cancer Lett 362(1):97–105
- 100. Isobe T et al (2014) miR-142 regulates the tumorigenicity of human breast cancer stem cells through the canonical WNT signaling pathway. Elife 3:e01977

- 101. Cao M et al (2014) MicroRNA-495 induces breast cancer cell migration by targeting JAM-A. Protein Cell 5(11):862–872
- 102. Hwang-Verslues WW et al (2011) miR-495 is upregulated by E12/E47 in breast cancer stem cells, and promotes oncogenesis and hypoxia resistance via downregulation of E-cadherin and REDD1. Oncogene 30(21):2463–2474
- 103. Wang Y, Lui WY (2012) Transforming growth factor-beta1 attenuates junctional adhesion molecule-A and contributes to breast cancer cell invasion. Eur J Cancer 48(18):3475–3487
- 104. Ke J et al (2015) Role of microRNA221 in regulating normal mammary epithelial hierarchy and breast cancer stem-like cells. Oncotarget 6(6):3709
- 105. Nandy SB et al (2015) MicroRNA-125a influences breast cancer stem cells by targeting leukemia inhibitory factor receptor which regulates the Hippo signaling pathway. Oncotarget 6(19):17366
- 106. Wang X et al (2013) Krüppel-like factor 8 promotes tumorigenic mammary stem cell induction by targeting miR-146a. Am J Cancer Res 3(4):356
- 107. Han M et al (2012) Antagonism of miR-21 reverses epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cell phenotype through AKT/ERK1/2 inactivation by targeting PTEN. PLoS One 7(6):e39520–e39520
- 108. Stinson S et al (2011) miR-221/222 targeting of trichorhinophalangeal 1 (TRPS1) promotes epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer. Sci Signal 4(186):pt5
- 109. Smith AL et al (2012) The miR-106b-25 cluster targets Smad7, activates TGF- β signaling, and induces EMT and tumor initiating cell characteristics downstream of Six1 in human breast cancer. Oncogene 31(50):5162
- 110. de Smet MD, Meenken CJ, van den Horn GJ (1999) Fomivirsen a phosphorothioate oligonucleotide for the treatment of CMV retinitis. Ocul Immunol Inflamm 7(3–4):189–198
- 111. Zhang Y, Wang Z, Gemeinhart RA (2013) Progress in microRNA delivery. J Control Release 172(3):962–974
- De Jong WH, Borm PJ (2008) Drug delivery and nanoparticles: applications and hazards. Int J Nanomed 3(2):133
- 113. Ohno S-I et al (2013) Systemically injected exosomes targeted to EGFR deliver antitumor microRNA to breast cancer cells. Mol Ther 21(1):185–191
- 114. Yin J et al (2013) A Bmi1-miRNAs cross-talk modulates chemotherapy response to 5-fluorouracil in breast cancer cells. PLoS One 8(9):e73268
- 115. Tanei T et al (2009) Association of breast cancer stem cells identified by aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 expression with resistance to sequential paclitaxel and epirubicin-based chemotherapy for breast cancers. Clin Cancer Res 15(12):4234–4241



Skin Stem Cells in Cancer

Monica Piccione and Rosa Di Liddo

Abstract

Stem cells (SCs) are responsible for maintaining and regenerating tissues and show unique defining characteristics, including self-renewal, asymmetrical cell division, low proliferation rate, and clonogenic potential. Niches of epidermal SCs have been identified in the bulge of hair follicles, the basal layer of the interfollicular epidermis, and the base of sebaceous glands. Accumulating evidence suggests that multipotent bulge cells generate hair follicles under physiological conditions and regenerate the epidermis and sebaceous glands in response to skin injury. In contrast, SCs of the interfollicular epidermis and sebaceous glands are lineage specific and generate their respective tissues without recruiting SCs from the bulge compartment. Cancer stem cells (CSCs) represent a class of tumor cells exhibiting stem cell-like properties and ability to initiate tumors. They are derived from SCs or from non-stem cells that acquire self-renewal potential. Likely SCs, CSCs express regulatory factors of self-renewal, such as SOX2, MYC, and OCT4, and some common "stemness" pathways, such as Wnt signaling. In contrast, they could not be multipotent and lead to single lineage tumors, such as squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) (epidermal lineage), various follicular tumor types (hair follicle lineage), and sebaceous gland tumors (sebaceous lineage). Currently, several studies on CSC biology have been performed to develop new targeted therapies for patients with skin tumors with poor prognoses.

Keywords

Skin \cdot Stem cells \cdot Skin cancers \cdot Melanoma skin cancer \cdot Non-melanoma skin cancer \cdot Interfollicular epidermis \cdot Cancer stem cells

6

M. Piccione · R. Di Liddo (🖂)

Department of Pharmaceutical and Pharmacological Sciences, University of Padova, Padova, Italy e-mail: rosa.diliddo@unipd.it

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_6

6.1 Introduction

In the last decade, excellent and pioneering studies have been performed to characterize the role of epidermal and dermal stem cells (SCs) in melanoma and non-melanoma skin cancers (NMSCs), including basal cell carcinoma (BCC) and squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). The epidermis is a stratified squamous epithelium that is continuously replenished by heterogeneous populations of tissue-resident stem cells in follicular region (HF), which is the epidermis enriched of pilosebaceous units, and interfollicular compartment (IFE) [1]. HF and IFE have been demonstrated to be differently involved into tissue homeostasis or restoration of wounded skin. HF bulge stem cells give rise to transit-amplifying (TA) cells, that are committed progenitors that remain undifferentiated, subsequently dividing to expand the progenitor cell population while sparing continued SC division. These multipotent slow-cycling and label-retaining cells (LRCs) contribute to the anagen phase of the hair growth and to the repair/regeneration of damages. In contrast, IFE exerts an active role during routine epidermal cell renewal but not under injury [2]. A balance of proliferation and differentiation between stem and progenitors guarantees a normal epidermal cell turnover every 2-4 weeks [3]. The disruption of it is reported as a hallmark of skin cancer.

6.2 Epidermal Stem Cells (ESCs)

ESCs are present in the hair follicle bulge, the basal layer of interfollicular epidermis, and the base of sebaceous glands [4]. Like stem cells of other tissues, they play a central role in homeostasis and wound repair, while under pathological conditions, they exert a key role in tumor initiation. According to the most universally accepted criteria, keratinocyte stem cells are slow or rarely cycling and showing self-renewal potential, proliferative activity, and ability to preserve skin integrity. Based on longterm labeling of skin cells with a DNA precursor such as [³H]Thymidine or bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU), the slow-cycling stem cells have been identified as label-retaining cells (LRCs) [1]. According to Watt and co-workers [5], stem cells within interfollicular epidermis express integrin β1, have high clonogenic potentiality, and are more vulnerable to environmental insults than basal cells present at the bottom of the deep rete ridges [6]. In contrast, Kaur and co-workers [7] report that $\alpha 6$ integrin is more specific for keratinocyte basal cells and is a useful marker to purify stem cells from transit-amplifying cells (TAC), which rapidly amplify the pool of differentiated cells produced at each stem cell division [3]. Currently, it is not known whether each TAC is committed to differentiate along one specific lineage or various lineages. Under normal conditions, SCs from interfollicular epidermis and sebaceous glands are lineage specific and generate their respective tissues without recruiting bulge stem cells. Besides generating hair follicles, the follicular SCs from hair bulge regenerate the epidermis and sebaceous glands in response to skin injury [4]. A requirement for the survival of stem cells is that the quiescent state is strictly controlled by signaling cascades, including sonic hedgehog (SHH) and Wnt pathway.

Under resting conditions, SHH ligand binds to its membrane-spanning receptor, called Patched (Ptch), inhibiting Smoothened (Smo), a transmembrane protein. SHH is an important regulator of HF bulge stem cells and dermal papilla [8]. Mutations in human Ptch are implicated in the basal cell nevus syndrome, which is a dominant autosomal condition characterized by a complex set of developmental defects and high incidence of basal cell carcinomas [9].

What ligands are secreted glycoproteins that bind to Frizzled receptors for triggering the displacement of GSK-3 β from the APC/Axin/GSK-3 β complex, leading to β-catenin stabilization, Rac1 nuclear translocation, and recruitment of LEF/TCF DNA-binding factors [10]. Wnt signaling controls the commitment of HF bulge cells in mouse to maintain the stem state or permit entry into a differentiation pathway. Notch and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling contribute to the development of IF epidermis. In particular, Notch signaling is active within epidermal basal layer and regulates the differentiation process of keratinocytes [11]. Several miRNAs, which are small (~19–24 nucleotides) noncoding RNAs, are demonstrated to exert specific functions in skin. For instance, miR-203 is expressed at high levels only in the suprabasal epidermis or the inner root sheath of the HF, but not in progenitor/stem cells of HF epidermis, in both HF bulge and HF matrix [12]. Using transgenic mice, it has been demonstrated that the primary role of miR-203 in the epidermal basal layer is related to the differentiation of the transitamplifying cells or to limit their proliferative life span. Interestingly, miR-203 has been shown to repress the expression of tumor protein p63 (p63), a putative stem cell marker of epidermal keratinocytes, promoting cell cycle arrest during the transition of cells to suprabasal layers [12] through the transcriptional regulation of Dicer and miR-130b [13]. Moreover, knocking down miR-125b in transgenic mice results into the alteration of stem cell differentiation provoking enlarged sebaceous glands, thickened epidermis, and lacking of hair coat [14]. Potential targets of miR-125b include vitamin D receptor (VDR) [14].

6.2.1 Hair Follicle Stem Cells

The hair follicle is a structure that projects down into the dermis and undergoes intermittent cycles of growth, regression, and quiescence [15]. During each cycle of growth, the follicle is generated from stem cells that are located in the hair bulge, which is a not well recognizable structure in human. The human hair follicle cycle takes about a decade and expresses CD200 (cluster of differentiation 200), a type I membrane glycoprotein containing two immunoglobulin domains [16]. In contrast, keratin 15 (K15) is a reliable marker in mouse bulge cells, but not in human [17]. Two different bulge K15-positive stem cell subpopulations have been identified in human epidermis: CD200+/CD34–/K15bri (basal), forming larger clonal growth colonies, and CD200+/CD34–/K15dim (suprabasal) [18]. CD34 (cluster of differentiation 34), a single-pass transmembrane sialomucin protein, has

been not identified in human bulge tissue [19], but only in murine follicles, wherein CD34+ cells are label retaining and clonogenic [20]. Keratin 19 (K19) and K15 promoter are also detected in mouse LRCs [21]. The region between the bulge and the IF epidermis in murine epidermis also contains putative stem cells that are MTS24+/Lrig1+/ α 6dim cells and highly clonogenic [22]. Sca-1+ cells are present in the infundibulum [23] and repopulate the IF epidermis. Lrig1+ cells are quiescent in the junctional zone [24] and are demonstrated in reconstitution assays to give rise to all epidermal cell lineages [24].

6.2.2 Sebaceous Gland (SG) Stem Cells

SG is an important structure of epidermis that is produced in mouse from stem cells located at HF above the CD34+/K15+ bulge region and expressing LGR6 [25]. This population is multipotent and is able to replace epidermis (HF and IF) and SG structures in mouse [25]. However, they are not label retaining and can renew the sebaceous gland and sebaceous gland stem cells Blimp-1 positive [26]. The bulge area also contains melanocyte stem cells and stem cells with neural crest properties [27].

6.2.3 Other Epidermal Stem Cells

Bone marrow-derived stem cells (BMSCs) are found in the epidermis during epidermal regeneration. Several studies suggest that BMSCs are able to derive in vivo from both dermal and epidermal cells [28] and, only under ex vivo settings, fuse with keratinocytes [29].

6.3 Skin Cancer Stem Cells

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are tumor cells exhibiting self-renewal potential, stem celllike properties, and abilities to initiate tumors. To date, CSCs from skin are hypothesized to originate from immature compartments [30] or from reprogrammed differentiated cells [31]. Genic alterations in hair follicle bulge potentially promote the development of tumors representing lineages of epidermis, hair follicles, and sebaceous glands, while lineage-committed mutant stem cells generate only tumors from that lineage. For instance, interfollicular SCs typically generate squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs), while transit-amplifying cells of the hair follicles and mutant sebaceous gland SCs promote sebaceous tumors and cause hair follicle tumors [32]. The fate of CSCs is reported to be strictly controlled by stromal niche signals and cell-cell interactions with immune cells, cancer-associated fibroblasts, and endothelial cells [33]. The niche has been recently defined as a stromal template that acts not only to maintain the "stemness" grade of skin [34] but also for the epithelial organ maintenance and regeneration through the simultaneous release of proliferative and differentiative cues [35]. Hedgehog signaling pathway is known to be active in stromal niches and specifies the expression of secreted chemical signals. Notably, mutations leading to cell-autonomous activation of the Hedgehog pathway in primary tumor cells drive the development of basal cell carcinoma (BCC) [36]. In squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), distinct CSC populations coexist, and their tumor initiation and metastatic potential may be uncoupled. Cancer cells become hyperproliferative [37] due to the stimulation of niche factors, such as transforming growth factor- β (TGF β) [38] and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [39], or due to an upregulated expression of SOX2 [40] or mutations in *Kras* and *Smad4* genes [41]. White et al. [41] demonstrated that CSCs are rare in primary SCCs, but their number dramatically increases in metastatic SCCs or tumors showing epithelial to mesenchymal transition. Depending on tumor type, cancer stem cells express putative cell surface markers that can be either shared with or distinct from normal stem cells (Table 6.1), such as CD34, a cell surface marker of bulge SCs or SCCs [53].

Structural	Epidermal stem cells		Epic	Epidermal stem cells		Mesenchymal stem cells	
proteins	(bas	al layer)	(hair follicle bulge)		(dermis)		
К5	+	Fuchs [42]	+	Bose and Shenoy [43]	-		
K14	+	Fuchs [42]	+	Bose and Shenoy [43]	-		
K15	-		+	Bose and Shenoy [43]	+	Forni et al. [44]	
E-cadherin	+	Jamora et al. [45]	+	Jamora et al. [45]	-		
LGR5	-		+	Kretzschmar and Watt [46]	-		
LGR6	-		+	Snippert et al. [25]	-		
CD29	+	Martin et al. [47]	+	Inoue et al. [18]	-		
CD34	+	Kretzschmar and Watt [46]	+	Jang et al. [48]	+	Wong et al. [49]	
CD49f	+	Yang et al. [50]	+	Jang et al. [48]	-		
CD44	-		-		+	Klimczak and Kozlowska [51]	
CD73	-		-		+	Klimczak and Kozlowska [51]	
CD90	-		-		+	Forni et al. [44]	
CD105	_		-		+	Forni et al. [44]	
CD117	-		+	Jang et al. [48]	+	Kang et al. [52]	
CD200	-		+	Jang et al. [48]	-		
CD271	-		+	Inoue et al. [18]	+	Klimczak and Kozlowska [51]	

Table 6.1 Skin stem cell markers

6.3.1 Skin Cancer Niches

The epidermis renewal under physiological conditions is commonly attributed to a single type of stem cells. When external insults, genic mutations, impairment of immune system, and skin barrier occur (Fig. 6.1), the proliferation and differentiation processes could be affected and skin cancers are developed. Both BCC and SCC are reported to arise from a self-renewing cancer-initiating cell (CIC), a stem or progenitor cell that, showing innate self-renewal, is primed by minor genetic alterations for transformation into a self-renewing cancer SC (CSC).

Besides HF and IFE SCs, more differentiated cell populations can undergo malignant transformation with a "progenitor-like" signature. In the epidermis, benign tumors, rather than carcinomas, readily form in response to oncogenic mutations arising in committed cells. Malignant conversion of skin papillomas originating from differentiated cells to carcinomas is a rare event that is characterized by the altered expression of markers, such as TGF- β , Keratin-13, and $\alpha 6\beta 4$ integrin [54]. Benign tumors showing high risk of malignant conversion are primarily derived from cells located within HF, although the nature of CICs remains the major determinant of malignant potential. Research findings have reported the implication of Grainyhead-like 3 (Grhl3) gene in the formation of SCC from differentiated cells. Grhl3 is a transcription factor that is involved in the expression of structural proteins and lipid metabolizing enzymes (e.g., Transglutaminase 1; TGase1) related to epidermal barrier formation and terminal differentiation [55]. Grhl3 deficiency has been demonstrated in mice to cause the loss of TGase1 expression, epidermal acidification, altered organization of stratum corneum, pup dehydration, and death immediately after birth [56]. Moreover, the induction of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is also observed in differentiated suprabasal epithelial cells. Interestingly, the regression of epidermal barrier does



Fig. 6.1 Inherited and environmental factors related to the onset of melanoma and non-melanoma skin cancer

not occur in adults when Grhl3 is deleted, suggesting that, although Grhl3 is essential for barrier establishment, it is not required for maintaining epithelium integrity [57].

6.3.2 Plasticity and Heterogeneity of Skin Cancer Cells

CSCs display functional heterogeneity and ability to rapidly respond to environmental cues acquiring specific genic and immunophenotypic profile. Because of their "dynamic stemness," SCC tumors demonstrate to contain multiple CSC populations with a proliferative (Side Population/SP) or migratory phenotype (CD34+/CD49f+). Although both SP and CD34+/CD49f+ populations are tumorigenic, only tumors originated from SP cells undergo EMT and metastasize [41]. A substantial amount of literature recognizes among CSCs a great heterogeneity for the expression of CD44 glycoprotein, metabolites, and growth factors impacting on the effectiveness of antitumoral drugs. In the past few years, the development of non-melanoma skin cancers has been reported as dependent on a "bottom-up" and "top-down" mechanism of tumorigenesis. The "bottom-up" model involves a cancer stem cell arising in the basal epidermis, which houses progenitor cells contributing to wound healing and normal cell turnover of overlying epidermal layers. The "top-down" concept involves a more differentiated cell that undergoes genetic modifications and dedifferentiates to CICs. BCC derives from pluripotent keratinocytes presumably located in the basal layer of the hair follicles, while SCC seems to originate from keratinocytes possibly located in the suprabasal layers of the epidermis. UV radiation suppresses the immune response in the skin, starting the malignant transformation of epidermal cells. Upon light exposure, keratinocytes upregulate the expression of RANK ligand, a receptor activator of NF-kB ligand, that, in turn, induces the proliferation of immunosuppressor T-cells (Tregs). UV light is known to induce DNA breaks in exposed cells. Most DNA breaks or local DNA damages are repaired by the p53 tumor suppressor gene, which is regarded as the "guardian of the genome." When DNA damage is not restored, keratinocytes undergo apoptosis activated by p53 protein and BCL2 family proteins. Under pathological conditions, some individuals show a lower DNA repair capacity and thus develop precancerous skin lesions leading to malignant transformation. Unfortunately, p53 gene could be itself mutated by UV irradiation promoting an uncontrolled cell proliferation and loss of apoptosis in mutated cells. Loss-of-function mutation of p53 has been detected in about 56% of BCC and in >90% of SCC [58].

6.3.3 Molecular Profiling of Skin Cancer Stem Cells

According to cancer stem cell theory, tumor stem cells are slow cycling and not impacted by anticancer agents [59]. Mutations in rarely dividing long-lived stem cells lead to the accumulation of genetic changes that overcome cell control and lead to cancer growth. To date, the molecular profile of tumor stem cells is still lacking

although accumulating body of evidence suggests that the tumor-initiating cells express CD133, and the cancer stem cells located along the dermal/tumor interface are integrin positive and CD34bright/dim [60]. Other protein markers identify putative cancer stem cells, such as Aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) in melanoma cells [61] and CD44 (hyaluronic acid receptor) in squamous cell cancer stem cells [62]. Negative expression of CD24 is observed in postmitotic human keratinocytes [63]. The marker protein profile observed in BCC is consistent with a hair follicle origin of the tumors [64]. Moreover, the level of LGR5, an HF stem cell marker, is increased in most BCCs [65] (Table 6.2).

	Melanoma stem cells (Me-SCs)		Basal cell carcinoma stem cells (BCC-SCs)		Squamous cell carcinoma stem cells (SCC-SCs)	
Molecular markers	NANOG	Perego et al. [66]	K14	Peterson et al. [67]	TGFβ	Schober and Fuchs [68]
	OCT3	Perego et al. [66]	K15	Sellheyer [64]	MYC	Jian et al. [69]
	OCT4	Perego et al. [66]	K17	Peterson et al. [67]	OCT4	Kim et al. [70]
	CD20	Lang et al. [71]	K19	Al-Garf et al. [72]	CD34	Trempus et al. [20]
	CD133	Roudi et al. [61]	CD29	Sellheyer [64]	CD44	Lapouge et al. [73]
	CD271	Civenni et al. [74]	CD200	Peterson et al. [67]	CD49f	White et al. [41]
	Wnt	Katoh [75]	P63	Al-Garf et al. [72]	CD133	Olivero et al. [76]
	Notch	Venkatesh et al. [77]	LGR5	Jang et al. [48]	CD200	Stumpfova et al. [78]
	SHH	Kumar et al. [79]	LGR6	Zhang et al. [14]	Wnt	Jian et al. [69]
	ALDH1	Roudi et al. [61]	SHH	Callahan et al. [80]	SOX2	Boumahdi et al. [81]
	SOX2	Santini et al. [82]	PDGF	Sellheyer [64]		
			SOX9	Sellheyer [64]		
			Tenascin- C	Sellheyer [64]		
			Bmi-1	Sellheyer [64]		
			Follistatin	Sellheyer [64]		

Table 6.2 Relevant markers in melanoma and non-melanoma cancer stem cells (CSCs)

6.4 Skin Cancers and Immunosuppression

Immunosuppression exerts a pivotal role in skin carcinogenesis [83]. NMSCs are frequently infiltrated by immune cells, but the immune system often shows to be unable to eradicate the tumor. In SCC, the local tumor-specific immunity is compromised by the downregulation of E-selectin, recruited regulatory T cells, and malfunctioning intratumoral myeloid dendritic cells. In BCC, the absence or downregulation of MHC-I and the presence of regulatory T cells are observed. Due to the heterogeneous expression of class I HLA proteins in SCC, immunosuppression increases the SCC risk 65-fold, while BCC risk only tenfold [84]. Yesantharao et al. [85] proposed SCC cancer cells have an abnormal membrane expression of HLA-G protein in immunosuppressed patients allowing tumoral cells to negatively regulate Natural Killer- and T lymphocyte-mediated destruction and cytotoxic response, as already demonstrated in other cancers (melanoma, breast, colon, lung, and renal). In addition, suppressive effects on skin immunity have been reported by UV irradiation. Indeed, it has been reported that UV radiation-induced photolesions such as cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPDs) affect immune system, inhibiting mast cells, cytotoxic T cells, and memory T cells and activating regulatory B lymphocytes, T lymphocytes, and natural killer cells [86]. Furthermore, molecules with immunosuppressive properties such as IL-10, prostaglandins, plateletactivating factor, and ROS are also stimulated. In addition, UV radiation also affects Langerhans cells (LC), lowering the number of LC in the skin promoting LC migration to the draining lymph nodes [87].

6.5 Concluding Remarks

Skin tumors are the most common malignancy worldwide. Current therapies based on chemotherapeutic agents, or surgical methods, are not specific and limited by high economic burden and uncontrolled side effects. To date, the univocal molecular signature of the cell of origin (Table 6.2) is the main goal for the development of targeted therapies for more effective treatment of melanoma and non-melanoma skin cancers.

References

Bickenbach JR (1981) Identification and behavior of label-retaining cells in oral mucosa and skin. J Dent Res 60(Spec C):1611–1620. https://doi.org/10.1177/002203458106000311011

Blanpain C, Fuchs E (2006) Epidermal stem cells of the skin. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 22:339–373. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.22.010305.104357

^{3.} Tumbar T, Guasch G, Greco V et al (2004) Defining the epithelial stem cell niche in skin. Science 303:359–363. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1092436

Levy V, Lindon C, Harfe BD, Morgan BA (2005) Distinct stem cell populations regenerate the follicle and interfollicular epidermis. Dev Cell 9:855–861. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel. 2005.11.003

- 5. Watt FM (1998) Epidermal stem cells: markers, patterning and the control of stem cell fate. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 353:831–837. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1998.0247
- Bickenbach JR, Stern MM (2005) Plasticity of epidermal stem cells: survival in various environments. Stem Cell Rev 1:71–77. https://doi.org/10.1385/scr:1:1:071
- Kaur P, Li A (2000) Adhesive properties of human basal epidermal cells: an analysis of keratinocyte stem cells, transit amplifying cells, and postmitotic differentiating cells. J Invest Dermatol 114:413–420. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1747.2000.00884.x
- Schmidt-Ullrich R, Paus R (2005) Molecular principles of hair follicle induction and morphogenesis. Bioessays 27:247–261. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.20184
- Murone M, Rosenthal A, De Sauvage FJ (1999) Sonic hedgehog signaling by the patchedsmoothened receptor complex. Curr Biol 9:76–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(99) 80018-9
- Eckert R, Adhikary G, Balasubramanian S et al (2014) Biochemistry of epidermal stem cells. Am J Biosci 2:22–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.07.002.Biochemistry
- Lowell S, Jones P, Le Roux I et al (2000) Stimulation of human epidermal differentiation by Delta-notch signalling at the boundaries of stem-cell clusters. Curr Biol 10:491–500. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00451-6
- 12. Yi R, Poy MN, Stoffel M, Fuchs E (2008) A skin microRNA promotes differentiation by repressing "stemness". Nature 452:225–229. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06642
- Su X, Chakravarti D, Cho MS et al (2010) TAp63 suppresses metastasis through coordinate regulation of dicer and miRNAs. Nature 467:986–990. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09459
- Zhang L, Stokes N, Polak L, Fuchs E (2011) Specific microRNAs are preferentially expressed by skin stem cells to balance self-renewal and early lineage commitment. Cell Stem Cell 8:294–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2011.01.014
- Myung P, Ito M (2012) Dissecting the bulge in hair regeneration. J Clin Invest 122:448–454. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI57414
- Ohyama M, Terunuma A, Tock CL et al (2006) Characterization and isolation of stem cell– enriched human hair follicle bulge cells. J Clin Invest 116:249–260. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-61779-815-3_24
- Bose A, Teh MT, Mackenzie IC, Waseem A (2013) Keratin K15 as a biomarker of epidermal stem cells. Int J Mol Sci 14:19385–19398. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms141019385
- Inoue K, Aoi N, Sato T et al (2009) Differential expression of stem-cell-associated markers in human hair follicle epithelial cells. Lab Invest 89:844–856. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest. 2009.48
- Boehnke K, Falkowska-Hansen B, Stark HJ, Boukamp P (2012) Stem cells of the human epidermis and their niche: composition and function in epidermal regeneration and carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 33:1247–1258. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgs136
- Trempus CS, Morris RJ, Ehinger M et al (2007) CD34 expression by hair follicle stem cells is required for skin tumor development in mice. Cancer Res 67:4173–4181. https://doi.org/10. 1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3128
- Morris RJ, Liu Y, Marles L et al (2004) Capturing and profiling adult hair follicle stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 22:411–417. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt950
- Nijhof JGW, Braun KM, Giangreco A et al (2006) The cell-surface marker MTS24 identifies a novel population of follicular keratinocytes with characteristics of progenitor cells. Development 133:3027–3037. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02443
- Jensen UB, Yan X, Triel C et al (2008) A distinct population of clonogenic and multipotent murine follicular keratinocytes residing in the upper isthmus. J Cell Sci 121:609–617. https:// doi.org/10.1242/jcs.025502
- 24. Jensen KB, Collins CA, Nascimento E et al (2009) Lrig1 expression defines a distinct multipotent stem cell population in mammalian epidermis. Cell Stem Cell 4:427–439. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.04.014

- Snippert HJ, Haegebarth A, Kasper M et al (2010) Lgr6 marks stem cells in the hair follicle that generate all cell lineages of the skin. Science 327:1385–1389. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1184733
- 26. Horsley V, O'Carroll D, Tooze R et al (2006) Blimp1 defines a progenitor population that governs cellular input to the sebaceous gland. Cell 126:597–609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2006.06.048
- Sulewski R, Kirsner RS (2010) The multipotent nature of hair bulge cells. J Invest Dermatol 130:1198. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2010.81
- 28. Deng W, Han QIN, Liao L et al (2005) Engrafted bone marrow-derived Flk-1. Tissue Eng 11:110-119
- Baxter MA (2004) Study of telomere length reveals rapid aging of human marrow stromal cells following in vitro expansion. Stem Cells 22:675–682. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.22-5-675
- Morris RJ, Fischer SM, Slaga TJ (1986) Evidence that a slowly cycling subpopulation of adult murine epidermal cells retains carcinogen. Cancer Res 46:3061–3066
- Jamieson CHM, Ailles LE, Dylla SJ et al (2004) Granulocyte-macrophage progenitors as candidate leukemic stem cells in blast-crisis CML. N Engl J Med 351:657–667. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa040258
- Owens DM, Watt FM (2003) Contribution of stem cells and differentiated cells to epidermal tumours. Nat Rev Cancer 3:444–451. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1096
- Roberts KJ, Kershner AM, Beachy PA (2017) The stromal niche for epithelial stem cells: a template for regeneration and a brake on malignancy. Cancer Cell 32:404–410. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.08.007
- 34. Lander AD, Kimble J, Clevers H et al (2012) What does the concept of the stem cell niche really mean today? BMC Biol 10:1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-10-19
- 35. Shin K, Lim A, Zhao C et al (2014) Re: Hedgehog signaling restrains bladder cancer progression by eliciting stromal production of urothelial differentiation factors. J Urol 19426:521–533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2015.04.038
- Sekulic A, Migden MR, Oro AE et al (2012) Efficacy and safety of vismodegib in advanced basal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 366:2171–2179. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1113713
- Song IY, Balmain A (2015) Cellular reprogramming in skin cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 32:32–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13536.Application
- Oshimori N, Oristian D, Fuchs E (2015) TGF-β promotes heterogeneity and drug resistance in squamous cell carcinoma. Cell 160:963–976. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.03.040
- 39. Beck B, Driessens G, Goossens S et al (2011) A vascular niche and a VEGF-Nrp1 loop regulate the initiation and stemness of skin tumours. Nature 478:399–403. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature10525
- Siegle JM, Basin A, Sastre-Perona A et al (2015) SOX2 is a cancer-specific regulator of tumor initiating potential in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. Nat Commun 5:139. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.03.040
- White RA, Neiman JM, Reddi A et al (2013) Epithelial stem cell mutations that promote squamous cell carcinoma metastasis. J Clin Invest 123:4390–4404. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI65856
- 42. Fuchs E (2009) Finding One's Niche in the skin. Cell Stem Cell 4:499–502. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2009.05.001
- 43. Bose B, Shenoy SP (2014) Stem cell versus cancer and cancer stem cell: intricate balance decides their respective usefulness or harmfulness in the biological system. J Stem Cell Res Ther 4. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7633.1000173
- 44. Forni MF, Lobba ARM, Ferreira AHP, Sogayar MC (2015) Simultaneous isolation of three different stem cell populations from murine skin. PLoS One 10:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0140143

- 45. Jamora C, DasGupta R, Kocieniewski P, Fuchs E (2003) Links between signal transduction, transcription and adhesion in epithelial bud development. Nature 422:317–322. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature01458
- 46. Kretzschmar K, Watt FM (2014) Markers of epidermal stem cell subpopulations. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 4:1–14
- Martin MT, Vulin A, Hendry JH (2016) Human epidermal stem cells: role in adverse skin reactions and carcinogenesis from radiation. Mutat Res/Rev Mutat Res 770:349–368. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2016.08.004
- 48. Jang BG, Lee C, Kim HS et al (2017) Distinct expression profile of stem cell markers, LGR5 and LGR6, in basaloid skin tumors. Virchows Arch 470:301–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00428-016-2061-3
- Wong VW, Levi B, Rajadas J et al (2012) Stem cell niches for skin regeneration. Int J Biomater 2012:1. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/926059
- Yang R, Wang J, Chen X et al (2020) Epidermal stem cells in wound healing and regeneration. Stem Cells Int 2020:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9148310
- Klimczak A, Kozlowska U (2015) Mesenchymal stromal cells and tissue-specific progenitor cells: their role in tissue homeostasis. Stem Cells Int 2016:4285215. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2016/4285215
- 52. Kang HY, Hwang JS, Lee JY et al (2006) The dermal stem cell factor and c-kit are overexpressed in melasma. Br J Dermatol 154:1094–1099. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2006.07179.x
- 53. Trempus CS, Morris RJ, Bortner CD et al (2003) Enrichment for living murine keratinocytes from the hair follicle bulge with the cell surface marker CD34. J Invest Dermatol 120:501–511. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1747.2003.12088.x
- Youssef M, Cuddihy A, Darido C (2017) Long-lived epidermal cancer-initiating cells. Int J Mol Sci 18:18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18071369
- 55. Cangkrama M, Ting SB, Darido C (2013) Stem cells behind the barrier. Int J Mol Sci 14:13670–13686. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms140713670
- 56. Fluhr JW, Kao J, Jain M et al (2001) Generation of free fatty acids from phospholipids regulates stratum corneum acidification and integrity. J Invest Dermatol 117:44–51. https://doi.org/10. 1046/j.0022-202X.2001.01399.x
- 57. Darido C, Georgy SR, Wilanowski T et al (2011) Targeting of the tumor suppressor GRHL3 by a miR-21-dependent proto-oncogenic network results in PTEN loss and tumorigenesis. Cancer Cell 20:635–648. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2011.10.014
- Erb P, Ji J, Kump E et al (2008) Apoptosis and pathogenesis of melanoma and nonmelanoma skin cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol 624:283–295. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-77574-6_22
- Al-Hajj M, Clarke MF (2004) Self-renewal and solid tumor stem cells. Oncogene 23:7274–7282. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207947
- Patel SS, Shah KA, Shah MJ et al (2014) Cancer stem cells and stemness markers in oral squamous cell carcinomas. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 15:8549–8556. https://doi.org/10.7314/ APJCP.2014.15.20.8549
- Roudi R, Korourian A, Shariftabrizi A, Madjd Z (2015) Differential expression of cancer stem cell markers ALDH1 and CD133 in various lung cancer subtypes. Cancer Invest 33:294–302. https://doi.org/10.3109/07357907.2015.1034869
- 62. Prince ME, Sivanandan R, Kaczorowski A et al (2007) Identification of a subpopulation of cells with cancer stem cell properties in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. PNAS 104:973–978. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0610117104
- 63. Bergoglio V, Larcher F, Chevallier-Lagente O et al (2007) Safe selection of genetically manipulated human primary keratinocytes with very high growth potential using CD24. Mol Ther 15:2186–2193. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mt.6300292
- 64. Sellheyer K (2011) Basal cell carcinoma: cell of origin, cancer stem cell hypothesis and stem cell markers. Br J Dermatol 164:696–711. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2010.10158.x

- 65. Tanese K, Fukuma M, Yamada T et al (2008) G-protein-coupled receptor GPR49 is up-regulated in basal cell carcinoma and promotes cell proliferation and tumor formation. Am J Pathol 173:835–843. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2008.071091
- 66. Perego M, Tortoreto M, Tragni G et al (2010) Heterogeneous phenotype of human melanoma cells with in vitro and in vivo features of tumor-initiating cells. J Invest Dermatol 130:1877–1886. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2010.69
- Peterson SC, Eberl M, Vagnozzi AN et al (2015) Basal cell carcinoma preferentially arises from stem cells within hair follicle and mechanosensory niches. Cell Stem Cell 16:400–412. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.03.040
- 68. Schober M, Fuchs E (2011) Tumor-initiating stem cells of squamous cell carcinomas and their control by TGF-β and integrin/focal adhesion kinase (FAK) signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:10544–10549. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1107807108
- Jian Z, Strait A, Jimeno A, Wang X (2017) Cancer stem cells in squamous cell carcinoma. J Invest Dermatol 137:31–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2016.07.033.Cancer
- 70. Kim BG, Kim MI, Lee JW et al (2015) Expression of cancer stem cell marker during 4-nitroquinoline 1-oxide-induced rat tongue carcinogenesis. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 44: e244–e245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijom.2015.08.184
- Lang D, Mascarenhas JB, Shea CR (2013) Melanocytes, melanocyte stem cells, and melanoma stem cells. Clin Dermatol 31:166–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2012.08.014
- Al-Garf AK, Ibrahim Assaf M, Abdel-Gawad Nofal A, Abdel-Shafy AS (2013) Expression of microRNAs in basal cell carcinoma. Br J Dermatol 19:290–303. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2012.11022.x
- Lapouge G, Beck B, Nassar D et al (2012) Skin squamous cell carcinoma propagating cells increase with tumour progression and invasiveness. EMBO J 31:4563–4575. https://doi.org/10. 1038/emboj.2012.312
- 74. Civenni G, Walter A, Kobert N et al (2011) Human CD271-positive melanoma stem cells associated with metastasis establish tumor heterogeneity and long-term growth. Cancer Res 71:3098–3109. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3997
- 75. Katoh M (2017) Canonical and non-canonical WNT signaling in cancer stem cells and their niches: cellular heterogeneity, omics reprogramming, targeted therapy and tumor plasticity (review). Int J Oncol 51:1357–1369. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2017.4129
- Olivero C, Morgan H, Patel GK (2018) Identification of human cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma Cancer stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 1879:415–433
- Venkatesh V, Nataraj R, Thangaraj GS et al (2018) Targeting notch signalling pathway of cancer stem cells. Stem Cell Investig 5:5. https://doi.org/10.21037/sci.2018.02.02
- 78. Stumpfova M, Ratner D, Desciak EB et al (2010) The immunosuppressive surface ligand CD200 augments the metastatic capacity of squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res 70:2962–2972. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4380
- Kumar D, Gorain M, Kundu G, Kundu GC (2017) Therapeutic implications of cellular and molecular biology of cancer stem cells in melanoma. Mol Cancer 16:1–18. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12943-016-0578-3
- Callahan CA, Ofstad T, Horng L et al (2004) MIM/BEG4, a Sonic that potentiates Gli-dependent transcription. Genes Dev 18:2724–2729. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1221804. 2724
- Boumahdi S, Driessens G, Lapouge G et al (2014) SOX2 controls tumour initiation and cancer stem-cell functions in squamous-cell carcinoma. Nature 511:246–250. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature13305
- Santini R, Pietrobono S, Pandolfi S et al (2014) SOX2 regulates self-renewal and tumorigenicity of human melanoma-initiating cells. Oncogene 33:4697–4708. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc. 2014.71
- Moloney FJ, Comber H, O'Lorcain P et al (2006) A population-based study of skin cancer incidence and prevalence in renal transplant recipients. Br J Dermatol 154:498–504. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2005.07021.x

- Chang CC, Campoli M, Ferrone S (2003) HLA class I defects in malignant lesions: what have we learned? Keio J Med 52:220–229. https://doi.org/10.2302/kjm.52.220
- 85. Yesantharao P, Wang W, Ioannidis NM et al (2017) Cutaneous squamous cell cancer (cSCC) risk and the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) system. Hum Immunol 78:327–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humimm.2017.02.002
- Chen AC, Halliday GM, Damian DL (2013) Non-melanoma skin cancer: carcinogenesis and chemoprevention. Pathology 45:331–341. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAT.0b013e32835f515c
- Schwarz A, Noordegraaf M, Maeda A et al (2010) Langerhans cells are required for UVR-induced immunosuppression. J Invest Dermatol 130:1419–1427. https://doi.org/10. 1038/jid.2009.429



Ocular Cancer Stem Cells: Advances in Therapeutic Interventions

Upasna Upadhyay, Raaghav Sen, Swathi Kaliki, and Jaganmohan R. Jangamreddy

Abstract

Cancers affecting the eye are rare and can be either initiated in the eye, primary intraocular cancers, or invaded into the eye as a malignant tumor started elsewhere, secondary intraocular cancers. Melanoma and non-Hodgkin lymphoma in adults and retinoblastoma and medulloepithelioma in children are the most common intraocular cancers. Similar to other cancers, cancer stem cells are reported among retinoblastoma, lymphoma, and melanomas that can be malignant even though are very rare in occurrence. Here, we explore the cancers of the eye and cancer stem cells with the perspective of advanced therapeutic applications for vision and globe salvage.

U. Upadhyay · R. Sen

Operation Eyesight Universal Institute for Eye Cancer, Kallam Anji Reddy Campus, LV Prasad Eye Institute, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad, India e-mail: upasna@lypei.org

S. Kaliki

Operation Eyesight Universal Institute for Eye Cancer, Kallam Anji Reddy Campus, LV Prasad Eye Institute, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad, India

J. R. Jangamreddy (🖂)

Operation Eyesight Universal Institute for Eye Cancer, Kallam Anji Reddy Campus, LV Prasad Eye Institute, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad, India

The Cornea Institute, Kallam Anji Reddy Campus, LV Prasad Eye Institute, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad, India

The original version of this chapter was revised. A correction to this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_19

Prof. Brien Holden Eye Research Center, Kallam Anji Reddy Campus, LV Prasad Eye Institute, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad, India

Prof. Brien Holden Eye Research Center, Kallam Anji Reddy Campus, LV Prasad Eye Institute, Banjara Hills, Hyderabad, India

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020, corrected publication 2020 S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_7

Keywords

Cancer stem cells \cdot Ocular tumors \cdot Eye cancer metastasis \cdot Retinoblastoma \cdot Ocular melanoma

7.1 Introduction

Despite the current advancements in cancer treatment, the recurrence and metastasis of tumor at site or at distant site is prevalent. The available treatment options besides eliminating the cancer cells also target the normal healthy cells, resulting in the tissue damage and recurrence of the tumor due to residual cancer cells. Similar to the stem cell population, existence of cancer stem cell (CSC) subpopulation initiating the tumor and driving its proliferation are widely reported. Like normal stem cells, CSCs have the ability to self-renew, preserve the undifferentiated stem cells, and regulate their quantity, generate a range of tumor cells at different stages of differentiation. Within the tumors, the CSC can be characterized using specific markers and differentiated from those of normal stem cell population. These CSC subpopulations exhibit similar pluripotency and proliferation characteristics mimicking normal stem cells [1]. The current approach to chemotherapy demands a strategy inclined toward targeting specifically the CSC population to prevent the recurrence of the tumor. The CSC differentiates into different tumor components through the stemness pathways that control many important biological processes. In CSC these stemness pathways are not strictly regulated resulting in differentiation of various tumor components [2, 3].

This book chapter outlines ocular stem cells and cancer stem cells emphasizing on marker characterization with genetic mutations affecting cancer stem cells, their regulation via various signaling pathways, and resistance to chemotherapy.

7.2 Stem Cells

Stem cells are ascribed for their extensive self-renewal, differentiation, and clonally regeneration properties within tissues they inhabit [4, 5]. Stem cells undergo repeated divisions producing undifferentiated stem cell and differentiated progenitor cells with not all stem cells having infinite self-renewal potential (see [6]). Like stem cells from trabecular meshwork, orbital and sclera whose regeneration potential is not completely understood experimentally. On the other hand, limbal, corneal, conjunctival, and retinal stem cells have been exploited for their application in regeneration and treating degenerative disorders in animal and human clinical trials [1]. Limbal stem cells are widely recognized for their repair and regeneration of cornea-related diseases [7].

The repair and regeneration process of stem cells involves replenishing the lost cells with healthy regenerated cells. The injury caused at the site reduces stem cell population resulting in many diseases associated to its deficiency [8]. Stem cell population involves many intricate interactions of cytokines and growth factors regulating modulation of fibroblasts and epithelial cells.

7.3 Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs)

A tumor is an abnormal indefinite growing mass of cells. The rapid indefinite proliferating ability of cancer stem cells through accumulation of mutations leads to tumor development [9]. CSCs exhibit similarities of normal stem cells with regard to ability to proliferate, self-renew, and trigger epithelial to mesenchymal transition, giving rise to differentiated cells. Similar to normal cells, CSCs also undergo aberrant differentiation due to continuous accumulation of mutation leading to heterogeneity of cells. The heterogeneity also arises through the clonal origin with diverse phenotypic expression of tumorigenic cells. The phenotypically variable expression of tumorigenic cells with CSCs to possess indefinite as well as limited or no proliferative potential explains the self-renewal and differentiation properties, respectively, as retained by the normal stem cells [10]. The occurrence of such combined subpopulation of CSCs in a tumor makes tumor targeting difficult and thus leaving the subpopulations of CSC's undisturbed during chemotherapy sessions. Thus the CSC subpopulation retained would maintain and reinitiate the tumor growth exhibiting metastasis to distant areas and attaining resistance to chemotherapy [11] (Table 7.1).

7.4 The Types of Eye Cancer

In this chapter, the types of ocular cancer shall be broadly categorized into the following:

- 1. Eyelid tumors.
- 2. Conjunctival tumors.
- 3. Corneal tumors.
- 4. Orbital tumors.
- 5. Intraocular tumors.



Ocular cancers (name the cancer and CSC	6. II I	
associated)	Stem cell markers	Differentiation markers
Cornea (limbus and stroma)	Limbus: ABCG2 (ATP binding cassette subfamily G member 2) [12], α-enolase, cytokeratin (CK) 19, Musashi-1, vimentin [13]	CK 3/12, connexin 43, and involucrin [14]
	Stroma: ABCG2, Bmi 1, CD166, C-kit, Pax6, Six2, and notch 1	Upon differentiation, stromal stem cells expressed keratocan, ALDH3A1, CXADR, PTDGS, and PDK4 [15]
Conjunctiva	CK19 positive CK3 AND CK12 negative [16]	
Iris	Expression for nestin, Msi, Pax6, Chx10, rho, Otx2, and Olig2 [17]	
Ciliary body	Expresses neuronal/retinal markers nestin, Chx10, Pax6, Sox2, Lhx2, Dach1, and Six3 [18]	
Trabecular meshwork	Expresses mesenchymal cell- associated markers CD73, CD90, and CD105 [19] and stem cell markers ABCG2, notch 1, OCT-3/ 4, AnkG, and MUC1. AQP1, CHI3L1, and TIMP3 have been differentiation markers [20]	
Retina	Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE)- derived positive markers include nestin, notch 1, CHX2, Map2, CRALBP, tyrosinase, and tyrosine- related protein 1 and 2 [21]	
Choroid	Expressing markers Sca-1, CD90.2, CD44, CD105, CD73, ABCG2, six 2, notch 1, and Pax 6 [22]	
Sclera	Expresses ABCG2, Six2, PAX6, and notch 1 [22]	
Orbit	Epithelial cell markers CD34 and zonal occludin-1 and differentiation markers CK3 and CK19 [23]	
Eye lid (sebaceous gland carcinoma)	ALDH1, CD133, CD44, ABCG2 (cytoplasmic marker) Sox4, Sox9, and slug (nuclear marker) [24]	

 Table 7.1
 Markers of ocular stem cell and cancer stem cell of the eye

7.4.1 Eyelid Tumors

Eyelid tumors are of various types and are the most common type of ocular-related cancers [25]. Most of the neoplasms that originate in the eyelids (between 65% and 85%) are reported benign in nature [25–28]. Eyelid tumors affect all population demographics across the world. Eyelid tumor is a very broad category containing multiple different types of cancers which can be divided on the basis of tissue/cell of origin and as benign or malignant [26]. Some of the benign epithelial tumors are squamous papilloma, seborrheic keratosis, inverted follicular keratosis, etc. Basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma are some of the malignant-type epithelial tumors [29]. Many other types of tumors exist which are categorized as eyelid tumors too.

7.4.1.1 Metastasis of Eyelid Tumors

Metastasis of eyelid tumors is very rare. Different reports have studied the occurrence of these tumors and traced it to the point of origin. Most of these reports agree that the most common primary site is breast cancer [30, 31] but list other sites which too cause eyelid metastasis like the lungs [30], gastrointestinal tract, and kidneys [32]. These metastatic eyelid tumors clinically appear as cutaneous nodules and swellings. It is also noted that the upper and lower eyelid may be equally affected [33]. Eyelid metastasis seems to have problems of diagnosis associated with them such as cases where the eyelid tumor became symptomatic before the primary breast tumor was even detected [34] as reported by Ian Hood et al. and issues of misdiagnosis as a chalazion as reported by both J. Kanitakis et al. and G. W. Weinstein et al. [30, 35].

On the other hand, the spread of eyelid cancer has been researched extensively too. Retrospective studies have shown that basal cell carcinoma has very low chances to metastasize with less than 0.5% of cases showing spread [36]. The metastasis is as high as 24% in squamous cell carcinoma of the eyelid or periocular skin with very high incidence of local recurrence (35%), moderate number of regional nodal metastasis (24%), and very few distant metastasis (6%) [37].

7.4.2 Conjunctival Tumors

A thin membrane which covers the eye and the inner layer of the eyelid is called the conjunctiva. Tumors which grow on this membrane are called the conjunctival tumors. The most common of these diseases are squamous carcinoma, malignant melanoma, and lymphoma [38]. These tumors occur in older individuals who have long exposure to sunlight due to outdoor activities [39]. Important factors which seem to play a vital role in the development of this type of tumor include ultraviolet radiation exposure, vitamin A deficiency, ocular injury, exposure to petroleum products, and chronic HIV, HPV, or hepatitis B infection [40].



7.4.3 Corneal Tumors

The sclera and cornea are important barriers which prevent spread of neoplasms to other parts of the body. It is very rare for corneal tumors to arise [41, 42]. Even among the corneal tumor types, epithelial tumors are more common than corneal stromal tumors [43]. These tumors, though rare, are of two types, the congenital and the acquired lesions. Acquired lesions are further subdivided based on the origin of the mass like epithelial, vascular, fibrous, neural, etc. [44]. Exposure to ultraviolet radiation causes growth of carcinoma in the eyelids and neoplasms [45, 46] on the corneal region and is considered the primary cause for acquired lesions.

7.4.3.1 Metastasis of Conjunctival and Corneal Tumors

Metastatic tumors rarely occur in the conjunctiva [43]. Primary sites which cause metastatic conjunctival tumors are again mainly the breast and lung cancer appearing over a very wide window ranging from 8 to 100 months [47]. In cases of advanced stage of organ metastasis, conjunctival masses appear. A study carried out by C. L. Shields showed that the conjunctival primary-acquired melanosis or nevus has lower risk of death and metastasis than de novo melanoma [48].

Conjunctival malignant melanoma is a fatal tumor with recurrence rates at 35%, metastasis reported in 25% patients, and nearly 15% deaths [49]. The same study used the Kaplan-Meier survival estimates, and at 10- and 15-year follow-ups, recurrence rose to 51% and 65%, respectively. The patients who did develop metastasis showed growth in the facial lymph nodes, lungs, brain, and liver. Other research which studied the conjunctival squamous cell carcinoma reported deep corneal invasion, intraocular extensions, and orbital invasions [50]. Hence conjunctival tumors show aggressive capabilities to metastasize.

Very few reports mention any form of corneal metastasis at all. Most studies, which do analyze corneal tumors, mention clearly that no evidence of metastasis ever surfaced in the patients.

7.4.4 Orbital Tumors

Orbital tumors are rare, and metastatic orbital tumors can spread from a variety of different sites like the breast, lung, melanoma [51], etc. Jerry A. Shields et al. have shown that reports which study the orbital tumors are biased toward the interest of the reviewer. For example, neural tumors like meningioma and optic pathway glioma will appear under neurosurgical study. On the other hand, reports from otolaryngology will include mucocele, paranasal sinus neoplasms, and other secondary lesions [52]. Even orbital bone cancer, which constitute between 0.5% and 2.0% of total orbital cancer, is studied under orbital tumors [53]. In this chapter, we shall focus mainly on those tumors which affect the stem cell present in the orbit.

Orbital tumors are a heterogeneous group of neoplasms [54, 55] including cystic lesions, neural tumors, histiocytic tumors, bone and cartilage tumors, etc. and hence

require diagnosis based on clinical analysis, imaging, and other studies before the suitable treatment is administered.

7.4.4.1 Metastasis of Orbital Tumors

Orbital metastasis occurs mainly due to primary growth in the breasts, lungs, gastrointestinal tract, and prostate [30, 56, 57] with nearly 45% of orbital tumor cases presenting signs of systemic cancer. The orbital tumor conditions in children are shown to be very different by a case study done by Daniel M. Albert et al. They found that children with orbital tumor metastasis were either suffering from neuroblastoma or Ewing sarcoma which affects bones and had no occurrence of intraocular metastasis from a solid tumor [58]. The findings were very different in adults, who frequently had cases of intraocular metastasis [59, 60].

The metastasis of orbital tumors is well documented by multiple studies. Robert A. Goldberg et al. found that in around 25% patients, the onset of ocular cancer is the manifestation of systemic disease and displacement of the eyeball due to change in its volume (enophthalmos) was frequently seen in patients [51]. A study done by Gunalp et al. showed that the average detection time for secondary site was shortest for lung cancer (2 months) and longest for breast cancer (34 months) making follow-up checks extremely important for these patients [61]. In senior adult population, orbital tumors were malignant in up to 65% of the cases with 25% developing systemic problems.

7.4.5 Intraocular Tumors

Intraocular melanoma is a malignant form of cancer which happens in the tissues of the eye. These occur in the wall of the eye. The wall comprises of three parts, the sclera (outer layer), the uvea (middle layer), and the retina (inner layer).

The uveal tract is divided into three parts too, the iris, ciliary body, and choroid. Iris melanoma is generally a small neoplasm and hardly ever spreads. These are very rare with occurrences as low as 3% of all uveal melanomas, and reports show that an elevated intraocular pressure influences the iris melanomas [62]. The ciliary body gives rise to neoplasms which are larger and more capable of spreading, while the choroidal neoplasms are the largest and most likely to spread [63, 64].

Retinal neoplasms are of different types. The most common of these is retinoblastoma, an aggressive childhood affliction with occurrence 1 per 15,000 to 20,000 children [64, 65]. Other retinal cancers exist like vasoproliferative retinal tumor which typically manifests at ages 20 to 25 [66] and retinal hemangioblastoma which is usually detected between ages 40 and 60 [67]. Exposure to sunlight and ultraviolet rays seem to be the primary reason for the cause of these intraocular malignant melanomas [68].

7.4.5.1 Metastasis of Intraocular Tumors

Intraocular tumors usually arise in the uveal tract and the choroid due to their high vascularity, making uveal and choroidal neoplasms the most common malignancy in

adults. Patients with this kind of posterior choroidal metastasis have low life expectancy, but over the last few decades life expectancy has progressively improved [59, 60]. Primary cancers which lead to choroidal metastasis are mainly breast (40–47%) and lung (21–29%) cancer [59, 69, 70] which cover two third of reported cases. The remaining one third of patients shows no sign of primary cancer at the time of diagnosis [70].

As for spread of intraocular tumors, 45% of patients develop metastasis in the liver, often many years later. Most cases show the liver growth within 5 years, but frequently the cases arise 20 years after the initial diagnosis [71]. The progress of this metastasis is rapid, and hence this remains the most common cause for death in patients with uveal melanoma [60, 71]. In cases of retinoblastoma, if the patient shows optic nerve invasion, then metastasis is expected. If invasion is beyond the lamina cribrosa layer, there is a far greater risk of metastasis [72, 73].

7.5 Regulation of Stem Cells and Cancer Stem Cells

Normal stem cells and cancer stem cells have the self-renewal capability with many common classical pathways regulating the stem cell and cancer stem cell development [10]. Signaling pathways such as Notch, Sonic hedgehog, and Wnt associated with tumor regulation and development are also associated with normal stem cell regulation [74]. These signaling pathways when dysregulated result in tumorigenesis. The CSC attracts the normal stem cells through cytokine secretion, further enhancing the cancer cell metastatic movement and risk of tumor formation [75].

Signaling pathway	Normal stem cell/progenitor cells— pathway regulated	Cancer stem cells—pathway dysregulated
Wnt	Development of epidermal and other tissue	Epidermal tumors
Sonic	Neural development	Basal cell carcinoma
hedgehog		
Notch	Neural development	

7.6 Conclusions

Compared to other cancers in the rest of the organs, cancers related to the eye are at lower percentage, and the metastasis both intraocular and spread to other organs is at lower percentage. While melanomas constitute melanomas among eye cancers, other cancers such as retinoblastoma, eye lid cancers, and choroidal cancers are also frequently observed. The presence of cancer-specific stem cells among eye cancers as of now reported is very few except for the retinoblastoma, melanoma, and squamous carcinoma. While common markers CD44, CD133, and SOX2 and other cancer stem cell-specific markers are reported, further studies are needed to

propose the aggression of tumors and the ambivalence of the currently established markers in tumor progression in eye cancers.

References

- 1. Dhamodaran K et al (2014) Ocular stem cells: a status update! Stem Cell Res Ther 5(2):56
- Wicha MS, Liu S, Dontu G (2006) Cancer stem cells: an old idea—a paradigm shift. Cancer Res 66(4):1883–1890. discussion 1895-6
- 3. Ajani JA et al (2015) Cancer stem cells: the promise and the potential. Semin Oncol 42:S3-S17
- Hall PA, Watt FM (1989) Stem cells: the generation and maintenance of cellular diversity. Development 106(4):619–633. PMID: 2562658.
- Potten CS, Loeffler M (1990) Stem cells: attributes, cycles, spirals, pitfalls and uncertainties. Lessons for and from the crypt. Development 110(4):1001–1020. PMID: 2100251.
- Morrison SJ, Weissman IL (1994) The long-term repopulating subset of hematopoietic stem cells is deterministic and isolatable by phenotype. Immunity 1(8):661–673. PMID: 7541305.
- 7. Boulton M, Albon J (2004) Stem cells in the eye. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 36(4):643-657
- 8. Hongxiang Hui YT, Hu M, Zhao X (2011) In: Gholamrezanezhad A (ed) Stem cells: general features and characteristics, stem cells in clinic and research. IntechOpen, London
- Morrison SJ, Shah NM, Anderson DJ (1997) Regulatory mechanisms in stem cell biology. Cell 88(3):287–298
- 10. Reya T et al (2001) Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature 414(6859):105-111
- 11. Li F et al (2007) Beyond tumorigenesis: cancer stem cells in metastasis. Cell Res 17(1):3-14
- 12. Osei-Bempong C, Figueiredo FC, Lako M (2013) The limbal epithelium of the eye—a review of limbal stem cell biology, disease and treatment. Bioessays 35(3):211–219
- Chen Z et al (2004) Characterization of putative stem cell phenotype in human limbal epithelia. Stem Cells 22(3):355–366
- 14. Khoshzaban A, Jafari E, Soleimani M, Tabatabaei SA, Nekoozadeh S et al (2018) Introduction of stem cells in ophthalmology. J Stem Cells Clin Pract 1(1):104
- 15. Du Y et al (2005) Multipotent stem cells in human corneal stroma. Stem Cells 23(9):1266-1275
- Rosellini A et al (2007) Human conjunctival epithelial precursor cells and their progeny in 3D organotypic culture. Int J Dev Biol 51(8):739–743
- 17. Arnhold S et al (2004) Iris pigment epithelial cells: a possible cell source for the future treatment of neurodegenerative diseases. Exp Neurol 187(2):410–417
- 18. Xu H et al (2007) Characteristics of progenitor cells derived from adult ciliary body in mouse, rat, and human eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 48(4):1674–1682
- 19. Tay CY et al (2012) Identification and characterization of mesenchymal stem cells derived from the trabecular meshwork of the human eye. Stem Cells Dev 21(9):1381–1390
- 20. Du Y et al (2012) Multipotent stem cells from trabecular meshwork become phagocytic TM cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53(3):1566–1575
- 21. Banin E et al (2006) Retinal incorporation and differentiation of neural precursors derived from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 24(2):246–257
- 22. Tsai CL et al (2011) Identification of multipotent stem/progenitor cells in murine sclera. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 52(8):5481–5487
- 23. Chien MH et al (2012) Systemic human orbital fat-derived stem/stromal cell transplantation ameliorates acute inflammation in lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 40(4):1245–1253
- 24. Kim N et al (2015) Cancer stem cell markers in eyelid sebaceous gland carcinoma: high expression of ALDH1, CD133, and ABCG2 correlates with poor prognosis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 56(3):1813–1819
- Deprez M, Uffer S (2009) Clinicopathological features of eyelid skin tumors. A retrospective study of 5504 cases and review of literature. Am J Dermatopathol 31(3):256–262

- 26. Pe'er J (2016) Pathology of eyelid tumors. Indian J Ophthalmol 64(3):177-190
- 27. Yu SS et al (2018) A retrospective study of 2228 cases with eyelid tumors. Int J Ophthalmol 11 (11):1835–1841
- Karan S et al (2016) Clinicopathological study of eye lid tumours in Hyderabad—a review of 57 cases. J Med Allied Sci 6:1
- Kersten RC et al (1997) Accuracy of clinical diagnosis of cutaneous eyelid lesions. Ophthalmology 104(3):479–484
- Weinstein GW, Goldman JN (1963) Metastatic adenocarcinoma of the breast masquerading as Chalazion*. Am J Ophthalmol 56(6):960–963
- 31. Riley FC (1970) Metastatic tumors of the eyelids. Am J Ophthalmol 69(2):259-264
- 32. Hogan MJ, Zimmerman LE, American Academy of Ophthalmology and Otolaryngology (1962) Otolaryngology, ophthalmic pathology, an atlas and textbook. Saunders, Philadelphia
- 33. Benson JR, Rovere GQ d, Nasiri N (2001) Eyelid metastasis. Lancet 358(9290):1370-1371
- Hood CI, Font RL, Zimmerman LE (1973) Metastatic mammary carcinoma in the eyelid with histiocytoid appearance. Cancer 31(4):793–800
- 35. Kanitakis J, Faure M, Claudy A (2001) Clinical picture: eyelid metastasis. Lancet 358(9275):33
- 36. Mehta KS et al (2012) Metastatic basal cell carcinoma: a biological continuum of basal cell carcinoma? Case Rep Dermatol Med 2012:4
- 37. Faustina M et al (2004) Patterns of regional and distant metastasis in patients with eyelid and periocular squamous cell carcinoma. Ophthalmology 111(10):1930–1932
- Shields CL et al (2004) Clinical survey of 1643 melanocytic and nonmelanocytic conjunctival tumors. Ophthalmology 111(9):1747–1754
- 39. Emmanuel B et al (2012) Incidence of squamous-cell carcinoma of the conjunctiva and other eye cancers in the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study. Ecancermedicalscience 6:254–254
- Shields CL et al (2017) Conjunctival tumors: review of clinical features, risks, biomarkers, and outcomes—the 2017 J. Donald M. Gass Lecture. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila) 6(2):109–120
- 41. Maggs DJ (2008) Chapter 10—cornea and sclera. In: Maggs DJ, Miller PE, Ofri R (eds) Slatter's fundamentals of veterinary ophthalmology, 4th edn. W.B. Saunders, Saint Louis, pp 175–202
- 42. Ofri R (2008) Chapter 2—Development and Congenital Abnormalities**The author wishes to acknowledge the contribution of Dr. Robert Barishak, and to thank him for his input throughout the years and to this chapter. In: Maggs DJ, Miller PE, Ofri R (eds) Slatter's fundamentals of veterinary ophthalmology, 4th edn. W.B. Saunders, Saint Louis, pp 20–32
- 43. Shields CL, Shields JA (2004) Tumors of the conjunctiva and cornea. Surv Ophthalmol 49 (1):3–24
- 44. Othman IS (2009) Ocular surface tumors. Oman J Ophthalmol 2(1):3-14
- 45. Freeman RG, Knox JM (1964) Ultraviolet-induced corneal tumors in different species and strains of animals. J Invest Dermatol 43:431–436
- 46. Sabourin CLK et al (1993) Expression of fibroblast growth factors in ultraviolet radiation induced corneal tumors and corneal tumor cell lines from Monodelphis domestica. Mol Carcinog 7(3):197–205
- 47. Kiratli H et al (1996) Metastatic tumours to the conjunctiva: report of 10 cases. Br J Ophthalmol 80(1):5–8
- Shields CL et al (2011) Conjunctival melanoma: outcomes based on tumor origin in 382 consecutive cases. Ophthalmology 118(2):389–395.e2
- 49. Shields CL et al (2000) Conjunctival melanoma: risk factors for recurrence, exenteration, metastasis, and death in 150 consecutive patients. Arch Ophthalmol 118(11):1497–1507
- Iliff WJ, Marback R, Green WR (1975) Invasive squamous cell carcinoma of the conjunctiva. Arch Ophthalmol 93(2):119–122
- Goldberg RA, Rootman J (1990) Clinical characteristics of metastatic orbital tumors. Ophthalmology 97(5):620–624
- Shields JA, Shields CL, Scartozzi R (2004) Survey of 1264 patients with orbital tumors and simulating lesions: the 2002 Montgomery Lecture, part 1. Ophthalmology 111(5):997–1008

- 53. Selva D et al (2004) Primary bone tumors of the orbit. Surv Ophthalmol 49(3):328-342
- Blandford A, Perry J (2019) Classification of orbital tumors. In: Clinical ophthalmic oncology, pp 9–15
- 55. Nabavi, C.B., J.D. Perry, and J.A. Foster. Orbital tumors: differential diagnosis in adults. 2019
- Goldberg RA, Rootman J, Cline RA (1990) Tumors metastatic to the orbit: a changing picture. Surv Ophthalmol 35(1):1–24
- 57. Albert DM, Rubenstein RA, Scheie HG (1967) Tumor metastasis to the eye: part I. incidence in 213 adult patients with generalized malignancy. Am J Ophthalmol 63(4):723–726
- Albert DM, Rubenstein RA, Scheie HG (1967) Tumor metastasis to the eye: part II. Clinical study in infants and children. Am J Ophthalmol 63(4):727–732
- 59. Kiratli H (2016) Intraocular metastases. S. Karger AG, Basel
- 60. Konstantinidis L, Damato B (2017) Intraocular metastases—a review. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol 6 (2):208–214
- 61. Gunalp I, Gunduz K (1995) Metastatic orbital tumors. Jpn J Ophthalmol 39(1):65-70
- Shields CL et al (2001) Factors associated with elevated intraocular pressure in eyes with iris melanoma. Br J Ophthalmol 85(6):666–669
- 63. Gragoudas E et al (2002) Evidence-based estimates of outcome in patients irradiated for intraocular melanoma. Arch Ophthalmol 120(12):1665–1671
- 64. Aerts I et al (2006) Retinoblastoma. Orphanet J Rare Dis 1:31
- 65. Dimaras H et al (2015) Retinoblastoma. Nat Rev Dis Primers 1:15021
- 66. Damato B (2006) Vasoproliferative retinal tumour. Br J Ophthalmol 90(4):399-400
- 67. Dollfus H et al (2002) Retinal hemangioblastoma in von Hippel-Lindau disease: a clinical and molecular study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 43(9):3067–3074
- Tucker MA et al (1985) Sunlight exposure as risk factor for intraocular malignant melanoma. N Engl J Med 313(13):789–792
- Arepalli S, Kaliki S, Shields CL (2015) Choroidal metastases: origin, features, and therapy. Indian J Ophthalmol 63(2):122–127
- 70. Shields CL et al (1997) Survey of 520 eyes with uveal metastases. Ophthalmology 104 (8):1265–1276
- Nichols EE, Richmond A, Daniels AB (2016) Tumor characteristics, genetics, management, and the risk of metastasis in uveal melanoma. Semin Ophthalmol 31(4):304–309
- Shields CL et al (1994) Optic nerve invasion of retinoblastoma. Metastatic potential and clinical risk factors. Cancer 73(3):692–698
- 73. Shields CL (2019) Retinoblastoma. In: Rojanaporn D (ed) Ocular oncology. Retina atlas. Springer, Singapore
- 74. Taipale J, Beachy PA (2001) The Hedgehog and Wnt signalling pathways in cancer. Nature 411 (6835):349–354
- 75. Zhang CL et al (2017) Stem cells in cancer therapy: opportunities and challenges. Oncotarget 8 (43):75756–75766



8

Cancer Stem Cells and Tumour Aggressiveness

Gautham Chengizkhan, Natarajan Bhaskaran, R. Ileng Kumaran, and Ilangovan Ramachandran

Abstract

Tumours are groups of cells, consisting of heterogeneous types of cells that exhibit abnormal cellular characteristics and behaviours. The molecular characteristics of tumour cells can be used to classify the tumour types. In a tumour, the complexity of the population of cell types involved and their diverse gene expression patterns, contribute significantly to tumour heterogeneity, growth, metastasis and aggressiveness. Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are a small population of cells in a tumour that are highly plastic in nature and possess selfrenewing capacity. The CSCs can differentiate into different cell types, and play crucial roles in tumour initiation, growth and progression. CSCs drive metastasis, therapeutic resistance and recurrence of cancers, and thus act as the key regulators of tumour aggressiveness. The CSCs trigger the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) of cells in the tumour, which leads to increased invasiveness of

G. Chengizkhan

N. Bhaskaran

R. I. Kumaran Biology Department, Farmingdale State College, Farmingdale, NY, USA e-mail: ramachi@farmingdale.edu

I. Ramachandran (🖂)

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: ilangovan@unom.ac.in

Department of Endocrinology, Dr. ALM PG Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, University of Madras, Taramani Campus, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

Department of Biological Sciences, School of Dental Medicine, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, USA

Department of Endocrinology, Dr. ALM PG Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, University of Madras, Taramani Campus, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_8

these cells. These unique subpopulations of cells can communicate with their tumour microenvironment (TME) or niche, and stimulate their niche to secrete several intrinsic factors, which triggers neoangiogenesis to promote metastasis. The multipotent and tumour-initiating abilities of CSCs stimulate or alter various signalling networks to cause extravasation of primary cancer cells that result in cancer metastasis. Consequently, the CSCs promote tumour aggressiveness, which can lead to relapse of cancers after various treatments, and thus, pose critical problems in designing novel therapeutics to specifically target and eliminate CSCs. Therefore, CSCs and tumour aggressiveness still remain as one of the major challenges in curing cancer, despite recent advancements in therapeutic approaches to treat various cancers. Here, we discuss the key roles of CSCs in the regulation of EMT, metastasis, cancer metabolism and critical signalling pathways that influences tumour aggressiveness.

Keywords

Cancer stem cells · Self-renewal · Tumour initiation · Epithelial to mesenchymal transition · Invasiveness · Angiogenesis · Metastasis · Tumour aggressiveness

8.1 Introduction

Cancer is a major lethal and universal ailment that kills millions of people every year throughout the world. In cancer, there is alteration of cell and tissue architecture [1], and if cancer is not treated at an early stage, it spreads from the primary site of tumour to various organs, which acts as its secondary site [2, 3]. This progression by which cancer cells disseminate to other parts of the body is called metastasis. There are various factors and processes involved in metastasis.

Cancer cells can spread to different parts of the body through various steps such as by simple invasion into neighbouring normal tissues or migration via the lymphatic or blood vessels from the primary site of tumour to distant secondary sites (i.e. different organs or tissues) for colonization. The formation of new blood vessels (neoangiogenesis) provides additional blood supply for more nutrients and growth factors, which would help in tumour growth or metastasis [4, 5]. The tumour is complex in nature as it contains a heterogeneous population of cells encapsulated inside the tumour that is surrounded by blood vessels, extracellular matrix (ECM), fibroblasts, immune cells, etc., which forms a distinct tumour microenvironment (TME), called niche [6]. The emergence of the existence of the cancer stem cells (CSCs) and recent evidence have widely opened a whole new approach in the understanding of this heterogeneous disease. The initiation and the development of the tumour are driven by these CSCs, the specialised cell subtypes, which are multipotent in nature and also possess self-renewing capacity [7]. CSCs are responsible for the differentiation and migration of the cancer cells along with the tumorigenicity. The CSC subpopulations are protected inside their niche, which acquires the necessary growth factors, and derive energy in the form of ATP from the



Fig. 8.1 Hallmarks of cancer. This illustration explains the unique characteristics of cancer during its initiation and growth. An extensive study on the hallmarks of cancer have been performed in the past decade, and has led to a better understanding of various steps in oncogenesis

glycolytic pathway and oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) depending on their necessity.

In most cancer types, the unifying process that accounts for increased mortality is metastasis. Metastasis is a multi-step process. It involves different phases of cells, and it initially starts with mutation at a molecular level by an oncogenic hit due to genetic or environmental cause [4]. Recent insights in the field of cancer biology highlight the complex nature of this biological process, and helped in organising the intricacy based on defined principles called cancer hallmarks [8]. The hallmarks of cancer are depicted in Fig. 8.1.

Cancer cells rarely metastasise to skeletal muscle, and specific factors encourage comprehensive muscle wasting, which results in a condition known as cachexia, wherein the zinc gets hoarded in skeletal muscles through abnormal upregulation of the metal ion transporter ZRT- and IRT-like protein 14 (ZIP14). This phenomenon is the critical mediator of metastatic cancer-induced muscle wasting [9]. Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a process by which the CSCs obtain their mesenchymal phenotype, which favours the progression and aggressiveness of the tumours, resulting in metastasis.

Most of the tumours are comprised of normal cells along with other different cell types which help in driving the phenotypic heterogeneity and malignancy of cancer. An important part of the cancer cells and the so-called metastasis inducers are characterised by CSCs [10]. In the tumour mass, these cells are capable of self-renewal and differentiation. CSCs are also responsible for the metastatic properties of cancer cells [11]. The CSCs secrete cytokines which are important in preparing

the tumour microenvironment (TME) and employing the myeloid cells to strengthen the cancer progression. Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) and activated tumourassociated macrophages (TAMs) release high amounts of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), growth factors and cytokines to withstand angiogenesis and to encourage the CSC invasion [12–14].

The cytokines, chemokines and growth factors secreted in the TME boost the migration capability of cancer cells and enhance the angiogenesis [15]. Also, CSCs can easily escape from the immune system [16] by altering the protein expression of intrinsic molecules including programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1) [17], which further ensures the formation of the immunosuppressive microenvironment [18]. Also, most importantly, the cell surface markers of CSCs, like CD44 and CD133, are very vital molecules that confer the specificity in CSCs' binding and targeting properties on the other tumour cells [19]. CSCs share genetic and epigenetic intricacy along with other cancer cells but adapt to survival challenges which is a vital property of these cells in escaping the cancer chemotherapy. Moreover, with their slow cell proliferation rate, when compared to other cancer cells, CSCs are believed to gain survival tactics, while the fast-growing cancer cells are destroyed by the various therapeutic treatments [20].

CSCs possess the ability to hijack the intrinsic signalling pathways such as Wnt/ β -catenin, Hedgehog and Notch pathways [21]. These pathways are the key regulators of the adult stem cell homeostasis, and the CSCs impede the normal mechanism of the pathway and exploit its function over maintaining its own plasticity [22]. Interestingly, these subpopulations of cells evade apoptosis and take control of the immune system by inhibiting the function of the immune cells. Although it is potentially possible to treat cancers in its early stages, the metastasis and the cancer relapse are still the major issues even with all the cutting-edge stateof-the-art technology. CSCs undergo dormancy after they form a colony at a distant site, and are well protected inside their TME. Hence, the current therapies that target only actively proliferating cancer cells are unable to target and eliminate CSCs [23]. The tumour has heterogeneous populations of cells, and therefore, the treatment regimes fail to target CSCs. Eventually, the tumour regresses responding to treatment, but it relapses with high metastatic ability along with resistance towards the therapies, which leads to the high mortality rate in cancer patients. CSCs are resistant to many therapies because of their chemoresistance, radioresistance and immunosuppressive properties. Numerous laboratories and pharmaceutical companies are currently focusing on developing therapies to specifically target CSCs. Significant ways aimed at eliminating CSCs would impact ominously on cancer treatment, by countering metastasis and cancer relapse [24]. This chapter discusses some of the important roles of CSCs in modulating the metastatic potential, metabolic alterations and key signalling pathways and thus, tumour aggressiveness.

8.2 Cellular Behaviour and Niche

Aberrant activation in the cell signalling networks along with the production of different essential growth factors are necessary for the initiation of tumour. Furthermore, synthesis of angiogenic proteins by the tumour itself decides the fate of aggressiveness of the tumour [25]. Not all subtypes of tumours are highly metastatic in nature. The behaviour of the cells depends on the habitat where the tumour exists. The niche provides an enriched environment with the supply of all the intrinsic factors to the TME that drives the progression of the tumour in its growth and adversity [26]. The principal characteristics of the CSCs along with its phenotypic plasticity are well protected within the niche against the classical immune system and therefore promote the metastasis. Stem cell markers are functionally specific proteins that help in the process of identification of different tumour subtypes. There are various stem cell markers such as CD44 [27], CD133 [28], CD49f [29], ALDH [30], etc., which have specific roles in the development of different tumours. The characteristics of these stem cell markers are represented in Table 8.1.

In the primary carcinoma, the lack of oxygen in tumour cells increases the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) due to impaired vascularisation inside the TME. The cellular stress due to hypoxia and the increased ROS levels initiate the CSC's stress signalling pathway to boost the cancer cell survival and also, to maintain its stemness [31]. The mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) along with the CSCs produce intrinsic chemokines, cytokines and other angiogenic growth factors to initiate neoangiogenesis, thereby, directing more blood supply to the tumour and increasing the plasticity of CSCs. Furthermore, it compromises the immune system by suppressing the cytotoxic functions of the immune cells [32].

In the normal cellular physiology, the MSCs establish a normal stem cell niche with various stemness factors to support stem cell survival. But the oncogenic hit transforms the normal stem cell niche to a CSC niche that triggers the initiation of the tumour. In the TME, the CSCs can activate the EMT pathway in the adjacent normal

Stem cell		
markers	Tumour types	Characteristics
CD44	Breast, pancreas,	Found in the CSCs; glycoprotein that has role in
	prostate, head and heck	innamination, tumour progression and metastasis
CD133	Brain, prostate and	Five transmembrane domain cell-surface glycoprotein
	colon	that helps in disease progression
CD49f	Breast and colon	Acts as an inflammation sensor to regulate
		differentiation, adhesion and migration
ALDH	Haematopoietic and	Maintenance and differentiation of stem cells; promotes
	breast	chemoresistance and survival mechanisms in CSCs

Table 8.1 Stem cell markers, tumour types and their characteristics

The table enlists the key stem cell markers and their unique expression in different types of tumours. Each stem cell marker possesses specific characteristics, which enables the isolation and analysis of CSCs. Moreover, this helps to understand the role of these stem cell markers in CSCs and tumour progression
tissue and transform them into tumour cells to invade further and to grow at a new site with a separate niche to support the CSCs at that distant site [33]. Also, the primary CSCs can control the potential metastatic sites by releasing exosomes to facilitate the arrival of invading tumour cells. The exosomes along with other necessary growth factors prepare the metastatic niche and favour CSCs to establish a new colony at a distant site through the process of extravasation [34].

8.3 Conjunction Between CSCs and Tumour Aggressiveness

CSCs share the common characteristics of normal stem cells such as selfrenewability and multi-lineage differentiation that have the capacity to drive tumour growth. The role of CSCs starts early during tumour initiation and sustains throughout the progression of the carcinoma. CSCs play a critical role in the metastasis and tumour relapse due to its high plasticity. The CSCs utilise various signalling pathways to evade immune cells, and also impede immune cell function against cancer cells. However, during normal metabolism, the systemic immune cells target cancer cells exhibiting high levels of cellular stress and ROS production [35].

In most of the currently available cancer therapies, the treatment regime is designed to usually target the whole organ for radiotherapy or the whole body for chemotherapy. But in advanced treatment programme such as the proton beam therapy, the tumour is targeted specifically [36]. But even with this treatment, the normal tissues are affected in an insignificant manner, whereas in other treatments, the damage done by the therapy is far worse causing overall deterioration of the body. Since the present therapies follow a holistic approach in their treatment regime and the CSCs are encapsulated and well protected within their niche, it becomes difficult to target the CSCs [37]. On the contrary, when the treatment kills cancer cells and the tumour shrinks eventually, the CSCs may go to a dormant state, and develop resistance towards that drug. In a few years, the tumour may relapse with enhanced resistance towards that drug treatment and exhibits aggressive metastatic potential.

CSCs play an integral role in oncogenesis by promoting tumour initiation, invasion and metastasis. CSCs initiate cancer due to their stemness which is acquired due to accumulation of genetic or epigenetic alterations and oxidative stress. CSCs establish their communication network with the TME, which favour their survival and migration, and also promote angiogenesis for metastasis [38].

8.4 Impact of Metastatic Potential on Tumour Aggressiveness

Metastatic dissemination of cancer cells is the ability of the malignant cells to initiate the invasion from the primary site to form a colony at a distant site. This invasiveness of the cancer cells involves various cascades of events such as intravasation, EMT and hijacking of different signalling pathways. These events enable the CSCs to gain their self-renewing property, which under normal physiological condition is primarily used for the maintenance of adult stem cell homeostasis, wherein the epithelial cells acquire mesenchymal characteristics [39]. While the tumour develops, it is intrinsic for the tumour cells to sustain growth and function in the hypoxic environment with the recruitment of the cellular components and modulation of their extracellular matrix.

The tumour acquires its vasculature through angiogenic factors and retains its blood supply for the growth of tumour. The tumour cells invade the normal tissues, and upon reaching the blood vessels, the tumour cells infiltrate through the endothelial barrier of the blood vessel, and enter into the circulation by the process called intravasation. After intravasation, the blood vessels in the tumour establish connections between the tumour and other organs, thereby providing a route for the circulating tumour cells (CTCs) to extravasate into the circulation for metastasis [40] (Fig. 8.2). CTCs possess epithelial properties, and cannot escape the microenvironment until they gain mesenchymal properties. EMT is one of the key events necessary for the extravasation of the CTCs into the vascular system. While the CTCs in circulation adhere and secure themselves in the adjacent organs, the entire process of tumour development at primary tumour sites are driven by CSCs, and the release of the CTCs is an active process that supports metastasis to distant secondary sites. Also, the CSCs prepare the metastatic niche at distant secondary sites with the help of necessary growth factors, before the arrival of the CTCs and its development to form secondary tumours [41].

The growth of the tumour after colony formation at the distant site is one of the crucial events in the process of metastasis. But in most cases, the CTCs after adhering at a distant organ enter a state of dormancy (Fig. 8.2). Metastatic dormancy is one of the major reasons for the tumour to relapse after cancer therapy [42]. Cancer treatments are often developed to target the tumour at the primary site. Though, the treatment kills most of the tumour cells and the tumour regress, it does not kill all the CSCs in the tumour. Few of the CSCs at the primary tumour often escape death from the treatment or enter a dormant state. Also, some tumour containing CSCs can often escape even from a successful precision surgery. The dormant tumour cells at a distant site or CSCs at a primary site can remain resilient towards a treatment regime, and can relapse to a full-blown tumour again in a few years. In relapsed cancers, the metastatic cells are dominant and are more fatal with mesenchymal properties, and their aggressiveness is doubled due to their acquired resistance to the therapies [43].

8.5 Factors Influencing Tumour Aggressiveness

The CSCs are influenced by various components such as hormones, enzymes, cytokines and growth factors (Fig. 8.3). Several studies have shown that hormones hasten the process of oncogenesis in different tumour conditions. The hormones, oestrogen and progesterone influence the growth of breast cancer cells by binding to their specific receptors in the cells. These hormones increase cancer cell division and rapidly promote tumour growth in a very short period of time,







Fig. 8.3 Various factors that influence tumour aggressiveness. Several factors influence the initiation and progression of tumour. These include both intrinsic and extrinsic factors that drive tumour growth and aggressiveness. The extrinsic (modifiable) factors include smoking, consumption of alcohol, unhealthy diet and lifestyle, which can be modified. The intrinsic factors include enzymes, hormones, growth factors, nutrients, chemokines, cytokines and tumour niche, which contribute to the rapid progression and dissemination of the tumour. Cancer cells are represented with serrated margins. Red coloured cell with serrated margins is CSC. Green and yellow coloured cells with serrated margins are different tumour cells, which are represented to show the tumour heterogeneity. The blue or black coloured nucleus represents heterogeneity in the cancer genomes. $TGF-\beta$ transforming growth factor-beta, *PDGF* platelet-derived growth factor, *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor, *MMPs* matrix metalloproteinases, *PGK1* phosphoglycerate kinase 1, *PKM2* pyruvate kinase M2

making it one of the aggressive forms of tumour. Furthermore, hormones such as testosterone, oestrogen and progesterone enhance drug resistance and metastasis of hormone-dependent tumours [44].

Along with hormones, growth factors, cytokines and chemokines play a crucial role in the progression of tumours. The TME contains different types of cells that undergo hypoxia and cellular stress as the tumour grows, and so the tumour itself releases the necessary growth factors such as transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), etc., in order to form new vasculatures (neoangiogenesis) for the tumour to supply blood and nutrients [45]. Additionally, there are few enzymes such as matrix

metalloproteinases (MMPs), phosphoglycerate kinase 1 (PGK1) and pyruvate kinase M2 (PKM2), which affect the tumour cell behaviour and accelerate their progression by breakdown of the extracellular matrix (ECM), and fuelling the tumour cell metabolism to aid the invasion of cancer cells, by rapidly promoting peritoneal dissemination to the distant sites [46].

The crucial factor that is involved in tumour progression and development is the hypoxia caused due to increased proliferation, and thus, elevated cellular stress. The uncontrolled cell division creates an unfavourable environment inside the TME, which eventually leads to poor nourishment of cells. This initiates the need for excess growth factors and nutrients to cells, and therefore, the tumour itself secretes necessary angiogenic factors to construct new vasculatures (neoangiogenesis) inside the tumour, which enables blood supply to the tumour. Also, alteration in tumour metabolism is a key factor that determines the tumour growth and aggressiveness [47].

The CSCs control the switch between using the glycolytic and OXPHOS pathways to extract ATP. It is also based on the niche, which partly chooses the pathway for the ATP production. During the tumour initiation, the CSCs use the glycolytic pathway, but they switch to the OXPHOS pathway during tumour progression. Metastasis requires elevated energy expenditure as cells have to migrate to a distant site, and so, it depends on both the pathways [48]. Also, in few carcinomas, hormones act as critical factors, which double the invasiveness of tumour. Although several molecular mechanisms play vital roles in the initiation and progression of tumour, the environmental carcinogens influence the growth of tumour in the form of DNA damage due to higher ROS production and increased cellular stress. More importantly, modifiable risk factors including smoking, alcohol consumption, eating junk food and unhealthy lifestyle (e.g. obesity) increase the risk of cancers (Fig. 8.3) as these factors can also promote metastasis [49].

8.6 Molecular Mechanisms Involved in EMT

EMT is a process by which epithelial cells acquire mesenchymal characteristics by undergoing several changes including the loss of cell polarity. The acquisition of mesenchymal phenotype is influenced by different signalling factors, which are necessary to evade apoptosis and increase the migration potential of the cells. It also increases the secretion of degrading enzymes to penetrate the ECM, and this process promotes the invasiveness of cells [50]. EMT activates and maintains the stemness of the cells, and it plays a key role in the transition of normal stem cells to CSCs, by acquiring the invasive mesenchymal characteristics.

The EMT is a two-way process, and it can be reversed. EMT can change in either direction, and the conversion from mesenchymal phenotype to epithelial phenotype is called mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) (Fig. 8.4). It involves multiple signalling pathways such as Wnt/ β -catenin, Hedgehog (Hh) and Notch signalling. The interaction between these signalling pathway and the immune cells, enables the normal stem cells to develop and maintain their plasticity. Various transcriptional



Fig. 8.4 Effect of current therapies on CSCs and future treatment perspectives. The normal stem cells undergo oncogenesis due to accumulation of mutations, and the dysregulation of oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes of the cell cycle, which lead to active proliferation of the mutated cells and development of tumour. The current therapeutics do not specifically target the CSCs, and therefore, tumour relapses with multidrug resistance. The CSCs are very plastic in nature, and they possess the characteristics of self-renewability due to their control over key signalling pathways such as Wnt/ β -catenin, Notch and Hedgehog. Ongoing research specifically target CSCs, and have shown some promising results in the eradication of tumour. Cancer cells are represented with serrated margins. Red coloured cells with serrated margins are CSCs. Green and yellow coloured cells with serrated margins are different tumour cells, which are represented to show the tumour heterogeneity. Pink coloured cell with serrated margins depicts the dead targeted CSC. The blue or black coloured nucleus represents heterogeneity in the cancer genomes. *CSCs* cancer stem cells

factors such as Slug, Snail, Twist, Sox-9, etc. are involved in the transition from epithelial to mesenchymal cell characteristics [51]. The epithelial cells lose certain important characteristics, while acquiring invasiveness and metastatic properties. The epithelial phenotype markers [including E-cadherin, desmoplakin, Muc-1, cytokeratin-18, occludins, claudins and zonula occludens] are lost, while mesenchymal markers [including N-cadherin, vimentin, fibronectin, vitronectin, α -smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) and fibroblast-specific protein 1 (FSP1)] are acquired during EMT [52].

Importantly, growth factors and inflammatory cytokines, including interleukin (IL)-8 [an activator of the Janus-activated kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (JAK/STAT3) pathway] are secreted by the stromal fibroblasts, and they promote tumour progression and account for the aggressiveness of cancers [53]. Nevertheless, the aberrant activation of the signalling pathways varies with cancer types. Few proteins, which have tumour suppressor property in one type of cancer are known to initiate and cause invasiveness in a different type of cancer. But, genetic instability or mutations and epigenetic alterations can activate oncogenes or inactivate tumour suppressor genes via metabolic reprogramming, which in turn can lead to increased cell proliferation, malignant transformation, metastasis or cancer relapse. Furthermore, CSC's heterogeneity and the process of EMT are considered to largely contribute to the complexity and organ-specific metastasis of cancers [54].

8.7 Metabolic Alterations in Tumour Survival

Due to the complex nature of various TMEs, the CSCs tend to depend on different sources for energy. It has been identified that glucose- and oxidative-based metabolisms, feed the CSCs with energy derived from vital nutrients, along with amino acids like glutamine and lysine, which act as alternative fuel sources. In a normal cell, mitochondria produce ATP using their tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle coupled with OXPHOS, to catabolise acetyl-CoA produced from glycolysis and fatty acid oxidation [55]. But, CSCs tend to increase the glycolytic flux in aerobic condition, thereby increasing the production of ATP multifold to feed the anabolic demands of cancer cells (Fig. 8.5). The supply of essential growth factors and nutrients from the energy provided by the oxidative and glycolytic metabolisms, favour cancer cells to survive in unfavourable hypoxia condition, and helps them to proliferate, differentiate and evade apoptosis more efficiently [56].

Metabolic alterations in the cells are considered as one of the hallmarks of cancer. Glucose is a key nutrient that is necessary for the CSCs to survive in their microenvironment. It also favours the active proliferation of CSC populations as glucose induces the transcription of specific genes associated with the pathways of glucose metabolism (c-MYC, Glut, HK-1, HK-2 and PDK-1) in CSCs [57]. Growing evidence suggest that the mitochondrial oxidative metabolism is highly favoured for energy production in CSC populations. CSCs are metabolically plastic in nature as they can switch between either glycolytic or OXPHOS pathway, depending on their anabolic needs (Fig. 8.5).

Most of the quiescent CSCs, during the initial stages of tumour development, use the oxidative metabolism to match the demands of ATP requirement by the tumour. The higher rate of oxidative metabolism results in increased oxygen consumption, along with higher mitochondrial mass and increased ROS production in the mitochondria, but with lower glycolytic rate. On the contrary, the proliferative cancer cells (i.e. non-stem cells) use the glycolytic pathway which results in higher glucose uptake, but lower oxygen consumption with the least mitochondrial mass and ROS production. This helps in efficient cell differentiation, leading to increased invasiveness [58]. Interestingly, the proliferative CSCs during metastasis get their energy from both the pathways, as more energy is required for the cancer cells to migrate and colonize a new site to form a secondary tumour. The aggressiveness of the carcinoma during metastatic dissemination or cancer relapse is doubled, due to energy availability from both the glycolytic and OXPHOS pathways.



Fig. 8.5 Molecular mechanisms and metabolic alterations that drive CSCs in tumour development. The tumour cells in the primary site invade the normal tissues using various enzymes and cross the endothelial barrier, before entering into blood vessels for circulation. The tumour cells undergo EMT to gain mesenchymal properties, which aid in their rapid invasion. The circulating tumour cells (CTCs) intravasate to enter into blood vessels, then extravasate and undergo MET, which are required for dissemination and colonization of cancers at distant secondary sites in other tissues or organs. The tumour at the primary site uses the glycolytic pathway for the production of ATP, which is used as energy by cancer cells for their rapid growth. But, the tumour at the metastatic site uses both glycolytic and OXPHOS metabolisms for the production of ATP, and the tumour cells can switch the pathways depending on their need. Cancer cells are represented with serrated margins. Red coloured cells with serrated margins are CSCs. Green and yellow coloured cells with serrated margins are different tumour cells, which are represented to show the tumour heterogeneity. Orange coloured cells with serrated margins represent tumour cells with altered metabolism (i.e. using both glycolytic and OXPHOS pathways), whereas yellow coloured cells represent tumour cells using only glycolytic pathway. The blue or black coloured nucleus represents heterogeneity in the cancer genomes. ATP adenosine triphosphate, EMT epithelial to mesenchymal transition, CTCs circulating tumour cells, MET mesenchymal to epithelial transition, OXPHOS oxidative phosphorylation

8.8 Signalling Pathways that Drive CSCs

CSCs and MSCs employ common mechanisms, which enable them to retain their stemness and plasticity. The most crucial mechanisms that are involved in CSC self-renewal are Wnt/ β -catenin, Notch and Hedgehog (Hh) signalling pathways. Wnt/ β -catenin signalling is a conserved pathway present in different organisms, and it plays a key role during development. It is an essential pathway that is required for the maintenance of adult stem cell homeostasis. The intercellular Wnt signalling molecules that are usually involved in the embryonic development, are altered during EMT, which leads to continuous activation of Wnt signalling and

persistent synthesis of oncogenic proteins, thereby enhancing CSC's self-renewal potential [59].

β-Catenin is the key molecule, which regulates the activation of the Wnt signalling pathway. Importantly, aberrant activation of Wnt/β-catenin pathway plays a crucial role in cancer growth, invasion, stemness and angiogenesis [60, 61]. In the absence of Wnt ligand, the multi-protein destruction complex containing Axin, adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) and glycogen synthase kinase-3β (GSK-3β) phosphorylates β -catenin, which is followed by ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of β-catenin. However, when Wnt ligand bind to its receptor, conformational change occuring at its binding site activates downstream signalling, and β-catenin molecules are released from its destruction complex and accumulates in the cytoplasm. Later, the accumulated cytoplasmic β -catenin is imported into the nucleus, where it binds to the transcription factor Tcf/Lef, and activates Wnt target genes transcription. The target genes of Wnt/β-catenin signalling such as c-Myc, cyclin D1, MMP-7, CD44, COX-2, Axin2, etc. upon expression promote the adhesion and migration of CSCs. Furthermore, Wnt target gene expression also promotes the cellular differentiation and proliferation of CSCs, which lead to increased invasiveness of CSCs [62].

Notch signalling pathway plays a key role in cell-to-cell communication during the developmental stages. It also regulates cellular proliferation and differentiation, and apoptosis. It is essential for neural stem cell maintenance, immune regulation and normal haematopoiesis. The Notch signalling pathway is activated during cellto-cell communication, when membrane-bound Jagged or Delta ligand bind to its specific receptor. The Notch receptor is a heterodimer, which is composed of non-covalently bound extracellular and transmembrane domains. After the binding of ligand to Notch receptor, the receptor undergoes a conformational change, which leads to its proteolytic cleavage by the metalloproteinase and γ -secretase, and the release of extracellular and intracellular fragments. The proteolytic cleavage of the heterodimeric Notch receptor releases the Notch intracellular domain (NICD) into the cytoplasm, which upon translocation into the nucleus activates transcription factors, resulting in the upregulated expression of Notch target genes such as c-Myc and HES-family members [63].

The Hedgehog (Hh) signalling pathway is intrinsic for stem cell maintenance as it controls tissue polarity and maintains patterning during embryogenesis. The genetic or epigenetic alterations in cells can generate CSCs, which hijacks the Hh signalling pathway for the maintenance of its plasticity or tumour growth. In the inactive state, the absence of Hh ligand results in the inhibition of Smoothened (Smo) receptor by the transmembrane receptor Patched (Ptch). This in turn activates a series of events in the cytoplasm, which subsequently phosphorylates and degrades Gli1/2 through proteasomal degradation. When adjacent cells secrete Hh, it binds to its receptor Ptch and activates Smo. Then, Gli1/2 molecules, which are bound to the complex in the cytoplasm are released from the Smo protein complex and translocate into the nucleus. This, results in the activated genes also include various genes that are directly and indirectly involved in the maintenance of the CSCs. Hh signalling

upregulates JAG2, and also indirectly upregulates bone morphogenic protein 4 (BMP4) via FOXF1. Hh pathway can crosstalk with Wnt pathway, and can upregulate crucial Wnt proteins such as Wnt2B and Wnt5A. Furthermore, Hh signalling can induce stem cell markers such as LGR5, CD44 and CD133, upon interaction with Wnt and other signalling pathways [65].

In most types of cancers, CSCs hijack all the signalling pathways, which are functionally related to the maintenance of the adult stem cells, thereby promoting the growth and invasiveness of tumour. Recent studies suggest that CSCs are mostly maintained and driven in the TME with the help of these signalling pathways. Therefore, targeted inactivation of these pathways in most carcinomas may have clinical implications, as it would inhibit the self-renewability of CSCs. This approach could be used to target both CSCs and tumour to inhibit metastasis and tumour relapse, and therefore, would enable effective future treatments and ultimately cure for cancers [66].

8.9 Conclusions

CSCs possess the plasticity and self-sustaining ability to survive longer in dormant state within the TME, by evading cell death and remaining refractory to cell signalling or communication mechanisms. Importantly, CSCs can initiate tumours and cause relapse of cancers, which subsequently could lead to more aggressive carcinomas with increasing resistance to treatments. Cancer patients show poor survival rate, when they have metastatic cancer and cancer relapse, because these cancers possess CSCs. Hence, patients with metastatic and relapsed cancers cannot be cured with currently available cancer therapies. Therefore, developing advanced novel therapeutics, which can specifically target and eliminate CSCs in tumours, is an urgently required endeavour to treat, cure and eradicate cancers in the future.

Acknowledgements We express our sincere appreciation to Dr. Yuvaraj Sambandam (Immune Monitoring Core, Comprehensive Transplant Center, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA) for thoroughly reading this manuscript and providing critical suggestions.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Saito Y, Desai RR, Muthuswamy SK (2018) Reinterpreting polarity and cancer: the changing landscape from tumor suppression to tumor promotion. Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer 1869(2):103–116
- Becker A, Thakur BK, Weiss JM, Kim HS, Peinado H, Lyden D (2016) Extracellular vesicles in cancer: cell-to-cell mediators of metastasis. Cancer Cell 30(6):836–848
- 3. McAllister SS, Weinberg RA (2014) The tumour-induced systemic environment as a critical regulator of cancer progression and metastasis. Nat Cell Biol 16(8):717–727

- Lambert AW, Pattabiraman DR, Weinberg RA (2017) Emerging biological principles of metastasis. Cell 168(4):670–691
- 5. Massague J, Obenauf AC (2016) Metastatic colonization by circulating tumour cells. Nature 529(7586):298–306
- He J, Xiong L, Li Q, Lin L, Miao X, Yan S, Hong Z, Yang L, Wen Y, Deng X (2018) 3D modeling of cancer stem cell niche. Oncotarget 9(1):1326–1345
- 7. Prager BC, Xie Q, Bao S, Rich JN (2019) Cancer stem cells: the architects of the tumor ecosystem. Cell Stem Cell 24(1):41–53
- 8. van Zijl F, Krupitza G, Mikulits W (2011) Initial steps of metastasis: cell invasion and endothelial transmigration. Mutat Res 728(1–2):23–34
- Wang G, Biswas AK, Ma W, Kandpal M, Coker C, Grandgenett PM, Hollingsworth MA, Jain R, Tanji K, Lomicronpez-Pintado S, Borczuk A, Hebert D, Jenkitkasemwong S, Hojyo S, Davuluri RV, Knutson MD, Fukada T, Acharyya S (2018) Metastatic cancers promote cachexia through ZIP14 upregulation in skeletal muscle. Nat Med 24(6):770–781
- 10. Turdo A, Veschi V, Gaggianesi M, Chinnici A, Bianca P, Todaro M, Stassi G (2019) Meeting the challenge of targeting cancer stem cells. Front Cell Dev Biol 7:16
- 11. Valent P, Bonnet D, De Maria R, Lapidot T, Copland M, Melo JV, Chomienne C, Ishikawa F, Schuringa JJ, Stassi G, Huntly B, Herrmann H, Soulier J, Roesch A, Schuurhuis GJ, Wohrer S, Arock M, Zuber J, Cerny-Reiterer S, Johnsen HE, Andreeff M, Eaves C (2012) Cancer stem cell definitions and terminology: the devil is in the details. Nat Rev Cancer 12(11):767–775
- Bhowmick NA, Neilson EG, Moses HL (2004) Stromal fibroblasts in cancer initiation and progression. Nature 432(7015):332–337
- Crawford Y, Ferrara N (2009) Tumor and stromal pathways mediating refractoriness/resistance to anti-angiogenic therapies. Trends Pharmacol Sci 30(12):624–630
- Owen JL, Mohamadzadeh M (2013) Macrophages and chemokines as mediators of angiogenesis. Front Physiol 4:159
- Gaggianesi M, Turdo A, Chinnici A, Lipari E, Apuzzo T, Benfante A, Sperduti I, Di Franco S, Meraviglia S, Lo Presti E, Dieli F, Caputo V, Militello G, Vieni S, Stassi G, Todaro M (2017) IL4 primes the dynamics of breast cancer progression via DUSP4 inhibition. Cancer Res 77 (12):3268–3279
- 16. Lee Y, Shin JH, Longmire M, Wang H, Kohrt HE, Chang HY, Sunwoo JB (2016) CD44+ cells in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma suppress T-cell-mediated immunity by selective constitutive and inducible expression of PD-L1. Clin Cancer Res 22(14):3571–3581
- 17. Wu Y, Chen M, Wu P, Chen C, Xu ZP, Gu W (2017) Increased PD-L1 expression in breast and colon cancer stem cells. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 44(5):602–604
- Jachetti E, Caputo S, Mazzoleni S, Brambillasca CS, Parigi SM, Grioni M, Piras IS, Restuccia U, Calcinotto A, Freschi M, Bachi A, Galli R, Bellone M (2015) Tenascin-C protects cancer stem-like cells from immune surveillance by arresting T-cell activation. Cancer Res 75 (10):2095–2108
- Yao HJ, Zhang YG, Sun L, Liu Y (2014) The effect of hyaluronic acid functionalized carbon nanotubes loaded with salinomycin on gastric cancer stem cells. Biomaterials 35 (33):9208–9223
- Shen MM, Abate-Shen C (2010) Molecular genetics of prostate cancer: new prospects for old challenges. Genes Dev 24(18):1967–2000
- Pastushenko I, Blanpain C (2019) EMT transition states during tumor progression and metastasis. Trends Cell Biol 29(3):212–226
- 22. Fouad YA, Aanei C (2017) Revisiting the hallmarks of cancer. Am J Cancer Res 7 (5):1016–1036
- Demaria O, Cornen S, Daeron M, Morel Y, Medzhitov R, Vivier E (2019) Publisher correction: harnessing innate immunity in cancer therapy. Nature 576(7785):E3
- 24. Sell S (2004) Stem cell origin of cancer and differentiation therapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 51 (1):1–28

- 25. Aslan C, Maralbashi S, Salari F, Kahroba H, Sigaroodi F, Kazemi T, Kharaziha P (2019) Tumor-derived exosomes: implication in angiogenesis and antiangiogenesis cancer therapy. J Cell Physiol 234(10):16885–16903
- 26. Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z (2015) The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? Cell Stem Cell 16(3):225–238
- Paulis YW, Huijbers EJ, van der Schaft DW, Soetekouw PM, Pauwels P, Tjan-Heijnen VC, Griffioen AW (2015) CD44 enhances tumor aggressiveness by promoting tumor cell plasticity. Oncotarget 6(23):19634–19646
- Glumac PM, LeBeau AM (2018) The role of CD133 in cancer: a concise review. Clin Transl Med 7(1):18
- 29. Yu KR, Yang SR, Jung JW, Kim H, Ko K, Han DW, Park SB, Choi SW, Kang SK, Scholer H, Kang KS (2012) CD49f enhances multipotency and maintains stemness through the direct regulation of OCT4 and SOX2. Stem Cells 30(5):876–887
- Clark DW, Palle K (2016) Aldehyde dehydrogenases in cancer stem cells: potential as therapeutic targets. Ann Transl Med 4(24):518
- Saikolappan S, Kumar B, Shishodia G, Koul S, Koul HK (2019) Reactive oxygen species and cancer: a complex interaction. Cancer Lett 452:132–143
- 32. McGranahan N, Swanton C (2017) Clonal heterogeneity and tumor evolution: past, present, and the future. Cell 168(4):613–628
- Malanchi I, Santamaria-Martinez A, Susanto E, Peng H, Lehr HA, Delaloye JF, Huelsken J (2011) Interactions between cancer stem cells and their niche govern metastatic colonization. Nature 481(7379):85–89
- 34. Steinbichler TB, Dudas J, Skvortsov S, Ganswindt U, Riechelmann H, Skvortsova II (2019) Therapy resistance mediated by exosomes. Mol Cancer 18(1):58
- Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Bettigole SE, Glimcher LH (2017) Tumorigenic and immunosuppressive effects of endoplasmic reticulum stress in cancer. Cell 168(4):692–706
- 36. Tsang DS, Patel S (2019) Proton beam therapy for cancer. CMAJ 191(24):E664-e666
- Murgai M, Giles A, Kaplan R (2015) Physiological, tumor, and metastatic niches: opportunities and challenges for targeting the tumor microenvironment. Crit Rev Oncog 20(3–4):301–314
- 38. Bao B, Azmi AS, Ali S, Ahmad A, Li Y, Banerjee S, Kong D, Sarkar FH (2012) The biological kinship of hypoxia with CSC and EMT and their relationship with deregulated expression of miRNAs and tumor aggressiveness. Biochim Biophys Acta 1826(2):272–296
- Shiozawa Y, Nie B, Pienta KJ, Morgan TM, Taichman RS (2013) Cancer stem cells and their role in metastasis. Pharmacol Ther 138(2):285–293
- 40. Kim MY, Oskarsson T, Acharyya S, Nguyen DX, Zhang XH, Norton L, Massague J (2009) Tumor self-seeding by circulating cancer cells. Cell 139(7):1315–1326
- Ayob AZ, Ramasamy TS (2018) Cancer stem cells as key drivers of tumour progression. J Biomed Sci 25(1):20
- 42. Lee SY, Jeong EK, Ju MK, Jeon HM, Kim MY, Kim CH, Park HG, Han SI, Kang HS (2017) Induction of metastasis, cancer stem cell phenotype, and oncogenic metabolism in cancer cells by ionizing radiation. Mol Cancer 16(1):10
- Desai A, Yan Y, Gerson SL (2019) Concise reviews: Cancer stem cell targeted therapies: toward clinical success. Stem Cells Transl Med 8(1):75–81
- 44. Folkerd EJ, Dowsett M (2010) Influence of sex hormones on cancer progression. J Clin Oncol 28(26):4038–4044
- 45. Aaronson SA (1991) Growth factors and cancer. Science 254(5035):1146-1153
- Shay G, Lynch CC, Fingleton B (2015) Moving targets: emerging roles for MMPs in cancer progression and metastasis. Matrix Biol 44–46:200–206
- 47. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144 (5):646–674
- Lasorella A, Benezra R, Iavarone A (2014) The ID proteins: master regulators of cancer stem cells and tumour aggressiveness. Nat Rev Cancer 14(2):77–91

- Robichaud N, Sonenberg N, Ruggero D, Schneider RJ (2019) Translational control in cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 11(7):a032896
- Mitra A, Mishra L, Li S (2015) EMT, CTCs and CSCs in tumor relapse and drug-resistance. Oncotarget 6(13):10697–10711
- 51. Shibue T, Weinberg RA (2017) EMT, CSCs, and drug resistance: the mechanistic link and clinical implications. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 14(10):611–629
- 52. Kong D, Li Y, Wang Z, Sarkar FH (2011) Cancer stem cells and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT)-phenotypic cells: are they cousins or twins? Cancers (Basel) 3(1):716–729
- Du B, Shim JS (2016) Targeting epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) to overcome drug resistance in cancer. Molecules 21(7):E965
- El-Kenawi A, Hanggi K, Ruffell B (2019) The immune microenvironment and cancer metastasis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 10:a037424
- 55. Snyder V, Reed-Newman TC, Arnold L, Thomas SM, Anant S (2018) Cancer stem cell metabolism and potential therapeutic targets. Front Oncol 8:203
- Al Tameemi W, Dale TP, Al-Jumaily RMK, Forsyth NR (2019) Hypoxia-modified cancer cell metabolism. Front Cell Dev Biol 7:4
- 57. De Francesco EM, Sotgia F, Lisanti MP (2018) Cancer stem cells (CSCs): metabolic strategies for their identification and eradication. Biochem J 475(9):1611–1634
- Chae YC, Kim JH (2018) Cancer stem cell metabolism: target for cancer therapy. BMB Rep 51 (7):319–326
- 59. Nusse R (2012) Wnt signaling. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 4(5):a011163
- 60. Ramachandran I, Thavathiru E, Ramalingam S, Natarajan G, Mills WK, Benbrook DM, Zuna R, Lightfoot S, Reis A, Anant S, Queimado L (2012) Wnt inhibitory factor 1 induces apoptosis and inhibits cervical cancer growth, invasion and angiogenesis in vivo. Oncogene 31 (22):2725–2737
- 61. Ramachandran I, Ganapathy V, Gillies E, Fonseca I, Sureban SM, Houchen CW, Reis A, Queimado L (2014) Wht inhibitory factor 1 suppresses cancer stemness and induces cellular senescence. Cell Death Dis 5(5):e1246
- Takebe N, Harris PJ, Warren RQ, Ivy SP (2011) Targeting cancer stem cells by inhibiting Wnt, Notch, and Hedgehog pathways. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 8(2):97–106
- Shukla S, Meeran SM (2014) Epigenetics of cancer stem cells: pathways and therapeutics. Biochim Biophys Acta 1840(12):3494–3502
- 64. Venkatesh V, Nataraj R, Thangaraj GS, Karthikeyan M, Gnanasekaran A, Kaginelli SB, Kuppanna G, Kallappa CG, Basalingappa KM (2018) Targeting Notch signalling pathway of cancer stem cells. Stem Cell Investig 5:5
- 65. Katoh Y, Katoh M (2009) Hedgehog target genes: mechanisms of carcinogenesis induced by aberrant hedgehog signaling activation. Curr Mol Med 9(7):873–886
- 66. Niehrs C (2012) The complex world of WNT receptor signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13 (12):767–779



9

Therapeutic Implication of Cancer Stem Cells

Sudeep Bose, Sartaj Khurana, and Shrey Ashley Philip

Abstract

Most of the conventional cancer treatments have limited selectivity, are temporarily effective, and have adverse side effects. The potential of cancer stem cell (CSC)-based therapies has recently attracted much attention to override the detrimental impact of conventional therapies. Here we have highlighted potential strategies including identification of cancer stem cell biomarkers, interfering with circuitry network associated with drug resistance, sensitization of CSC to chemotherapy, and radiation therapy through protein targeting. CSCs display differential metabolic activity, specific signaling pathway activity in tumor initiation, metastasis, and drug resistance. Thus identification of CSC-specific markers distinct from the total cancer cell population is essential. Given the fact that the stem cell is one of the key components of organogenesis and maintenance of homeostasis throughout life, improvement of treatment modalities based on CSC therapies holds wish for better overall survival and better quality of life of cancer sufferers, specifically for patients with metastatic disorder. Therefore, in this book chapter, we have mainly discussed aberrant regulation of gene expression and some signaling pathways in CSCs and implication of CSC surface markers for designing new therapies for better clinical outcome.

S. Bose (🖂) · S. Khurana

Amity Institute of Biotechnology, Amity University Uttar-Pradesh, Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India

Amity Institute of Molecular Medicine and Stem Cell Research, Amity University Uttar Pradesh, Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India e-mail: sbosel@amity.edu

S. A. Philip Amity Institute of Biotechnology, Amity University Uttar-Pradesh, Noida, Uttar Pradesh, India

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_9

Keywords

Cancer stem cells \cdot Biomarkers \cdot Therapeutics \cdot Stemness \cdot CSC signaling \cdot Targets

9.1 Introduction

Cancer development is a multistep process which includes dysregulation in the complex network of genes like accumulation of series of mutations and epigenetic changes in tumor suppressors and proto-oncogenes in addition to other hallmarks like sustained proliferative signal, apoptosis resistance, metastatic ability, etc. [1]. With the fact that normal stem cells has self-renewal property, cancer stem cells (CSCs) may exhibit replicative potential for many cancer types [2, 3]. CSCs originate from tumor which sustain proliferative signal and clonal selection as in the case of normal malignancies [4, 5]. With the fact that the stem cell is one of the key components of organogenesis and maintenance of homeostasis throughout life, improvement of treatment modalities based on CSC therapies needs proper in-depth understanding of biological consequences of existing therapies for better patient outcome.

9.2 Roles of Stem Cells in Regulation of Key Biological Functions

Stem cells have profound biological significances like being pioneer of progenitor cells required for repair of the tissues of particular germ line. It is one of the key component of developmental processes like organogenesis and maintenance of normal homeostasis. Pluripotent cells which are embryonic stem cell by origin [6] give rise to a variety of cell types of the body, including regeneration of blood, skin, or intestinal tissues [7].

9.2.1 Characteristic Features of Cancer Stem Cells and Its Biomarkers

Cancer stem cells exhibit a small fraction of the entire population of tumor cells with distinct characteristic features of stemness, display of differential metabolic activity, distinct molecular switch activity regulating cell signaling, and deregulation in cell cycle function [8, 9]. Identification of such population of cells may hold tremendous potential for targeted therapies. Various cell surface proteins like ABCG2, ALDH1, CD44, CD24, and CD133 are overexpressed as stem cell markers [10, 11]. Interestingly, these cell surface markers segregate subsets of CSC population in multiple types of solid tumors. This variation in CSC phenotype in patient tumors of the same

subtype raises the question whether difference in clinical outcomes within the tumor subtype is due to variation in CSC population.

A comprehensive list of common marker proteins of CSCs and their roles in normal biological processes is represented in Table 9.1.

9.2.2 Molecular Players of CSCs Stemness

The diagnostic and prognostic significance of CSCs is documented through gene expression profiling authenticated by various molecular techniques. For instance, the molecular analyses of leukemia stem cell populations from AML patients showed a pattern of gene expression that was found to be a strong predictor of poor prognosis [12]. In colorectal cancer, EphB2-positive CSC population was identified in tumors correlated with patient relapse [13]. Subsequent clinical and laboratory studies of patients in multiple tumors based on these signatures' involvement of CSC in drug resistance and cancer metastasis are well documented now [14].

9.2.3 Therapeutic Targeting of CSCs

Cancer stem cells can be selectively targeted without disturbing the homeostasis of adjacent normal cells. These strategies include molecular players of various hallmarks of cancer such as self-renewal pathways, resistance to various types of radio- and chemotherapies, and targeting various CSC-specific cell surface proteins. For instance Notch and Hedgehog signal transduction pathway-associated pharma-cological inhibitor -based targeted therapies in human and mouse leukemia inhibited the expansion of imatinib-resistant CML [15]. Thus CSC-based targeted therapies are gaining much attention due to the inefficiency of conventional cancer therapies, failure to kill CSCs, thereby resulting in multiple malignancies, and also toxic to the healthy tissues [16]. Various approaches of targeting CSC are summarized below.

9.3 Signaling Pathways

Various inhibitors have been developed for targeting signal transduction pathways including Hedgehog (Hh), Notch, Wnt/b-catenin,, Bcl-2, Bmi-1, etc. (Fig. 9.1) in CSCs and are a promising step in cancer therapeutics [17–19]. However, these inhibitors have adverse effect on the normal stem cells. Therefore, improvisation in drug formulations is required with other CSC-targeting therapies for better therapeutic outcomes.

The goal of the current therapeutic regimen should be to target circuitry network of CSCs to trigger CSC-specific apoptosis and alter the microenvironment (niches) supporting these cells. Toward this goal, modifications in ABC superfamily, antiapoptotic factors, detoxifying enzymes, DNA repair enzymes, and histone deacetylation [20, 21] play a very important role. For example, the PI3K/AKT

Cancer types	CSC markers	Role of CSC markers	Reference
Glioma/medulloblastoma, head and neck cancers, lung, prostate, melanoma,	ABCG2 (ATP-binding cassette	ABCG2 is a protein that plays a role in host detoxification of various xenobiotic substrates	Guo et al. [10]
osteosarcoma	transporter)	in various organs like the liver, intestine, placenta, and blood-brain barrier. The bone marrow is reported to express ABCG2	
Glioma/medulloblastoma, head and neck cancers, lung, breast, pancreas, bladder, prostate	A1/ALDH1A1 (aldehyde dehydrogenase 1)	ALDHs are NAD $(P)^+$ –dependent enzymes, in the human system. ALDH1 oxidizes retinaldehyde to retinoic acid and acetaldehyde to acetic acid and is expressed in the epithelia of the brain, liver, testis, eye lens, and cornea	de Beça et al. [50]
Glioma/medulloblastoma, head and neck cancers, breast, pancreas, bladder, prostate, ovarian, osteosarcoma, leukemia	CD44	CD44 is a multistructural and multifunctional cell surface molecule and hyaluronic acid receptor, whose role is primarily governed by various posttranslational modifications CD44 is involved in cell proliferation; differentiation; migration; angiogenesis; presentation of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors to the corresponding receptors; and docking of proteases at the cell membrane, as well as in signaling for cell survival. Such biological properties are essential not only for the physiological activities of normal cells but also for the pathologic activities of cancer cells	Wang et al. [21]
Glioblastomas, prostate, gastric, and breast	CD133/ Prominin-1	CD133 are hematopoietic stem cells, endothelial progenitor cells, glial stem cells, and kidney, mammary gland, salivary gland, testes, and placental cells. However, CD133 is also reported being expressed by glioblastomas	Yasuda et al. [51] and Brescia et al. [52]

Table 9.1 A comprehensive list of common marker proteins of CSCs and their roles in normal biological processes is represented

(continued)

Cancer types	CSC markers	Role of CSC markers	Reference
		and pediatric brain tumors and gastric and breast CSCs	
Head and neck cancer	CD44+		Prince et al. [53]
Pancreatic	CD133+, CD44+, EpCAM+, CD24+		Li et al. [47] and Simeone [54]

Table 9.1 (continued)



Fig. 9.1 Cancer stem cells associated different types of signal transduction pathways. The various molecular players such as tumor suppressors, apoptosis regulators, cell survival genes and drug transporter mechanism along with epigenetic pathways becomes defective during cancer stem cell formation

signaling pathway which is involved in numerous cancers, including leukemia, induces resistance to apoptosis through Bcl-2 overexpression and the phosphorylation of the pro-apoptotic protein BAD. A summary of new CSC-targeted therapeutic strategies is shown in Fig. 9.2.



Fig. 9.2 Emerging trends for targeting cancer stems cells. Identification of cancer stem cells with surface markers helps in targeting complex signalling networks such as—inhibiting drug transporters, alteration in tissue microenvironment targeting with nanoparticles, natural products and miRNAs

9.3.1 Nucleic Acid-Based Targeting CSC Markers

Certain cytotoxic drugs like Bcl-2 inhibitors, angiogenic inhibitors, short hairpin RNA molecules, antibodies, DNA methyltransferase inhibitors, etc. might be a better choice of treatment by targeting CSCs, for example, downregulation of CD133⁺ CSCs using short hairpin RNA in human metastatic melanoma [22]. Similarly, breast cancer cells can be targeted with an anti-CD44 antibody-conjugated gold nanorod which displays significant cancer stem cell characteristics [23].

9.3.2 Cancer Stem Cell Targeting by Inhibitors of Detoxifying Enzymes and Drug Efflux Pumps

Cancer aggressiveness can be reduced, and sensitivity of cancer cells to chemotherapeutic drugs can be enhanced using specific drug detoxifying inhibitors like diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB) or all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA), ALDH inhibitor against breast CSCs [24]. Similarly, some novel ABC transporter inhibitors like MS-209 and VX-710 [25, 26] have shown promising results in enhancing drug sensitivity in various solid cancers [26].

9.3.3 Role of Tissue Microenvironment Niche of CSCs

The advancement of in situ applications of in vitro reprogrammed stem cells and targeted tissue-specific stem cell expansion in tissue regeneration .requires understanding of how abnormal microenvironments can contribute to cancer initiation and progression. The extracellular matrix (ECM) and stromal cells enriched with a variety of proteins, growth factors, etc. of bone marrow and secondary lymphoid organs favor disease progression and resist conventional therapies [27]. Tumor angiogenesis is well known for CSC survival and drug resistance. For example, brain tumor stem cells and leukemic stem cells promoting blood vessel formation can be targeted by angiogenic inhibitor VEGF-neutralizing antibody bevacizumab that reduces CSC pools followed by tumor growth.

9.3.4 Emerging Trends of Noncoding RNA as Potential Drug for CSCs

Certain noncoding RNAs including micro-RNAs have been found to be the direct targets of CSC markers. MiRNA-mediated targeting like miRNA mimics, miRNA antagonists, and nano-delivery of synthetic oligos [28] to suppress oncogenes or activate tumor suppressor proteins was reported which plays significant regulatory roles in CSC apoptotic and antiapoptotic pathways, proliferation, survival, differentiation, migration and invasion, drug resistance, and radiation resistance [29, 30].

9.3.5 Natural Product-Based Targeting of CSCs

Natural products are the products obtained from plants or any other organism and have always been a rich source of novel compounds that can be used for cancer therapeutics. In this scenario, curcumin, a key compound obtained from the rhizome of *Curcuma longa* (turmeric), holds promising outcome as anticancer agent by inhibiting metastasis, suppressing cancer signaling pathways, sensitizing tumor cells to cancer treatment, and finally inducing apoptosis [31]. Besides curcumin, other natural products, like chrysotoxine isolated from *Dendrobium* species and

parthenolide isolated from the shoots of feverfew (*Tanacetum parthenium*), possess anticancer features that include targeting various cancer hallmarks in lung cancer.

9.3.6 Dissecting the Role of Apoptotic Players in CSC Stemness

One of the major obstacles of cancer chemotherapy is resistance to apoptosis and drug resistance. Majority of the cancer types including colon cancer, pancreatic cancer, glioblastoma, and prostate cancer are typically resistant to cancer chemotherapy due to intrinsic defects or post-chemotherapy effects [32, 33]. There are several mechanisms by which CSC triggers drug resistance including mitochondrial defects, mutations of death receptors, overexpression of antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family members and inhibitors of apoptosis proteins (IAPs), etc. [34]. Monensin and salinomycin ionophore antibiotics are currently recognized as promising anticancer agents in CSC apoptosis [35]. Obatoclax, a pan-Bcl-2 inhibitor, was recently shown to overcome resistance to the histone deacetylase inhibitors SAHA and LBH589 and to act as a radiosensitizer in patient-derived GSCs [36].

9.4 Relevance of CSC-Based Targeted Therapies in Different Malignancies

9.4.1 Leukemia

One of the most commonly diagnosed malignancies in people of all age groups [37], leukemia has different subcategories such as acute myeloid leukemia (AML), chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), and multiple myeloma (MM). There is distinct patient-to-patient variation in the morphology of leukemic blast cells within these groups. Stem cell markers like CD34, CD38, HLA-DR, and CD71 have been reported in leukemic cells [38, 39]. A few of the cell surface markers, for instance, CD90 (Thy-1), are differentially expressed between normal hematopoietic stem cells and leukemia CSCs, with CD90 underexpression in leukemia [39, 40] indicating the potential of CD90 as a differentiating marker of leukemic CSC subpopulations [39, 41]. Loss of expression of CD117, also known as c-kit, is a prominent characteristic of AML CSCs (CD34⁺c-kit⁻) [42]. A monoclonal antibody, CSL360, targeting CD123 was the first-in-human trial (NCT00401739) in high-risk AML patients. In multiple reports it was evidenced that hematological neoplasms, a fusion protein like SL-401, made up of human IL-3 and diphtheria toxin truncated version of the protein directly target CD123 [17]. These studies reveal some novel approaches of targeting CD123 for leukemia treatment.

9.4.2 Breast Cancer

Continuously holding the banner for the second most deadly malignancy for females is breast cancer, where one out of eight women have a tendency to develop this malignancy in their lifetime [37]. Breast cancer is most prevalent in Afro-Americans compared to other ethnic groups where the ratio of prevalence stands at 121 per 100,000. A minor subpopulation of breast cancer cells known as breast CSCs (0.1–1%) is found in primary tumors. Upon transplantation into NOD/SCID mice, a rare subtype of breast CSCs possesses a high tendency for self-renewal and has the capacity to initiate tumorigenesis [4, 43]. CD133, CD44, ALDH, c-kit, ESA, and ABCG2 are among the most common CSC markers reported in primary breast cancer samples [44]. Targeting BCSC populations with glutathione S-transferase omega 1 apart from other cell surface marker, resulted in elevated levels of intracellular calcium and activation of STAT3 signaling, along with enriched BCSC micro-environment and reduction in metastasis.

9.4.3 Pancreatic Cancer

Presently the fourth major reason for mortality in the United States is pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma [37] which is among the most lethal malignancies, with a 5-year survival rate of <5% [45]. Less than 1% of all pancreatic cancer cells are cancer stem cells with important attributes like self-renewal and uncontrolled potential of differentiated progeny. CD44⁺, CD24⁺, and epithelial-specific antigen (ESA)⁺ are important cell surface markers expressed by pancreatic CSC populations [43, 46]. These pancreatic cancer CSC phenotypic cells also demonstrate a significant upregulation of Sonic hedgehog (SHH) and the polycomb group (PCG) gene family member Bmi-1, unlike normal pancreatic epithelial cells and non-CSC-like cancer cells. All of these have been well known for maintaining CSC characteristics [46, 47].

9.4.4 Lung Cancer

More than two lakh people are diagnosed with lung cancer every year in the United States, with a yearly morbidity rate of 160,000 individuals [37]. Tremendous growth has been witnessed in the past decade pertaining to the diagnosis and management of this condition; however due to factors such as resistance to treatment, uncontrolled tumor growth, and metastatic capacity, the prognosis still remains poor. One of the main reasons behind the aggressive phenotypes of lung cancer is the presence of a small subpopulation of lung CSCs capable of expressing certain stem cell markers, such as CD133, CD44, ALDH, Oct4, and Nanog [48, 49].

It is interesting to note that the development of immunotherapy has led to scientific advancements in using CSC-specific antigen presentation in addition to targeted small molecule inhibitors for the improvement of cancer therapies.

9.5 Conclusion

A substantial amount of evidence reveal that a puny CSC population has been known to be associated with an aggressive phenotype of tumors portraying vital characteristic features such as increased cell survival, migration, invasion, metastatic capacity, treatment resistance, and tumor recurrence eventually contributing to poor prognosis. Regardless of the number of efforts that have been made toward characterization of CSCs, their pathogenesis and molecular interactions in the tumor microenvironment are still elusive. Identification, isolation, and characterization of CSCs and CSC-specific markers in malignant tissues will enhance our knowledge and assist us in designing strategies for the development of chemotherapeutics aimed at reducing tumor aggressiveness by targeting CSCs. Recent evidence states that preclinical and clinical trials have highlighted the cruciality of CSC markers in cancer detection, screening, and CSC-based targeted therapies such as epigenetic targeting and immunotherapy which is aimed at improving patient outcomes. Current scientific advancement on CSCs has widened our horizons and provided a new dimension in developing new strategies in order to curb malignancies, thereby allowing researchers and clinicians to alleviate the burden of cancer.

References

- 1. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2000) The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100:57-70
- Blanpain C, Fuchs E (2009) Epidermal homeostasis: a balancing act of stem cells in the skin. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:207–217
- Kangsamaksin T, Park HJ, Trempus CS, Morris RJ (2007) A perspective on murine keratinocyte stem cells as targets of chemically induced skin cancer. Mol Carcinog 46:579–584
- 4. Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF (2003) Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 100:3983–3988
- 5. Ricci-Vitiani L, Fabrizi E, Palio E, De Maria R (2009) Colon cancer stem cells. J Mol Med 87:1097
- Minteer D, Marra KG, Rubin JP (2012) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: biology and potential applications. Mesenchymal stem cells-basics and clinical application I. Springer, Berlin
- Yeung TM, Chia LA, Kosinski CM, Kuo CJ (2011) Regulation of self-renewal and differentiation by the intestinal stem cell niche. Cell Mol Life Sci 68:2513–2523
- 8. Jordan CT, Guzman ML, Noble M (2006) Cancer stem cells. N Engl J Med 355:1253-1261
- 9. Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL (2001) Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature 414:105–111
- Guo Y, Lübbert M, Engelhardt M (2003) CD34– hematopoietic stem cells: current concepts and controversies. Stem Cells 21:15–20
- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ (2008) Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. Nat Rev Cancer 8:755–768
- Eppert K, Takenaka K, Lechman ER, Waldron L, Nilsson B, Van Galen P, Metzeler KH, Poeppl A, Ling V, Beyene J (2011) Stem cell gene expression programs influence clinical outcome in human leukemia. Nat Med 17:1086
- Merlos-Suárez A, Barriga FM, Jung P, Iglesias M, Céspedes MV, Rossell D, Sevillano M, Hernando-Momblona X, da Silva-Diz V, Muñoz P (2011) The intestinal stem cell signature identifies colorectal cancer stem cells and predicts disease relapse. Cell Stem Cell 8:511–524

- Bauerschmitz GJ, Ranki T, Kangasniemi L, Ribacka C, Eriksson M, Porten M, Herrmann I, Ristimäki A, Virkkunen P, Tarkkanen M (2008) Tissue-specific promoters active in CD44+ CD24–/low breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 68:5533–5539
- Dierks C, Beigi R, Guo G-R, Zirlik K, Stegert MR, Manley P, Trussell C, Schmitt-Graeff A, Landwerlin K, Veelken H (2008) Expansion of Bcr-Abl-positive leukemic stem cells is dependent on hedgehog pathway activation. Cancer Cell 14:238–249
- 16. Winquist RJ, Boucher DM, Wood M, Furey BF (2009) Targeting cancer stem cells for more effective therapies: taking out cancer's locomotive engine. Biochem Pharmacol 78:326–334
- 17. Maugeri-Saccà M, Zeuner A, De Maria R (2011) Therapeutic targeting of cancer stem cells. Front Oncol 1:10
- Merchant AA, Matsui W (2010) Targeting Hedgehog—a cancer stem cell pathway. Clin Cancer Res 16:3130–3140
- Muller J-M, Chevrier L, Cochaud S, Meunier A-C, Chadeneau C (2007) Hedgehog, Notch and Wnt developmental pathways as targets for anti-cancer drugs. Drug Discov Today Dis Mech 4:285–291
- 20. Liu J, Kopeckova P, Bühler P, Wolf P, Pan H, Bauer H, Elsässer-Beile U, Kopecek J (2009) Biorecognition and subcellular trafficking of HPMA copolymer– anti-PSMA antibody conjugates by prostate Cancer cells. Mol Pharm 6:959–970
- Wang K-H, Kao A-P, Chang C-C, Lee J-N, Hou M-F, Long C-Y, Chen H-S, Tsai E-M (2010) Increasing CD44+/CD24-tumor stem cells, and upregulation of COX-2 and HDAC6, as major functions of HER2 in breast tumorigenesis. Mol Cancer 9:288
- 22. Rappa G, Fodstad O, Lorico A (2008) The stem cell-associated antigen CD133 (Prominin-1) is a molecular therapeutic target for metastatic melanoma. Stem Cells 26:3008–3017
- Alkilany AM, Thompson LB, Boulos SP, Sisco PN, Murphy CJ (2012) Gold nanorods: their potential for photothermal therapeutics and drug delivery, tempered by the complexity of their biological interactions. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:190–199
- 24. Croker AK, Allan AL (2012) Inhibition of aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) activity reduces chemotherapy and radiation resistance of stem-like ALDH hi CD44+ human breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat 133:75–87
- Patil Y, Sadhukha T, Ma L, Panyam J (2009) Nanoparticle-mediated simultaneous and targeted delivery of paclitaxel and tariquidar overcomes tumor drug resistance. J Control Release 136:21–29
- 26. Saeki T, Nomizu T, Toi M, Ito Y, Noguchi S, Kobayashi T, Asaga T, Minami H, Yamamoto N, Aogi K (2007) Dofequidar fumarate (MS-209) in combination with cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and fluorouracil for patients with advanced or recurrent breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 25:411–417
- Konopleva M, Tabe Y, Zeng Z, Andreeff M (2009) Therapeutic targeting of microenvironmental interactions in leukemia: mechanisms and approaches. Drug Resist Updat 12:103–113
- Kaboli PJ, Rahmat A, Ismail P, Ling K-H (2015) MicroRNA-based therapy and breast cancer: a comprehensive review of novel therapeutic strategies from diagnosis to treatment. Pharmacol Res 97:104–121
- Garofalo M, Croce CM (2015) Role of microRNAs in maintaining cancer stem cells. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 81:53–61
- Ween M, Armstrong M, Oehler M, Ricciardelli C (2015) The role of ABC transporters in ovarian cancer progression and chemoresistance. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 96:220–256
- Rauf A, Imran M, Orhan IE, Bawazeer S (2018) Health perspectives of a bioactive compound curcumin: a review. Trends Food Sci Technol 74:33–45
- 32. Chandrasekaran S, Marshall JR, Messing JA, Hsu J-W, King MR (2014) TRAIL-mediated apoptosis in breast cancer cells cultured as 3D spheroids. PLoS One 9:e111487
- Roberti A, Sala DL, Cinti C (2006) Multiple genetic and epigenetic interacting mechanisms contribute to clonally selection of drug-resistant tumors: current views and new therapeutic prospective. J Cell Physiol 207:571–581

- 34. Suresh R, Ali S, Ahmad A, Philip PA, Sarkar FH (2016) The role of cancer stem cells in recurrent and drug-resistant lung cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol 890:57–74
- Ning X, Shu J, Du Y, Ben Q, Li Z (2013) Therapeutic strategies targeting cancer stem cells. Cancer Biol Ther 14:295–303
- 36. Pont LMB, Spoor JK, Venkatesan S, Swagemakers S, Kloezeman JJ, Dirven CM, van der Spek PJ, Lamfers ML, Leenstra S (2014) The Bcl-2 inhibitor Obatoclax overcomes resistance to histone deacetylase inhibitors SAHA and LBH589 as radiosensitizers in patient-derived glioblastoma stem-like cells. Genes Cancer 5:445
- 37. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A (2012) Cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 62:10-29
- 38. Dick JE (2005) Acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1044:1-5
- Warner JK, Wang JC, Hope KJ, Jin L, Dick JE (2004) Concepts of human leukemic development. Oncogene 23:7164–7177
- 40. Johnsen HE, Kjeldsen MK, Urup T, Fogd K, Pilgaard L, Boegsted M, Nyegaard M, Christiansen I, Bukh A, Dybkaer K (2009) Cancer stem cells and the cellular hierarchy in haematological malignancies. Eur J Cancer 45(Suppl 1):194–201
- 41. Blair A, Hogge DE, Ailles LE, Lansdorp PM, Sutherland HJ (1997) Lack of expression of Thy-1 (CD90) on acute myeloid leukemia cells with long-term proliferative ability in vitro and in vivo. Blood 89:3104–3112
- 42. Blair A, Sutherland HJ (2000) Primitive acute myeloid leukemia cells with long-term proliferative ability in vitro and in vivo lack surface expression of c-kit (CD117). Exp Hematol 28:660–671
- 43. Klonisch T, Wiechec E, Hombach-Klonisch S, Ande SR, Wesselborg S, Schulze-Osthoff K, Los M (2008) Cancer stem cell markers in common cancers—therapeutic implications. Trends Mol Med 14:450–460
- 44. Prud'Homme GJ (2012) Cancer stem cells and novel targets for antitumor strategies. Curr Pharm Des 18:2838–2849
- 45. Edwards BK, Brown ML, Wingo PA, Howe HL, Ward E, Ries LA, Schrag D, Jamison PM, Jemal A, Wu XC, Friedman C, Harlan L, Warren J, Anderson RN, PICKLE LW (2005) Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975-2002, featuring population-based trends in cancer treatment. J Natl Cancer Inst 97:1407–1427
- 46. Lee CJ, Dosch J, Simeone DM (2008) Pancreatic cancer stem cells. J Clin Oncol 26:2806-2812
- 47. Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P, Burant CF, Zhang L, Adsay V, Wicha M, Clarke MF, Simeone DM (2007) Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 67:1030–1037
- Eramo A, Haas TL, De Maria R (2010) Lung cancer stem cells: tools and targets to fight lung cancer. Oncogene 29:4625–4635
- Wu X, Chen H, Wang X (2012) Can lung cancer stem cells be targeted for therapies? Cancer Treat Rev 38:580–588
- de Beça FF et al (2013) Cancer stem cells markers CD44, CD24 and ALDH1 in breast cancer special histological types. J Clin Pathol 66(3):187–191
- 51. Yasuda H et al (2009) Elevated CD133, but not VEGF or EGFR, as a predictive marker of distant recurrence after preoperative chemoradiotherapy in rectal cancer. Oncol Rep 22 (4):709–717
- Brescia P et al (2013) CD133 is essential for glioblastoma stem cell maintenance. Stem Cells 31 (5):857–869
- 53. Prince M et al (2007) Identification of a subpopulation of cells with cancer stem cell properties in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104(3):973–978
- 54. Simeone DM (2008) Pancreatic cancer stem cells: implications for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 14(18):5646–5648



Glioblastoma Stem Cells as a Therapeutic **1**C Target

Devaraj Ezhilarasan, R. Ileng Kumaran, Ilangovan Ramachandran, Santosh Yadav, and Muralidharan Anbalagan

Abstract

Glioblastoma (GBM) is a deadly brain tumor with poor prognosis despite the improvement in the diagnosis of GBM and innovative treatment strategies. Chemotherapy and radiotherapy could only help the GBM patients to a mean survival of 15 months. One of the key reasons for this poor outcome is a complex tumor heterogeneity and the presence of cancer stem cells (CSCs). CSCs in GBM (GSCs) are responsible for drug resistance and relapse. Cancer cells (non-GSC)

D. Ezhilarasan

Biomedical Research Unit and Laboratory Animal Research Centre, Saveetha Dental College and Hospitals, Saveetha Institute of Medical and Technical Sciences, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

R. I. Kumaran Biology Department, Farmingdale State College, Farmingdale, NY, USA

I. Ramachandran

Department of Endocrinology, Dr. ALM PG Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, University of Madras, Taramani Campus, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA

S. Yadav Aging Centre, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

Louisiana Cancer Research Center, New Orleans, LA, USA e-mail: Syadav1@tulane.edu

M. Anbalagan (🖂) Louisiana Cancer Research Center, New Orleans, LA, USA

Department of Structural and Cellular Biology, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA e-mail: manbalag@tulane.edu

167

Department of Pharmacology, Saveetha Dental College and Hospitals, Saveetha Institute of Medical and Technical Sciences, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_10

are normally sensitive to drug treatment, whereas GSCs are resistant to treatment. This chapter describes the complexity of GSC and their microenvironment niche, GSCs as a therapeutic target, and details on clinical trials that target GSCs. This knowledge may help us in better understanding CSCs in glioblastoma and developing new therapeutic strategies for this deadly disease.

Keywords

Cancer stem cells · Glioblastoma · Brain tumor · Radioresistance

10.1 Introduction

Gliomas are a group of aggressive and most common types of primary central nervous system cancers. The incidence and mortality of gliomas have increased globally during the last two decades [1]. Histologically, glioma can be classified as high-grade glioma [glioblastoma (GBM)] and low-grade glioma (astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma) [2]. According to the cell of origin, gliomas can be classified as anaplastic astrocvtic tumors (astrocytoma, astrocytoma, and GBM). oligodendrogliomas, ependymomas, and mixed gliomas [3]. Based on histopathology and level of malignancy, the World Health Organization (WHO) classified glioma under grade I to IV. Grade I glioma is less proliferative and can be treated by surgical procedures, while grade II to IV types are highly invasive and fatal. Due to the high malignancy and aggressiveness, WHO designated GBM as grade IV astrocytoma [3, 4]. Glioblastoma is one of the fatal and malignant forms of tumors from a glial origin in the human brain with a median survival period of 16–21 months [5]. Glioblastoma accounts for >60% of all brain tumors in adults with high mortality rate and a poor prognosis due to the infiltration and migration of GBM cells, high degree of intratumoral cellular heterogeneity and plasticity, and a high degree of recurrence [6, 7]. In a cancer perspective, GBM is a rare tumor with a global incidence rate from 0.59 to 3.69/100,000 population [8]. However, due to poor prognosis, GBM has a survival rate of 14–15 months and only <5% of patients reportedly surviving 5 years after diagnosis [9]. The incidence of GBM directly proportional to age and the median diagnosis age was reported as 64 [8]. Epidemiological studies revealed that the male population is highly prone to GBM than females [10]. Previous studies suggested that gliomas have higher incidence only in developed western countries [10]. However, according to a recent study, the highest gliomas incidence has been reported in eastern countries like China and India [1]. Geographic variations in the GBM incidence have been studied in the US population, and the findings revealed that South Americans are highly affected by GBM than that of other regions [11]. Among White non-Hispanic, Black non-Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islanders non-Hispanic (API), and Hispanic adults GBM patients, a better survival rate was observed in API patients when compared to other races and ethnicity [12]. These studies indicate that GBM incidence and patient survival are dependent on race, ethnicity, and geographic region. The exact etiology of GBM remains unclear. However, studies have shown that high dose exposure to ionizing radiation is considered as confirmed etiological factor. Though mobile phone radiation is associated with an increased risk of low-grade glioma [13], there is no conclusive evidence reported for the risk factors such as mobile phone radiation or electromagnetic field [3, 14]. Occupational risk factors such as exposure to toxic chemicals such as carbon tetrachloride have been associated with the progression of GBM [15]. Glioblastoma is a highly aggressive and invasive cancer, and therefore, even with surgery and radio/chemotherapy, there is poor prognosis in GBM patients [16]. In the last two decades, several drugs such as temozolomide (TMZ) and bevacizumab are used in GBM patients as adjuvants along with radiotherapy to improve quality of life and survival [17, 18]. TMZ is recommended for newly diagnosed GBM patients, while bevacizumab is used to treat recurrence [18]. Currently, TMZ is used as a potential chemotherapeutic agent for the treatment of GBM. TMZ metabolites are reportedly causing DNA damage; off-target effects and its continuous administration caused ineffectiveness in GBM patients due to resistance [16].

10.2 Glioblastoma Stem Cells (GSCs)

10.2.1 Historical Perspective of GSCs

A pioneering study from Bonnet and Dick (1997) confirmed the existence of heterogeneity of tumor cells, and they successfully isolated the leukemia-initiating cells, and they were considered as the first purification of cancer stem-like cells [19]. To the best of our knowledge, the human neural stem and progenitor cells (NSPCs) were first isolated by Uchida et al. (2000) using the marker CD133, and this study paved the way in the quest of brain tumor cells that shared the characteristics of NSPCs [20]. Since then, several studies described the cancer stem cells (CSCs) in a variety of brain tumors such as glioblastoma, anaplastic and pilocytic astrocytoma, ganglioglioma, medulloblastoma, and ependymoma [21–24].

10.2.2 Nomenclature

The heterogeneity of the cell populations within CNS tumors is well documented. Several terms are used to describe these cell populations; however, individually they have unique characteristics and functions. The brain CSC nomenclature is used interchangeably. However, they have unique characteristics. For instance, (1) *tumor or glioma or brain tumor stem cells* have the capacity to self-renew and give rise to differentiated progeny. Their functional characteristics include tumor generation upon secondary transplantation, and progeny contains CSCs and non-stem tumor cells; (2) *tumor or glioma or brain tumor-initiating cells* have the ability to initiate tumor after transplantation; (3) *tumor or glioma or brain tumor-propagating cells* have the ability to propagate tumor after serial transplantation.

10.2.3 Origin of GSCs

Ample evidences reported that a variety of cancers have a population of cells with stem cell characteristics that are CSCs [25]. Brain tumors consist of heterogeneous cell populations and are reported to arise from CSCs (Fig. 10.1). Clinically, GSCs have been functionally identified in brain tumors in humans [23, 26]. These stem cells have been reported to mediate treatment resistance to chemotherapy [27, 28], radiotherapy [25], and also resistant against markers involve in angiogenesis, invasion, and recurrence [28]. In origin point of view, it has been reported that GBM may arise from (1) a subpopulation of neural stem cells (NSCs), (2) transformation and proliferation of differentiated astrocytes in the subventricular zone (SVZ), and (3) the increased somatic mutations in NSCs in the SVZ [29, 30]. Moreover, an innovative experimental and clinical finding from Lee et al. (2018) confirmed that astrocyte-like NSCs in the SVZ are the cell of origin, which is the main driver mutation in human GBM [31]. This study reported that the acquirement of the telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) promoter mutation allows the prolonged self-renewal ability of NSCs and subsequent somatic mutation development causes GBM [31]. However, the origin of GSCs is still subjected to debate, and more studies are warranted on these lines.



Fig. 10.1 GBM is heterogeneous which contains cancer cells and a small subset of CSCs. The CSCs can be distinguished from other cell populations. In this model, CSC-specific targeted therapies are proposed in combination with conventional chemo- and radiotherapies to kill both CSC and other cancer cells to prevent subsequent relapse

10.2.4 Cellular Hierarchy of Brain Tumors

The embryonic stem cells are the most primitive cells derived from the inner mass cells of the human embryo. They are pluripotent and capable of differentiating into any type of cells in an organism. Downstream from embryonic stem cells are multipotent progenitor cells that include NSCs, endothelial progenitor cells, hematopoietic stem cells, and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). These cells have restricted differentiation potential and self-renewal. The multipotent NSCs can give rise to more downstream progenitor cells with restricted self-renewal potential, differentiation, and mitosis [32]. In a hierarchical viewpoint, CSC cancer models reported to arise from CSCs by mutations in embryonic stem cells or in progenitor cells at birth or accumulate over time resulting in cells possessing the ability for uncontrolled growth and propagation [33, 34]. Studies have also shown that non-CSCs can also dedifferentiate into CSCs through epigenetic and environmental factors, thereby increasing the complexity of the tumor and thus the treatments [35].

10.2.5 Biomarkers of GSCs

Prominin-1 (PROM1/CD133), SSEA-1 (CD15), integrin-α6, and L1 cell adhesion molecule (L1CAM) are considered as markers for GSCs. PROM1 is a 5-transmembrane (5-TM) protein first recognized in the prominin family [36], and its expression was identified as a tumor initiator in a variety of cancers including GBM. Experimental studies proved the tumor-propagating potential of PROM1⁺ cells in immunodeficient xenograft mice model [37]. Ironically, PROM1⁻ cells also contributed to the tumor initiation [38]. This study indicates that PROM1 is not only related to tumor initiation. PROM1⁺ GSCs are tumorigenic and exhibit self-renewal and differentiation properties [39]. Clinically, overwhelming evidences indicate that PROM1 expression and neurosphere formation were associated with short survival of GBM patients and PROM1 expression was correlated with short survival of mice transplanted with tumor cells [39, 40]. Therefore, PROM1 could serve as a prognostic marker for GBM.

Some studies have also reported the expression of stage-specific embryonic antigen-1 (SSEA-1) or CD15 in cells with tumor initiation. It has been experimentally and clinically proven that CD15 expression has been found in PROM1⁻ tumors and nearly 40% of the freshly isolated GBM specimens did not contain CD133-positive cells [41, 42]. CD15-positive cells have the ability to generate the cellular heterogeneity of the primary tumor [43]. An experimental study from Kenney-Herbert et al. (2015) reported that CD15 was not a useful marker to distinguish a fast-proliferating, tumorigenic, or stem-like population in GBM [44]. Further, overexpression of CD44 was related to poor survival rates, and studies suggest that CD44 could act as an independent prognostic factor in patients with low-grade gliomas [45]. In GBM, high CD44 expression in GSCs promotes the tumor progression and invasion, which lead to short survival [46]. A recent study

demonstrated that high CD44-expressing GSCs in GBM are resistant to radiotherapy leading to therapeutic failure [47].

Integrins play a pivotal role in CSC biology. GSCs with high integrin- α 6 expression are highly tumorigenic [48]. Integrin- α 6 was reported to promote radioresistance [49]. In a recent experimental study, the functional role of integrin- α 10 β 1 was established. siRNA-mediated knockdown of integrin- α 10 in GBM cells decreased the neurosphere formation and migration and reduced the viability [50]. The neuronal cell adhesion molecule L1CAM (L1, CD171) regulates the growth, migration, and survival of neural cells and is essential for preserving the proliferation and survival of CD133-positive glioma cells with stem-like properties [43]. SRY-related HMG-box 2 (SOX2) is a glioma stem cell marker [51], and its high expression is implicated in tumor formation and chemotherapeutic resistance [52]. In a recent clinical study, Takashima et al. (2019) reported that nearly 22 sets of genes including L1CAM and sirtuin 1 can be used as the prognostic markers of GBM [53]. Though these markers help to identify the GSCs, the conclusive evidence linked to a stem cell phenotype remains elusive.

10.3 Isolation and Cultures of Primary GSCs

Fresh brain tumor specimens can be collected from patients who underwent surgical resection of histologically confirmed GBM. Specimens can be collected after obtaining necessary human ethics committee permission and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration. Then, the collected specimen can be immediately transported in phosphate-buffered saline containing antibiotics (preferably 10-15% penicillin/ streptomycin). GSCs can be isolated from the fresh tissue with trypsin. Under the sterile conditions, tumor tissue can be cut into small pieces and placed in trypsinethylenediaminetetraacetate solution (0.25%) and incubated for 10-15 min at 37 °C. After incubation, Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM)/F12 culture medium containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) can be added to stop trypsin activation and then centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 min to recover the cells from the enzyme. The supernatant is discarded, and complete medium is added to the cell pellet, mixed well, and filtered through a 70-µm cell strainer. Then the filtered cells are washed by centrifugation, and fresh culture medium containing 10% FBS and penicillin (100 U/mL), and streptomycin (0.1 mg/mL) is added. Further, 0.1 mL of cell suspension and 0.1 mL of trypan blue solution are added, mixed well, and counted under the inverted microscope using a cell counter. Then approximately 1×10^{6} cells are seeded in culture flask containing complete medium and incubated in a standard culture condition at 37 °C and 5% CO2. After 72 h of incubation, the flask can be observed for cell adherence and sphere generation, and the medium can be replaced until enough cell confluency is attained for passage [54, 55]. Then, the characterization should be done for the expression of tumor stem cell markers reported. Glioblastoma stem cells are cultured in Neurobasal medium supplemented with epidermal growth factor (EGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) to stimulate growth, maintain the stem cell-like characteristics, and preserve the genetic profile of the GSCs [56].

10.4 Glioblastoma Cell Lines

Rat gliomas cell lines such as C6 and RG2 [D74] are commonly used to study the GBM due to their high angiogenic, migratory, and invasive properties [57]. Other human GBM cell lines such as R1, T2, A-172, T98G, U-251, U-87, A172, U-118, U-138, LN-229, and SNB-19 are characterized and also used by several workers for in vitro GBM research [58, 59]. These cell lines have unique angiogenic, migratory, invasiveness, and in vivo metastatic ability after transplantation in animals and xenograft cancer properties. For instance, LN-229 xenografts were reported to grow faster than U-251 and U-87 cell lines. Similarly, U-251 xenografts increased the tumor size. A well-defined cancer mass in the brain parenchyma was established after the transplantation of the U-87 cell line [59]. Currently, several new human-derived GBM cell lines developed by various research groups are characterized [58, 59]. However, none of the studies have recommended any GBM cell line as the ideal one, and the selection of cell lines is under the discretion of individual researchers.

10.5 Glioblastoma: Microenvironment and Niche

The niche concept was developed to describe the location of GSCs in the tumor and where the tumor microenvironment (TME) exerts its maximum influence. It is an established fact that GSCs in tumor reside in the niche that is like those hosting normal NSCs in the SVZ. The astrocytes and ependymal cells present in SVZ regulate stem cell niche, as the former establish close contacts with all cell types and with blood vessels, sensing and integrating any signals from germinal regions and vasculature within stem cell niche. The paracrine role of the niche plays a vital role in the survival of GSCs and resistance to therapy. Cells like neuroblasts, transit-amplifying cells, and quiescent NSCs also occur in the same niche [60]. These niches are surrounded by ependymal cells projected towards the ventricle and are essential for stemness maintenance.

Evidences suggest that perivascular space as a niche for GSCs survival, resistance to therapy, progression, and dissemination. The perivascular niche of GBM includes endothelial cells, astrocytes, differentiated and undifferentiated tumor cells, immune cells, pericytes, vascular basement membrane glioma-associated microglia/ macrophages, myeloid cells, fibroblasts, and obviously, GSCs and normal NSCs [61, 62]. Upon specific stimuli, GSCs can transdifferentiate into pericytes or endothelial cells and directly contribute to the perivascular niche. Perivascular niches are represented by capillaries or arterioles where ECs are in direct contact with stem cells. Larger vessels like transport vessels cannot be considered as niches as they do not have direct contact with GSCs and endothelial cells [60, 63]. When niches are

found in the most invasive area of the tumor, they are called invasive niches [63]. Oxygen concentration plays a pivotal role in maintaining the stemness of GSCs defining perivascular and the hypoxic niches [64]. The existence of enriched hypoxic region GSCs has been reported as one of the hallmarks of GBM [65]. Hypoxia in GSCs involve plasticity and self-renewal and modulate the functions of non-GSCs via metabolic reprogramming and transcriptional regulation by activation of hypoxia-inducible factors 1α and 2α (HIF1 α , HIF2 α), Notch signaling, and epigenetic regulations [66, 67] (Fig. 10.2). Hypoxia in GSCs induces the secretion of various soluble factors such as transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), etc. which are crucial for dedifferentiation and angiogenesis in the tumor microenvironments [67]. Hypoxia condition also induces factors like C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4, glucose transporter 1, hypoxiainducible gene 2, serpin B9, octamer-binding transcription factor 4, and lysyl oxidase for the stemness maintenance and proliferation of GSCs [65]. The niche cells are responsible for the synthesis of a variety of signaling molecules, and at the same time, they respond to the stimuli from paracrine signaling.

10.6 Signaling Pathways Involved in GSC Regulation

Several signaling molecules secreted by the cells in tumor niche are responsible for tumor suppression and also pro-tumorigenic potential. TGF-ß signals via its downstream serine/threonine kinase receptors to activate messenger proteins (SMADs) and induce the upregulation of several genes/proteins associated with the progression of GBM [68]. High TGF- β expression is involved in tumor cell proliferation, invasiveness, immunosuppression, and renewal of GSCs [69]. Interacting with fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and VEGF, TGF-β contributes to angiogenesis for rapid tumor growth [70]. Moreover, TGF- β also induces radioresistance [71]. In human GBM, the isoforms of TGF- β_1 and TGF- β_2 levels were found 33- and 11-fold, respectively, higher than in the healthy brain, and their expressions were inversely correlated with overall survival (OS) of GBM patients [70]. Bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling is also a part of the TGF- β family. In GSC's point of view, BMP induces differentiation of these cells and is reported as a tumor suppressor [72, 73]. For instance, it has been reported that BMP 7 could induce the transcription factor Snail and decrease the tumor growth via activation of astrocytic differentiation in GSCs in an orthotopically xenografted immunodeficient mouse model. The same study has used a GBM cell line in vitro and confirmed the repression of the TGF- β_1 promoter upon Snail binding through its N- and C-terminal domains that interact with BMP and SMADs of TGF-B signaling [74]. These studies have proposed that BMP agonist can be developed as promising GBM-suppressive drugs. However, BMP signaling extends beyond the GSC compartment and fosters tumorigenesis in neoplastic astrocytes through the promotion of proliferation and invasion, and this experimental study suggested the differential regulation of BMP in GSCs and in other GBM compartments [75].



Fig. 10.2 Characteristic features of glioblastoma stem cells (GSCs). Neural stem cells (NSCs), L1 cell adhesion molecule (L1CAM), Sonic hedgehog (SHH), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), bone morphogenetic protein (BMP), nitric oxide (NO), hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), stromal cell-derived factor-1 α (SDF-1 α), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), hepatoma-derived growth factor (HDGF), ephrin type-A receptor 2 (EphA2), matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4), octamer-binding transcription factor 4 (OCT 4), telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT), SRY (sex-determining region Y)-box 2 (SOX2)

Notch and Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathways are strongly implicated in GBM progression. Notch signaling via NO plays a critical role in both GSC maintenance and GSC radioresistance [76]. Gersey et al. (2019) reported the increased Notch activation and expression in human GBM cell lines [77]. Wnt/ β -catenin and Notch signaling are involved in tumor progression by promoting proliferation and clonogenic ability and inhibiting neuronal differentiation in GSCs. This has been confirmed in a study in which dual inhibition of Wnt/ β -catenin and Notch signaling in GSCs that express high levels of the proneural transcription factor ASCL1 leads to robust neuronal differentiation and inhibits clonogenic potential [78]. However, studies have also demonstrated that treatment with Wnt ligands and β -catenin overexpression may induce neuronal differentiation and inhibit the proliferation of primary GBM cells [79]. Several studies illustrated the Wnt activation in human GBM and suggested the novel Wnt signaling antagonists for the treatment of GBM [80].

GSCs secrete several cytokines or growth factors, such as epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and VEGF, to promote angiogenesis through endothelial cell proliferation and recruitment [76]. Like other cancers, EGFR and VEGF expressions are strongly implicated in human GBM. Increased expression of EGFR has been reported in GSCs, and EGFR is essential for proliferation, survival, and invasiveness of GSCs [81]. In an in vitro study, ZR2002 (a small-sized and novel inhibitor developed with haloalkyl arm capable of reacting with the receptor itself and with DNA and bases and crossing the blood-brain barrier) induced cytotoxicity in GSCs resistant to TMZ and gefitinib, a clinical EGFR inhibitor [82]. The VEGF is a highly specific endothelial cell mitogen that has been shown to promote vascular endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and survival, resulting in tumor angiogenesis, a requirement for glioma [83]. In another study, glioma stem cell-derived exosomes promoted the angiogenic ability of endothelial cells through miR-21/VEGF signal growth [84].

10.7 Glioblastoma Stem Cells as a Therapeutic Target

Glioblastoma is highly heterogeneous involving several cell types, and GSCs secrete a variety of cell signaling molecules and respond to various paracrine signaling. Therefore, targeting with a single agent is a challenging task. However, studies have reported targeting specific GSC receptors and came out with promising results. For instance, in an epigenetic point of view, histone deacetylases (HDACs) are implicated in several cancer cell types including GBM. Therefore, HDAC inhibitors such as TSA and SAHA have been tested against the U87-MG cell line and primary tumor (GBM011) cells. HDAC activity blockade downregulates the GBM progression due to the modulation of plasticity in vitro [85]. Integrin- α 7 (ITGA7), a major laminin receptor in GSCs, has been identified as a therapeutic target in GBM patients. Targeting of ITGA7 by RNAi or blocking mAbs impaired laminin signaling and delayed tumor engraftment and invasion [86]. TGF- β inhibitors like AP12009, LY2157299, and GC1008 have been tested in clinical trials; however, they had limited therapeutic potential in GBM patients [87].

In the hypoxia perspective, GSCs are maintained in the hypoxic niche and are responsible for GBM initiation, progression, and recurrence. Notch pathway is important for hypoxia-mediated maintenance of GSCs, and therefore, inhibition of Notch signaling or depletion of HIFs can inhibit the hypoxia-mediated maintenance of GSCs. In previous studies, blocking Notch signaling through γ -secretase inhibitors caused depletion of CD133⁺ in GSCs, decreased neurosphere formation, and inhibited xenograft tumor growth through decreased Akt and STAT3 phosphorylation [88]. Combination therapy using Notch and Akt inhibitors, MRK003 and MK-2206, respectively, tested in the GBM cell line indicates that combination therapy is useful in controlling invasion but not the proliferation of GBM cells [89]. However, a phase 1 clinical trial encountered Notch inhibition via RO4929097, gamma-secretase inhibitor in glioma patients, and reported that the inhibition of Notch signaling alone is insufficient to fully control tumor progression; however, this study is not GSC specific [90].

Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT)-like process is considered to play an important role in the invasiveness in GBM. In a study, metformin has been reported to inhibit the self-renewal ability of GSCs and decrease the expression of stem cell markers such as Bmi1, Sox2, and Musashi1, indicating that metformin could inhibit cancer stem-like properties of GBM cells. Metformin also inhibited the Akt and TGF- β 2 and its downstream SMAD signaling [91, 92]. Interestingly, a plant-derived drug resveratrol is reported to inhibit EMT-assisted self-renewal capacity of GSCs and EMT-induced cancer stem cell markers Bmi1 and Sox2. These effects were also confirmed in the xenograft experiments in vivo [93].

In the immunology perspective, GBM patients have been targeted with several immune modulators. For instance, cetuximab, trastuzumab, and panitumumab are EGFR monoclonal antibodies that have shown effectiveness in preclinical studies. However, in phase 2 clinical trial, cetuximab had no therapeutic effect and no changes in OS [94, 95]. GSCs specifically express SOX6 and are killed by cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) primed against SOX6-derived peptides [96], and therefore, GSC antigen peptides recognized by CTL can be applied to immunotherapy that targets GSCs [97]. Dendritic cell-based vaccination-induced CTL recognized GSCs and prolonged the survival of tumor-bearing xenograft animals [98]. The AC133 epitope of CD133 is a vital GSC marker for GBM; therefore recombinant AC133 \times CD3 bispecific antibody was developed. This bispecific antibody redirected to polyclonal T cells to CD133+ GSCs and decreased colony-forming ability of human glioma cell line (U-251), induced their lysis, and prevented the xenograft growth in vivo [99]. Similarly, several immune targets have been tried in GSC for the treatment of GBM. Clinical trials targeting GSCs in GBM condition has been listed in Table 10.1.
Table 10.1 Clinical trials targeting GSCs/CSC	Cs in GBM			
Study title	Intervention	Outcome	Study type	ClinicalTrials. gov identifier
Study of the capacity of the MRI spectroscopy to define the tumor area enriched in GSCs	Surgery (based on preoperative multimodal MRI) followed by the standard radio/ chemotherapy Stupp protocol	Not available	Prospective biomedical study of interventional type	NCT01872221
Standard chemotherapy vs. chemotherapy guided by Cancer stem cell test in recurrent GBM	Chemotherapy	Not available	Phase 3	NCT03632135
Cancer stem cell high-throughput drug screening study	Combination drug cocktail therapy— Antineoplastic, anti-inffective, antiemetic, antihyperlipidemic, anti-inflammatory, antihistamine, antihypertensive, antidepressant, cardiotonic alcohol antagonist, diuretic, antipsychotic, NMDA receptor antagonist, antidiabetic, immunosuppressant, anticonvulsant, anti- methemoglobinemic, sclerosing agent	Not available	Prospective single- center phase 0/1 open- label study	NCT02654964
Dendritic cell immunotherapy against cancer stem cells in Glioblastoma patients receiving standard therapy (DEN-STEM)	Biological: Dendritic cell immunization Drug: Adjuvant temozolomide	Not available	Phase 2/3	NCT03548571
Phase I/II trial of vaccine therapy with tumor stem cell derived mRNA- transfected dendritic cells in patients receiving standard therapy for GBM	<i>Biological</i> : Dendritic cell vaccine with mRNA from tumor stem cells	Not available	Phase 1/2	NCT00846456
A prospective trial of neural progenitor cell sparing radiation therapy plus Temozolomide for newly diagnosed Glioblastoma Multiforme	<i>Radiation:</i> Radiation <i>Drug:</i> Chemotherapy	Not available	Interventional (open- label clinical trial)	NCT01478854
Benzylguanine-mediated tumor sensitization with chemo-protected	Radiation: 3-dimensional conformal radiation therapy	Not available	Phase 1/2	NCT00669669

178

transplantation g: Carmustine logical: Filgrastim cedure: In vitro-treated peripheral blood n cell transplantation finition: Intensity-modulated radiation apy g: Temozolomide g: Plerixafor finition: Stem cell radiotherapy (ScRT) g: Temozolomide g: Temozolomide finition: Stem cell radiotherapy (ScRT) g: Temozolomide finition: Stem cell radiotherapy (ScRT) finition: Stem cell radiotherapy (ScRT) g: Temozolomide finition: Stem cell radiotherapy (ScRT) g: Imiquinod finition: Stem cells Not available phase I Not available finition: Stem cells Not available finition: Stem cells Not available finition finiti	or patients with
<i>liation</i> : Proton beam radiation therapy <i>g:</i> Temozolomide <i>g:</i> Temozolomide <i>liation:</i> Stem cell radiotherapy (ScRT) Affected/at risk Phase 1/2 NCT020397 (%)—2/4 (%)=1 NCT003766 (%) /ogical: Autologous dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT005766	0000 x x x 0000
<i>itation:</i> Stem cell radiotherapy (ScRT)Affected/at risk (%)-2/4Phase 1/2NCT02039 <i>temozolomide</i> (%)-2/4(%)-2/4NOTNCT00890 <i>togical:</i> BTSC mRNA-loaded DCsNot availablePhase 1NCT00890 <i>togical:</i> Dendritic cellsNot availablePhase 1NCT01171 <i>togical:</i> Dendritic cellsNot availablePhase 1NCT01171 <i>togical:</i> Dendritic cellsNot availablePhase 1NCT00890 <i>togical:</i> Duduitic cellsNot availablePhase 1NCT01076 <i>togical:</i> Autologous dendritic cellsNot availablePhase 1NCT00576	2 N
ternozolomide (%)—2/4 Not available Not availa	R_{ℓ}
logical: BTSC mRNA-loaded DCs Not available Phase 1 NCT0089003 logical: Dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT017146 g: Imiquimod Simiquimod Not available Phase 1 NCT017146 logical: Dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT0057664 logical: Autologous dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT0057664	an
logical: BTSC mRNA-loaded DCs Not available Phase 1 NCT0089003 logical: Dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT0117146 g: Imiquimod Not available Phase 1 NCT0117146 logical: Autologous dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT0057664	
logical: Dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT0117146 g: Imiquimod binguimod Not available Phase 1 NCT0057664 logical: Autologous dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT0057664	Bic
g: Imiquimod logical: Autologous dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT0057664	Bi
<i>logical:</i> Autologous dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT0057664	D
<i>logical:</i> Autologous dendritic cells Not available Phase 1 NCT00576641	
	Bio

Ref. [100]

10.8 Conclusions

Till now, GBM is the most deadly and aggressive cancer. Several types including GSCs in the TME contribute to the progression and relapse. Available studies demonstrated that GBM microenvironment has a variety of CSC population including GSCs which display stem-like properties. GSCs are resistant to chemo- or radiotherapy, and hence, GSC-specific targeted therapies are need for the hour. Three main features of the GBM that hamper the treatment are (1) occurrence of chemo- or radioresistant GSCs in the TME, (2) heterogeneity of tumor, and (3) the microenvironment and the niche responsible for the secretion of various oncogenic soluble factors. Often, glioma treatments with various strategies affect the normal cells residing near the cancer environment. Till now, only a basic understanding of plasticity, differentiation, and colony formation of GSCs has been reported and the results derived from such studies are inconsistent. Though studies have reported the modulation of several cell signaling molecules in GSCs, several aspects have not yet been fully established. For instance, BMP is differentially expressed in GSCs as well as in other areas like solid tumors. The reason behind this kind of discrepancies needs to be addressed soon. Some plant-derived drugs have high molecular weight with poor bioavailability that hamper its ability to cross the blood-brain barrier. Therefore, care should be taken on drug size and bioavailability. Moreover, most of the therapeutic interventions are tested against in vitro and in vivo using xenograft animal models. Such studies are useful for interpretation of the results, and per se they will not recapitulate the TME of humans, and it will not give the conclusive evidence, and therefore, more studies are warranted on GBM patients.

References

- GBD 2016 Brain and Other CNS Cancer Collaborators (2019) Global, regional, and national burden of brain and other CNS cancer, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Neurol 18(4):376–393
- 2. Leece R et al (2017) Global incidence of malignant brain and other central nervous system tumors by histology, 2003–2007. Neuro Oncol 19(11):1553–1564
- 3. Hanif F et al (2017) Glioblastoma Multiforme: a review of its epidemiology and pathogenesis through clinical presentation and treatment. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 18(1):3–9
- Jovcevska I, Kocevar N, Komel R (2013) Glioma and glioblastoma—how much do we (not) know? Mol Clin Oncol 1(6):935–941
- 5. Ladomersky E et al (2019) The coincidence between increasing age, immunosuppression, and the incidence of patients with glioblastoma. Front Pharmacol 10:200
- 6. Rock K et al (2012) A clinical review of treatment outcomes in glioblastoma multiforme--the validation in a non-trial population of the results of a randomised phase III clinical trial: has a more radical approach improved survival? Br J Radiol 85(1017):e729–e733
- 7. Gimple RC et al (2019) Glioblastoma stem cells: lessons from the tumor hierarchy in a lethal cancer. Genes Dev 33(11–12):591–609
- 8. Ostrom QT et al (2015) Epidemiology of gliomas. Cancer Treat Res 163:1-14
- 9. Ostrom QT et al (2014) The epidemiology of glioma in adults: a "state of the science" review. Neuro Oncol 16(7):896–913

- Thakkar JP et al (2014) Epidemiologic and molecular prognostic review of glioblastoma. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 23(10):1985–1996
- 11. Xu H et al (2017) Geographic variations in the incidence of Glioblastoma and prognostic factors predictive of overall survival in US adults from 2004–2013. Front Aging Neurosci 9:352
- 12. Bohn A et al (2018) The association between race and survival in glioblastoma patients in the US: a retrospective cohort study. PLoS One 13(6):e0198581
- Yang M et al (2017) Mobile phone use and glioma risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 12(5):e0175136
- 14. Karipidis K et al (2018) Mobile phone use and incidence of brain tumour histological types, grading or anatomical location: a population-based ecological study. BMJ Open 8(12): e024489
- Nelson JS et al (2012) Potential risk factors for incident glioblastoma multiforme: the Honolulu Heart Program and Honolulu-Asia Aging Study. J Neurooncol 109(2):315–321
- 16. Bahadur S et al (2019) Current promising treatment strategy for glioblastoma multiform: a review. Oncol Rev 13(2):417
- 17. Perry JR et al (2017) Short-course radiation plus Temozolomide in elderly patients with glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 376(11):1027–1037
- Carter TC, Medina-Flores R, Lawler BE (2018) Glioblastoma treatment with Temozolomide and Bevacizumab and overall survival in a rural tertiary healthcare practice. Biomed Res Int 2018:6204676
- Bonnet D, Dick JE (1997) Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med 3(7):730–737
- 20. Uchida N et al (2000) Direct isolation of human central nervous system stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(26):14720–14725
- Ignatova TN et al (2002) Human cortical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro. Glia 39(3):193–206
- Hemmati HD et al (2003) Cancerous stem cells can arise from pediatric brain tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(25):15178–15183
- Singh SK et al (2003) Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Res 63(18):5821–5828
- Galli R et al (2004) Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma. Cancer Res 64(19):7011–7021
- Ogawa K et al (2013) Radiotherapy targeting cancer stem cells: current views and future perspectives. Anticancer Res 33(3):747–754
- 26. Singh SK et al (2004) Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 432 (7015):396-401
- 27. Eramo A et al (2006) Chemotherapy resistance of glioblastoma stem cells. Cell Death Differ 13(7):1238–1241
- Auffinger B et al (2015) The role of glioma stem cells in chemotherapy resistance and glioblastoma multiforme recurrence. Expert Rev Neurother 15(7):741–752
- Sanai N et al (2004) Unique astrocyte ribbon in adult human brain contains neural stem cells but lacks chain migration. Nature 427(6976):740–744
- Kwan K et al (2019) Tracing the origin of glioblastoma: subventricular zone neural stem cells. Neurosurgery 84(1):E15–E16
- Lee JH et al (2018) Human glioblastoma arises from subventricular zone cells with low-level driver mutations. Nature 560(7717):243–247
- 32. Gage FH (2000) Mammalian neural stem cells. Science 287(5457):1433-1438
- Shipitsin M, Polyak K (2008) The cancer stem cell hypothesis: in search of definitions, markers, and relevance. Lab Invest 88(5):459–463
- 34. Bradshaw A et al (2016) Cancer stem cell hierarchy in glioblastoma multiforme. Front Surg 3:21

- 35. Safa AR et al (2015) Glioblastoma stem cells (GSCs) epigenetic plasticity and interconversion between differentiated non-GSCs and GSCs. Genes Dis 2(2):152–163
- 36. Xu HS et al (2017) Cancer stem cell markers in glioblastoma—an update. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 21(14):3207–3211
- Kang MK, Kang SK (2007) Tumorigenesis of chemotherapeutic drug-resistant cancer stemlike cells in brain glioma. Stem Cells Dev 16(5):837–847
- Wang J et al (2008) CD133 negative glioma cells form tumors in nude rats and give rise to CD133 positive cells. Int J Cancer 122(4):761–768
- Gopisetty G et al (2013) Epigenetic regulation of CD133/PROM1 expression in glioma stem cells by Sp1/myc and promoter methylation. Oncogene 32(26):3119–3129
- Laks DR et al (2009) Neurosphere formation is an independent predictor of clinical outcome in malignant glioma. Stem Cells 27(4):980–987
- 41. Read TA et al (2009) Identification of CD15 as a marker for tumor-propagating cells in a mouse model of medulloblastoma. Cancer Cell 15(2):135–147
- 42. Son MJ et al (2009) SSEA-1 is an enrichment marker for tumor-initiating cells in human glioblastoma. Cell Stem Cell 4(5):440–452
- 43. Brescia P, Richichi C, Pelicci G (2012) Current strategies for identification of glioma stem cells: adequate or unsatisfactory? J Oncol 2012:376894
- 44. Kenney-Herbert E et al (2015) CD15 expression does not identify a phenotypically or genetically distinct glioblastoma population. Stem Cells Transl Med 4(7):822–831
- 45. Dong Q et al (2019) Elevated CD44 expression predicts poor prognosis in patients with low-grade glioma. Oncol Lett 18(4):3698–3704
- 46. Nishikawa M et al (2018) Significance of glioma stem-like cells in the tumor periphery that express high levels of CD44 in tumor invasion, early progression, and poor prognosis in glioblastoma. Stem Cells Int 2018:5387041
- 47. Liu WH et al (2020) CD44-associated radioresistance of glioblastoma in irradiated brain areas with optimal tumor coverage. Cancer Med 9(1):350–360
- 48. Lathia JD et al (2010) Integrin alpha 6 regulates glioblastoma stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 6 (5):421–432
- 49. Kowalski-Chauvel A et al (2018) Alpha-6 integrin promotes radioresistance of glioblastoma by modulating DNA damage response and the transcription factor Zeb1. Cell Death Dis 9 (9):872
- Munksgaard Thoren M et al (2019) Integrin alpha10, a novel therapeutic target in glioblastoma, regulates cell migration, proliferation, and survival. Cancers (Basel) 11(4):587
- 51. Rodda DJ et al (2005) Transcriptional regulation of nanog by OCT4 and SOX2. J Biol Chem 280(26):24731–24737
- 52. Singh S et al (2012) EGFR/Src/Akt signaling modulates Sox2 expression and self-renewal of stem-like side-population cells in non-small cell lung cancer. Mol Cancer 11:73
- 53. Takashima Y, Kawaguchi A, Yamanaka R (2019) Promising prognosis marker candidates on the status of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and glioma stem cells in glioblastoma. Cell 8 (11):1312
- 54. Dundar TT et al (2019) Glioblastoma stem cells and comparison of isolation methods. J Clin Med Res 11(6):415–421
- Chesnelong C, Restall I, Weiss S (2019) Isolation and culture of glioblastoma brain tumor stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 1869:11–21
- 56. Podergajs N et al (2013) Expansive growth of two glioblastoma stem-like cell lines is mediated by bFGF and not by EGF. Radiol Oncol 47(4):330–337
- 57. Giakoumettis D, Kritis A, Foroglou N (2018) C6 cell line: the gold standard in glioma research. Hippokratia 22(3):105–112
- 58. Kiseleva LN et al (2016) Characteristics of A172 and T98g cell lines. Tsitologiia 58 (5):349–355
- 59. Diao W et al (2019) Behaviors of glioblastoma cells in in vitro microenvironments. Sci Rep 9 (1):85

- 60. Schiffer D et al (2018) Glioblastoma: microenvironment and niche concept. Cancers (Basel) 11(1):5
- 61. Seano G (2018) Targeting the perivascular niche in brain tumors. Curr Opin Oncol 30 (1):54–60
- Hambardzumyan D, Bergers G (2015) Glioblastoma: defining tumor niches. Trends Cancer 1 (4):252–265
- Ho IAW, Shim WSN (2017) Contribution of the microenvironmental niche to glioblastoma heterogeneity. Biomed Res Int 2017:9634172
- Mohyeldin A, Garzon-Muvdi T, Quinones-Hinojosa A (2010) Oxygen in stem cell biology: a critical component of the stem cell niche. Cell Stem Cell 7(2):150–161
- 65. Colwell N et al (2017) Hypoxia in the glioblastoma microenvironment: shaping the phenotype of cancer stem-like cells. Neuro Oncol 19(7):887–896
- 66. Heddleston JM et al (2009) The hypoxic microenvironment maintains glioblastoma stem cells and promotes reprogramming towards a cancer stem cell phenotype. Cell Cycle 8 (20):3274–3284
- Kalkan R (2015) Glioblastoma stem cells as a new therapeutic target for glioblastoma. Clin Med Insights Oncol 9:95–103
- 68. Roy LO, Poirier MB, Fortin D (2015) Transforming growth factor-beta and its implication in the malignancy of gliomas. Target Oncol 10(1):1–14
- Seystahl K et al (2017) Biological role and therapeutic targeting of TGF-beta3 in glioblastoma. Mol Cancer Ther 16(6):1177–1186
- 70. Roy LO, Poirier MB, Fortin D (2018) Differential expression and clinical significance of transforming growth factor-beta isoforms in GBM tumors. Int J Mol Sci 19(4):1113
- 71. Hardee ME et al (2012) Resistance of glioblastoma-initiating cells to radiation mediated by the tumor microenvironment can be abolished by inhibiting transforming growth factor-beta. Cancer Res 72(16):4119–4129
- Gonzalez-Gomez P, Anselmo NP, Mira H (2014) BMPs as therapeutic targets and biomarkers in astrocytic glioma. Biomed Res Int 2014:549742
- Xi G et al (2017) Therapeutic potential for bone morphogenetic protein 4 in human malignant glioma. Neoplasia 19(4):261–270
- 74. Caja L et al (2018) Snail regulates BMP and TGFbeta pathways to control the differentiation status of glioma-initiating cells. Oncogene 37(19):2515–2531
- 75. Hover LD et al (2016) Bone morphogenetic protein signaling promotes tumorigenesis in a murine model of high-grade glioma. Neuro Oncol 18(7):928–938
- 76. Garnier D et al (2019) Glioblastoma stem-like cells, metabolic strategy to kill a challenging target. Front Oncol 9:118
- 77. Gersey Z et al (2019) Therapeutic targeting of the notch pathway in glioblastoma multiforme. World Neurosurg 131:252–263 e2
- Rajakulendran N et al (2019) Wnt and Notch signaling govern self-renewal and differentiation in a subset of human glioblastoma stem cells. Genes Dev 33(9–10):498–510
- 79. Rampazzo E et al (2013) Wnt activation promotes neuronal differentiation of glioblastoma. Cell Death Dis 4:e500
- 80. Zuccarini M et al (2018) The role of Wnt signal in glioblastoma development and progression: a possible new pharmacological target for the therapy of this tumor. Genes (Basel) 9(2):105
- Liffers K, Lamszus K, Schulte A (2015) EGFR amplification and glioblastoma stem-like cells. Stem Cells Int 2015:427518
- Sharifi Z et al (2019) Mechanisms and antitumor activity of a binary EGFR/DNA-targeting strategy overcomes resistance of Glioblastoma stem cells to Temozolomide. Clin Cancer Res 25(24):7594–7608
- Oka N et al (2007) VEGF promotes tumorigenesis and angiogenesis of human glioblastoma stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 360(3):553–559
- 84. Sun X et al (2017) Glioma stem cells-derived exosomes promote the angiogenic ability of endothelial cells through miR-21/VEGF signal. Oncotarget 8(22):36137–36148

- 85. Menezes A et al (2019) Live cell imaging supports a key role for Histone Deacetylase as a molecular target during glioblastoma malignancy downgrade through tumor competence modulation. J Oncol 2019:9043675
- 86. Haas TL et al (2017) Integrin alpha7 is a functional marker and potential therapeutic target in glioblastoma. Cell Stem Cell 21(1):35–50 e9
- Han J et al (2015) TGF-beta signaling and its targeting for glioma treatment. Am J Cancer Res 5(3):945–955
- 88. Fan X et al (2010) NOTCH pathway blockade depletes CD133-positive glioblastoma cells and inhibits growth of tumor neurospheres and xenografts. Stem Cells 28(1):5–16
- 89. Jin R et al (2013) Combination therapy using Notch and Akt inhibitors is effective for suppressing invasion but not proliferation in glioma cells. Neurosci Lett 534:316–321
- 90. Xu R et al (2016) Molecular and clinical effects of Notch inhibition in glioma patients: a phase 0/I trial. Clin Cancer Res 22(19):4786–4796
- Seliger C et al (2016) Metformin inhibits proliferation and migration of glioblastoma cells independently of TGF-beta2. Cell Cycle 15(13):1755–1766
- 92. Song Y et al (2018) Metformin inhibits TGF-beta1-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition-like process and stem-like properties in GBM via AKT/mTOR/ZEB1 pathway. Oncotarget 9(6):7023–7035
- 93. Song Y et al (2019) Resveratrol suppresses epithelial-mesenchymal transition in GBM by regulating Smad-dependent signaling. Biomed Res Int 2019:1321973
- 94. Belda-Iniesta C et al (2006) Long term responses with cetuximab therapy in glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer Biol Ther 5(8):912–914
- Neyns B et al (2009) Stratified phase II trial of cetuximab in patients with recurrent high-grade glioma. Ann Oncol 20(9):1596–1603
- 96. Ueda R et al (2010) Identification of HLA-A2- and A24-restricted T-cell epitopes derived from SOX6 expressed in glioma stem cells for immunotherapy. Int J Cancer 126(4):919–929
- 97. Toda M (2013) Glioma stem cells and immunotherapy for the treatment of malignant gliomas. ISRN Oncol 2013:673793
- Xu Q et al (2009) Antigen-specific T-cell response from dendritic cell vaccination using cancer stem-like cell-associated antigens. Stem Cells 27(8):1734–1740
- 99. Prasad S et al (2015) Effective eradication of glioblastoma stem cells by local application of an AC133/CD133-specific T-cell-engaging antibody and CD8 T cells. Cancer Res 75 (11):2166–2176
- 100. https://clinicaltrials.gov/



11

Cancer Stem Cells and Therapeutic Angiogenesis

Sambhavi Bhagavatheeswaran and Anandan Balakrishnan

Abstract

Angiogenesis is a highly regulated process of formation of new blood vessel from preexisting blood vessel during fetal development, ovulation, and wound healing. Tumor growth and maintenance are critically controlled by tumor angiogenesis by facilitating the ingress of tumor cells into the circulatory system and in turn metastatic spread of the tumor. Apart from self-renewal and proliferating capabilities, cancer stem cells (CSCs) are also involved in tumor angiogenesis. CSCs establish a vascular niche by expressing vascular-related mediators to induce neovascularity around tumors. Developing antiangiogenic agents that also targets CSCs and evaluating its effect on a three-dimensional (3D) angiogenesis spheroid model are significant cancer therapeutic measures as the interactions between niche and CSCs and the heterogeneity can be understood better by using 3D spheroid. Furthermore exploiting the antiangiogenic effect of phytochemicals is beneficial over other available conventional drugs as they have relative pharmacological safety and target multiple molecular pathways to exert its anticancer effect.

Keywords

Cancer stem cells \cdot Vascular niche \cdot Phytochemicals \cdot Spheroid \cdot Antiangiogenesis

S. Bhagavatheeswaran · A. Balakrishnan (🖂)

Department of Genetics, Dr ALM Post Graduate Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, University of Madras, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

 $^{{\}rm (C)}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_11

Abbreviations

ABCG-2	ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 2
ALK1	Activin A receptor-like type 1
BM	Basement membrane
BMP	Bone morphogenic proteins
BMPR	Bone morphogenetic protein receptor
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CSC	Cancer stem cell
EC	Endothelial cell
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGCG	Epigallocatechin gallate
EPC	Endothelial progenitor cell
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
LGR5	Leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein coupled receptor 5
MVD	Microvessel density
PD-ECGF	Platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor 1
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
SDF-1	Stromal cell-derived factor 1
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-a
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR-2	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2

11.1 Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is a complex process that involves the activation, proliferation, and directed migration of endothelial cells to form new capillaries from existing blood vessels [1]. This highly regulated process occurs during various physiological conditions like human development, reproduction, and wound repair [2]. Angiogenesis also has its role in pathological conditions like cancer, rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, and proliferative retinopathy [3]. Various factors like soluble polypeptides, cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, and hemodynamic effects influence angiogenesis. Various inducers of angiogenesis include vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family, angiopoietins, transforming growth factors (TGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukins, and members of the fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family [4, 5]. Among these VEGF-A is the most potential proangiogenic protein which helps in induction of proliferation, sprouting, and tube formation of endothelial cells (ECs). Under hypoxic condition VEGF binds to its tyrosine kinase receptors (VEGFRs) present on endothelial cells and triggers the signal transduction pathways that kindle the cells to undergo sprouting angiogenesis [6, 7].

11.1.1 Tumor Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis plays a key role in the metastatic spread of the tumor by facilitating the ingress of tumor cells into the circulatory system and hence instrumental in the formation of pre-metastatic vascular niche [8]. As the tumor progresses, it becomes malignant and attains the hypoxic condition. Hypoxia induces the release of angiogenic growth factor molecules. This dominating proangiogenic signaling turns on the angiogenic switch. Upon binding of these growth factors to the endothelial cell receptors of the blood vessels in close proximity arises new blood vessel that invades the tumor and aids in its progression [9] (Fig. 11.1). The blood vessels formed during tumor angiogenesis are different from the normal vessel in that the walls of tumor vessels are made of both tumor cells and ECs [11]. Peripheral blood vessels are often devoid of functional pericytes [12] and thus an incomplete basement membrane which makes those vessels to be leaky and dilated [13]. Analogous to normal angiogenesis, tumor angiogenesis also relies on VEGF and other angiogenic proteins for tumor vasculature maintenance. Elevated expression of VEGF and its receptor VEGFR-2 was reported in many cancers, including metastatic human colon



Fig. 11.1 ©Tumor-influenced angiogenesis. The stepwise process of angiogenesis begins with ECM and BM breakdown, followed by EC proliferation, EC migration, and finally re-formation of stable blood vessel. Tumor cells will secrete a variety of factors to ensure that the new blood vessels formed are fed directly to the tumor tissue [10]

carcinomas, which results in enhanced tumor vascularization [14]. Ang-2 (angiopoietin-2) expresses greatly in ECs of tumor vessel than in normal vessels. It imparts plasticity to developing vasculature in the presence of VEGF and plays an important role in initial stages of tumor angiogenesis [15, 16]. TGF- β signaling activates tumor growth and metastasis through induction of stromal reaction by neoplastic cells which results in the promotion of angiogenesis and tumor growth [17–19].

11.2 Cancer Stem Cell (CSC) and Angiogenesis

Apart from self-renewal and proliferating capabilities, CSCs are also involved in tumor angiogenesis. CSCs establish a vascular niche by expressing vascular-related mediators to induce neovascularity around tumors [20]. Tumor heterogeneity is influenced extrinsically by a major factor called tumor microenvironment or niche. A niche is a composition of stromal cells, immune cells, endothelial cells, and cancer cells per se, as well as connective tissue components, growth factors, and cytokines [21]. Niche plays an essential role in the maintenance/enrichment, preservation of the phenotypic plasticity, immune surveillance, differentiation/dedifferentiation, angiogenesis activation, and invasion/metastasis of CSC [22–24]. CSCs and angiogenesis thus exhibit positive feedback and contribute to tumor angiogenesis.

11.2.1 Molecular Interplay of CSC and Angiogenesis

At both normoxic and hypoxic conditions, CSCs secrete greater levels of VEGF than the non-CSC population. Such CSC-mediated VEGF production leads to enhanced endothelial cell migration and tube formation in vitro (Fig. 11.2). These newly generated vessels supply nutrients for the growth and development of cancer [25]. Diverse studies confirmed the potential of CSCs to encourage angiogenesis and produce angiogenic cells that interact with vascular niche and promote angiogenesis through the secretion of VEGFs, stromal-derived factor 1 (SDF-1), and



tumor microvesicles [26–28]. As to confirm this, Grange et al., in 2011, showed that microvesicles that shed from CSCs from human renal cell carcinoma carry a set of proangiogenic mRNA and microRNA, which bestow the angiogenic phenotype to the normal human endothelial cells and thus trigger angiogenesis by promoting their growth and vessel formation.

11.2.1.1 Signaling Pathways Linking CSC and Angiogenesis

To understand how vascular endothelial cells maintain CSC proliferation, it is essential to be aware of the signaling pathways that relate CSC and angiogenesis. BMP (bone morphogenic protein) signaling is one such critical pathway. BMP which is known to help in bone formation is also involved in angiogenesis inhibition. BMP-9/ALK1 inhibits angiogenesis by suppressing VEGF expression through BMP-9 which is against the effect of the TGF β 1/ALK5 pathway that enhances VEGF expression and angiogenesis. BMP-4 balances these two pathways and maintains the vascular integrity [29]. This BMP-4 is also shown to exert antitumorigenic effect through BMP-4/BMPR/SMAD signaling pathway in glioblastoma cancer stem cells [30].

Notch signaling pathway is yet another pathway that relates CSCs and angiogenesis. Vascular development and survival of normal stem cell are supported by the Notch/NICD/Hes/Hey signaling pathway [31, 32]. Studies show that renewal of CSCs and angiogenesis in glioblastoma are also supported by Notch pathway. Inhibition of this Notch pathway using DAPT (γ -secretase inhibitor) reduced the number of CD133+ tumor cells and the ability of CSCs to self-renew. Vascular markers such as CD105, CD31, and von Willebrand factor also exhibited reduced expression [33].

11.2.1.2 CSCs Expressing Angiogenic Markers

A variety of CSCs that express vascular endothelium markers to support tumor blood vessel formation have been discussed in this section. Nestin+/CD133+ brain cancer (oligodendroglioma and glioblastoma) stem cells are in close interaction with endothelial cells and provide factors that are responsible for self-renewal mechanisms of CSCs. Further these stem cells are to be found in close proximity to CD34+ capillaries and correlate to microvessel density (MVD) [34]. In malignant gliomas, Bao et al. observed that CD133-enriched SCLGC (stem cell-like glioma cells) are located near blood vessels. CD133+ SCLGC enhanced tumor vascularity, necrosis, and hemorrhage when compared to CD133- SCLGC. CD133+ SCLGC also elevated VEGF expression around 10- to 20-fold, and vascular density was significantly increased [25]. Yang et al., in 2010, showed that in hepatocellular carcinoma, the MVD and angiogenic factors like VEGF and PD-ECGF are dramatically expressed in the high hepatic stem/progenitor cell (HSC/HPC) profile group (CD133, nestin, CD44, and ABCG2) than in the low HSC/HPC profile group. In the tumors of glioma condition, huge CSC population recruits enormous amount of endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) which in turn stimulates VEGF and SDF-1 and thereby brings about local angiogenesis and mobilizes EPC. These data are partly an indication to the fact that cancer stem cells induce tumor angiogenesis by introducing angiogenic factors to the cancer microenvironment (Table 11.1).

Tumor type	CSC marker	Angiogenic marker	Function
Malignant glioma	CD133	VEGF	Cause MVD increase
Oligodendroglioma and glioblastoma	CD133, nestin	CD34	Cause MVD increase
Hepatocellular carcinoma	CD133, ABCG2, nestin CD44	VEGF, PD-ECGF	CSC and angiogenic markers co-expressed
Glioblastoma	Nestin	VEGF, SDF-1	Induce angiogenesis
Pancreatic cancer	CD133	VEGF-C	Cause MVD increase

Table 11.1 CSCs expressing angiogenic markers



Fig. 11.3 Antiangiogenic therapy by targeting CSCs and tumor angiogenesis

11.3 Antiangiogenic Therapy by Targeting CSCs as a Significant Therapeutic Measure

Tumor vasculature that regulates the tumor microenvironment also contributes to stem and progenitor cell formation [35]. Angiogenesis inhibitors are thus expected not only to disrupt vessel formation but also target the CSC that contributes to tumor angiogenesis (Fig. 11.3). The available antiangiogenic agents like bevacizumab, thalidomide, sorafenib, sunitinib, and pazopanib along with targeting the vascular niche are also involved in the commotion of the CSC microenvironment [36] (Fig. 11.3). Antiangiogenic therapy in treating brain cancers is executed by targeting VEGF, which inhibits the tumor vasculature, partly disturbs the CSC vascular niche, and ablates self-renewing cancer stem cells [34]. Celecoxib, an anticancer drug, is cytotoxic for CSCs. It exerts anticancer effect by inhibiting the COX-2/PGE2/VEGF

and WNT/LGR5 stemness pathways. COX-2 produces prostanoids PGE2, which are released by tumor and stromal cells. PGE2 acts in an autocrine/paracrine manner binding to surface members of the prostanoid receptor family (EP1–4) to increase cancer cell stemness and angiogenesis (via production of VEGF and FGF) [37]. All the above findings infer the fact that developing antiangiogenic agents that also target CSCs is a significant cancer therapeutic measure. Such a combination of therapy serves the dual purpose of depriving the tumor of vascular supply and preventing the recurrence of tumor by debulking the tumor mass.

11.3.1 Implications of Phytochemicals as Potential CSC-Targeting Therapeutics

Phytochemicals are naturally occurring bioactive compounds derived from plants. They represent a good candidate for chemopreventive and chemotherapeutic applications. Phytochemicals are also reported to modulate the CSC phenotype by intervening the signaling pathways critical for stemness maintenance of CSCs [38]. Cyclopamine, initially found in the corn lily, targets hedgehog signaling [39– 42], while EGCG and retinoic acid inhibit Wnt/-catenin signaling [43-45] and Notch signaling [46, 47], respectively. These signaling pathways are responsible for CSC self-renewal. differentiation. and invasive abilities. Furthermore. phytochemicals from turmeric (curcumin) and long pepper (piperine) are known to bring about anticancer effect upon targeting breast CSCs by inhibiting Notch and/or Wnt/-catenin signaling [48]. On the basis of the above accumulating evidence, it is evident that phytochemicals have beneficial effects against CSCs as well as cancer cells. However there seems to be no studies supporting the effect of phytochemicals on targeting CSCs expressing angiogenesis markers. Future studies should hence be directed toward identifying antiangiogenic phytochemicals targeting CSCs as use of phytochemicals is beneficial over other available conventional drugs as they are naturally present in edible plant materials and have relative pharmacological safety. Moreover they bring about anticancer effect by targeting multiple molecular pathways.

11.4 Angiogenesis Spheroid Models: Connecting Vascular Niche and CSCs

The interactions between niche and CSCs and the heterogeneity can be understood better by using three-dimensional (3D) spheroid. 3D spheroids recapitulate the spatial dimension, cellular heterogeneity, and the molecular networks of the tumor microenvironment. Sophisticated 3D models are proposed with the potential to further understand the CSCs in a more appropriate condition resembling the in vivo microenvironment. In vitro spheroid forming ability is considered as a substitute to examine the functionality of CSCs as CSCs pose the tendency to propagate as spheroid bodies [49]. As the spheroid models mimic the in vivo cancer microenvironment, it is essential for any anticancer drug to be tested upon the 3D spheroid models than the 2D monolayer cultures. Any antiangiogenic drug thus developed needs to be checked upon the angiogenesis spheroid model to test the antiangiogenic effect by its ability to inhibit sprouting (tube formation) of blood vessels as well as spheroid development which is an indication of cancer stemness.

11.4.1 Sprouting Spheroid-Based 3D Angiogenesis Model

A 3D spheroid system involving co-culturing of endothelial cells, fibroblasts (fibroblasts in direct contact with endothelial cells allow formation of endothelial cell tubules in vitro), and the tumor cell line mimics the complex cancer-stromal interactions and tumor angiogenesis condition. This model system bridges the gap between 2D monoculture and in vivo systems and serves as potential platform to test the efficacy of various antiangiogenic drugs on a 3D in vitro model of tumor [50].

A 3D spheroid co-culture system is generated by adding HUVECs, fibroblast cells, and tumor cells to each well of a 96 U-well suspension plate. The cells form spheroids overnight at 37 °C. The spheroids are then transferred to a collagen type-I-coated 24 well plates. Angiogenesis inhibitors were added to the wells, and the spheroids were allowed to form sprouts for 2 days at 37 °C. Spheroids incubated in type-I collagen form capillary-like sprouts that mimic early stages of tumor angiogenesis. Angiogenic sprouting can be evaluated by analyzing the sprouts arising from the spheroid core using phase contrast microscope. Number of sprouts and length (mean and cumulative values) of the sprouts are the important parameters to be analyzed. Further the spheroid cells can be sorted using FACS for identification of altered angiogenic and CSC markers upon drug treatment [51] (Fig. 11.4).

11.5 Perspectives and Future Direction

Critical progress has been made in the field of cancer stem cell biology over the years. The accumulating evidences stated in this chapter reveal the importance of antiangiogenic phytochemicals targeting the CSC population. Application of in vitro angiogenesis spheroid models that mimic the capillary-sprouting mechanism and cancer stemness of tumor microenvironment in anticancer drug development has significant ramification for the future of cancer therapeutics.

Clinical manipulation of the interplay between CSCs, angiogenesis, and the tumor vasculature opens up new therapeutic windows in the area of tumor biology to provide antitumor effect. Integrating antiangiogenic therapy with anti-CSC therapy in treatment paradigm may improve the efficacy of current cancer therapies. Furthermore, it is essential to take into account that this integrated therapeutic strategy should have minimal or no effect on normal stem cells. As there are no studies reporting the role of phytochemicals in targeting CSC expressing angiogenic markers, future studies should be directed toward involving the antiangiogenic phytochemicals as a novel paradigm for potential CSC-targeting therapeutics.



Fig. 11.4 Angiogenesis spheroid assay

CSCs often exhibit EMT (epithelial-mesenchymal transition) properties. EMT confers tumor angiogenesis by upregulated expression of the proangiogenic factor VEGF-A. In recent years studies are involved in delineating the complex EMT network using CRISPR/Cas technology [52, 53]. Therefore as an alternative approach, further research is warranted to apply emerging CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing technology to target EMT expressing CSC-related genes to alleviate the tumor burden.

Acknowledgments This work was supported in part by DST-SERB-ECR Grant (DST No: ECR/2015/000265).

References

- Sinha M, Ghatak S, Roy S, Sen CK (2015) microRNA-200b as a switch for inducible adult angiogenesis. Antioxid Redox Signal 22(14):1257–1272
- 2. Folkman J, Shing Y (1992) Angiogenesis. J Biol Chem 267(16):10931-10934
- Oklu R, Walker TG, Wicky S, Hesketh R (2010) Angiogenesis and current antiangiogenic strategies for the treatment of cancer. J Vasc Interv Radiol 21:1791–1805

- Papetti M, Herman IM (2002) Mechanisms of normal and tumor-derived angiogenesis. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 282:C947–C970
- Presta M, Dell'Era P, Mitola S et al (2005) Fibroblast growth factor/fibroblast growth factor receptor system in angiogenesis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 16:159–178
- 6. Carmeliet P (2003) Angiogenesis in health and disease. Nat Med 9:653-660
- 7. Ferrara N, Gerber HP, LeCouter J (2003) The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nat Med 9:669–676
- Fessler E, Dijkgraaf FE, De Sousa E, Melo F, Medema JP (2013) Cancer stem cell dynamics in tumor progression and metastasis: is the microenvironment to blame? Cancer Lett 341 (1):97–104
- 9. Lugano R, Ramachandran M, Dimberg A (2019) Tumor angiogenesis: causes, consequences, challenges and opportunities. Cell Mol Life Sci 77(9):1745–1770
- 10. Nussenbaum F, Herman IM (2010) Tumor angiogenesis: insights and innovations. J Oncol 2010:132641
- 11. Chang YS, di Tomaso E, McDonald DM, Jones R, Jain RK, Munn LL (2000) Mosaic blood vessels in tumors: frequency of cancer cells in contact with flowing blood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(26):14608–14613
- Benjamin LE, Golijanin D, Itin A, Pode D, Keshet E (1999) Selective ablation of immature blood vessels in established human tumors follows vascular endothelial growth factor withdrawal. J Clin Investig 103(2):159–165
- Carmeliet P, Mackman N, Moons L et al (1996) Role of tissue factor in embryonic blood vessel development. Nature 383(6595):73–75
- 14. Takahashi Y, Kitadai Y, Bucana CD, Cleary KR, Ellis LM (1995) Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor, KDR, correlates with vascularity, metastasis, and proliferation of human colon cancer. Cancer Res 55(18):3964–3968
- Zagzag D, Hooper A, Friedlander DR et al (1999) In situ expression of angiopoietins in astrocytomas identifies angiopoietin-2 as an early marker of tumor angiogenesis. Exp Neurol 159(2):391–400
- Holash J, Maisonpierre PC, Compton D et al (1999) Vessel cooption, regression, and growth in tumors mediated by angiopoietins and VEGF. Science 284(5422):1994–1998
- Tuxhorn JA, McAlhany SJ, Yang F, Dang TD, Rowley DR (2002) Inhibition of transforming growth factor-β activity decreases angiogenesis in a human prostate cancer-reactive stroma xenograft model. Cancer Res 62(21):6021–6025
- 18. Waite KA, Eng C (2003) From developmental disorder to heritable cancer: it's all in the BMP/TGF- β family. Nat Rev Genet 4(10):763–773
- 19. Ota T, Fujii M, Sugizaki T et al (2002) Targets of transcriptional regulation by two distinct type I receptors for transforming growth factor- β in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. J Cell Physiol 193(3):299–318
- Zhao Y, Bao Q, Renner A, Camaj P, Eichhorn M, Ischenko I, Angele M, Kleespies A, Jauch KW, Bruns C (2011) Cancer stem cells and angiogenesis. Int J Dev Biol 55(4–5):477–482
- Saunders NA, Simpson F, Thompson EW, Hill MM, Endo-Munoz L, Leggatt G, Minchin RF, Guminski A (2012) Role of intratumoural heterogeneity in cancer drug resistance: molecular and clinical perspectives. EMBO Mol Med 4:675–684
- Kise K, Kinugasa-Katayama Y, Takakura N (2016) Tumor microenvironment for cancer stem cells. Adv Drug Del Rev 99:197–205
- Nguyen LV, Vanner R, Dirks P, Eaves CJ (2012) Cancer stem cells: an evolving concept. Nat Rev Cancer 12:133–143
- 24. Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z (2015) The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? Cell Stem Cell 16:225–238
- 25. Bao S, Wu Q, Sathornsumetee S et al (2006) Stem cell-like glioma cells promote tumor angiogenesis through vascular endothelial growth factor. Cancer Res 66:7843–7848

- 26. Achilles EG, Fernandez A, Allred EN, Kisker O, Udagawa T, Beecken WD, Flynn E, Folkman J (2001) Heterogeneity of angiogenic activity in a human liposarcoma: a proposed mechanism for "no take" of human tumors in mice. J Natl Cancer Inst 93(14):1075–1081
- 27. Grange C, Tapparo M, Collino F, Vitillo L, Damasco C, Deregibus MC, Tetta C, Bussolati B, Camussi G (2011) Microvesicles released from human renal cancer stem cells stimulate angiogenesis and formation of lung premetastatic niche. Cancer Res 71(15):5346–5356
- 28. Tang KH, Ma S, Lee TK, Chan YP, Kwan PS, Tong CM, Ng IO, Man K, To KF, Lai PB, Lo CM (2012) CD133+ liver tumor-initiating cells promote tumor angiogenesis, growth, and self-renewal through neurotensin/interleukin-8/CXCL1 signaling. Hepatology 55(3):807–820
- 29. Shao ES, Lin L, Yao YA, Bostrom KI (2009) Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor is coordinately regulated by the activin-like kinase receptors 1 and 5 in endothelial cells. Blood 114:2197–2206
- 30. Piccirillo SG, Reynolds BA, Zanetti N, Lamorte G, Binda E, Broggi G, Brem H, Olivi A, Dimeco FA, Vescovi AL (2006) Bone morphogenetic proteins inhibit the tumorigenic potential of human brain tumour-initiating cells. Nature 444:761–765
- Androutsellis-Theotokis A, Leker RR, Soldner F, Hoeppner DJ, Ravin R, Poser SW, Rueger MA, Bae SK, Kittappa RA, Mckay RD (2006) Notch signalling regulates stem cell numbers in vitro and in vivo. Nature 442:823–826
- 32. Gridley T (2007) Notch signaling in vascular development and physiology. Development 134:2709–2718
- 33. Hovinga KE, Shimizu F, Wang R, Panagiotakos G, Van Der Heijden M, Moayedpardazi H, Sofia Correia A, Soulet D, Major T, Menon J et al (2010) Inhibition of notch signaling in glioblastoma targets cancer stem cells via an endothelial cell intermediate. Stem Cells 28:1019–1029
- 34. Calabrese C, Poppleton H, Kocak M, Hogg TL, Fuller C, Hamner B, Oh EY, Gaber MW, Finklestein D, Allen M et al (2007) A perivascular niche f. or brain tumor stem cells. Cancer Cell 11:69–82
- 35. Bautch VL (2011) Stem cells and the vasculature. Nat Med 17(11):1437-1443
- Tonini T, Rossi F, Claudio PP (2003) Molecular basis of angiogenesis and cancer. Oncogene 22:6549–6556
- 37. ALHulais RA, Ralph SJ (2019) Cancer stem cells, stemness markers and selected drug targeting: metastatic colorectal cancer and cyclooxygenase-2/prostaglandin E2 connection to WNT as a model system. J Cancer Metastasis Treat 5:3–71
- Oh J, Hlatky L, Jeong YS, Kim D (2016) Therapeutic effectiveness of anticancer phytochemicals on cancer stem cells. Toxins 8(7):199
- Berman DM, Karhadkar SS, Hallahan AR, Pritchard JI, Eberhart CG, Watkins DN, Chen JK, Cooper MK, Taipale J, Olson JM et al (2002) Medulloblastoma growth inhibition by hedgehog pathway blockade. Science 297:1559–1561
- 40. Feldmann G, Dhara S, Fendrich V, Bedja D, Beaty R, Mullendore M, Karikari C, Alvarez H, Iacobuzio-Donahue C, Jimeno A et al (2007) Blockade of hedgehog signaling inhibits pancreatic cancer invasion and metastases: a new paradigm for combination therapy in solid cancers. Cancer Res 67:2187–2196
- 41. Liu S, Dontu G, Mantle ID, Patel S, Ahn NS, Jackson KW, Suri P, Wicha MS (2006) Hedgehog signaling and Bmi-1 regulate self-renewal of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells. Cancer Res 66:6063–6071
- 42. Peacock CD, Wang Q, Gesell GS, Corcoran-Schwartz IM, Jones E, Kim J, Devereux WL, Rhodes JT, Huff CA, Beachy PA et al (2007) Hedgehog signaling maintains a tumor stem cell compartment in multiple myeloma. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104:4048–4053
- Lee SH, Nam HJ, Kang HJ, Kwon HW, Lim YC (2013) Epigallocatechin-3-gallate attenuates head and neck cancer stem cell traits through suppression of Notch pathway. Eur J Cancer 49:3210–3218

- 44. Lin CH, Shen YA, Hung PH, Yu YB, Chen YJ (2012) Epigallocatechin gallate, polyphenol present in green tea, inhibits stem-like characteristics and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in nasopharyngeal cancer cell lines. BMC Complement Altern Med 12:201
- 45. Mineva ND, Paulson KE, Naber SP, Yee AS, Sonenshein GE (2013) Epigallocatechin-3-gallate inhibits stem-like inflammatory breast cancer cells. PLoS One 8:e73464
- Clarke N, Germain P, Altucci L, Gronemeyer H (2004) Retinoids: potential in cancer prevention and therapy. Expert Rev Mol Med 6:1–23
- 47. Ying M, Wang S, Sang Y, Sun P, Lal B, Goodwin CR, Guerrero-Cazares H, Quinones-Hinojosa A, Laterra J, Xia S (2011) Regulation of glioblastoma stem cells by retinoic acid: role for notch pathway inhibition. Oncogene 30:3454–3467
- Kakarala M, Brenner DE, Korkaya H, Cheng C, Tazi K, Ginestier C et al (2010) Targeting breast stem cells with the cancer preventive compounds curcumin and piperine. Breast Cancer Res Treat 122(3):777–785
- Pastrana E, Silva-Vargas V, Doetsch F (2011) Eyes wide open: a critical review of sphereformation as an assay for stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 8:486–498
- 50. Correa de Sampaio P, Auslaender D, Krubasik D, Failla AV, Skepper JN, Murphy G, English WR (2012) A Heterogeneous in vitro three dimensional model of tumour-stroma interactions regulating sprouting angiogenesis. PLoS One 7(2):e30753
- 51. Pfisterer L, Korff T (2016) Spheroid-based in vitro angiogenesis model. In: Martin S, Hewett P (eds) Angiogenesis protocols. Methods in molecular biology, vol 1430. Humana, New York, NY, pp 167–177
- 52. Fantozzi A, Gruber DC, Pisarsky L, Heck C, Kunita A, Yilmaz M, Meyer-Schaller N, Cornille K, Hopfer U, Bentires-Alj M, Christofori G (2014) VEGF-mediated angiogenesis links EMT-induced cancer stemness to tumor initiation. Cancer Res 74(5):1566–1575
- Mohammadinejad R, Biagioni A, Arunkumar G et al (2020) EMT signaling: potential contribution of CRISPR/Cas gene editing. Cell Mol Life Sci. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-020-03449-3



Cancer Stem Cells as a Seed for Cancer Metastasis

12

L. Lizha Mary, M. Vasantha Kumar, and R. Satish

Abstract

Cancer is one of the leading causes of death worldwide. Recent report from the World Health Organization suggested that, globally, one in six deaths is owing to cancer. In 2018, it was accountable for nearly 9.6 million deaths, and it is expected to be 14.6 million by the year 2035. The worldwide burden of cancer increase is due to aging and growth of population. In addition, cancer-associated lifestyle choices like smoking, sedentary habits and westernized diets increases the risk. Metastasis is complex and multistep process that results in the spread of cancerous cells from the primary site of the tumor to the surrounding tissues and to distant organs. Metastatic cancer is the primary cause of cancer morbidity and mortality. Several studies suggest that tumor has heterogeneous cell population and have numerically less cancer stem cell (CSC) population with self-renewal characteristics. CSCs are shown to drive tumor initiation, progression, metastasis, recurrence, and resistance. In addition, acquisition of epithelial-mesenchymal transition, expression of aberrant RNA-binding proteins, dysregulated microRNA expression, and increase in intercellular transfer of molecules via exosome cargo have been correlated with tumor progression, invasion, metastasis, poor survival, and an increased risk of cancer recurrence. Given the tumor initiating capacity, resistance, migratory potential and invasiveness, CSCs are the

L. Lizha Mary

M. Vasantha Kumar · R. Satish (🖂)

Both first and second authors have equally contributed to this work.

Department of Biotechnology, School of Bio-Engineering, SRM Institute of Science and Technology, Kanchipuram, Tamil Nadu, India

Department of Genetic Engineering, School of Bio-Engineering, SRM Institute of Science and Technology, Kanchipuram, Tamil Nadu, India

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_12

seeds of metastasis. This review article attempts to provide the details of the critical importance of CSCs on metastatic process and to offer a basis for the investigation of novel targets to curtail this deadly disease.

Keywords

 $MicroRNA \cdot Epithelial-mesenchymal\ transition \cdot Exosomes \cdot RNA-binding proteins$

12.1 Introduction

Cancer is one of the leading causes of death worldwide [1]. Recent report from the World Health Organization suggested that, globally, one in six deaths is owing to cancer. In 2015, it was accountable for nearly 8.8 million deaths, and it is expected to be 14.6 million by the year 2035. The worldwide burden of cancer increase is due to aging and growth of population. In addition, cancer-associated lifestyle choices like smoking, sedentary habits, and westernized diets increases the risk. Cancer is a complex disease with various cellular alterations that will result in self-sufficiency in growth signal leading to abnormal cell growth, evading apoptotic and growth suppressor signals, and increased angiogenesis, wherein, network of blood vessels develop and penetrates into the tumor to supply nutrients and oxygen for the cancerous cells. Some of the tumor cells invade surrounding tissues and distant organs through the blood circulation or lymph vessels. This spread of cancer cells from primary tumor to other sites is termed metastasis, which is shown to be responsible for more than 90% of cancer-related death. Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are cells within a tumor that exclusively have self-renewal capacity and can give rise to all cancer cell lineages within a tumor and are exclusively tumorigenic in vivo. They undergo asymmetric/symmetric cell division, can maintain and expand themselves, and also have a distinct profile of surface marker expression that has been linked to poor prognosis [2]. Intriguingly, it has been shown that CSCs drive tumor initiation, progression, metastasis, recurrence, and resistance. Identification of CSC-specific surface markers has provided opportunity to characterize CSCs and their role in tumor progression and metastasis. In addition, acquisition of epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) features, expression of aberrant RNA-binding proteins, dysregulated microRNA expression, and increase in intercellular transfer of molecules via exosome cargo have been correlated with tumor progression, invasion, metastasis, poor survival, and an increased risk of cancer recurrence. Given the tumor initiating capacity, resistance, migratory potential and invasiveness, CSCs are the seeds of metastasis [3]. This review article attempts to provide the details of advances in the role of CSCs on metastatic process that will aid in better understanding of the involvement of cancer stem cells (CSCs) in the metastatic processes and to offer a basis for the investigation of novel targets to curtail this deadly disease (Fig. 12.1).



Fig. 12.1 Schematic representation for cancer metastasis

12.2 Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Regulation of CSCs and Metastasis

Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a process where the cancer epithelial cells lose many of their epithelial characteristics and acquire various mesenchymal cell characteristics such as cell morphology, cytoskeletal organization, and cell junctions that will enable cell invasion and migration. Cancer cells have been observed in the circulation, whether as single or in clusters; these cells display signs of at least partial epithelial-mesenchymal transition [4]. Earlier reports have provided evidence that in the tumor, only CSC-enriched subpopulation exhibits aspects of EMT-related gene activation [5, 6]. In addition, induction of EMT-related gene expression in epithelial tumor cells has increased their capacity for tumor progression and metastasis [7]. Eliminating CSCs alone will not be sufficient to prevent tumor recurrence as the non-CSCs can undergo EMT and dedifferentiate into CSCs [8]. Therefore, for effective cancer therapeutic strategy,

Sheila K Singh et al. [27]

	••	
Cancer types	Cell surface markers of CSCs	References
Acute Myeloid Leukemia	CD34 ⁺ , CD38 ⁻	Won-Tae Kim and Chun Jeih Ryu [9]
Cervical cancer	CD133 ⁺ and CD49F	Ruixia Huang and Einar K. Rofstad [10]
Bladder cancer	CD44 ⁺ and CD67LR	Yi Li et al. [11]
Oral squamous cell carcinoma	CD44 ⁺	Weiming Lin et al. [12]
Renal cell carcinoma	CD133 ⁺ , CXCR4, CD105 ⁺	Zhi-Xaiang Yuan et al. [13]
Hepatic/liver cancer	Laminin-332	Olivier Govaere et al. [14]
	CD133 ⁺ , ALDH ⁺ , CD45 ⁻ , CD90 ⁺ , and CD44 ⁺	Jing-Hui Sun et al. [15]
Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma	Integrin X7 (ITGA 7)	Xiao-Yan Ming et al. [16]
Colon cancer	CD133 ⁺ , CD44 ⁺ , and CD24 ⁺	Sahlberg SH et al. [17]
Lung cancer	CD133 ⁺ , ABCG2 (high)	Shaheenah Dawood et al. [18]
Thyroid cancer	CD133 ⁺ and CD144 ⁺	Zhenying Guo et al. [19]
Breast cancer	CD44 ⁺ , CD24 ⁻ , CD133 ⁺ , and ALDH ⁺	Bin Bao et al. [20]
Ovarian cancer	CD44 ⁺ /CD117 ⁺	M-Q Gao et al. [21]
Gastric cancer	CD44 ⁺	Yoshiro Saikawa [22]
Pancreatic cancer	CD44 ⁺ , CD24 ⁺ , and ESA ⁺	Chenwei Li et al. [23]
Glioblastoma multiforme	CD133 ⁺	Shideng Bao et al. [24]
Melanoma cancer	CD20 ⁺	Dong Fang et al. [25]
Prostate cancer	CD44 ⁺ /CD24 ⁻	Eun-Jin Yun et al. [26]

Table 12.1 Cell surface markers of CSCs in different types of cancer

both CSCs and non-CSCs should be simultaneously targeted. We have listed the most important CSC markers for various cancer subtypes (Table 12.1).

CD133⁺

The traits of EMT are the loss of epithelial cell surface marker, E-cadherin, and the gain of mesenchymal traits [28]. The initiating factors are seen to be mostly because of networks of transcriptional, translational, posttranscriptional, and post-translational modifications seen in the cells [29]. The ALDH+ cells strongly displayed stem cell-like properties plus higher invasiveness, EMT, and antiapoptotic phenotypes [30]. In the case of human breast cancer cells, it was observed that a small population of cells, which exhibited EMT, also displayed stem cell-like phenotypes. Fascinatingly studies performed in transgenic cancer models in combination with S100A4 lineage tracing have stated that EMT of the breast cancer cells is not responsible for their metastasis to the lungs, but they had a significant role in promoting chemoresistance. The lowering the levels of E-cadherin in the mouse models showed that inhibition of the epithelial traits may promote migration but does not result in metastasis [31]. CD44 is a popular cell surface glycoprotein, which is strongly associated to the stemness of the cancer and its aggressiveness. In the case

Brain cancer

of ovarian cancer cells, the overexpression of CD44 resulted in population of cells with mesenchymal-like phenotypes (CD44S) and decreased the number of epithelial-like cells. The downregulation of ESRP1 and upregulation of TGFPs1 promoted EMT, invasiveness, and the gain of stem cell-like phenotypes and chemoresistance in CD44 cells [32].

In the colorectal cancer cells, abnormal expression of miR-26b induced EMT and stem cell-like characteristics. Lymphatic metastasis shows significantly upregulated levels of miR-26b. miR-26b directly targets many tumor suppressors along with phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) and wingless-type MMTV integration site family member 5A (WWT5A) [33].

The role of IncRNAs was evaluated in two sets of cells: colorectal cancer with liver metastasis and colorectal cancer without liver metastasis. The expression levels of UICLM (upregulated in colorectal cancer liver metastasis) IncRNA was upregulated in the CRC with liver metastasis, and the knockdown of UICLM prevented cell proliferation, invasion, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, and CRC stem cell formation. Further experiments found that IncRNA UICLM regulated ZEB2 [34, 35].

MYC (c-Myc) is regarded as a very strong proto-oncogene observed to be highly expressed in many cancers. The (PARPI)-poly (adenosine diphosphate (ADP)) ribose polymerase inhibitor effect on triple-negative breast cancer can be chemically improved upon a blockade of MYC. Dinaciclib a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor downregulates Myc expression; this, administered along with PARPI-niraparib, downregulated EMT by reducing homologous recombination which resulted in reduced cancer stem cell-like phenotype. Also dinaciclib re-sensitized TBNC cells which displayed resistance toward niraparib. This combination of therapy also worked on ovarian, prostrate, pancreatic, lung, and colon cancer cells [36].

Claudin-6 (CLDN6) is a tight junction protein functioning as a tumor suppressor and also a stem cell marker. Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) cells show low levels of CLDN6. A study involving the overexpression of CLDN6 in TNBC cells (MDAMB231 cells) showed increase in epithelial marker E-cadherin and reduction in vimentin (mesenchymal marker); stem cell markers such as OCT4, SOX2, and Nanog were upregulated [37].

Another long noncoding RNA called the nuclear-enriched abundant transcripts (NEATs) plays a significant role in Non-small-cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) stem cells. Experimental results suggest that NEAT1 was overexpressed and copper transporter 1 (CTR1) was downregulated in the NSCLC stem cells. NEAT1 knock-down reduced the cancer stem cell-like phenotype in these cells. NEAT1-expressing cells also exhibited Wnt pathways and EMT process [38].

In triple-negative breast cancer cell line SUMI159pr, low expression of miR-105 was recorded. Its targets were identified to be VEGFA, Erb33, Zab1, Fyn, and Lyn A/B, thus reducing cell proliferation and c-Myc with upregulated levels of participants.

Overexpression of MiR205 inhibited the anchorage-independent growth, migratory and invasive nature of SUM159PT cell line with activated src kinases, and low levels of MMPs. The pathways and proteins associated with EMT like CD44, TAZ, E2AE12, twist, Snail A, and CK5 were also highly reduced with the expression of miR-205. The miR-205 also plays a critical role, and its co-expression along with anti-miR-205 reverted back all the reduced and the inhibited pathways of the triple-negative breast cancer cell line SUM159PT [39]. Ursodeoxycholic acid is an epimer of chenodeoxycholic acid found in the mammalian bile secretions, commonly abbreviated as UDCA. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) plays a critical role in cancer progression and advancement, and UDCA inhibited intracellular ROS. Pancreatic cancer cell lines treated with 0.2 mM UDCA showed elevated levels of E-cadherin and lower levels of N-cadherin and downregulation of sex-determining region Y-box 2 (SOX2). It reduced the sphere-forming abilities; thus it is evident as an effector inhibitor of cancer stem cell-like and EMT phenotypes [40].

Carnosol (CAR) is naturally found in our body that inhibits the MDM2/p53 complex. Its effects on U87MG, a glioblastoma-derived cancer stem cell line, showed that it reduced the CSC formation and promoted apoptosis of the cancer stem cells by functionally reactivating P53. Furthermore it also controlled the effects of TNF-alpha/TGF-beta and inhibited the effects of cytokines associated with EMT-regulating genes (slug, Snail, twist, ZEB1). It also promoted the activation of miR-200c, which is associated with EMT; adding on this it also increased the antiproliferative effects of temozolomide (TMZ) [41]. Lagunas et al. demonstrated that telomere DNA damage signaling regulates cancer stem cell evolution and metastasis. Telomeres are protected by the double-stranded DNA-binding protein TRF2 and maintained by telomerase or a recombination-based mechanism known as alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT). Loss of TRF2 and Terc expression gives telomere DNA damage, severely decreases CD34+ and Lgr6+ cancer stem cells, and induces terminal differentiation of metastatic cancer cells [42]. The natural sphingolipid phytosphingosine (PHS) suppresses the stem cell-like phenotype and EMT-associated proteins and the highly malignant basal-type breast cancer cells (CD44+/CD24-) by downregulating EGFR/JAK1/STAT3 [43]. Slug and twist are important transcriptional factors that are highly associated with EMT; they are found to be regulated by two processes, namely, ubiquitination and degradation. Slug and twist are found to be in very stable conditions inside the cancer cells. It can be speculated that the stabilization of the slug and twist is because of the loss of ubiquitin by deubiquitinase (DUB). DUB3 was identified to be the deubiquitinase for both slug and twist. The upregulation of DUB3 amplified the expression levels of slug and twist in a dosage-dependent manner, also protecting the two genes from being degraded. IL-6, which plays a significant role in the metastasis of breast cancer cells, seemed to induce the expression of DUB3. Thus DUB3 is identified to play a critical role in stem cell-like phenotype, metastasis, and invasive and migratory traits in breast cancer cells [44].

Fusobacterium nucleatum has been identified to play a role in colorectal cancer. A study was conducted on stage 3 CRC patients. The *Fusobacterium nucleatum* levels were significantly high and were associated with the invasion, lymph node and metastasis and distant metastasis. Analysis showed the presence of Nanog, OCT4, and SOX2 (stem cell markers) and N-cadherin levels [45]. SOX8 was overexpressed in tongue squamous cell carcinoma (TSCC) resistant to cisplatin, which exhibited

EMT and CSC-like (Wnt) phenotypes. It is found to be upgraded in chemoresistant patients affected by tongue squamous cell carcinoma (TSCC) and also correlated with normal lymph node metastasis [46].

12.3 Role of MicroRNAs on CSCs and Metastasis

The microRNAs are short noncoding segments of RNA with 21–25 nucleotides seen in plants, animals, and certain viruses. Their function is "RNA-mediated gene silencing" at the posttranscriptional stage by attacking the 3'-untranslated regions of the "target gene," thereby degrading the specific mRNA [47]. miRNAs play a vital role in the human cancer progression and metastasis. The expression levels of the oncogenic miRNAs can be observed to be increased as cancer progresses. The improper regulation of the expression of the miRNAs influences the processes of the progression like antiapoptotic activity, drug resistance, tissue invasion, and metastasis [48] (Table 12.2).

12.3.1 miR-200 Family

miR-200a, miR-200b, miR-141, and miR-429 are the members of the miR family. Their regulations have a strong association with the cancer stem-like features and metastasis via EMT [63]. Experiments on human mammary epithelial cells show that these cells were able to transit from non-stem like to stem like upon the loss of miR family [64]. A strong connection between the levels of miR-200s and E-cadherin in the cancer cell lines and clinical samples showed that miR-200s maintained tumor epithelial traits and prevented EMT. This was achieved by the direct interaction of miR-200s with ZEB1 and ZEB2 transcription factors. Suppression of metastasis has been observed upon the upregulation of miR-200s, but the miRNAs are also known to promote metastasis by recent studies as higher concentration of miR-200s promoted the development of metastasis in breast cancer patients and promoted invasion of the lung by murine breast cancer cells. The direct downregulation of Sec23a resulted in loss of expression of metastasis-suppressive proteins IGFBP4 and Tinag11 in the murine breast cancer cells [63].

Tumor suppressor p53 is shown to be associated with both EMT and breast CSCs associated with EMT by transcriptionally activating the miRNAs associated with stemness including miR-200C. The loss of P53 in mammary epithelial cells downregulated miR-200C expression and initiates EMT and increases CSCs. It also directly interacts with EMT and increases CSCs. It also directly interacts with the protein line ZEB1, ZEB2, and BMI1 [65].

			Functions in CSCs-	
Cancer type	miRNA	Targets	Metastasis	References
Breast cancer	miR-199a	FOXP2	Enhanced CSC properties	Lei Zhou et al. [49]
	miRNA- 600	PORCN	Differentiation	Rita El Helou et al. [50]
	miR-200c	BMI1	Inhibit the clonal expansion	Zheng-ming Wang et al. [51]
	Let-7	H-RAS and HMGA2	Suppresses self-renewal and differentiation	Yohei Shimono et al. [52]
	miR-205	BMI1	Regulate EMT, migration, and invasiveness	Xiao et al. [53]
	miR-141 miR-183	BMI1	Regulate the self-renewal abilities	Yohei Shimono et al. [52]
Pancreatic cancer	miRNA- 1246	CCNG2	Chemoresistance and stemness	Sabrina Bimonte et al. [54]
Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML)	miRNA-22	TET2	Self-renewal and transformation	Ryou-u Takahashi et al. [48]
Colon	miR-193 miR-145 miR-200 miR-203	PLAU and K-RAS ZEB1	Inhibition of tumorigenicity and invasiveness Maintenance of stemness EMT activation	Ryou-u Takahashi et al. [48] Sabrina Bimonte et al. [54]
Lung cancer	miR-145	OCT4	Inhibited the proliferation	Hu et al. [55]
Prostate cancer	miR-143	FNDC3B	Differentiation of prostate cancer stem cells and promoted prostate cancer metastasis	Xinlan Fan et al. [56]
	miR-34a	CD44	Inhibit prostate cell proliferation, tumor regeneration, and metastasis	Zheng-ming WANG et al. [51]
	miR-708 and miR-199a- 3p	CD44	Regulate the proliferation	Can Liu et al. [57]
Hepatocellular carcinoma	miR-22	PTEN, p21, and p53	Reduces cell growth, invasion, and metastasis	Bin Bao et al. [58]
Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	miR-200c	BMI1	Regulating self-renewal, radio/chemoresistance and metastatic properties	Yu et al. [59]
Brain tumors	miR-34a	c-met	Induce the differentiation of CSCs	X J Li et al. [60]

 Table 12.2
 miRNA involved in cancer stem cell metastasis

(continued)

Cancer type	miRNA	Targets	Functions in CSCs- Metastasis	References
Ovarian cancer	miR-199a	ABCG2	Increased the chemosensitivity of ovarian CSCs	Yongchao Wang et al. [61]
Glioblastoma	miR-128	BMI1	Inhibit glioma stem cell proliferation	Can Liu and Dean G. Tang. [62]
Gastric cancer	miR-34	p53	Control the biological properties of gastric CSCs	Can Liu and Dean G. Tang. [62]

Table 12.2 (continued)

12.3.2 miR-203

miR-203 inhibits the colony formation, migration, and invasion of many cancer cells. Enhanced regulation of Snail and downregulation of miR-203 in CD44+ human colorectal carcinoma cell lines showed higher metastasis; further miR-203 is suppressed by Snail [66].

miR-203 reduced the sphere-forming ability of the nearby cells by indirectly prompting DKK 1 (inhibitor of Wnt signaling) [67]. The effects of miR-203 are observed in CD44+/CD88- leukemia cancer stem cells by directly interacting with BMI1/survivin [68].

12.3.3 miR-34a

miR-34a has been called as a "star" miRNA in cancer research, acts as tumor suppressor, and is downregulated in many human cancers, and also studies have shown that the aberrant miR-34a expression has been linked to chemotherapy resistance in a variety of cancers [69].

miR-34a is a mediator of the p53 transcriptional network and has been identified as a tumor suppressor that contributes to the inhibition of the invasion and metastasis in various types of epithelial cancers [69]. miR-34a expression is significantly downregulated in primary tumors from head and neck cancer patients as well as in head and neck cancer cell lines. Ectopic expression of miR-34a in head and neck cell lines significantly inhibited tumor cell proliferation, migration, and colony formation by downregulating the expression of E2F3 and survivin [70]. Expression of miR-34a in bulk can inhibit prostate cancer cells (CD44⁺) through inhibition of clonogenic expansion, tumor regeneration, and metastasis, and expression of miR-34a antagomirs in CD44⁻ prostate cancer cells promoted tumor development and metastasis [71], and miR-34a performs a key role in suppressing colorectal cancer metastasis by targeting and regulating Notch signaling [72].

12.3.4 miR-22

miR-22 epigenetically promoted stem-like traits and metastasis in breast cancer cells. Studies have shown miR-22 capable to directly inhibit TET expression and EMT induction in breast cancer. Ten eleven translocation (TET) enzyme has been linked to the demethylation of miRNA-200 promoter region. miR-200 is an antimetastatic microRNA that inhibits stemness and EMT, and miR-22 is observed to be in association with TET family, thus promoting CSC-like properties and metastasis by repressing miR-200 family [48].

12.3.5 miR-17

Significant overexpression of miR-17 was seen in CD133+ cells of glioblastoma cell lines. The miR-17 is said to directly target calmodulin-binding transcriptional activator (CAMTA1), which is a transcription factor of antiproliferation cardiac hormone natriuretic peptide A. Downregulation of miR-17 in these cells reduced neurosphere formation and promotes cell differentiation. This shows that miR-17 is significantly correlated to stem (CD133+)-like traits in cells [48]. In osteosarcoma the levels of miR-17 were seen to be higher, and its inhibition resulted in reduced or suppressed cancer cell proliferation, migration effects, and invasion/metastasis. PTEN homolog was identified to be directly targeted by miR-17 [73]. PTEN levels are critical in maintaining stemness, and its suppression leads to promotion of cancer stem cells [74]. However, A549/DDP (cisplatin resistance) non-small cell lung cancer cells showed downregulated levels of miR-17, miR-20a, and miR-20b. The downregulated levels suppressed the TGF-beta signaling pathways and inhibited EMT pathways, thus affecting metastasis [75]. Cancer stem cells seem to have developed their stem-like properties via stem cell pathways like Wnt, TGF-beta, STAT, and Hippo-YAP/TAZ [76]. Colon cancer cells that overexpressed phosphatase of regenerating liver 3 (PRL-3) inducing the expression of miR-21, miR-17, and miR-19 by activating STAT3 [77]. Cancer stem cells are strongly associated with stemness-related STAT pathway [76]. Thus these miRNAs have increased the proliferation of primary colon cancer cells and the metastatic growth [77]. In ovarian cancer metastasis, the expression of miR-17 is inversely related to the levels of ITGA5 and ITGB1. Lower level of ITGA5 and ITGB1 suppressed peritoneal metastasis. The abnormal expression of miR-17 in ovarian cancer resulted in lowered expression of ILK phosphorylation and MMP-2. Thus higher levels of miR-17 suppress ovarian cancer cell peritoneal metastasis [78].

12.3.6 miR-124

SNAI2 has been found to be upregulated in glioblastoma cells, and miR-124 has SNAI2 as its functional target. SNAI2 has also been associated with stemness. Experimental evidences showed that upregulation of miR-124 and SNAI2

knockdown reduced neurosphere formation, and the expression of stem cell markers like BMI1, Nanog, and Nestin was substantially reduced, and the effects can be reverted by the re-expression of SNAI2 in in vivo [79]. miR-124 was also seen to directly target STAT3 signaling. STAT3 is identified to have positive effects on T-cell-mediated suppression in tumor microenvironment. miR-124 is observed to be lost in all grades and in all pathological types of gliomas. The upregulation of miR-124 in glioma cancer stem cells (GCSCs) resulted in the inhibition of STAT3, and it reversed the GCSC-associated immunosuppression of T cells and the induction of FOXP3 and regulatory T cells (Tregs). T cells from immunosuppressed glioblastoma patients when treated with miR-124 resulted in upregulation of miR-124 in MDA-MB-231 cells (known for high invasiveness) suppressed spindle formation, invasive capacity, and adhesion to fibronectin and anoikis. These results show that miR-124 plays a critical role in the multistep process of metastasis in breast cancer cells [81].

12.3.7 miR-128

Patients with advanced glioma show downregulation of miR-128. miR-128 targets BMI1 [48]. miR-128 is reported to target VEGF-C and reduce the proliferation and the invasive properties of bladder cancer cells. The knockdown of miR-128 upregulates VEGF-C and induces proliferation, migration, and invasion of bladder cancer (BC) [82]. The metastatic and the stem cell-like properties of the hepatocellular carcinoma were inhibited by the upregulation of miR-128, and they were identified to target ITGA2 and ITGA5 [83]. The chemosensitivity is increased and invasive properties of prostate cancer cells were inhibited following upregulation of miR-128. Experimental results suggest that miR-128 directly targets zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 1 (ZEB1) in prostate cancer cells and induces the sensitivity toward cisplatin and inhibits invasion [84].

12.3.8 miR-199b-5p

Studies show that miR-199b-5p is downregulated in medulloblastoma which results in its invasive properties. This happens by targeting HES1 transcription factor in Notch signaling pathways, thus inhibiting the self-renewal properties of Glioma Stem Cells (GSCs) by targeting the CD133+ cells [48]. But its expression plays an opposite role in the case of human osteosarcoma. The elevated levels of miR-199b-5p correlate to cell proliferation, invasion, and migration of these cells. Its expression levels are seen amplified in the higher grades of osteosarcoma [85]. In breast cancer cells, miR-199b-5p suppresses HER2 expression by negatively conferring with ERK1/2 and AKT pathways. This shows loss of migration, wound healing, and colony formation. This has also improved the sensitivity of HER2 cells towards trastuzumab, thus hampering cells' migratory and clonogenicity properties [86]. miR-199b-5b targets N-cadherin and promotes cell aggregation and suppresses migration/invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). This inhibits metastasis of tumor xenografts. It was also shown to reduce the effects of TGF-beta-induced AKT phosphorylation which results in EMT features [87].

12.3.9 miR-451

The lower expression of miR-451 shows enhanced levels of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2) and macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF); this results in acquisition of stem cell-like properties. COX2 and MIF have been shown to be associated with Wnt pathway, which is a major regulator of cancer stem cells [48].

Papillary thyroid carcinoma with lymph node (PTCLN) metastasis shows amplified expression levels of four miRNAs: miR-2861, miR-451, miR-193b, and miR-1202. When compared with PTC without lymphoid metastasis, it was found that PTCLN had high levels of miR-2861 and miR-451 especially in lateral and lymph node (LLN) [88]. Zhang et al. reported that miR-144/451 re-expression markedly suppressed the migration and invasion of breast cancer and HNSCC cells through ADAM10 and ADAMTS5 modulation. PAX4 promoted migration and invasion in human epithelial cancers by decreasing miR-144 and miR-451 (miR-144/451) expression levels.

Paired box gene 4 (PAX4) has been promoting metastasis in human epithelial cancer by downregulating miR-144 and miR-451, while miR-144/451 has been observed to inhibit cancer migration even in PAX4-expressing cells by targeting a disintegrin and metalloproteinase (ADAM) protein family members in ADAMT55 and ADAM10 [89]. MiR-451 has also been shown to suppress cell proliferation and metastasis by targeting chemokine ligand 16 (CXCL16) in osteosarcoma patients [90]; it has been shown to promote significant metastasis in various cancer types like hepatocellular carcinoma by targeting c-Myc [91]. In neuroblastoma miR-451 has been shown to target macrophage migratory inhibitory factors [92], in A549 lung cancer cells miR-451 inhibits metastasis by targeting PSMB8 and NOS2 thereby reducing the expression of MMP-2, MMP-9, VEGF. miR-451 has also been associated with stemness and CXCR4 [93]. This miR-451 plays a vital role in inhibition of stem cell-like features by inhibiting stem cells and metastasis through numerous pathways.

12.3.10 miR-320

The miR-320 directly targets Wnt/beta-catenin expression in prostate cancer stem cells. Thus the expression of CD44+ PCa cell expressing Wnt is inversely proportional to miR-320 level [48]. Fatty acid synthase (FAS) was previously reported to be correlated with various clinicopathological features of cancer. Overexpression of FAS in NSCLC has been shown to be significantly associated with bone metastasis. Thus miR-320 contributes to cell proliferation, migration, and invasion by directly

targeting FAS in NSCLC, and overexpression of miR-320 in NSCLC cell lines inhibits cell proliferation, migration, and invasion via downregulation of FAS. miR-320 may act as a tumor suppressor by inhibiting the oncogenic activity of FAS [94]. In addition, miR-320 inhibited migration by targeting FOXM1 in cervical cancer cells [95].

12.4 Functions of RBPs on CSCs and Metastasis

RNA-binding proteins (RBPs) act as epigenetic regulators of various RNA processing events, such as splicing, localization, stabilization, and translation, and can regulate various types of stem cells. Many RNA-binding proteins are overexpressed in cancers [96, 97]). Deregulation of RBPs affects every step of cancer development, such as sustained cell proliferation, inhibition of the apoptosis process, avoiding immunosurveillance, inducing angiogenesis, and activating metastasis. Some RBP proteins recognize cis-acting elements to translationally regulate proto-oncogenes, cytokines, and growth factors [98]. RNA-binding proteins that are abnormally expressed in cancers are the IMP-3, the CRD-BP/IMP-1, the p62, as well as members of the ELAV/Hu protein family, e.g., HuR. Upon binding to the AU-rich instability element (ARE) in the 3'Untranslated region (UTR) of rapidly degraded mRNAs of proto-oncogenes, cytokines, and growth factors, HuR regulates nucleocytoplasmic transport, stability, and translation. However, only very few of these RNA-binding proteins have been demonstrated to regulate tumor progression and metastasis and control the cancer stem cell self-renewal [97].

12.4.1 RBM3

Colorectal cancer mostly demonstrates the overexpression of Wnt/beta-catenin in the colon cancer stem cells. The RNA-binding protein RBM3 promotes cancer cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and resistance against apoptosis and even induces metastasis at higher levels by acting as a proto-oncogene [99]. Two cell lines HCT116 and DLD1 were taken to study the effects of RBM3 on colon cancer; upon the upregulation of RBM3, the number of sphere-forming cells increased in the HCT116 cells along with the increased expression of cancer stem cell marker DCLK1 in DLD1 cells. Further analysis have shown that RBM3 upregulated the levels of Wnt/beta-catenin but suppressed the expression of Notch [100].

12.4.2 PTBP3

The RNA polypyrimidine tract-binding protein (PTBP3) at upregulated state leads to the acquisition of cancer stem cell-like and EMT phenotype in breast cancer cells, thus enhancing metastasis. Mechanistically, the EMT regulatory transcription factor ZEB1 is upregulated due to PTBP3 binding to its mRNA at the 3'UTR [101].

12.4.3 Lin 28

Recent studies have shown that LIN 28A/B plays an important role in the formation of CSCs and is involved in tumor aggressiveness and metastasis. Higher expression rates of RNA-binding protein LIN 28 is correlated with the exhibition of malignant, cancer stem-like phenotypes in breast, colorectal, and esophageal cancer cells. Ovarian cancer cells with CSC-like trait express both LIN 28A and OCT4. LIN 28B is expressed in the colorectal stem cells with CSC markers like LGR5, KIT, and PROM1 (CD133) in colon cancer. LIN 28B might be correlated with intestinal CSCs, and LIN 28B regulated by IKK β are able to maintain stemness by interacting with Wnt pathways as LIN 28 is expressed only by CSCs. A crosstalk between LIN 28 and let-7 is observed in CSCs; thus blocking this axis might be a solution to target the CSCs. In non-small cell lung cancer patients, higher levels of LIN 28 and lower levels of let-7 are associated with chemo- and radiotherapy resistance [102].

12.4.4 MUSASHI-1

MUSASHI-1 (MSI-1) is a stem cell marker in both normal and cancerous stem cells; in malignant colorectal cancer cells, MUSASHI1 is upregulated by the expression of Notch-3 [103]. In another experiment on gastric cancer cells, it was identified that MUSASHI1 played a significant role in the prognosis of the metastatic gastric cancer. The expression of MSI-1 can be associated with tumor node metastasis (TNM), Lauren's classification, depth of invasion, vessel invasion, lymph node metastasis, and distant metastasis. The prognosis at each stages of TNM is worse than its previous one as there is an increase in MSI-1 expression [104].

12.4.5 MUSASHI-2

Elevated levels of MSI-2 is observed in metastatic non-small cell lung cancer cell lines; the suppression of MSI-2 led to decrease in metastatic potential and promoted the expression of claudin 3 (CLDN3), claudin 5 (CLDN5), and claudin 7 (CLDN7) and downregulated the expression of TGF β R1, SMAD3, and zinc finger proteins SNAI1 and SNAI2 (Slug) [105].

12.5 Effect of CSCs on Immunosurveillance and Metastasis

A perfect display of chemoresistance and immune resistance is seen during the escape phase when detectable tumor bodies of CSCs/TICs reappear after a long dormant phase. They have been reported to produce immunosuppressive molecules and recruit cells that suppress the immune system like Treg cells more tolerant toward the immune system via loss of expression of tumor antigen, loss of processing and presentation machinery, and downregulation of MHC1 and MHC2.

All these factors along with aging related immune deficiency is utilized by CSCs to promote cancer. CSCs/TICs are able to escape the immune response because they are equipped with co-inhibiting molecules like cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen (CTLA4), B7-H2, B7-H3, and programmed death receptor 1 (PD-1). The lack of MHC2 leads to downregulation of low molecular weight proteins (LMP), transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP), and beta-macroglobulin, which assists immune escape. Cytokines like transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta), IL-10, and IL-13 were secreted in in vitro conditions. The CSCs/TICs from glioblastoma required expression of VEGF, macrophage chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), macrophage inhibitory factor (MIF), and growth-related oncogene (GRO2) for their survival. Breast cancer stem cells and glioblastoma CSCs produce more TGFs than usual cancer cells; IL-4 produced by colon CSCs promotes drug resistance and stops antitumor immune responses. CSCs also produce CD200 that aids immune escape. The dissemination of CSCs of the melanoma is assisted by the expression of ATP-binding cassette subfamily member 5 (ABCB5) and shows low levels of lineage-related and Cancet-testis (CT) antigens. But the CSCs expressing CD133+ have upregulated levels of NY-ESO1 cancer testis antigen; and they produce specific T-cell response.

TAADDX3X expressed by CD133+ CSCs is susceptible to T cells in massive models, while the CD271+ CSCs do not express both lineage-related and CT antigens; hence their susceptibility toward T cells is not possible. Thus all these traits help the CSCs/TICs during tumor progression and metastasis.

Cancer stem cells of the lungs have developed ways to protect themselves from T cells and induce apoptosis in them. T cells express CTLA4/CD152 after exposure to antigen. The binding of CTLA4 to its ligand (CD80/CD86) on the antigen presenting cells (APC) induces T-cell apoptosis. Specifically lung cancer cells induce T cells to produce more CTLA4. Similarly PD4 is produced by the T cells, B cells, and some myeloid cells. Cytotoxic T cells with PD4 interacting with its ligand are marked for apoptosis. Upregulation of ALDH and B-cell lymphoma-2 (BCL-2) protein and its family seems to enhance the chemoresistant phenotype [106].

Cancer stem cells derived from histopathologically negative prostrate training lymph nodes (PDLN) in mice with prostrate intraepithelial neoplasia (mPIN) controlled by oncogene was similar to the CSCs from mPIN tumor bodies. CSCs from both PDLN and mPIN produced extracellular matrix protein tenascin-C (TNC) and CXCR4. TNC interacts with α 5 β 1 integrin on the cell surface of the T cell and inhibits T-cells receptor dependent T cell activation proliferation and cytokine production [107].

Macrophages play a vital role during the stages of metastasis of the cancer cells. Macrophages are made tumor friendly by various cytokines and chemokines like colony-stimulating factor 1 (CSF1), vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A), semaphorin3A (SEMA3A), CC-chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), and CXC-chemokine ligand 12. Tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) are known for their CD8+-suppressing properties by directly producing DDL1 and BT-H4 or indirectly Treg cells [108].

The vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) is a vital oncogenic factor that also plays important role in cancer stem cell maintenance, proliferation, malignancy, immunosuppression and also EMT. Myc and SOX2 were upregulated in the breast and lung cancer stem cells through VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR2)/STAT3 [109]. VEGF has been identified to target dendritic cells by disrupting its maturation from the progenitor cells. It also plays a role in the T cells and macrophages. The functional maturation of the DCs from its progenitor CD34+ was identified to have disturbed the VEGF produced by breast and colon cancer cells. The M2-polarized macrophages that are tumor friendly express VEGF, hence promoting angiogenesis. Initial experiments on mice with elevated levels of VEGF equivalent to the amount found in advanced cancer patients showed that the number of CD8/CD4 thymocytes was reduced. The VEGF affected the progenitor of the T cells rather than on the T cells themselves [110]. The human cancer cell A549 and breast cancer cells MDA-MB-231 recruit manv tumor-associated dendritic cells (TADCs) overexpressing CCL2. CCL2 increases the stem cell-like features, migratory/invasive properties, malignancy, and also the immunosuppressive tumor-associated macrophages. The CCL2 amplifies the phosphorylation of STAT3 in the cells. 6-Shogaol can inhibit CCL2 and suppress the proliferative and the metastatic properties of the lung and the breast cancer cell lines [111]. In case of the hepatocellular carcinoma, increased expression of CXCR4 corresponds to lymph node metastasis [112], but the cytoplasmic expression of CXCR4 does not seem to play a role in the lymph node metastasis [113].

A cross talk between the CXCR4 pathway and TGF-beta pathways has been reported in the Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC); CXCL12/CXCR4 has also been identified to promote the expression matrix metalloproteinase 10 (MMP10) that enhances the migration and metastatic properties of the HCC. A cross talk between CXCR4 and Sonic hedgehog (SHH) pathways has been reported in the human pancreatic cancer and medulloblastoma as well. SHH/CXCR4 interaction has been associated with promotion of stem cell properties and malignancy in these cells.

A cross-link between alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) and CXCR4 has been observed. AFP promotes migration by activating AKT/mTOR signaling through CXCR4 in HCC [114].

The regulatory T cells are utilized by the breast cancer cells with lung metastasis by expressing CCL22/CCL5, which is very immunosuppressive expressing alphachain/CD25 and forkhead boxp3 (FOXP3). Suppressing of metastasis in the breast cancer models has shown to deplete number of CD4 + CD25+ cells; overexpression of prostaglandin E2 by the breast cancer cells also recruits Treg cells there by inducing CD8+ T-cell apoptosis and enhances cancer cell bone metastasis. Melanoma utilized Treg cell to overexpress TNR to promote lung metastasis [108]. The galectin-1 produced by the breast cancer cells suppresses the immune system by regulating clonal expansion and via linker for activation of T cells resulting in the promotion of breast cancer metastasis. Galectin-1 has been reported to be highly expressed in CD133+ cells (stem cell marker) [115, 116]. Treg cells seem to target NK cells and induce apoptosis by expressing BETA-galoctoside-binary protein (BETA-GBP) in lung metastasis that Treg cells suppressed the cytotoxicity of the NK cells via cell to cell contact and expressing TGF-beta [108]. Neutrophils have an interesting role in cancer promotion. The human fibrosarcoma and prostate cancer cells associated neutrophil promote angiogenesis by secreting MMP9. In intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma xenograft model, CXCL15 recruits neutrophils and enhances lung metastasis. But other studies show that reducing the neutrophil contact increases the lung metastatic loci in breast cancer models. The neutrophils extracted from tumor-bearing mice can kill cancer cells in other mice models by producing Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2). However TGF-beta has been reported to reverse the antitumor properties to tumor-promoting traits of neutrophils [117].

12.6 Overview of CSC-Derived Exosomes on Metastasis

There are many evidences proving that exosomes from cancer cells cause organspecific metastasis. Their specificity can be identified by the presence of certain ECM, membrane proteins, lipids, and adhesion molecules present within the exosomes. Tumor-derived exosomes (TDEs) initiate metastasis by three ways: firstly, autocrine and paracrine signaling which initiates EMT formation. Secondly, they help in the formation of pre-metastatic niche. Thirdly, they modulate the body's immune system promoting metastasis.

Exosomes from various cancer cells have Notch-1 (MMPs), miR-100, HIF α , case $in kinase Ii\alpha$, and annexin A2. Hypoxia is a popular condition associated with the development of metastasis particularly; EMT-inducing molecules like TGF β , MMPs, TNF- α , IL6, AKT, ILK1, caveolin 1, PDGFs, and β -catenin are the contents of exosomes under hypoxic conditions. Nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) (CNE2) cell line co-cultured with exosomes expressed more of N-cadherin and vimentin and downregulated expression of E-cadherin [118]. Primary tumors targeting the lungs express integrins like $\alpha \beta \beta 4$ and $\alpha \beta \beta 1$. The integrin $\alpha \nu \beta 5$ promotes metastasis to the lungs [119]. In another experiment where exosomes from fluorescently labeled B16-FI0 melanoma cells were injected into a mice, the exosomes combined together with the regional lymph node nearest to the point of injection. Tumor and organspecific metastasis is a characteristic behavior of cancer stem cells [120]. CSCs secrete and uptake exosomes; hence their metastatic phenotype can also be determined by studying the contents of their exosomes. The CD105+ exosomes from the renal cancer stem cells when injected into SCID mice developed only lung metastasis [118]. Breast cancer stem cells recruit Treg cells and promote lung metastasis [108]. Tumor-derived exosomes (TDEs) use Treg cells and induce CD8+ T-cell apoptosis and suppress NK cells. The exosomes from NPC recruit Treg cells and confer with T helper cell (Th1) and Th17 differentiation; also these cells recruit CD4 + CD25- T cells and convert them to CD4+CD25+ T cells. Tumor-tropic patient-derived adipose cancer stem cells when treated with exsosomes from prostate cells induced mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) and lead to the development of a more aggressive prostate like secondary tumor [118]. Malignant breast cancer stem cells are also associated with CD4+CD25+ T cells [108]. Thus it is possible for the Breast cancer stem cells to utilize exosomes in a similar manner.
The paracrine activity of adult stem cells and cancer stem cells is mediated by the release of exosomes [121]. Cancer stem cells communicate with nearby cancer cells and stromal cells by uptaking the exosomes by the cells. The exosomes derived from the fibroblast mediate Notch signaling, overexpress ALDH, and promote stemness in the breast cancer cells. The intake of exosomes from melanoma cancer cells by the bone marrow progenitor cells leads to the acquisition of malignant phenotype [122]. The exosomes from more aggressive TNBC cell lines Hs578Ts (i) transmitted their aggressive phenotype to secondary breast cancer cells (Hs578T, SKBR3, MDA-MB-231, and HCC1954). The noninvasive nature of the mammary epithelial cell line HMLE was reversed upon its exposure to miR-10b from MDA-MB-231 cells. miR-10b has been reported to be highly expressed by the TNBC cells. In an in vivo study mice were intravenously injected with exosomal miR-105 from MDA-MB-231 cells, and the MDA-MB-231 cells also were intracardially injected resulted in the development of lung and brain metastasis. Under hypoxic conditions the exosomes from breast cancer cells have been shown to promote invasiveness and malignant phenotypes. The expression of RAB22A by the breast cancer cell lines (MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, and MDA-MB-435) is seen. The knockdown of the RAB22A by shRNA showed suppressed invasion and long colonization. The fibroblast promotes metastasis by Wnt signaling. The CD81 secreted by the fibroblast L cells through exosomes was taken up by the breast cancer cells and induces metastasis of the MDA-MB-231 cells. The knockdown of CD81 in L cells suppressed the malignancy [123, 124].

12.7 Future Prospects

Understanding the roles of CSCs on tumor progression and metastasis will provide the strategies for targeting CSCs to prevent the seed for cancer metastasis. This chapter has highlighted the need for future research on the various factors that regulate the dissemination of cancer from its primary site. The RNA-binding proteins and their role in posttranscriptional regulation during cancer progression and metastasis have provided various targets for regulating cancer stem cells. In addition, the development of combination therapies for the above highlighted multiple targets will improve patient's outcome. The latest development in the field has enabled us to understand the contents and role of CSC-derived exosomes on metastasis. There is a clear lack of information on content loading of exosomes and target or recipient cell identification. The epigenetic regulation of CSCs by microRNAs and RNA-binding proteins has highlighted the targets and identified the biomarkers for tumor progression and metastasis.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to thank the SRM Institute of Science and Technology for funding and providing the laboratory facility. We would also like to thank Science and Engineering Research Board (SERB)-EMR/2017/002874, Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR)-2019-5526/CMB/BMS and Department of Biotechnology (DBT)-BT/PR26189/GET/ 119/226/2017 for the funding support provided.

References

- Lazer LM, Sadhasivam B, Palaniyandi K, Muthuswamy T, Ramachandran I, Balakrishnan A, Pathak S, Narayan S, Ramalingam S (2018) Chitosan-based nano-formulation enhances the anticancer efficacy of hesperetin. Int J Biol Macromol 107:1988–1998
- 2. Nguyen LV, Vanner R, Dirks P et al (2012) Cancer stem cells: an evolving concept. Nat Rev Cancer 12(2):133
- Mashouri L, Yousefi H, Aref AR, Mohammad Ahadi A, Molaei F, Alahari SK (2019) Exosomes: composition, biogenesis, and mechanisms in cancer metastasis and drug resistance. Mol Cancer 18(1):75
- Shibue T, Weinberg RA (2017) EMT, CSCs, and drug resistance: the mechanistic link and clinical implications. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 14(10):611–629
- Pang R, Law WL, Chu AC et al (2010) A subpopulation of CD26+ cancer stem cells with metastatic capacity in human colorectal cancer. Cell Stem Cell 6(6):603–615
- 6. Chen C, Wei Y, Hummel M et al (2011) Evidence for epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer stem cells of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. PLoS One 6(1):e16466
- 7. Morel AP, Lièvre M, Thomas C et al (2008) Generation of breast cancer stem cells through epithelialmesenchymal transition. PLoS One 3(8):e2888
- Marjanovic ND, Weinberg RA, Chaffer CL (2013) Cell plasticity and heterogeneity in cancer. Clin Chem 59(1):168–179
- Kim WT, Ryu CJ (2017 Jun) Cancer stem cell surface markers on normal stem cells. BMB reports. 50(6):285
- Huang R, Rofstad EK (2017) Cancer stem cells (CSCs), cervical CSCs and targeted therapies. Oncotarget 8(21):35351
- Li Y, Lin K, Yang Z et al (2017) Bladder cancer stem cells: clonal origin and therapeutic perspectives. Oncotarget 8(39):66668–66679
- Lin W, Modiano JF, Ito D (2017) Stage-specific embryonic antigen: determining expression in canine glioblastoma, melanoma, and mammary cancer cells. J Vet Sci 18(1):101–104
- Yuan ZX, Mo J, Zhao G, Shu G, Fu HL, Zhao W (2016) Targeting strategies for renal cell carcinoma: from renal cancer cells to renal cancer stem cells. Front Pharmacol 7:423
- 14. Govaere O, Wouters J, Petz M, Vandewynckel YP, Van den Eynde K, Verhulst S, Dollé L, Gremeaux L, Ceulemans A, Nevens F, van Grunsven LA (2016) Laminin-332 sustains chemoresistance and quiescence as part of the human hepatic cancer stem cell niche. J Hepatol 64(3):609–617
- Sun JH, Luo Q, Liu LL, Song GB (2016) Liver cancer stem cell markers: progression and therapeutic implications. World J Gastroenterol 22(13):3547
- 16. Ming XY, Fu L, Zhang LY, Qin YR, Cao TT, Chan KW, Ma S, Xie D, Guan XY (2016) Integrin α 7 is a functional cancer stem cell surface marker in oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Nat Commun 7(1):1–4
- Sahlberg SH, Spiegelberg D, Glimelius B, Stenerlöw B, Nestor M (2014) Evaluation of cancer stem cell markers CD133, CD44, CD24: association with AKT isoforms and radiation resistance in colon cancer cells. PLoS One 9(4):e94621
- Dawood S, Austin L, Cristofanilli M (2014) Cancer stem cells: implications for cancer therapy. Oncology 28(12):1101–1107, 1110
- Guo Z, Hardin H, Lloyd RV (2014) Cancer stem-like cells and thyroid cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 21(5):T285–T300
- 20. Bao B, Ahmad A, Azmi AS, Ali S, Sarkar FH (2013) Overview of cancer stem cells (CSCs) and mechanisms of their regulation: implications for cancer therapy. Curr Protoc Pharmacol 61 (1):14–25
- Gao MQ, Choi YP, Kang S, Youn JH, Cho NH (2010) CD24+ cells from hierarchically organized ovarian cancer are enriched in cancer stem cells. Oncogene 29(18):2672–2680
- Saikawa Y, Fukuda K, Takahashi T, Nakamura R, Takeuchi H, Kitagawa Y (2010) Gastric carcinogenesis and the cancer stem cell hypothesis. Gastric Cancer 13(1):11–24

- 23. Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P, Burant CF, Zhang L, Adsay V, Wicha M, Clarke MF, Simeone DM (2007) Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 67(3):1030–1037
- 24. Bao S, Wu Q, Sathornsumetee S, Hao Y, Li Z, Hjelmeland AB, Shi Q, McLendon RE, Bigner DD, Rich JN (2006) Stem cell–like glioma cells promote tumor angiogenesis through vascular endothelial growth factor. Cancer Res 66(16):7843–7848
- 25. Fang D, Leishear K, Nguyen TK, Finko R, Cai K, Fukunaga M, Li L, Brafford PA, Kulp AN, Xu X, Smalley KS (2006) Defining the conditions for the generation of melanocytes from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 24(7):1668–1677
- 26. Yun EJ, Lo UG, Hsieh JT (2016) The evolving landscape of prostate cancer stem cell: therapeutic implications and future challenges. Asian J Urol 3(4):203–210
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, Henkelman RM, Cusimano MD, Dirks PB (2004) Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 432 (7015):396–401
- García de Herreros A (2014) Epithelial to mesenchymal transition in tumor cells as consequence of phenotypic instability. Front Cell Dev Biol 12(2):71
- 29. Kim DH, Xing T, Yang Z, Dudek R, Lu Q, Chen YH (2018) Epithelial mesenchymal transition in embryonic development, tissue repair and cancer: a comprehensive overview. J Clin Med 7(1):1
- 30. Clark DW, Palle K (2016) Aldehyde dehydrogenases in cancer stem cells: potential as therapeutic targets. Ann Transl Med 4(24):518
- 31. Sikandar SS, Kuo AH, Kalisky T, Cai S, Zabala M, Hsieh RW, Lobo NA, Scheeren FA, Sim S, Qian D, Dirbas FM (2017) Role of epithelial to mesenchymal transition associated genes in mammary gland regeneration and breast tumorigenesis. Nat Commun 8(1):1–9
- 32. Bhattacharya R, Mitra T, Ray Chaudhuri S, Roy SS (2018) Mesenchymal splice isoform of CD44 (CD44s) promotes EMT/invasion and imparts stem-like properties to ovarian cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 119(4):3373–3383
- 33. Fan D, Lin X, Zhang F, Zhong W, Hu J, Chen Y, Cai Z, Zou Y, He X, Chen X, Lan P (2018) Micro RNA 26b promotes colorectal cancer metastasis by downregulating phosphatase and tensin homolog and wingless-type MMTV integration site family member 5A. Cancer Sci 109 (2):354–362
- 34. Chen DL, Chen LZ, Lu YX, Zhang DS, Zeng ZL, Pan ZZ, Huang P, Wang FH, Li YH, Ju HQ, Xu RH (2017) Long noncoding RNA XIST expedites metastasis and modulates epithelialmesenchymal transition in colorectal cancer. Cell Death Dis 8(8):e3011
- 35. Hudis CA, Gianni L (2011) Triple-negative breast cancer: an unmet medical need. Oncologist 16(Suppl 1):1–11
- 36. Carey JP, Karakas C, Bui T, Chen X, Vijayaraghavan S, Zhao Y, Wang J, Mikule K, Litton JK, Hunt KK, Keyomarsi K (2018) Synthetic lethality of PARP inhibitors in combination with MYC blockade is independent of BRCA status in triple-negative breast cancer. Cancer Res 78 (3):742–757
- 37. Yang M, Li Y, Shen X, Ruan Y, Lu Y, Jin X, Song P, Guo Y, Zhang X, Qu H, Shao Y (2017) CLDN6 promotes chemoresistance through GSTP1 in human breast cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 36(1):1–5
- 38. Jiang P, Chen A, Wu X, Zhou M, ul Haq I, Mariyam Z, Feng Q (2018) NEAT1 acts as an inducer of cancer stem cell-like phenotypes in NSCLC by inhibiting EGCG-upregulated CTR1. J Cell Physiol 233(6):4852–4863
- Mayoral-Varo V, Calcabrini A, Sánchez-Bailón MP, Martín-Pérez J (2017) miR205 inhibits stem cell renewal in SUM159PT breast cancer cells. PLoS One 12(11):e0188637
- 40. Kim YJ, Jeong SH, Kim EK, Kim EJ, Cho JH (2017) Ursodeoxycholic acid suppresses epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cell formation by reducing the levels of peroxiredoxin II and reactive oxygen species in pancreatic cancer cells. Oncol Rep 38 (6):3632–3638
- 41. Giacomelli C, Daniele S, Natali L, Iofrida C, Flamini G, Braca A, Trincavelli ML, Martini C (2017) Carnosol controls the human glioblastoma stemness features through the epithelial-

mesenchymal transition modulation and the induction of cancer stem cell apoptosis. Sci Rep 7 (1):1–7

- 42. Lagunas AM, Wu J, Crowe DL (2017) Telomere DNA damage signaling regulates cancer stem cell evolution, epithelial mesenchymal transition, and metastasis. Oncotarget 8 (46):80139
- 43. Kang HM, Son HS, Cui YH, Youn B, Son B, Kaushik NK, Uddin N, Lee JS, Song JY, Kaushik N, Lee SJ (2017) Phytosphingosine exhibits an anti-epithelial-mesenchymal transition function by the inhibition of EGFR signaling in human breast cancer cells. Oncotarget 8 (44):77794
- 44. Lin Y, Wang Y, Shi Q, Yu Q, Liu C, Feng J, Deng J, Evers BM, Zhou BP, Wu Y (2017) Stabilization of the transcription factors slug and twist by the deubiquitinase dub3 is a key requirement for tumor metastasis. Oncotarget 8(43):75127
- 45. Yan X, Liu L, Li H, Qin H, Sun Z (2017) Clinical significance of Fusobacterium nucleatum, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, and cancer stem cell markers in stage III/IV colorectal cancer patients. Onco Targets Ther 10:5031
- 46. Xie SL, Fan S, Zhang SY, Chen WX, Li QX, Pan GK, Zhang HQ, Wang WW, Weng B, Zhang Z, Li JS (2018) SOX8 regulates cancer stem-like properties and cisplatin-induced EMT in tongue squamous cell carcinoma by acting on the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Int J Cancer 142 (6):1252–1265
- Garg M (2015) Emerging role of microRNAs in cancer stem cells: implications in cancer therapy. World J Stem Cells 7(8):1078
- Takahashi RU, Miyazaki H, Ochiya T (2014) The role of microRNAs in the regulation of cancer stem cells. Front Genet 4:295
- Zhou L, Liu F, Wang X, Ouyang G (2015) The roles of microRNAs in the regulation of tumor metastasis. Cell Biosci 5(1):32
- 50. El Helou R, Pinna G, Cabaud O, Wicinski J, Bhajun R, Guyon L, Rioualen C, Finetti P, Gros A, Mari B, Barbry P (2017) miR-600 acts as a bimodal switch that regulates breast cancer stem cell fate through WNT signaling. Cell Rep 18(9):2256–2268
- Wang ZM, Du WJ, Piazza GA, Xi Y (2013) MicroRNAs are involved in the self-renewal and differentiation of cancer stem cells. Acta Pharmacol Sin 34(11):1374–1380
- 52. Shimono Y, Mukohyama J, Nakamura SI, Minami H (2016) MicroRNA regulation of human breast cancer stem cells. J Clin Med 5(1):2
- Xiao Y, Humphries B, Yang C, Wang Z (2019) MiR-205 dysregulations in breast cancer: the complexity and opportunities. Non-coding RNA 5(4):53
- 54. Bimonte S, Barbieri A, Leongito M, Palma G, Del Vecchio V, Falco M, Palaia R, Albino V, Piccirillo M, Amore A, Petrillo A (2016) The role of miRNAs in the regulation of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2016:8352684
- 55. Hu J, Qiu M, Jiang F, Zhang S, Yang X, Wang J, Xu L, Yin R (2014) MiR-145 regulates cancer stem-like properties and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in lung adenocarcinomainitiating cells. Tumor Biol 35(9):8953–8961
- 56. Fan X, Chen X, Deng W, Zhong G, Cai Q, Lin T (2013) Up-regulated microRNA-143 in cancer stem cells differentiation promotes prostate cancer cells metastasis by modulating FNDC3B expression. BMC Cancer 13(1):61
- 57. Liu C, Liu R, Zhang D, Deng Q, Liu B, Chao HP, Rycaj K, Takata Y, Lin K, Lu Y, Zhong Y (2017) MicroRNA-141 suppresses prostate cancer stem cells and metastasis by targeting a cohort of pro-metastasis genes. Nat Commun 8(1):1–4
- 58. Bao B, Li Y, Ahmad A, Azmi AS, Bao G, Ali S, Banerjee S, Kong D, H Sarkar F (2012) Targeting CSC-related miRNAs for cancer therapy by natural agents. Curr Drug Targets 13 (14):1858–1868
- 59. Yu CC, Lo WL, Chen YW, Huang PI, Hsu HS, Tseng LM, Hung SC, Kao SY, Chang CJ, Chiou SH (2011) Bmi-1 regulates snail expression and promotes metastasis ability in head and neck squamous cancer-derived ALDH1 positive cells. J Oncol 2011:609259

- 60. Li XJ, Ren ZJ, Tang JH (2014) MicroRNA-34a: a potential therapeutic target in human cancer. Cell Death Dis 5(7):e1327
- Wang Y, Kim S, Kim IM (2014) Regulation of metastasis by microRNAs in ovarian cancer. Front Oncol 4:143
- Liu C, Tang DG (2011) MicroRNA regulation of cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 71(18):5950– 5954
- Pencheva N, Tavazoie SF (2013) Control of metastatic progression by microRNA regulatory networks. Nat Cell Biol 15(6):546–554
- 64. Lim YY, Wright JA, Attema JL, Gregory PA, Bert AG, Smith E, Thomas D, Lopez AF, Drew PA, Khew-Goodall Y, Goodall GJ (2013) Epigenetic modulation of the miR-200 family is associated with transition to a breast cancer stem-cell-like state. J Cell Sci 126(10):2256–2266
- Wu M-J, Chen Y-S, Kim MR, Chang C-J (2016) Regulation of epithelial plasticity and cancer stemness via microRNAs. J Mol Genet Med 10:2. ISSN: 1747-0862
- 66. Ju SY, Chiou SH, Su Y (2014) Maintenance of the stemness in CD44+ HCT-15 and HCT-116 human colon cancer cells requires miR-203 suppression. Stem Cell Res 12(1):86–100
- 67. Taube JH, Malouf GG, Lu E, Sphyris N, Vijay V, Ramachandran PP, Ueno KR, Gaur S, Nicoloso MS, Rossi S, Herschkowitz JI (2013) Epigenetic silencing of microRNA-203 is required for EMT and cancer stem cell properties. Sci Rep 3:2687
- 68. Zhang Y, Zhou SY, Yan HZ, Xu DD, Chen HX, Wang XY, Wang X, Liu YT, Zhang L, Wang S, Zhou PJ (2016) miR-203 inhibits proliferation and self-renewal of leukemia stem cells by targeting survivin and Bmi-1. Sci Rep 6(1):1–2
- 69. Yu G, Yao W, Xiao W, Li H, Xu H, Lang B (2014) MicroRNA-34a functions as an antimetastatic microRNA and suppresses angiogenesis in bladder cancer by directly targeting CD44. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 33(1):779
- 70. Kumar B, Yadav A, Lang J, Teknos TN, Kumar P (2012) Dysregulation of microRNA-34a expression in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma promotes tumor growth and tumor angiogenesis. PLoS One 7(5):e37601
- 71. Liu C, Kelnar K, Liu B, Chen X, Calhoun-Davis T, Li H, Patrawala L, Yan H, Jeter C, Honorio S, Wiggins JF, Bader AG, Fagin R, Brown D, Tang DG (2011) The microRNA miR-34a inhibits prostate cancer stem cells and metastasis by directly repressing CD44. Nat Med 17:211–215
- 72. Zhang X, Ai F, Li X, Tian L, Wang X, Shen S, Liu F (2017) MicroRNA^{III}34a suppresses colorectal cancer metastasis by regulating Notch signaling. Oncol Lett 14(2):2325–2333
- Gao Y, Luo LH, Li S, Yang C (2014) miR-17 inhibitor suppressed osteosarcoma tumor growth and metastasis via increasing PTEN expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 444(2):230– 234
- 74. Schubbert S, Jiao J, Ruscetti M, Nakashima J, Wu S, Lei H, Xu Q, Yi W, Zhu H, Wu H (2016) Methods for PTEN in stem cells and cancer stem cells. In: PTEN. Humana Press, New York, pp 233–285
- 75. Jiang Z, Yin J, Fu W, Mo Y, Pan Y, Dai L, Huang H, Li S, Zhao J (2014) MiRNA 17 family regulates cisplatin-resistant and metastasis by targeting TGFbetaR2 in NSCLC. PLoS One 9 (4):e94639
- 76. Ajani JA, Song S, Hochster HS, Steinberg IB (2015) Cancer stem cells: the promise and the potential. In: Seminars in oncology, vol 42. WB Saunders, pp S3–S17
- 77. Zhang J, Xiao Z, Lai D, Sun J, He C, Chu Z, Ye H, Chen S, Wang J (2012) miR-21, miR-17 and miR-19a induced by phosphatase of regenerating liver-3 promote the proliferation and metastasis of colon cancer. Br J Cancer 107(2):352–359
- 78. Gong C, Yang Z, Wu F, Han L, Liu Y, Gong W (2016) miR-17 inhibits ovarian cancer cell peritoneal metastasis by targeting ITGA5 and ITGB1. Oncol Rep 36(4):2177–2183
- 79. Xia H, Cheung WK, Ng SS, Jiang X, Jiang S, Sze J, Leung GK, Lu G, Chan DT, Bian XW, Kung HF (2012) Loss of brain-enriched miR-124 microRNA enhances stem-like traits and invasiveness of glioma cells. J Biol Chem 287(13):9962–9971

- Wei J, Wang F, Kong LY, Xu S, Doucette T, Ferguson SD, Yang Y, McEnery K, Jethwa K, Gjyshi O, Qiao W (2013) MiR-124 inhibits STAT3 signaling to enhance T cell-mediated immune clearance of glioma. Cancer Res 73(13):3913–3926
- 81. Lv XB, Jiao Y, Qing Y, Hu H, Cui X, Lin T, Song E, Yu F (2011) miR-124 suppresses multiple steps of breast cancer metastasis by targeting a cohort of pro-metastatic genes in vitro. Chin J Cancer 30(12):821
- 82. Zhou XU, Qi L, Tong S, Cui YU, Chen J, Huang T, Chen Z, Zu XB (2015) miR-128 downregulation promotes growth and metastasis of bladder cancer cells and involves VEGF-C upregulation. Oncol Lett 10(5):3183–3190
- Zhao X, Wu Y, Lv Z (2015) miR-128 modulates hepatocellular carcinoma by inhibition of ITGA2 and ITGA5 expression. Am J Transl Res 7(9):1564
- 84. Sun X, Li Y, Yu J, Pei H, Luo P, Zhang J (2015) miR-128 modulates chemosensitivity and invasion of prostate cancer cells through targeting ZEB1. Jpn J Clin Oncol 45(5):474–482
- 85. Zeng H, Zhang Z, Dai X, Chen Y, Ye J, Jin Z (2016) Increased expression of microRNA-199b-5p associates with poor prognosis through promoting cell proliferation, invasion and migration abilities of human osteosarcoma. Pathol Oncol Res 22(2):253–260
- 86. Fang C, Zhao Y, Guo B (2013) MiR-199b-5p targets HER2 in breast cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 114(7):1457–1463
- 87. Zhou SJ, Liu FY, Zhang AH, Liang HF, Wang Y, Ma R, Jiang YH, Sun NF (2017) MicroRNA-199b-5p attenuates TGF-β1-induced epithelial–mesenchymal transition in hepatocellular carcinoma. Br J Cancer 117(2):233–244
- Wang Z, Zhang H, Zhang P, Li J, Shan Z, Teng W (2013) Upregulation of miR-2861 and miR-451 expression in papillary thyroid carcinoma with lymph node metastasis. Med Oncol 30 (2):577
- Zhang J, Qin X, Sun Q, Guo H, Wu X, Xie F, Xu Q, Yan M, Liu J, Han Z, Chen W (2015) Transcriptional control of PAX4-regulated miR-144/451 modulates metastasis by suppressing ADAMs expression. Oncogene 34(25):3283–3295
- 90. Zhang F, Huang W, Sheng M, Liu T (2015) MiR-451 inhibits cell growth and invasion by targeting CXCL16 and is associated with prognosis of osteosarcoma patients. Tumor Biol 36 (3):2041–2048
- Huang JY, Zhang K, Chen DQ, Chen J, Feng B, Song H, Chen Y, Zhu Z, Lu L, De W, Wang R (2015) MicroRNA-451: epithelial-mesenchymal transition inhibitor and prognostic biomarker of hepatocelluar carcinoma. Oncotarget 6(21):18613
- 92. Liu G, Xu Z, Hao D (2016) MicroRNA²451 inhibits neuroblastoma proliferation, invasion and migration by targeting macrophage migration inhibitory factor. Mol Med Rep 13(3):2253– 2260
- 93. Yin P, Peng R, Peng H, Yao L, Sun Y, Wen L, Wu T, Zhou J, Zhang Z (2015) MiR-451 suppresses cell proliferation and metastasis in A549 lung cancer cells. Mol Biotechnol 57 (1):1–11
- 94. Lei T, Zhu Y, Jiang C, Wang Y, Fu J, Fan Z, Qin H (2016) MicroRNA-320 was downregulated in non-small cell lung cancer and inhibited cell proliferation, migration and invasion by targeting fatty acid synthase. Mol Med Rep 14(2):1255–1262
- 95. Shi C, Zhang Z (2017) MicroRNA^{III} 320 suppresses cervical cancer cell viability, migration and invasion via directly targeting FOXM1. Oncol Lett 14(3):3809–3816
- Pereira B, Billaud M, Almeida R (2017) RNA-binding proteins in cancer: old players and new actors. Trends Cancer 3(7):506–528
- Denkert C, Koch I, von Keyserlingk N, Noske A, Niesporek S, Dietel M, Weichert W (2006) Expression of the ELAV-like protein HuR in human colon cancer: association with tumor stage and cyclooxygenase-2. Modern Pathol 19(9):1261–1269
- Hong S (2017) RNA binding protein as an emerging therapeutic target for cancer prevention and treatment. J Cancer Prev 22(4):203
- Sureban SM, Ramalingam S, Natarajan G, May R, Subramaniam D, Bishnupuri KS, Morrison AR, Dieckgraefe BK, Brackett DJ, Postier RG, Houchen CW (2008) Translation regulatory

factor RBM3 is a proto-oncogene that prevents mitotic catastrophe. Oncogene 27(33):4544-4556

- 100. Venugopal A, Subramaniam D, Balmaceda J, Roy B, Dixon DA, Umar S, Weir SJ, Anant S (2016) RNA binding protein RBM3 increases β-catenin signaling to increase stem cell characteristics in colorectal cancer cells. Mol Carcinog 55(11):1503–1516
- 101. Hou P, Li L, Chen F, Chen Y, Liu H, Li J, Bai J, Zheng J (2018) PTBP3-mediated regulation of ZEB1 mRNA stability promotes epithelial–mesenchymal transition in breast cancer. Cancer Res 78(2):387–398
- 102. Mukohyama J, Shimono Y, Minami H, Kakeji Y, Suzuki A (2017) Roles of microRNAs and RNA-binding proteins in the regulation of colorectal cancer stem cells. Cancers 9(10):143
- 103. Pastò A, Serafin V, Pilotto G, Lago C, Bellio C, Trusolino L, Bertotti A, Hoey T, Plateroti M, Esposito G, Pinazza M (2014) NOTCH3 signaling regulates MUSASHI-1 expression in metastatic colorectal cancer cells. Cancer Res 74(7):2106–2118
- 104. Shou Z, Jin X, He X, Zhao Z, Chen Y, Ye M, Yao J (2017) Overexpression of Musashi-1 protein is associated with progression and poor prognosis of gastric cancer. Oncol Lett 13 (5):3556–3566
- 105. Kudinov AE, Deneka A, Nikonova AS, Beck TN, Ahn YH, Liu X, Martinez CF, Schultz FA, Reynolds S, Yang DH, Cai KQ (2016) Musashi-2 (MSI2) supports TGF-β signaling and inhibits claudins to promote non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(25):6955–6960
- 106. Codony-Servat J, Rosell R (2015) Cancer stem cells and immunoresistance: clinical implications and solutions. Transl Lung Cancer Res 4(6):689
- 107. Jachetti E, Caputo S, Mazzoleni S, Brambillasca CS, Parigi SM, Grioni M, Piras IS, Restuccia U, Calcinotto A, Freschi M, Bachi A (2015) Tenascin-C protects cancer stem–like cells from immune surveillance by arresting T-cell activation. Cancer Res 75(10):2095–2108
- 108. Kitamura T, Qian BZ, Soong D, Cassetta L, Noy R, Sugano G, Kato Y, Li J, Pollard JW (2015) CCL2-induced chemokine cascade promotes breast cancer metastasis by enhancing retention of metastasis-associated macrophages. J Exp Med 212(7):1043–1059
- 109. Zhao D, Pan C, Sun J, Gilbert C, Drews-Elger K, Azzam DJ, Picon-Ruiz M, Kim M, Ullmer W, El-Ashry D, Creighton CJ (2015) VEGF drives cancer-initiating stem cells through VEGFR-2/Stat3 signaling to upregulate Myc and Sox2. Oncogene 34(24):3107–3119
- 110. Li YL, Zhao H, Ren XB (2016) Relationship of VEGF/VEGFR with immune and cancer cells: staggering or forward? Cancer Biol Med 13(2):206
- 111. Hsu YL, Hung JY, Tsai YM, Tsai EM, Huang MS, Hou MF, Kuo PL (2015) 6-Shogaol, an active constituent of dietary ginger, impairs cancer development and lung metastasis by inhibiting the secretion of CC-chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2) in tumor-associated dendritic cells. J Agric Food Chem 63(6):1730–1738
- 112. Xiang ZL, Zeng ZC, Fan J, Wu WZ, He J, Zeng HY, Tang ZY (2011) A clinicopathological model to predict bone metastasis in hepatocellular carcinoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 137 (12):1791
- 113. Kim SW, Kim HY, Song IC, Jin SA, Lee HJ, Yun HJ, Kim S, Jo DY (2008) Cytoplasmic trapping of CXCR4 in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines. Cancer Res Treat 40(2):53
- 114. Jeng KS, Jeng CJ, Jeng WJ, Chang CF, Sheen I (2017) Role of CXC chemokine ligand 12/ CXC chemokine receptor 4 in the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncol Lett 14 (2):1905–1910
- 115. Geiger P, Mayer B, Wiest I, Schulze S, Jeschke U, Weissenbacher T (2016) Binding of galectin-1 to breast cancer cells MCF7 induces apoptosis and inhibition of proliferation in vitro in a 2D-and 3D-cell culture model. BMC Cancer 16(1):1–9
- 116. Zhou X, Li D, Wang X, Zhang B, Zhu H, Zhao J (2015) Galectin-1 is overexpressed in CD133
 + human lung adenocarcinoma cells and promotes their growth and invasiveness. Oncotarget 6 (5):3111
- 117. Kitamura T, Qian B-Z, Pollard JW (2015) Immune cell promotion of metastasis. Nat Rev Immunol 15(2):73–86

- 118. Syn N, Wang L, Sethi G et al (2016) Exosome-mediated metastasis: from epithelial-mesenchymal transition to escape from immunosurveillance. Trends Pharmacol Sci 37(7):606–617
- 119. Desgrosellier JS, Cheresh DA (2010) Integrins in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Cancer 10(1):9–22
- 120. Peinado H, Alečković M, Lavotshkin S, Matei I, Costa-Silva B, Moreno-Bueno G, Hergueta-Redondo M, Williams C, García-Santos G, Ghajar CM, Nitadori-Hoshino A (2012) Melanoma exosomes educate bone marrow progenitor cells toward a pro-metastatic phenotype through MET. Nat Med 18(6):883–891
- 121. Parfejevs V, Sagini K, Buss A, Sobolevska K, Llorente A, Riekstina U, Abols A (2020) Adult stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in cancer treatment: opportunities and challenges. Cells 9(5):1171
- 122. Hannafon BN, Ding WQ (2015) Cancer stem cells and exosome signaling. Stem Cell Invest 2:11
- 123. O'Brien K, Rani S, Corcoran C, Wallace R, Hughes L, Friel AM, McDonnell S, Crown J, Radomski MW, O'Driscoll L (2013) Exosomes from triple-negative breast cancer cells can transfer phenotypic traits representing their cells of origin to secondary cells. Eur J Cancer 49 (8):1845–1859
- 124. Lowry MC, Gallagher WM, O'Driscoll L (2015) The role of exosomes in breast cancer. Clin Chem 61(12):1457–1465



13

Functionality of Intron-Specific Genes and Cancer Stem Cells in the Progression of Colorectal Cancer

Janani Gopi, Madhumala Gopinath, Xiao-Feng Sun, Surajit Pathak, and Antara Banerjee

Abstract

This review article deals with comprehensive information about the evolutionary history of introns with their localization and functions in the gene transcripts of colorectal cancer precisely. In this way, the major breakthrough in the molecular biology discipline was the discovery of introns by Richard Robert and Phil Sharp in 1977. Firstly, noncoding regions are recognized by various assortments of regulatory ncRNA sequences such as circular RNA, telomere-associated RNA, small nuclear RNA, Piwi-interacting RNA, small interfering RNA, small nucleolar RNA, microRNA, and long noncoding RNA. Fortunately, splicing process of mRNA strand deals with the excision of introns via spliceosomal proteins into mature mRNA which is witnessed only in eukaryotic organisms and devoid of the splicing machinery components in the prokaryotic organisms. The major focal point relies on intronic genes mainly involved in the progression of colorectal cancer with preliminary information. An alternative splicing process takes place in mRNA that implicates in intron retention leading to varied gene expression in cells and tissues and their promotion in colorectal cancer. Therefore, colorectal cancer-associated diseases have paved the way to know more about the intronic genes mainly concentrated among them in the progression of the related diseases. Hence, the focus of the researchers is toward the fascinating cellular and molecu-

X.-F. Sun

e-mail: xiao-feng.sun@liu.se

J. Gopi · M. Gopinath · S. Pathak (🖂) · A. Banerjee

Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Chettinad Academy of Research and Education, Chettinad Hospital and Research Institute (CHRI), Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: drsurajitpathak@chettinadhealthcity.com

Department of Oncology and Biomedical and Clinical Sciences, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer*

S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_13

lar biology aspects of the regulatory intronic sequences known to enhance as well as repress particular gene expression in tumor microenvironment of colorectal cancer by analyzing the genome and proteome levels for the betterment of human kind that is intended for various therapeutic purposes.

Keywords

Introns (noncoding sequences) \cdot mRNA \cdot Spliceosomal proteins \cdot Alternate splicing process \cdot Intron retention \cdot Colorectal cancer

13.1 Introduction

Eukaryotic genome consists of DNA sequences which are transcribed into pre-mRNA, which is exemplified by the organization of intron-exon structure and endures posttranscriptional and posttranslational process to produce a desired protein. Consequently, intervened introns are excised among the adjoining exons, to form the pre-mRNA [1]. In particular, the coding regions specifically undergo translation, while in the noncoding regions, introns also undergo the translation process but the protein produced is acclaimed to be regulated in various splicing processes which in turn advance varied gene expression and cancer development [2]. Introns appear to influence any phase of mRNA maturation together with such as mRNA stability, transcription process nuclear transport, and polyadenylation. Splicing introns imply an expurgation of spliceosomal introns from the genome where the spliceosome consists of five snRNAs and more than 150 proteins which are coded by intron-bearing genomes itself. The transcription of lengthy introns persists up to several hours as the elongation time is found to be 60 bases for every second facilitated with the help of RNA polymerase [3]. Therefore, the host of cis-regulatory facet assists in the identification of splicing joint by the spliceosome. As a consequence, intrusion of normal splicing pattern paves the way to more than half of the genetic disorders in humans (Table 13.1).

Origin of introns	Role of introns	Intronic effects
Genomic site	Genome organization,	Sequence site and
Transcription site	Time impediment	Length
	Control of transprintion	Sulicing accurate
Splicing site	Alternate splicing	Splicing, sequence
Excision site	Articulation of non-coding RNAs	Splicing, sequence
Exon junction complex- anchorage	Non sense intervened decay	Splicing, sequence
transcript site	Nuclear export	
	Translation yield	

 Table 13.1
 Life span of introns in five different phases

13.1.1 Elucidation of Intron Evolution

The preponderance of the existing intron-rich mammals is elevated in contrast to the preceding eukaryotic ancestors populated with introns. As a result, when the intron is excised from the gene, it turns out to be an element of post-splicing complexes that follow de-branching and destruction. Therefore, the RNA gene is entrenched within the intron; its expression is witnessed on the intron exclusion and outlasts its intronic mass (Fig. 13.1). Functional consequence of an intron might be compatible with the point of conservation of intron position. Excision of intron exon structure indicates sequence construction of orthologous genes which helps in the assessment of intron position (Fig. 13.2). Such constructions reveal the intron position is at times preserved throughout the long evolutionary times in orthologous genes [1].

The eukaryotic hierarchy reveals an array of intron concentration (Fig. 13.3). An investigation of intron mass and eukaryote phylogeny illustrates that it is not always the instance that early division eukaryotes are intron deprived and that late division eukaryotes are luxuriant intron. Analysis of eukaryotic genome aids in empathizing the intron gain or loss. During evolution, the locations of definite introns are preserved between extremely divergent and vibrant among eukaryotes [2] (Fig. 13.4).

Consequently, the life expectancy of an intron is of five stages which independently allude to the capacities that are related with each phase. Diverse functional antisense elements arise from intronic regions and are considered as intron-hosted RNA genes that are triggered during transcription process and are also required for alternative splicing (Fig. 13.5) [3].

13.1.2 Different Classes of Introns Residing in Prokaryotes and Eukaryotes

Spliceosomal introns, group I self-splicing intron, group II self-splicing introns, and tRNA introns are categorized as the four main arrays of introns to be inherent in pre-nuclear mRNA. Moreover, the intronic form is discrete due to its construction and phylogenetic dispersal [4, 5] (Table 13.2).





Fig. 13.3 The hierarchy of the origin of introns. (a) Early theory of introns. (b) Late theory of introns (LUCA, last universal common ancestor)



Fig. 13.4 Various types of intronic functions

13.1.3 Noncoding RNAs in Eukaryotes

In human beings, approximately 25,000 genes are recognized which effectively transcribe into mature RNA, where it is comprised of 20% coding (exons) and 80% noncoding (introns) sequences. Consequently, the genome contains greater



Fig. 13.5 Dynamic aspects of gain and loss of introns

Spliceosomal introns	Group I introns	Group II self-splicing introns	tRNA introns
• Splicesomal are mostly expounded in eukaryotes	• Group I introns are present in nuclear or mitochondrial genome in eukaryotes	• Group II introns impart in bacteria as well as in chloroplast or mitochondrial genome	• tRNA introns generally reside in nuclear genome of eukaryotes and also in archael genome
• Therefore, the contrivance of splicing process involve an expurgation of introns by intricate ribonucleproteins such as U1, U2, U3, U4, U5 and U6 of small RNAs	• They have a distictive splicing process enhanced by an exogenic guanosine as a cofactor	• An intron coded protein assist in the self-splicing process which also have reverse transcriptase enzyme which transcribes group II introns into DNA, ultimately producing transposons	• They are really diminutive introns, where the splicing process is organized by protein enzymes

 Table 13.2
 Differential kind of introns in prokaryotes and eukaryotes

part of noncoding sequences also known as "junk DNA." The major focal point is on functional noncoding RNAs which are generated in a small percentage which is an assorted regulatory biological mechanism, for instance, like gene expression, propagation, differentiation and senescence of cell, and epigenetic modification along with other cellular processes which lead to numerous diseases by the dysregulation of human genome [6].

13.1.4 Description of Different Types of Regulatory ncRNA

• MicroRNAs (miRNAs)

MicroRNA is a lavish group of small noncoding RNAs which do not encode for protein synthesis. They have a significant task as a tumor suppressor or an oncogene which is misled by mutations and abnormal gene expression. Thus, the microRNA modification will prompt the development of various types of cancer [7].

- *Circular RNA (ciRNA)* Circular RNA is a sort of contended endogenous RNA in the lineage of long noncoding RNAs which is known to be stable in eukaryotic cell. ciRNA has diverse functionalities such as the capacity of reorganizing the genomic sequences, fortification against exonuclease at the 3' poly(A) tail, and also an epigenetic regulator [7].
- Long noncoding RNA (lncRNA)

Resistance of colorectal cancer to chemotherapy is due to the encoding long noncoding RNA which restrains the cell multiplication, differentiation, programmed cell death, and metastasis [8]. Some of the colorectal cancer-associated long noncoding RNAs influence the gene expression by epigenetic alteration that necessitates DNA methylation, histone scaffolding, chromosomal instability, and pseudogenes appropriately (Fig. 13.6).



Fig. 13.6 Classification of noncoding RNAs

13.1.5 Functional Characteristic of Noncoding Sequences in Cancer

Tumor is an unrestrained proliferation of cells residing in a tumor microenvironment of a specific tissue site triggered by the dysregulation of the signaling mechanism by the "oncogene" or "tumor suppressor gene" appropriately. Consequently, it advances in their abnormal gene expression, cell growth, protein profiles, differentiation, and epigenetic modulation, and very few instances may be due to familial inherited gene in their germ line. Genome-correlated analysis in cancer divulges in the fact that nearly 75–85% of cancer-linked single-nucleotide polymorphisms transpire in the regulatory noncoding sequences such as intergenic or intronic regions [9] (Fig. 13.7).

13.2 Colorectal Cancer and Associated Factors

Colorectal cancer is the third most prevalent disease affecting both the genders worldwide which is mostly predominant in men with >50 years of age in Western countries while found in minor incidence in India. The dynamic power of tumorigenesis is due to the chromosomal mutations and epigenetic modifications, which either activate oncogenes or cease the task of tumor suppressor genes, which subsequently progress in the development of cancer from neoplasia to metastasis. Initial genetic changes start in an early adenoma and accumulate as it transforms to carcinoma and ultimately to invasive and metastatic tumor. So, the molecular pathogenesis of colorectal cancer includes the familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and Lynch syndrome and hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) (Fig. 13.8).



Fig. 13.7 Single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) existing in the genome dispersal (%) of a range of cancers. It is revealed to be widely encoded by the noncoding sequences (intergenic, intronic) and minority of them by the coding sequences



13.3 Genetic Background of the Colorectal Cancer-Associated Diseases

13.3.1 Adenomatous Polyposis Colon Cancer

Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) is recognized to be a tumor suppressor protein concealed by the APC gene which is endowed as the pioneer gene transformed in sporadic and inherited colon cancer. The APC gene is frequently mutated by either frameshift or nonsense mutation generating a misfolded protein which leads to various syndromes related to colorectal cancer. Normally, the cell cycle checkpoints involve G1/S (start or restriction point) and G2/M checkpoint, and spindle checkpoints are the barricade which is known to regulate cell cycle appropriately without any errors. If the mutational sequences are replicated and synthesized, it will advance in various genetic diseases. In adenomatous polyposis colon cancer, the alteration from G1 to S phase cell cycle is obstructed by the tumor suppressor gene, i.e., APC gene. Subsequently, the Gardner syndrome, familial adenomatous polyposis are the APC-related polyposis conditions in colorectal cancer. Wnt signaling and β -catenin pathway take part in the colorectal tumorigenesis of sporadic and familial colorectal cancer (Fig. 13.9).

13.3.2 Lynch Syndrome

Lynch syndrome is also known as "hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer" which is transmitted by germline mutations through microsatellite instability and mismatch repair pathways in colorectal cancer. MLH1, MSH2, MSH6, and PMS2 are the most frequently mutated genes in case of mismatch repair pathway which is known to be the diagnostic marker in colorectal cancer [10]. Therefore, deficit of DNA in mismatch repair activity acts as an indicator of microsatellite instability. Consequently, the preponderance of mismatch repair deficiency in sporadic colorectal cancer is suitable to the epigenetic silencing of MLH1 gene expression that is induced by overmethylation of the promoter [11] (Fig. 13.10).



Fig. 13.9 Pathological interpretation of colon cancer tissue prototype

Pictographic differentiation between splicing and alternative splicing process



Fig. 13.10 Properties of introns

13.3.3 Intron Retention

Alternative splicing is described as an arbitrary splicing of the introns from premature mRNA which eventually affects the multiple exon genes in humans. Intron retention, alternative 5' or 3' control, and exonic regions are the three major divisions of alternate splicing. Among the three divisions mentioned above, intron retention plays an intense role in causing cancer of various types. Intron retention is characterized as the conservation of introns in the coding vicinity or flanked by the introns in the untranslated region which directs the way to mis-splicing of mature



Fig. 13.11 Role of intron-sustained transcripts. (a) Downgrading the gene expression through eliciting the nonsense-intervened decay. (b) Intron-preserving transcripts might endure deprivation in the nucleus as a result of inhibiting the transport of mRNA which in turn obstructs the translation process. (c) Creation of new isoforms along with precise biological act

RNA during the transcription process which ultimately end results in the origination of destructive proteins during the translation process [6]. Thus, the generation of detrimental proteins may lead to an assorted gene expression which roots the basis of various genetic diseases. Therefore, the translation process is inhibited by the contrivance of nonsense-intervened decay or exosome deprivation which facilitates in the excision of introns [12]. Transcripts containing introns often contain the premature termination codons which instigate the nonsense-intervened decay (Fig. 13.11). In general, the nonsense-intervened decay disintegrates the transcripts retaining introns with a premature termination codon which is situated in greater than 50–55 nucleotides upstream of an exon to exon junction [13]. Finally, the plausibility of intron retention can be influenced by different factors such as GC content, expression of splicing factor, extent of introns, alteration of chromatin structure or nucleosome packing, and potency of splice site [14].

13.3.4 Intron Retention Performs a Crucial Role in Gene Expression

Our main focus is on intron retention where the noncoding genes are retained within the coding regions of the gene due to the alternative excision process. Theoretically, an alternative splicing process of exonic genes is known to widely influence the human population. During the transcription process, the pre-mRNA consists of 5'



capping, 3' poly(A) tail with interspersed exons and introns appropriately (Fig. 13.12) [15].

The captivating information about the major and minor compounds contributing to the excision process of heteronuclear RNA encompassing the dominant complex which adds to their role in nucleus, whereas, the less significant complex acts on the division of introns with lower incidence in the multicellular genomes [16]. Thus, the coding regions undergo the translation process generating a functional protein [15]. However, in alternative splicing process, the exon-exon junction complex with up frameshift proteins such as UP-1, UP-2, and UP-3 are bound to the mRNA which proceeds to the protein synthesis. In the translation process, the premature stop codons which are situated prior the termination site lead to the preservation of introns in the coding sequences which advance in the unexpected production of silencing or harmful detrimental proteins without a specific function. In general, the premature stop codons are situated in upstream of greater than 55 nucleotides in the mRNA transcript which eventually signals the nonsenseintervened decay process to activate and undergo the necessary degradation process. So, to circumvent the initiation of such forms of unknown proteins are conceded to promote the deprivation of the transcripts via nonsense-mediated decay. The nonsense-mediated decay process disintegrates the proteins which are accumulated in the processing bodies organized in the cytoplasm of a cell. Thus, the intron retention in gene expression results in varied roles in cell cycle, cell differentiation, cancer, and even genetic disorders. Consequently, our focal point will be on the intron-retaining genes extensively present in colorectal cancer to assess their diverse properties of noncoding RNAs which may be the long noncoding RNA, small interfering RNA, and various other types of noncoding RNAs. The preservation of intronic transcripts in the mature RNA is identified to cause latent destructive end product, if it undergoes translation. According to the literature analysis, intron retention is known to be associated with progression of tumor such as the instigation of oncogene besides reconciling the tumor suppressor gene. So, the profusion of mature RNA comprising the introns residing in tumor cells is recognized to enhance multiplicity of tumor transcriptomes [17]. Abnormal excision of the noncoding regions from the mRNA leads to limited or complete preservation of the introns. Fortunately, the final intron is prone to restrain the normal as well as cancer tissues and also cause disease by the point mutation in the nucleotide sequence. The molecular level of the chromatin packing of the DNA involves the nucleosome which is compactly packed in two forms such as euchromatin and heterochromatin in which the intron retention has a crucial role in influencing the histone variation, nucleosome compaction, as well as the chromatin modifications at the gene promoter level expressing a range of tumor development with distorted gene expression in their tumor microenvironment. At this point, we will discuss about "mirtron" discerned to arise from the microRNA known to be refined in the introns during the splicing process that creates a loop which is self-regulated and devoid of the microprocessor that is exported to the cytosol of the cell [13]. Frequently, retaining the noncoding sequences within the mRNA constituent and cleaving in the cytoplasm are certain alterations in the transcriptional level advancing in the cellular multiplicity of eukaryotic cells mainly human cells [16].

13.3.5 Noncoding RNA Genes [Human]

• *H19 (nonprotein coding)*

H19 gene is found to explicit from the maternally inherited chromosome situated in p-arm (15.5) of the chromosome 11. Therefore, the consequence of the gene is the lengthy noncoding RNA which performs as a tumor repression. So, eventually the mutation in this gene will lead to diverse genetic disorders.

 MIR137 microRNA 137 (1p21.3), MIR126 microRNA 126 (9q34.3), MIR33A microRNA 33a (22q13.2), MIR335 microRNA 335 (7q32.2), MIR33B microRNA 33b (17p11.2), and MIR21 microRNA 21 (17q23.1)

In multicellular organisms, miRNAs are short about 20–24 nucleotides ncRNAs transcribed by RNA polymerase II which can end result as noncoding or protein coding which affects the transcriptional control. Then, the initial transcript is spliced by the Drosha ribonuclease III enzyme to generate a prototype miRNA, which in turn is further excised by cytoplasmic Dicer ribonuclease to produce mature miRNA and antisense miRNA star products. Translational reticence or destability of the mature mRNA is due to the improper base pairing with miRNA which is eventually conceded by the RNA-provoked silencing complex.

• *CDKN2B-AS1 (antisense RNA 1)* This gene is imprinted in the p-arm (21.3) of chromosome 9 which resides within the gene cluster. Epigenetic silencing of the neighboring genes in the cluster is due to the interaction of polycomb suppressive complex-1 and complex-2 with the functional RNA molecule. Some of the alternatively processed transcript variants have been perceived in the form of circular RNA molecule. This gene seizes the prime locus for various disease abnormalities such as endometriosis, intracranial aneurysm, glaucoma, periodontitis, type-2 diabetes, cancer, and Alzheimer's disease.

- *KCNQ10T1 (antisense transcript 1)* KCNQ10T1 gene is situated in p-arm (15.5) of chromosome 11 which is a nonprotein coding gene specifically expressed in maternally or paternally inherited chromosomes which enclose two clusters of epigenetically controlling genes. This gene is regulated by functionally imprinted control region present in the intron of KCNQ1, and the DNA is known to be unmethylated in maternally derived chromosomes. KCNQ10T1 transcript is the antisense to the KCNQ1 gene which is an uncleaved lengthy ncRNA found to interrelate with chromatin affected by epigenetic alteration. The transcript plays a key role in colorectal carcinogenesis.
- *CCAT 1 and CCAT 2 (colon cancer-associated transcript 1 and 2)* CCAT gene is situated in the q-arm of chromosome 8 (24.21) which generates a long noncoding RNA gene to facilitate the tumor progression such as cell propagation, differentiation, invasion, and metastasis. It is known to be highly regulated in colon cancer which interrelates with myc oncoprotein and controls metabolism in an allele-specific manner.

Introns play a vital role in the gene expression of proteins which are translated from the intron retention segment of the messenger RNA. The alternative splicing process comes into picture with a varied multiplicity of proteins generated that alters the gene expression in eukaryotes. Thus, the crucial alternative excision process occurs in the nucleus of the eukaryotic cell with post translational variation such as methylation, sumoylation, and phosphorylation which influence the splicing mechanism appropriately. The splicing machinery affects the tumor microenvironment such as proliferation, differentiation, invasion, and metastasis of a cancer by affecting the mutations in the regulatory site. Therefore, the majority of the human genes is affected by the alternative splicing process [18]. MicroRNAs are derived from the intronic regions of the genes which are protein encoded in *Homo sapiens*, through the analysis of the genome populated with complete intron-coded genes comprised of 22–45% approximately. A phylogenetic conservation of miRNA may provide an additional advantage to the assimilation into transcriptional systems [19]. Currently, the genome-wide analysis studies gives the entire information about the gene loci, location, region, traits, disease probability, and other functional classes such as single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs) [20] evaluated through genotyping of wide populace. Unpredictably, the significant genome-wide analysis study of the SNPs and haplotypes is mostly resided in the noncoding regions impeding their functions during the molecular processes [21]. The cleavage of introns from the messenger RNA that in turn modifies the open reading frame (ORF) as well as the protein production. RNA sequencing analysis which utilizes the conserved introns, and predicting their gene structure and the intron prediction algorithms eliminate the introns with <50 nucleotides and STAR aligner that overcomes the RNA sequencing analysis by recognizing very short introns in the mRNA sequences [22]. Various literature reviews have suggested that intron retention mechanism paves an extensive evolutionary conservation of the homologous and heterologous genome diversity. They aid in regulating the genome multiplicity by assisting the species predilection through the epigenetic modification [23]. Therefore, the splicing process is in particular assessed by the kinetics phenomenon, which senses the polymerase activity as well as the length of introns that may be short or long [24]. The current progression of high-throughput transcriptome method emphasizes the persistent disposition of the human genome to transcription process that divulges the nonprotein encoding genes with their functional transcripts with the aim of genome intricacy. Hence, an efficient transcription unit might produce numerous molecules consisting of regulatory noncoding RNA; proteins rely upon the requirement of a cell according to their external factors [25]. Ultimately, the variation in the expression of specific noncoding RNAs engaged in the stemness of colorectal cancer by employing miRNAs serves as a new tool to reverse the cancer stem cell phenotype and overcome the therapy resistance significantly.

13.4 Cancer Stem Cells

Initially, the cancer stem cells are derived from progenitor or differentiated cells which are usually known to reside in the inner recesses of a tumor mass that holds the capability of self-renewal as well as a diverse family of cancer cells. There are specific surface markers that typically distinguish cancer stem cells that are isolated from various solid tumors including the colon. The two hypotheses of cancer stem cells are the mutations of the oncogene that build up within the adult cells or embryonic stem cells leading to an uncontrolled multiplication of cells, and the other one is the cellular dedifferentiation into a stem cell-like state [26]. Cancer stem cells are of two subdivisions, namely, stationary cancer stem cells and mobile cancer stem cells. The stationary cancer stem cells reside in the epithelial tissues which are active in tumor mass proliferation and cannot disseminate to other distant sites, and the mobile cancer stem cells divide indefinitely that leads to the metastasis of cancer to other parts of the body. It has been suggested that the colon cancer stem express CD44 and CD166. CD133 and epithelial-specific antigen surface marker characteristics of CSCs/CSLCs are their ability to invade and metastasize by acquiring epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) phenotype, which can be determined by analyzing the expression of E-cadherin and vimentin representing Wnt effectors and notch signals. Most of the human malignancies emerge from tissues that contain an active population of stem cells. The stem cells are increasingly recognized as the focus of cancer-causing events, since both genetic and epigenetic alterations may lead to carcinogenesis processes [27]. This is primarily due to the tumor bursting through the intestinal wall and spreading through the lymph nodes and systemically through the bloodstream to distant organs. The colon's luminal surface consists of one single layer of columnar epithelial cells that are folded into the lumen to form finger-like protrusions. The spaces between those folds are known as Lieberkuhn's crypts, the intestine's functional network. There are four distinct cell lineages in the colonic epithelium: enterocytes, goblet cells, endocrine cells, and Paneth cells. The small undifferentiated cells such as the crypt base columnar cells are known to hold the intestinal stem cells that are found to upsurge to the epithelial lineage. The stem cells have the potential of asymmetrical division which arises to give similar daughter cells as well as the transit amplifying cells that multiply and single out into goblet cells, endocrine cells, and enterocyte in the course of upward movement through the crypt. Here comes the Paneth cell which maintains the microenvironment of stem cell by the release of mucosal defense barriers that change the intestinal microflora through the growth factors and regulatory molecules.

13.4.1 Exacerbation of Cancer Stem Cells in Conjunction with Intronic Genes During the Development of Colorectal Cancer

Cancer stem cells have a distinct microenvironment encompassing the inclination of oxygen levels, chemokines receptors, cyclooxygenase, cytokines, molecules, and growth factors enhancing in the progression of colorectal cancer. Pro-cancer stem cell cytokines such as hepatocyte growth factor, prostaglandin E2, bone morphogenetic protein, and tumor niche-generating interleukins are found to be intensified in the cancer stem cell assembly. The major organ involved in the metastasis of colorectal cancer is the liver and also the growth factor such as chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4). Stromal-derived factor 1 is chiefly articulated in the liver assisting in the transit of circulating CXCR4 colorectal cancer cells [28]. Wnt, Sonic hedgehog, bone morphogenetic protein (BMP), β-catenin, tumor growth factor-beta (TGF-β), and notch are the major signaling pathways engaged in the homeostasis of colorectal cancer stem cells precisely. Some of the cellular processes such as proliferation, differentiation, migration, and cell death majorly rely on the homeostatic selfrenewal of the intestine which ultimately depends on the evolutionarily conserved signaling pathway [29]. Eventually, the microRNAs control several cancer processes like transformation, tumor cell duplication, epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), invasion, and metastasis which are mainly involved in the inhibition of gene expression in pathways that regulate cell processes, for instance, cell cycle, apoptosis, and miRNA migration. Intronic gene such as mir-21 is found to be overexpressed nearly in all malignancies such as breast cancer, glioblastoma, colorectal cancer, lung cancer, pancreatic cancer, and leukemia. In due course, pluripotency and differentiation are known to be through the alteration of stem cells through microRNA [30].

13.5 Future Direction

This chapter encompasses on the intronic genes mainly involved in the progression of colorectal cancer with preliminary information. Researchers turned their focal point toward the mammalian cell and determined that the noncoding sequences (junk DNAs) are known to perform a key role in the development of cancer. Then, the alternative splicing process takes place in the messenger RNA strand that implicates in the retention of introns leading to a varied gene expression as well as promotion in colorectal cancer. So, the intron retention is known by sensing the premature termination codons in the mRNA strand and triggers the nonsense-mediated decay process appropriately. Therefore, colorectal cancer-associated diseases such as the adenomatous polyposis colorectal cancer and Lynch syndrome have paved the way to know more about the genes and what are all the intronic genes mainly concentrated among them in the development of colorectal cancer. As a result, the concentration of the protein output and gene expression is known to be influenced by the intron retention.

Intron retention \uparrow	Protein output \downarrow
Gene expression ↑	Intron retention \downarrow

Thus, the noncoding regions in the genome can be predicted by RNA sequencing method and interpreting the obtained results from the normal to the diseased form focusing on colorectal cancer. They can also knock down the associated intronic genes in the tumor microenvironment of colorectal cancer which may be beneficial in the tumor proliferation and differentiation. Recent advancement has hypothesized that conjunction of intronic gene with cancer stem cells is known to be progressed in the colorectal cancer precisely. Ultimately, the current circumstances of research fields are accomplished to work with the intriguing noncoding sequences engaged to play a crucial role at certain neoplastic transformation in the normal microflora of the colorectal by analyzing the domino effect of the intronic genes in the molecular phase precisely.

Acknowledgments The authors are thankful to *Science and Engineering Research Board (SERB)* (*EMR/2017/001877*) for providing the Core Research Grant to *Prof. Surajit Pathak* and Chettinad Academy of Research and Education for the research support.

References

- 1. Chorev M, Carmel L (2012) The function of introns. Front Genet 3:55
- Niu D-K, Yang Y-F (2011) Why eukaryotic cells use introns to enhance gene expression: splicing reduces transcription associated mutagenesis by inhibiting topoisomerase I cutting activity. Biol Direct 6:24
- 3. Jeffares DC, Mourier T, Penny D (2006) The biology of intron gain and loss. Trends Genet 22 (1):16–22
- 4. Haugen P, Simon DM, Bhattacharya D (2005) The natural history of group I introns. Trends Genet 21(2):111–119
- 5. Irimia M, Roy SW (2014) Origin of spliceosomal introns and alternative splicing. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 6(6):a016071
- 6. Middleton R, Gao D, Thomas A et al (2017) Irfinder: assessing the impact of intron retention on mammalian gene expression. Genome Biol 18(1):51

- 7. Esquela-Kerscher A, Slack FJ (2006) Oncomirs microRNAs with a role in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 6(4):259–269
- Lizarbe MA, Fernández-Lizarbe S, Calle-Espinosa J et al (2017) Colorectal cancer: from the genetic model to posttranscriptional regulation by noncoding RNAs. Hindawi Biomed Res Int 2017:7354260
- Cheetham SW, Gruhl F, Mattick JS, Dinger ME (2013) Long noncoding rnas and the genetics of cancer. Br J Cancer 108:2419–2425
- Alhopuro P, Sammalkorpi H et al (2011) Candidate driver genes in microsatellite-unstable colorectal cancer. Int J Cancer 130(7):1558–1566
- 11. Sameer AS (2013) Colorectal cancer: molecular mutations and polymorphisms. Front Oncol 3:114
- 12. Jung H, Lee D, Lee J et al (2015) Intron retention is a widespread mechanism of tumorsuppressor inactivation. Nat Genet 47(11):1242–1248
- Dvinge H, Bradley RK (2015) Widespread intron retention diversifies most cancer transcriptomes. Genome Med 7:45
- 14. Wong JJ-L, Au AYM et al (2015) Intron retention in mRNA: no longer nonsense. Bioessays 38:41–49
- Fang X et al (2016) SNORD126 promotes HCC and CRC cell growth by activating the PI3K-AKT pathway through FGFR2. J Mol Cell Biol Adv 9(3):243–255
- 16. Wong JJ-L et al (2015) Intron retention in mRNA: no longer nonsense. Bioessays 38:41-49
- 17. Middleton R et al (2017) IRFinder: assessing the impact of intron retention on mammalian gene expression. Genome Biol 18:51
- Buckley PT (2014) Cytoplasmic intron retention, function, splicing, and the sentinel RNA hypothesis. WIREs RNA 5:223–230
- Martinez-Montiel N et al (2018) Alternative splicing as a target for cancer treatment. Int J Mol Sci 19:545
- 20. Steiman-Shimony A et al (2018) Assessing the functional association of intronic mirnas with their host genes. RNA 24:991–1004
- 21. Abebrese EL et al (2017) Identification of human short introns. PLoS One 12(5):e0175393
- 22. Rohlin A et al (2017) Expanding the genotype–phenotype spectrum in hereditary colorectal cancer by gene panel testing. Fam Cancer 16:195–203
- 23. Hube F et al (2017) Short intron-derived ncRNAs. Nucleic Acids Res 45(8):4768-4781
- 24. Schmitz U et al (2017) Intron retention enhances gene regulatory complexity in vertebrates. Genome Biol 18:216
- 25. Bartonicek N et al (2017) Intergenic disease-associated regions are abundant in novel transcripts. Genome Biol 18:241
- 26. Roy S et al (2012) Cancer stem cells in colorectal cancer: genetic and epigenetic changes. J Stem Cell Res Ther 7(Suppl 6):10342
- 27. Kim SW et al (2017) Widespread intra-dependencies in the removal of introns from human transcripts. Nucleic Acids Res 45(16):9503–9513
- 28. Munro MJ et al (2017) Cancer stem cells in colorectal cancer: a review. J Clin Pathol 71 (2):110–116
- 29. Huang T et al (2013) Noncoding RNAs in cancer and cancer stem cells. Chin J Cancer 32:582–593
- 30. Zhou Y et al (2018) Cancer stem cells in progression of colorectal cancer. Oncotarget 9 (70):33403-33415



Technological Advancement in Cancer Stem 14 Cell Research

Tanu Sharma and Chandi C. Mandal

Abstract

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) display a significant role in cancer research, evidenced from past decade studies. Although, with the passage of time, effective cancer therapy has been developed, still up to now, cancer possesses the second highest mortality worldwide. The only defined characteristic for every therapy failure is the presence of cells with self-renewable capacity known as cancer stem cells in the heterogeneous population of tumor. These CSCs provide a tumor resistance against various therapies like chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Thus, to prolong survival time period of cancer patients, it is prerequisite to eliminate CSC population. Thus, to develop novel effective therapeutics against primary tumors, isolation and characterization of CSCs will provide a novel insight to develop cancer therapeutics. Thus, various in vitro and in vivo approaches have been developed to isolate and target CSCs. In this chapter, we will discuss about how researchers have developed various powerful tools to characterize CSCs to develop better therapeutics to target CSCs and thus cancer and also how technology has sprung up to generate advanced preclinical models of human tumors.

Keywords:

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) · Spheroids · Organoids

T. Sharma · C. C. Mandal (⊠) Department of Biochemistry, Central University of Rajasthan, Ajmer, Rajasthan, India

 $[\]bigcirc$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_14



Fig. 14.1 Models for tumor cell proliferation. (a) Stochastic model: this model proposes that every cell has the potential to proliferate and behaves as stem cells. (b) Cancer stem model: according to this model, only subset of cell has the self-renewable capacity which can generate whole tumor. This distinct subpopulation of cells is known as cancer stem cells

14.1 Introduction

Despite advancement in intensive experimental approaches and progress in cancer treatment, cancer still causes the second highest death [1]. A deep insight into the mechanism of development of carcinogenesis has caused a drift toward cancer research and treatment. Previously, much attention has been paid on genetic and biochemical mechanisms that induce drug resistance. Prevailing theories have reported that tumor is not a mass of homogeneous malignant cells albeit, composed of heterogeneous population of cells. It has been well established that during carcinogenesis, treatment failure primarily occurs due to intratumoral heterogeneity. A subpopulation of cells present within a tumor is responsible for the genesis of resistance against chemotherapy and radiotherapy and the roots of tumor relapse. These minor populations of cells are known as cancer stem cells (CSCs) and can repopulate after therapies causing tumor recurrence [2].

Tumor progression has been well explained by two models, the stochastic model (Fig. 14.1a) and cancer stem cell model (Fig. 14.1b). The stochastic model is known as clonal evolution model. According to the stochastic model, all cells of the tumor possess carcinogenic potential with uncontrolled proliferation potency, and therapeutic treatment requires targeting of all tumorous cells [3, 4]. The cancer stem cell model states that tumor is originated from a stem cell with self-renewable capacity, possessing resistance to chemotherapy and radiotherapy [5]. These subpopulations of tumor are known as cancer stem cells (CSCs) due to their ability to drive whole tumor, and these cells cause tumor recurrence [5]. CSCs are involved in tumor initiation, progression, maintenance, development of metastasis, and

reappearance. Thus, specifically targeting and eliminating CSCs population from tumor could be an effective treatment strategy that can pause tumor relapse and can be sustained as a long-lasting treatment [5].

14.2 Cancer Stem Cell Models

Various tumor biology questions can be answered by studying CSCs. CSCs in a tumor population can be defined as those cells which have potential of self-renewal and are multipotent. Identification and quantification of cancer stem cells like cells can be done by either by in vitro or in vivo assays.

14.3 In Vivo Assays

14.3.1 Xenotransplantation Assay

14.3.1.1 Severe Combined Immunodeficient (SCID) Mice

Immunocompromised mice have been widely used to study CSCs. SCID mice model was first explored for the development of "leukemic stem cells (LSCs)" to study acute myeloid leukemia (AML). During acute myeloid leukemia, cells are restricted with low proliferation capacity, indicating that leukemic clones are maintained by rare population of stem cells [6]. Lapidot et al. [6], used SCID mice model and engrafted different population of cells expressing CD34⁺ CD38⁻, CD34⁺ CD38⁺, resulting in the development of leukemia by cells expressing CD34⁺ CD38⁻ only. It was also observed that 1 in 2.5×10^6 cells had the potential to generate leukemic graft [1, 6]. This study provided an evidence that not all the AML cells had potency for tumor formation, but the limitation of using SCID mice was that the frequency of isolated LSCs was very low.

14.3.1.2 Nonobese Diabetic, Severe Combined Immunodeficient (NOD/SCID) Mice

Human malignant melanoma was studied using NOD/SCID mice model which is more immunocompromised than SCID mice model [7]. Xenotransplantation of human melanoma cells in NOD/SCID mice resulted in identification of only one tumorigenic cell out of million cells [7]. Researchers also observed that most cancers had less than 0.1% of tumorigenic cells when transplanted in NOD/SCID mice [7, 8]. It was questioned whether NOD/SCID assays poorly estimate the frequency of tumor generating cells [8, 9]. Thus, it was a demand to develop an efficient model which could increase the number of detection and isolation of cancer stem cells. To solve this problem NOD/SCID IL2R γ^{nul} model was used [8].

14.3.1.3 NOD/SCID IL2R γ^{null} Mice

NOD/SCID IL2R γ^{null} mice is the one which lack the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor gamma chain and natural-killer cells and is highly immunocompromised mice model [10]. Quintana et al. showed that transplantation of melanoma cells into the

NOD/SCID IL2R γ^{nul} mice resulted in detection of increased number of tumorigenic cells [8]. Using this model, researchers were able to generate new tumor in vivo from 25% of melanoma cells. This was quite high in comparison to tumor-initiating potential of NOD/SCID mice which was 1 in 1,090,000; in NOD/SCID IL2R γ^{null} , it was 1 in 9 melanoma cells which had tumor-generating capacity [10].

This model then became the choice of many researchers. For example, AML cells were xenotransplanted in NOD/SCID IL2R γ^{null} mice, and it resulted in the presence of long-term engrafting, self-renewing LSCs in very few 10³ bone marrow hCD34⁺hCD38⁻ cells, but not in hCD34⁺hCD38⁺ or hCD34⁻ cells [11]. Ishizawa et al. did comparative study between NOD/SCID and NOD/SCID IL2R γ^{null} mice for human pancreatic, lung carcinoma, and head and neck cancer [12]. For all tumor under investigation, about tenfold elevation was detected for tumorigenic cells in NOD/SCID IL2R γ^{null} mice [12].

14.3.1.4 Limitation of Xenotransplantation Assays

There are many technical errors in in vivo detection of cancer stem cells by using xenotransplantation assay and limiting dilution analysis. These errors occur due to murine microenvironment and inadequate immune response at the transplanted site and also sex of recipient mouse strain. These factors compelled scientists to develop a more accurate approach to study cancer stem cells and led to use of genetically engineered mouse models (GEMM).



Fig. 14.2 Lineage tracing assay. Schematic representation of lineage tracing assay. The first step includes establishment of bigenic line. The second step involves induction of oncogenic event which is followed by third step, where analysis of outcome is done

14.3.1.5 Lineage Tracing Assay

In lineage tracing assay (Fig. 14.2), different cell-specific promoters are used to label different cells which enables tracking of single cells [13]. Various steps are involved in lineage tracing assay. The initial step is to generate bigenic mouse line (Fig. 14.2a). The bigenic mouse line is generated by crossing an inducible Cre (expressing Cre recombinase) with a reporter line (expressing reporter) which helps in labeling of cells [13]. The second step involves either introduction of oncogenes or deletion of tumor suppressor genes by crossing bigenic mouse generated with third conventional Tg line overexpressing either oncogenes such as Myc, Tcf, and Ras or deleted tumor suppressor genes such as p53, PTEN, and Rb (Fig. 14.2b) [13]. In spite of expressing oncogenes using Tg line, chemical carcinogens can also be used to induce oncogenic event. The most widely used carcinogen is DMBA (7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene). In the final steps of tumor formation, tracing of labeled cells is done. If all the cells are reporter positive, it suggests that these cells have tumor-repopulating capacity (Fig. 14.2c). Thus, purification of these cells is done to perform serial transplantation and then CSCs are isolated. But, if majority of cells are reporter negative, then it suggests that cells do not possess CSC properties. Lineage tracing assay has gained momentum, and various studies have been performed using this assay which employs the use of genetically engineered mouse models (GEMM) [14].

For example, Chen et al. performed a lineage tracing study for glioblastoma multiforme (GBM). This study showed that dormant subset of endogenous glioma cells is responsible for tumor maintenance and recurrence of GBM after chemotherapy [15]. They used a *Nestin-\Delta TK-IRES-GFP* (*Nes-\Delta TK-GFP*) transgene that labels both adult NSCs (neural stem cells) and endogenous glioma tumor cells. This Nes- ΔTK -GFP was crossed with Mut7 line which is a glioma-prone mouse line [16]. This Mut7 mouse line is generated by deleting three tumor suppressor genes, i.e., PTEN, p53, and Nf1 [15]. The resultant Mut7 mice developed glioblastoma with deleted PTEN, p53, and NF1 tumor suppressor genes [15]. These Mut7;Nes- ΔTK -GFP tumor cells also expressed Sox2 and had two population of cells. One subset of GFP⁺/Sox2⁺/ki-67⁻ and GFP⁻/ki⁻67⁺. Treatment cells expressed with temozolomide eliminated actively dividing GFP⁻/ki⁻67⁺ tumor cells, and a fraction of quiescent cells responsible for tumor recurrence GFP⁺/Sox2⁺/ki-67⁻ was left. GFP⁺ cells could be targeted by ganciclovir; thus, ganciclovir administration significantly decreased tumor growth with prolonged survival and co-administration of temozolomide- and ganciclovir-retarded tumor growth [15]. This lineage tracing study demonstrated that dormant endogenous glioblastoma cells GFP⁺/Sox2⁺/ki-67⁻ responsible for tumor recurrence possess CSC properties and are responsible for long-term tumor growth [14].

A functional evidence for the presence of stem cells in intestinal adenomas was provided by the study done by Schepers et al. [17]. In this study, they used multicolor Cre reporter R26R-Confetti mouse strain. They crossed Lgr5^{EGFP-Ires-CreERT2}/Apc^{fl/fl} mice with the R26R-Confetti strain, and tamoxifen injection resulted in generation of Lgr5-GFP^{hi} and Lgr5-GFP^{low}. Gene expression and clonogenic potential analysis showed that Lgr5-GFP^{hi} had multipotent stem cell characteristics,

and retracing of these cells showed that these cells were obtained from single adenoma stem cells [17].

Another lineage tracing study done by Driessens et al. utilized a chemical two-stage carcinogenesis model to generate skin papillomas [18]. The bigenic mouse strain K14CreER/Rosa-YFP was obtained by crossing K14-driven CreER line with the Rosa26-YFP reporter line. By injection of tamoxifen, K14-expressing keratinocytes will be labeled as YFP⁺ cells [18]. Administration of both DMBA and tamoxifen resulted in generation of YFP⁺ cells and had majority of cells with limited proliferation capacity, while a fraction had stem cell-like characteristics. Confocal analysis of clones showed that papillomas were sustained by small population of tumor cells having characteristics like of stem cells [18].

14.3.1.6 Limitations of Lineage Tracing Assay

Lineage tracing can be performed utilizing mouse model only, and various fundamental differences exist in human and mice cells/organs. For example, mouse prostate is divided into 4 lobes that do not exist in humans, and also, mouse cells do not express PSA which is an important molecule of human prostate gland. Another difference is that mouse cells express high telomerase activity, which indicates that mouse cells may never undergo true terminal differentiation. Thus, results obtained using mouse models may not directly reflect human system [14].

14.3.2 In Vitro Assays

14.3.2.1 Side Population Assay

Side population assay has been used for the isolation and characterization of cancer stem cells (Fig. 14.3) [13]. SP assay was developed by Goodell and mulligan [19, 20]. It was observed by the researchers that a distinct population existed in murine bone marrow cells which were poorly stained for Hoechst 33342. These cells occupied a distinct position in flow cytometry dot plot, hence named as side populations [21]. The exclusion of Hoechst stain by side population is a specific property of CSCs. Interestingly, the efflux of Hoechst stain was due to ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter. ABC transporter uses ATP to efflux out many small endogenous molecules like peptides, cholesterol, and bile acids. These transporters to CSCs. ABC transporters induce chemoresistance in CSCs as chemotherapeutic drugs are also substrates for these pumps and efflux of drugs occurs by ABC transporters [21].

14.3.2.2 Retention of PKH26 and PKH6 Dye

It has been reported that CSCs proliferate slowly and remain quiescent. These CSCs when divided result in two daughter cells; one possesses stemness (remains quiescent) and other proliferates. PKH26 and PKH6 are two lipophilic dyes [21]. In this assay (Fig. 14.4), the cell membranes are labeled with these dyes. After division both daughter cells receive equal portion of theses dyes [21]. The CSCs which are



Fig. 14.3 Side population assay. The side population assay measures percent side population of cells after flow cytometric analysis. The steps include single-cell isolation of cells by disaggregation and enzymatic digestion of cells. These cells are then stained with Hoechst 33342, and then cells are subjected to flow cytometric analysis. The cells with CSC characteristics possess more ABC transporters and effluxes dye out of the cells, and these cells are obtained on side on flow cytometric plot

quiescent retain dye for longer duration as compared to non-stem cells. This method has been used to isolate CSCs from breast cancer [22].

14.3.3 ALDEFLUOR Assay

Aldehyde dehydrogenases (ALDHs) belongs to the family of enzymes that catalyzes the oxidation of endogenous and exogenous aldehyde substrates to corresponding carboxylic acids [23]. These enzymes are known for their detoxification properties as these eliminate aldehydes synthesized either by physiological metabolic products or by cytotoxic drugs like chemotherapeutic agents. This detoxification property



Fig. 14.4 PKH26 dye retention assay. Monolayer culture is first treated with PKH26 and then subjected to non-adherent 3D culture. After single-cell sorting, CSCs are identified as those which retained dye for long due to low proliferating potential

attributes them as a marker of cancer stem cells as they confer chemoresistance in cancer cells [24]. Study done by Hilton et al. firstly revealed that high ALDH activity is responsible for chemoresistance in leukemia stem cells against cyclophosphamide (an alkylating agent) [25]. Increased ALDH activity has been reported in lung, colon, and breast cancer stem cells [21]. *ALDEFLUOR* assay is done to identify cancer stem cells (Fig. 14.5). In this assay, CSCs with high ALDH activity become highly fluorescent and can be detected by using flow cytometer and can be isolated by using cell sorting. *ALDEFLUOR* assay works on the principle of conversion of BODIPY-aminoacetaldehyde (BAAA) substrate to a fluorescent BODIPY-aminoacetate (BAA) product [24]. Thus, this assay isolates CSCs on the basis of intrinsic functional property of CSCs.

14.3.3.1 Two-Dimensional Model

Two-dimensional cultured tumor cell lines have been extensively used to study cancer progression. Various signaling pathways have been studied using 2D cultured tumor cell lines. But, with the advancement in technology to study tumor progression, it has been reported that 2D cultured tumor cell lines provide contradictory results due to culture conditions and number of cell passages [26]. Although research using 2D cultured tumor cell lines is inexpensive, these cannot mimic three-dimensional characteristics of solid tumor models and also tumor microenvironment. Thus, researchers have developed three-dimensional tumor models that may resemble solid tumor characteristics so that more accurate therapeutics can be developed to improve survival of cancer patients (Table 14.1).



Fig. 14.5 ALDEFLUOR assay. This assay involves treatment of cultured cells with BODIPYaminoacetaldehyde (BAAA) substrate, and CSCs are identified and isolated on the basis of high ALDH activity which converts BAAA to highly fluorescent BAA

14.3.3.2 Three-Dimensional Models

Three-dimensional tumor cultures are the recent advancement of technology to specifically generate and isolate CSCs. The main purpose of 3D models is to study the effect of tumor microenvironment on the gene expression analysis, pathogenesis, and effective drug testing to overcome chemoresistance. The two important 3D tumor models discussed in this chapter are *tumor spheroids* and *tumor organoids*.

14.3.4 Sphere Formation Assay

14.3.4.1 Tumor Spheroids

Tumor spheroids are spherical aggregates of tumor cells with self-renewable capacity and are generated by sphere formation assay (Fig. 14.6). Sphere formation assay also known as non-adherent 3D culture was firstly described as an approach to study adult stem cells [32]. The principle of this assay is that cancer stem cells in non-adherent conditions proliferate to form a sphere and non-stem cells will go for

Advantages/			
disadvantages	2D cell line	Spheroids	Organoids
Advantages	 Cost-effective [2, 26] Genetic manipulation is easy [2] It allows high-throughput screening of drugs in short duration [2, 27] 	 Provides 3D environment [28] Allows growth of cancer stem cells [28] Highly reproducible [29] 	 In vivo-type complexity and architecture 3D structures and resembles mini-organ to the tissue of origin [2, 30] Patient-derived organoids enable the development of personalized medication [31]. Variable [29]
Disadvantages	 Lack of heterogeneity [2, 27] Do not correspond to tumor microenvironment [27] 	• Expansion of CSCs occurs after serial passages, thus, not efficient for investigation of drug activity [31]	• Organoids cannot mimic exact hypoxic gradient occurring in tumor microenvironment [2]

Table 14.1 Illustration of key differences between advantages and disadvantages of two-dimensional cell lines and three-dimensional spheroids and organoids

anoikis. Sphere formation assay is a powerful tool that allows to access stem cell-like characteristics residing in tumor and cancerous cells. Cancer stem cells possess the ability to generate 3D (three-dimensional) spheres in vitro when grown in serum-free non-adherent culture conditions [33]. Various 3D in vitro sphere formation assays have been developed to obtain cancer stem cells. This assay requires the growth of cells in an artificial medium resembling stem cell-like conditions which include media supplemented with epidermal growth factor (EGF), low-density condition to avoid aggregation, progesterone, heparin, insulin, and hydrocortisone [34]. Sphere formation assay is widely used as it helps to detect CSCs, and also, self-renewal and differentiation can be studied at single-cell level [32].

14.4 Critical Parameter Consideration

14.4.1 Cell Density and Clonal Formation

Cell density is the most crucial parameter as it directly affects clonality. A central focus of sphere formation assay is that each sphere is obtained from single cell and therefore must be clonal. Different research groups have proposed different cell densities for seeding. High-density seeding is not favored because interpretation of results becomes very difficult due to sphere fusion. Spheres have the potency for aggregation due to both intrinsic and experiment-induced locomotion. It must be ensured that the sphere is formed due to proliferation not due to aggregation [32]. Thus, seeding at 0.2–20 cells per microliter is recommended [35–37].



Fig. 14.6 Sphere formation assay. In this assay, firstly single-cell suspension is formed from primary tumor by disaggregation and enzymatic digestion. Then seeding of single cells is done and sphere formation occurs in 1–4 weeks

14.4.2 Mitogen Tolerance

It has been reported that spheres are cultured at very high level of EGF of about 20 ng/ml. This high concentration of EGF may alter differentiation potential of cultured cells [32].

14.4.3 Overestimation of Stem Cell Frequency

Sphere formation assay can overestimate frequency of generated stem cells because neural stem cell purification by FACS has shown that both stem cells and transit amplifying cells have potential to give rise to neurospheres [38]. Similar observation of false readout was observed by culturing mammary cells which formed mammospheres [39].
14.4.4 Tumor Organoids

Tumor organoids are 3D constructs resembling avascular tumor generated from fresh biopsy samples [26]. The process of tumor organoid formation includes mechanical or enzymatic processing of tumor samples and embedding in extracellular matrix such as collagen or Matrigels and ECM substitutes [26, 40]. The various steps used to generate tumor organoid has been shown in Fig. 14.7. Organoid technology recently has been used extensively, and various cancer organoids such as stomach cancer organoid, intestinal cancer organoid, liver cancer organoid,



Fig. 14.7 Tumor organoid formation assay. Primary tissue from the patient is disaggregated to obtain CSCs. These cells are then cultured in three-dimensional media to generate tumor organoid, and these organoids can be used to test required drug efficacy and to develop personalized medicines

pancreatic cancer organoid, breast cancer organoid, bladder cancer organoid, and prostate cancer organoid have been synthesized [41–51].

14.5 Conclusion and Further Directions

Plethora of evidences is in agreement with current theory of cancer stem cells. It has been well established that CSCs play a vital role in tumor initiation and maintenance of tumor progression. These CSCs facilitate tumor metastasis to distant site other than the site of origin. Thus, these CSCs have the potential for tumor regeneration and recurrence; hence, these are potential therapeutic targets, and elimination of these CSCs will protect tumor recurrence. Various technological advancements have been made with the primary aim to develop effective drug treatment. Traditional 2D culture cell lines have been in long use to develop cancer treatment and have contributed significantly in cancer research. But these 2D culture cell lines fail to match accuracy to the condition of tumor development in the presence of the immune system; stromal interactions of CSCs and also lack of heterogeneity make them of least choice. To overcome these limitations, 3D tumor models are in fashion for cancer research. Tumor spheroids and tumor organoids both are widely used, but tumor organoids have revolutionized cancer research and have been proven as best models as they recapitulate whole tumor like in vivo. These tumor organoid technologies have provided a way for cancer researchers toward the development of effective drug testing and facilitation of personalized therapy.

Thus, organoid technology upholds potential for new possibilities for personalized medication which will be the best nonsurgical treatment not available today.

Acknowledgement *Conflict of interest*: Authors have declared no conflict of interest for this book chapter.

References

- 1. Kreso A, Dick JE (2014) Evolution of the cancer stem cell model. Cell Stem Cell 14(3):275–291
- Nagle PW, Plukker JTM, Muijs CT, van Luijk P, Coppes RP (2018) Patient-derived tumor organoids for prediction of cancer treatment response. Semin Cancer Biol 53:258–264
- 3. Podlaha O, Riester M, De S, Michor F (2012) Evolution of the cancer genome. Trends Genet 28 (4):155–163
- Holohan C, Van Schaeybroeck S, Longley DB, Johnston PG (2013) Cancer drug resistance: an evolving paradigm. Nat Rev Cancer 13(10):714–726
- Dragu DL, Necula LG, Bleotu C, Diaconu CC, Chivu-Economescu M (2015) Therapies targeting cancer stem cells: current trends and future challenges. World J Stem Cells 7(9):1185
- Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Caceres-Cortes J, Minden M, Paterson B, Caligiuri MA, Dick JE (1994) A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature 367(6464):645

- Schatton T, Murphy GF, Frank NY, Yamaura K, Waaga-Gasser AM, Gasser M, Zhan Q, Jordan S, Duncan LM, Weishaupt C, Fuhlbrigge RC, Kupper TS, Sayegh MH, Frank MH (2008) Identification of cells initiating human melanomas. Nature 451(7176):345–349
- Quintana E, Shackleton M, Sabel MS, Fullen DR, Johnson TM, Morrison SJ (2008) Efficient tumour formation by single human melanoma cells. Nature 456(7222):593
- 9. Kelly PN, Dakic A, Adams JM, Nutt SL, Strasser A (2007) Tumor growth need not be driven by rare cancer stem cells. Science 317(5836):337
- Aiken C, Werbowetski-Ogilvie T (2013) Animal models of cancer stem cells: what are they really telling us? Curr Pathobiol Rep 1(2):91–99
- 11. Ishikawa F, Yoshida S, Saito Y, Hijikata A, Kitamura H, Tanaka S, Nakamura R, Tanaka T, Tomiyama H, Saito N (2007) Chemotherapy-resistant human AML stem cells home to and engraft within the bone-marrow endosteal region. Nat Biotechnol 25(11):1315
- Ishizawa K, Rasheed ZA, Karisch R, Wang Q, Kowalski J, Susky E, Pereira K, Karamboulas C, Moghal N, Rajeshkumar N (2010) Tumor-initiating cells are rare in many human tumors. Cell Stem Cell 7(3):279–282
- Sengupta A, Cancelas JA (2010) Cancer stem cells: a stride towards cancer cure? J Cell Physiol 225(1):7–14
- 14. Rycaj K, Tang DG (2015) Cell-of-origin of cancer versus cancer stem cells: assays and interpretations. Cancer Res 75(19):4003–4011
- Chen J, Li Y, Yu T-S, McKay RM, Burns DK, Kernie SG, Parada LF (2012) A restricted cell population propagates glioblastoma growth after chemotherapy. Nature 488(7412):522–526
- Kwon CH, Zhao D, Chen J, Alcantara S, Li Y, Burns DK, Mason RP, Lee EY, Wu H, Parada LF (2008) Pten haploinsufficiency accelerates formation of high-grade astrocytomas. Cancer Res 68(9):3286–3294
- Schepers AG, Snippert HJ, Stange DE, van den Born M, van Es JH, van de Wetering M, Clevers HJS (2012) Lineage tracing reveals Lgr5+ stem cell activity in mouse intestinal adenomas. Science 337(6095):730–735
- Driessens G, Beck B, Caauwe A, Simons BD, Blanpain CJN (2012) Defining the mode of tumour growth by clonal analysis. Nature 488(7412):527
- Goodell MA, Brose K, Paradis G, Conner AS, Mulligan RC (1996) Isolation and functional properties of murine hematopoietic stem cells that are replicating in vivo. J Exp Med 183 (4):1797–1806
- 20. Goodell MA, Rosenzweig M, Kim H, Marks DF, DeMaria M, Paradis G, Grupp SA, Sieff CA, Mulligan RC, Johnson RP (1997) Dye efflux studies suggest that hematopoietic stem cells expressing low or undetectable levels of CD34 antigen exist in multiple species. Nat Med 3 (12):1337
- 21. Tirino V, Desiderio V, Paino F, De Rosa A, Papaccio F, La Noce M, Laino L, De Francesco F, Papaccio G (2013) Cancer stem cells in solid tumors: an overview and new approaches for their isolation and characterization. FASEB J 27(1):13–24
- 22. Pece S, Tosoni D, Confalonieri S, Mazzarol G, Vecchi M, Ronzoni S, Bernard L, Viale G, Pelicci PG, Di Fiore PP (2010) Biological and molecular heterogeneity of breast cancers correlates with their cancer stem cell content. Cell 140(1):62–73
- Tomita H, Tanaka K, Tanaka T, Hara A (2016) Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1A1 in stem cells and cancer. Oncotarget 7(10):11018–11032
- Mele L, Liccardo D, Tirino V (2018) Evaluation and isolation of cancer stem cells using ALDH activity assay. Cancer stem cells. Springer, New York, pp 43–48
- Hilton J (1984) Role of aldehyde dehydrogenase in cyclophosphamide-resistant L1210 leukemia. Cancer Res 44(11):5156–5160
- 26. Colella G, Fazioli F, Gallo M, De Chiara A, Apice G, Ruosi C, Cimmino A, De Nigris F (2018) Sarcoma spheroids and organoids—promising tools in the era of personalized medicine. Int J Mol Sci 19(2):615
- Wilding JL, Bodmer WF (2014) Cancer cell lines for drug discovery and development. Cancer Res 74(9):2377–2384

- Bahmad HF, Cheaito K, Chalhoub RM, Hadadeh O, Monzer A, Ballout F, El-Hajj A, Mukherji D, Liu Y-N, Daoud G (2018) Sphere-formation assay: three-dimensional in vitro culturing of prostate cancer stem/progenitor sphere-forming cells. Front Oncol 8:347
- 29. Gitschier H, Fang Y, Eglen RM (2017) Three-dimensional cell culture: a rapidly emerging technique for drug discovery. Drug Dicov 55
- Dutta D, Heo I, Clevers H (2017) Disease modeling in stem cell-derived 3D organoid systems. Trends Mol Med 23(5):393–410
- 31. Zhao H, Yan C, Hu Y, Mu L, Huang K, Li Q, Li X, Tao D, Qin J (2019) Sphere-forming assay vs. organoid culture: determining long-term stemness and the chemoresistant capacity of primary colorectal cancer cells. Int J Oncol 54(3):893–904
- Pastrana E, Silva-Vargas V, Doetsch F (2011) Eyes wide open: a critical review of sphereformation as an assay for stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 8(5):486–498
- 33. Ma X-L, Sun Y-F, Wang B-L, Shen M-N, Zhou Y, Chen J-W, Hu B, Gong Z-J, Zhang X, Cao Y, Pan B-S, Zhou J, Fan J, Guo W, Yang X-R (2019) Sphere-forming culture enriches liver cancer stem cells and reveals stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 as a potential therapeutic target. BMC Cancer 19(1):760
- 34. Franco SS, Szczesna K, Iliou MS, Al-Qahtani M, Mobasheri A, Kobolák J, Dinnyés A (2016) In vitro models of cancer stem cells and clinical applications. BMC Cancer 16(2):738
- Coles-Takabe BL, Brain I, Purpura KA, Karpowicz P, Zandstra PW, Morshead CM, Van der Kooy D (2008) Don't look: growing clonal versus nonclonal neural stem cell colonies. Stem Cells 26(11):2938–2944
- 36. Ferrón SR, Andreu-Agulló C, Mira H, Sánchez P, Marqués-Torrejón MÁ, Farinas I (2007) A combined ex/in vivo assay to detect effects of exogenously added factors in neural stem cells. Nat Protoc 2(4):849
- Chojnacki A, Weiss S (2008) Production of neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes from mammalian CNS stem cells. Nat Protoc 3(6):935
- Reynolds BA, Rietze RL (2005) Neural stem cells and neurospheres—re-evaluating the relationship. Nat Methods 2(5):333
- 39. Stingl J (2009) Detection and analysis of mammary gland stem cells. J Pathol 217(2):229-241
- 40. Xu H, Lyu X, Yi M, Zhao W, Song Y, Wu K (2018) Organoid technology and applications in cancer research. J Hematol Oncol 11(1):116
- Vlachogiannis G, Hedayat S, Vatsiou A, Jamin Y, Fernández-Mateos J, Khan K, Lampis A, Eason K, Huntingford I, Burke R (2018) Patient-derived organoids model treatment response of metastatic gastrointestinal cancers. Science 359(6378):920–926
- Seidlitz T, Merker SR, Rothe A, Zakrzewski F, von Neubeck C, Grützmann K, Sommer U, Schweitzer C, Schölch S, Uhlemann H (2019) Human gastric cancer modelling using organoids. Gut 68(2):207–217
- 43. Schütte M, Risch T, Abdavi-Azar N, Boehnke K, Schumacher D, Keil M, Yildiriman R, Jandrasits C, Borodina T, Amstislavskiy V (2017) Molecular dissection of colorectal cancer in pre-clinical models identifies biomarkers predicting sensitivity to EGFR inhibitors. Nat Commun 8:14262
- 44. Fujii M, Shimokawa M, Date S, Takano A, Matano M, Nanki K, Ohta Y, Toshimitsu K, Nakazato Y, Kawasaki K (2016) A colorectal tumor organoid library demonstrates progressive loss of niche factor requirements during tumorigenesis. Cell Stem Cell 18(6):827–838
- 45. Weeber F, van de Wetering M, Hoogstraat M, Dijkstra KK, Krijgsman O, Kuilman T, Gadellaavan Hooijdonk CG, van der Velden DL, Peeper DS, Cuppen EP (2015) Preserved genetic diversity in organoids cultured from biopsies of human colorectal cancer metastases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112(43):13308–13311
- 46. Nuciforo S, Fofana I, Matter MS, Blumer T, Calabrese D, Boldanova T, Piscuoglio S, Wieland S, Ringnalda F, Schwank G (2018) Organoid models of human liver cancers derived from tumor needle biopsies. Cell Rep 24(5):1363–1376
- Zhang HC, Kuo C (2015) Personalizing pancreatic cancer organoids with hPSCs. Nat Med 21 (11):1249

- 48. Boj SF, Hwang C-I, Baker LA, Chio IIC, Engle DD, Corbo V, Jager M, Ponz-Sarvise M, Tiriac H, Spector MS (2015) Organoid models of human and mouse ductal pancreatic cancer. Cell 160 (1–2):324–338
- 49. Sachs N, de Ligt J, Kopper O, Gogola E, Bounova G, Weeber F, Balgobind AV, Wind K, Gracanin A, Begthel H (2018) A living biobank of breast cancer organoids captures disease heterogeneity. Cell 172(1–2):373–386.e10
- Lee SH, Hu W, Matulay JT, Silva MV, Owczarek TB, Kim K, Chua CW, Barlow LJ, Kandoth C, Williams AB (2018) Tumor evolution and drug response in patient-derived organoid models of bladder cancer. Cell 173(2):515–528.e17
- 51. Shenoy T, Boysen G, Wang M, Xu Q, Guo W, Koh F, Wang C, Zhang L, Wang Y, Gil V (2017) CHD1 loss sensitizes prostate cancer to DNA damaging therapy by promoting error-prone double-strand break repair. Ann Oncol 28(7):1495–1507



Controversies in Isolation and Characterization of Cancer Stem Cells

15

Ravi Gor and Satish Ramalingam

Abstract

Cancer is an uncontrolled growth of a cell in any part of the body. It has been more than a century for identification of cure for cancer/tumor, and still, we are unable to understand and treat the cancer completely. Current therapeutic techniques such as radiation, chemotherapy, surgery, etc. are failing to eradicate the cancer cells from its root and lead to its relapse in the short or long term. This is because of the small subpopulation of the cells within the tumor that are known as cancer stem cells (CSCs). These cells play an important role in supplying differentiated cells for the growth and development of the tumor. Along with this, they also maintain their population intact for the future requirement of the cells for tumor growth and its metastasis. In spite of several studies proving the presence of CSCs in various types of tumors, there is always a question about its existence and the way we characterize the CSCs based on the histotypespecific markers. There is a dire need for the compilation of research in this area to understand whether the cells, which are being confirmed as CSCs are really CSCs or not? In this chapter, we provide the various isolation and characterization techniques along with the latest CSC identification markers for different types of cancer, in addition we highlight the arguments and the limitations regarding the isolation and characterization of CSCs in this chapter.

Keywords

Cancer stem cells · Histotype-specific marker · Metastasis

R. Gor \cdot S. Ramalingam (\boxtimes)

Department of Genetic Engineering, School of Bio-Engineering, SRM Institute of Science and Technology, Kanchipuram, Tamil Nadu, India

 $^{{\}rm (}{\rm C}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_15

15.1 Cancer Stem Cell: Brief History and Current Status

It all started with one question, "How many cells are required for the induction of tumor?". Back in the year 1937, J. Furth and his group reported the transmission of mice leukemia with the transfer of a single transformed cell. The leukemia cell suspension was obtained by isolating the leukemic tumor and filtering it to remove larger particulates and this results in the single cell suspension. The cell suspension is diluted and a single cell is injected in the mice and checked for its tumor forming ability. Out of 97 mice, five developed carcinoma. Finally, they concluded that leukemia can be transmitted with a single transformed cell in an adult individual [1]. Later after half a decade, a publication by John E. Dick's and colleagues in 1994 and 1997 demonstrated that only a few rare cells (undifferentiated) of mouse acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) are capable of initiating this leukemia in other mice on transplantation. They concluded that these rare groups of cells (CD34⁺ CD38⁻) can produce a different lineage of cells and also maintain the undifferentiated form of themselves for a longer duration of time [2, 3].

Currently, we call them cancer stem cells, which are mostly like the hematopoietic stem cells present in the human body, which give rise to the blood cells, immune cells, etc. Cancer stem cells are called by many different names like "cancer-initiating cells," "cancer stem-like cells," and "tumor-initiating cells," but they all mean the same and possess key characteristics of stem cells. These are the population of cells found in the tumor which possess the features such as multipotentiality, self-renewal, clonogenicity, and treatment resistant which are the key features of a stem cell. Although these cells are found to be capable of recreating the original tumor independently, we are unable to uncover the origin or mechanism by which the tumor has got Cancer Stem cells. There are only possible theories suggesting that the CSCs came into existence due to mutation(s) in the tissue stem cell, or the transformed cancer cell has gained stem cell property by mutation(s) and became a Cancer Stem Cell. With these characteristics of CSCs, we are unable to eradicate the CSCs by conventional cancer therapy (Fig. 15.1) which will only wipe out the non-tumorigenic cells and CSCs will remain even after the treatment. Current methods of treatment includes chemotherapy, surgery, radiation, immunotherapy, etc. even if one CSC is left after the treatment, then it can regrow the tumor in the same place resulting in tumor recurrence. If the CSCs are killed along with the non-tumorigenic cells, it can result in the total eradication of the tumor. As a result of cancer stem cell targeting therapy the cancer can be eradicated from its root and there won't be any relapse of cancer.

The real challenge is how to select the putative cancer stem cells from the heterogeneous population of the cells in the tumor. Since they only comprise less than 1% of the total tumor cells, it's like finding a single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) in the whole genomic DNA sequence. We need to have some identification markers to target them. Around 40 cancer stem cell surface markers are being published and still counting for various types of cancer [4]. Including these cell surface markers, there are other stemness genes like BMI, β -catenin, OCT3/OCT4, SMO, SOX2, NANOG, NOTCH, etc. They play an important role in maintaining



Fig. 15.1 Cancer stem cell hypothesis

the character of the cancer stem cell; evaluation of the expression of these genes by real-time PCR analysis can be used to characterize the isolated CSCs and to understand the molecular mechanism required to maintain the stemness. In the case of breast cancer, SOX2 levels are used as a prognostic marker for early detection of cancer recurrence [5]. In renal cell carcinoma, OCT4 and NANOG can be used as markers for prediction of poor prognosis of the disease [6]. This information regarding different cancer types can further be used for targeting them and fully eradicating them.

15.2 Isolation and Characterization Techniques

There are two major ways by which cancer stem cells can be identified, one with the help of cell surface marker dependent and another is independent of cell surface marker identification. The cell surface marker-dependent techniques involve fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) as a critical step in sorting the cells based on their surface markers. On the other hand, FACS is also used for detecting the intracellular marker such as ALDH1 to isolate cancer stem cells in different tumor types. Other identification techniques include phenotypic assay, cytotoxic drug effluxing assay, side population assay, sphere formation assay, somatic stem cell property, pulse-chase approach, etc. Almost all the isolation techniques have their pros and cons in isolating and characterizing the alleged cancer stem cell population, therefore combination of these techniques needs to be utilized for efficient isolation of CSCs.

15.2.1 Isolation Based on Cell Surface Markers

As the cells in the body have an identification mark showing self-cells, immune cells, etc. with the help of a cluster of differentiation protein collectively called CD, similarly, the CSCs can also be identified based on the CD proteins or other surface markers like EpCAM/ESA, etc. This can be achieved by advanced high-throughput machine called FACS; it can sort cells based on their surface marker using fluorescent labelled antibodies. For CSC characterization, different markers specific for mesenchymal and hematopoietic stem cells can be used, such as CD133, CD44, CD90, etc. Different combinations of these markers tell us about the presence of a very small population of the putative CSCs. A population of cells can be defined as a cancer stem cell if it can develop tumor after implantation to the immunodeficient host [7]. Also, it must continuously do that for multiple subculturing. To validate the ability of the isolated cells to imitate the tumor in vivo, the isolated cells are xenotransplanted to immunodeficient host (mice usually). If it gives rise to the tumor and further transplantation reproduces the result, then it can be concluded that the isolated population of cells are cancer stem cells.

The isolation protocol can be divided into three major steps, isolating the tumor sample from the patient, making a single cell suspension, and lastly cell labelling and flow cytometry analysis. The solid tumor is isolated from the patient with proper concern and must begin processing as soon as possible to maximize viability. To prepare a single cell suspension sample can be processed by a mechanical or enzymatical (overnight) method to make a suspension of cells from solid tissue. The goal is to break all the cell-cell connections or junctions so that we get a suspension with individual cells floating. To achieve better results, combination of chemical and mechanical dissociation is performed to provide maximum yield and viability of the cells schematic of the method is depicted in the figure (Fig. 15.2).

Further, the suspension is filtered through the cell strainer, and homogeneous cell suspension will be used in the process. Multiple cell wash is done and labelled with the fluorescent labelled antibody specific to the surface marker under study. Cells are sorted and transplanted to the immunodeficient mice to check its ability to form a tumor. FACS can also be used for isolation of the CSCs from the cell lines from the cell banks/working laboratory cell lines [45, 46]. CD44⁺ gastric cancer stem cell that has been isolated by FACS shows stemness properties like differentiation and self-renewal. In gastric cancer, CD44⁺ cells show more resistance for chemotherapy and also radiation-induced cell death. Also, knockdown of CD44 showed reduced tumor production in SCID mice and shows reduced spheroid colony formation [28]. When working with a large number of cells, magnetic bead-assisted sorting will be quicker than flow cytometry. Commonly used methods with magnetic beads are Dynabeads, magnetic-activated cell sorting (MACS), etc. According to the sample acquired and the number of marker needs to be accessed to separate the CSCs, FACS or magnetic bead-assisted sorting is carried out [45].





15.2.2 Isolation Independent of Cell Surface Marker

15.2.2.1 Side Population (SP) Assay

Stem cells have a high capacity to outflow antimitotic drugs. These cells come under a subset of stem cells and called "side population." Side population assay checks for the ability of the CSCs to remove the drug out from the system rapidly as their characteristic for chemoresistance. Normally the differentiated cells will take up the chemical in and process it or be targeted by the same. CSCs can achieve drug resistance with the high expression of ABC transporter protein family members. It is an ATP-dependent transporter or also called a drug effluxing pump and is used to translocate molecules across membranes [47–49]. It has been analyzed in glioblastoma [50], colon carcinoma [51], breast cancer [52], and other types of cancer [53, 54] that ABC proteins provide high chemoresistance to the normal stem cells as well as CSCs with comparison to the differentiated cells [55–57]. Hoechst 33342 dye is used in this assay; it is a nucleic acid stain and emits blue fluorescence when bound to dsDNA. In the heterogeneous population, differentiated tumor cells will keep the dye, whereas the CSCs stream out the dye with high efflux capacity. In the case of neuroblastoma cells, SP was capable of sustaining expansion in vitro and also shows the asymmetrical division, generating SP and non-SP (differentiated) cells. High level of ABCG2 and ABCA3 expression was found to help in better survival by expelling cytotoxic drugs [58]. The advantage of SP assay is there is no requirement of the cell-specific marker to isolate the CSCs. Since the population of CSCs are less in number which makes it difficult to even isolate them with the help of FACS (<2%) [59], the longer incubation with the dye increases apoptosis in a glioma cell line [60].

15.2.2.2 Sphere Formation Assay

Sphere formation assay can enrich CSCs from the solid tumor without utilizing the cell sorting and surface marker. The solid tumors are grown in the non-adherent condition. In this assay, mitogenic growth factors are provided, and the media is devoid of the serum to provide a non-adherent environment. Mitogenic growth factors including epidermal growth factor (EGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), etc. are supplied depending on the specific cell line. As a result of providing a non-adherent environment, the primitive cells will form a sphere by clustering together, and the differentiated cells die because of no communication to the neighboring cells. Cell sphere was first found in the culture of adult mouse striatum (part of the basal ganglia of the brain) forming sphere in the absence of adhesion factors or supplementary substrate. With all the provided mitogenic growth factor, only the primitive cells survived and the differentiated cells died [61]. With this finding even only cancer stem cells can be grown in the non-adherent environment and be isolated from the heterogeneous population of cells. After a decade it has been shown that a CD133+ cell from human brain tumor grew as a neurosphere in a non-adherent environment [62]. In case of the C6 glioma cell line, only the SP cells survived in the serum-free, growth factor supplemented media and the non-adherent environment by forming a tumorsphere. It has also reported that the C6SP cells can generate the SP and non-SP cells in the culture, and they are responsible for the malignancy [63].

15.2.2.3 Pulse-Chase Approach

One characteristic of a CSC is slow proliferation, i.e., as compared to the other cells in the surrounding, they will be in the quiescent stage and only divide when needed to produce the differentiated cells. Slowly dividing cells will retain DNA analog for a long time because of no cell division taking place, and this will be termed as a labelretaining cell or stem cell. The more the label retained in the cell, chances of it to be CSCs are more. Firstly, the cells are labelled with BrdU (³H-thymidine or 5-'-bromodeoxyuridine), and then it will be examined regularly to check for the cells with label retention. As the dividing cell's label will be diluted due to the DNA replication during cell division, the selected cells with high label retention are tested with other assays to confirm the CSCs [64–66]. In the case of prostate cancer (PCa) cells with the help of BrdU, pulse-chase assays reveal that CD44⁺ cells colocalize with intermediate label-retaining cells. Further, it was concluded that these cells are more proliferative, tumorigenic, metastatic, and clonogenic than the CD44⁻ PCa cells [67].

15.2.2.4 Aldehyde Dehydrogenase (ALDH) Activity

ALDH1 is used as an internal marker for the identification of CSCs in many cancers like breast, colon, etc. ALDH is an enzyme which catalyzes the pyridine nucleotidedependent oxidation of aldehydes to acids. For example, in case of retinoid signalling ALDH1 catalyzes the conversion of retinol to retinoic acid (RA) in the cytoplasm and finally the RA activates genes which will help in the regulation of stem cell and cancer stem cells. ALDH is substrate nonspecific; by this property it protects the organism from potentially harmful xenobiotics and makes stem cells resistant to the aldehyde-specific xenobiotics [68]. Commercially available fluorescent ALDEFLUOR assay kit can be used to identify the ALDH activity with the help of the ALDH substrate and an ALDH inhibitor (diethylaminobenzaldehyde) as a negative control. By ALDEFLUOR assay, isolation of CSC from breast cell line is done [69] also from acute myeloid leukemia, and multiple myeloma CSCs are isolated with this method [70, 71]. Further, isolated cells, i.e., ALDELFUOR positive and negative cells, are collected, and tumor xenograft studies, expression of stemness genes, etc. can be studied to validate the isolated cancer stem cells. It is found that in renal cell carcinoma (RCC), the number of ALDH1⁺ cells is doubled in the metastatic ACHN cell line than compared to the primary KRY/Y cell line. Also, the ALDH⁺ cells show higher sphere-forming ability than that of ALDH⁻ cells [72].

15.2.2.5 Tumorigenicity Assay Also Known as Reestablishing Heterogeneity

Along with the slowly dividing, self-renewal property, a cancer stem cell must be able to generate a heterogeneous population again at the new site of growth; this property is called tumorigenicity. All the cells which are isolated as prospective cancer stem cells are further analyzed to check its ability to imitate the same cell heterogeneity when injected into immunocompromised mice. This was first demonstratd by J. Furth et al., to know how many cells are required for it to generate leukemia in immunodeficient mice. As per their research a solid tumor is isolated, and after processing tumor to a single cell suspension and limiting dilution, the specific amount of the cells was counted and injected subcutaneously into NOD-SCID mice [1]. This research has made one thing clear that there is a small population of cells responsible for the tumor regeneration, and the easier way to know them well is by tumor xenograft model. It's the best alternative to the markerdependent CSC isolation. Limiting dilution assay is a labor-intensive process and time demanding, but the results are highly acceptable. As the smaller number of cells are being introduced to check tumorgenicity, the identity of the same can be known very well.

15.3 Controversies in Cancer Stem Cells

Discovery of the CSCs is a great finding that has provided a reason behind resistance to cancer therapy or cancer survival even after an enormous effort or ways to treat cancer, and tumor recurrence. This in turn also enabled us to identify new approach for cancer therapy, that is, to target the CSCs to totally eradicate the roots of the cancer. However the CSC hypothesis remains controversial; it is because of the divergence in defining cancer stem cells, reliance only on cell surface markers, and lack of standard functional assays [73]. CSCs are known by many different terminologies like cancer stem cells, tumor-initiating cells, or cancer stemlike cells. The CSCs and tumor-initiating cells cannot be considered as a same population of cells. This is because the tumor-initiating cells means that the isolated cell can generate tumor after implantation, whereas CSCs can repopulate the tumor as well as the original heterogeneity. Assays must be done to check the tumorigenicity as well as to demonstrate the cellular heterogeneity.

15.3.1 Relying on the Cell Surface Markers

As depicted in Table 15.1, there are multiple CSC markers for a single type of cancer based on different research group findings. CD133 marker is expressed in multiple tumor-like glioblastoma [42], ovarian cancer [20], prostate cancer [8], etc. One research group found that CD133 is not found to be a CSC marker for non-small cell lung cancer [74]. Whereas the other group found that CD133 shows the ability of a tumor-initiating cell by resistance to cisplatin in case of NSCLC [75]. Apart from this, the combination of markers shows tumorigenic properties rather than individual markers alone [75]. All these finding suggest that we do not have a universal marker for individual cancer type, and we must find the distinctive small population of cell lines on the top hierarchy. As different research groups utilizes various combination of cell surface markers to isolate CSCs. Since these subpopulations of CSCs in the heterogeneous tumor are very less, as reported in the case of pancreatic cancer, only

Sr.			
no	Cancer type	Markers	References
01	Prostate cancer	$CD44^{+}/\alpha_{2}\beta_{1}^{\text{hi}}/CD133^{+}$	[8]
02	Colon cancer	EpCAM ^{hig} / CD44 ⁺ / CD166 ⁺	[9, 10]
		CD26 ⁺	[11]
		DCLK1 ⁺	[12, 13]
03	Pancreatic cancer	CD44 ⁺ /CD24 ⁺ /ESA ⁺	[14]
04	Breast cancer	CD44 ⁺ /CD24 ⁻ /	[15]
		lowLineage ⁻	
		CD44 ⁺ /CD24 ^{-/low} / ALDH ^{high}	[16]
		Thy ⁺ /CD24 ⁺	[17]
05	Lung cancer	CD133 ⁺	[18]
06	Non-small cell lung cancer	CD24 ⁺ /CD38 ⁻	[19]
07	Ovarian cancer	CD133 ⁺	[20]
		ALDH ⁺	[21]
		CD44 ⁺ /CD177 ⁺	[22]
08	Liver cancer	CD133 ⁺	[23–25]
		EpCAM ⁺ /AFP	[26]
		CD13+	[27]
09	Gastric cancer	CD44 ⁺	[28]
		CD133 ⁺ /CD44 ⁺ / CD24 ⁺	[29]
10	Melanoma cancer	CD271 ⁺	[30]
		CXCR6 ⁺	[31]
11	Acute myeloid leukemia (AML)	CD34 ⁺ /CD38 ⁻	[2, 3]
12	Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML)	CD34 ⁺ /CD38 ⁻	[32]
13	Acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL)	BCR/ABL ⁻ /ALL ⁻	[33]
14	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL)	CD19 ⁺ /CD5 ⁺	[34]
15	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC)	ALDH ⁺ /CD133 ⁺ /CD44 ⁺	[35]
16	Cervical cancer	ABCG2-positive	[36]
		OCT3/4/BCRP/CD133+	[37]
		CD49f	[38]
		ALDH1	[39]
17	Renal cell carcinoma	ALDH1/CD44 ⁺ /CD24 ^{-/}	[40]
		CD133 ⁺ /CXCR4 ⁻	[41]
18	Glioblastoma	CD133 ⁺ /SSEA1 ⁺	[42]
19	Esophageal carcinoma	$\alpha 6^{bri}/CD71^{dim}$	[43]
20	Bladder cancer	EMA ⁻ /CD44v6 ⁺	[44]

Table 15.1 List of cancer stem cell markers of various cancer types

0.2-0.8% of cells show increased tumorigenic potential compared with non-tumorigenic cancer cells [14]. Also in the case of glioblastoma (GBM), CD133⁺ is a putative CSC marker, but recently it has been challenged by other

groups. In the culture of CD133⁺ CSCs, the CD133⁻ population of cells are unable to form a tumor. But individually isolated CD133⁻ shows tumorigenic potential which was not reported earlier [76]. The CD133⁺ CSC culture only maintains a small set of primary glioblastomas. This means that CD133⁺ cells are an early differentiated cell from the parental CSC, and we need to trace the first line of cells which give rise to the different progenies making a heterogeneous population of tumor. From this, we can assume that there might be another tumor-initiating cell that exists in the heterogeneous population of tumor cells which recapitulates the original tumor and maintains the heterogeneity. As we have advanced in the CSC isolation techniques from serial dilution to FACS, MACS, and transplantation to NOD/SCID mice, maybe soon we might be able to isolate and characterize CSCs with a universal marker for each cancer type.

15.3.2 Model for Tumor Heterogeneous Population

As we call tumor a heterogeneous population of cells, this plays a key role in the development and growth of the tumor. Currently, there are two models representing the heterogeneous population in the tumor, CSC model and the stochastic model. As depicted in Fig. 15.1, the CSC model suggests that the growth and progression of many cancers are driven by a small uncommon subpopulation of cells called CSCs. They mimic normal tissue development by working as stem cells in the normal tissues. Whereas the stochastic model predicts that the reaction of a cancer cell is random and influenced by the environment in which it is, i.e., intrinsic and/or extrinsic factors [77]. Interleukin 6 (IL6) can induce transformation of non-stem cancer cells (NSCCs) to form CSCs. CSCs are shown to have more amount of IL6 as compared to the NSCCs and therefore it is hypothesized that the non stem cancer cells having increased IL6 expression can instruct the NSCC to dedifferentiate to CSCs. This has been reported in breast and prostate cancer cell lines and also from the human breast tumors [78]. In the case of colon cancer, $CD133^+$ cells are potential cancer stem cell population from SW620 human colon cancer cells [79]. A recent study has demonstrated that with in situ immunofluorescence the division types of CSC from the non-stem cancer cell (NSCC) are observed. Results show that even non-stem cancer cells can differentiate into CSCs due to extrinsic factors like radiation in their study [80]. The CSCs which we are identifying may not be the universal CSCs for a particular cancer type, because of the plasticity of cell and their niche. Although both the models are based on theoretical and experimental studies and support the cancer therapy targeting CSCs along with the heterogeneous populations, it would be better if a combination of these two models is created which will provide clarity regarding the cell responsible for repopulating and maintaining the heterogenicity of the parent tumor.

15.3.3 The Problem in the NOD/SCID Mice System and FACS-Mediated Isolation of CSCs

The presence of CSCs in the heterogeneous population of cells in the tumor is very rare. Nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficiency (NOD/SCID) mice are used as an in vivo model system to validate the tumorigenic ability of CSCs. Studies have indicated that only a rare 0.1–0.0001% of the heterogeneous population of cells in the human cancer cells can initiate a tumor, in diverse cancer types. Not all the NOD/SCID mice are equally immunocompromised, which can lead to variation in the result from one research group to another research group. There are no defined criteria for the compromised immunity of NOD/SCID mice, how much of their immunity is compromised is not mentioned while injecting the cells for tumor formation. In the case of acute myeloid leukemia (AML), it has been shown by Quintana et al. using higher immunocompromised NOD/SCID mice as a xenotransplantation system there is increase in the percentage of the tumorgenic cells in the tumor population. Their study focuses on injecting the isolated cells from tumor into two different mice one with higher immunocompromised and against the regular NOD/SCID mice and comparing the percentage of tumor-initiating cells in both the experiment. Results from that study suggested that the percentage of tumor-initiating cells increased in number by 25-27% by limiting dilution and single-cell transplantation in NOD/SCID mice [81-83]. In AML, it has been shown that CD34⁺/CD38⁻ cells have an ability to repopulate the tumor. Fluorescent-activated cell sorting uses the fluorescently conjugated antibodies for the cell surface marker, and based on the expression of the antigen, different fractions were collected and transplanted into NOD/SCID mice. In this study, CD34⁺/CD38⁻ cells were isolated from AML, the antibodies itself affected the survival of transplanted cells which is Fc-mediated, and this was overcome by treating the mice with immunosuppressive antibodies. Further when the inhibitory effect is prevented, most of the cells were found to be leukemiainitiating cells. This is another example to show the increase in the leukemiainitiating cells [84]. This finding was carried out on the same AML on which the CSC hypothesis is established, resulting in having multiple tumor-initiating cell phenotypes. So, it can be concluded that if the test system is not evenly immunocompromised from one laboratory to another, the data generated can be error-prone. Also, the antibodies we use to isolate the single cells from the population of cells must also be studied for its effects on the sorted cells and their ability to produce a tumor. It questions all the studies based on the CSCs in a different solid tumor, whether the cells isolated are really CSC or not, and further validation of the isolated cells needs to be done.

15.4 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Multiple evidences and researches prove that only a small distinctive population of cells are capable of generating tumors and original heterogenicity in many different cancer types. Many methods are being developed to isolate and characterize the CSCs from the mixed population of the cells. There are different types of cancer, and current research has found multiple combinations of the CSCs in a single type of cancer which is identified, verified, characterized, and published. But, can we rely on these data? Since multiple CSCs are identified for a single cancer type, how do we decide which CSC needs to be targeted for eradication of cancer from its root? It's been more than half a decade but still, there is no exact definition for the CSCs, and different researchers call it with different names like CSCs, tumor-initiating cells, etc. but there are no standard meaning or definition. CSC means the cell which can recapitulate the parental tumor and keeps original heterogeneity, whereas tumorinitiating cells are the cells which can form a tumor after transplanted into NOD/SCID mice. Recent publications raise questions regarding the existence of CSCs based on the experiment performed by John E. Dickand colleagues based on which the CSC theory is established. Research shows the standard assays to identify tumor-initiating cells fail to detect the exact population of cells which are responsible for tumor regeneration. A proper experimental system must be established to perform a solid functional analysis of CSCs isolated from the parental tumor. The in vivo xenograft assays must be refined for proper characterization of CSCs. Not only the isolation and identification of CSCs are important but also the understanding of the gene expression of the CSCs versus normal stem cancer cells is imperative. Unanticipated intrinsic or extrinsic factors also play an important role in the fate of the cells to be normal or cancer stem cells. Also, the stemness genes are the same that help the CSCs and normal stem cells to maintain their stem cell property. A better understanding of it helps in targeting the cells overexpressing those genes and not only relying on the cell surface markers. Further, we need to design a better model for tumor heterogenicity to make a clear understanding regarding the cell responsible for the heterogeneous population. We conclude that, although we have come a long way with the understanding of CSCs but with many assumptions has lead to the controversies like broad definition, limited assays and their standard of quality to determine the CSCs, relying mainly on the surface markers, etc. A standard definition and list of rigorous assays need to be made mandatory for the isolation and characterization of the CSCs and this needs to be followed by the research group aound the world to isolate, analyse and understand the CSCs. Analysing the cells by using surface markers, Side population analysis, intracellular markers, spheroid assays etc. alone will not provide a strong supporting data for a population of cells to be CSCs, because of the limitations in each of these methods, however combining these methods together could provide a strong supportive evidence. Therefore a guidlines listing a combinative approach to be made for the identification of CSCs is obsolutely essential. This will further reduce the possible controversies arising due to the limitations of different methods that are currently used by the research groups worlwide. The current strategies to understand CSCs is not bound to any rules and to get more clarity about these small subpopulation of cells a standard international guidelines must be made and followed. It's high time now to clear these black spots in the CSC theory and direct research in the aim of curing this dreaded disease and eliminating its existence from mankind for a better future.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to thank the SRM Institute of Science and Technology for the infrastructure and fellowship to Ravi Gor. We would also like to thank the funding support provided to us from Science and Engineering Research Board (EMR/2017/002874), and the Department of Biotechnology, (BT/PR26189/GET/119/226/2017).

References

- 1. Furth J, Kahn MC (1937) The transmission of leukemia of mice with a single cell. Am J Cancer. https://doi.org/10.1158/ajc.1937.276
- Lapidot T et al (1994) A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/367645a0
- Bonnet D, Dick JE (1997) Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm0797-730
- Kim WT, Ryu CJ (2017) Cancer stem cell surface markers on normal stem cells. BMB Rep. https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBRep.2017.50.6.039
- Finicelli M et al (2014) Expression of stemness genes in primary breast cancer tissues: the role of SOX2 as a prognostic marker for detection of early recurrence. Oncotarget. https://doi.org/ 10.18632/oncotarget.1936
- Rasti A et al (2018) Co-expression of cancer stem cell markers OCT4 and NANOG Predicts poor prognosis in renal cell carcinomas. Sci Rep. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-30168-4
- 7. Clarke MF et al (2006) Cancer stem cells—perspectives on current status and future directions: AACR workshop on cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 66:9339–9344
- Collins AT, Berry PA, Hyde C, Stower MJ, Maitland NJ (2005) Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 65:10946–10951
- Dalerba P et al (2007) Phenotypic characterization of human colorectal cancer stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0703478104
- Chu P et al (2009) Characterization of a subpopulation of colon cancer cells with stem cell-like properties. Int J Cancer. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.24061
- 11. Pang R et al (2010) A subpopulation of CD26 + cancer stem cells with metastatic capacity in human colorectal cancer. Cell Stem Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2010.04.001
- Kantara C et al (2014) Curcumin promotes autophagic survival of a subset of colon cancer stem cells, which are ablated by DCLK1-siRNA. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-13-3536
- Nakanishi Y et al (2013) Dclk1 distinguishes between tumor and normal stem cells in the intestine. Nat Genet. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.24813
- 14. Li C et al (2007) Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 67:1030–1037
- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF (2003) Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.0530291100
- Ricardo S et al (2011) Breast cancer stem cell markers CD44, CD24 and ALDH1: expression distribution within intrinsic molecular subtype. J Clin Pathol. https://doi.org/10.1136/jcp.2011. 090456
- Cho RW et al (2008) Isolation and molecular characterization of cancer stem cells in MMTV-Wnt-1 murine breast tumors. Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0440
- Tan Y, Chen B, Xu W, Zhao W, Wu J (2014) Clinicopathological significance of CD133 in lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Mol Clin Oncol. https://doi.org/10.3892/mco.2013.195
- Karimi-Busheri F, Rasouli-Nia A, Zadorozhny V, Fakhrai H (2013) CD24+/CD38- as new prognostic marker for non-small cell lung cancer. Multidiscip Respir Med. https://doi.org/10. 1186/2049-6958-8-65
- 20. Baba T et al (2009) Epigenetic regulation of CD133 and tumorigenicity of CD133+ ovarian cancer cells. Oncogene. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.374

- Landen CN et al (2010) Targeting aldehyde dehydrogenase cancer stem cells in ovarian cancer. Mol Cancer Ther. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-10-0563
- 22. Zhang S et al (2008) Identification and characterization of ovarian cancer-initiating cells from primary human tumors. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0364
- Ma S et al (2007) Identification and characterization of tumorigenic liver cancer stem/progenitor cells. Gastroenterology. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2007.04.025
- Suetsugu A et al (2006) Characterization of CD133+ hepatocellular carcinoma cells as cancer stem/progenitor cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.10. 128
- Yin S et al (2007) CD133 positive hepatocellular carcinoma cells possess high capacity for tumorigenicity. Int J Cancer. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.22476
- 26. Yamashita T et al (2008) EpCAM and α-fetoprotein expression defines novel prognostic subtypes of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6013
- Haraguchi N et al (2010) CD13 is a therapeutic target in human liver cancer stem cells. J Clin Invest. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI42550
- Takaishi S et al (2009) Identification of gastric cancer stem cells using the cell surface marker CD44. Stem Cells 27:1006–1020
- 29. Chen T et al (2012) Identification and expansion of cancer stem cells in tumor tissues and peripheral blood derived from gastric adenocarcinoma patients. Cell Res. https://doi.org/10. 1038/cr.2011.109
- Civenni G et al (2011) Human CD271-positive melanoma stem cells associated with metastasis establish tumor heterogeneity and long-term growth. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3997
- 31. Taghizadeh R et al (2010) Cxcr6, a newly defined biomarker of tissue-specific stem cell asymmetric self-renewal, identifies more aggressive human melanoma cancer stem cells. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015183
- 32. Jørgensen HG, Holyoake TL (2007) Characterization of cancer stem cells in chronic myeloid leukaemia in biochemical society transactions. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST0351347
- Bernt KM, Armstrong SA (2009) Leukemia stem cells and human acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Semin Hematol. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminhematol.2008.09.010
- 34. Gross E, Quillet-Mary A, Ysebaert L, Laurent G, Fournie JJ (2011) Cancer stem cells of differentiated B-cell malignancies: models and consequences. Cancers. https://doi.org/10. 3390/cancers3021566
- Krishnamurthy S, Nör JE (2012) Head and neck cancer stem cells. J Dent Res. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0022034511423393
- Villanueva-Toledo J, Ponciano-Gómez A, Ortiz-Sánchez E, Garrido E (2014) Side populations from cervical-cancer-derived cell lines have stem-cell-like properties. Mol Biol Rep. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11033-014-3047-3
- 37. Qi W et al (2014) Sorting and identification of side population cells in the human cervical cancer cell line HeLa. Cancer Cell Int. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2867-14-3
- 38. López J, Poitevin A, Mendoza-Martínez V, Pérez-Plasencia C, García-Carrancá A (2012) Cancer-initiating cells derived from established cervical cell lines exhibit stem-cell markers and increased radioresistance. BMC Cancer. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-12-48
- 39. Ginestier C et al (2007) ALDH1 Is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome. Cell Stem Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem. 2007.08.014
- 40. Debeb BG et al (2010) Characterizing cancer cells with cancer stem cell-like features in 293T human embryonic kidney cells. Mol Cancer. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-9-180
- 41. Varna M et al (2015) Stem cells increase in numbers in perinecrotic areas in human renal cancer. Clin Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0666

- 42. Son MJ, Woolard K, Nam DH, Lee J, Fine HA (2009) SSEA-1 Is an enrichment marker for tumor-initiating cells in human glioblastoma. Cell Stem Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem. 2009.03.003
- 43. Croagh D, Phillips WA, Redvers R, Thomas RJS, Kaur P (2007) Identification of candidate murine esophageal stem cells using a combination of cell kinetic studies and cell surface markers. Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2006-0421
- 44. Yang YM, Chang JW (2008) Bladder cancer initiating cells (BCICs) are among EMA-CD44v6+ subset: novel methods for isolating undetermined cancer stem (initiating) cells. Cancer Investig. https://doi.org/10.1080/07357900801941845
- 45. Dobbin ZC, Landen CN (2013) Isolation and characterization of potential cancer stem cells from solid human tumors-potential applications. Curr Protoc Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10. 1002/0471141755.ph1428s63
- 46. Aplin AC, Nicosia RF (2016) The aortic ring assay and its use for the study of tumor. Tumor Angiogenes Assays Methods Protoc 1464:63–72
- Keysar SB, Jimeno A (2010) More than markers: biological significance of cancer stem celldefining molecules. Mol Cancer Ther. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-10-0530
- Ding XW, Wu JH, Jiang CP (2010) ABCG2: a potential marker of stem cells and novel target in stem cell and cancer therapy. Life Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2010.02.012
- 49. Zhou S et al (2001) The ABC transporter Bcrp1/ABCG2 is expressed in a wide variety of stem cells and is a molecular determinant of the side-population phenotype. Nat Med. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nm0901-1028
- 50. Li WQ et al (2010) Downregulation of ABCG2 expression in glioblastoma cancer stem cells with miRNA-328 may decrease their chemoresistance. Med Sci Monit
- 51. Paduch R, Jakubowicz-Gil J, Niedziela P (2010) Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), heat shock proteins (HSPS) and multidrug resistance protein (MRP) expression in co-culture of colon tumor spheroids with normal cells after incubation with interleukin-1β (IL-1β and)/or camptothecin (CPT-11). Indian J Exp Biol
- Chuthapisith S, Eremin J, El-Sheemey M, Eremin O (2010) Breast cancer chemoresistance: emerging importance of cancer stem cells. Surg Oncol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.suronc.2009. 01.004
- 53. Misawa A et al (2010) AP-1-dependent miR-21 expression contributes to chemoresistance in cancer stem cell-like SP cells. Oncol Res. https://doi.org/10.3727/ 096504010X12828372551759
- 54. Tang QL et al (2011) Enrichment of osteosarcoma stem cells by chemotherapy. Chin J Cancer. https://doi.org/10.5732/cjc.011.10127
- Donnenberg VS, Donnenberg AD (2005) Multiple drug resistance in cancer revisited: the cancer stem cell hypothesis. J Clin Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091270005276905
- Dean M, Fojo T, Bates S (2005) Tumour stem cells and drug resistance. Nat Rev Cancer. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrc1590
- Eyler CE, Rich JN (2008) Survival of the fittest: cancer stem cells in therapeutic resistance and angiogenesis. J Clin Oncol. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2007.15.1829
- 58. Hirschmann-Jax C et al (2004) A distinct 'side population' of cells with high drug efflux capacity in human tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:14228–14233
- Gilbert CA, Ross AH (2009) Cancer stem cells: cell culture, markers, and targets for new therapies. J Cell Biochem. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.22350
- 60. Shen G et al (2008) Identification of cancer stem-like cells in the C6 glioma cell line and the limitation of current identification methods. Vitr Cell Dev Biol Anim. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11626-008-9115-z
- Reynolds BA, Weiss S (1992) Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science. (80-). https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1553558
- 62. Singh SK et al (2003) Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Res 63:5821–5828
- 63. Kondo T, Setoguchi T, Taga T (2004) Persistence of a small subpopulation of cancer stem-like cells in the C6 glioma cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101(3):1–6

- 64. Welm BE et al (2002) Sca-1 pos cells in the mouse mammary gland represent an enriched progenitor cell population. Devl biol 56:42–56
- 65. Cotsarelis G, Sun T, Lavker RM (1990) label-retaining cells reside in the bulge area of pilosebaceous unit: implications for follicular stem cells, hair cycle, and skin carcinogenesis. Cell 61:1329–1337
- 66. Kim SJ et al (2004) Methods in cell physiology isolation of nuclei from label-retaining cells and measurement of their turnover rates in rat colon. Am J Physio Cell Physiol 3104:1464–1473
- Patrawala L et al (2006) Highly purified CD44 b prostate cancer cells from xenograft human tumors are enriched in tumorigenic and metastatic progenitor cells:1696–1708. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/sj.onc.1209327
- Sládek NE (2003) Human aldehyde dehydrogenases: potential pathological, pharmacological, and toxicological impact. J Biochem Mol Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbt.10057
- 69. Charafe-Jauffret E et al (2009) Breast cancer cell lines contain functional cancer stem sells with metastatic capacity and a distinct molecular signature. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-08-2741
- 70. Cheung AMS et al (2007) Aldehyde dehydrogenase activity in leukemic blasts defines a subgroup of acute myeloid leukemia with adverse prognosis and superior NOD/SCID engrafting potential. Leukemia. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2404721
- Corti S et al (2006) Identification of a primitive brain-derived neural stem cell population based on aldehyde dehydrogenase activity. Stem Cells. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0217
- 72. Khan MI et al (2015) Current approaches in identification and isolation of human renal cell carcinoma cancer stem cells. Stem Cell Res Therapy. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-015-0177-z
- Lathia JD (2013) Cancer stem cells: moving past the controversy. CNS oncology. https://doi. org/10.2217/cns.13.42
- 74. Salnikov AV et al (2010) CD133 is indicative for a resistance phenotype but does not represent a prognostic marker for survival of non-small cell lung cancer patients. Int J Cancer. https://doi. org/10.1002/ijc.24822
- 75. Bertolini G et al (2009) Highly tumorigenic lung cancer CD133+ cells display stem-like features and are spared by cisplatin treatment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.0905653106
- 76. Beier D et al (2007) CD133+ and CD133- glioblastoma-derived cancer stem cells show differential growth characteristics and molecular profiles. Cancer Res. https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-06-4180
- Shackleton M, Quintana E, Fearon ER, Morrison SJ (2009) Heterogeneity in cancer: cancer stem cells versus clonal evolution. Cell 138:822–829
- Iliopoulos D, Hirsch HA, Wang G, Struhl K (2011) Inducible formation of breast cancer stem cells and their dynamic equilibrium with non-stem cancer cells via IL6 secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1018898108
- Ricci-Vitiani L et al (2007) Identification and expansion of human colon-cancer-initiating cells. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05384
- Wang W et al (2014) Dynamics between cancer cell subpopulations reveals a model coordinating with both hierarchical and stochastic concepts. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0084654
- Wang JCY, Dick JE (2005) Cancer stem cells: lessons from leukemia. Trends Cell Biol. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2005.07.004
- Blair A, Hogge DE, Ailles LE, Lansdorp PM, Sutherland HJ (1997) Lack of expression of Thy-1 (CD90) on acute myeloid leukemia cells with long-term proliferative ability in vitro and in vivo. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v89.9.3104
- Quintana E et al (2008) Efficient tumour formation by single human melanoma cells. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07567
- 84. Taussig DC et al (2008) Anti-CD38 antibody mediated clearance of human repopulating cells masks the heterogeneity of leukemia-initiating cells. Blood. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-10-118331



Targeting Therapies for Cancer Stem Cells 16

Manash K. Paul, Vijay R. Marati, Yuvaraj Sambandam, Lurdes Queimado, Gautam Chaudhuri, Ilangovan Ramachandran, and R. Ileng Kumaran

M. K. Paul

Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA

V. R. Marati Independent Consultant, Medical Writing, Tucson, AZ, USA

Y. Sambandam Immune Monitoring Core, Comprehensive Transplant Center, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA

L. Queimado

Department of Otorhinolaryngology – Head and Neck Surgery, The University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Department of Cell Biology, The University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

Department of Pediatrics, The University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK, USA

G. Chaudhuri

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA

I. Ramachandran

Department of Endocrinology, Dr. ALM PG Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, University of Madras, Taramani Campus, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: ilangovan@unom.ac.in

R. I. Kumaran (⊠) Biology Department, Farmingdale State College, Farmingdale, NY, USA e-mail: ramachi@farmingdale.edu

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_16 273

Abstract

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) represent a small subpopulation of the bulk of a tumor. The CSCs possess the characteristics of self-renewal, clonal repopulation and resistance to conventional therapies, and thereby contribute to cancer metastasis and relapse. Moreover, CSCs establish homeostasis under stress via autophagy, endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-stress-mediated unfolded protein response (UPR) pathways, and mitophagy. Recent evidence indicate that besides many protein molecules, the noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs) also play a significant role in CSC growth and maintenance, as well as in cancer metastasis and therapeutic resistance. Therefore, targeting the CSCs has evolved as an important strategy for cancer therapy. Recent advancements in cancer immunotherapy has shown excellent application of its potential in targeting CSCs. Various immunotherapy approaches like immune checkpoint inhibitors, dendritic cell (DC)-based vaccines, adoptive T-cell therapy, oncolytic viruses, and combination therapies are currently used to target the CSCs. Also, recent multi-omic technologies can divulge exclusive CSC-associated cell surface markers, which can be used in detection or therapeutics of CSCs for various cancers. Additionally, detection of CSC-specific neoantigens can help in the design of new immunotherapeutics for cancers. Available literature suggests that many types of cancers have CSCs located in anatomically distinct niches within the tumor microenvironment (TME), which help in CSC's survival and maintenance. Unique pro-survival and anti-survival intercellular and intracellular cross talk also exists among the CSCs, its niche and/or TME. Modulating unique CSC-niche/ TME interaction(s) can reduce the maintenance potential of CSCs, and thereby prevent tumor development and progression or cancer metastasis. Many important cell signaling pathways play a key role in the maintenance and regulation of CSCs. Several new potential therapeutic molecules that could specifically target the CSCs or their signaling pathways to overcome cancer metastasis, treatmentresistance or relapse, are being developed. Furthermore, the emerging clinical studies strongly support the use of drugs as a monotherapy or in combination with other available standard therapies. This chapter highlights the roles of various critical CSC markers and pathways in or around the CSCs, and the several CSC-targeting approaches or therapies that are used or being developed to treat cancer for a cure.

Keywords

Noncoding RNAs · Unfolded protein response (UPR) ·

Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress · Autophagy · Cancer stem cells (CSCs) · Immunotherapy · Dendritic cell (DC)-based vaccine · Adoptive immunotherapy · Oncolytic virotherapy · Combination chemotherapy · CSC cell surface markers · CSC-associated tumor microenvironment · CSC signaling pathway · Hedgehog · Notch · Wnt/ β -catenin

16.1 Introduction

Cancer is a major public health problem and remains the second most common cause of death globally, despite the intense efforts in cancer research and rapid improvement of treatment strategies in the past decade. Resistance to cancer therapeutics and relapse are the most pertinent problems in cancer drug development. It is estimated that a total of 9.5 million people die every year worldwide [1], and in the USA alone, an estimated 606,880 people died of cancer in 2019 (https://seer.cancer.gov/ statfacts/html/all.html). Tumor phenotypic heterogeneity along with the complex tumor microenvironment (TME) presents an exciting challenge in targeting therapy resistance. Tumor heterogeneity here refers to the existence of subpopulations of tumor cells, with distinct genotypes and phenotypes that may harbor different biological behaviors, within a primary tumor or after it metastasize and forms secondary tumors, i.e., between tumors of the same histopathological subtype (intra- and inter-tumor variability, respectively) [2]. It has been noted that tumor heterogeneity is, in part, controlled by a small population of cells called cancer stem cells (CSCs). The CSC model was first identified in leukemia, which proved the existence of a small population of cells capable of initiating leukemia, also generally called as tumor initiating cells (TICs) [3].

Generally, there are three types of normal stem cells that exist in mammals including human namely, embryonic stem cells, adult germinal and somatic stem cells. These normal stem cells can renew themselves, differentiate into multiple cell types or lineages, and maintain a balance between self-renewal and differentiation [4]. Like normal stem cells, CSCs also have the capacity to self-renew and differentiate into different types of cells. But, CSCs differ from normal stem cells by having the potential to induce tumorigenesis. So far, studies have proposed that CSCs form a subset of the tumor cells within TME and are ultimately responsible for tumor initiation, progression, and recurrence [5]. In addition, CSCs exhibit the properties of resistance to chemo/radiotherapy, cellular apoptotic pathways and immune evasion. CSCs can also potentially confer these properties to the cells that reside in their niche or TME or tumor. The knowledge acquired from CSC signaling pathways in recent years has enabled a better understanding of CSC biology and improved the strategies on therapeutic drug development. In the Chapter 2 of this book, "Types of Cancer Stem Cells" are discussed in more detail.

The discovery of CSCs brought a new perspective in the search for therapeutic targets to tackle cancer. CSCs are a rare subpopulation of the tumor cells, which possess self-renewal properties, and contribute to tumor heterogeneity and therapeutic resistance. Mounting experimental evidence suggests the existence of CSCs in several human cancers, suggesting a commonality among different tumor types, and therefore a potential therapeutic target for various cancer treatments [6, 7]. Heightened DNA-damage response, accumulation of drug efflux transporters, dysregulated apoptosis, cellular quiescence and self-renewal are the unique attributes of CSCs [8]. Therefore, a patient-specific combination therapy approach using CSC-specific targeting along with other available therapeutics to attack the bulk tumor, could improve the therapeutic outcomes in cancer patients [9].

CSCs achieve apoptotic resistance by activating the unfolded protein response (UPR) in response to extrinsic and intrinsic stress. A strong association exists between the upregulated UPR, autophagy and tumor phenotype in many cancers. Therefore, targeting the CSCs and tumor cells-specific-UPR and autophagy pathways can help to induce cellular apoptosis, and kill these cells to eliminate tumor cells [10]. Success in immunotherapy-based tumor targeting has provided renewed hopes in cancer therapy. CSCs exhibit resistance towards chemo/radiotherapy. Immunotherapy with two-pronged approaches of activating the body's immune system and suppressing the tumor cells-imparted immune (evasion) inhibitory effect can lead to egression of tumors and successful elimination of tumors [11]. Targeting CSCs is gaining huge attention among anticancer therapies because of its specificity and potentially very low adverse effects on normal cells [12, 13]. Different approaches to target CSCs such as dendritic cell (DC)-based vaccine, adoptive immunotherapy, oncolytic virotherapy and combination chemotherapy are discussed in this chapter.

CSCs possess normal stem cell-like characteristics and depend on the activation of stem cell-related signaling pathways. In this chapter, we will also focus on the most recent therapeutic strategies in development for targeting CSC's signaling pathways such as Hedgehog (Hh), Notch and Wnt/β-catenin (Fig. 16.1), and other pathways. In normal stem cells, these pathways are highly regulated, but show abnormal activation in CSCs, causing uncontrolled proliferation, dysregulated apoptosis and differentiation. The evolutionary uniqueness, underlying genetic signatures and associated networks create unique phenotypic signatures of CSCs. Harnessing, the strengths of genome-wide screening, proteomics and flow cytometry techniques can help to identify CSC-specific and unique cell surface marker profiles to distinguish CSCs from other tumor and normal cells [14]. A unique patientspecific cancer or CSC marker signature will contribute to a better understanding of the underlying regulatory mechanisms and more effective targeted therapies. Recent studies have suggested the existence of both protumor and antitumor signaling interactions between the CSCs and TME. The TME consists of several cell types and is a place for reciprocal interactions, leading to a favorable niche for the maintenance of the CSCs [15]. Targeting the CSC-associated niche and TME can curb the tumor proliferation and metastasis, as discussed in this chapter. Moreover, therapies targeting CSC's markers and signaling pathways or immunotherapies, and epigenetic modifiers that are used, or currently being explored in clinical settings are also dicussed in this chapter.

There are many options to treat cancers depending upon the stage or severity and may involve the use of single or combination treatments such as surgery, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and targeted therapies. However, currently mono- or combination therapies targeting CSCs remain the most promising mode of cancer treatment. Therefore, this book chapter focuses on CSC-targeting strategies for cancer therapy.



Fig. 16.1 Schematic representation of the molecular pathway linking endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress response, autophagy, and apoptosis in cancer stem cells (CSCs). Accumulation of unfolded proteins triggers the unfolded protein response (UPR) and creates ER stress. UPR activation is initiated by the stimulation of stress sensors on the ER membrane. The important components include protein kinase R-like ER kinase (PERK), inositol-requiring enzyme 1 alpha (IRE1a), and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6). IRE1 RNAse domain mediates mRNA splicing and activation of the functional transcription factor X-box binding protein 1 spliced form (XBP1). PERK inhibits global protein translation by phosphorylating eukaryotic initiation factor 2 alpha (eIF2 α) and activating the translation of autophagy (ATG) related genes via activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4). ATF6 translocates from the ER to the Golgi, followed by proteasemediated cleavage and the release of the active form ATF6 basic leucine zipper domain (ATF6bZIP). After translocation into the nucleus, XBP1s, ATF4, and ATF6bZIP activate the translation of specific genes involved in ER stress regulation. Several other pathways also interact with the ER stress pathway and induce autophagy. A high-level or continuous UPR signaling can activate apoptosis. CSCs activate the autophagy pathway to gain survival advantages. Autophagy is also important for maintenance of CSC pluripotency, imparts protection against cellular stress, activates chemo- and immune resistance, regulates cell migration and invasion, and thereby influences metastasis

16.2 Targeting CSC-Associated Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Autophagy Pathways

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is a membrane-bound organelle and a site for protein folding, posttranslational modification of proteins, lipid synthesis, glycogen metabolism and calcium homeostasis. The ER homeostasis may get perturbed in some pathological state or stressful conditions, which can lead to an abundant accumulation of misfolded and/or unfolded proteins or vice versa. Then, adaptive signaling mechanisms, senses and detects these stress-inducing conditions or events, and evokes the ER's "unfolded protein response" (UPR) stress pathways, leading to the restoration of ER homeostasis [16]. Different ER membrane sensors, including inositol-requiring enzyme 1 alpha (IRE1 α), protein kinase RNA (PKR)-like ER kinase (PERK) and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6), are some of the key molecules that play a role in sensing the stress and activating the UPR mechanisms, and they help to restore and maintain ER homeostasis (Fig. 16.1) [17]. IRE1 α , PERK and other receptor tyrosine kinases that are located in the ER membrane, intiate the autophosphorylation cascade and downstream signaling pathways as shown in Fig. 16.1. Autophagy, an evolutionarily conserved process of lysosomal degradation and recycling of defective macromolecules, and pernicious organelles, is tightly regulated by the UPR pathway. Autophagy is a complex multistep process involving cargo recognition, packaging, vesicle nucleation, sequestration and complete formation of the autophagosome, and finally fusion with the lysosomes [18, 19]. IRE1 α phosphorylates mitogen-activated protein kinase 8 (MAPK8), which then interacts with c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and triggers the downstream effectors followed by autophagy. During ER stress response, JNK indirectly activates the Beclin 1, a coiled-coil myosin-like BCL2-interacting protein-mediated autophagy pathway. ER stress can also stimulate calcium release from the ER, followed by calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase β (CaMKK β) phosphorylation and activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK). The AMPK removes the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR)-induced inactivation of the unc-51 like autophagy activating kinase 1 (ULK1) complex, and thereby activates autophagy. ER stressassociated calcium release can also activate death-associated protein kinase (DAPK)-Beclin 1 pathway for autophagy induction. ER stress also induces another arm of UPR response via PERK-mediated autophagy [20]. PERK-eukaryotic initiation factor 2 alpha (eIF2a)-ATF4 pathway activates CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP) homologous protein (CHOP)-mediated autophagy. An overview of the ER stress signaling and its association with apoptosis and autophagy is shown in Fig. 16.1.

Tumor cells and CSCs are subjected to extrinsic and intrinsic stress, and they activate the UPR pathway as a survival strategy. A strong association exists between the upregulated UPR and cancer progression in several tumor types. CSCs activate autophagy to achieve a significant pro-tumorigenic advantages in many cancer types. Activated ER stress and autophagy in CSCs provide several pro-tumorigenic advantages including self-renewal, resistance to stress from adverse environmental conditions such as hypoxia or low nutrients, resistance to drugs during therapy, modulation of anticancer immunity, and activation of migration and invasion properties (Fig. 16.1). Hence, targeting the CSC's UPR and autophagy pathways, can sensitize CSCs to apoptosis and thereby help to strategize cancer treatment therapies [10, 21, 22].

ALDH⁺ CSCs from mammary ductal carcinomas are dependent on Beclin 1 autophagic flux for survival and tumorigenesis [23, 24]. Autophagic flux imparts survival advantage, plasticity and stemness in CD44⁺CD24⁻ breast CSCs [25]. shRNA screens have also helped to confirm the role of autophagy in the maintenance of breast CSCs and revealed autophagy-related protein 4 homolog A

(ATG4A), a cysteine peptidase and Janus kinase (JAK)/signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) signaling pathways as important mediators [26–28]. Autophagy inhibition, through targeted deletion of the FIP200 component of the CD29^{hi}CD61⁺ mouse mammary CSCs in MMTV-PyMT and MMTV-Wnt1 transgenic mice, showed strong autophagic dependence [29, 30]. ER stress and other stresses [hypoxia and transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β)] are prevalent in the TME and induce both EMT and autophagy gene expression in CSCs. EMT induction also promotes a CSC phenotype in breast cancer [31–33]. Other CSCs also exhibit autophagic dependence, including those from human hepatocellular carcinoma [34, 35], pancreatic cancer [36, 37], bladder cancer [38], colorectal cancer [36, 39], chronic myeloid leukemia [40], and glioblastoma [41]. Hypoxia-induced autophagy activates immune resistance from T cell cytotoxicity [42]. Thus, UPR and autophagy pathways have become an exciting target for therapeutic exploration to eliminate CSCs.

Chloroquine (CQ) and hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) are the main autophagy inhibitors that have been tried and tested in the clinic [10, 43, 44]. Small-molecule inhibitors targeting the catalytic components of the autophagosome biogenesis pathway (ULK1, VPS34, and ATG4B), Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT/ mTOR and the mitophagy pathway are also being evaluated for their antitumor properties. The important druggable targets include mTOR, ULK1, VPS34, Beclin 1, ATG7, and ATG4. Lys05 is a dimeric chloroquine that has been reported to be significantly more potent than HCQ and is under preclinical trials [45, 46]. A quinacrine derivative (DQ661) showed a robust anticancer effect in several cancer types [47]. Several clinical trials are underway exploring the synergistic cytotoxicity of anticancer drugs with autophagy inhibitor CQ and HCQ on different cancer types [10, 43]. Further investigation to better understand the tissue and cancer-specific role of the UPR, autophagy flux, and apoptosis is needed to facilitate the design of better pharmacological modulators for targeting CSCs.

16.3 Cancer Stem Cell (CSC)-Specific Immunotherapy

The immune system combats the initiation and progression of cancer, and it's failure leads to tumor progression. CSCs exhibit resistance toward small-molecule inhibitors and thereby limit the therapeutic response. Recent advances in immune oncology have raised hopes for targeting CSCs using immunotherapy-based approaches. Currently, immunotherapy is aimed not only at potentiating and harnessing the strength of the immune system but also to suppress the immune inhibitory effect imparted by the tumor cells. Recent evidence has clearly shown that inhibiting tumor cells' immunosuppressive effect can lead to the successful elimination of the tumor. CSCs, by virtue of their inherent properties like self-renewal, low abundance, and chemo- and radiotherapy resistance, present a significant therapeutic challenge. Preclinical and clinical efforts are underway to harness the immunotherapy-based strategies to successfully eliminate CSCs and induce tumor



Fig. 16.2 Immune synapse between antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and T cells. Signal 1 involves the presentation of an antigenic peptide by MHC II molecule and its identification by the antigen-specific T cell receptor (TCR). Signal 2 corresponds to the synapse stabilization by co-stimulatory molecules, leading to an activation signal. Interaction with cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA4), on the other hand, produces inhibitory signals (not shown). Signal 3 helps to generate a T cell effector phenotype and is dependent on cytokine secretion by APCs

regression [11]. Different immunotherapy approaches to target CSCs are elaborated under specific subtitles.

16.3.1 Dendritic Cell (DC)-Based Vaccines for CSCs

Alterations in the genomic DNA or mutations can cause changes in protein sequence and function contributing to tumorigenesis. The patient's human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules can present the novel tumor-specific peptides or neoantigens to the immune cells and thereby elicit an immune response. Innovative immunogenomic techniques, including whole genome or exome sequencing technologies, HLA haplotyping, HLA binding computational predictions, T-cell receptor (TCR) sequencing, and immunophenotyping, have collectively paved the path to elucidate the tumor-specific mutant antigens or neoantigens. The complete understanding of the neoantigens' repertoire can help design cancer immunotherapies for specific tumor types [48, 49]. Dendritic cells (DCs) are the most efficient antigen-presenting cells (APCs). DCs can conventionally present (exogenous antigens as MHC II-associated peptides to CD4⁺ T cells; endogenous antigens as MHC I-associated peptide to CD8⁺ T cells) as well as cross-present (exogenous antigens as MHC I-associated peptides) and thereby accomplish more efficient T cell activation. T cell activation is not only dependent on a cognate antigen (signal 1) but also on co-stimulatory signals present on the APC cell surface (signal 2; e.g., CD86, CD40, CD80) and cytokine signaling (signal 3), Fig. 16.2. An immunosuppressive microenvironment is promoted by most tumor cells to limit immune efficacy. DCs provide a robust platform for integrating all relevant signals required for T cell priming with appropriate cancer antigens, leading to a strong antitumoral immune response [50, 51]. Autologous DC-based vaccines to activate in situ T cell mediated antitumor response and concomitant reversal of the immune suppression might lead to successful combinatorial immunotherapies in the future.

Several pioneering discoveries that showed DCs as highly specialized APCs, DC-mediated T cell priming, and the role of cancer antigen in cancer immunotherapy led to the concept of the DC vaccine. The first-generation DC vaccines relied mostly on patient-isolated DCs or ex vivo differentiated monocyte-derived immature or semi-immature DCs (mo-DCs). These DCs were then primed with tumor cell lysate and synthetic antigenic peptides and achieved limited success against certain tumor types (melanoma, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma). The second-generation DC vaccines relied on fully mature mo-DCs primed with recombinant antigenic peptides and irradiated tumor cell lysates. Results from several clinical trials suggest greater clinical efficacy. The next-generation DC vaccines focus on a specific subset of patient-derived DCs (e.g., BDCA1/CD1c⁺ myeloid DCs and BDCA3/CD141⁺ myeloid DCs) for efficient memory T cell generation and immune response. Table 16.1 shows the recent advances in targeting CSCs by immunotherapy regimens that are a part of clinical trials. Patients' peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) can be differentiated into DCs and sensitized with cancer cell lines or CSC lysate or patient tumor lysate and can be used as vaccines to potentiate the antitumoral immune response (Fig. 16.3) [49]. The efficacy of DC-based vaccines is evident in multiple cancers. Ning et al. [52] demonstrated the cell-killing efficacy of ALDH^{hi} CSC-pulsed DCs in an immunocompetent murine model using D5 melanoma and SCC7 squamous cell cancer [52]. DCs charged with pancreatic CSC lysate (enriched from Panc-1 sphere cultured cells) induced enhanced immune killing and robust antitumor cytokine production [53]. ALDH^{hi} CSC-pulsed DCs inhibited pulmonary metastasis of primary tumor melanoma and squamous cell carcinoma and induced B cell priming toward CSCs [54]. A DC-based vaccine against CSCs in mouse malignant melanoma (B16F10 lysate) showed a decrease of metastatic tumor burden in mice model [55]. The efficacy of DC primed with CSC lysate on tumor burden is also evident in other studies [56, 57]. CSCs from pancreatic and lung cancer cell lines pulsed with DCs can lead to successful T cell stimulation [58]. Another approach includes the fusion of DCs with tumor cells, which lead to the DC/hepatocellular carcinoma stem cell vaccine that provides the potential to generate polyclonal immune responses and can provide a unique method to target CSCs [59]. Examples of clinical trials based on DC-based vaccines and cancer immunotherapies aimed at targeting CSCs are shown in Table 16.1.

Targeting the CSCs by DC immunotherapy can be challenging as CSCs express low MHC I molecules and other innate immune receptors and are resistant to immune effector cells. Concomitant overexpression of pluripotency markers renders the CSCs immune resistant. Moreover, cytokines and chemokines released by the stromal cell population and some immune cells suppress antitumor immunity.

ased cancer ii gainst G c vaccine G cr newly G nt tu	onditions muunotherapy against CSCs lioblastoma lioblastoma unor Astrocytoma Brain unor	Interventions Biological: DC immunization Drug: adjuvant temozolomide Biological: DC vaccination, in addition to standard temozolomide chemotherapy and involved field radiation therapy Biological: DC vaccination, with optional bevacizumab treatment for patients previously treated with bevacizumab	NCT number NCT03548571 NCT02010606	Study period Apr 2018 to May 2023 Jan 2014 to Apr 2021 2021	Locations Oslo University Hospital Cedars-Sinai Medical Center
liob rain	lastoma tumor	Biological: DC vaccine with mRNA from tumor stem cells	NCT00846456	Jan 2009 to Feb 2013	Oslo University Hospital
gun		Biological: cancer stem cell vaccine	NCT02084823	Mar 2014 to Dec 2014	Biological treatment center in Fuda Cancer Hospital

Table 16.1 Clinical trials of immunotherapies that targeted CSCs

A phase 1/2 study of active immunotherapy with cancer stem cell vaccine for colorectal cancer	Colorectal	Biological: cancer stem cell vaccine	NCT02176746	Jun 2014 to May 2015	Biological treatment center in Fuda Cancer Hospital
Vaccination with DC loaded with brain tumor stem cells for progressive malignant brain tumor	Brain tumor Glioblastoma Medulloblastoma Ependymoma Anaplastic astrocytoma	Biological: dendritic cells Drug: imiquimod	NCT01171469	Sep 2010 to Jun 2012	Masonic Cancer Center
Vaccine therapy in treating patients undergoing surgery for recurrent glioblastoma multiforme	Recurrent Central Nervous System Neoplasm	Biological: brain tumor stem cells mRNA-loaded DCs	NCT00890032	Sep 2009 to Feb 2016	Duke University Medical Center
Study of DC vaccination against glioblastoma	Glioma Glioblastoma multiforme Neoplasms	Procedure: surgery Drug: chemotherapy Radiation: radiotherapy Biological: DC vaccination	NCT01567202	Mar 2012 to Feb 2020	Huashan Hospital, Fudan University
Adoptive T-cell transfer (ACT)-b	ased cancer immunotherapy again	ast CSCs			
A clinical research of CAR T cells targeting EpCAM- positive cancer	Colon cancer, Esophageal carcinoma, Pancreatic cancer, Prostate cancer, Gastric cancer, Hepatic carcinoma	Biological: CAR T-cell immunotherapy	NCT03013712	Jan 2017 to Dec 2020	IEC of Chengdu Medical College
Examples of dendritic cell (DC) ar represented	nd adoptive T-cell therapy (ACT)-b	ased cancer treatment clinical trials	conducted in patie	nts with differe	nt types of cancers are



Fig. 16.3 Cancer stem cell (CSC)-specific immunotherapy. (a) Dendritic cell (DC)-based cancer immunotherapy: Autologous CD14⁺ monocytes are isolated through the process of leukapheresis from the peripheral blood of a cancer patient. The monocytes are then differentiated in the presence of GM-CSF, IL-4, and IL-13 to produce immature DCs, which are then primed with tumor-associated antigen (TAA)/CSC antigen and finally subjected to maturation cocktail to obtain mature DCs. The maturation process is followed by the injection of mature immunogenic DCs back to the patient. The immunogenic DCs facilitate antigen presentation and co-stimulation. *GM-CSF* granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, *IL-4* interleukin 4, and *IL-13* interleukin 13 (b) Adoptive T cell therapy (ACT): T cells are isolated from the patient's peripheral blood via leukapheresis and then subjected to genetic modification using a retroviral or lentiviral vector to express a specific artificial chimeric antigen receptor (CAR). CARs comprise of an extracellular antigen recognition domain, which is then fused with an intercellular T cell signaling domain and also merged with co-stimulatory domains. CAR T cells are then administered to the patient. For

Potential new strategies like adoptive T cell therapy may be useful in tackling immune resistant CSCs.

16.3.2 Adoptive Immunotherapy for CSCs

Passive immunization or popularly referred to as adoptive T cell therapy (ACT) represents the extraction of T cells from tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) or antigen-specific T cells, followed by ex vivo genetic modification and culture and the subsequent autologous transfer of the T cells to the cancer patient. ACT is achieved based on two strategies. One approach is the genetic engineering of autologous T cells to overexpress T cell receptors (TCRs) that can identify tumor-associated antigens (TAA) by viral transduction. Genetic engineering of autologous T cells to express the chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) is the other approach. CARs combine multiple signaling domains, including the single-chain variable fragments (scFv), antigen binding domain to an intracellular T cell signaling domain, and one or two co-stimulatory domains (e.g., CD3 ζ -CD28-41BB, CD3 ζ -CD28-OX40). CAR T cell therapy is an innovative and promising immunotherapy approach as it leads to T cell activation and is non-MHC restricted.

CSCs play a vital role in tumorigenesis and subsequent metastasis; hence the adoptive transfer of CAR T cells may lead to the elimination of CSCs and provide long-term disease-free survival or cure. The use of ACT targeting CSCs is limited, but scientists are exploring the possibility. Tettamanti et al. [60] transduced the adoptive transfer of cytokine-induced killer cells to target leukemia progenitors and leukemia stem cells by targeting IL3RA or CD123. A strong response against CD123⁺ cell lines and AML blast cells and a concomitant minimal killing of normal monocyte and CD123-low expressing cells were observed [60]. Deng et al. [61] used CAR T cells specific for CSC-specific marker EpCAM and showed significant response on PC3M tumor cells both in vitro and in vivo [61]. CAR T cells engineered to coexpress CAR with a membrane-bound chimeric interleukin (IL)-15 (mbIL15) promoted a stem cell memory T cell subset in CD19⁺ leukemia [62]. Though colorectal cancer exhibits a low CSC number, Miyamoto et al. [63] using an HLA ligandome analysis identified ASB4 as a colorectal CSC-specific marker. The ASB4 peptide as an epitope primed a potent CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cell (CTL) response and demonstrated significant elimination of the CSCs [63].

Adoptive transfer of natural killer (NK) cells has also shown significant success and is a potent alternative adoptive transfer strategy. Interestingly, NK cells show a

Fig. 16.3 (continued) T cell receptor (TCR) therapy, conventional TCR is inserted into a patient's T cells, followed by T cell expansion, and then injected to the patient. TCRs are composed of an α chain and a β chain and can recognize antigens only when presented on an MHC molecule. Alternatively, tumor-specific T-cells can be isolated from the tumor of a patient, expanded and injected into the patient. (c) Oncolytic virotherapy (OVT): OVT involves infection of a tumor with a genetically modified oncolytic virus to induce tumor cell killing and activation of local inflammation, followed by immune infiltration. *CTL* cytotoxic T lymphocyte, *TAA* tumor-associated antigen, *MHC* major histocompatibility complex, *TNF-* α tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and *IFN* interferon

preferential targeting of the CSC phenotype and thereby highlight the possibility of the use of NK-based immunotherapy [64]. Multiple exciting studies have shown the potency of NK cell-based adoptive therapy in CD54/ICAM-1 in breast cancer [65] and IL-2- and IL-15-mediated activation of NK targeting of chemoresistant bladder cancer stem-like cells [66]. Though several laboratories worldwide are exploring the benefits of adoptive immunotherapy, very few studies have reached the clinical trial level, suggesting an unexplored area that is worth to investigate (Table 16.1).

16.3.3 Oncolytic Virotherapy (OVT) for CSCs

Viruses can infect healthy cells and cause diseases. Certain viruses are known to target cancer cells specifically and are called oncolytic viruses. Oncolytic viruses can kill cancer cells by multiple approaches, first by infecting, followed by intracellular replication, and finally destroy by inducing lysis of the cancer cells [67]. The second method involves the production of cancer antigens when the cancer cells die, subsequent uptake of the cancer antigens by immune cells, and T-cell activation leading to tumor cell killing [68]. Viruses can also hijack the cancer cell's apoptotic machinery and induce cell killing. Various groups have demonstrated the therapeutic efficacy of OVT on multiple cancers and CSCs [12]. Cancer cells show susceptibility toward specific viral infections because of defective interferon pathways (e.g., myxoma virus, raccoon poxvirus, vesicular stomatitis virus) [69]. Cancer cells also exhibit expression of specific viral receptors leading to enhanced intracellular uptake of certain viruses (e.g., adenovirus, poliovirus, measles virus, etc.) [70]. Advances in the genetic engineering of viruses, success in the clinical trials of oncolytic viruses, and a better understanding of immunotherapy led to the progress of virotherapy from the laboratory to the clinic. Genetically modified oncolytic adenovirus armed with apoptosis-inducing gene tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) and using human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) promoter for driving the viral E1A gene leads to significant cytotoxicity of radioresistant esophageal cancer stem-like cells [71]. Cheema et al. [72] engineered and armed the oncolytic herpes simplex virus with the immunomodulatory cytokine interleukin 12 (G47-mIL12). G47-mIL12 showed significant therapeutic benefits in a CSC model of glioblastoma [72]. The genetically modified oncolytic adenovirus (using hTERT promoter for driving the viral gene E1A) on gastric cancer stem cell lines (MKN45 and MKN7) showed enhanced cytotoxicity toward gastric CSCs [73]. Oncolytic adenovirus targeting CD133 exhibited an antitumor effect on colorectal cancer and corresponding CSCs. The application of oncolytic viruses has also been used on breast cancer [75, 76], ovarian cancer [77], and colon CSCs [78]. Many different oncolytic viruses are being tried and tested in clinical trials. T-Vec is the first to receive US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for the treatment of metastatic melanoma, suggesting the need for further investigations in the field of OVT.

16.4 Targeting CSCs via Combination Chemotherapy

Immune checkpoint inhibitors and monoclonal antibodies have proven effective in clinical trials, but only a small fraction of patients benefit from them. Zhang et al. [79] investigated the combinatorial effect of CSC-DC vaccine and with a dual blockade of programmed death ligand 1 (PDL1) and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein (CTLA-4) on CSC targeting using B16-F10 murine melanoma tumor model. The effect of combination therapy in less immunogenic tumors raises hope. Saha et al. [80] used a immunovirotherapy (G47 Δ -mIL12) in combination with immune checkpoint blockade (CTLA-4, PD-1, PD-L1) and obtained a synergistic therapeutic response to eradicate glioblastoma. Combination chemotherapy approaches can be more efficient in combating the multiple immune escape mechanisms of the CSCs.

16.5 Targeting CSC-Associated Cell Surface Markers

Rudolf Virchow and Julius Cohnheim proposed similarities between fetal tissues and cancers more than 150 years ago [13]. Experiments on acute myelogenous leukemia by John E. Dick's laboratory first demonstrated a rare leukemia-initiating cells in mice [81]. Since this pioneering finding, many other laboratories have identified CSCs in other cancer types as well [13]. In an interesting study, Gerlinger et al. [82] analyzed nine different areas of a renal tumor including three metastatic tumors from the same patient. The data from this study revealed intra-tumoral heterogeneity and nonlinear evolution of cancer, resembling that of branched normal stem cell lineage specification. This study not only highlighted the heterogeneity but also suggested that a small population of the cells possessed the primary evolutionary stem cell-like properties [82]. CSCs constitute a subpopulation of cancer cells that are difficult to target using chemotherapy and radiation therapy. Increasing evidence suggests that CSCs lead to tumor recurrence and metastasis after cancer therapy [6]. Understanding the origin, source, regulatory mechanisms, and the process of malignant progression of CSCs has received significant attention from scientists [12]. Distinguishing CSCs from other tumor cells depends on the use of antibodies that detect cell surface markers that are sometimes nonexclusively expressed on CSCs. The underlying networks of the transcription factors that create the CSC-specific phenotyping identity may lead to a unique cell surface marker pattern relevant for targeting CSCs. Rapid application of genome-wide screening, proteomics, and cell sorting techniques have helped elucidated the CSC-specific cell surface markers in tumors from different organs. The fundamental evolution of CSCs and a list of frequently used CSC markers are presented in Fig. 16.4 [8, 9, 83–86]. In general, the CSC surface markers show commonality to that expressed on human embryonic stem cells (hESCs), but are rarely expressed in normal tissue. The Human Protein Atlas (http://www.proteinatlas.org) is an excellent source of histological data for different cell surface markers. The discovery of the CSC-specific cell surface markers not only paved the way to study the basic mechanisms governing


cancer cell stemness but also to specifically target these resistant populations. Harnessing the strength of specificity provided by cell surface markers, several targeting approaches have been explored including antibody-based targeting, targeted chemotherapy, targeted radiation therapy, and immunotherapy.

An interesting example of CSC surface molecule based-targeting is CD133, a membrane-bound glycoprotein and one of the most frequently investigated CSC markers (Fig. 16.4) [87]. CD133 is the choice for targeting CSCs in many tumors. Cytolethal distending toxin (Cdt)A^{C149A, C178A}BC-CD133 MAb, a more specific anti-CD133 antibody conjugated with Cdt toxin, showed specific inhibition of oral cancer cell proliferation [88]. dCD133KDEL is a deimmunized pseudomonas exotoxin fused to anti-CD133 scFv fragment that has shown promising results in ovarian cancer model in vivo [89], melanoma cells [90], and breast cancer cells [91]. To increase the specificity of targeting bispecific humanized EpCAM/CD133, targeted toxin (dEpCAMCD133KDEL) was synthesized using DNA shuffling and ligation technique. dEpCAMCD133KDEL showed high selectivity and tumor regression in an in vivo model (using UMSCC-11B cells) of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma [92]. Another approach with a bispecific antibody is the use of anti-CD3/anti-CD133, which led to a decrease of CD133⁺ pancreatic (SW1990) and hepatic (Hep3B) tumor cell growth in nude mice [93]. CD133-targeted nanoparticles or CD133NPs [poly(D,L lactide-co-glycolide) polymer loaded with paclitaxel] reduced MDA-MB-231 xenograft growth and decrease of the CD133⁺ population [94]. A bispecific anti-CD16/anti-CD133 antibody has been developed to engage NK cells and CD133-positive CSCs (BiKEs). BiKEs lead to enhanced NK cell engagement and activity against CD133⁺ colorectal cancer cells [95]. To improve CSC targeting trispecific CD133EpCAMCD16 antibody tagged with a toxin (TriKE) shows three ligand-specific bindings and increased cell killing of the colorectal cancer cell line (Caco-2) [96]. Immunotherapy-based approaches (ICT-121 DC vaccine) are used for targeting CD133⁺ glioblastoma cells. ICT-121 DC vaccine was successfully tested in a phase 1 trial, and results suggest that ICT-121 is both safe and well tolerated with specific immune response observed in a subset of patients (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02049489). Several pre-liminary results suggest the possibility of the use of CD133⁺ targeted approach in cancer therapeutics, new investigations, and stringent validation will aid the potential of better targeting the CSCs in the future.

Another exciting example is CD44, a transmembrane glycoprotein that functions as a hyaluronic acid receptor with many isoforms and is prominent on many CSCs (Fig. 16.4). CD44 is ubiquitously expressed in many healthy cells, but its differential splice variants (CD44v) generated by alternate splicing can be unique in different tumors and help target the CSCs [97]. CD44 variant CD44v6 is expressed in non-small cell lung cancer, pancreatic cancer, and gastric carcinoma [98–100], while CD44v9 is expressed in gastric cancer [101] and colorectal cancer [102], and CD44v8–10 is expressed in gastric CSCs [103]. Considering the expression pattern of CD44 on CSCs and its function in regulating cancer cell proliferation, metabolic shifting, and invasion, many targeting approaches have been formulated, including the anti-CD44 monoclonal antibody approach. In vivo administration of monoclonal antibody specific to the CD44 molecule, which shows efficient eradication of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) in SCID mice [104], is one approach to target CD44⁺ tumor cells. Similar reports were also published for BCR-ABL expressing leukemia [105]. Verel et al. [106] designed chimeric antibodies (BIWA-1, BIWA-2, BIWA-4, and BIWA-8) and labeled with rhenium 186 (¹⁸⁶Re) isotope leading to a higher degree of specification and efficacy. Further experiments with BIWA Abs conjugated with isotope Tc-99 and cytotoxic drug mertansine showed promising results with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in phase 1 clinical trials [107, 108].

Several nanotechnology-based platforms have also been explored to achieve CD44 targeting for cancer therapy. An anti-CD44 monoclonal antibody loaded with chitosan nanoparticles coated with polylactic acid was effective against human ovarian cancer cells in vivo [109]. A new approach to tag anti-CD44 antibody with modified superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONPs) and using alternating magnetic field treatment led to magnetic hyperthermia and significant tumor reduction in human oral squamous cell carcinoma xenograft model in nude mice [110]. Chen et al. [111] developed anti-CD44 and anti-CD133 antibody conjugated all-trans retinoic acid-loaded poly-lecithin-PEG nanoparticles (CD44/CD133–ATRA-PLPN) to target gastric CSCs and showed encouraging results. These nanoparticles provide a platform for targeting multiple CSCs populations [111]. Appropriately functionalized carbon nanotubes (CNTs), including single-walled CNTs (SWCNT) and multiwalled CNTs (MWCNT), are being used as nano-carriers for anticancer drugs and noninvasive imaging [112]. MWCNTs functionalized with hyaluronic acid (a ligand for CD44 receptors) and α -tocopherol

succinate and loaded with anticancer drug doxorubicin (α -TOS-HA-MWCNT-DOX conjugate) were used to target the CD44 receptors overexpressed in MDA-MB-231 triple-negative breast cancer cells [113]. In an another recent study, Gautam et al. [114] used a similar CD44 receptor targeting approach and used hyaluronic acid-modified PEGylated DOX-STS loaded phyto-liposome, which showed an increased antitumor effect in the MDA-MB-231 xenograft tumor model.

Interestingly, nanoparticle systems are also designed to promote an antigeninduced immune response in CD44 receptor overexpressed cells. Hyaluronic acid was also modified into the outer shell of the 3s-PLGA-PEG nanoparticles to improve immune cell uptake. 3s-PLGA-PO-PEG/HA nanoparticles (PHO NPs) were targeted to CD44⁺ cells, and in vivo experiments resulted in avid T cell response accompanied by modest stimulation of memory T cells [115]. Several other studies have elaborated different therapeutic strategies including neutralizing antibodies, peptide mimetics, aptamers, HA-directed nanoparticles, and CAR T cell-based targeting of CD44⁺ cancer cells and are in various stages of development.

Other CSC-specific cell surface markers have also been used for CSC targeting. Therefore, total profiling of the CSC surface markers can help differentiate CSCs from normal tissue stem cells and better understand their physiological and functional properties in terms of tumor progression and provide therapeutic benefit to the patient.

16.6 Targeting CSC-Associated Tumor Microenvironment and Metastasis

The tumor microenvironment (TME) contains several cell types, as well as their derived soluble factors (e.g., cytokines and chemokines). TME is constituted by various kinds of cells, including mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), endothelial cells, immune cells, fibroblasts, tumor cells, adipocytes, etc., which utilize reciprocal interactions and influence CSC properties and functions (Fig. 16.5). Tumor cells and CSCs modulate the microenvironment via various signaling cues in the form of cell-cell contact and secreted factors [e.g., IL-6, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF)], to alter the properties of the stromal cells into a favorable support system for the maintenance of the CSCs. Like the normal stem cells, CSCs also reside in specific niches. CSC niche is a particular microenvironment, in which the CSCs can maintain their principal properties like self-renewal, ability to form a clonal tumor, long-term repopulation potential, plasticity, and potential to evade cell death and metastasize [116]. The CSC niche is an integral component of the TME and collectively considered as the adjacent stroma along with the tumor cells [117]. Understanding the spatiotemporal dynamics of TME pattern formation, maintenance of CSC functional heterogeneity, reciprocal cross talk, and immune suppression by the component cells can help target the TME and CSC niche.



Fig. 16.5 Cancer stem cells and the tumor microenvironment (TME). TME-associated important cell types and their spatial localizations are shown

Solid tumors are complex tissues, as shown in Fig. 16.5. As the primary tumor grows, inadequate vascularization within tumor leads to increased hypoxia and ROS generation, which in turn activates the CSC's stress signaling pathways. CSCs activate the production of angiogenic factors to stimulate angiogenesis [116]. The tumor cells and CSCs also secrete cytokines, chemokines, and other soluble factors to attract the MSCs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAM), tumor-associated neutrophil (TAN), and regulatory T cells (Treg), i.e., the pro-tumorigenic components. CSCs establish reciprocal interaction with the MSCs. While the CSCs secrete IL-6 to stimulate MSCs, the MSCs secrete C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 12 (CXCL12), IL-6, and IL-8 to activate CSC stemness. The tumor cells and CSCs also secrete macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF), granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) that attract and stimulate the expansion of pro-tumorigenic cell populations. These pro-tumorigenic cells contribute to a pro-tumorigenic and pro-metastatic effect and thereby promote tumor growth. On the contrary immune components like the cytotoxic T cells, helper T cells, natural killer cell (NK), and dendritic cells (DC) lead to an antitumor effect [118]. The pro-tumorigenic cells block the immunosurveillance of the antitumor adoptive and innate immune responses.

Cancer metastasis is a multistep process, including epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), neoangiogenesis, metastatic niche creation, cell migration primarily through the blood vessel, and establishment of secondary tumors. For detailed information on cancer metastasis, please refer to our "Chapter 8: CSCs and Tumour Aggressiveness" in this book. In the TME, the CAFs and TAMs coordinate and activate the pro-angiogenic switch to activate angiogenesis and invasiveness. The TME in the presence of cytokines secreted by the tumor stroma induces a specific population of CSCs to undergo EMT and thereby renders them invasive. CSCs and tumor cells can also hijack normal MSC niches and colonize, modify, and manipulate distant tissue niches for future colonization and create perivascular metastatic niches [119]. Mutational analysis suggests that CSCs harbor alterations in critical developmental pathways that are essential regulators of cell cycle and differentiation, including the Notch, Wnt/β-catenin, Hedgehog, and Hippo pathways [118]. The TME is characterized by the reciprocal interactions among these developmental pathways and also with other tumorigenic signaling pathways, including the nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB), MAPK, PI3K/AKT/mTOR, and EGFR cascades leading to tumor progression and metastasis. NOTCH mutations are not only associated with tumorigenesis but also reported to play a key role in EMT induction, neoangiogenesis, anoikis resistance, malignant cell expansion, and aiding in metastatic cell homing [120–122]. Activation of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is clinically associated with tumorigenesis, migration, and also invasion [123, 124]. Similar involvement of the Hedgehog and the Hippo pathways are also implicated in metastasis [125-129]. Therefore, several studies have targeted the Notch, Wnt/β-catenin, Hh and Hippo signaling pathways as the primary targets for anti-CSC therapy, and the relevant, targeted signaling components are shown in Fig. 16.6 [7]. Many Notch pathway inhibitors are currently tested in clinical trials. The y-secretase inhibitors (RO4929097 and BMS-906024) are in different clinical trial phases. The anti-Notch pathway antibodies are also in various stages of trials. They include anti-NOTCH1 antibodies (brontictuzumab), anti-NOTCH2/3 antibodies (tarextumab), anti-DLL4 antibodies (demcizumab, enoticumab. MEDI0639), and anti-DLL3 antibody-drug conjugates (rovalpituzumab tesirine). There are several pharmacological inhibitors aimed at the canonical as well as the noncanonical Wnt signaling pathway that are under investigation in clinical trials. Wnt pathway inhibitors include PRI-724 (β-catenin-CBP complex antagonist), DKN-01 (anti-DKK1 antibody), ipafricept (anti-FZD8 antibody), vantictumab antibody). cirmtuzumab (anti-FZD1/2/5/7/8 (anti-ROR1 antibody). and CWP232291 (also referred as CWP291; peptidomimetic small-molecule β-catenin antagonist). The Hedgehog signaling pathway plays a vital role in embryonic development, but mutations and dysregulation in the Hedgehog pathway are also associated with many tumor types. Multiple Hedgehog pathway-specific investigating agents are currently undergoing clinical trials. The principal investigated agents are glasdegib (small-molecule inhibitor of a Sonic HH), sonidegib (smoothened antagonist), vismodegib (smoothened inhibitor), taladegib (smoothened antagonist), and saridegib (smoothened antagonist). Pevonedistat (NEDD8 inhibitor) is an investigational agent that targets the Hippo signaling pathway [118]. Specific agents targeting CSC signaling pathways have received FDA approval, including the Hedgehog pathway inhibitor glasdegib for the treatment of AML patients, and have raised hopes for efficient cancer cure.



Fig. 16.6 Therapies targeting key signaling pathways associated with CSC-directed metastasis. Schematic diagram shows the specific signaling pathway components that are targeted by agents, which are currently under clinical investigation. The numbers relate to the specific target and to the type of inhibitors tested. (1) mAbs to NOTCH ligands; decoy NOTCH receptors; anti-DLL3 antibody-drug conjugates (ADCs), (2) mAbs to NOTCH receptors, (3) γ-secretase inhibitors, (4) NOTCH-specific transcription complex inhibitors, (5) WNT secretion inhibitors/porcupine inhibitors, (6) Decoy FZD-fusion proteins; anti-FZD mAbs; anti-FZD ADCs; anti-WNT mAbs; small-molecule inhibitors, (7) Tankyrase inhibitors, (8) β-catenin inhibitors, (9) the binding protein of the cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) [CBP]-β-catenin antagonists; Traf2 and Nck-interacting protein kinase (TNIK) inhibitors, (10) HH blockers, (11) SMO antagonists, (12) Small-molecule GLI inhibitors, (13) Macrophage stimulating 1 (MST1) upstream signal inhibitors, (14) Yes-associated protein (YAP) inhibitors, and (15) Transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding motif (TAZ) inhibitors. The color of each number indicates the pathway being targeted: yellow, Notch pathway; pink, Wnt pathway; light blue, HH pathway; and green, Hippo pathway

16.7 Targeting CSC Signaling Pathways

16.7.1 Hedgehog Signaling Pathway in CSCs

Hedgehog (HH) pathway activation has been linked to more than a dozen types of cancers [130]. The main parts of the Hedgehog signaling contains three secreted ligands [Sonic (S) HH, Indian (I) HH, and Desert (D) HH], a negative regulatory receptor [patched (PTCH)], a positive regulatory receptor [Smoothened (SMO)], and

glioma-associated oncogene 1, 2, and 3 (GLI1, GLI2 and GLI3). The initial step of the Hedgehog pathway involves binding of the Hh ligand to PTCH leading to the lifting of SMO and translocation of GLI transcription factors into the nucleus to regulate target genes. Growing evidence suggests that targeting the Hedgehog signaling pathway in CSCs might offer a sensible as well as effective clinical choice to restrict tumor growth, overcome cancer resistance, and prevent cancer recurrence. So far, there are two orally available drugs, namely, vismodegib and sonidegib, which have been identified as inhibitors of Hedgehog signaling pathway (Fig. 16.7) [131] and investigated in clinical settings (Table 16.2). These two drugs showed exceptional activity in metastatic basal cell carcinoma (mBCC) and have been approved by the FDA [132].

A phase 2 study (ERIVANCE study) evaluated the clinical efficacy of vismodegib in 104 patients with mBCC as second-line therapy [133]. From this



Fig. 16.7 Therapeutic strategies targeting the CSC signaling. Overview of CSC signaling and CSC signaling-targeted therapeutics: vismodegib and sonidegib are inhibitors of Hedgehog signaling pathway; Notch pathway is targeted by either GSI inhibition (MK-0752, LY900009, and RO4929097) or its receptor/ligand by use of antibodies (demcizumab and tarextumab); Wnt/ β -catenin signaling-targeted therapeutics include OMP-54F28, which targets FZD receptor, and PRI-724 that targets β -catenin. Abbreviations used are as follows: HH, Hedgehog; HH ligands: Indian (I), Sonic (S), and Desert (D); SMO, Smoothened; GLI1-3, Glioma-associated oncogene 1–3; FZD, frizzled; DVL, Dishevelled; APC, Adenomatous polyposis coli; GSK-3 β , Glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta; and NICD, NOTCH intracellular domain

Signaling	Drug	Trial/NCT identifier/	Status	Outcomo
Signamig	Diug	Indication	Status	Outcome
Hedgehog pathway	Vismodegib	Phase 2/NCT00636610/ metastatic colorectal cancer	Completed	No vismodegib- associated benefit was observed in combination with either FOLFOX or FOLFIRI
		Phase 2/NCT00739661/ ovarian cancer	Completed	No difference in PFS for vismodegib versus placebo
		Phase 2/NCT01088815/ metastatic pancreatic cancer	Completed	Adding vismodegib to chemotherapy did not improve efficacy
		Phase 2/NCT00887159/ extensive stage small cell lung carcinoma, recurrent small cell lung carcinoma	Completed	There was no significant improvement in PFS or OS with the addition of vismodegib
		Phase 1/NCT01209143/solid cancers	Completed	Systemic exposure of rosiglitazone (a CYP2C8 substrate) or OC (ethinyl estradiol/ norethindrone) was not altered with concomitant vismodegib
		Phase 1/NCT00968981/solid cancers	Completed	Vismodegib failed to achieve unbound plasma concentrations as previously reported in advanced basal cell carcinoma and medulloblastoma
		Phase 2/NCT00833417/basal cell carcinoma	Completed	Study demonstrated durability of response, efficacy across patient subgroups, and manageable long-term safety of vismodegib in patients with advanced BCC
		Phase 2/NCT00607724/ unspecified adult solid tumor, protocol specific	Completed	Vismodegib showed antitumor activity in locally advanced or metastatic basal cell carcinoma
		Phase 2/NCT01160250/ advanced basal cell carcinoma	Completed	The results of this study suggested that patients aged ≥ 65 years were

 Table 16.2
 Clinical trials for targeted therapy against the signaling pathways of CSCs

Signaling	Drug	Trial/NCT identifier/ indication	Status	Outcome
				likely to benefit from vismodegib
Notch pathway	МК-0752	Phase 1, phase 2/NCT00645333/ metastatic breast cancer	Completed	Clinically meaningful doses were possible, with manageable toxicity and preliminary evidence of efficacy
		Phase 1/NCT00572182/brain and central nervous system tumors	Completed	Well tolerated in children with recurrent CNS malignancies
		Phase 1/NCT01098344/ pancreatic cancer	Completed	Gemcitabine and MK-0752 can be combined as combo therapy. Thirteen patients achieved stable disease and one patient achieved a confirmed partial response
	LY900009	Phase 1/NCT01158404/ advanced cancers	Completed	No complete or partial responses were seen, but five out of 35 patients had stable disease after treatment with LY900009
	RO4929097	Phase 2/NCT01232829/ metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma	Completed	Of the 18 patients enrolled, 12 patients were evaluable for response based on protocol criteria; three patients (25% of evaluable; 17% of total enrolled) had stable disease at best response. There were no complete or partial responses
		Phase 2/NCT01141569/ clear cell renal cell carcinoma, recurrent renal cell carcinoma, and stage IV renal cell cancer	Completed	No objective radiographic responses were observed, and only six patients had stable disease as their best response
	Demcizumab	Phase 2/NCT02289898/ solid tumors	Completed	Well tolerated in patients with solid tumors
		Phase 2/NCT02289898/ pancreatic cancers	Completed	No efficacy benefit when demcizumab was added to gemcitabine plus abraxane

Table 16.2 (continued)

(continued)

Signaling	Drug	Trial/NCT identifier/ indication	Status	Outcome
		Phase 2/ NCT02259582/Non- squamous non-small cell lung cancer		Failed to meet studies' primary endpoint
	Tarextumab	Phase 2/NCT01647828/ metastatic pancreatic cancer	Completed	Addition of tarextumab did not improve overall survival
Wnt pathway	OMP-54F28	Phase 1/NCT01608867/solid tumors	Completed	Prolonged stable disease was noted in desmoid tumor and germ cell cancer patients
	PRI-724	Phase 1/NCT01764477/ advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma	Completed	PRI-724 combined with gemcitabine was safe and demonstrated modest clinical activity

Table 16.2	(continued)
------------	-------------

Clinical trials conducted using specific CSC signaling pathway inhibitors are depicted. Source of the table is https://www.clinicaltrials.gov

study, 43% of patients with locally advanced disease experienced substantial shrinkage of tumors or healed visible lesions, whereas 30% experienced mBCC tumor shrinkage. The objective response rates (ORR) for locally advanced and metastatic BCC were 60% and 46%, respectively. Subsequent to the ERIVANCE study, another open-label, phase 2 study (EAS) explored the impact of vismodegib in BCC patients [134]. The results from the EAS study were similar to those of ERIVANCE trial. Further, sequential phase 2 studies (PBTC-025B and PBTC-032) analyzed the clinical benefit of vismodegib in pediatric and adult medulloblastoma (MB) [135]. Results from these studies showed that patients in sonic Hedgehog (SHH)-MB group with active Hh signaling had significantly longer progression-free survival (PFS) than patients in the non-SHH-MB group. Despite the fact that vismodegib has excellent antitumor activity in MB, other studies with metastatic colorectal [136], small cell lung [137], and pancreatic [138] cancers had no considerable improvement in terms of clinical efficacy endpoints.

Other data indicated that cancer cells might develop resistance to the Hh inhibitors. For example, in MB and also BCC, treatment with vismodegib (GDC-0449) and sonidegib (LDE-225), two drugs that have shown better outcome in other clinical trials, triggered drug resistance in the residing cells of these cancers [139]. Hence, the efficacy of Hh inhibitors in cancers is still uncertain, and so far, they have shown activity in only a subset of tumors with active Hh signaling. A comprehensive understanding of the Hh pathway regulation could facilitate the

development of new therapeutics to deal with Hh pathway-activated cancers with better outcomes.

16.7.2 Notch Signaling Pathway in CSCs

Notch signaling represents a type of direct cell-cell communication that is necessary for the regulation of proliferation, apoptosis, and fate decisions of stem cells during embryonic development [140]. Several studies suggest that Notch signaling plays important roles in cell proliferation, survival, self-renewal, differentiation, angiogenesis, and migration of CSCs [76]. Notch signaling works through a cell-cell communication, in which a membrane-bound Notch ligand, Delta-like (DLL) or Jagged (JAG) binds with a transmembrane Notch receptor on a juxtaposed cell. This interaction initiates two proteolytic events, which are carried out by A Disintegrin And Metalloproteinase (ADAM) and γ -secretase enzymes, and results in liberation of the NOTCH intracellular domain (NICD). Later, the cleaved intracellular domain enters the nucleus to engage with other DNA-binding proteins and to regulate gene expression [76]. So far, clinical studies targeting Notch pathway have been following two approaches; one is the use of γ -secretase inhibitor (GSI) and the other is targeting the Notch receptor or ligand through the use of antibodies (Table 16.2).

Pathway inhibition by γ -secretase inhibitors has been shown to be effective in preclinical models of cancer and appears to have a safe profile based on phase 1 clinical studies [141, 142]. Inhibitors of GSI (MK-0752, LY900009, and RO4929097) (Fig. 16.7) have been investigated in clinical trials. In one study, patients with advanced solid tumors were treated with MK-0752, and clinical benefits were assessed [142]. The results from this study showed that the MK-0752 was not effective in extracranial tumors; however, one patient with anaplastic astrocytoma achieved complete remission (CR), and ten patients with high-grade glioma had stable disease for more than 4 months. However, there were two studies where MK-0752 showed minimal or no clinical benefit [141, 143]. In another study, patients with breast cancer were treated with MK-0752 plus docetaxel as combotherapy. In this study, 30 patients were enrolled and received MK-0752 along with docetaxel. Of the 30 participants, 26 entered the study with measurable disease as defined by RECIST criteria, and 2 of them were not evaluable for other reasons. Of the 24 participants, 11 showed partial response, 9 had stable disease, and 4 had progressive disease [144]. But the results from this study need to be translated with caution considering that all participants received combotherapy with the standard of care therapy, and the trial was also designed with single-arm treatment. Another drug, LY900009, has been studied in phase 1 trial and assessed for maximum tolerated dose, toxicity, pharmacokinetics (PK), pharmacodynamics (PD), and antitumor activity [145]. This study had shown a manageable safety profile and acceptable PK and PD with limited antitumor effects of LY900009 in patients with advanced cancer. The RO4929097 drug, which also inhibits GSI, has been studied in more than 35 phase 1 and 2 clinical studies, but so far, it has not reached to the level of phase 3 studies yet. LY3039478 is another drug that targets γ -secretase and has been successful in phase 2 study with encouraging signs of preliminary clinical activity in advanced and metastatic cancers [146].

For therapies targeting Notch ligand and receptors, immunotherapies such as demcizumab and tarextumab have been developed and are currently undergoing clinical investigations. Demcizumab binds to the membrane-binding portion of DLL4 and prevents its interaction with NOTCH1/4 receptors, thereby inhibiting Notch-mediated signaling and gene transcription. This drug was tested in phase 1 clinical trial with solid tumors and tolerated well in patients [147]. However, a recent study (YOSEMITE study) in pancreatic cancer failed to demonstrate efficacy benefit when demcizumab was added to gemcitabine plus abraxane (NCT02289898, https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Another phase 2 study (DENALI study) investigating the efficacy of combotherapy of demcizumab with standard therapy in lung cancer was terminated (NCT02259582, https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Data from the DENALI study showed that not only did the trial fail to meet its primary endpoint of overall response rate (ORR) but also that outcomes were better for patients in the placebo group than for those in the demcizumab treatment group (NCT02259582, https://www.clinicaltrials.gov).

Another monoclonal antibody directed against the NOTCH receptor, tarextumab, has been tested in several clinical trials and has been approved as an orphan drug to treat pancreatic and lung cancers. This drug is a humanized monoclonal antibody targeting the NOTCH2/3 receptors. Preclinical studies using pancreatic xenograft models have found that treatment with the combination of tarextumab, gemcitabine, and nab-paclitaxel caused tumor regression and decreased CSC frequency compared to treatment with cytotoxic therapy alone [148]. However, the addition of tarextumab to standard therapy in advanced pancreatic cancer did not improve outcomes over the standard therapy [149].

16.7.3 Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway in CSCs

WNT ligands are secreted glycoproteins that bind to the N-terminal extracellular cysteine-rich domain of the frizzled (FZD) receptors in the presence of co-receptors, low-density lipoprotein receptor-related proteins 5 and 6 (LRP5/6). Upon activation of Wnt signaling, Dishevelled (DVL) prevents degradation of β -catenin and results in translocation of β -catenin into the nucleus, which eventually leads to facilitation of transcription of WNT target genes [130]. Abnormal activation of Wnt signaling is implicated in the CSC maintenance of colorectal, breast, hematologic, skin, and lung cancers [150–152]. Moreover, hyperactivation of Wnt/ β -catenin pathway contributes to cancer cell proliferation, stemness and invasion [153, 154].

OMP-54F28 is a drug that inhibits FZD receptor binding to Wnt ligands (Fig. 16.7). It has been tested in clinical setting in patients with desmoid tumors and demonstrated clinical activity [155]. In addition, currently, it is being tested in phase 1 studies for safety profile (NCT02050178, NCT02092363, and NCT02069145). Another drug, PRI-724, which blocks β -catenin interaction with

its transcriptional co-activators, has been studied with gemcitabine in phase 1 study [156], and the results showed some clinical benefits. The preclinical data on targeting Wnt signaling have shown some promising outcome (Table 16.2); however, these drugs are still in the early phase, and these drugs' future will depend on identifying the right population who can respond really well and also choosing better combinations with available standard therapies as combotherapies.

16.7.4 Other Pathways in CSCs

Various other signaling pathways including the TGF- β , JAK/STAT and PI3K/AKT/ mTOR signaling have all been shown experimentally to mediate various stem cell properties, such as self-renewal, cell fate decisions, survival, proliferation, and differentiation. There are numerous inhibitors targeting these signaling pathways that show promising treatment abilities in cancers, and some of them have been shown to utilize anti-CSC effect, but most of them are still in the early phase of development.

TGF- β signaling has been shown to be very active in cancer-initiating stem cells within the tumor tissue. Galunisertib, the first small molecule of TGF- β receptor inhibitor, has been shown to inhibit cancer-initiating stem cells and arrest the TGF- β -dependent tumor cell growth and migration [157, 158]. Another recent study has shown that galunisertib with gemcitabine resulted in improvement of survival in patients with unresectable pancreatic cancer [159]. Combotherapy having galunisertib in combination with chemo- and radiotherapy with temozolomide is being tested in glioblastoma patients (NCT01220271), and the study results have not been published yet. In another study, galunisertib plus lomustine combotherapy failed to demonstrate improved OS relative to placebo plus lomustine in patients with recurrent glioblastoma [160]. For detailed information on glioblastoma, please refer to our "Chapter 10: Glioblastoma Stem Cells as a Therapeutic Target" in this book.

JAK/STAT signaling is also involved in maintaining embryonic stem cell selfrenewal properties, hematopoiesis, and neurogenesis [161]. Evidence that JAK/STAT signaling pathway is activated aberrantly in CSCs has been found in tumors of the breast and prostate [162, 163]. There has been some success in clinical trials using JAK inhibitors (e.g., pacritinib) to treat myeloid and lymphoid malignancies [164].

PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway is critical for CSC maintenance [165]. mTOR inhibitors (temsirolimus and everolimus) and PI3K inhibitors (copanlisib and idelalisib) have been under investigation in the clinical settings as anticancer drugs targeting PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway.

16.8 Conclusions

Conventional therapies have several limitations, and therefore, there is an unmet need to develop novel effective therapies for the treatment of various cancers. CSCs possess the properties of self-renewal, plasticity, and the ability to cause cancer metastasis and relapse. Various in vitro and in vivo studies have demonstrated that conventional cancer therapeutics induce apoptosis of tumor cells but are unable to eliminate the CSCs in the tumor, thus posing a serious challenge to currently available therapies. Moreover, available evidence suggests that conventional therapies can activate CSC-like phenotype in many bulk tumor cells. In contrast to conventional therapies, CSC-based therapeutics targeting CSCs population, exhibit high pharmacological efficiency, and thus have a greater potential to eliminate CSCs and cancers. Though, several approaches targeting CSCs are feasible, targeting CSC-specific pathways and CSC-niche interactions, likely have the greatest potential to effectively control cancer progression and metastasis in cancer treatments. Multiple aberrant CSC-associated signaling pathway molecules are potential targets for inhibition and different inhibitors are currently under investigations in clinical trials.

Targeting the UPR and autophagy pathways can lead to elimination of CSCs. Treatment options using immunomodulatory approaches like antibody therapy, DC-based vaccines, adoptive immunotherapy, and oncolytic virotherapy can also efficiently target the CSCs, and should be explored more widely for various cancers. Targeting the ncRNAs that modulate the CSC's ability to induce EMT and drug resistance can serve as another potential alternative therapeutic approach to treat cancers. Combination therapy approaches targeting the CSCs and bulk tumor cells or CSCs and their niche, using different approaches can efficiently eliminate the primary and secondary metastatic tumors. Nanoparticle (NP)-based delivery systems including liposomes, exosomes, lipid NPs, protein NPs, viral NP, apoferritin-based NPs, inorganic NPs, and natural phytochemical-based NPs can also potentially target the CSCs specifically.

Advances in integrated omics, including genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics and other omics platforms integrated with statistical tools, machine learning algorithms or artifical intelligence (AI) platforms, can help to dissect out the specific and unique features of the CSCs as compared to normal and bulk tumor cells. The markers unique to CSCs can also be used to target CSCs. Moreover, detailed information harnessed from patient-specific CSC alterations for many cancer types, will be useful to better understand the variabilities across individual's CSCs epigenetic status, self-renewal, signaling, marker profile and CSC-niche interactions, for use in precision medicine treatments.

Current therapies targeting CSC signaling pathways demonstrate its efficacy in clinical trials against many tumor types, but exhibit poor performance during treatment of cancer patients. Therefore, targeting CSC's signaling pathways should be explored in depth to further develop and enhance tumor targeting treatments, and evolve it into an efficient method to combat cancers. The flexibility of employing CSC signaling pathway targeting drugs along with available standard therapies has

made the treatment strategies highly promising. As extensive information on the molecular biology of CSCs is garnered for various tumor types, more targeted therapies may be designed and tested in combination with each other or with standard therapies. This could ultimately lead to the development of novel therapies and potent therapeutics to effectively target CSCs, and thus, treat and cure cancer.

Acknowledgments Our sincere appreciation to Dr. Satish Ramalingam (Department of Genetic Engineering, School of Bioengineering, SRM Institute of Science and Technology, Kanchipuram, Tamil Nadu, India) for his helpful discussion, carefully reading this book chapter and providing critical comments.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Mathers C, Parkin DM, Pineros M, Znaor A, Bray F (2019) Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. Int J Cancer 144(8):1941–1953
- Fisher R, Pusztai L, Swanton C (2013) Cancer heterogeneity: implications for targeted therapeutics. Br J Cancer 108(3):479–485
- 3. Morrison SJ, Weissman IL (1994) The long-term repopulating subset of hematopoietic stem cells is deterministic and isolatable by phenotype. Immunity 1(8):661–673
- Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL (2001) Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature 414(6859):105–111
- 5. Campbell LL, Polyak K (2007) Breast tumor heterogeneity: cancer stem cells or clonal evolution? Cell Cycle 6(19):2332–2338
- Phi LTH, Sari IN, Yang YG, Lee SH, Jun N, Kim KS, Lee YK, Kwon HY (2018) Cancer stem cells (CSCs) in drug resistance and their therapeutic implications in cancer treatment. Stem Cells Int 2018:5416923
- Saygin C, Matei D, Majeti R, Reizes O, Lathia JD (2019) Targeting cancer stemness in the clinic: from hype to hope. Cell Stem Cell 24(1):25–40
- Shibata M, Hoque MO (2019) Targeting cancer stem cells: a strategy for effective eradication of cancer. Cancers (Basel) 11(5):172
- 9. Sun HR, Wang S, Yan SC, Zhang Y, Nelson PJ, Jia HL, Qin LX, Dong QZ (2019) Therapeutic strategies targeting cancer stem cells and their microenvironment. Front Oncol 9:1104
- Amaravadi RK, Kimmelman AC, Debnath J (2019) Targeting autophagy in cancer: recent advances and future directions. Cancer Discov 9(9):1167–1181
- 11. Rabu C, Rangan L, Florenceau L, Fortun A, Charpentier M, Dupre E, Paolini L, Beauvillain C, Dupel E, Latouche JB, Adotevi O, Labarriere N, Lang F (2019) Cancer vaccines: designing artificial synthetic long peptides to improve presentation of class I and class II T cell epitopes by dendritic cells. Onco Targets Ther 8(4):e1560919
- Fessler E, Dijkgraaf FE, Felipe De Sousa EM, Medema JP (2013) Cancer stem cell dynamics in tumor progression and metastasis: is the microenvironment to blame? Cancer Lett 341 (1):97–104
- Nassar D, Blanpain C (2016) Cancer stem cells: basic concepts and therapeutic implications. Annu Rev Pathol 11:47–76
- Badrinath N, Yoo SY (2019) Recent advances in cancer stem cell-targeted immunotherapy. Cancers (Basel) 11(3):310
- 15. Capp JP (2019) Cancer stem cells: from historical roots to a new perspective. J Oncol 2019:5189232

- 16. Riha R, Gupta-Saraf P, Bhanja P, Badkul S, Saha S (2017) Stressed out therapeutic implications of ER stress related cancer research. Onco Targets Ther 2:156–167
- Corazzari M, Gagliardi M, Fimia GM, Piacentini M (2017) Endoplasmic reticulum stress, unfolded protein response, and cancer cell fate. Front Oncol 7:78
- Bhardwaj M, Leli NM, Koumenis C, Amaravadi RK (2019) Regulation of autophagy by canonical and non-canonical ER stress responses. Semin Cancer Biol 219:S1044-579X(19) 30394-3
- 19. Behrends C, Sowa ME, Gygi SP, Harper JW (2010) Network organization of the human autophagy system. Nature 466(7302):68–76
- 20. Krebs J, Agellon LB, Michalak M (2015) Ca(2+) homeostasis and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress: an integrated view of calcium signaling. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 460 (1):114–121
- 21. Fujimoto A, Kawana K, Taguchi A, Adachi K, Sato M, Nakamura H, Ogishima J, Yoshida M, Inoue T, Nishida H, Tomio K, Yamashita A, Matsumoto Y, Arimoto T, Wada-Hiraike O, Oda K, Nagamatsu T, Osuga Y, Fujii T (2016) Inhibition of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress sensors sensitizes cancer stem-like cells to ER stress-mediated apoptosis. Oncotarget 7 (32):51854–51864
- 22. Sharif T, Martell E, Dai C, Kennedy BE, Murphy P, Clements DR, Kim Y, Lee PW, Gujar SA (2017) Autophagic homeostasis is required for the pluripotency of cancer stem cells. Autophagy 13(2):264–284
- 23. Espina V, Mariani BD, Gallagher RI, Tran K, Banks S, Wiedemann J, Huryk H, Mueller C, Adamo L, Deng J, Petricoin EF, Pastore L, Zaman S, Menezes G, Mize J, Johal J, Edmiston K, Liotta LA (2010) Malignant precursor cells pre-exist in human breast DCIS and require autophagy for survival. PLoS One 5(4):e10240
- 24. Gong C, Bauvy C, Tonelli G, Yue W, Delomenie C, Nicolas V, Zhu Y, Domergue V, Marin-Esteban V, Tharinger H, Delbos L, Gary-Gouy H, Morel AP, Ghavami S, Song E, Codogno P, Mehrpour M (2013) Beclin 1 and autophagy are required for the tumorigenicity of breast cancer stem-like/progenitor cells. Oncogene 32(18):2261–2272
- Cufi S, Vazquez-Martin A, Oliveras-Ferraros C, Martin-Castillo B, Vellon L, Menendez JA (2011) Autophagy positively regulates the CD44(+) CD24(-/low) breast cancer stem-like phenotype. Cell Cycle 10(22):3871–3885
- 26. Gupta PB, Fillmore CM, Jiang G, Shapira SD, Tao K, Kuperwasser C, Lander ES (2011) Stochastic state transitions give rise to phenotypic equilibrium in populations of cancer cells. Cell 146(4):633–644
- 27. Wolf J, Dewi DL, Fredebohm J, Muller-Decker K, Flechtenmacher C, Hoheisel JD, Boettcher M (2013) A mammosphere formation RNAi screen reveals that ATG4A promotes a breast cancer stem-like phenotype. Breast Cancer Res 15(6):R109
- Maycotte P, Gearheart CM, Barnard R, Aryal S, Mulcahy Levy JM, Fosmire SP, Hansen RJ, Morgan MJ, Porter CC, Gustafson DL, Thorburn A (2014) STAT3-mediated autophagy dependence identifies subtypes of breast cancer where autophagy inhibition can be efficacious. Cancer Res 74(9):2579–2590
- 29. Yeo SK, Wen J, Chen S, Guan JL (2016) Autophagy differentially regulates distinct breast cancer stem-like cells in murine models via EGFR/Stat3 and Tgfbeta/Smad signaling. Cancer Res 76(11):3397–3410
- Yeo SK, Guan JL (2016) Hierarchical heterogeneity in mammary tumors and its regulation by autophagy. Autophagy 12(10):1960–1961
- 31. Chaffer CL, Brueckmann I, Scheel C, Kaestli AJ, Wiggins PA, Rodrigues LO, Brooks M, Reinhardt F, Su Y, Polyak K, Arendt LM, Kuperwasser C, Bierie B, Weinberg RA (2011) Normal and neoplastic nonstem cells can spontaneously convert to a stem-like state. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(19):7950–7955
- 32. May CD, Sphyris N, Evans KW, Werden SJ, Guo W, Mani SA (2011) Epithelialmesenchymal transition and cancer stem cells: a dangerously dynamic duo in breast cancer progression. Breast Cancer Res 13(1):202

- 33. Ye X, Tam WL, Shibue T, Kaygusuz Y, Reinhardt F, Ng Eaton E, Weinberg RA (2015) Distinct EMT programs control normal mammary stem cells and tumour-initiating cells. Nature 525(7568):256–260
- 34. Kiyono K, Suzuki HI, Matsuyama H, Morishita Y, Komuro A, Kano MR, Sugimoto K, Miyazono K (2009) Autophagy is activated by TGF-beta and potentiates TGF-beta-mediated growth inhibition in human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 69(23):8844–8852
- 35. Li J, Yang B, Zhou Q, Wu Y, Shang D, Guo Y, Song Z, Zheng Q, Xiong J (2013) Autophagy promotes hepatocellular carcinoma cell invasion through activation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Carcinogenesis 34(6):1343–1351
- 36. Zhu H, Wang D, Liu Y, Su Z, Zhang L, Chen F, Zhou Y, Wu Y, Yu M, Zhang Z, Shao G (2013) Role of the hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha induced autophagy in the conversion of non-stem pancreatic cancer cells into CD133+ pancreatic cancer stem-like cells. Cancer Cell Int 13(1):119
- 37. Song YJ, Zhang SS, Guo XL, Sun K, Han ZP, Li R, Zhao QD, Deng WJ, Xie XQ, Zhang JW, Wu MC, Wei LX (2013) Autophagy contributes to the survival of CD133+ liver cancer stem cells in the hypoxic and nutrient-deprived tumor microenvironment. Cancer Lett 339(1):70–81
- Ojha R, Singh SK, Bhattacharyya S (2016) JAK-mediated autophagy regulates stemness and cell survival in cisplatin resistant bladder cancer cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1860(11 Pt A):2484–2497
- 39. Roy BC, Ahmed I, Ramalingam S, Jala V, Haribabu B, Ramamoorthy P, Ashcraft J, Valentino J, Anant S, Sampath V, Umar S (2019) Co-localization of autophagy-related protein p62 with cancer stem cell marker dclk1 may hamper dclk1's elimination during colon cancer development and progression. Oncotarget 10(24):2340–2354
- 40. Bellodi C, Lidonnici MR, Hamilton A, Helgason GV, Soliera AR, Ronchetti M, Galavotti S, Young KW, Selmi T, Yacobi R, Van Etten RA, Donato N, Hunter A, Dinsdale D, Tirro E, Vigneri P, Nicotera P, Dyer MJ, Holyoake T, Salomoni P, Calabretta B (2009) Targeting autophagy potentiates tyrosine kinase inhibitor-induced cell death in Philadelphia chromosome-positive cells, including primary CML stem cells. J Clin Invest 119 (5):1109–1123
- 41. Buccarelli M, Marconi M, Pacioni S, De Pascalis I, D'Alessandris QG, Martini M, Ascione B, Malorni W, Larocca LM, Pallini R, Ricci-Vitiani L, Matarrese P (2018) Inhibition of autophagy increases susceptibility of glioblastoma stem cells to temozolomide by igniting ferroptosis. Cell Death Dis 9(8):841
- 42. Hasmim M, Janji B, Khaled M, Noman MZ, Louache F, Bordereaux D, Abderamane A, Baud V, Mami-Chouaib F, Chouaib S (2017) Cutting edge: NANOG activates autophagy under hypoxic stress by binding to BNIP3L promoter. J Immunol 198(4):1423–1428
- Perez-Hernandez M, Arias A, Martinez-Garcia D, Perez-Tomas R, Quesada R, Soto-Cerrato V (2019) Targeting autophagy for cancer treatment and tumor chemosensitization. Cancers (Basel) 11(10):1599
- Bedoya V (1970) Effect of chloroquine on malignant lymphoreticular and pigmented cells in vitro. Cancer Res 30(5):1262–1275
- Amaravadi RK, Winkler JD (2012) Lys05: a new lysosomal autophagy inhibitor. Autophagy 8 (9):1383–1384
- 46. Cechakova L, Ondrej M, Pavlik V, Jost P, Cizkova D, Bezrouk A, Pejchal J, Amaravadi RK, Winkler JD, Tichy A (2019) A potent autophagy inhibitor (Lys05) enhances the impact of ionizing radiation on human lung cancer cells H1299. Int J Mol Sci 20(23):5881
- 47. Rebecca VW, Nicastri MC, McLaughlin N, Fennelly C, McAfee Q, Ronghe A, Nofal M, Lim CY, Witze E, Chude CI, Zhang G, Alicea GM, Piao S, Murugan S, Ojha R, Levi SM, Wei Z, Barber-Rotenberg JS, Murphy ME, Mills GB, Lu Y, Rabinowitz J, Marmorstein R, Liu Q, Liu S, Xu X, Herlyn M, Zoncu R, Brady DC, Speicher DW, Winkler JD, Amaravadi RK (2017) A unified approach to targeting the lysosome's degradative and growth signaling roles. Cancer Discov 7(11):1266–1283

- Cannon MJ, Block MS, Morehead LC, Knutson KL (2019) The evolving clinical landscape for dendritic cell vaccines and cancer immunotherapy. Immunotherapy 11(2):75–79
- Garg AD, Coulie PG, Van den Eynde BJ, Agostinis P (2017) Integrating next-generation dendritic cell vaccines into the current cancer immunotherapy landscape. Trends Immunol 38 (8):577–593
- Sabado RL, Balan S, Bhardwaj N (2017) Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy. Cell Res 27 (1):74–95
- Bol KF, Schreibelt G, Gerritsen WR, de Vries IJ, Figdor CG (2016) Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy: state of the art and beyond. Clin Cancer Res 22(8):1897–1906
- 52. Ning N, Pan Q, Zheng F, Teitz-Tennenbaum S, Egenti M, Ginestier C, Wicha M, Moyer J, Prince M, Chang AR, Li Q (2012) Cancer stem cell vaccination confers significant anti-tumor immunity by selectively targeting cancer stem cells. J Clin Immunol 32(2):358–358
- 53. Yin T, Shi PF, Gou SM, Shen Q, Wang CY (2014) Dendritic cells loaded with pancreatic cancer stem cells (CSCs) lysates induce antitumor immune killing effect in vitro. PLoS One 9 (12):e114581
- 54. Lu L, Tao HM, Chang AE, Hu YY, Shu GS, Chen QN, Egenti M, Owen J, Moyer JS, Prince MEP, Huang S, Wicha MS, Xia JC, Li Q (2015) Cancer stem cell vaccine inhibits metastases of primary tumors and induces humoral immune responses against cancer stem cells. Onco Targets Ther 4(3):e990767
- 55. Dashti A, Ebrahimi M, Hadjati J, Memarnejadian A, Moazzeni SM (2016) Dendritic cell based immunotherapy using tumor stem cells mediates potent antitumor immune responses. Cancer Lett 374(1):175–185
- 56. Hu YY, Lu L, Xia Y, Chen X, Chang AE, Hollingsworth RE, Hurt E, Owen J, Moyer JS, Prince MEP, Dai F, Bao YY, Wang Y, Whitfield J, Xia JC, Huang S, Wicha MS, Li Q (2016) Therapeutic efficacy of cancer stem cell vaccines in the adjuvant setting. Cancer Res 76 (16):4661–4672
- Wefers C, Schreibelt G, Massuger LFAG, de Vries IJM, Torensma R (2018) Immune curbing of cancer stem cells by CTLs directed to NANOG. Front Immunol 9:1412
- Calmeiro J, Carrascal M, Mendes L, Duarte IF, Gomes C, Serra J, Falcao A, Cruz MT, Neves BM (2019) Development of a novel dendritic cell-based immunotherapy targeting cancer stem cells. J Clin Oncol 37(15):e14009
- 59. Pang YB, He J, Cui BY, Xu S, Li XL, Wu MY, Liang R, Feng Y, Guo X, Zhang XH, Luo XL (2019) A potential antitumor effect of dendritic cells fused with cancer stem cells in hepato-cellular carcinoma. Stem Cells Int 2019:Article ID 5680327
- 60. Tettamanti S, Marin V, Pizzitola I, Magnani CF, Giordano Attianese GM, Cribioli E, Maltese F, Galimberti S, Lopez AF, Biondi A, Bonnet D, Biagi E (2013) Targeting of acute myeloid leukaemia by cytokine-induced killer cells redirected with a novel CD123-specific chimeric antigen receptor. Br J Haematol 161(3):389–401
- Deng Z, Wu Y, Ma W, Zhang S, Zhang YQ (2015) Adoptive T-cell therapy of prostate cancer targeting the cancer stem cell antigen EpCAM. BMC Immunol 16:1
- 62. Hurton LV, Singh H, Najjar AM, Switzer KC, Mi T, Maiti S, Olivares S, Rabinovich B, Huls H, Forget MA, Datar V, Kebriaei P, Lee DA, Champlin RE, Cooper LJ (2016) Tethered IL-15 augments antitumor activity and promotes a stem-cell memory subset in tumor-specific T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(48):E7788–E7797
- 63. Miyamoto S, Kochin V, Kanaseki T, Hongo A, Tokita S, Kikuchi Y, Takaya A, Hirohashi Y, Tsukahara T, Terui T, Ishitani K, Hata F, Takemasa I, Miyazaki A, Hiratsuka H, Sato N, Torigoe T (2018) The antigen ASB4 on cancer stem cells serves as a target for CTL immunotherapy of colorectal cancer. Cancer Immunol Res 6(3):358–369
- 64. Ames E, Canter RJ, Grossenbacher SK, Mac S, Chen M, Smith RC, Hagino T, Perez-Cunningham J, Sckisel GD, Urayama S, Monjazeb AM, Fragoso RC, Sayers TJ, Murphy WJ (2015) NK cells preferentially target tumor cells with a cancer stem cell phenotype. J Immunol 195(8):4010–4019

- 65. Chen HC, Joalland N, Bridgeman JS, Alchami FS, Jarry U, Khan MWA, Piggott L, Shanneik Y, Li J, Herold MJ, Herrmann T, Price DA, Gallimore AM, Clarkson RW, Scotet E, Moser B, Eberl M (2017) Synergistic targeting of breast cancer stem-like cells by human gammadelta T cells and CD8(+) T cells. Immunol Cell Biol 95(7):620–629
- 66. Ferreira-Teixeira M, Paiva-Oliveira D, Parada B, Alves V, Sousa V, Chijioke O, Munz C, Reis F, Rodrigues-Santos P, Gomes C (2016) Natural killer cell-based adoptive immunotherapy eradicates and drives differentiation of chemoresistant bladder cancer stem-like cells. BMC Med 14:163
- 67. Mullen JT, Tanabe KK (2002) Viral oncolysis. Oncologist 7(2):106-119
- Harrington K, Freeman DJ, Kelly B, Harper J, Soria JC (2019) Optimizing oncolytic virotherapy in cancer treatment. Nat Rev Drug Discov 18(9):689–706
- 69. Russell SJ, Peng KW, Bell JC (2012) Oncolytic virotherapy. Nat Biotechnol 30(7):658-670
- Chaurasiya S, Chen NG, Warner SG (2018) Oncolytic virotherapy versus cancer stem cells: a review of approaches and mechanisms. Cancers (Basel) 10(4):124
- Zhang X, Komaki R, Wang L, Fang B, Chang JY (2008) Treatment of radioresistant stem-like esophageal cancer cells by an apoptotic gene-armed, telomerase-specific oncolytic adenovirus. Clin Cancer Res 14(9):2813–2823
- 72. Cheema TA, Wakimoto H, Fecci PE, Ning J, Kuroda T, Jeyaretna DS, Martuza RL, Rabkin SD (2013) Multifaceted oncolytic virus therapy for glioblastoma in an immunocompetent cancer stem cell model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(29):12006–12011
- 73. Yano S, Tazawa H, Hashimoto Y, Shirakawa Y, Kuroda S, Nishizaki M, Kishimoto H, Uno F, Nagasaka T, Urata Y, Kagawa S, Hoffman RM, Fujiwara T (2013) A genetically engineered oncolytic adenovirus decoys and lethally traps quiescent cancer stem-like cells in S/G2/M phases. Clin Cancer Res 19(23):6495–6505
- 74. Sato-Dahlman M, Miura Y, Huang JL, Hajeri P, Jacobsen K, Davydova J, Yamamoto M (2017) CD133-targeted oncolytic adenovirus demonstrates anti-tumor effect in colorectal cancer. Oncotarget 8(44):76044–76056
- Wang H, Chen NG, Minev BR, Szalay AA (2012) Oncolytic vaccinia virus GLV-1h68 strain shows enhanced replication in human breast cancer stem-like cells in comparison to breast cancer cells. J Transl Med 10(1):167
- Wang J, Sullenger BA, Rich JN (2012) Notch signaling in cancer stem cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 727:174–185
- 77. Gil M, Komorowski MP, Seshadri M, Rokita H, McGray AJ, Opyrchal M, Odunsi KO, Kozbor D (2014) CXCL12/CXCR4 blockade by oncolytic virotherapy inhibits ovarian cancer growth by decreasing immunosuppression and targeting cancer-initiating cells. J Immunol 193 (10):5327–5337
- Yoo SY, Bang SY, Jeong SN, Kang DH, Heo J (2016) A cancer-favoring oncolytic vaccinia virus shows enhanced suppression of stem-cell like colon cancer. Oncotarget 7 (13):16479–16489
- 79. Zhang ZY, Zheng SH, Yang WG, Yang C, Yuan WT (2017) Targeting colon cancer stem cells with novel blood cholesterol drug pitavastatin. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 21(6):1226–1233
- Saha D, Martuza RL, Rabkin SD (2017) Macrophage polarization contributes to glioblastoma eradication by combination immunovirotherapy and immune checkpoint blockade. Cancer Cell 32(2):253–267
- 81. Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Caceres-Cortes J, Minden M, Paterson B, Caligiuri MA, Dick JE (1994) A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature 367(6464):645–648
- 82. Gerlinger M, Rowan AJ, Horswell S, Math M, Larkin J, Endesfelder D, Gronroos E, Martinez P, Matthews N, Stewart A, Tarpey P, Varela I, Phillimore B, Begum S, McDonald NQ, Butler A, Jones D, Raine K, Latimer C, Santos CR, Nohadani M, Eklund AC, Spencer-Dene B, Clark G, Pickering L, Stamp G, Gore M, Szallasi Z, Downward J, Futreal PA, Swanton C (2012) Intratumor heterogeneity and branched evolution revealed by multiregion sequencing. N Engl J Med 366(10):883–892

- Najafi M, Mortezaee K, Majidpoor J (2019) Cancer stem cell (CSC) resistance drivers. Life Sci 234:116781
- Klonisch T, Wiechec E, Hombach-Klonisch S, Ande SR, Wesselborg S, Schulze-Osthoff K, Los M (2008) Cancer stem cell markers in common cancers – therapeutic implications. Trends Mol Med 14(10):450–460
- Yadav AK, Desai NS (2019) Cancer stem cells: acquisition, characteristics, therapeutic implications, targeting strategies and future prospects. Stem Cell Rev Rep 15(3):331–355
- Turdo A, Veschi V, Gaggianesi M, Chinnici A, Bianca P, Todaro M, Stassi G (2019) Meeting the challenge of targeting cancer stem cells. Front Cell Dev Biol 7:16
- Schmohl JU, Vallera DA (2016) CD133, selectively targeting the root of cancer. Toxins (Basel) 8(6):165
- Damek-Poprawa M, Volgina A, Korostoff J, Sollecito TP, Brose MS, O'Malley BW Jr, Akintoye SO, DiRienzo JM (2011) Targeted inhibition of CD133+ cells in oral cancer cell lines. J Dent Res 90(5):638–645
- Skubitz AP, Taras EP, Boylan KL, Waldron NN, Oh S, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Vallera DA (2013) Targeting CD133 in an in vivo ovarian cancer model reduces ovarian cancer progression. Gynecol Oncol 130(3):579–587
- Monzani E, Facchetti F, Galmozzi E, Corsini E, Benetti A, Cavazzin C, Gritti A, Piccinini A, Porro D, Santinami M, Invernici G, Parati E, Alessandri G, La Porta CA (2007) Melanoma contains CD133 and ABCG2 positive cells with enhanced tumourigenic potential. Eur J Cancer 43(5):935–946
- Ohlfest JR, Zellmer DM, Panyam J, Swaminathan SK, Oh S, Waldron NN, Toma S, Vallera DA (2013) Immunotoxin targeting CD133(+) breast carcinoma cells. Drug Deliv Transl Res 3 (2):195–204
- Waldron NN, Barsky SH, Dougherty PR, Vallera DA (2014) A bispecific EpCAM/CD133targeted toxin is effective against carcinoma. Target Oncol 9(3):239–249
- 93. Huang J, Li C, Wang Y, Lv H, Guo Y, Dai H, Wicha MS, Chang AE, Li Q (2013) Cytokineinduced killer (CIK) cells bound with anti-CD3/anti-CD133 bispecific antibodies target CD133(high) cancer stem cells in vitro and in vivo. Clin Immunol 149(1):156–168
- 94. Swaminathan SK, Roger E, Toti U, Niu L, Ohlfest JR, Panyam J (2013) CD133-targeted paclitaxel delivery inhibits local tumor recurrence in a mouse model of breast cancer. J Control Release 171(3):280–287
- 95. Vallera DA, Zhang B, Gleason MK, Oh S, Weiner LM, Kaufman DS, McCullar V, Miller JS, Verneris MR (2013) Heterodimeric bispecific single-chain variable-fragment antibodies against EpCAM and CD16 induce effective antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity against human carcinoma cells. Cancer Biother Radiopharm 28(4):274–282
- 96. Schmohl JU, Gleason MK, Dougherty PR, Miller JS, Vallera DA (2016) Heterodimeric bispecific single chain variable fragments (scFv) killer engagers (BiKEs) enhance NK-cell activity against CD133+ colorectal cancer cells. Target Oncol 11(3):353–361
- Chen C, Zhao S, Karnad A, Freeman JW (2018) The biology and role of CD44 in cancer progression: therapeutic implications. J Hematol Oncol 11(1):64
- Sun BS, Li Y, Zhang ZF, You J, Wang CL (2013) Osteopontin combined with CD44v6, a novel prognostic biomarker in non-small cell lung cancer undergoing curative resection. Ann Thorac Surg 96(6):1943–1951
- 99. Castella EM, Ariza A, Pellicer I, Fernandez-Vasalo A, Ojanguren I (1998) Differential expression of CD44v6 in metastases of intestinal and diffuse types of gastric carcinoma. J Clin Pathol 51(2):134–137
- 100. Thapa R, Wilson GD (2016) The importance of CD44 as a stem cell biomarker and therapeutic target in cancer. Stem Cells Int 2016:2087204
- 101. Hirata K, Suzuki H, Imaeda H, Matsuzaki J, Tsugawa H, Nagano O, Asakura K, Saya H, Hibi T (2013) CD44 variant 9 expression in primary early gastric cancer as a predictive marker for recurrence. Br J Cancer 109(2):379–386

- 102. Ma L, Dong L, Chang P (2019) CD44v6 engages in colorectal cancer progression. Cell Death Dis 10(1):30
- 103. Lau WM, Teng E, Chong HS, Lopez KA, Tay AY, Salto-Tellez M, Shabbir A, So JB, Chan SL (2014) CD44v8-10 is a cancer-specific marker for gastric cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 74 (9):2630–2641
- 104. Jin L, Hope KJ, Zhai Q, Smadja-Joffe F, Dick JE (2006) Targeting of CD44 eradicates human acute myeloid leukemic stem cells. Nat Med 12(10):1167–1174
- 105. Krause DS, Lazarides K, von Andrian UH, Van Etten RA (2006) Requirement for CD44 in homing and engraftment of BCR-ABL-expressing leukemic stem cells. Nat Med 12 (10):1175–1180
- 106. Verel I, Heider KH, Siegmund M, Ostermann E, Patzelt E, Sproll M, Snow GB, Adolf GR, van Dongen GA (2002) Tumor targeting properties of monoclonal antibodies with different affinity for target antigen CD44V6 in nude mice bearing head-and-neck cancer xenografts. Int J Cancer 99(3):396–402
- 107. Borjesson PK, Postema EJ, Roos JC, Colnot DR, Marres HA, van Schie MH, Stehle G, de Bree R, Snow GB, Oyen WJ, van Dongen GA (2003) Phase I therapy study with (186)Relabeled humanized monoclonal antibody BIWA 4 (bivatuzumab) in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 9(10 Pt 2):3961S–3972S
- 108. Tijink BM, Buter J, de Bree R, Giaccone G, Lang MS, Staab A, Leemans CR, van Dongen GA (2006) A phase I dose escalation study with anti-CD44v6 bivatuzumab mertansine in patients with incurable squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck or esophagus. Clin Cancer Res 12(20 Pt 1):6064–6072
- 109. Yang Y, Zhao X, Li X, Yan Z, Liu Z, Li Y (2017) Effects of anti-CD44 monoclonal antibody IM7 carried with chitosan polylactic acid-coated nano-particles on the treatment of ovarian cancer. Oncol Lett 13(1):99–104
- 110. Su Z, Liu D, Chen L, Zhang J, Ru L, Chen Z, Gao Z, Wang X (2019) CD44-targeted magnetic nanoparticles kill head and neck squamous cell carcinoma stem cells in an alternating magnetic field. Int J Nanomedicine 14:7549–7560
- 111. Chen H, Lin J, Shan Y, Zhengmao L (2019) The promotion of nanoparticle delivery to two populations of gastric cancer stem cells by CD133 and CD44 antibodies. Biomed Pharmacother 115:108857
- 112. Sanginario A, Miccoli B, Demarchi D (2017) Carbon nanotubes as an effective opportunity for cancer diagnosis and treatment. Biosensors 7(4):9
- 113. Yang Y, Long Y, Wang Y, Ren K, Li M, Zhang Z, Xiang B, He Q (2020) Enhanced anti-tumor and anti-metastasis therapy for triple negative breast cancer by CD44 receptor-targeted hybrid self-delivery micelles. Int J Pharm 577:119085
- 114. Gautam M, Thapa RK, Gupta B, Soe ZC, Ou W, Poudel K, Jin SG, Choi HG, Yong CS, Kim JO (2020) Phytosterol-loaded CD44 receptor-targeted PEGylated nano-hybrid phytoliposomes for synergistic chemotherapy. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 17(3):423–434
- 115. Liang X, Li X, Duan J, Chen Y, Wang X, Pang L, Kong D, Song B, Li C, Yang J (2018) Nanoparticles with CD44 targeting and ROS triggering properties as effective in vivo antigen delivery system. Mol Pharm 15(2):508–518
- 116. Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z (2015) The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? Cell Stem Cell 16(3):225–238
- 117. Hanahan D, Coussens LM (2012) Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell 21(3):309–322
- Clara JA, Monge C, Yang Y, Takebe N (2019) Targeting signalling pathways and the immune microenvironment of cancer stem cells - a clinical update. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 17(4):204–232
- 119. Doglioni G, Parik S, Fendt SM (2019) Interactions in the (pre)metastatic niche support metastasis formation. Front Oncol 9:219
- 120. Nwabo Kamdje AH, Takam Kamga P, Tagne Simo R, Vecchio L, Seke Etet PF, Muller JM, Bassi G, Lukong E, Kumar Goel R, Mbo Amvene J, Krampera M (2017) Developmental

pathways associated with cancer metastasis: notch, Wnt, and Hedgehog. Cancer Biol Med 14 (2):109–120

- 121. Li L, Tang P, Li S, Qin X, Yang H, Wu C, Liu Y (2017) Notch signaling pathway networks in cancer metastasis: a new target for cancer therapy. Med Oncol 34(10):180
- 122. Hu YY, Zheng MH, Zhang R, Liang YM, Han H (2012) Notch signaling pathway and cancer metastasis. Adv Exp Med Biol 727:186–198
- 123. Zhan T, Rindtorff N, Boutros M (2017) Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene 36(11):1461-1473
- 124. Zeng S, Seifert AM, Zhang JQ, Cavnar MJ, Kim TS, Balachandran VP, Santamaria-Barria JA, Cohen NA, Beckman MJ, Medina BD, Rossi F, Crawley MH, Loo JK, Maltbaek JH, Besmer P, Antonescu CR, DeMatteo RP (2017) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling contributes to tumor malignancy and is targetable in gastrointestinal stromal tumor. Mol Cancer Ther 16 (9):1954–1966
- 125. Sari IN, Phi LTH, Jun N, Wijaya YT, Lee S, Kwon HY (2018) Hedgehog signaling in cancer: a prospective therapeutic target for eradicating cancer stem cells. Cells 7(11):208
- 126. Niyaz M, Khan MS, Mudassar S (2019) Hedgehog signaling: an Achilles' heel in cancer. Transl Oncol 12(10):1334–1344
- 127. Warren JSA, Xiao Y, Lamar JM (2018) YAP/TAZ activation as a target for treating metastatic cancer. Cancers (Basel) 10(4):115
- 128. Elaimy AL, Mercurio AM (2018) Convergence of VEGF and YAP/TAZ signaling: Implications for angiogenesis and cancer biology. Sci Signal 11(552):eaau1165
- 129. Piccolo S, Dupont S, Cordenonsi M (2014) The biology of YAP/TAZ: hippo signaling and beyond. Physiol Rev 94(4):1287–1312
- Matsui WH (2016) Cancer stem cell signaling pathways. Medicine (Baltimore) 95(1 Suppl 1): S8–S19
- 131. Von Hoff DD, LoRusso PM, Rudin CM, Reddy JC, Yauch RL, Tibes R, Weiss GJ, Borad MJ, Hann CL, Brahmer JR, Mackey HM, Lum BL, Darbonne WC, Marsters JC Jr, de Sauvage FJ, Low JA (2009) Inhibition of the hedgehog pathway in advanced basal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 361(12):1164–1172
- 132. Dummer R, Guminski A, Gutzmer R, Dirix L, Lewis KD, Combemale P, Herd RM, Kaatz M, Loquai C, Stratigos AJ, Schulze HJ, Plummer R, Gogov S, Pallaud C, Yi T, Mone M, Chang AL, Cornelis F, Kudchadkar R, Trefzer U, Lear JT, Sellami D, Migden MR (2016) The 12-month analysis from basal cell carcinoma outcomes with LDE225 treatment (BOLT): a phase II, randomized, double-blind study of sonidegib in patients with advanced basal cell carcinoma. J Am Acad Dermatol 75(1):113–125
- 133. Sekulic A, Migden MR, Oro AE, Dirix L, Lewis KD, Hainsworth JD, Solomon JA, Yoo S, Arron ST, Friedlander PA, Marmur E, Rudin CM, Chang AL, Low JA, Mackey HM, Yauch RL, Graham RA, Reddy JC, Hauschild A (2012) Efficacy and safety of vismodegib in advanced basal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 366(23):2171–2179
- 134. Chang AL, Solomon JA, Hainsworth JD, Goldberg L, McKenna E, Day BM, Chen DM, Weiss GJ (2014) Expanded access study of patients with advanced basal cell carcinoma treated with the Hedgehog pathway inhibitor, vismodegib. J Am Acad Dermatol 70(1):60–69
- 135. Robinson GW, Orr BA, Wu G, Gururangan S, Lin T, Qaddoumi I, Packer RJ, Goldman S, Prados MD, Desjardins A, Chintagumpala M, Takebe N, Kaste SC, Rusch M, Allen SJ, Onar-Thomas A, Stewart CF, Fouladi M, Boyett JM, Gilbertson RJ, Curran T, Ellison DW, Gajjar A (2015) Vismodegib exerts targeted efficacy against recurrent sonic hedgehog-subgroup medulloblastoma: results from phase II pediatric brain tumor consortium studies PBTC-025B and PBTC-032. J Clin Oncol 33(24):2646–2654
- 136. Berlin J, Bendell JC, Hart LL, Firdaus I, Gore I, Hermann RC, Mulcahy MF, Zalupski MM, Mackey HM, Yauch RL, Graham RA, Bray GL, Low JA (2013) A randomized phase II trial of vismodegib versus placebo with FOLFOX or FOLFIRI and bevacizumab in patients with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res 19(1):258–267
- 137. Belani CP, Dahlberg SE, Rudin CM, Fleisher M, Chen HX, Takebe N, Velasco MR Jr, Tester WJ, Sturtz K, Hann CL, Shanks JC, Monga M, Ramalingam SS, Schiller JH (2016)

Vismodegib or cixutumumab in combination with standard chemotherapy for patients with extensive-stage small cell lung cancer: a trial of the ECOG-ACRIN Cancer Research Group (E1508). Cancer 122(15):2371–2378

- 138. Catenacci DV, Junttila MR, Karrison T, Bahary N, Horiba MN, Nattam SR, Marsh R, Wallace J, Kozloff M, Rajdev L, Cohen D, Wade J, Sleckman B, Lenz HJ, Stiff P, Kumar P, Xu P, Henderson L, Takebe N, Salgia R, Wang X, Stadler WM, de Sauvage FJ, Kindler HL (2015) Randomized phase Ib/II study of gemcitabine plus placebo or vismodegib, a hedgehog pathway inhibitor, in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol 33 (36):4284–4292
- 139. Sharpe HJ, Pau G, Dijkgraaf GJ, Basset-Seguin N, Modrusan Z, Januario T, Tsui V, Durham AB, Dlugosz AA, Haverty PM, Bourgon R, Tang JY, Sarin KY, Dirix L, Fisher DC, Rudin CM, Sofen H, Migden MR, Yauch RL, de Sauvage FJ (2015) Genomic analysis of smooth-ened inhibitor resistance in basal cell carcinoma. Cancer Cell 27(3):327–341
- 140. Fernandez-Valdivia R, Takeuchi H, Samarghandi A, Lopez M, Leonardi J, Haltiwanger RS, Jafar-Nejad H (2011) Regulation of mammalian Notch signaling and embryonic development by the protein O-glucosyltransferase Rumi. Development 138(10):1925–1934
- 141. Cook N, Basu B, Smith DM, Gopinathan A, Evans J, Steward WP, Palmer D, Propper D, Venugopal B, Hategan M, Anthoney DA, Hampson LV, Nebozhyn M, Tuveson D, Farmer-Hall H, Turner H, McLeod R, Halford S, Jodrell D (2018) A phase I trial of the gamma-secretase inhibitor MK-0752 in combination with gemcitabine in patients with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Br J Cancer 118(6):793–801
- 142. Krop I, Demuth T, Guthrie T, Wen PY, Mason WP, Chinnaiyan P, Butowski N, Groves MD, Kesari S, Freedman SJ, Blackman S, Watters J, Loboda A, Podtelezhnikov A, Lunceford J, Chen C, Giannotti M, Hing J, Beckman R, Lorusso P (2012) Phase I pharmacologic and pharmacodynamic study of the gamma secretase (Notch) inhibitor MK-0752 in adult patients with advanced solid tumors. J Clin Oncol 30(19):2307–2313
- 143. Fouladi M, Stewart CF, Olson J, Wagner LM, Onar-Thomas A, Kocak M, Packer RJ, Goldman S, Gururangan S, Gajjar A, Demuth T, Kun LE, Boyett JM, Gilbertson RJ (2011) Phase I trial of MK-0752 in children with refractory CNS malignancies: a pediatric brain tumor consortium study. J Clin Oncol 29(26):3529–3534
- 144. Schott AF, Landis MD, Dontu G, Griffith KA, Layman RM, Krop I, Paskett LA, Wong H, Dobrolecki LE, Lewis MT, Froehlich AM, Paranilam J, Hayes DF, Wicha MS, Chang JC (2013) Preclinical and clinical studies of gamma secretase inhibitors with docetaxel on human breast tumors. Clin Cancer Res 19(6):1512–1524
- 145. Pant S, Jones SF, Kurkjian CD, Infante JR, Moore KN, Burris HA, McMeekin DS, Benhadji KA, Patel BKR, Frenzel MJ, Kursar JD, Zamek-Gliszczynski MJ, Yuen ESM, Chan EM, Bendell JC (2016) A first-in-human phase I study of the oral Notch inhibitor, LY900009, in patients with advanced cancer. Eur J Cancer 56:1–9
- 146. Massard C, Azaro A, Soria JC, Lassen U, Le Tourneau C, Sarker D, Smith C, Ohnmacht U, Oakley G, Patel BKR, Yuen ESM, Benhadji KA, Rodon J (2018) First-in-human study of LY3039478, an oral Notch signaling inhibitor in advanced or metastatic cancer. Ann Oncol 29 (9):1911–1917
- 147. Smith DC, Eisenberg PD, Manikhas G, Chugh R, Gubens MA, Stagg RJ, Kapoun AM, Xu L, Dupont J, Sikic B (2014) A phase I dose escalation and expansion study of the anticancer stem cell agent demcizumab (anti-DLL4) in patients with previously treated solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res 20(24):6295–6303
- 148. Yen WC, Fischer MM, Axelrod F, Bond C, Cain J, Cancilla B, Henner WR, Meisner R, Sato A, Shah J, Tang T, Wallace B, Wang M, Zhang C, Kapoun AM, Lewicki J, Gurney A, Hoey T (2015) Targeting Notch signaling with a Notch2/Notch3 antagonist (tarextumab) inhibits tumor growth and decreases tumor-initiating cell frequency. Clin Cancer Res 21 (9):2084–2095
- 149. Hu ZI, Bendell JC, Bullock A, LoConte NK, Hatoum H, Ritch P, Hool H, Leach JW, Sanchez J, Sohal DPS, Strickler J, Patel R, Wang-Gillam A, Firdaus I, Yu KH, Kapoun

AM, Holmgren E, Zhou L, Dupont J, Picozzi V, Sahai V, O'Reilly EM (2019) A randomized phase II trial of nab-paclitaxel and gemcitabine with tarextumab or placebo in patients with untreated metastatic pancreatic cancer. Cancer Med 8(11):5148–5157

- 150. Basu S, Haase G, Ben-Ze'ev A (2016) Wnt signaling in cancer stem cells and colon cancer metastasis. F1000Res 5:F1000
- 151. Reya T, Duncan AW, Ailles L, Domen J, Scherer DC, Willert K, Hintz L, Nusse R, Weissman IL (2003) A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 423 (6938):409–414
- 152. Malanchi I, Peinado H, Kassen D, Hussenet T, Metzger D, Chambon P, Huber M, Hohl D, Cano A, Birchmeier W, Huelsken J (2008) Cutaneous cancer stem cell maintenance is dependent on beta-catenin signalling. Nature 452(7187):650–653
- 153. Ramachandran I, Thavathiru E, Ramalingam S, Natarajan G, Mills WK, Benbrook DM, Zuna R, Lightfoot S, Reis A, Anant S, Queimado L (2012) Wnt inhibitory factor 1 induces apoptosis and inhibits cervical cancer growth, invasion and angiogenesis in vivo. Oncogene 31 (22):2725–2737
- 154. Ramachandran I, Ganapathy V, Gillies E, Fonseca I, Sureban SM, Houchen CW, Reis A, Queimado L (2014) Wnt inhibitory factor 1 suppresses cancer stemness and induces cellular senescence. Cell Death Dis 5(5):e1246
- 155. Jimeno A, Gordon M, Chugh R, Messersmith W, Mendelson D, Dupont J, Stagg R, Kapoun AM, Xu L, Uttamsingh S, Brachmann RK, Smith DC (2017) A first-in-human phase I study of the anticancer stem cell agent ipafricept (OMP-54F28), a decoy receptor for Wnt ligands, in patients with advanced solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res 23(24):7490–7497
- 156. Ko AH, Chiorean EG, Kwak EL, Lenz H-J, Nadler PI, Wood DL, Fujimori M, Inada T, Kouji H, McWilliams RR (2016) Final results of a phase Ib dose-escalation study of PRI-724, a CBP/beta-catenin modulator, plus gemcitabine (GEM) in patients with advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma (APC) as second-line therapy after FOLFIRINOX or FOLFOX. J Clin Oncol 34(15 Suppl):e15721
- 157. Hardee ME, Marciscano AE, Medina-Ramirez CM, Zagzag D, Narayana A, Lonning SM, Barcellos-Hoff MH (2012) Resistance of glioblastoma-initiating cells to radiation mediated by the tumor microenvironment can be abolished by inhibiting transforming growth factor-beta. Cancer Res 72(16):4119–4129
- 158. Penuelas S, Anido J, Prieto-Sanchez RM, Folch G, Barba I, Cuartas I, Garcia-Dorado D, Poca MA, Sahuquillo J, Baselga J, Seoane J (2009) TGF-beta increases glioma-initiating cell self-renewal through the induction of LIF in human glioblastoma. Cancer Cell 15(4):315–327
- 159. Melisi D, Garcia-Carbonero R, Macarulla T, Pezet D, Deplanque G, Fuchs M, Trojan J, Kozloff M, Simionato F, Cleverly A, Smith C, Wang S, Man M, Driscoll KE, Estrem ST, Lahn MMF, Benhadji KA, Tabernero J (2019) TGFbeta receptor inhibitor galunisertib is linked to inflammation- and remodeling-related proteins in patients with pancreatic cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 83(5):975–991
- 160. Brandes AA, Carpentier AF, Kesari S, Sepulveda-Sanchez JM, Wheeler HR, Chinot O, Cher L, Steinbach JP, Capper D, Specenier P, Rodon J, Cleverly A, Smith C, Gueorguieva I, Miles C, Guba SC, Desaiah D, Lahn MM, Wick W (2016) A Phase II randomized study of galunisertib monotherapy or galunisertib plus lomustine compared with lomustine monotherapy in patients with recurrent glioblastoma. Neuro-Oncology 18 (8):1146–1156
- 161. Stine RR, Matunis EL (2013) JAK-STAT signaling in stem cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 786:247–267
- 162. Birnie R, Bryce SD, Roome C, Dussupt V, Droop A, Lang SH, Berry PA, Hyde CF, Lewis JL, Stower MJ, Maitland NJ, Collins AT (2008) Gene expression profiling of human prostate cancer stem cells reveals a pro-inflammatory phenotype and the importance of extracellular matrix interactions. Genome Biol 9(5):R83
- 163. Zhou J, Wulfkuhle J, Zhang H, Gu P, Yang Y, Deng J, Margolick JB, Liotta LA, Petricoin E 3rd, Zhang Y (2007) Activation of the PTEN/mTOR/STAT3 pathway in breast cancer stem-

like cells is required for viability and maintenance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104 (41):16158–16163

- 164. Hart S, Goh KC, Novotny-Diermayr V, Hu CY, Hentze H, Tan YC, Madan B, Amalini C, Loh YK, Ong LC, William AD, Lee A, Poulsen A, Jayaraman R, Ong KH, Ethirajulu K, Dymock BW, Wood JW (2011) SB1518, a novel macrocyclic pyrimidine-based JAK2 inhibitor for the treatment of myeloid and lymphoid malignancies. Leukemia 25(11):1751–1759
- 165. Dubrovska A, Kim S, Salamone RJ, Walker JR, Maira SM, Garcia-Echeverria C, Schultz PG, Reddy VA (2009) The role of PTEN/Akt/PI3K signaling in the maintenance and viability of prostate cancer stem-like cell populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(1):268–273



Targeting Cancer Stem Cells by Nanoenabled Drug Delivery

17

Koyeli Girigoswami, Pragya Pallavi, and Agnishwar Girigoswami

Abstract

Resistance to chemotherapy and radiotherapy is commonly seen in cancer cells due to various reasons like mutation in drug target or their overexpression, drug inactivation, or drug removal from the cell, thereby rendering a problem in cancer management. The cancer stem cells (CSCs), which are responsible for cancer metastasis, are far reached from conventional therapies as these approaches are unable to eradicate the drug-resistant CSCs, and a novel approach for targeting these CSCs is warranted. Nanotechnology has occupied a huge space in drug delivery due to their unique photophysical properties and large surface area to volume ratio compared to their bulk counterparts. Targeted drug delivery can be achieved using nanoenabled drug delivery as the different nanostructures can be functionalized to tag different molecules which can identify specifically the CSCs. Moreover these nanostructures can also be used as cargo for carrying the chemotherapeutic drugs and delivering them to the target site. This chapter discusses the different types of nanocarriers used for targeted drug delivery as well as the progress in research for targeting the CSCs and destroying them.

Keywords

Cancer stem cells \cdot Nanoenabled drug delivery \cdot Bionanotechnology \cdot Nanotheranostics

K. Girigoswami · P. Pallavi · A. Girigoswami (🖂)

Medical Bionanotechnology Laboratory, Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Chettinad Hospital and Research Institute, Chettinad Academy of Research and Education, Chennai, India

 $[\]bigcirc$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_17

17.1 Introduction

New therapeutic and diagnostic strategies for treatment of cancer have made enough progress in its preclinical and clinical research on cancer [1], but the metastasis in cancer is life-threatening as it spreads the cancer cells to other tissues from the origin [2]. The tissues found in cancer consist of heterogeneous cells with different states of differentiation and contain "tumor-initiating" cells formed by normal stem cell mutations [3, 4]. These "tumor-initiating" cells were termed as "cancer stem cells" (CSCs) which exhibit similar properties like other stem cells, self-renewal, can differentiate into any cell, and can proliferate to enhance malignant cells [4]. The strategy for cancer therapy includes the balance between self-renewal and differentiation of these CSCs to prevent formation of cancer.

In recent times, many new drugs are being invented with outstanding pharmacokinetic and therapeutic properties, but delivering those new drugs to target effectively becomes a challenge. Once targeted to the specific molecules, it can show its potential activity. Many nanotechnology-based drug delivery systems have been introduced and successfully commercialized like oncology drugs based on solid nanoparticles, liposomal formulation, conjugates of proteins and polymers, or drugpolymer conjugated nanoenabled drug delivery systems. However, the bioavailability of these drugs is dependent on several factors like size of the drug, dosages, difference in solubility of water-soluble and fat-soluble drugs, and their clearance from the blood stream. The drug designing also involves the target cells because in case of cancer it is desirable that the drug should affect the malignant cells only, not the benign ones, thereby warranting certain drug carriers which can encapsulate the drug and release them in only tumor microenvironment. Modern medical bionanotechnology has enabled us to design such nanocarriers which can target cancer cells. Targeting CSCs is much more relevant in cancer research because there are many drawbacks associated with conventional treatments using radiation and chemotherapy. But in cancer some CSCs can escape this treatment and migrate into new place through metastasis and start developing fresh tumors, relapsing the disease [5-7]. The different types of nanocarriers and their role in targeting CSCs will be discussed in this chapter.

17.2 The Different Types of Nanocarriers

The nanocarriers are helpful for the solubilization of lipophilic drugs, give protection to drugs which are fragile from degradation by enzymes or pH, and can target the drugs to be released at specific sites [8]. The different types of nanocarriers are discussed below.

17.2.1 Nanobots

Nanobots are nanorobots or nanomotors which are self-driven with submicron dimension, biodegradable nanodevices composed of bionano materials that can transport the cargo to deliver them in target sites. Zinc-based nanobots, named as PEDOT/Zn micromotor, were used to deliver payload in the stomach of a mouse model, which gradually dissolves the nanobot in the stomach acid and delivers the payload [9]. Single-molecule-based submersible nanomachines in solutions were activated using UV light, and single-molecule fluorescence correlation spectroscopy (FCS) was monitored. Designing such nanobots, which were non-unidirectional rotating motor, provided 10% enhanced diffusion, and we could monitor the behavior of these motorized molecules in solution [10]. DNA origami-based nanobots were designed to deliver payloads by designing outer functionalization using a DNA aptamer which can bind nucleolin, an endothelial cell tumor protein, and in the inner cavity had thrombin, the blood coagulation protease. They demonstrated that when these nanobots were injected intravenously, they delivered thrombin to the blood vessels associated with tumor and could induce thrombosis intravascularly. This resulted in necrosis of tumor and inhibited tumor growth [11]. Nanoactuators have also been designed which get activated using light by binding temperatureresponsive polymers over gold (Au) nanoparticles which are charged. This stores the elastic energy which can be released rapidly under light for repeated isotropic nanoactuation. When the nanoactuator was heated above critical temperature $(T_{\rm c} = 32 \,^{\circ}{\rm C})$ using light from incident laser, the coating expels water and gets collapsed into nanoscale within a microsecond which is million times fast compared to the base polymer. This phenomenon triggers a small number of nanoparticles to get tightly packed into clusters. When the nanomachine is cooled below T_c , the strong van der Waals force between the cluster particles is surmounted as the expansion of polymer takes place giving rise to nanoscale forces of several nN. The intensity of the large force is dependent on van der Waals attractions between the Au cores existing very large in collapsed polymer state which sets a tightly compressed spring of polymer that can be triggered further into inflated state [12]. Nanoswimmers were designed which can be applied to swim in bloodstream to deliver the drugs. Multilink nanowire-based chains of diameter 200 nm were used to make a composite which exhibited planar undulations induced, using a planaroscillating magnetic field. The chains were constructed by an elastic polypyrrole tail like eukaryotes and rigid nickel links which were magnetic in nature connected by hinges made up of flexible polymer bilayer. This multilink design showed high swimming efficacy and thereby could be used as a vehicle for drug delivery in body fluids [13]. These nanotechnological developments can enable nanobots useful for drug delivery.

17.2.2 Nanoneedles, Nanoclusters, and Nanobubbles

To facilitate the entry of drugs into the cell cytoplasm directly, nanoneedles are used because the biological membranes do not facilitate the drug entry into the cells. Nanoneedles are mainly used in atomic force microscopy but are applied for drug delivery to cells where they make small temporary perforation in the biological membrane and deliver the drug without perturbing the biological functions [14].

Metal nanoclusters are usually of the size of 10 nm prepared by self-assembly of polymeric or small organic molecule-based nanoparticles, cross-linked together with plasmonic metals like gold and silver or magnetic nanoparticles. These nanoclusters exhibit molecule-like properties and fluorescence; they are used for tracking the drug carried using these clusters to the target site and imaging. Peptide-protected gold nanoclusters (Pep-AuNCs) were used for self-regulated loading and release of drug vancomycin (van). The antimicrobial activity of van loaded in Pep-AuNCs was comparable to van alone, and the van released by Pep-AuNCs was proportional to the number of bacteria present [15].

Nanobubbles, on the other hand, are nano-sized spherical structures filled with gas which are usually stabilized using polymeric/lipid shells. The nanobubbles are used in combination with ultrasound, thermal, or magnetic sensitivities for efficient application in drug delivery and imaging, because of their higher stability and long time of residence in systemic circulation. For the purpose of diagnosis and therapy done together, theranostics has come into field, and researchers have developed plasmonic nanobubbles (PNBs) for tunable theranostic applications. The PNBs were designed by gold nanoparticle exposed to laser after delivering it intracellularly which generated transient photothermal vapor nanobubbles. The action of PNBs was tuned inside the individual cells from noninvasive, at lower laser fluence, to cell membrane disruption at higher fluence. The imaging was also captured with 50-fold amplification of optical scattering amplitude, and PNBs were established to support diagnosis, therapy, and image guidance at the cellular level in a single process [16].

17.2.3 Nanoghosts, Nanoclews, Injectable Nanoparticle Generators (iNG), and Nano-Terminators

Nanoghosts are based on a technology to form nanovesicles isolated from natural functionalized membranes of mammalian cell surface of complete biological cells like mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) which do not contain cytoplasm or any organelles. These are smart delivery vehicles for drug or gene delivery. As they are derived from natural source, they do not pose difficulties related to drug loading, adverse immune response related to evading tumor etc. Moreover, it provides improved nanoparticle stability and gives a superior drug release profile. Nanoghosts were successfully isolated from cell membranes of MSCs (MSC-NGs), and in vitro and in vivo tumor targeting properties were also retained and were cleared from blood-filtering organs. These MSC-NGs were biocompatible, and drug-loaded MSC-NGs showed 80% inhibition of prostate cancer cells after systemic administration [17]. Negatively charged plasmid cDNA (pDNA) was loaded on a nanoghost

derived from MSCs which retained their unique surface-associated tumor-targeting properties. These engineered nanoghosts which were loaded with gene that is toxic to cancer cells could inhibit the growth of orthotopic lung cancer which has metastasized. These nanoghosts also proved to be effective in subcutaneous prostate cancer models and were shown to improve the survival of animals [18]. Nanoghosts derived from monocyte cell membrane were used along with doxorubicin-loaded PLGA core to make core-shell nanoghosts. The size of the nanoghosts was nearly 200 nm and was stable in serum for 120 h. These core-shell nanoghosts showed higher cellular uptake and cytotoxicity in MCF-7 cell lines compared to non-coated nanoparticles [19].

A nanoclew or nanococoon is made up of a single-stranded DNA which selfassembles to form a cocoon or yarn or a clew-like structure. The DNA amplification takes place by rolling circle model, and these nanococoons are highly biocompatible nanodrug delivery system. Sun et al. [20] first described a cocoon-like DNA-based nanocomposite as a drug delivery carrier which was associated with "caged worm" of deoxyribonuclease (DNase) that can undergo self-degradation thereby releasing the drug inside the cells. The DNA structure was a nanoclew made by weaving of DNA amplified by using rolling-circle model, and the self-assembly was facilitated by incorporating a palindromic sequence. The loaded drug was doxorubicin (DOX), and the targeted tumor delivery was achieved by folic acid (FA) conjugation with a nanoclew complementary DNA which gets hybridized to the DNA nanoclew. For self-degradation after reaching the tumor site with acidic environment, an encapsulated DNase I in single-protein-based nanocapsule (NCa) having a thin positively charged polymeric layer shell made up of cross-linkers which were acid degradable was used. This NCa which was positively charged was embedded into the nanoclew through electrostatic interactions forming a DOX-loaded DNA scaffold which was self-degradable. Under physiological pH, the DNase I was not released by the cage, but as soon as the nanoclew entered the cancer cell, the acidic microenvironment degraded the nanoclew as the pH-sensitive polymer releases the DNase I, thereby releasing the encapsulated drug DOX exhibiting higher anticancer efficacy [20].

Injectable nanoparticle generator (iNG) was first described by Xu et al. [21] and was made up of a polymer loaded with DOX which had multiple strands enwrapped over a nanoporous silicon material which is biodegradable. When these drug-loaded nanocarriers were intravenously injected, they got accumulated in tumor cells due to natural tropism. Then the silicon material slowly degraded and released the drug polymeric strands. Spontaneously, these strands formed nanoparticles which were taken up by the cancer cells, and the acidic microenvironment inside the cancer cells made the polymeric stands to trigger drug release. The iNG-based drug delivery system could cross the multiple biological barriers, and the dimensions and geometry of the silicon core could be tuned for targeting precise anatomical locations like the lung and liver. Moreover instead of DOX any other anticancer drug could also be loaded in the engineered iNG [21].

Nano-terminators were developed by Lu et al. [22] that were nanodroplets made from liquid metal loaded with drug which were absorbed by the tumor cells when injected. In acidic tumor environment, it released the drug because the nanodroplet made from liquid phase eutectic gallium-indium core and a thiolated polymeric shell equipped with hyaluronic acid got dissolved. This nanodroplet was a core-shell nanosphere loaded with DOX and the hyaluronic acid acted as a tumor-targeting ligand. This nanoformulation when used in chemotherapy was shown to inhibit tumor in xenograft tumor-bearing mice in a much superior way than conventional chemotherapy [22].

17.2.4 Exosomes, Liposomes, and Niosomes

Exosomes, typically of the size from 30 to 120 nm, are used for transferring information from one cell to another and can be used as a natural vehicle for targeted drug delivery. The mode of transport using exosomes is depicted in Fig. 17.1.

The exosomes can be isolated from the patient's own cells which are healthy, as they can interact with its own cellular membranes when used for drug delivery without any hindrance. The exosomes have a unique property called "cell-specific tropism" which means that they can target specific cells by expressing specific receptors on the membrane, toward the cells from which they are isolated. This property can be utilized to convey drugs, microRNAs, or proteins loaded in these exosomes. Since the origin of these exosomes is biological which contains natural lipid bilayers, the immunogenicity and issues regarding clearance of drug can be reduced. Moreover, these exosomes can also cross the blood-brain barrier overcoming the challenging situation for drug delivery in the brain and for designing personalized medicine. Encapsulation of natural products and RNA has been accomplished in exosomes for the treatment of many solid tumor cancers like pancreatic,



Fig. 17.1 The formation of exosomes. The multivesicular endosomes (MVEs) encompass the exosomes and these MVEs can fuse with plasma membrane to release the exosomes to the intercellular space or fuse with lysosome for their degradation. Once the exosomes are released, they can be isolated and used as a vehicle to carry DNA, RNA, protein, drugs, etc.



Fig. 17.2 The schematic diagram showing a liposome and the possible drug loading capacity of different types of drugs. The different surface functionalization is also illustrated for targeting the different types of cells

breast, prostrate, lung, and glioblastoma [23]. Three means in the exosomal targeted therapy can be achieved: (1) by targeting the peptides to the exosomal surface, (2) by encapsulating specific genes within the exosomes and transferring them to tumors, and (3) by targeting the exosomes that contain tumor-associated antigen. These are elaborately discussed in review by Wang et al. [24].

Liposomes are formulated spherical vesicles comprising of an aqueous core and surrounded by a lipid bilayer, used for improving the bioavailability, drug absorption, and reducing toxicity. The unique feature of liposomes is their ability to compartmentalize as well as solubilize both hydrophobic and hydrophilic materials, thereby opening a vast encapsulation capability. The different possibilities of using liposomes as drug carrier are given in Fig. 17.2.

A co-delivery system was developed based on fusogenic liposome that encapsulated chemotherapeutic agents with ATP-responsive elements and a liposome that contains ATP. When these two liposomes fuse together, there is triggering of ATP-mediated drug release. The design of the fusogenic liposome is a protein-DNA complex core consisting of an ATP-responsive DNA scaffold with DOX which could release DOX by a change in conformation of aptamer/ATP duplex in the presence of ATP. To achieve cancer cell targeted delivery, the fusogenic liposomal membrane was coated with a peptide which can open when acid-triggered to fuse the two liposomes under cancer acidic microenvironment. Thus, a pH-sensitive anticancer drug delivery system was achieved [25].

Niosomes are nonionic surfactant vesicles available in different sizes that range from 20 to 50 μ m. They can be constructed by self-assembly of monomers of hydrated nonionic surfactant and are capable of encapsulating a variety of drugs [26], and their typical structure is shown in Fig. 17.3.

Hydrophobic drug

Hydrophilic drug

Amphiphilic drug



Due to the stability problems found in liposomes, niosomes are introduced as an alternative drug delivering vehicle. Niosomes also possess the capacity to encapsulate both hydrophilic and lipophilic drug substances. The efficiency of entrapment increases with the increase in lipophilicity and concentration of the surfactant which is used to make them. Compared to liposomes, niosomes have different chemical compositions of its bilayer making them more advantageous. The components of liposomes are based on phospholipids, whereas surfactants are used to make niosomes which have improved chemical, physical, and biological stability. Moreover, by modulating the noisome bilayer composition, enhanced drug entrapment can be achieved. The industrial manufacturing of niosomes is also less expensive as they do not need special handling methods as well as storage conditions due to their high stability. The mostly used nonionic surfactants for niosome preparation used for drug delivery are alkyl ethers, sorbitan fatty acid esters, alkyl glyceryl ethers, and polyoxyethylene fatty acid esters. The correct selection of the surfactant plays an important role in designing nonionic vesicular systems. The stability, size, pharmacokinetics, entrapment efficacy, pharmacodynamics, and targeting properties of the vesicular systems are affected by the molecular structure of the surfactant used [27]. The different types of niosomes used for cancer drug delivery are well discussed in the review by Bondar et al. [28].

17.2.5 Dendrimers

Dendrimers are polymers having a well-defined structure with a core at its center made up of an atom or molecule. Branches emerge from its core comprising of repeated units of the constituent polymer with the branch junctions, known as generations [29]. There can be first-generation, second-generation, third-generation, or fourth-generation dendrimer emerging from a single core. The branching makes multiple functionalization and many molecules can be attached thereby on a single core. Dendrimer framework can be controlled and can be utilized as a good drug carrier, and their functionalizations are used for conjugation with drugs or DNA/RNA. Dendrimers can enhance the solubility and bioavailability of the drugs that are hydrophobic. The entrapment of drugs can happen in the intramolecular

cavity of dendrimers or can be conjugated to the functional groups attached at their surface [30].

17.2.6 Graphene and Carbon Nanotubes

Graphene is a two-dimensional nanostructure of carbon with one-atom thickness made from densely packed sp2-hybridized carbon atom network arranged in a hexagonal crystal lattice structure exhibiting unique nanoscopic properties [31-35]. It has profound usage in materials science as well as biomedical science [32, 35]. The graphene nanoparticles can exhibit various structural features, biological responses, and physicochemical properties based on their manufacturing methods [36]. The different types of graphene nanoparticles are graphene nanoribbons (stacks of ribbon-shaped graphene synthesized by the unzipping of the multiwalled carbon nanotubes), graphene nano-onions (spherical shaped layers of graphene which are concentric having both sp2 and sp3 hybridizations), and graphene nanoplatelets (irregular or disc-shaped multiple layered graphene nanoparticles which are synthesized from graphite, also named as graphene oxide (GO)) [36]. The promising applications of graphene in imaging, therapeutics, and drug delivery are attributed to their unique physical and chemical properties [35, 37– 39], and so it is considered as a multifunctional nanoparticle. The surface of graphene nanoparticles can be functionalized covalently or noncovalently with anticancer drugs as well as functional groups that can target the cancer cells or tissues for improving the treatment efficacy. The physicochemical properties of graphene nanoparticles can be utilized to assist stimulus-responsive therapy as well as drug delivery. Scientists have targeted CSCs using graphene nanoparticles without causing any harm to normal cells [40].

Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are made from carbon graphite nanomaterials arranged in an ordered array and hollow structure. CNTs have high surface area, ultralight weight, high aspect ratio, and high tensile strength with tube diameter ranging from 1 to 100 nm. The end of the tubes is usually capped with half-fullerene molecules on both ends and exists as one or several coaxial layers of graphite having diameters in nanometer range. Every carbon atom in CNT is joined to their three neighbors with sp2 hybridization just like graphite that gives the molecules huge strength. CNTs are classified into two types depending on their structure: single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNT) and multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWNT). In the field of drug delivery, CNTs have a number of advantages to deliver the drugs at specific locations in our body suggesting that CNTs may overcome the difficulties of nanoparticles. Since the CNTs have a huge inner volume, it allows more drug molecules which can be encapsulated. Moreover, these volumes are easily accessible because the fullerene caps at the ends can be removed easily and they can have different functionalizations for inner and outer surfaces [41]. CNTs can be chemically modified to attach a variety of molecules on its surface such as proteins, DNA, drugs, peptides, ligands for targeting cells, etc. which enable them to be appropriate candidate for targeted drug delivery. Although one of the drawbacks of CNTs is that they are evidenced to show oxidative stress both in vitro and in vivo causing inflammation and damage to cells in the liver and lungs [42]. To overcome these, nitrogen can be doped in CNTs in the form of various functionalities like pyrrolic nitrogen, pyridinic nitrogen, oxidized nitrogen, and graphitic nitrogen. Further alterations of these functionalities by means of chemical reactions can be done to get desired nitrogen species [43]. When the nitrogen atoms are incorporated into the graphitic lattice of the CNTs, an additional strain to the structure of CNT results in forming "stacked cups" [44]. These stacked cups are held together with weak van der Waals forces, and when these weak interactions are disrupted, individual or shortstacked nanocups are obtained. These short-stacked nanocups are corked with gold nanoparticles, thereby yielding sealed nanocontainers for cargo delivery [45]. In this way a much biocompatible, sealed drug delivery system can be obtained and can be used to deliver drugs at targeted cells. In cancer immunotherapy also CNTs are used as an artificial substrate. Expansion of T cells isolated from mice was done using CNT-polymer nanocomposite, as an artificial antigen-presenting cell. The antigens were attached onto bundled CNTs and complexed with polymer nanoparticles which contained magnetite and interleukin-2 (IL-2), a T-cell growth factor. The results obtained were very promising, and the T cells obtained could delay tumor growth observed in murine melanoma model. Thus, CNT-polymer platform could generate a huge number of cytotoxic T cells which can be used for cancer immunotherapy [46].

17.2.7 Nanodiamonds

Nanodiamonds are carbon-based nanoparticles with 2-8 nm diameter having truncated octahedral structure which gives them multiple facets. These nanodiamonds are not recognized and carried out by the transport proteins which usually pump the drugs outside the cells, and thus the drugs attached to these nanodiamonds remain inside the cells. The synthesis of nanodiamonds can be done using chemical vapor deposition (CVD), detonation, or high-temperaturehigh-pressure process [47]. Nanodiamonds have good chemical stability, structural rigidity, octahedral symmetry, large surface area, and low production costs [48, 49]. The two types of nanodiamonds used in medical applications are detonation nanodiamonds (DNDs) and fluorescent nanodiamonds (FNDs). In cancer chemotherapy, nanodiamonds are coupled with chemotherapeutic drugs that enable sustained release of the loaded drug for a period of 1 month. Epirubicin, a chemotherapeutic drug, was attached to nanodiamonds of nearly 5 nm diameter to make a nanodiamond-epirubicin drug delivery complex (EPND) which could specifically kill the CSCs apart from killing normal cancer cells [50]. The other applications of nanodiamonds in cancer therapy are discussed by Gupta et al. [51] and Ho et al. [52].

17.2.8 Whole Cells

Drug delivery mediated by whole cells involves specific cells as vehicles for the drugs to deliver them into targeted sites. Therapeutic drugs or imaging molecules are loaded inside these cells and further released into the diseased sites. The cells usually used for cell-based therapy include leukocytes, red blood cells, stem cells, etc. and these cells act like a Trojan horse. The payload is carried inside the cells and gets transferred to the diseased tissue from the circulating blood. During this process these cells retain their original properties because of which they mimic the migration behavior of certain cells for carrying the drug to targeted site when administered in vivo [53]. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are recently being used as drug carriers as reviewed by Cheng et al. [54] apart from the use of genetically modified MSCs for the delivery of different pro-apoptotic, antiangiogenic, as well as therapeutic proteins to various types of tumors. Jiang et al. [55] have induced overexpression of CXCR4 in human adipose-derived stem cells and used these cells as a potential vehicle for targeting hypoxia in tumors. Paclitaxel (PTX), a potent chemotherapeutic drug, was successfully delivered using nano-engineered MSCs which acted as a tumor-specific drug delivery vehicle with improved anticancer efficacy compared to conventional chemotherapeutic drugs [56]. A hybrid spheroid/nanomedicine system was constructed from MSC spheroid entrapping a drug-loaded nanocomposite. The spheroid formulation increased the tumor tropism of MSCs and allowed the loading of various types of drugs. The system altogether acted as drug delivery platform tested in glioblastoma model integrating the properties of cell- and nanoparticle-mediated drug delivery along with tumorhoming features of MSCs, resulting in advanced combinational therapy for cancer [57].

17.2.9 Photodynamic Therapy

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) is a mechanism of killing cells using a photosensitizer, oxygen, and appropriate wavelength of light. The photosensitizer is specifically delivered into the cancer cells using a vehicle. The photosensitizer when activated moves to their excited state and generates reactive oxygen species (ROS) by two different ways. In primary photochemical reaction (type I), the electrons are transferred to oxygen or other molecule which forms a radical. This radical further reacts with molecular oxygen forming superoxide anion. In secondary photochemical reaction (type II), the main pathway involves energy transfer to molecular oxygen which further forms the ROS. Both type I and type II mechanisms can take place simultaneously, and the proportion of the two reactions is dependent on the photosensitizer type used, the substrate concentration, and the amount of oxygen present. If the accumulation of the photosensitizer can be made selective at the target site and there is delivery of focused light, it can reduce the damage to the normal cells and can eventually enhance PDT efficacy [58]. The destruction of cells by the reactions of PDT is mediated by either necrosis or apoptosis [59]. The commonly used
photosensitizers which can be administered intravenously for PDT are very rapidly cleared from our circulation, thereby rendering them safe for usage. However, the hydrophobic nature of these photosensitizers renders them to aggregate in aqueous solution and thereby reduces the efficacy of PDT. This drawback of the photosensitizer hinders their delivery inside our body and also causes a decrease in singlet oxygen formation due to self-quenching at the excited state [60]. Thus, to overcome this difficulty, to maintain the photosensitizer in their monomeric state, to give them protection from aqueous environment, and to increase the safety as well as efficacy of PDT treatment, different pharmaceutical carriers and drug delivery systems have emerged. These delivery systems for photosensitizer include liposomes, micelles, oil-based emulsions, polymeric nanoparticles, etc. [58].

For the eradication of cancer, PDT is used in combination with conventional therapy to yield superior outcomes, and nanoenabled therapy for cancer gives higher specificity for cancer cells, lowers side effects, and destructs the cancer cells with high efficiency both in vivo and in vitro. PDT is suitable for treating the types of cancers which cannot be cured by surgery, and moreover the nanoenabled drug delivery system can reach the CSC niche, thereby killing cancer cells and destroying the CSCs which are drug resistant. These nanomediated therapies give 100-fold high therapeutic efficiency compared to free drugs against the drug-resistant cancer cells. The different types of photosensitizers used in PDT are hematoporphyrin, photodithazine, methylene blue, curcumin, chlorins, hypericin, and phthalocyanines [61–63]. To enhance the therapeutic efficiency of the photosensitizers, improvements are being made through conjugation with other molecules. Previous applications of PDT were restricted to surface applications only because of the inapproachability of light in the deeper areas. It has been shown that PDT can also be used in deep-seated cancers including brain tumors and liver cancers using a wireless device capable of activating the photosensitizer inside the tumor [64]. Bakalova et al. have shown that the photosensitizer trifluoperazine when loaded in anti-CD90 antibody conjugated with water-soluble CdSe core-shell nanocrystals was delivered directly to CD90 + leukemia CSCs and could kill the CSCs when exposed to UV light via apoptosis [65]. The different aspects of PDT in targeted cancer therapy have been discussed by Crous et al. [66], but only future perspective of targeting CSCs has been discussed. Till now, not many potential PDTs have been developed to target CSCs.

The different treatment strategies involving nanoenabled drug delivery were discussed so far. Regarding the treatment of cancer, research is still ongoing concerning the target cells, vehicles for drug delivery, and their outcomes in combating the disease. Targeting CSCs becomes the most effective way of controlling the tumor outbreak and metastasis. The different targets that can be utilized for CSC destruction are given in Fig. 17.4.

The CSCs actually act as seed for the initiation of tumor, transition from epithelial to mesenchymal cells, and resistance to chemotherapy thereby resulting in metastasis [67]. A combination drug therapy can help in improving the clinical outcomes, by combination of inhibitors of CSC with conventional cytotoxic agents which can kill both CSC and bulk tumor cells simultaneously [68]. The combination therapy not



only delays or suppresses the adaptation of cancer, its mutation, and progression, but it eventually decreases the individual dose and hence the side effects [69–71]. The targeting of cancer cells or CSCs can take place in two different ways:

- Passive delivery systems: This system is based on the enhanced permeability and retention effect (EPR) in case of solid tumors. In this phenomenon, due to the increased permeability of the vasculature around the tumor tissue, low molecular weight molecules (up to 40 kDa) can enter into the tumor space, and the suppressed lymphatic filtration also allows these molecules to accumulate [72– 75].
- 2. Active targeting system: Active targeting systems can be achieved by associating the cancer cell-specific affinity ligands to the nanostructure-based drug delivery systems [76, 77].

17.3 Nanoenabled Treatment of Cancer Stem Cells

Chemoresistance is the major cause of failure in treatment of cancer and also a common trait in the tumor-initiating CSCs. CSCs escape the chemotherapy and have enhanced tumor initiation capacity. Targeting cancer stem cells for effective therapy of cancer is being studied in the last few decades [78–80]. Targeting the CSCs using different cell markers gives a strategy for the targeted drug delivery. For example, there are several markers for ovarian cancer stem cells like epithelial cell adhesion

molecule (EpCAM), CD117 (c-kit), CD44, CD133, and aldehyde dehydrogenase isoform 1 (ALDH1) [81]. The most common cell markers of CSCs are CD44 and CD133 which are generally used for targeting the CSCs using nanovehicles. The progress in research using nanocarriers for targeting CSCs is discussed below.

17.3.1 Nanodiamonds as Drug Carriers

A nanodrug delivery platform based on nanodiamonds, to deliver epirubicin, a chemotherapeutic drug, has been used to impair the growth of tumor that is developed from chemoresistant CSCs. The nanodiamonds were attached reversibly to epirubicin through physical adsorption (nanodiamond/epirubicin ratio = 5:1) to make epirubicin drug complex (EPND). The drug complex, EPND, was characterized (size and surface charge) and found to be capable of passive targeting with enhanced permeability and retention property. The cellular uptake and cell killing capacity of EPND were monitored showing higher chemotherapeutic killing in both CSCs and normal cancer cells [50]. Previous studies have suggested that there can be covalent and noncovalent methods for functionalization of the nanodiamonds which make them more biocompatible and superior than the other carbon-based nanomaterials like SWNT, MWNT, and carbon blacks [82]. Several applications of nanodiamonds in drug delivery system for cancer have been reviewed by previous researchers [83], but very few reports exist on targeting the CSCs.

17.3.2 Polymeric Nanoparticles

Polymeric nanoparticles have also been applied for the drug delivery [84] for targeting cancer stem cells. Yang and his team [85] prepared functional micelles that were self-assembled from the mixture of polyethylene glycol (PEG) and acidfunctionalized polycarbonate to make a diblock copolymer (PEG-b-PAC) and a PEG and urea-functionalized polycarbonate copolymer diblock (PEG-b-PUC) through hydrogen bonding. These synthesized micelles had high stability because of the hydrogen bond presence (urea-urea and urea-acid) and had the ability to accumulate preferably in the tumor tissues due to EPR effect [86]. They also exhibited high loading capacity for the chemotherapeutic drugs like DOX [85-87]. Phenformin is another chemotherapeutic drug, with two guanidine groups that can form hydrogen bond with urea group and can have ionic interaction with the acid group present in the micellar core. A self-assembly of PEG-b-PUC and PEG-b-PAC mixture was made and loaded with phenformin, and the drug-loaded micelles were characterized for its size, stability in serum containing solution, and drug release properties in vitro. Lung cancer cell line H460 was analyzed for its cytotoxicity using only phenformin and micelle-loaded with phenmorphin which showed promising results for the micellar form. Further the CSC population in the tumor tissue after treatment with only phenformin and micelle-loaded with phenmorphin was monitored. The

were excised and dissociated to make a single-cell suspension and were analyzed for CD133-positive cells using flow cytometry. The results showed that free phenformin did not reduce the CSC subpopulation, whereas, the phenformin-loaded micelles could significantly reduce the CSC's population in the tumor cells compared to the control. The reason behind this may be due to the EPR effect of drug-loaded micelles in the leaky tumor tissues that led to preferential accumulation of these micelles in the tumor tissues [88]. In another study, salinomycin-loaded poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)-polyethylene glycol nanoparticles were used for conjugation of CD133 antibodies (CD133-SAL-NP) for the purpose of elimination of CD133+ ovarian CSCs. The size of the polymer-loaded drug-antibody conjugate was 149 nm and had the property of sustained drug release with high efficient binding capacity to CD133 + ovarian cancer cells. An increased cytotoxicity was observed in CD133+ ovarian cancer cells compared to nontargeted SAL-NPs and only salinomycin. There was a reduction in the CD133+ ovarian CSCs in the ovarian cells compared to only salinomycin and SAL-NP treatment showing that the polymer-loaded drug-antibody conjugate was effective in targeting the CSCs. The nude mice were taken which bore ovarian cancer xenografts and were treated with CD133-SAL-NPs, showing enhanced therapeutic effects demonstrating that CD133-SAL-NP can be a promising target for killing ovarian CSCs [89]. Actively targeting CSCs was achieved using a multilayered core-shell polymeric nanoparticle using hyaluronic acid (HA) in place of PVA as a drug loading vehicle [90]. HA can specifically bind to CD44 antigen which is commonly overexpressed at the surface of several types of CSCs [91, 92], and the HA-decorated nanoparticles can co-deliver many drugs specifically into the CSCs. The four drugs used for co-delivery were doxorubicin hydrochloride (DOX, hydrophilic), curcumin (CUR, hydrophobic), indocyanine green (ICG, hydrophilic), and irinotecan or camptothecin (CPT, hydrophobic), using nanoparticles prepared from four polymers: pluronic F127 (PF127 with and without chitosan modification), poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA), HA, and chitosan. These polymers are approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). The combination of PLGA and PF127 yielded more uniform size and high stable nanoparticles compared to the one obtained using PF127 or PLGA alone. Chitosan was also found to bind specifically to CD44 which was overexpressed in the CSCs [93]. Drug repositioning is another strategy used for targeting the CSCs because it helps to overcome some limitations of conventional drug therapies like poor drug solubility, toxicity at off-targets, etc. A transcription factor, named STAT-3, can regulate the genes which are involved in the renewal of stem cells and has become a novel target for cancer therapy. Breast cancer stem cells' (BSCs) studies were highly correlated with STATs [94], and STAT-3 has been documented for its role in invasion, survival, and promotion of cell proliferation in tumors, immunosuppression, angiogenesis, obesity, inflammation, as well as premetastatic niche formation [95]. Moreover, STAT-3 also plays an important role as potent immune checkpoint responsible for immune response for multiple tumors that are present in tumor microenvironment for promoting tumor progression [96-99]. Thus, any therapeutic approach that can block STAT-3 can be effective in the treatment of cancer. Drug repurposing strategy was

done for delivering suitable STAT-3 inhibitor, niclosamide, incorporated in a polymeric nanoparticle (1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC)) and conjugated with CD44-targeting peptide yielding CD44-tagged niclosamide-loaded nanovehicles (CD44-NIC-Veh). This drug-loaded nanoparticle was used for efficient targeting of BSCs and was found to be promising in breast cancer stem cell killing capacity by altering the gene expression and protein translation. There was downregulation of CSC marker genes like MYC, BCL2, IL10, MCL1, IL11, MMP9, MUC1, EGFR, COX2, IFNG, and VEGF in the mouse xenograft tumors that were treated with the CD44-NIC-Veh in comparison to the nano-Veh-treated controls. The researchers have also found that the CSC populations were significantly decreased, as evidenced by the reduction in CD44+/CD24⁻ expressing cell population. This showed that the "stemness" characteristics were reduced in the CSCs and the CD44-NIC-Veh could deactivate STAT-3 [100]. HA-functionalized ethylenediamine conjugated bovine serum albumin (eBSA) encapsulating all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) (HA-eNPs) was used as a drug delivery vehicle for the targeted drug delivery to CD44-enriched B16F10 cells. In vivo imaging experiments showed that HA-eNPs could accumulate in the lungs of the tumor-bearing mouse. The ATRA-laden HA-eNPs could exert better killing ability to B16F10 cells as seen from the cytotoxicity assay compared to free drug or normal nanoparticles exposed at the same dose. Moreover, the tumor growth was inhibited significantly by HA-eNPs/ATRA as seen in the lung metastasis tumor mice. Thus, HA-eNP-loaded ATRA can be a superior drug for controlling the CSCs [101]. Active targeting of breast and colon CSCs was achieved by targeting the stem cell surface marker CD44. PLGA-co-PEG loaded with PTX micelles was used for targeted drug delivery to BCSCs and colon cancer cells showing promising results [102]. N-Isopropylacrylamide, vinylpyrrolidone, and acrylic acid polymer mixture was used in the molar ratio of 60:20:20 to encapsulate curcumin and was found to reduce the brain tumor size and also reduced the number of CD133+ stemlike cells [103, 104]. The Hedgehog (Hh) signaling pathway was interrupted by delivering GLI inhibitor through PLGA-PEG nanoparticles and showed inhibition in metastasis in hepatocellular carcinoma models [105, 106]. Anthothecol encapsulated in PLGA could alter the fate of pancreatic CSCs by inhibiting CSC proliferation and inducing apoptosis [107]. Polyethyleneimine/polyethylene glycol conjugated with mesoporous silica nanoparticles was used to load the TGF-β inhibitor, LY364947, for inhibiting the TGF-β signaling pathway of BCSCs and also to deliver siRNA to the CSCs. These nanopolymer-based delivery of siRNA caused the accumulation of the siRNA in the tumor and reduced the CSCs [108, 109]. Targeting the different CSC killing pathways using nanoenabled drug delivery is discussed in detail by previous researchers [7, 110–113].

17.3.3 Liposomal Nanocarriers

Liver cancer stem cells (LSCs) are responsible for the initiation of liver cancer, invasion, recurrence, metastasis, and further chemoresistance. Like other cancers,

targeting LCSCs using nanoenabled drug delivery can show some insight in liver cancer treatment and prevent their recurrence [114]. Nanoliposomes were prepared using a lipid mixture of hydrogenated soybean phospholipids (HSPC), cholesterol, and 1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-N-[methoxy(PEG)-2000] (PEG-DSPE) in the ratio of 85:10:5. The nanoliposomes were used to make salinomycin-loaded nanoliposomes (SLN), doxorubicin-loaded nanoliposomes (DLN), as well as a combination of salinomycin and doxorubicin (SDLN) for targeting both normal liver cancer cells and LSCs. The mole ratio of DOX/salinomycin sodium at 1:1 had the optimum synergistic combination index value, and the same ratio was taken in SDLN. The percentage of LSCs in vivo was significantly decreased after treatment with SDLM and SLN + DLN post 12 h treatment [115]. Liposomal nanoformulations for targeting the prostate cancer cells and prostate CSCs have been engineered using cabazitaxel (CBX)- and silibinin (SBL)-loaded liposomes made from cationic phospholipid N-[1-(2,3-dioleovloxy) propyl]-N,N,N-trimethylammonium chloride (DOTAP) and cholesterol. For specifically targeting prostate CSCs, HA was coated atop the cationic liposome that had affinity for the CD44 cell surface receptors overexpressed in CSCs. The in vitro results showed that these surface-functionalized liposome-encapsulated drugs could exert specific cytotoxicity against CD44+ cells. Thus, the results showed the potential of CBX-SIL co-loaded liposomes for eradicating prostate cancer stem cells [116].

17.3.4 Exosomes as Drug Cargo

Exosomes are natural nanovehicles derived from cells and are widely distributed in body fluids for the cell-cell communication. They are involved in multiple diseases, including cancer, and they contain receptors above their lipid bilayer membrane. They carry lipids, proteins, miRNAs, mRNAs, and small DNA fragments within them to protect the degradation of these molecules [117-120]. The exosomes have specific surface markers like TSG101, Alix, Flotillin-1, CD63, and CD9 and are present in different cell culture-conditioned media as well as body fluids like saliva, synovial fluid, urine, semen, blood, and breast milk [121–124]. Different treatment strategies have been proposed for controlling the proliferation and differentiation of CSCs. Since the cell surface marker, CD44, is highly expressed in hepatic CSCs, it has been targeted for liposomal drug delivery to control hepatic CSCs [125], and exosomal delivery of anti-CD44 antibody can be a future aspect for targeting the CSCs. Similarly other CSC markers like CD24, CD133, epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM), and CD200 can also be attached to the surface of the exosomes for targeting the CSCs. Multiple clinical trials are going on for targeting the cancer stem cells using exosomes as nanocarrier [126].

17.3.5 Nanoporous Materials

Mesoporous silica is the most commonly used nanoporous materials and is synthesized using tetraethyl orthosilicate which reacts with micellar rod templates. The porous form of silica thus synthesized is a collection of rods or spheres of nanosize filled with numerous pores arranged regularly. They are usually of two types, MCM-41 and SBA-15. Mesoporous silica based-nanoparticles, encapsulating γ -secretase inhibitors (GSIs), were used to control the notch signaling driven stem cells and enhance the tumor reduction in medulloblastoma [127]. Notch signaling inhibitors were loaded in mesoporous silica to deliver the drug in BCSCs which are susceptible to more glucose consumption. The results showed reduction in CSC population as well as size of the tumor both in vivo and in vitro [128]. The typical porous nature of mesoporous silica is shown in Fig. 17.5.

Thus, the different nanoenabled drug delivery systems used so far for targeting the CSCs have been discussed, and the outcome of such treatment strategies was also reviewed in the above sections.

17.4 Conclusion

The major problem in addressing the chemoresistance and multidrug resistance in cancer therapy is the inability to combat the CSCs through any drug. These CSCs migrate to a different site and initiate different tumors, thereby spreading the cancer. This warrants the need of targeting specifically the CSCs and delivers the chemo-therapeutic drug to these populations and killing them. The CSCs have been known to exhibit different cell surface biomarkers as well as pathways of internal signaling which are involved in their self-renewal and the drug resistance. CD44 and CD133 are commonly identified in many cancer types. If these biomarkers can be targeted using some novel drug delivery system, it can improve the CSC killing thereby improving the drug resistance, eradication of CSCs, and possible cure for cancer.

Fig. 17.5 The porous structure of mesoporous silica which enables the drug to be loaded in the small pores to reach the target site



Nanostructure-based therapeutic strategy has been recently evolved for effective cancer treatment due to their specific properties like (1) sustained drug release, (2) designing and development of personalized medicine, and (3) improved bio-availability of drugs and use in multifunctional therapy. In this chapter we have discussed about the different nanoenabled drug delivery systems and their possible therapeutic research done so far to target the CSCs. The nanodrug delivery systems could deliver a single or multidrug to the CSCs with particular biomarker targeting molecules attached to their surface for the CSC targeting. The targeting of CSCs was done using small chemical ligands, peptides, lipids, polysaccharides, and surface markers which have selective affinity for the CSCs and attaching them with the nanocarrier along with the chemotherapeutic drug. Both active and passive targeting were used to eradicate the CSCs. Thus, the different targeting strategies can enable to wipe out the CSCs and open a new avenue in the near future for the cancer treatment.

Acknowledgments The authors are grateful to Chettinad Academy of Research and Education for providing the infrastructure. *Conflict of interest*: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A (2013) Cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 63:11–30
- 2. Sahai E (2005) Mechanisms of cancer cell invasion. Curr Opin Genet Dev 15:87-96
- Dalerba P, Cho RW, Clarke MF (2007) Cancer stem cells: models and concepts. Annu Rev Med 58:267–284
- 4. Jordan CT, Guzman ML, Noble M (2006) Cancer stem cells. N Engl J Med 355:1253-1261
- World Health Organization (1979) WHO handbook for reporting results of cancer treatment. WHO, Geneva
- Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P, Burant CF, Zhang L, Adsay V, Wicha M, Clarke MF, Simeone DM (2007) Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 67:1030–1037
- Asghari F, Khademi R, Esmaeili Ranjbar F, Veisi Malekshahi Z, Faridi Majidi R (2019) Application of nanotechnology in targeting of cancer stem cells: a review. Int J Stem Cells 12:227–239
- Ghosh S, Girigoswami K, Girigoswami A (2019) Membrane-encapsulated camouflaged nanomedicines in drug delivery. Nanomedicine (Lond) 14:2067. https://doi.org/10.2217/ nnm-2019-0155
- Gao W, Dong R, Thamphiwatana S, Li J, Gao W, Zhang L, Wang J (2015) Artificial micromotors in the mouse's stomach: a step toward in vivo use of synthetic motors. ACS Nano 9(1):117–123
- García-López V, Chiang PT, Chen F, Ruan G, Martí AA, Kolomeisky AB, Wang G, Tour JM (2015) Unimolecular submersible nanomachines. Synthesis, actuation, and monitoring. Nano Lett 15(12):8229–8239
- 11. Li S, Jiang Q, Liu S et al (2018) A DNA nanorobot functions as a cancer therapeutic in response to a molecular trigger *in vivo*. Nat Biotechnol 36:258–264
- Ding T, Valev VK, Salmon AR, Forman CJ, Smoukov SK, Scherman OA, Frenkel D, Baumberg JJ (2016) Light-induced actuating nanotransducers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(20):5503–5507
- Jang B, Gutman E, Stucki N, Seitz BF, Wendel-García PD, Newton T, Pokki J, Ergeneman O, Pané S, Or Y, Nelson BJ (2015) Undulatory locomotion of magnetic multilink Nanoswimmers. Nano Lett 15(7):4829–4833

- Kathuria H, Kochhar JS, Kang L (2018) Micro and nanoneedles for drug delivery and biosensing. Ther Deliv 9(7):489–492
- 15. Li Q, Pan Y, Chen T, Du Y, Ge H, Ahang B, Xie J, Yu H, Zhu M (2018) Design and mechanistic study of a novel gold nanocluster-based drug delivery system. Nanoscale 10:10166–10172
- Lukianova-Hleb EY, Hanna EY, Hafner JH, Lapotko DO (2010) Tunable plasmonic nanobubbles for cell theranostics. Nanotechnology 21(8):85102. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 0957-4484/21/8/085102
- Furman NET, Lupu-Haber Y, Bronshtein T, Kaneti L, Letko N, Weinstein E, Baruch L, Machluf M (2013) Reconstructed stem cell nanoghosts: a natural tumor targeting platform. Nano Lett 13(7):3248–3255
- 18. Kaneti L, Bronshtein T, Malkah Dayan N, Kovregina I, Letko Khait N, Lupu-Haber Y, Fliman M, Schoen BW, Kaneti G, Machluf M (2016) Nanoghosts as a novel natural nonviral gene delivery platform safely targeting multiple cancers. Nano Lett 16(3):1574–1582
- Krishnamurthy S, Gnanasammandhan MK, Xie C, Huang K, Cui MY, Chan JM (2016) Monocyte cell membrane-derived nanoghosts for targeted cancer therapy. Nanoscale 8:6981–6985
- Sun W, Jiang T, Lu Y, Reiff M, Mo R, Gu Z (2014) Cocoon-like self-degradable DNA nanoclew for anticancer drug delivery. J Am Chem Soc 136(42):14722–14725
- 21. Xu R, Zhang G, Mai J, Deng X, Segura-Ibarra V, Wu S, Shen J, Liu H, Hu Z, Chen L, Huang Y, Koay E, Huang Y, Liu J, Ensor JE, Blanco E, Liu X, Ferrari M, Shen H (2016) An injectable nanoparticle generator enhances delivery of cancer therapeutics. Nat Biotechnol 34 (4):414–418
- 22. Lu Y, Hu Q, Lin Y, Pacardo DB, Wang C, Sun W, Ligler FS, Dickey MD, Zhen G (2015) Transformable liquid-metal nanomedicine. Nat Commun 6:10066. https://doi.org/10.1038/ NCOMMS10066
- Pullan JE, Confeld MI, Osborn JK, Kim J, Sarkar K, Mallik S (2019) Exosomes as drug carriers for cancer therapy. Mol Pharm 16(5):1789–1798
- 24. Wang X, Zhang H, Yang H, Bai M, Ning T, Li S, Li J, Deng T, Ying G, Ba Y (2018) Cellderived exosomes as promising carriers for drug delivery and targeted therapy. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 18(4):347–354
- Mo R, Jiang T, Gu Z (2014) Enhanced anticancer efficacy by ATP-mediated liposomal drug delivery. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 53(23):5815–5820
- Girigoswami A, De S (2006) Fluorescence and dynamic light scattering studies of niosomesmembrane mimetic systems. Spectrochem Acta A 64:859–866
- 27. Muzzalupo R, Mazzotta E (2019) Do niosomes have a place in the field of drug delivery? Expert Opin Drug Deliv 16(11):1145–1147
- Bondar Ganesh H, Nagoba SN, Pattewar Shraddha G, Swami V, Thonte SS (2018) A review on current trends of nanotechnology for cancer therapy. IOSR J Pharm 8(6):63–71
- 29. Haribabu V, Sulaiman Farook A, Goswami N, Murugesan R, Girigoswami A (2016) Optimized Mndoped iron oxide nanoparticles entrapped in dendrimer for dual contrasting role in MRI. J Biomed Mater Res B 104B:817–824
- Palmerston Mendes L, Pan J, Torchilin VP (2017) Dendrimers as nanocarriers for nucleic acid and drug delivery in cancer therapy. Molecules 22(9):1401. https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules22091401
- Patel SC, Lee S, Lalwani G, Suhrland C, Chowdhury SM, Sitharaman B (2016) Graphenebased platforms for cancer therapeutics. Ther Deliv 7(2):101–116
- 32. Allen MJ, Tung VC, Kaner RB (2010) Honeycomb carbon: a review of graphene. Chem Rev 110:132–145
- 33. Geim AK, Novoselov KS (2007) The rise of graphene. Nat Mater 6:183-191
- 34. Geim AK (2009) Graphene: status and prospects. Science 324:1530–1534
- 35. Wang Y, Li Z, Wang J, Lisend J, Lin Y (2011) Graphene and graphene oxide: biofunctionalization and applications in biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol 29:205–212

- Talukdar Y, Rashkow JT, Lalwani G, Kanakia S, Sitharaman B (2014) The effects of graphene nanostructures on mesenchymal stem cells. Biomaterials 35(18):4863–4877
- Sun X, Liu Z, Welsher K et al (2008) Nano-graphene oxide for cellular imaging and drug delivery. Nano Res 1(3):203–212
- Paratala BS, Jacobson BD, Kanakia S, Francis LD, Sitharaman B (2012) Physicochemical characterization, and relaxometry studies of micro-graphite oxide, graphene nanoplatelets, and nanoribbons. PLoS One 7(6):e38185
- Tonelli FM, Goulart VA, Gomes KN et al (2015) Graphene-based nanomaterials: biological and medical applications and toxicity. Nanomedicine 10(15):2423–2450
- 40. Fiorillo M, Verre AF, Iliut M, Peiris-Pagés M, Ozsvari B, Gandara R, Cappello AR, Sotgia F, Vijayaraghavan A, Lisanti MP (2015) Graphene oxide selectively targets cancer stem cells, across multiple tumor types: implications for non-toxic cancer treatment, via "differentiation-based nano-therapy". Oncotarget 6(6):3553–3562
- 41. Kaur J, Singh Gill G, Jeet K (2019) Applications of carbon nanotubes in drug delivery: a comprehensive review. In: Mohapatra SS, Ranjan S, Dasgupta N, Mishra RK, Thomas S (eds) Micro and nano technologies, characterization and biology of nanomaterials for drug delivery. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 113–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814031-4.00005-2. ISBN 9780128140314
- 42. Muthu MS, Abdulla A, Pandey BL (2013) Major toxicities of carbon nanotubes induced by reactive oxygen species: should we worry about the effects on the lungs, liver and normal cells? Nanomedicine 8:863–866
- 43. Dommele SV, Romero-Izquirdo A, Brydson R, KPD J, Bitter JH (2008) Tuning nitrogen functionalities in catalytically grown nitrogen-containing carbon nanotubes. Carbon 46:138–148
- Allen BL, Kichambare PD, Star A (2008) Synthesis, characterization, and manipulation of nitrogen-doped carbon nanotube cups. ACS Nano 2:1914–1920
- 45. Burkert SC, Star A (2015) Corking nitrogen-doped carbon nanotube cups with gold nanoparticles for biodegradable drug delivery applications. Curr Protoc Chem Biol 7 (4):249–262
- 46. Fadel TR, Sharp FA, Vudattu N, Ragheb R, Garyu J, Kim D, Hong E, Li N, Haller GL, Pfefferle LD, Justesen S, Herold KC, Fahmy TM (2014) A carbon nanotube-polymer composite for T-cell therapy. Nat Nanotechnol 9(8):639–647
- Kaur R, Badea I (2013) Nanodiamonds as novel nanomaterials for biomedical applications: drug delivery and imaging systems. Int J Nanomedicine 8:203–220
- 48. Puzyr AP, Baron AV, Purtov KV, Bortnikov EV, Skobelev NH, Mogilnaya OA, Bondar VS (2007) Nanodiamonds with novel properties: a biological study. Diam Relat Mater 16 (12):2124–2128
- Mochalin VN, Shenderova O, Ho D, Gogotsi Y (2012) The properties and applications of nanodiamonds. Nat Nanotechnol 7:11–23
- Wang X, Low XC, Hou W, Abdullah LN, Toh TB, Mohd Abdul Rashid M, Ho D, Chow EK (2014) Epirubicin-adsorbed nanodiamonds kill chemoresistant hepatic cancer stem cells. ACS Nano 8(12):12151–12166
- 51. Gupta C, Prakash D, Gupta S (2017) Cancer treatment with nano-diamonds. Front Biosci 9:62–70
- Ho D, Wang CH, Chow EK (2015) Nanodiamonds: the intersection of nanotechnology, drug development, and personalized medicine. Sci Adv 1(7):e1500439. https://doi.org/10.1126/ sciadv.1500439
- 53. Pang L, Zhang C, Qin J, Han L, Li R, Hong C, He H, Wang J (2017) A novel strategy to achieve effective drug delivery: exploit cells as carrier combined with nanoparticles. Drug Deliv 24(1):83–91
- 54. Cheng S, Nethi SK, Rathi S, Layek B, Prabha S (2019) Engineered mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) for targeting solid tumors: therapeutic potential beyond regenerative therapy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.119.259796

- Jiang X, Wang C, Fitch S, Yang F (2018) Targeting tumor hypoxia using nanoparticleengineered CXCR4-overexpressing adipose-derived stem cells. Theranostics 8(5):1350–1360
- 56. Layek B, Sadhuka T, Panyam J, Prabha S (2018) Nano-engineered mesenchymal stem cells increase therapeutic efficacy of anticancer drug through true active tumor targeting. Mol Cancer Ther 17:1196. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0682
- 57. Suryaprakash S, Lao Y-H, Cho H-Y, Li M, Ji HY, Shao D, Hu H, Quek CH, Huang D, Mintz RL, Bagó JR, Hingtgen SD, Lee K-B, Leong KW (2019) Engineered Mesenchymal stem cell/ Nanomedicine spheroid as an active drug delivery platform for combinational glioblastoma therapy. Nano Lett 19:1701–1705
- Vimaladevi M, Divya KC, Girigoswami A (2016) Liposomal nanoformulations of rhodamine for targeted photodynamic inactivation of multidrug resistant gram negative bacteria in sewage treatment plant. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol 162:146–152
- Plaetzer K, Krammer B, Berlanda J, Berr F, Kiesslich T (2008) Photophysics and photochemistry of photodynamic therapy: fundamental aspects. Lasers Med Sci 24:259–268
- Chen TC, Chen C, Yang J, Tasi T (2013) Liposome-encapsulated photosensitizers against Bacteria. Recent Pat Antiinfect Drug Discov 8:100–107
- Calixto GM, Bernegossi J, de Freitas LM, Fontana CR, Chorilli M (2016) Nanotechnologybased drug delivery systems for photodynamic therapy of cancer: a review. Molecules 21 (3):342–360
- Oniszczuk A, Wojtunik-Kulesza KA, Oniszczuk T, Kasprzak K (2016) The potential of photodynamic therapy (PDT)-experimental investigations and clinical use. Biomed Pharmacother 83:912–929
- Kharkwal GB, Sharma SK, Huang YY, Dai T, Hamblin MR (2011) Photodynamic therapy for infections: clinical applications. Lasers Surg Med 43:755–767
- 64. Bansal A, Yang F, Xi T, Zhang Y, Ho JS (2018) In vivo wireless photonic photodynamic therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 15(7):1469–1474
- 65. Bakalova R, Ohba H, Zhelev Z, Ishikawa M, Baba Y (2004) Quantum dots as photosensitizers? Nat Biotechnol 22:1360–1361
- 66. Crous A, Chizenga E, Hodgkinson N, Abrahamse H (2018) Targeted photodynamic therapy: a novel approach to abolition of human cancer stem cells. Int J Optics 2018:Article ID 7317063. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7317063
- 67. Putzer BM, Solanki M, Herchenroder O (2017) Advances in cancer stem cell targeting: how to strike the evil at its root. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 120:89–107
- 68. Kim YJ, Liu Y, Li S, Rohrs J, Zhang R, Zhang X, Wang P (2015) Co-eradication of breast cancer cells and cancer stem cells by cross-linked multilamellar liposomes enhances tumor treatment. Mol Pharm 12(8):2811–2822
- Duan X, Xiao J, Yin Q, Zhang Z, Yu H, Mao S, Li Y (2013) Smart pH-sensitive and temporalcontrolled polymeric micelles for effective combination therapy of doxorubicin and disulfiram. ACS Nano 7(7):5858–5869
- 70. Ma L, Kohli M, Smith A (2013) Nanoparticles for combination drug therapy. ACS Nano 7 (11):9518–9525
- 71. Ramasamy T, Ruttala HB, Chitrapriya N, Poudal BK, Choi JY, Kim ST, Youn YS, Ku SK, Choi HG, Yong CS (2017) Engineering of cell microenvironment responsive polypeptide nanovehicle co-encapsulating a synergistic combination of small molecules for effective chemotherapy in solid tumors. Acta Biomater 48:131–143
- 72. Kavya JC, Amsaveni G, Nagalakshmi M, Girigoswami K, Murugesan R, Girigoswami A (2013) Silver nanoparticles induced lowering of BCl₂/Bax causes DLA tumour cell death in mice. J Bionanosci 7:276–281
- 73. Kavya JC, Amsaveni G, Haseena Y, Murugesan R, Girigoswami A (2014) Gene expression profile induced by liposomal nanoformulation of anticancer agents: insight into cell death mechanism. Adv Sci Eng Med 6:159–165

- 74. Amsaveni G, Farook AS, Haribabu V, Murugesan R, Girigoswami A (2013) Engineered multifunctional nanoparticles for DLA cancer cells targeting, sorting, MR imaging and drug delivery. Adv Sci Eng Med 5:1340–1348
- 75. Sharmiladevi P, Akhtar N, Haribabu V, Girigoswami K, Chattopadhyay S, Girigoswami A (2019) Excitation wavelength independent carbon decorated ferrite nanodots for multimodal diagnosis and stimuli responsive therapy. ACS Appl Bio Mater 2:1634–1642
- 76. Girigoswami A, Wafic Y, Sharmiladevi P, Haribabu V, Girigoswami K (2018) Camouflaged nanosilver with excitation wavelength dependent high quantum yield for targeted theranostic. Sci Rep 8:16459
- 77. Haribabu V, Sharmiladevi P, Akhtar M, Farook AS, Girigoswami K, Girigoswami A (2019) Label free ultrasmall fluoromagnetic ferrite-clusters for targeted cancer imaging and drug delivery. Curr Drug Deliv 16:233–241
- 78. Clevers H (2011) The cancer stem cell: premises, promises and challenges. Nat Med 17:313–319
- Rosen JM, Jordan CT (2009) The increasing complexity of the cancer stem cell paradigm. Science 324:1670–1673
- Dean M, Fojo T, Bates S (2005) Tumour stem cells and drug resistance. Nat Rev Cancer 5:275–284
- Ren F, Shen J, Shi H, Hornicek FJ, Kan Q, Duan Z (2016) Novel mechanisms and approaches to overcome multidrug resistance in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1866:266–275
- Mochalin VN, Amanda P, Xue-Mei L, Gogotsi Y (2013) Adsorption of drugs on nanodiamond: toward development of a drug delivery platform. Mol Pharm 10:3728–3735
- Ansari SA, Satar R, Jafri MA, Rasool M, Ahmad W, Zaidi SK (2016) Role of nanodiamonds in drug delivery and stem cell therapy. Iran J Biotechnol 14(3):e1320. https://doi.org/10. 15171/ijb.1320
- Deepika R, Girigoswami K, Murugesan R, Girigoswami A (2018) Influence of divalent cation on morphology and drug delivery efficiency of mixed polymer nanoparticles. Curr Drug Deliv 15:652–657
- 85. Yang C, Tan JP, Cheng W, Attia ABE, Ting CTY, Nelson A et al (2010) Supramolecular nanostructures designed for high cargo loading capacity and kinetic stability. Nano Today 5:515e23
- 86. Ebrahim Attia AB, Yang C, Tan JP, Gao S, Williams DF, Hedrick JL et al (2013) The effect of kinetic stability on biodistribution and anti-tumor efficacy of drug-loaded biodegradable polymeric micelles. Biomaterials 34:3132e40
- Ke XY, Lin Ng VW, Gao S-J, Tong YW, Hedrick JL, Yang YY (2014) Co-delivery of thioridazine and doxorubicin using polymeric micelles for targeting both cancer cells and cancer stem cells. Biomaterials 35:1096e108
- Krishnamurthy S, Ng VWL, Gao S, Tan M-H, Yang Y-Y (2014) Phenformin-loaded polymeric micelles for targeting both cancer cells and cancer stem cells in vitro and in vivo. Biomaterials 35:9177e9186
- 89. Mi Y, Huang Y, Deng J (2018) The enhanced delivery of salinomycin to CD133⁺ ovarian cancer stem cells through CD133 antibody conjugation with poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)-poly (ethylene glycol) nanoparticles. Oncol Lett 15:6611–6621
- Wang H, He X (2018) Nanoparticles for targeted drug delivery to cancer stem cells and tumor. In: Sirianni RW, Behkam B (eds) Targeted drug delivery: methods and protocols, methods in molecular biology, vol 1831. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8661-3_6
- 91. Avigdor A, Goichberg P, Shivtiel S, Dar A, Peled A, Samira S, Kollet O, Hershkoviz R, Alon R, Hardan I (2004) CD44 and hyaluronic acid cooperate with SDF-1 in the trafficking of human CD34+ stem/progenitor cells to bone marrow. Blood 103:2981–2989
- Jin L, Hope KJ, Zhai Q, Smadja-Joffe F, Dick JE (2006) Targeting of CD44 eradicates human acute myeloid leukemic stem cells. Nat Med 12:1167–1174

- 93. Rao W, Wang H, Han J, Zhao S, Dumbleton J, Agarwal P, Zhang W, Zhao G, Yu J, Zynger DL, Lu X, He X (2015) Chitosan-decorated doxorubicin-encapsulated nanoparticle targets and eliminates tumor reinitiating cancer stem-like cells. ACS Nano 9:5725–5740
- 94. Akira S, Nishio Y, Inoue M, Wang XJ, Wei S, Matsusaka T et al (1994) Molecular cloning of APRF, a novel IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 p91-related transcription factor involved in the gp130-mediated signaling pathway. Cell 77:63–71
- 95. Schroeder A, Herrmann A, Cherryholmes G, Kowolik C, Buettner R, Pal S et al (2014) Loss of androgen receptor expression promotes a stem-like cell phenotype in prostate cancer through STAT3 signaling. Cancer Res 74:1227–1237
- 96. Herrmann A, Kortylewski M, Kujawski M, Zhang C, Reckamp K, Armstrong B et al (2010) Targeting Stat3 in the myeloid compartment drastically improves the in vivo antitumor functions of adoptively transferred T cells. Cancer Res 70:7455–7464
- Kortylewski M, Yu H (2008) Role of Stat3 in suppressing anti-tumor immunity. Curr Opin Immunol 20:228–233
- Kujawski M, Kortylewski M, Lee H, Herrmann A, Kay H, Yu H (2008) STAT3 mediates myeloid cell-dependent tumor angiogenesis in mice. J Clin Invest 118:3367–3377
- 99. Wang AM, Ku HH, Liang YC, Chen YC, Hwu YM, Yeh TS (2009) The autonomous notch signal pathway is activated by baicalin and baicalein but is suppressed by niclosamide in K562 cells. J Cell Biochem 106:682–692
- 100. Misra SK, De A, Pan D (2017) Targeted delivery of STAT-3 modulator to breast cancer stemlike cells downregulates a series of stemness genes. Mol Cancer Therapeut 17:119. https://doi. org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0070
- 101. Li Y, Shi S, Ming Y et al (2018) Specific cancer stem cell-therapy by albumin nanoparticles functionalized with CD44-mediated targeting. J Nanobiotechnol 16:99. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12951-018-0424-4
- 102. Gener P, Gouveia LP, Sabat GR, de Sousa Rafael DF, Fort NB, Arranja A, Fernández Y, Prieto RM, Ortega JS, Arango D, Abasolo I, Videira M, Schwartz S Jr (2015) Fluorescent CSC models evidence that targeted nanomedicines improve treatment sensitivity of breast and colon cancer stem cells. Nanomedicine 11:1883–1892
- 103. Li Y, Zhang T (2014) Targeting cancer stem cells by curcumin and clinical applications. Cancer Lett 346:197–205
- 104. Lim KJ, Bisht S, Bar EE, Maitra A, Eberhart CG (2011) A polymeric nanoparticle formulation of curcumin inhibits growth, clonogenicity and stem-like fraction in malignant brain tumors. Cancer Biol Ther 11:464–473
- 105. Chenna V, Hu C, Pramanik D, Aftab BT, Karikari C, Campbell NR, Hong SM, Zhao M, Rudek MA, Khan SR, Rudin CM, Maitra A (2012) A polymeric nanoparticle encapsulated small-molecule inhibitor of hedgehog signaling (NanoHHI) bypasses secondary mutational resistance to smoothened antagonists. Mol Cancer Ther 11:165–173
- 106. Xu Y, Chenna V, Hu C, Sun HX, Khan M, Bai H, Yang XR, Zhu QF, Sun YF, Maitra A, Fan J, Anders RA (2012) Polymeric nanoparticle-encapsulated hedgehog pathway inhibitor HPI-1 (NanoHHI) inhibits systemic metastases in an orthotopic model of human hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 18:1291–1302
- 107. Verma RK, Yu W, Singh SP, Shankar S, Srivastava RK (2015) Anthothecol-encapsulated PLGA nanoparticles inhibit pancreatic cancer stem cell growth by modulating sonic hedgehog pathway. Nanomedicine 11:2061–2070
- 108. Meng H, Zhao Y, Dong J, Xue M, Lin YS, Ji Z, Mai WX, Zhang H, Chang CH, Brinker CJ, Zink JI, Nel AE (2013) Two-wave nanotherapy to target the stroma and optimize gemcitabine delivery to a human pancreatic cancer model in mice. ACS Nano 7:10048–10065
- 109. Zuo ZQ, Chen KG, Yu XY, Zhao G, Shen S, Cao ZT, Luo YL, Wang YC, Wang J (2016) Promoting tumor penetration of nanoparticles for cancer stem cell therapy by TGF-β signaling pathway inhibition. Biomaterials 82:48–59

- 110. Burke AR, Singh RN, Carroll DL, Torti FM, Torti SV (2012) Targeting cancer stem cells with nanoparticle-enabled therapies. J Mol Biomarker Diagn S:8. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-9929.S8-003
- 111. Mokhtarzadeh A, Hassanpour S, Vahid ZF, Hejazi M, Hashemi M, Ranjbari J, Tabarzad M, Noorolyai S, de la Guardia M (2017) Nano-delivery system targeting to cancer stem cell cluster of differentiation biomarkers. J Control Release 266:166–186
- 112. Qin W, Huang G, Chen Z, Zhang Y (2017) Nanomaterials in targeting cancer stem cells for cancer therapy. Front Pharmacol 8:1. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00001
- 113. Singh VK, Saini A, Chandra R (2017) The implications and future perspectives of nanomedicine for cancer stem cell targeted therapies. Front Mol Biosci 4:52. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fmolb.2017.00052
- 114. Zhang JL, Gong LQ, Yan Q, Zhou NN, Lee VHF, Guan XY (2019) Advances in surface markers of liver cancer stem cell. Hepatoma Res 5:27. https://doi.org/10.20517/2394-5079. 2019.13
- 115. Gong Z, Chen D, Xie F, Liu J, Zhang H, Zou H, Yu Y, Chen Y, Sun Z, Wang X, Zhang H, Zhang G, Yin C, Gao J, Zhong Y, Lu Y (2016) Codelivery of salinomycin and doxorubicin using nanoliposomes for targeting both liver cancer cells and cancer stem cells. Nanomedicine (Lond) 11(19):2565–2579
- 116. Mahiraa S, Komminenia N, Husain GM, Khana W (2019) Cabazitaxel and silibinin co-encapsulated cationic liposomes for CD44 targeted delivery: a new insight into nanomedicine based combinational chemotherapy for prostate cancer. Biomed Pharmacother 110:803–817
- 117. Raimondo F, Morosi L, Chinello C, Magni F, Pitto M (2011) Advances in membranous vesicle and exosomes proteomics improving biological understanding and biomarker discovery. Proteomics 11:709–720
- 118. Hwang I (2013) Cell-cell communication via extracellular membrane vesicles and its role in the immune response. Mol Cells 36:105–111
- 119. De Veirman K, Wang J, Xu S, Leleu X, Himpe E, Maes K et al (2016) Induction of miR-146a by multiple myeloma cells in mesenchymal stromal cells stimulates their pro-tumoral activity. Cancer Lett 377:17–24
- 120. Wang J, DeVeirman K, Faict S, Frassanito MA, Ribatti D, Vacca A et al (2016) Multiple myeloma exosomes establish a favourable bone marrow microenvironment with enhanced angiogenesis and immunosuppression. J Pathol 239:162–173
- 121. Schorey JS, Bhatnagar S (2008) Exosome function: from tumor immunology to pathogen biology. Traffic 9:871–881
- 122. Soltani F, Parhiz H, Mokhtarzadeh A, Ramezani M (2015) Synthetic and biological vesicular nano-carriers designed for gene delivery. Curr Pharm Des 21:6214–6235
- 123. Tang MK, Wong AS (2015) Exosomes: emerging biomarkers and targets for ovarian cancer. Cancer Lett 367:26–33
- 124. Yu S, Cao H, Shen B, Feng J (2015) Tumor-derived exosomes in cancer progression and treatment failure. Oncotarget 6:37151–37168
- 125. Arabi L, Badiee A, Mosaffa F, Jaafari MR (2015) Targeting CD44 expressing cancer cells with anti-CD44 monoclonal antibody improves cellular uptake and antitumor efficacy of liposomal doxorubicin. J Control Release 220(Pt A):275–286
- 126. Wang J, Zheng Y, Zhao M (2017) Exosome-based cancer therapy: implication for targeting cancer stem cells. Front Pharmacol 7:533. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2016.00533
- 127. Mamaeva V, Rosenholm JM, Bate-Eya LT, Bergman L, Peuhu E, Duchanoy A, Fortelius LE, Landor S, Toivola DM, Lindén M, Sahlgren C (2011) Mesoporous silica nanoparticles as drug delivery systems for targeted inhibition of notch signaling in cancer. Mol Ther 19:1538–1546
- 128. Mamaeva V, Niemi R, Beck M, Özliseli E, Desai D, Landor S, Gronroos T, Kronqvist P, Pettersen IK, McCormack E, Rosenholm JM, Linden M, Sahlgren C (2016) Inhibiting notch activity in breast cancer stem cells by glucose functionalized nanoparticles carrying γ-secretase inhibitors. Mol Ther 24:926–936



Cancer Stem Cells in Patient Survival and Therapies in Cancer

18

Ying Yang, Chao Tian, and Wen-Jian Meng

Abstract

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are a subpopulation of cancer cells and responsible for stemness properties of cancer cell. It is regarded as one of the major causes of cancer formation, recurrence, and metastasis. Recent studies demonstrated that CSCs are closely related to the prognosis and treatment of many tumors including lung cancer, colorectal cancer, breast cancer, gastric cancer, and melanoma by targeting cell surface markers, signaling pathways, and microRNAs (miRNAs) to affect stemness features of CSCs. In addition, the application of nanotechnology in CSCs also makes it a novel and potential target in therapy of tumor. However, given the limitations of CSCs as mentioned in this paper, its clinical applications as a target of cancer face many challenges. Further research is needed to explore its clinical application as a target for tumor therapy.

Keywords

Cancer stem cells \cdot Cell surface markers \cdot Signaling pathway \cdot MicroRNA \cdot Drug resistance \cdot Survival

Abbreviations

5FUR	5-Fluorouracil-resistant
ABC	ATP-binding cassette

Y. Yang · W.-J. Meng (⊠)

Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

C. Tian

Department of Breast Surgery, Sichuan Cancer Hospital, School of Medicine, The University of Electronic Science and Technology of China (UESTC), Chengdu, China

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_18

ABCB	ATP-binding cassette subfamily B
ABCB5	ATP-binding cassette subfamily B member 5
ALDH	Aldehyde dehydrogenase
ALDH1A1	ALDH1 family member A1
ATRA	All-trans retinoic acid
BCRP	Breast cancer resistance protein
BCSCs	Breast CSCs
CAPE	Caffeic acid phenethyl ester
CDDP	Cisplatin
CDF	Difluorinated-curcumin
CRC	Colorectal cancer
CSCs	Cancer stem cells
CSLCs	Cancer stemlike cells
CTCs	Circulating tumor cells
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
CTNNBIP1	Catenin beta interacting protein 1
DCs	Dendritic cells
DFS	Disease-free survival
EGCG	Epigallocatechin-3-gallate
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EMT	Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
EpCAM	Epithelial cellular adhesion molecule
GCSCs	Gastric CSCs
GSI	Gamma secretase inhibitors
HA-SLNs	Solid lipid nanoparticles with hyaluronan
HH	Hedgehog
HHAT	HH acyl transferase
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
HMGA2	High mobility group AT-hook 2
LAC	Lung adenocarcinoma
LGR5	Leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein-coupled receptor 5
LSCC	Lung squamous cell carcinoma
LSD1	Lysine-specific demethylase 1
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MDR1	Multiple drug resistance
miRNA, miR	MicroRNA
MRP	Multidrug resistance-associated proteins
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
N2IC	Notch2 intracellular domain
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer
OPN	Osteopontin
OS	Overall survival
PAF	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen-associated factor
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
P-gp	P-Glycoprotein
PRKCI	Protein kinase C iota

PTX	Paclitaxel
Rh123low	Low rhodamine 123
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SCLC	Small cell lung cancer
SDCSCs	Spheroid-derived CSCs
SIRT1/2	Sirtuin 1 and 2
Smo	Smoothened
SP	Side population
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
TAM	Tumor-associated macrophage
TNBC	Triple-negative breast cancer
VCR	Vincristine
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VM	Vasculogenic mimicry

18.1 Introduction

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are a minor population of tumor cells with the properties of self-renewal and differentiation, as well as tumorigenic potential. [1] The accumulated evidence suggests that CSCs play an imperative role in metastases, posttreatment recurrence, and resistance to chemoradiotherapy in cancer [2], which closely associated with the worse survival of cancer patients. Meanwhile, these properties also make CSCs become a potential therapeutic target for cancer treatment.

Previous studies have shown that conventional chemotherapy and radiotherapy could not completely eliminate CSCs in cancer patients, resulting in treatment failure. The reason is that CSCs possess the properties of slow cell cycle, detoxification or regulation of cytotoxic outflow, resistance to oxidative stress, and rapid response to DNA damage [3, 4].

Recently, several methods available to target CSCs including specific surface markers of CSCs, specific signaling pathways, tumor microenvironment, or specific microRNA (miRNA, miR) have been reported by accumulating researches. For specific surface markers of CSCs, CD44, CD133, CD24, and ALDH1 are routinely used to identify and validate CSCs [5]. Another approach could be targeting CSCs by their specific signaling pathways. Key cell signaling pathways include Notch, Wnt/ β -catenin, hedgehog (HH), human epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), and so on [6]. These signaling pathways are of crucial importance in CSCs. Other treatment strategies include targeting the tumor microenvironment or specific microRNA (miRNA, miR). MiRNAs participate in many vital biological processes including cell proliferation and migration, tumor cell aggression, and metastasis. At present, emerging evidences suggest that miRNAs play a critical role in CSCs [7, 8]. Of course, the CSC-targeting strategy certainly goes beyond these methods above.

Therefore, in this article, we have summarized recent advancement on the therapeutic and prognostic role of CSCs in different types of cancer including lung cancer, colorectal cancer (CRC), breast cancer, gastric cancer, and melanoma.

18.2 CSCs in Lung Cancer

Primary lung cancer remains one of the most common malignant tumors, and deaths from lung cancer exceed those from any other malignancy worldwide [9]. A growing number of studies have shown that CSCs exhibited important roles in driving initiation, metastasis, recurrence, and resistance to conventional therapy of lung cancer. Hence targeting CSCs of lung cancer may provide a promising approach to improve the survival and therapies of lung cancer patients in the future.

18.2.1 Targeting Cell Surface Markers of CSCs

Many cell surface and transmembrane proteins are expressed in CSCs of lung cancer including CD24, CD133, ALDH, and so on. These surface markers could not only identify CSC population in lung cancer but also act as an approach to target CSCs.

Elevation of CD133+ and CD24+ cells has been found to be closely related to poor prognosis of cancer treatment. Stem cell surface marker CD24 has been considered as a novel prognostic marker and stem cell marker in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Overexpression of CD24 was reported to associate with tumor patients with a higher risk of disease progression and tumor-related death. In addition, this study also showed that the overexpression of CD24 could be used as an independent predictor for poor progression-free survival and tumor-specific survival in patients with NSCLC [10]. Therefore, CD24 antigen could provide numerous crucial information to research the biology of NSCLC and may be used as a beneficial tool to promote the development of novel diagnostic and therapeutic ways to eradicate CD24 function in tumor cells. As a specific marker of human hematopoietic stem cells, CD133 has been considered as a marker of CSCs in numerous cancers. In NSCLC, CD133+ cells possess a higher tumorigenicity ability compared with CD133- cells and express genes which confer to cancer cells the property of stemness, adhesion, motility, and drug efflux. And importantly, CD133+ cells of lung tumor are spared by cisplatin treatment [11].

The aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) is another important surface marker of lung cancer with stem cell properties. Compared with the ALDH-CSC population, ALDH+ CSCs show longer telomeres. MST312, a novel telomerase inhibitor, plays an antiproliferative role in lung CSCs and possesses the characteristic of inducing tumor population apoptosis. The previous study demonstrated that MST312 possesses potential antitumor properties in NSCLC in vivo (mouse model): intraperitoneal injection of MST312 (40 mg/kg/day) can reduce the tumor size by more than 70%. In addition, at the end of in vivo treatment, immunohistochemical analysis of ALDH and fluorescence-activated cell sorting analysis of ALDH after removal of

the tumor showed that the population of CSCs was also significantly reduced. Thus, as a antitelomeric therapy mainly by targeting lung CSCs, MST312 may prove to be effective in treating lung cancer [12]. ALDH1-positive CSCs showed stronger proliferative ability, cloning efficiency, and tumorigenicity. And ALDH1, a marker of CSCs, may be employed as a target for the therapy of lung cancer in the future [13]. Huang et al. [14] showed that compared with ALDH1 family member A1 (ALDH1A1)-negative lung cancer cells, lung cancer cells with ALDH1A1-positive possess the property of resistance to gefitinib. Clinical sample studies showed that a significant increase in the proportion of ALDH1A1-positive cells was observed in lung cancer cells that resist to EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitor and chemotherapy agents. In addition, a higher proportion of ALDH1A1-positive cells was shown in PC9/gef cells (lung cancer cells showing resistance to gefitinib), compared with lung cancer cells which were sensitive to gefitinib. Another study showed that the expression level of ALDH1A1 was significantly correlated with the poor prognosis of patients with stage I and N0 disease. ALDH tends to select NSCLC stemlike cells with stronger tumorigenicity and self-renewal ability, and those NSCLC carrying tumor cells expressing ALDH1A1 tend to have a worse outcome [15].

18.2.2 Targeting Signaling Pathways of CSCs

Any deregulation of CSC-related signaling pathway will activate CSCs, which eventually results in formation, recurrence, and metastasis of numerous cancer including lung cancer [16]. Dysregulation of various signaling pathways in CSCs is expected to be a novel potential therapeutic target for human cancer.

18.2.2.1 Hedgehog Signaling Pathway

In lung cancer, hedgehog (HH) signaling pathway was found to increase drug resistance in patients and eventually leads to the failure of chemotherapy. Mutations of HH signaling pathway play a critical role in promoting tumorigenesis and activation of CSCs, thereby resulting in lung cancer. A study involving genetically engineered mice showed that the activation of Smoothened (SMO), the component of HH signal molecules, could not only contribute to the formation of cloning in human small cell lung cancer (SCLC) in vitro but also promote the occurrence and development of mouse SCLC in vivo. Furthermore, the key cell-intrinsic role of HH signaling in the progression and maintenance of SCLC has been explored, as Park KS et al. demonstrated that the use of SMO antagonists could suppress the development of SCLC in mice and humans, especially after chemotherapy. And the inhibitor of HH pathway may be a novel potential therapeutic target for human SCLC patients to slow down the further deterioration of the disease and delay the relapse of cancer [17]. GDC-0449, a HH inhibitor, effectively reduces cell growth of SCLC and enhances the inhibitory effect of cisplatin on the growth of lung cancer cells [18]. At present, there is a lack of effective targeted therapy in lung squamous cell carcinoma (LSCC). A study shows that GANT61, a HH-GLI inhibitor, could effectively induce apoptosis of LSCC cells, suggesting that inhibition of HH-GLI may be employed as a new and effective strategy for the treatment of some patients with LSCC [19]. Protein kinase C iota (PRKCI)-mediated SOX2 is required for HH acyl transferase (HHAT) to initiate and activate the HH pathway. Justilien et al. [20] reported that PRKCI-SOX2-HH signaling pathway is crucial to maintenance of CSC in LSCC. These findings offer a strong rationale for HH inhibitors for treatment of LSCC.

18.2.2.2 Notch Signaling Pathway

Notch signaling pathway is key to maintain a cancer stem or progenitor cell compartment, which is necessary for tumorigenesis in lung cancer.

Notch signaling is one of the most activated pathways in cancer cells and crucial for the correlation between self-renewal of CSCs and angiogenesis. In addition, the growth of lung cells is regulated by it via controlling the fate of normal stem cells. By testing the effect of Notch1 blocking on the growth and viability of lung CSCs, Cai et al. [21] observed that CD44+/CD24- cells isolated from A549 cells possessed stem cell-like properties with high expression of Notch1 and blocking Notch1 by inhibitor DAPT (GSI-IX) or siRNA, both inhibiting the growth capacity of lung CSCs. In a study by Liu et al. [22] in 2014, the difference of Notch signal expression between CD133+ and CD133- cells was compared in the same human lung adenocarcinoma cell line A549 with CD133 as the marker of stem cells. And in these two cells above, the effects of DAPT combined with cisplatin (CDDP) were detected and compared. The results showed that notch signaling pathway members (Notch1, Notch2, and Hes1) were low expressed in CD133+ cells, and significant drug resistance to CDDP was found in CD133+ cells. Moreover, after combined application of GSI, the inhibitory effect of CDPP was significantly enhanced in both cells above, particularly in CD133+ cells. These findings suggest that the inhibitor of Notch pathway is expected to be a potential therapeutic target for lung cancer. Furthermore, the previous studies [23, 24] showed that the combination of the inhibitor of Src-YAP1, EGFR, and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) could provide an inhibitory effect beyond its application alone or double in vivo, indicating the importance of combined treatment. Recently, they further investigated whether the expression of CSCs and EMT markers and the activity of ALDH were affected by the inhibition of EGFR. The results showed that combined inhibition of EGFR, STAT3, and Src significantly reduced CSC subsets in the cell model of EGFR mutation. Thus, a single inhibitor of EGFR may increase the number of CSCs; on the contrary, its combination with targeted Src and STAT3 might be beneficial to the treatment of lung cancer [25]. Taken together, these findings suggested that for the treatment of lung cancer, a single inhibitor of signal pathway is insufficient and it would further drive activation of parallel signal pathways, thereby leading to the failure of treatment. In contrast, combined therapy might be beneficial to the treatment of patients, especially for those NSCLC patients with positive EGFR mutations.

18.2.2.3 Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway

In a 2012 study, trifluoperazine showed an ability to inhibit the generation of CSC tumor sphere and decrease the expression level of CD44/CD133 (CSC markers). It inhibited Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in lung cancer sphere with resistance to gefitinib. Furthermore, in animal models of lung cancer metastatic and orthotopic CSC, trifluoperazine has been found to inhibit the development of tumor and increase the sensitivity of gefitinib. Combined application of trifluoperazine, gefitinib, or cisplatin may effectively increase the sensitivity of lung cancer to it [26].

18.2.3 Targeting the miRNAs

Accumulating evidence suggests that as a key regulatory molecule of lung CSC-related metastasis, drug resistance, and tumor self-renewal, miRNA can effectively regulate numerous signal pathways, which participate in the regulation of proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, cell cycles, and immune response of lung CSCs.

MiRNA plays a critical role in regulating lung CSCs, and these CSCs are closely related to the obstacles in cancer treatment including recurrence, metastasis, and drug resistance of cancer. For instance, as a tumor suppressor gene, miRNA-34a inhibits abnormal cell growth of malignancies including lung cancer [27]. The low expression level of miR-34a is key to promoting the invasiveness of lung CSCs. Moreover, with the recovery of miR-34a activity and the generation of exogenous delivery, this invasive property will also be reduced [28]. Thus, the recovery of miR-34a activity might be employed as an effective strategy for tumor treatment via downregulating the expression of Notch target genes or family members. Qi et al. [29] demonstrated that miR-214 suppressed the expression of catenin beta interacting protein 1 (CTNNBIP1), which also elucidates the mechanism of activation of Wnt/ β -catenin signal in lung adenocarcinoma (LAC) tumor stem cells. Moreover, the expression level of CTNNBIP1 is also proportional to the differentiation of cancer cells and could be used to predict the survival of LAC patients. Thus, identifying miR-214-CTNNBIP1 pathways with the ability to regulate the selfrenewal and stemness of CSLCs is expected to become a new strategy for the treatment of LAC patients. Recently, Dai et al. [30] identified the important role of miR-150-5p in the recurrence and metastasis of NSCLC. The result showed that the significantly low expression of miR-150-5p was observed in CSCs compared with non-CSCs. Furthermore, there was a significant positive correlation between the low expression of miR-150-5p and the disease deterioration and poor prognosis of NSCLC patients. The suppression of miR-150-5p would lead to the increase of CSC population, stemness, and metastasis of NSCLC cells. On the contrary, the high expression of miR-150-5p would markedly suppress the relapse, metastasis, and tumorigenesis of CSCs via targeting high mobility group AT-hook 2 (HMGA2) and β -catenin signaling in NSCLC. These results showed that as an inhibitor of CSC, the upregulation of miR-150-5p could be expected to a novel potential approach for the inhibition of CSC-induced metastasis and relapse in NSCLC. Taken together, these

findings suggested that miRNAs could significantly affect the biological behavior of lung CSCs by regulating the signaling pathways of LCSCs.

However, targeting CSCs in lung cancer would be a challenge due to heterogeneity of the cells and various genomic pathways involved. Therefore, many studies are focusing on using combination of cellular markers as it increases the specificity of targeted population.

18.3 CSCs in CRC

CRC is one of the most common and fatal malignant tumors in the world. It puts great pressure on medical and health care in all countries, and its incidence is gradually increasing [31]. The metastasis and recurrence in patients with CRC are known to be the main cause of failure of CRC treatment and ultimately leads to the worse prognosis. If we can early detect metastasis of CRC and take appropriate intervention before the disease progression, we can greatly improve the prognosis of CRC patients. Accumulating evidence suggests that CSCs participate in tumor formation, recurrence, metastasis, and resistance to chemoradiotherapy, which might play a crucial role in CRC. In fact, failure to completely eradicate CSCs is a major reason for the failure therapy of cancer [32]. It has been reported that the eradication of CSCs would be useful in increasing CRC patients' survival rates [33]. Thus, colorectal CSC markers can act as effective prediction factor and therapeutic targets.

18.3.1 Targeting Cell Surface Markers of CSCs

CSCs express some specific cell surface macromolecules that can be used for its identification and separation, and these macromolecules or markers can also provide a feasible target for scavenging CSCs. Leucine-rich repeat-containing G-proteincoupled receptor 5 (LGR5), an identification mark of CSCs, is crucial to the development of tissue and the maintenance of adult stem cells in gastrointestinal system. LGR5 overexpression has been reported to be closely related to lymphatic invasion, lymph node metastasis, vascular invasion, tumor depth, and tumor stage in patients with CRC. High level of LGR5 expression was linked to poor disease-free survival (DFS) for CRC patients [34, 35]. Further study [36] demonstrated that the inhibition of LGR5 cell such as selective ablation would suppress the development of primary tumor, but not lead to the regression of tumor. Furthermore, CSCs play a key role in the generation and maintenance of liver metastasis derived from CRCs, which indicate that CSCs may be expected to become a novel potential target for the treatment of metastatic cancers. In addition, Shimokawa and colleagues [37] showed that LGR5-positive (LGR5+) CRC cells could be acted as CSCs in growing cancer tissues. And significant regression of the tumor was observed after eradicating LGR5 + CSCs through ablation in LGR5-iCaspase9 knock-in organoids. Interestingly, the reemerging LGR5 + CSCs are shown to contribute to tumor regrowth after LGR5 + CSCs' ablation. A previous study [38] showed that LGR5 is effective in the treatment of gastrointestinal tumors, especially colon cancer using different antibody-drug conjugates. Several studies have indicated that LGR5 has been shown to relate to increased drug resistance in gastrointestinal tumors. And in primary colon tumors, overexpression of LGR5 was shown to associate with chemoresistance and lower DFS and overall survival (OS) [39–43]. Hence, LGR5 is expected to be a new prognostic indicator and a potential target for the therapy of CRC. Nevertheless, the mechanism of LGR5 which participates in the tumorigenicity of CRC is not completely understood; therefore, larger, higher-quality studies are needed to illustrate the role of LGR5 in CRC.

CD133, CD24, and CD44 are cell surface markers which have been shown to be linked to stem cells, as well as aggressive cancer types and poor prognosis in CRC. Jing et al. [44] reported that CD44 might be used as an effective indicator to predict liver metastasis and prognosis of colon cancer patients. Du et al. [45] found strong inhibitory effect of knockout CD44 on clone formation and tumorigenicity of xenografts, indicating that CD44 is a robust marker and key to the initiation of tumor. Rao et al. [46] have illustrated that tumor correlated with macrophage (TAM) interacts with CD44-positive cancer cells and secrete osteopontin (OPN) which in turn promoted the clonogenicity and tumorigenicity of CRC. Moreover, tissue microarray data showed that the expression of OPN and CD44v6 (an OPN functional receptor) was inversely related to the survival of patients with CRC. These findings revealed that interaction between OPN and CD44 is crucial to the development of CRC and might be employed as a promising therapeutic target in CRC. However, large-scale, higher-quality studies (such as prospective trials) are needed to verify the results of these studies. Sahlberg et al. [47] reported that overexpression of CD133/CD44 was proportional to the increase of resistance to radiation in colon cancer cells. Liu et al. [48] reported that combined treatment of paclitaxel and siRNA-targeted CD133 cells could effectively reduce the expression of multiple drug resistance-1 (MDR1) in human colon CSCs (CD133+ enriched cell population), which could markedly reduce the resistance to paclitaxel. Jao et al. [49] reported that the overexpression of CD133 was markedly proportional to local relapse and prognosis of patients and could be used as an effective prognostic marker for tumor regression grading in rectal cancer patients after neoadjuvant concurrent chemoradiotherapy. Kanwar et al. [50] observed that difluorinated-curcumin (CDF) combined with 5-fluorouracil and oxaliplatin could effectively inhibit proliferation and induce apoptosis of CSCs via decreasing CD44 and CD166 drug-resistant colon cancer cells, suggesting that the combination of CDF with 5-fluorouracil and oxaliplatin is expected to be a reliable therapeutic approach to inhibit the drug resistance of colon cancer cells via eradicating CSCs. Excepting for the above cell surface markers, ST6Gal-I may also be a promising marker of CSCs. Swindall et al. [51] suggest that ST6Gal-I promotes tumorigenesis and plays a crucial role in maintaining behavior of stemlike cell; thus it might be employed as therapeutic target. Lugli et al. [52] reported that loss of membranous CD44s, CD166, and epithelial cellular adhesion molecule (EpCAM) was linked to tumor progression, invasiveness, and infiltrating tumor growth pattern. Therefore, CD44s, CD166, and

EpCAM possess the potential to predict the survival of CRC patients. Furthermore, Xiang et al. [53] developed a novel therapeutic approach based on the combination of EpCAM aptamer (a new drug delivery system) with doxorubicin which is able to target surface molecules of CSCs. This approach can effectively inhibit the growth of tumor and a prolonged longer tumorigenic latency, thereby improving the prognosis of CRC patients. Wang et al. [54] established a novel therapeutic strategy based on chitosan vesicle entrapment of oxaliplatin, which could eradicate tumor cells and CSCs (more effective than free oxaliplatin) and might be a novel strategy for treatment of CSCs. Recently, ALDH1 is one of putative CSC marker in CRC. Kahlert et al. [55] found that ALDH1 nuclear expression related to shorter survival of patients with CRC. Furthermore, Deng et al. [56] reported that high postoperative ALDH1 expression predicts the recurrence, distant metastasis, and poor prognosis for CRC patients who received neoadjuvant therapy. Also, Goosssens-Beumer et al. [57] suggested that co-expression level of ALDH1, survivin, and EpCAM was a reliable prognostic indicator to predict risk of recurrence and survival of colon cancer patients. However, further validation about these conclusions in clinical trials is warranted.

18.3.2 Targeting Signaling Pathways of CSCs

It has been shown that various signaling pathways including Wnt and Notch can control growth, differentiation, migration, and response to drug treatment of CRC by regulating CSCs. Therefore, targeting CSCs through signal pathway is a potential therapeutic strategy for CRC, but only taking such treatment does not make an effective approach at least today. The combination of conventional therapies such as radiotherapy and chemotherapy and the inhibitor of CSC-specific pathway possesses the potential to improve cancer cure compared with monotherapies [58].

Overexpression of BMI1, a signaling pathway of CSCs, induces tumor progression and metastasis and contributes to the self-renewal of CSCs. Depletion of BMI1 cancer cells can lead to suppression of CSC self-renewal. [59] The STAT3 pathway is crucial to regulate CSC self-renewal, and suppression of this pathway will lead to a decrease in the number of CSCs. Lin et al. [60, 61] reported that CD133/ALDH(+) CSC cell population expressed higher level of pSTAT3, and the effects of STAT3 inhibition in colon CSLCs were examined, which indicate that inhibition of STAT3 in CSLCs might provide a potential therapeutic strategy for CRC. And then they found that GO-Y030 acted as inhibitor of STAT3 phosphorylation and therefore inhibited colon CSCs. Napabucasin, an inhibitor of tumor stemness by targeting STAT3, possesses the ability to inhibit the recurrence and metastasis of numerous cancers [62]. A phase III clinical trial recently aimed to test napabucasin in advanced CRC showed that STAT3 may be a promising target for the therapy of CRC with elevated phosphorylated STAT3 (pSTAT3) expression [63]. Overactivation of Wnt signaling is the main reason for the pathogenesis of CRC. In colon cancer, the suppression of HOXA5 by the Wnt pathway maintains stemness of CSCs, and its reexpression induces loss of the CSC phenotype, which will prevent tumor progression and metastasis [64].

A previous study revealed that HH-GL11 was crucial to promote the development, metastasis, and self-renewal of stem cells in advanced colon cancers. Therefore, targeting HH-GL11 may be used as a therapeutic strategy to reduce tumor size and metastases of colon cancer and eliminate colon CSCs [65]. These results suggest that HH-GL11 signaling pathway played a key role in the formation of colon CSCs and may be a potential therapeutic strategy for colon cancer, especially for those with refractory and metastatic characteristics.

18.3.3 Targeting the miRNAs

A growing body of evidence suggests that miRNAs are closely related to the invasiveness and metastasis of CRC. And the aggressiveness and stemness of CRC remain a major cause for relapse and metastasis of CRC. Hongdan et al. [66] reported that miR-3210-5p could increase the characteristics of aggressiveness and stem cell-like in colon cancer via decreasing the expression of Axin2 (a regulator of Wnt signaling). Therefore, targeted inhibition of miR-3210-5p may be a promising therapeutic strategy to improve the prognosis of patients with colon cancer. Zhai et al. [67] showed that high expression of miR-140-5p was significantly correlated with the low expression of Smad2 in CRC cell lines, which would lead to the decrease of cell proliferation and invasiveness and the increase of cell cycle arrest. Furthermore, overexpression of miR-140-5p in CSCs abolished tumor formation and metastasis in vivo. The functional and clinical significance of miR-140-5p shows that it can regulate the metastasis and progression of CRC, as well as it has the ability to be a new therapeutic target for CRC in the future. Huang et al. [68] revealed that tRF/miR-1280, a 17-bp fragment derived from tRNA and pre-miRNA, affected Notch signaling pathways supporting the role of CSLCs in CRC progression. They have reported that tRF/miR-1280 could inhibit the metastasis and development of CRC via suppressing Notch signaling pathways. Furthermore, they demonstrated that miRNA with functional activity could be obtained from tRNA, which undoubtedly provides another promising biomarker for the treatment of CRC. A study showed that miR-34a directly inhibited Numb in early-stage colon CSCs and deletion of miR-34a will enhance CSC properties in colon cancer [7].

Colon CSCs have been identified as one of the main reasons for the resistance of colon cancer to chemotherapy. MiRNA is crucial to the progression of colon CSCs and might contribute to reducing drug resistance and increasing sensitivity to chemotherapy [8]. It has been shown that the expression of miR-451 leads to the decrease of colonic bulb self-renewal and tumorigenicity and the increase of its sensitivity to irinotecan by reducing the expression of ABCBA1 (an ATP-binding cassette drug transporter). The above results revealed that miR-451 may be used as a novel marker to predict the relapse and chemoresistance of CRC, especially the response of colon cancer to irinotecan [69]. A study by Xu et al. [70] in stem cell-like side population (SP) cells in CRC showed that the high expression of miR-328 could

improve the chemoresistance and suppressed the invasiveness of SP cells. These findings indicate that miR-328 plays a crucial role in maintaining cancer stemlike SP phenotype and might be a promising target for the treatment of CRC.

18.3.4 Other Strategies Targeting CSCs

Conventional therapies, such as radiotherapy and chemotherapy, play a predominant role in the management of patients with advanced-stage CRC. However, the inherent or acquired chemo- and radiation resistance of CRCs results in failure of treatment, which is partly on account of the enrichment of CSCs with resistance to conventional therapy.

A recent study shows that the combination of MST-312 (a telomerase inhibitor) with flavonoid morin can decrease the stemness of CSCs. In addition, co-treatment of the two drugs above can also enhance the therapeutic effect of 5-FU [71]. Therefore, the combination of flavonoid morin and MST-312 can be used as a novel therapeutic target to improve the prognosis of tumors. Recently, epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), an active catechin present in green tea, has been found to possess the ability to inhibit the development of CSC in a variety of tumor. Toden et al. [72] reported that EGCG could increase the efficacy of 5-FU and inhibit tumor proliferation in 5-fluorouracil-resistant (5FUR) CRC cell lines. EGCG treatment in these 5FUR cells leads to the inhibition of spheroid-derived CSCs' (SDCSCs) generation and increased sensitivity of 5-FU to SDCSCs. The above findings provide a support for EGCG to enhance the sensitivity of 5-FU by targeting CSCs of CRC and highlight the potential of EGCG as an adjuvant therapy for conventional chemotherapy in patients with CRC.

18.4 CSCs in Breast Cancer

A growing number of studies demonstrated that the formation of breast cancer was thought to be driven by CSCs. Today, acquired and inherent resistance to radiotherapy and chemotherapy represents a main obstacle in therapy of breast cancer. Breast CSCs (BCSCs) not only drive tumor formation, recurrence, and metastasis of cancer but also mediate therapeutic resistance [73]. Thus, developing strategies with effective targeting BCSCs might be beneficial to control tumor relapse, increase DFS, and increase sensitivity to conventional therapy such as chemoradiotherapy.

18.4.1 Targeting Cell Surface Markers of CSCs

Doxorubicin can achieve the therapeutic effect of scavenging BCSCs by decreasing the expression of CD44 in vitro. Moreover, decreased expression of CD44 will increase the sensitivity of CD44+CD24– breast cancer cells to doxorubicin [74]. Interestingly, another study [75] showed that knockout of the CD44 gene

makes BCSCs become non-BCSCs with less tumorigenicity, which changes the cell cycle and some CSC-related gene expression, leading to the loss of stemness and enhancing response to conventional therapy.

The malignant potential of triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is also relied upon a subpopulation of BCSCs. CD133 and EpCAM, two BCSC markers, are significantly related to invasiveness of breast tumors, indicating that combined therapy targeting two surface molecules at the same time might be an effective strategy for the therapy of TNBC [76]. GD2 (a glycosphingolipid) is a new CSC-specific cell surface marker. As a key enzyme of GD2 synthesis, GD3 synthase might be a promising therapeutic target for CSCs and may improve the prognosis of breast cancer patients. Furthermore, complete knockout of GD3 could eliminate the formation of tumor in vivo [77]. Hence, developing a therapy approach targeting CSCs may be beneficial to the treatment of patients with breast cancer.

18.4.2 Targeting Signaling Pathways of CSCs

A recent study has revealed that the noncanonical hedgehog inhibitor GANT61 could reduce not only the development of cells but also the number of CSC in triplenegative breast cancer cells and GANT61 could enhance the inhibitory effect of paclitaxel on the growth of these cells [78]. Likewise, GANT61 also possesses the ability to increase the proportion of CSC in ER-positive breast cancer cells excepting for its inhibitory effect on breast cancer cells [79]. These results suggest that GANT61 could be used as a target for the therapy of breast cancer patients through its inhibitory effect on cancer cells and CSCs. Genistein inhibited the breast CSCs and MCF-7 cells' growth and proliferation and promoted apoptosis via the downregulation of hedgehog-Gli1 signaling pathway [80]. These researches offer reasonable and reliable evidence to further explore the clinical application of genistein in the therapy of breast cancer via targeting BCSCs.

The Notch pathway is crucial to stem cell renewal and might be a promising target for BCSC-directed treatment. A preclinical and clinical study [81] shows that treatment with gamma secretase inhibitors (GSI) reduced BCSCs in MC1 and BCM-2147 tumor grafts via suppression of the Notch pathway. In this study, GSI shows the capability of enhancing the efficacy of docetaxel in breast cancer. These results indicate that the inhibitor of the Notch pathway could lead to the decrease of BCSCs. A 2017 study revealed that vitamin D compounds could be acted as a promising preventive drug of inhibiting TNBC via regulating BCSC differentiation and reducing its population through inhibition of Notch pathway [82].

Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is critical for regulation of BCSC-mediated metastasis. Survivin was found to contribute to self-renewal of CSCs via driving the activation of PI3K/Akt-dependent Wnt/ β -catenin pathway, which mediates the breast cancer metastasis [83]. Some signaling pathways are not only key to maintaining the biology of CSCs but also main reason for breast cancer patients to resist treatment [6]. For instance, a study [84] in 2018 shows that the STAT3 pathway can promote BCSC maintenance and breast cancer chemoresistance. Furthermore, the inhibitor of JAK/STAT3 blocks BCSC self-renewal, and blocking fatty acid β -oxidation, induced by STAT3 in BCSCs, can resensitize them to chemotherapy. These results indicate that STAT3 pathway may be a promising target for BCSC-directed therapy. Sabutoclax has been reported to reduce sphere formation of drug-resistant cells and eliminated the CSC subpopulation by downregulating the IL-6/STAT3 signaling pathway. When sabutoclax was combined with chemotherapeutic agents, it presented a strong synergistic antiproliferative effect [85]. The study shows the feasibility of combination of sabutoclax and chemotherapy; however, larger and higher-quality studies are needed to verify these findings and determine the potential value of the combination of sabutoclax with conventional therapy in chemotherapy-resistant breast cancer.

18.4.3 Other Strategies Targeting CSCs

18.4.3.1 Antiangiogenic Therapies

The formation of blood vessels in the tumor provides a continuous supply of nutrition and oxygen for the frenzied growth of the tumor. BCSCs is found to favor the generation of novel blood vessels by undergoing dedifferentiation into endothelial cells, which is termed as vasculogenic mimicry (VM) [86]. The presence of the close relationship between VM and CD133(+) expression may be helpful for TNBC relapse and progression [87]. Later, USP44(+) CSCs subpopulation possess the ability to predict the generation and invasiveness of VM and could be used as a reliable prognostic biomarker of worse clinical outcomes in breast cancer patients [88].

The therapy of antiangiogenic drug can effectively suppress the growth of tumor neovascularization, thus inhibiting the development of tumor. Reversely, tumors will inevitably be resistant to antiangiogenic drugs due to the generation of HIF (hypoxia-inducible factor) with the ability to promote formation, metastasis, and aggression of tumor blood vessels and CSC self-renewal. Conley et al. [89] found that the combined administration of HIF-1 α -targeted agents like CRLX101 and antiangiogenic drug such as bevacizumab could get a better effect by targeting the CSC populations. In addition, OPN also is critical for angiogenesis and tumor progression of breast cancer. A recent study [90] has revealed the prime role of OPN in controlling breast cancer progression and angiogenesis through ILK and NF- κ B-mediated HIF1 α -dependent vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in response to hypoxia. Compared to the control group, the expression of OPN cells induced the progression and angiogenesis of breast cancer by upregulating the expressions of proangiogenic factors, suggesting that OPN and its controlled signal network may be a promising target for breast cancer therapy.

18.4.3.2 Radiotherapy

It was reported that CSCs show resistance to radiotherapy via enhancing the ability of DNA repairing and reducing the concentration of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS), due to the overexpression of ROS scavengers in CSCs [91]. These BCSCs with low ROS level are proportional to the priority spare and smaller DNA loss after irradiation, resulting in resistance to radiotherapy in breast cancer [92].

Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) activation is critical for sustaining the self-renewing ability of CSCs. In triple-negative MDA-MB-453 and MDA-MB-468 breast tumor cells, rapamycin suppression of mTOR phosphorylation helped to sensitize the resistant breast cancer to low-dose radiation therapy [93]. In addition, proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA)-associated factor (PAF) is a pivotal factor with the ability to regulate the stemness of cancer cell. PAF was overexpressed in breast cancer cells, and its depletion impairs the maintenance of stemness of CSCs, suggesting that PAF may become an effective therapeutic target to restore radiotherapy sensitivity of breast cancer [94].

BCSCs are also accountable for drug resistance by expressing drug efflux proteins like multidrug resistance-associated proteins (MRP), P-glycoprotein (P-gp), and breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) [95]. ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters, a class of drug transporters, possess the ability to promote resistance to drug by relying on ATP to drain the drug out [96]. These ABC efflux pumps provide shelter for CSCs to protect them from various drug treatments [97]. As an ABC transporter encoded by MDR1 gene, P-gp participated in the protecting these tumor cells from anticancer chemotherapeutic drugs. The combination of P-gp inhibitors and chemotherapeutic drugs can maintain the concentration of chemotherapeutic drugs in tumors [96], suggesting that BCSCs expressing P-gp may be significantly associated with the chemoresistance and recurrence of tumor, which could make CSCs a novel therapeutic target and beneficial to current antineoplastic therapy. The high expression of BCRP (a protein of ABC transporter superfamily) will promote the resistance of tumors to some drugs including topotecan, methotrexate, mitoxantrone, doxorubicin, and daunorubicin [98].

Recently, lysine-specific demethylase 1 (LSD1) is considered as a major contributor to EMT, tumor stemness and drug resistance of breast cancer. Circulating tumor cells (CTCs) from patients with metastatic breast cancer were found to be rich in LSD1. Furthermore, targeting LSD1 by pharmacological inhibitor inhibited the stem cell-like and mesenchymal characteristics of the above CTCs. This report suggests that LSD1 might be acted as an effective therapeutic target for the therapy of advanced and drug-resistant breast cancer [99]. Lanzardo et al. [32] reported that downregulation of xCT damaged the formation of tumor sphere and changed the balance of CSCs intracellular redox in vitro. In addition, anti-xCT vaccination was shown to increase CSC chemosensitivity to doxorubicin in vivo; therefore therapeutically targeting xCT may contribute to the therapy of patients with breast cancer. Accumulating evidence suggests that metformin can also act as a promising agent for breast cancer and may be used as an effective (neo-)adjuvant therapy to eradicate CSCs and inhibit tumor aggressiveness [100, 101].

18.5 CSCs in Gastric Cancer

Gastric cancer is one of the five most frequently diagnosed cancers and the third leading cause of tumor-related death worldwide [31]. Gastric CSCs (GCSCs) have been proved to play a critical role in gastric cancer chemoresistance, recurrence, and metastasis. As a result, GCSCs might be expected to be a potential therapeutic target for improving the prognosis of patients with gastric cancer.

18.5.1 Targeting Cell Surface Markers of CSCs

CD44, a surface marker of CSCs, can be used as a key factor to promote the development of GCSCs. In gastric cancer, the presence of CD44+ CTCs has been considered to be related to lymph node metastasis, distant metastasis, and recurrence. which indicate that CD44+ gastric cancer CTCs may be used as a prognosis indicator of gastric cancer [102]. A variant of CD44 (CD44v8-10) has been considered as a major expression of CD44 variant in gastric cancer cells, which may promote tumorigenesis by enhancing the defense against oxidative stress [103]. A preclinical study shows that overexpression of CD44 and ALDH has recently been demonstrated in gastric cancer and all-trans retinoic acid could downregulate the expression of CD44 and ALDH, which eventually leads to the inhibition of the growth of gastric cancer [104]. Another study further illustrated the great potential of CD44 in predicting the prognosis of gastric cancer. Wang et al. [105] showed that the expression of CD44 was proportional to tumor transformation, TNM grading, metastasis, and recurrence of gastric cancer. At the same time, the high expression of CD133 also tended to predict the poor prognosis of patients. However, further research is necessary to verify the potential value of above markers in predicting the prognosis of gastric cancer. As a marker of CSCs, LGR5 is also highly expressed in gastrointestinal tumors. Gong et al. [106] developed two LGR5-targeting antibodydrug conjugates with the ability to induce the apoptosis of gastrointestinal cancer cells with high expression of LGR5, but it had no effect on gastrointestinal cancer cells that do not express LGR5. These findings suggest that it might represent a novel potential therapy targeting CSCs to eliminate the LGR5-positive gastrointestinal tumors and prevent cancer recurrence.

18.5.2 Targeting Signaling Pathways of CSCs

GCSCs make use of various signaling pathways including Notch, Wnt, HH, and so on to regulate the growth, migration, and response to drug therapy of gastric cancer. There was a significant correlation between target genes with different miRNA expression levels of gastric CSCs and several critical biological pathways including the regulation of cell cycle, the property of stemness, and differentiation [107]. Hence, targeting signaling pathways might be a therapeutic strategy to eradicate CSC population of gastric cancer. A research exploring the relationship between Notch2 signaling pathway and the progression of gastric cancer showed that the expression of N2IC, an activated Notch2 receptor, not only promoted the proliferation of human SC-M1 cells and its development of transplanted tumor but also enhanced the colony generation, migration, aggression, and wound healing ability of SC-M1 cells. Interestingly, these effects will also disappear with the knockout of Notch2. Therefore, the knockout of Notch2 may be an effective strategy to suppress the development of AGS and AZ521 gastric cancer cells [108].

HH signaling pathway is critical to maintain CSC phenotypes and malignant transformation phenotypes in CD44(+) gastric cancer cells. Moreover, the inhibition of HH can block chemotherapy resistance in CD44(+) cells. However, this study also revealed that combination of HH inhibition and chemotherapy may only be effective for a small number of gastric tumor patients with overexpression of CD44 [109].

18.5.3 Targeting the miRNAs

Recent data suggest that miRNAs are associated with gastric cancer and contribute to carcinogenesis due to abnormality in their expression, which in turn affects cell proliferation, apoptosis, motility, and invasion [110]. It has been found that the expression profile of miRNAs in tumor initiation cells (CSCs) was significant differed from that in noncancerous cells [111].

MiR-501-5p, which plays a critical role in promoting the stem cell-like property of gastric cancer, shares a negative correlation with OS of patients with gastric cancer. MiR-501-5p has been shown to be significantly associated with gastric cancer patients possessing the more aggressive traits, suggesting that miR-501-5p represents a promising target for the therapy of human gastric cancer [112]. A study showed that there was a significant negatively correlation between the expression of miRNA-20a and miRNA-92a and the survival of patients with gastric cancer. This study also illustrated miRNA-92a may be an independent prognosis factors in gastric cancer [113]. Interestingly, miRNA can regulate stemness properties of CSCs of gastric cancer by regulating signaling pathway, thereby affecting the prognosis and therapies of patients with gastric cancer. A study [114] showed that the miR-23b suppressed gastric tumorigenesis such as development, invasion, migration, and metastasis through Notch2 pathway. MiR-132 has also been shown to possess the potential to promote the cisplatin resistance in gastric cancer patients by regulating SIRT1/CREB/ABCG2 signaling pathway [115]. The miRNAs are significantly associated with numerous cellular processes such as differentiation, proliferation, motility, and apoptosis in malignancies including gastric cancer, which suggest that miRNAs may be an effective approach to target CSCs and will ultimately possess the ability to treat gastric cancer patients and affect the prognosis of gastric cancer patients.

18.6 CSCs in Melanoma

In addition to playing a role in hematopoietic cancer and solid tumors (such as brain, breast, colon, pancreas, lung), CSCs have recently been found to be correlated with tumorigenesis, metastasis, and drug resistance of melanoma [116–120].

18.6.1 Targeting Cell Surface Markers of CSCs

Numerous stem cell markers have been found in drug-resistant melanoma cells and clinical specimens like CD133, CD20, ABCB5, ALDH1, and so on. Rappa et al. [121] have shown that in childhood malignant melanoma, CD133 + CSCs may be associated not only with lymph node and/or visceral metastasis but also with lower proliferative Ki-67 index which is one of the reasons for drug resistance. In addition, the overexpression of stem cell-associated markers, nestin, and CD133 in circulatory melanoma cells is related to the worse clinical outcome in melanoma patients. However, further validation in a large study with sufficient follow-up, similar sample sources, and including patients in stages II and III is warranted. [122] Lai et al. [123] have revealed that CD133+ and ABCB5+ subpopulations were co-localized in melanomas in perivascular niches and as stem cell-like cells, CD133+ cells could promote the development of tumor via promoting VM and the morphogenesis of a specialized perivascular niche in melanoma. Furthermore, CD133 knockdown melanoma cells are related to the poorer tumor growth in vivo. Luo et al. [120] reported that the expression level of ALDH was associated with the drug resistance of human melanoma stem cells, thus regulating the proliferation and survival of cancer cells. And the inhibition of ALDH by silencing ALDH1A can not only result in cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, and inhibited cell variation in vitro but also inhibit tumorigenicity in vivo. These results suggested that ALDH was not only a marker of CSC but also a promising target for the therapy of melanoma. However, further research on the molecular mechanisms of regulating CSCs of these isozymes and genes is warranted. Vincristine (VCR) is widely used in melanoma treatment; however, it has been found ineffective to treat the specific CSCs of melanoma. Song et al. [124] found that VCR-containing immunoliposomes combined with CD20 antibody (VCR-Lip-CD20) were 1.85 times more effective than VCR-Lip and VCR in melanoma. Significantly, the results also showed that VCR-Lip-CD20 could selectively kill CD20+ melanoma cells in populations of WM266-4 cells both in vitro and in vivo. These findings indicate that VCR-Lip-CD20 may be expected to be an efficient target to kill CD20+ melanoma cells.

18.6.2 Targeting Signaling Pathways of CSCs

Accumulating studies have shown that there are many signal pathways and potential therapeutic targets in numerous malignant tumors like melanoma. It was reported

that inhibiting HH pathway by interfering SMO or GLI1 drastically attenuates the self-renewal and tumorigenicity of melanoma stem cells with overexpression of ALDH; thus SMO and GLI1 may possess the potential to become a new and effective approach for the targeted therapy of human melanoma [125]. It has been also reported that the overexpression of Notch4 contributes to the aggression and metastasis of melanoma stem cells, which indicates a poor prognosis [126]. Kumar et al. [127] have shown that the expression of CD133+ CSCs which was regulated by Notch1 pathway could activate its regulated signaling network, promoting the development, metastasis, and angiogenesis of melanoma. Furthermore, eradication of Notch1 by blocking or ablation could also suppress the expression level of CD133, which in turn inhibits the cell migration and angiogenesis of melanoma. However, these findings only verified in mice experiments, and further studies are necessary to verify the value of these findings in human melanoma. BRAF and NRAS mutations are reported to occur in about 70% of melanoma, and a study [128] shows the combination of γ -secretase inhibitors (block the activation of Notch signal) and BRAF inhibitors (block the activation of BRAF-MEK-ERK signal) is more effective in the therapy of melanoma with BRAF/NRAS mutation. A study in 2016 showed that andrographolide could attenuate melanoma growth and lung metastasis by abrogation of Notch1-mediated CD133-dependent p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) activation pathway in CD133+ melanoma cells. Mechanistically, Notch1 upregulates MAPK activation through CD133 resulting in the development, lung metastasis, and angiogenesis of melanoma. In contrast, inhibition of Notch1 and MAPK pathways inhibits cell migration and angiogenesis of melanoma [129]. Excepting for these signaling pathways, low rhodamine 123 (Rh123low) cells are enriched for stem cell-like activities, and Rh123low cells possess the characteristic of relative stillness and drug resistance in melanoma CSCs. A study reported that PI3K/Akt pathway was the key to maintain Rh123low in melanoma stem cell compartment [130].

18.6.3 Targeting the miRNAs

Several reports have suggested that miRNAs played a crucial role in development of tumor, angiogenesis, and metastasis in numerous tumors including melanoma. A preliminary report showed that several miRNAs (miR-21, miR-10b, miR-200c, miR-520c, and miR-373) were significantly upregulated in melanoma sphere, suggesting that these miRNAs might regulate the potential of metastasis and stemness in melanoma [131]. Noman et al. [132] have shown that miR-210, as a hypoxia-regulated miRNA in lung cancer and melanoma, could reduce the lysis of tumor cells by antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL). And low expression of miR-210 could also enhance the CTL-mediated lysis of tumor cells in lung cancer and melanoma. Thus, miR-210 could be a promising prognostic marker and therapeutic target. Moreover, a study [133] suggested that miR-33b directly binds to HMGA2 3' untranslated region to suppress its expression and suppresses EMT and migratory potential of melanoma cells. Forloni et al. [128] found that overexpression

of miR-146a enhances the proliferation property of human melanoma cells in culture and the formation of tumor in mice by targeting Notch signaling and BRAF-MEK-ERK signaling, while knockout of miR-146a showed opposite results. Oncogenic DNp73 is a dominant-negative variant of tumor suppressor gene p73, which confers to tumor cells the characteristic of increased stemlike properties by attenuating expression of miR-885-5p [134]. It was reported that augmentation of miR-9 markedly inhibited the cell proliferation and migratory capacity of melanoma cells. In contrast, knockout of miR-9 or anti-miR-9 miRNA inhibitor could enhance not only the expression of Snail1 but also the cell proliferation and migration capacity of melanoma. Mechanistically, miR-9 binds to the 3' noncoding region of NF-κB and attenuates its expression, thus preferentially inhibiting Snail1 and finally inhibiting the proliferation and metastasis of melanoma cells [135]. Taken together, these findings suggested that miRNAs may regulate the proliferation and metastasis of melanoma cells by modulating CSC properties and may be a promising prognostic marker and therapeutic target.

18.6.4 Targeting the Microenvironment of CSCs

Tumor progression also depends on their microenvironment. The tumor microenvironment like fibrous cells, immune cells, inflammatory cells, and blood vasculature (angiogenesis of tumor) is necessary for CSC survival since it could not only produce and maintain CSCs but also protect them from attacks by the immune system and lead to enhanced migration and recolonization as secondary tumors [136, 137].

TAMs play multifaceted roles in the growth of tumor, especially related to the aggression and angiogenesis of tumor. CSCs may regulate the surrounding niche by regulating the expression of OPN in TAM. Kale et al. [138] have shown that macrophage related to melanoma modulated tumor microenvironment by secreting OPN, triggering the angiogenesis and development of melanoma. Therefore, inhibition of OPN and its regulated signaling network may be a potential approach to eliminate melanoma through the manipulation of TAMs.

Besides, hypoxic microenvironment is linked to the worse clinical outcome of tumor and controls the number of CSCs by stabilizing HIF [139]. It has been reported that HIF1 α and HIF2 α drove the aggression of melanoma and related to the metastases of melanoma patients [140]. MFG-E8, a powerful angiogenic factor, increased tumor angiogenesis and the development of melanoma under hypoxic conditions via enhancing the expression of VEGF and ET-1 in MSC and M2 polarization of macrophages [141]. However, this finding which is based on a tumor model of bone marrow chimeric mice does not represent that MFG-E8 has a similar effect in vivo, and further researches are necessary to verify findings above. Another study [142] showed that hypoxia can downregulate the expression of miR-340-5p, while the low expression of miR-340-5p is negatively related to the expression of ATP-binding cassette subfamily B member 5 (ABCB5, a marker of

melanoma stem cells, is a key transmembrane transporter closely related to tumor chemoresistance).

18.6.5 Other Strategies Targeting CSCs

In addition to the above targeted CSC therapy, there are also some other methods targeting CSCs to treat melanoma. Melanoma stem cells can also display drug resistance via enhancing drug efflux, which is mediated through ATP-binding cassette subfamily B (ABCB). El-Khattouti et al. [143] revealed that caffeic acid phenethyl ester (CAPE), a bioactive molecule, could enhance the expression of E2F1 and apoptosis in CD133(–) melanoma, but not in CD133(+). Interestingly, the knockdown of ABCB5 was shown to enhance the sensibility of CD133(+) cells to CAPE. Therefore, combination of ABCB5 inhibitor and CAPE can eliminate chemoresistance in melanoma-specific CSCs. A study [144] showed that the novel sirtuin 1 and 2 (SIRT1/2) inhibitor tenovin-6 could effectively eliminate CSCs and induce apoptosis in uveal melanoma. The approach of targeting tumor stem cells can also be used in tumor immunological therapy. Lu et al. [145] developed a vaccine by using CSC lysate-pulsed dendritic cells (DCs), which could target the CSC populations of numerous cancers including melanoma.

As a CSC marker, the high expression of CD44 is significantly related to the development and metastasis of various human cancers like melanoma. CD44 can bind specially to hyaluronic acid (HA), a pericellular matrix component. Shen et al. [146] reported that solid lipid nanoparticles coated with hyaluronic (HA-SLNS) possess the ability to target paclitaxel (PTX) transport to B16F10 melanoma cells with high expression of CD44 and significantly improve their intracellular transferring efficiency. Furthermore, it will cause numerous CD44(+) cells to induce apoptosis in vitro, and the growth and lung metastasis of melanoma were also significantly inhibited. In addition, this strategy could be markedly beneficial to the survival of patients with no adverse events. Moreover, there was a significant positive correlation between the expression of differentiation inhibitor/DNA binding (Id) proteins 1 and 3 (both depend on BMP4/7) and the development and poor survival of patients with malignant melanoma. Moreover, the interaction between HA-CD44 and BMPR contributes to the expression of Id1/3 protein relying an BMP4/7 and poor survival in patients with melanoma [147]. These results suggest that targeting CD44 is a potential and effective approach for melanoma therapy by elimination of CSCs.

18.7 Application of Nanomedicine in Targeting CSCs

Although targeting CSCs is one of the most promising therapeutic approaches, the traditional methods of targeting CSCs have several flaws including poor water solubility, poor pharmacokinetics, and poor stability of CSC-specific agents [148–150]. At present, for the existing technology, it is a challenging task to target drugs

into a small amount of CSCs in tumor tissue. In recent years, nano-transport technology offers a novel approach to effectively exert the efficacy of drugs via controlling the release of drugs, prolonging the effective time of drugs, and improving the biological distribution of drugs. And this technique can effectively solve the obstacle of eradicating CSCs and improve the therapeutic effect of targeted CSC drugs. It has been proved that CSC-targeted inhibitors alone are not particularly effective in inhibiting tumor growth. The double-targeted nano-drugs containing CSC-targeted inhibitors and conventional antineoplastic drugs can not only effectively eliminate CSCs and tumor cells but also possess lower toxicity than that of free drugs [151–153]. For example, through nanotechnology, Sun et al. [154] wrapped all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA, a powerful differentiation agent of CSCs) and chemotherapy agent doxorubicin together to make into a nano-drug, which can significantly enhance the concentration of drugs in tumor tissues and CSCs, greatly enhance the inhibitory effect on tumor growth, and cooperatively decrease the population of CSC. As a result, ATRA combined with doxorubicin can be used as a promising therapeutic approach to inhibit the development and relapse of cancer via targeting CSCs and non-CSCs.

18.8 Limitation, Barriers, and Controversy in the CSCs

There are some limitations in the treatment of targeted CSCs.

Firstly, it is crucial to select the appropriate CSC markers for these researches about CSCs, as misrecognition of CSC subpopulations will lead to the wrong conclusion. Nonetheless, how to identify and isolate CSCs has always been an obstacle in this field. Some CSC populations do not express the cellular markers found so far, while some non-CSC tumor cells also express these markers. At present, the isolation and identification of CSCs is mainly based on cell surface markers like CD133. Nevertheless, the credibility of this method remains to be answered. [155, 156] Novel techniques like live-cell RNA detection and single-cell DNA and RNA sequencing methods may help to identify CSCs, but these methods are still unlikely to identify a unique CSC marker [157].

Secondly, despite CSCs having been found in numerous dysfunctional signaling pathways, these pathways also express normal stem cells that are of great significance to normal physiological activity. Therefore, drugs targeting these signaling pathways can affect not only CSCs but also normal stem cells, leading to serious side effects. Considering this limitation, we must improve the specificity of targeting CSC drugs, through continuous optimization or in combination with other technologies (such as nanotechnology) in order to gain effective treatment and avoid serious side effects [158]. In addition, the cross talk between different pathways should also be considered. Therefore, the strategy of targeted CSC-related signaling pathway in the treatment of tumor still needs to be further explored before it is used clinically.
18.9 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

CSCs have been shown to be able to evade current cancer treatments including novel immunotherapies, thereby leading to tumor recurrence, metastasis, and resistance to radiotherapy and chemotherapy. Therefore, targeted CSC treatment for more thorough treatment of tumors to achieve a better prognosis is necessary. In summary, the application of CSCs is promising, opening a new era for cancer treatment and evaluation of prognosis. However, there remain several unresolved problems in CSCs. Further research is needed to find reliable and accurate markers to distinguish CSCs from normal stem cells for developing the treatment approaches with higher specificity and fewer side effects. In addition, before the clinical application of targeted CSCs in tumor therapy, it is necessary to clarify its effective dose and side effects and other important factors. After all, the current findings from in vitro or animal experiments may not achieve satisfactory results or even cause major accidents when applied to humans. Signaling pathway and tumor microenvironment as an approach of targeting CSCs have shown encouraging results. Nevertheless, it is worth noting that the signal pathway regulating CSCs does not operate separately and the combination of drugs may be a more effective targeting strategy in the future. Although nano-carriers were able to enhance the delivery and drug activity of CSC inhibitors, only a small number of nano-drugs could be approved for clinical treatment at present. With the further research of CSCs and nano-drugs, nanodrugs loaded with different therapeutic drugs may become the most effective drugs for tumors.

In the future, the combination of traditional antineoplastic drugs and targeted CSC drugs combined with nanotechnology may be expected to be an effective approach for the therapy of cancer.

Acknowledgement Authors' contributions: All authors contributed in the writing of this paper. In addition, Y Yang was responsible for writing the manuscript. C Tian helped to search the literatures and revise the manuscript. WJ Meng participated in its design and helped to draft the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript. Conflict of interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Batlle E, Clevers H (2017) Cancer stem cells revisited. Nat Med 23(10):1124-1134
- 2. Diaz A, Leon K (2011) Therapeutic approaches to target cancer stem cells. Cancers (Basel) 3 (3):3331–3352
- 3. Yoshida GJ, Saya H (2016) Therapeutic strategies targeting cancer stem cells. Cancer Sci 107 (1):5–11
- 4. Bao S, Wu Q, McLendon RE et al (2006) Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response. Nature 444(7120):756–760
- 5. de Beça FF, Caetano P, Gerhard R et al (2013) Cancer stem cells markers CD44, CD24 and ALDH1 in breast cancer special histological types. J Clin Pathol 66(3):187–191
- 6. Takebe N, Miele L, Harris PJ et al (2015) Targeting notch, hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update.Nature reviews. Clin Oncol 12(8):445–464

- Bu P, Wang L, Chen KY et al (2016) A miR-34a-numb feedforward loop triggered by inflammation regulates asymmetric stem cell division in intestine and colon cancer. Cell Stem Cell 18(2):189–202
- Fesler A, Guo S, Liu H et al (2017) Overcoming chemoresistance in cancer stem cells with the help of microRNAs in colorectal cancer. Epigenomics 9(6):793–796
- Planchard D, Popat S, Kerr K et al (2019) Metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 30(5):863–870
- Lee HJ, Choe G, Jheon S et al (2010) CD24, a novel cancer biomarker, predicting disease-free survival of non-small cell lung carcinomas: a retrospective study of prognostic factor analysis from the viewpoint of forthcoming (seventh) new TNM classification. J Thorac Oncol 5 (5):649–657
- 11. Liu YP, Yang CJ, Huang MS et al (2013) Cisplatin selects for multidrug-resistant CD133+ cells in lung adenocarcinoma by activating notch signaling. Cancer Res 73(1):406–416
- Serrano D, Bleau AM, Fernandez-Garcia I et al (2011) Inhibition of telomerase activity preferentially targets aldehyde dehydrogenase-positive cancer stem-like cells in lung cancer. Mol Cancer 10:96
- Liang D, Shi Y (2012) Aldehyde dehydrogenase-1 is a specific marker for stem cells in human lung adenocarcinoma. Med Oncol 29(2):633–639
- Huang CP, Tsai MF, Chang TH et al (2013) ALDH-positive lung cancer stem cells confer resistance to epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Cancer Lett 328 (1):144–151
- Sullivan JP, Spinola M, Dodge M et al (2010) Aldehyde dehydrogenase activity selects for lung adenocarcinoma stem cells dependent on notch signaling. Cancer Res 70(23):9937–9948
- Takebe N, Ivy SP (2010) Controversies in cancer stem cells: targeting embryonic signaling pathways. Clin Cancer Res 16(12):3106–3112
- Park KS, Martelotto LG, Peifer M et al (2011) A crucial requirement for hedgehog signaling in small cell lung cancer. Nat Med 17(11):1504–1508
- Tian F, Mysliwietz J, Ellwart J et al (2012) Effects of the hedgehog pathway inhibitor GDC-0449 on lung cancer cell lines are mediated by side populations. Clin Exp Med 12 (1):25–30
- 19. Huang L, Walter V, Hayes DN et al (2014) Hedgehog-GLI signaling inhibition suppresses tumor growth in squamous lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 20(6):1566–1575
- Justilien V, Walsh MP, Ali SA et al (2014) The PRKCI and SOX2 oncogenes are coamplified and cooperate to activate hedgehog signaling in lung squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Cell 25 (2):139–151
- Cai H, Lu W, Zhang Y et al (2019) Specific inhibition of Notch1 signaling suppresses properties of lung cancer stem cells. J Cancer Res Ther 15:1547–1552
- 22. Liu J, Mao Z, Huang J et al (2014) Blocking the NOTCH pathway can inhibit the growth of CD133-positive A549 cells and sensitize to chemotherapy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 444(4):670–675
- 23. Chaib I, Karachaliou N, Pilotto S et al (2017) Co-activation of STAT3 and YES-associated protein 1 (YAP1) pathway in EGFR-mutant NSCLC. J Natl Cancer Inst 109(9):djx014
- 24. Karachaliou N, Chaib I et al (2018) Common co-activation of AXL and CDCP1 in EGFRmutation positive nonsmall cell lung cancer associated with poor prognosis. EBioMedicine 29:112–127
- Codony-Servat J, Codony-Servat C, Cardona AF et al (2019) Cancer stem cell biomarkers in EGFR-mutation-positive non-small-cell lung Cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 20(3):167–177
- 26. Yeh CT, Wu AT, Chang PM et al (2012) Trifluoperazine, an antipsychotic agent, inhibits cancer stem cell growth and overcomes drug resistance of lung cancer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 186(11):1180–1188
- Wiggins JF, Ruffino L, Kelnar K et al (2010) Development of a lung cancer therapeutic based on the tumor suppressor microRNA-34. Cancer Res 70(14):5923–5930

- Basak SK, Veena MS, Oh S et al (2013) The CD44(high) tumorigenic subsets in lung cancer biospecimens are enriched for low miR-34a expression. PLoS One 8(9):e73195
- 29. Qi W, Chen J, Cheng X et al (2015) Targeting the Wnt-regulatory protein CTNNBIP1 by microRNA-214 enhances the Stemness and self-renewal of Cancer stem-like cells in lung adenocarcinomas. Stem Cells 33(12):3423–3436
- 30. Dai FQ, Li CR, Fan XQ et al (2019) miR-150-5p inhibits non-small-cell lung Cancer metastasis and recurrence by targeting HMGA2 and β-catenin signaling. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 16:675–685
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I et al (2018) Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 68(6):394–424
- 32. Lanzardo S, Conti L, Rooke R et al (2016) Immunotargeting of antigen xCT attenuates stemlike cell behavior and metastatic progression in breast Cancer. Cancer Res 76(1):62–72
- Shackleton M, Quintana E, Fearon ER et al (2009) Heterogeneity in cancer: cancer stem cells versus clonal evolution. Cell 138(5):822–829
- 34. Uchida H, Yamazaki K, Fukuma M et al (2010) Overexpression of leucine-rich repeatcontaining G protein-coupled receptor 5 in colorectal cancer. Cancer Sci 101(7):1731–1737
- Takahashi H, Ishii H, Nishida N et al (2011) Significance of Lgr5(+ve) cancer stem cells in the colon and rectum. Ann Surg Oncol 18(4):1166–1174
- de Sousa e Melo F, Kurtova AV, Harnoss JM et al (2017) A distinct role for Lgr5 stem cells in primary and metastatic colon cancer. Nature 543(7647):676–680
- Shimokawa M, Ohta Y, Nishikori S et al (2017) Visualization and targeting of LGR5 human colon cancer stem cells. Nature 545(7653):187–192
- Junttila MR, Mao W, Wang X et al (2015) Targeting LGR5+ cells with an antibody-drug conjugate for the treatment of colon cancer. Sci Transl Med 7(314):314ra186
- 39. Han Y, Xue X, Jiang M et al (2015) LGR5, a relevant marker of cancer stem cells, indicates a poor prognosis in colorectal cancer patients: a meta-analysis. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 39(2):267–273
- Hsu HC, Liu YS, Tseng KC et al (2013) Overexpression of Lgr5 correlates with resistance to 5-FU-based chemotherapy in colorectal cancer. Int J Color Dis 28(11):1535–1546
- 41. Saigus AS, Inoue Y, Tanaka K et al (2013) Significant correlation between LKB1 and LGR5 gene expression and the association with poor recurrence-free survival in rectal cancer after preoperative chemoradiotherapy. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 139(1):131–138
- 42. He S, Zhou H, Zhu X et al (2014) Expression of Lgr5, a marker of intestinal stem cells, in colorectal cancer and its clinicopathological significance. Biomed Pharmacother 68 (5):507–513
- 43. Liu YS, Hsu HC, Tseng KC et al (2013) Lgr5 promotes cancer stemness and confers chemoresistance through ABCB1 in colorectal cancer. Biomed Pharmacother 67(8):791–799
- 44. Jing F, Kim HJ, Kim CH et al (2015) Colon cancer stem cell markers CD44 and CD133 in patients with colorectal cancer and synchronous hepatic metastases. Int J Oncol 46 (4):1582–1588
- 45. Du L, Wang H, He L et al (2008) CD44 is of functional importance for colorectal cancer stem cells. Clin Cancer Res 14(21):6751–6760
- 46. Rao G, Wang H, Li B et al (2013) Reciprocal interactions between tumor-associated macrophages and CD44-positive cancer cells via osteopontin/CD44 promote tumorigenicity in colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res 19(4):785–797
- Sahlberg SH, Spiegelberg D, Glimelius B et al (2014) Evaluation of cancer stem cell markers CD133, CD44, CD24: association with AKT isoforms and radiation resistance in colon cancer cells. PLoS One 9(4):e94621
- 48. Liu C, Zhao G, Liu J et al (2009) Novel biodegradable lipid nano complex for siRNA delivery significantly improving the chemosensitivity of human colon cancer stem cells to paclitaxel. J Control Release 140(3):277–283

- 49. Jao SW, Chen SF, Lin YS et al (2012) Cytoplasmic CD133 expression is a reliable prognostic indicator of tumor regression after neoadjuvant concurrent chemoradiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 19(11):3432–3440
- 50. Kanwar SS, Yu Y, Nautiyal J et al (2011) Difluorinated-curcumin (CDF): a novel curcumin analog is a potent inhibitor of colon cancer stem-like cells. Pharm Res 28(4):827–838
- 51. Swindall AF, Londoño-Joshi AI, Schultz MJ et al (2013) ST6Gal-I protein expression is upregulated in human epithelial tumors and correlates with stem cell markers in normal tissues and colon cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 73(7):2368–2378
- 52. Lugli A, Iezzi G, Hostettler I et al (2010) Prognostic impact of the expression of putative cancer stem cell markers CD133, CD166, CD44s, EpCAM, and ALDH1 in colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 103(3):382–390
- 53. Xiang D, Shigdar S, Bean AG et al (2017) Transforming doxorubicin into a cancer stem cell killer via EpCAM aptamer-mediated delivery. Theranostics 7(17):4071–4086
- 54. Wang K, Liu L, Zhang T et al (2011) Oxaliplatin-incorporated micelles eliminate both cancer stem-like and bulk cell populations in colorectal cancer. Int J Nanomedicine 6:3207–3218
- 55. Kahlert C, Gaitzsch E, Steinert G et al (2012) Expression analysis of aldehyde dehydrogenase 1A1 (ALDH1A1) in colon and rectal cancer in association with prognosis and response to chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol 19(13):4193–4201
- 56. Deng Y, Zhou J, Fang L et al (2014) ALDH1 is an independent prognostic factor for patients with stages II-III rectal cancer after receiving radiochemotherapy. Br J Cancer 110(2):430–434
- 57. Goossens-Beumer IJ, Zeestraten EC, Benard A et al (2014) Clinical prognostic value of combined analysis of Aldh1, Survivin, and EpCAM expression in colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 110(12):2935–2944
- Cojoc M, M\u00e4bert K, Muders MH et al (2015) A role for cancer stem cells in therapy resistance: cellular and molecular mechanisms. Semin Cancer Biol 31:16–27
- 59. Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2012) Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. Nature 487(7407):330–337
- 60. Lin L, Fuchs J, Li C et al (2011) STAT3 signaling pathway is necessary for cell survival and tumorsphere forming capacity in ALDH(+)/CD133(+) stem cell-like human colon cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 416(3–4):246–251
- Lin L, Liu Y, Li H et al (2011) Targeting colon cancer stem cells using a new curcumin analogue, GO-Y030. Br J Cancer 105(2):212–220
- Hubbard JM, Grothey A (2017) Napabucasin: an update on the first-in-class Cancer Stemness inhibitor. Drugs 77(10):1091–1103
- Jonker DJ, Nott L, Yoshino T et al (2018) Napabucasin versus placebo in refractory advanced colorectal cancer: a randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 3(4):263–270
- 64. Ordóñez-Morán P, Dafflon C, Imajo M et al (2015) HOXA5 counteracts stem cell traits by inhibiting Wnt signaling in colorectal Cancer. Cancer Cell 28(6):815–829
- 65. Varnat F, Duquet A, Malerba M et al (2009) Human colon cancer epithelial cells harbour active HEDGEHOG-GLI signalling that is essential for tumour growth, recurrence, metastasis and stem cell survival and expansion. EMBO Mol Med 1:338–351
- 66. Hongdan L, Feng L (2018) miR-3120-5p promotes colon cancer stem cell stemness and invasiveness through targeting Axin2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 496(2):302–308
- 67. Zhai H, Fesler A, Ba Y et al (2015) Inhibition of colorectal cancer stem cell survival and invasive potential by hsa-miR-140-5p mediated suppression of Smad2 and autophagy. Oncotarget 6(23):19735–19746
- Huang B, Yang H, Cheng X et al (2017) tRF/miR-1280 suppresses stem cell-like cells and metastasis in colorectal cancer. Cancer Res 77(12):3194–3206
- 69. Bitarte N, Bandres E, Boni V et al (2011) MicroRNA-451 is involved in the self-renewal, tumorigenicity, and chemoresistance of colorectal cancer stem cells. Stem Cells 29 (11):1661–1671
- 70. Xu XT, Xu Q, Tong JL et al (2012) MicroRNA expression profiling identifies miR-328 regulates cancer stem cell-like SP cells in colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 106(7):1320–1330

- Chung SS, Oliva B, Dwabe S et al (2016) Combination treatment with flavonoid morin and telomerase inhibitor MST312 reduces cancer stem cell traits by targeting STAT3 and telomerase. Int J Oncol 49(2):487–498
- Toden S, Tran HM, Tovar-Camargo OA et al (2016) Epigallocatechin-3-gallate targets cancer stem-like cells and enhances 5-fluorouracil chemosensitivity in colorectal cancer. Oncotarget 7 (13):16158–16171
- 73. Luo M, Brooks M, Wicha MS (2015) Epithelial-mesenchymal plasticity of breast cancer stem cells: implications for metastasis and therapeutic resistance. Curr Pharm Des 21 (10):1301–1310
- 74. Van Phuc P, Nhan PL, Nhung TH et al (2011) Downregulation of CD44 reduces doxorubicin resistance of CD44CD24 breast cancer cells. Onco Targets Ther 4:71–78
- 75. Pham PV, Phan NL, Nguyen NT et al (2011) Differentiation of breast cancer stem cells by knockdown of CD44: promising differentiation therapy. J Transl Med 9:209
- 76. Brugnoli F, Grassilli S, Lanuti P et al (2017) Up-modulation of PLC-beta2 reduces the number and malignancy of triple-negative breast tumor cells with a CD133(+)/EpCAM(+) phenotype: a promising target for preventing progression of TNBC. BMC Cancer 17(1):617
- Battula VL, Shi Y, Evans KW et al (2012) Ganglioside GD2 identifies breast cancer stem cells and promotes tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest 122(6):2066–2078
- Koike Y, Ohta Y, Saitoh W et al (2017) Anti-cell growth and anti-cancer stem cell activities of the non-canonical hedgehog inhibitor GANT61 in triple-negative breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer 24(5):683–693
- 79. Junichi K, Yoshikazu K, Yusuke O et al (2017) Anti-cancer stem cell activity of a hedgehog inhibitor GANT61 in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer cells. Cancer Sci 108 (5):918–930
- 80. Fan P, Fan S, Wang H et al (2013) Genistein decreases the breast cancer stem-like cell population through hedgehog pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther 4(6):146
- Schott AF, Landis MD, Dontu G et al (2013) Preclinical and clinical studies of gamma secretase inhibitors with docetaxel on human breast tumors. Clin Cancer Res 19(6):1512–1524
- Shan NL, Wahler J, Lee HJ et al (2017) Vitamin D compounds inhibit cancer stem-like cells and induce differentiation in triple negative breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 173:122–129
- Siddharth S, Das S, Nayak A et al (2016) SURVIVIN as a marker for quiescent-breast cancer stem cells-an intermediate, adherent, pre-requisite phase of breast cancer metastasis. Clin Exp Metastasis 33(7):661–675
- 84. Wang T, Fahrmann JF, Lee H et al (2018) JAK/STAT3-regulated fatty acid β -oxidation is critical for breast cancer stem cell self-renewal and chemoresistance. Cell Metab 27 (1):136–150
- 85. Hu Y, Yagüe E, Zhao J et al (2018) Sabutoclax, pan-active BCL-2 protein family antagonist, overcomes drug resistance and eliminates cancer stem cells in breast cancer. Cancer Lett 423:47–59
- Delgado-Bellido D, Serrano-Saenz S, Fernández-Cortés M et al (2017) Vasculogenic mimicry signaling revisited: focus on non-vascular VE-cadherin. Mol Cancer 16(1):65
- Liu TJ, Sun BC, Zhao XL et al (2013) CD133+ cells with cancer stem cell characteristics associates with vasculogenic mimicry in triple-negative breast cancer. Oncogene 32 (5):544–553
- Liu T, Sun B, Zhao X et al (2015) USP44+ cancer stem cell subclones contribute to breast cancer aggressiveness by promoting vasculogenic mimicry. Mol Cancer Ther 14 (9):2121–2131
- Conley SJ, Baker TL, Burnett JP et al (2015) CRLX101, an investigational camptothecincontaining nanoparticle-drug conjugate, targets cancer stem cells and impedes resistance to antiangiogenic therapy in mouse models of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat Update 150 (3):559–567

- Raja R, Kale S, Thorat D et al (2014) Hypoxia-driven osteopontin contributes to breast tumor growth through modulation of HIF1alpha-mediated VEGF-dependent angiogenesis. Oncogene 33(16):2053–2064
- 91. Skvortsova I, Debbage P, Kumar V et al (2015) Radiation resistance: cancer stem cells (CSCs) and their enigmatic pro-survival signaling. Semin Cancer Biol 35:39–44
- 92. Diehn M, Cho RW, Lobo NA et al (2009) Association of reactive oxygen species levels and radioresistance in cancer stem cells. Nature 458(7239):780–783
- 93. Lai Y, Yu X, Lin X et al (2016) Inhibition of mTOR sensitizes breast cancer stem cells to radiation-induced repression of self-renewal through the regulation of MnSOD and Akt. Int J Mol Med 37(2):369–377
- Wang X, Jung YS, Jun S et al (2016) PAF-Wnt signaling-induced cell plasticity is required for maintenance of breast cancer cell stemness. Nat Commun 7:10633
- 95. Butti R, Gunasekaran VP, Kumar TVS et al (2019) Breast cancer stem cells: biology and therapeutic implications. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 107:38–52
- Leonard GD, Fojo T, Bates SE (2003) The role of ABC transporters in clinical practice. Oncologist 8(5):411–424
- 97. Moitra K, Lou H, Dean M (2011) Multidrug efflux pumps and cancer stem cells: insights into multidrug resistance and therapeutic development. Clin Pharmacol Ther 89(4):491–502
- Cherigo L, Lopez D, Martinez-Luis S (2015) Marine natural products as breast cancer resistance protein inhibitors. Mar Drugs 13(4):2010–2029
- 99. Boulding T, McCuaig RD, Tan A et al (2018) LSD1 activation promotes inducible EMT programs and modulates the tumour microenvironment in breast cancer. Sci Rep 8(1):73
- 100. Barbieri F, Thellung S, Ratto A et al (2015) In vitro and in vivo antiproliferative activity of metformin on stem-like cells isolated from spontaneous canine mammary carcinomas: translational implications for human tumors. BMC Cancer 15:228
- 101. Zhang HH, Guo XL (2016) Combinational strategies of metformin and chemotherapy in cancers. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 78(1):13–26
- 102. Li M, Zhang B, Zhang Z et al (2014) Stem cell-like circulating tumor cells indicate poor prognosis in gastric cancer. Biomed Res Int 2014:981261
- 103. Lau WM, Teng E, Chong HS et al (2014) CD44v8-10 is a cancer-specific marker for gastric cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 74(9):2630–2641
- 104. Nguyen PH, Giraud J, Staedel C et al (2016) All-trans retinoic acid targets gastric cancer stem cells and inhibits patient-derived gastric carcinoma tumor growth. Oncogene 35 (43):5619–5628
- Wang T, Ong CW, Shi J et al (2011) Sequential expression of putative stem cell markers in gastric carcinogenesis. Br J Cancer 105(5):658–565
- 106. Gong X, Azhdarinia A, Ghosh SC et al (2016) LGR5-targeted antibody-drug conjugate eradicates gastrointestinal tumors and prevents recurrence. Mol Cancer Ther 15(7):1580–1590
- 107. Salehi Z, Akrami H (2017) Target genes prediction and functional analysis of microRNAs differentially expressed in gastric cancer stem cells MKN-45. J Can Res Ther 13:477–483
- Tseng YC, Tsai YH, Tseng MJ et al (2012) Notch2-induced COX-2 expression enhancing gastric cancer progression. Mol Carcinog 51(12):939–951
- 109. Yoon C, Park DJ, Schmidt B et al (2014) CD44 expression denotes a subpopulation of gastric cancer cells in which hedgehog signaling promotes chemotherapy resistance. Clin Cancer Res 20(15):3974–3988
- Ishiguro H, Kimura M, Takeyama H (2014) Role of microRNAs in gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol 20(19):5694–5699
- 111. Liu J, Ma L, Wang Z et al (2014) MicroRNA expression profile of gastric cancer stem cells in the MKN-45 cancer cell line. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin 46(2):92–99
- 112. Fan D, Ren B, Yang X et al (2016) Upregulation of miR-501-5p activates the wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway and enhances stem cell-like phenotype in gastric cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 35(1):177

- 113. Shao Q, Xu J, Guan X et al (2018) In vitro and effects of miRNA-19b/20a/92a on gastric cancer stem cells and the related mechanism. Int J Med Sci 15(1):86–94
- 114. Huang TT, Ping YH, Wang AM et al (2015) The reciprocal regulation loop of Notch2 pathway and miR-23b in controlling gastric carcinogenesis. Oncotarget 6(20):18012–18026
- 115. Zhang L, Guo X, Zhang D et al (2017) Upregulated miR-132 in Lgr5 gastric cancer stem celllike cells contributes to cisplatin-resistance via SIRT1/CREB/ABCG2 signaling pathway. Mol Carcinog 56(9):2022–2034
- 116. Fang D, Nguyen TK, Leishear K et al (2005) A tumorigenic subpopulation with stem cell properties in melanomas. Cancer Res 65(20):9328–9337
- 117. Monzani E, Facchetti F, Galmozzi E et al (2007) Melanoma contains CD133 and ABCG2 positive cells with enhanced tumourigenic potential. Eur J Cancer 43(5):935–946
- 118. Schatton T, Murphy GF, Frank NY et al (2008) Identification of cells initiating human melanomas. Nature 451(7176):345–349
- 119. Civenni G, Walter A, Kobert N et al (2011) Human CD271-positive melanoma stem cells associated with metastasis establish tumor heterogeneity and long-term growth. Cancer Res 71 (8):3098–3109
- 120. Luo Y, Dallaglio K, Chen Y et al (2012) ALDH1A isozymes are markers of human melanoma stem cells and potential therapeutic targets. Stem Cells 30(10):2100–2113
- 121. Al Dhaybi R, Sartelet H, Powell J et al (2010) Expression of CD133+ cancer stem cells in childhood malignant melanoma and its correlation with metastasis. Mod Pathol 23(3):376–380
- 122. Fusi A, Reichelt U, Busse A et al (2011) Expression of the stem cell markers nestin and CD133 on circulating melanoma cells. J Invest Dermatol 131(2):487–494
- 123. Lai CY, Schwartz BE, Hsu MY (2012) CD133+ melanoma subpopulations contribute to perivascular niche morphogenesis and tumorigenicity through vasculogenic mimicry. Cancer Res 72(19):5111–5118
- 124. Song H, Su X, Yang K et al (2015) CD20 antibody-conjugated Immunoliposomes for targeted chemotherapy of melanoma Cancer initiating cells. J Biomed Nanotechnol 11(11):1927–1946
- 125. Santini R, Vinci MC, Pandolfi S et al (2012) Hedgehog-GLI signaling drives self-renewal and tumorigenicity of human melanoma-initiating cells. Stem Cells 30(9):1808–1818
- 126. Lin X, Sun B, Zhu D et al (2016) Notch4+ cancer stem-like cells promote the metastatic and invasive ability of melanoma. Cancer Sci 107(8):1079–1091
- 127. Kumar D, Kumar S, Gorain M et al (2016) Notch1-MAPK signaling Axis regulates CD133 Cancer stem cell-mediated melanoma growth and angiogenesis. J Invest Dermatol 136 (12):2462–2474
- 128. Forloni M, Dogra SK, Dong Y et al (2014) miR-146a promotes the initiation and progression of melanoma by activating notch signaling. Elife 3:e01460
- Adorno-Cruz V, Kibria G, Liu X et al (2015) Cancer stem cells: targeting the roots of cancer, seeds of metastasis, and sources of therapy resistance. Cancer Res 75(6):924–929
- 130. Touil Y, Zuliani T, Wolowczuk I et al (2013) The PI3K/AKT signaling pathway controls the quiescence of the low-Rhodamine123-retention cell compartment enriched for melanoma stem cell activity. Stem Cells 31(4):641–651
- 131. Fomeshi MR, Ebrahimi M, Mowla SJ et al (2015) Evaluation of the expressions pattern of miR-10b, 21, 200c, 373 and 520c to find the correlation between epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and melanoma stem cell potential in isolated cancer stem cells. Cell Mol Biol Lett 20 (3):448–465
- 132. Noman MZ, Buart S, Romero P et al (2012) Hypoxia-inducible miR-210 regulates the susceptibility of tumor cells to lysis by cytotoxic T cells. Cancer Res 72(18):4629–4641
- 133. Zhang P, Bai H, Liu G et al (2015) MicroRNA-33b, upregulated by EF24, a curcumin analog, suppresses the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and migratory potential of melanoma cells by targeting HMGA2. Toxicol Lett 234(3):151–161
- 134. Meier C, Hardtstock P, Joost S et al (2016) p73 and IGF1R regulate emergence of aggressive cancer stem-like features via miR-885-5p control. Cancer Res 76(2):197–205

- 135. Liu S, Kumar SM, Lu H et al (2012) MicroRNA-9 up-regulates E-cadherin through inhibition of NF-κB1-Snail1 pathway in melanoma. J Pathol 226(1):61–72
- 136. Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z (2015) The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? Cell Stem Cell 16(3):225–238
- 137. Bhowmick NA, Neilson EG, Moses HL (2004) Stromal fibroblasts in cancer initiation and progression. Nature 432(7015):332–337
- 138. Kale S, Raja R, Thorat D et al (2014) Osteopontin signaling upregulates cyclooxygenase-2 expression in tumor-associated macrophages leading to enhanced angiogenesis and melanoma growth via alpha9beta1 integrin. Oncogene 33(18):2295–2306
- 139. Harris AL (2002) Hypoxia—a key regulatory factor in tumour growth. Nat Rev Cancer 2 (1):38–47
- 140. Hanna SC, Krishnan B, Bailey ST et al (2013) HIF1α and HIF2α independently activate SRC to promote melanoma metastases. J Clin Invest 123(5):2078–2093
- 141. Yamada K, Uchiyama A, Uehara A et al (2016) MFG-E8 drives melanoma growth by stimulating mesenchymal stromal cell-induced angiogenesis and M2 polarization of tumor-associated macrophages. Cancer Res 76(14):4283–4292
- 142. Wozniak M, Sztiller-Sikorska M, Czyz M (2015) Diminution of miR-340-5p levels is responsible for increased expression of ABCB5 in melanoma cells under oxygen-deprived conditions. Exp Mol Pathol 99(3):707–716
- 143. El-Khattouti A, Sheehan NT, Monico J et al (2015) CD133⁺ melanoma subpopulation acquired resistance to caffeic acid phenethyl ester-induced apoptosis is attributed to the elevated expression of ABCB5: significance for melanoma treatment. Cancer Lett 357 (1):83–104
- 144. Dai W, Zhou J, Jin B et al (2016) Class III-specific HDAC inhibitor Tenovin-6 induces apoptosis, suppresses migration and eliminates cancer stem cells in uveal melanoma. Sci Rep 6:22622
- 145. Lu L, Tao H, Chang AE et al (2015) Cancer stem cell vaccine inhibits metastases of primary tumors and induces humoral immune responses against cancer stem cells. Onco Targets Ther 4 (3):e990767
- 146. Shen H, Shi S, Zhang Z et al (2015) Coating solid lipid nanoparticles with hyaluronic acid enhances antitumor activity against melanoma stem-like cells. Theranostics 5(7):755–771
- 147. Wu RL, Sedlmeier G, Kyjacova L et al (2018) Hyaluronic acid-CD44 interactions promote BMP4/7-dependent Id1/3 expression in melanoma cells. Sci Rep 8:14913
- 148. Davis ME, Chen ZG, Shin DM (2008) Nanoparticle therapeutics: an emerging treatment modality for cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7(9):771–782
- 149. Zhao Y, Alakhova DY, Kabanov AV (2013) Can nanomedicines kill cancer stem cells? Adv Drug Deliv Rev 65(13–14):1763–1783
- 150. Bertrand N, Wu J, Xu X et al (2014) Cancer nanotechnology: the impact of passive and active targeting in the era of modern cancer biology. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 66:2–25
- 151. Xiao H, Li W, Qi R et al (2012) Co-delivery of daunomycin and oxaliplatin by biodegradable polymers for safer and more efficacious combination therapy. J Control Release 163 (3):304–314
- 152. Kim YJ, Liu Y, Li S et al (2015) Co-eradication of breast cancer cells and cancer stem cells by cross-linked multilamellar liposomes enhances tumor treatment. Mol Pharm 12(8):2811–2822
- 153. Oak PS, Kopp F, Thakur C et al (2012) Combinatorial treatment of mammospheres with trastuzumab and salinomycin efficiently targets HER2-positive cancer cells and cancer stem cells. Int J Cancer 131(12):2808–2819
- 154. Sun R, Liu Y, Li SY et al (2015) Co-delivery of all-trans-retinoic acid and doxorubicin for cancer therapy with synergistic inhibition of cancer stem cells. Biomaterials 37:405–414
- 155. LaBarge MA, Bissell MJ (2008) Is CD133 a marker of metastatic colon cancer stem cells? J Clin Invest 118(6):2021–2024
- 156. Rocco A, Liguori E, Pirozzi G et al (2012) CD133 and CD44 cell surface markers do not identify cancer stem cells in primary human gastric tumors. J Cell Physiol 227(6):2686–2693

- 157. Saygin C, Matei D, Majeti R et al (2019) Targeting cancer stemness in the clinic: from hype to hope. Cell Stem Cell 24(1):25–40
- 158. Han L, Shi S, Gong T et al (2013) Cancer stem cells: therapeutic implications and perspectives in cancer therapy. Acta Pharm Sin B 3(2):65–75



Correction to: Ocular Cancer Stem Cells: Advances in Therapeutic Interventions

Upasna Upadhyay, Raaghav Sen, Swathi Kaliki, and Jaganmohan R. Jangamreddy

Correction to: Chapter 7 in: S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer Therapies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_7

The book was inadvertently published with an incorrect last name of the author 'Upasna Upadhyay' in chapter 7 as Upasna Reddy whereas it should be 'Upasna Upadhyay'. The chapter has now been corrected and approved by the author.

The updated online versions of this chapter can be found at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_7

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 S. Pathak, A. Banerjee (eds.), *Cancer Stem Cells: New Horizons in Cancer*

Therapies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5120-8_19